
 
 

SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
Regular Meeting 

Wednesday, September 27, 2023 
2:00 p.m. - 4:00 p.m. 

Teams 

1 / 1 

AGENDA 

1. Call to Order  ................................................................................................... Donna Danielson 2:00 

2. Approval of Agenda 

3. Approval of Minutes, June 21, 2023 

4. Chair's Report .............................................................................................................................  2:05 

4.1. SSCPR Mandate and Membership .......................................................... Donna Danielson  

5. New Business  .............................................................................................................................   

5.1. Language & Culture Quality Assurance Plan……...Laurence Gauvreau, Yanfeng Qu, Ana 
Robles, Melinda Bige, Shelley Boyd ...................................................................................  2:15 

5.2. Creative Writing Quality Assurance Plan ............ Jen Currin, Melinda Bige, Shelley Boyd 2:25 

5.3. Asian Studies Self-Study Report...Justin Stein, Kamala Nayar, Alena Buis, Shelley Boyd 2:35 

5.4. Journalism Self-Study Report………….Chad Skelton, Tracy Sherlock, Billeh Nickerson, 
Shelley Boyd ........................................................................................................................  3:00 

5.5. Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan . …Fergal Callaghan, Jeff Dyck,         
Brett Favaro  ........................................................................................................................  3:25 

5.6. HCAP Second Annual Follow-Up Report…………  Lorraine Guild, Sonayna Rana, Sarah 
Beasleigh, Sharmen Lee .....................................................................................................   3:35 

6. Items for Discussion 

7. Manager’s Report for OPA ........................................................................... Melike Kinik-Dicleli 3:55 

8. Adjournment 



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
Minutes of Regular Meeting 

Wednesday, June 21, 2023 
2:00 p.m. – 4:00 p.m. 

Cedar 2110 – Surrey Campus 

1 / 4 

Voting Member Quorum: 9 

Aimee Begalka 
Cherylynn Bassani 
Craig Wright 
David Burns 
Fergal Callaghan, Vice-Chair  
Jeff Dyck 
Jennifer Gao 
Julia Denker 
 

Lori McElroy 
Melissa Swanink 
Nishan Perera 
 
 

 

Non-voting 

Amy Jeon, Chair 
Melike Kinik-Dicleli 
 

Regrets  Senate Office Guests  

Alan Davis 
Hao Ma  
Marti Alger 
Laura McDonald 
Lindsay Norris 
Rajmale Kaur 
Tomasz Gradowski 
Zena Mitchell 

Sonia Banwait 
 

John Rose 
Ken Stark 
Rebecca Yoshizawa 
Shelley Boyd  
Valerie Vezina 
Meredith Laird 
 

 
 
1. Call to Order and Territorial Acknowledgement 

The Chair, Amy Jeon, called the meeting to order at 2:09 p.m.  

2. Approval of Agenda 

Fergal Callaghan moved the agenda be confirmed as circulated.  

The motion carried. 

3. Approval of Minutes, May 17, 2023 

Lori McElroy moved the minutes be accepted as circulated.  

The motion carried. 

4. Chair’s Report 



 

2 / 4 

The General Business Management and Global Management programs had their kick-off meetings 
on May 26, 2023. 

The Chair also provided brief statistics of the year in review and informed that the committee 
reviewed 30 reports, all under the new guidelines. Seven programs started their program review 
process this academic year and thirteen programs will start the process next academic year.  

She thanked members that are leaving the committee for their service and contributions during 
their term.  

5. New Business  

5.1. Geography Self-Study Report 

The Chair summarized the reviewer’s comments and informed that the report was comprehensive 
and in good depth. All three SSCPR reviewers recommended to accepted the report as-is. John 
Rose was present to answer questions. 

The committee engaged in discussion about the limited domestic student intake in the third- and 
fourth-year courses and how it can be addressed. The proponent explained that international 
students compose most of the program’s enrollment. It was further explained that many students 
transfer to another institutions, hence how the enrollment attrition is accounted for in the report.  

A committee member suggested to save and store the curricular map spreadsheets for all 
programs in one location.  

Julia Denker moved THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the 
Geography Self-Study Report as attached. 

The motion carried. 

5.2. Political Science Quality Assurance Plan 

The Chair summarized the reviewer’s comments and informed that some revisions were made to 
the suggested edits. Valerie Vezina and Shelley Boyd were present to answer questions. 

The Chair commended the SSCPR reviewers on a thorough review of the report and for providing 
valuable feedback. 

The committee engaged in discussion regarding verb usage and suggested the action items be 
amended to include active verbs throughout the report.  

Some recommendations from the self-study report did not make it to the quality assurance plan 
and encouraged the changes be reflected for consistency and audit purposes. 

Action items:  

- Include missing recommendations for associated action items throughout report 

- Update goals with active verbs  

- Spell out acronyms  

- Clarify inclusion of student statement on goal #3 



 

3 / 4 

- Re-word language for goals that are not within the department’s control. 

Proponent to submit a revised Quality Assurance Plan with the recommended revisions to Chair 
and Vice-Chair.  

Melissa Swanink moved THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept 
the Political Science Quality Assurance Plan as attached. 

The motion carried. 

5.3. Anthropology First Annual Follow-Up Report 

The Chair summarized the reviewer’s comments and informed that revisions were made to the 
suggested edits. Ken Stark and Shelley Boyd were present to answer questions. 

The committee requested clarification for completed vs. ongoing items. 

Action items: 

- To create new rows under the completed by and notes section to explain current status 
updates 

Proponent to submit revised follow-up report with above changes to committee Chair and Vice-
Chair.  

Melissa Swanink moved THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept 
the Anthropology First Annual Follow-Up Report as attached.  

The motion carried. 

Lori McElroy moved THAT the program submits another annual follow-up report next year. 

The motion carried. 

5.4. Sociology Fourth Annual Follow-Up Report 

The Chair summarized the reviewer’s comments and informed that some revisions were made to 
the suggested edits. Rebecca Yoshizawa and Shelley Boyd were present to answer questions. 

There were a number of unfinished goals in the follow-up report that will need to be addressed in 
the new program review cycle, which starts in 2023/24 academic year. 

Julia Denker moved THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program Review accept the 
Sociology Fourth Annual Follow-Up Report as attached. 

The motion carried. 
 
5.5. Election of SSCPR Chair 

Amy Jeon, Vice-Chair of Senate conducted the chair election. The term is from September 1, 2023 
to August 31, 2026. There were three calls for nominations. 

 First call: Lori McElroy nominated Fergal Callaghan. Fergal Callaghan declined the nomination.  



 

4 / 4 

Second call: Lori McElroy nominated Donna Danielson (SSCPR member effective September 
2023). Donna Danielson accepted the nomination.  

 Third call: no nominations.  

Donna Danielson was acclaimed as the Chair of Senate Standing Committee on Program Review. 

6. Items for Discussion 

Fergal Callaghan thanked Amy Jeon for her service as Chair.  

7. Manager’s Report for the Office of Accountability and Planning 

Melike Kinik-Dicleli, Manager, Quality Assurance, presented her report and provided an annual 
summary of the committee’s activities over the academic year. 

8. Adjournment 

The meeting adjourned at 3:30 p.m. 



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
Agenda Number: 4.1 

Meeting Date: September 27, 2023 
Presenter(s): Donna Danielson 

 1 / 2 

 

 

AGENDA TITLE: COMMITTEE MANDATE AND MEMBERSHIP REVIEW 

ACTION REQUESTED:  Education 

RECOMMENDED RESOLUTION: 

N/A 

 

Context and Background  

On September 19, 2021, the Senate Governance and Nominating Committee (SGNC) discussed the 
value of having each committee annually reacquaint itself with its mandate and membership. The 
intent is for new members to learn about the committee mandate and membership and for returning 
members to refresh their memories.  

During 2022 – 2023, the Vice-Chair of Senate completed a comprehensive three-year review of all the 
committee mandates and memberships and recommended changes and updates to the SGNC and 
Senate.  

Senate approved the attached mandate and membership on April 25, 2022 

Key Messages 

The senate standing committees continue with the practice of providing an informational 
introduction of their mandates and memberships during the fall. 

Attachments 

1. SSCPR Mandate and Membership 

 

Submitted by 

Sonia Banwait, Administrative Assistant, University Senate 



 

2 / 2 

Date submitted 

August 18, 2023 

 



Senate Standing Committee on Program Review (SSCPR) 
 

MANDATE 
 

Kwantlen Polytechnic University performs regular and consistent reviews of educational programs 
and units of study that are under the jurisdiction of Senate. The Senate Standing Committee on 
Program Review (SSCPR) oversees this process. 

 
Specifically, the mandate of the SSCPR is to: 
1. Make recommendations to Senate on proposed revisions to the Program Review Policy 
2. Develop procedures and standards to ensure program reviews are conducted in accordance 

with the principles of the Program Review Policy 
3. Review for approval Self-Study Reports, External Review Reports, Quality Assurance Plans, and 

annual follow-up reports. 
4. Ensure all reports submitted to SSCPR meet KPU's program review standards 
5. Provide regular reports to Senate on the progress of program reviews, and other items of note 

arising out of the committee’s work 
6. Report to Senate annually with a schedule for program Reviews planned for the coming year 



 

 
Approved by Senate: June 26, 2023 

MEMBERSHIP COMPOSITION 
 
Voting Members 

• Chancellor 
• President 
• Student Senator 
• Two faculty Senators or representatives* 
• Faculty senator or representative from each Faculty, with the exception of Trades & 

Technology 
o One from Academic and Career Preparation 
o Two from Arts 
o Two from Business 
o One from Design 
o One from Educational Support and Development 
o One from Health 
o One from Science & Horticulture 

• Associate Vice-President, Academic or designate 
• Two Deans or designates 
• Associate Vice-President, Planning & Accountability or designate 
• Representative, Teaching and Learning Commons 
• Representative, Student Services 

 
*These two faculty Senators are additional to the faculty Senators from each Faculty. 

 
Non-voting Members 

• Vice-Chair of Senate 
• Provost and Vice-President, Academic or designate 
• Vice-President, Students or designate 
• Manager, Quality Assurance 
• Associate Vice-President, Teaching and Learning or designate 



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
Agenda Number: 5.1 

Meeting Date: September 27, 2023 
Presenter(s):  Laurence Gauvreau, Yanfeng Qu, Ana Robles, Melinda Bige, 

Shelley Boyd 

 1 / 1 

 

 

AGENDA TITLE: LANGUAGE AND CULTURE QUALITY ASSURANCE PLAN 

ACTION REQUESTED:  Motion 

RECOMMENDED RESOLUTION: THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program 
Review accept the Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan as attached.  

 

COMMITTEE REPORT 

For Secretariat Use Only   

 

Attachments 

Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Submitted by 

Melike Kinik-Dicleli, Manager of Quality Assurance, Office of Planning & Accountability 

Date submitted 

September 1, 2023 



BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan 

BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan Page 1 

 

 

 

Date Quality Assurance Plan submitted to SSCPR: July 31, 2023 
 

Date Self-Study Report approved by SSCPR: November 23, 2022 
 

Date of External Review: March 8 & 9, 2023 
 

SUMMARY OF PROGRAM STENGTHS, CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES FOR IMPROVEMENT  
 

STRENGTHS 

Firstly, the Minor helps students acquire most of the essential skills, which are outlined by KPU and the Ministry of Education. 
 

The program also offers a great range of subjects and topics. The unique aspect of the program is the flexibility to either focus on one language/culture or to study many, broadly. This 
diversity of courses gives the students the liberty to choose from a variety of courses at different levels and prepares them well for the diverse and interconnected world they will face 
after university. However, the External Review Report mentions that it could also be one reason for the difficulty in ensuring the regularity of course offerings and enabling student 
progression (see challenges, below). 

 
 

The relevance of the program to pursue a career or further studies also appears as a strength. The skills and knowledge developed in our program are very important in a wide variety 
of industries where cross-cultural communication skills are in high demand, such as business, education, finances, foreign affairs, government, health care, immigration, media, 
research, tourism, and transportation. These skills are also essential to take leading roles in different communities and to thrive in today’s globalized world. This aspect could be used to 
advertise our program more effectively. 

 

Plus, the program offers high quality instruction and involves instructors who are enthusiastic, knowledgeable, and engaging. The program shows quality and a variety of teaching 
methods and assessments. 

 

Finally, 1st-year French, 1st-year Spanish, 1st-year Punjabi and Bhangra dance courses have witnessed a surge in enrolment, and some of the waitlists are full every semester. 



BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan 

BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan Page 2 

 

 

 
CHALLENGES 

 

Even if the program offers a variety of courses at different levels, many are not offered anymore or are not offered regularly. FREN 2220, FREN 3300, FREN 3301, FREN 3100, JAPN 4400, 
JAPN 4410, LING 2120, LING 2400, PUNJ 2200, PUNJ 2201, SPAN 2200, SPAN 2201 and SPAN 3310 are not offered anymore. 

These courses are mostly 2nd and 3rd-year, which compromises the attractiveness of the program and the ability for students to take desirable courses and/or complete the program in a 
reasonable time. It affects the program’s progression because students cannot proceed from an introductory course through to the 3rd or 4th-year studies without breaks. 

This being said it has been challenging to reach steady and high enrollment in some 2nd and 3rd-year courses. This resulted in leadership canceling many courses with lower enrollment, 
which makes it even more challenging to try offering these courses again soon. Hopefully, this Action Plan can show our strong willingness to promote our program, build enrollments, 
and retain students more effectively, so that we can receive support from leadership to start offering some of our 2nd and 3rd-year courses again. 

 
 

OPPORTUNITIES FOR IMPROVEMENT 

Our program is suited to deliver courses in different modes. We are ready to move forward with different deliveries or teaching modalities if it helps grow or offer more courses and to 
better serve our students moving forward. However, we recognize the importance of practicums and live interactions in order to develop most of the skills in the program. Teaching 
blended courses or online courses with a mandatory synchronous component is an opportunity to consider. 

As the first steps in the Indigenization of the LANC curriculum, CREE 1100 was added in the Fall of 2020, and LING/LANC 3390 in the Fall of 2016 (taught for the first time in the Spring of 
2017). Both courses have been very successful since their inception, and represent an opportunity to teach them more often, or to develop new courses teaching different Indigenous 
languages and cultures, as well as a collaboration with the Indigenous Studies department. 

The current fit and relationships between the program and industry and further studies needs improvement. 

The current opportunities for experiential learning also need improvement. 

Communication between the program and Student Advisors needs improvement, in order to make sure our students are aware of our course offering, and to plan their studying path 
accurately and accordingly. 



BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan 

BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan Page 3 

 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS THE QUALITY ASSURANCE PLAN DOES NOT ADDRESS  
The Recommendations from the Self-Study Report and External Review Report that this Plan does not address as provided below, with a brief rationale for why these Recommendations 
cannot be addressed. 

 

Recommendations Indicate Self-Study Report 
(SSR) or External Review 
Report (ERR) and page 
number 

The Rationale for Not Addressing 

Investigating further to understand what needs to be 
improved regarding library orientation (Student and 
faculty satisfaction is low) and usage of this resource. 

Self-Study p.45 

External Review Report, p.9 

The lack of usage for these resources does not seem very alarming as most of our 
courses are introductory courses and/or do not require such resources. 

Collecting more relevant data from students and faculty 
regarding technology, and establishing which specific 
technology is needed to deliver the course content most 
successfully. 

Self-Study p.45 Course delivery methods and quality of instruction have been considered a strength of 
the program. 

Also, Teaching and Learning provides a wide variety of tools and workshops, and their 
newsletters often inform us about new teaching technologies and platforms available. 

The department already has good communication among faculty members regarding 
technology needs, and we have a budget available for such new needs. 

We do not think this recommendation is a priority at the moment. 
Cooperating in more course development with the Asian 
Studies department. 

Program relevance and 
Student demand, Self-Study, 
p. 43 

External Review Report, p.4 

Considering the main challenges of the program, we think that the focus should be to 
strengthen/offer our existing courses, as well as create Indigenous Language and 
culture classes. 

Realistically, we don’t think we can develop courses with Asian Studies in the next 5 
years if we want to focus on the main goals. 

Providing a fuller assessment of Punjabi courses in the next 
report. 

External Review Report, p.4 Our Punjabi instructor was on leave when we completed the Self-Study Report, which is 
why there is a lack of assessment of Punjabi courses. Our Punjabi instructor is back and 
will contribute to the remaining steps of this Program Review process. 

Maximum class size in language courses (27) is too high 
for optimal proficiency outcomes. We recommend this 
being reduced to a target level of 17 maximum. 

External Review Report, p.4 SSCPR memo says that this recommendation is outside of program review’s scope. 



BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan 

BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan Page 4 

 

 

 

 

QUALITY ASSURANCE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN  

The Quality Assurance Goals for improving or maintaining program quality over the next five years are: 
 

MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGINS: October 2023 
 

GOAL 1: Promote the program more effectively within KPU and across the communities we serve. 
 

Recommendation(s) Addressed in this Goal Indicate Report & Page Number 

Discontinuing courses that we don’t plan to offer again. Curriculum Review, Self-Study, p.42. 

Promote our program more intensively and in new ways. Program relevance and Student demand, Self-Study, p. 44 

Better inform prospective LANC BA Minor students. Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery, Self-Study, p. 45 

External Review Report, p. 6 

Review the pace and skills level of students in beginner classes. External Review Report, p. 6 



BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan 

BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan Page 5 

 

 

Actions(s) Required to Achieve this Goal Led 
by 

Start 
on (M/YY) 

Complete 
By (M/YY) Notes 

 
 
 
 
 
Identify courses that the program does not plan to offer again and establish a list of 
courses to be discontinued. 

 
 
 
 
 

KIMIKO 
BROOKS 

 
 
 
 

 
October 2023 

 
 
 
 
 
November 
2023 

- Laurence Gauvreau will compile a list of 
all courses. 
- Send an email to faculty members with 
the list of courses in their area. 
- Ask each area to discuss and report which 
courses should be discontinued. 
- Share the list of courses to be 
discontinued with LANC faculty members, 
to get feedback and everyone’s approval at 
a department meeting in early fall 2023. 

Get informed about the process for discontinuing courses. KIMIKO 
BROOKS 

October 2023 November 
2023 

 

 
 

 
Discontinue identified courses (LANC 4320 & others?) 

 
 
 

KIMIKO 
BROOKS 

Submit the 
motion to ASCC 
in November 
2023 to begin 
the governance 
approval 
process for 
discontinuation. 

Approved by 
February 
2024 
/Implemented 
in the 
calendar for 
fall 2024 

 

 

Create a promotional video and material – Alumni testimonies (filmed or written) 
about how the program serves them now – and share it on KPU’s LANC website & send 
it to LANC’s Marketing and Promotion Committee. 

 
ANA 

ROBLES 

April 2024 

Once PAC has 
been created 
and has done 
some research 

(Goal #3) 

 
January 2025 

The Dean’s office may be able to provide 
support through the future hiring of a student 
digital content 
producer; faculty member Gordon Cobb 
(MUSI) may also be able to assist. 



BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan 

BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan Page 6 

 

 

Actions(s) Required to Achieve this Goal Led 
by 

Start 
on (M/YY) 

Complete 
By (M/YY) Notes 

 
 

Create a LANC Marketing & Promotion Committee 

 
 

LAURENCE 
GAUVREAU 

 
 
LANC meeting 
October 6th 

 
 
December 
2023 

Consult with Arts staff, specifically the Arts 
Communications and Events Coordinators, 
who liaise with KPU Marketing. The 
coordinators may be able to provide some 
suggestions to the LANC committee. 

Marketing & Promotion Committee: 

- Create a PowerPoint to promote our Minor, including (a) our Ed Plan, (b) a 
description of the program, (c) opportunities – career paths, study paths, 
student exchanges, (d) our new LANC Lounge – students tutoring, LANC club, 
events, (e) how to declare your Minor & the benefits. 

- Make a list of the Lower Mainland high schools. Highlight schools offering 
languages other than French. 

- Identify culture-related events (community centers, festivals, street 
events, music events in one of our target languages, etc.) and make a list 
of the contact persons who could help us promote our program at their 
event. 

- Identify Majors in different disciplines across the university, whose students 
could be interested in our Minor (in Asian Studies, for example) 

 
 

Two 
faculty to 

be selected 
at a fall 

2023 
(October) 
meeting. 

 
 
 
 
 

October 2023 

 
 
 
 
 
December 
2023 

 



BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan 

BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan Page 7 

 

 

Actions(s) Required to Achieve this Goal Led 
by 

Start 
on (M/YY) 

Complete 
By (M/YY) Notes 

Marketing & Promotion Committee: 

- Consult with Asian Studies to make sure we know their Ed Plan for 
cross-listed courses. 

- Communicate our Ed Plan (and cross-listed courses Ed Plan) with Advisors 
and Student Service, so they can help students chose a path effectively and 
accurately. 

- Share/update our ED Plan on the Language and Culture website. 

- Facilitate and promote information about the Minor (Advisors visit in class 
for Declaration Month, posters on campus, ask all LANC faculty members to 
present our Promo PowerPoint in class) 

- Promote the program in high schools (grade 12): send them the promotional 
video or testimonies (texts) once they are done around April 2024 / send the 
short PowerPoint to promote the program / offer to Zoom with the class for 
5-10 minutes to promote the program. 

 
- Reach out to the culture-event listed contact persons, and ask how we 

could promote our Minor at their event (print and send posters. Present our 
Promo PowerPoint. Play our promotional video – done April 2024. Send 
someone to give a short presentation.) 

 
- Promote our BA Minor to target students majoring in different disciplines 

across the university, not just Asian Studies – ask instructors to present our 
Promo PowerPoint in class or to post it on their Moodle site. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
January 2024 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
March 2024, 
and ongoing 

 

     

Meet with LANC faculty to discuss the pace of 1st-year language classes, how to deal 
with varying skill levels among students in one class, and how to encourage 2nd-year 
course enrollment. 

LAURENCE 
GAUVREAU 

LANC meeting 
December 2023 

December 
2023 

 



BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan 

BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan Page 8 

 

 

Actions(s) Required to Achieve this Goal Led 
by 

Start 
on (M/YY) 

Complete 
By (M/YY) Notes 

Meet with colleagues teaching the same 1st year courses and establish strategies to 
ensure appropriate pace, language assessments, similar course content, and how to 
promote 2nd- year courses. 

ALL LANC 
FACULTY 
MEMBERS 

 
January 2024 

 
August 2024 

 

 
 

Resource Requirements (if applicable) 
 
Resources required to achieve this Goal: Someone to film the promotional testimonies. 

 
When resources will be required: Fall 2024 

 
Faculty and/or Institutional support required: 

 
- Curriculum Committee - https://www.kpu.ca/senate/committees/curriculum 
- Asian Studies - https://www.kpu.ca/arts/asian-studies 
- Future Students Office (for a list of high schools) - https://www.kpu.ca/future-students 
- Marketing Services Department - https://kpuemp.sharepoint.com/sites/marketing/SitePages/Home.aspx 
- Arts Communications and Events Coordinators 

http://www.kpu.ca/senate/committees/curriculum
http://www.kpu.ca/arts/asian-studies
http://www.kpu.ca/future-students


BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan 

BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan Page 9 

 

 

GOAL 2: Create a “Language and Culture Program” community. 
 

Recommendation(s) Addressed in this Goal Indicate Report & Page Number 

Develop opportunities for students to develop better interpersonal skills. Curriculum Review, Self-Study, p.40 

Develop opportunities for students to develop better personal management & entrepreneurial skills. Curriculum Review, Self-Study, p.40 

Explore ways to meet the student’s needs in terms of emotional and physical safety. Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery, Self-Study, p. 45 

Offer better/more diverse learning (open access) resources. Resources, services and facilities, Self-Study, p.45 

External Review Report, p. 9 

Strengthen the LANC student community. External Review Report, p. 9 

 
 

Action(s) Required to Achieve this Goal Led 
by 

Start 
on (M/YY) 

Complete 
By (M/YY) Notes 

 
Create a LANC Lounge Committee 

 
LAURENCE 
GAUVREAU 

LANC 
meeting 
October 6th 
2023 

 
October 
2023 

 

LANC Lounge Committee: 

- Explore options for gathering students in Fir 110 or elsewhere to tutor, study, and hold 
language club meetings. 

- Collect data on faculty and student preferences regarding books, eBooks, periodicals, 
journals, and learning resources (such as vocabulary games, cue cards, etc.) 

Two faculty 
to be 

selected at 
a fall 2023 

 
October 
2023 

 
December 
2023 

 



BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan 

BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan Page 10 

 

 

Action(s) Required to Achieve this Goal Led 
by 

Start 
on (M/YY) 

Complete 
By (M/YY) Notes 

- Subscribe or buy new ones (depending on faculty’s needs and student’s interests) and 
display them in the new LANC Lounge room. 

- Gather a list, from each mini area, of Open Resources (relevant eBooks, magazines, and 
websites for each of their courses), and post the list on the LANC website & in the new 
LANC Lounge room. 

- Consult with Counselling Services to explore ways to meet the student’s needs in terms 
of emotional and physical safety that apply to all our courses. 

(October) 
meeting. 

   

 
LANC Lounge Committee: 

- Facilitate & promote a student lead LANC club. 
- Promote tutoring among students. 

January 
2024 

(Every 
January, 
moving 
forward) 

 

February 
2024, and 
ongoing 

 

 
Organize an annual singing/karaoke event JUSTIN 

STEIN 
Summer 
2023 

October 
2023 

We have already started to organize this 
event, which will hopefully become an 
annual LANC event. 

     



BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan 

BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan Page 11 

 

 

Resource Requirements (if applicable) 

Resources required to achieve this Goal: 

From department budget: 
- Decorations for Fir 110 
- Buy eBooks/games/books 
- Rent a karaoke machine 

 
More chairs in Fir 110 

 
When resources will be required: 

 
- October 2023 (for Fir 110) 
- October 2023 (budget for eBooks, books, and games) 
- September 2023 (for Karaoke machine) 

 
Faculty and/or Institutional support required: 

 
- Facilities needs to approve the new use of Fir 110 – make sure the door remains unlocked - https://www.kpu.ca/facilities 
- Counselling Services - https://www.kpu.ca/counselling 
- Peer Wellness Group - https://www.kpu.ca/peerwellness 
- Accessibility Services - https://www.kpu.ca/access 

http://www.kpu.ca/facilities
http://www.kpu.ca/counselling
http://www.kpu.ca/peerwellness
http://www.kpu.ca/access


BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan 

BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan Page 12 

 

 

 
 

GOAL 3: Grow and build work-related or real life-related opportunities for students to use what they have learned or what they are learning in the program. 
 

Recommendation(s) Addressed in this Goal Indicate Report & Page Number 

Develop opportunities for students to develop better interpersonal skills. Curriculum Review, Self-Study, p.40 

Develop opportunities for students to develop better personal management & entrepreneurial skills. Curriculum Review, Self-Study, p.40 

External Review Report, p.4 

Offer more opportunities for students to work with other people from different linguistic or cultural 
backgrounds, outside of the classroom setting, and developing more diverse experiential learning opportunities. 

Program relevance and Student demand, Self-Study, p. 44 

External Review Report, p. 8 

Strengthen our connections to the discipline and sector. Program relevance and Student demand, Self-Study, p. 44 

External Review Report, p. 8 

Strengthen our connections to Alumni. External Review Report, p.4 

Provide a coordinator for opportunities abroad, in the workplace, and community. External Review Report, p. 9 
 
 

Action(s) Required to Achieve this Goal Led 
by 

Start 
on (M/YY) 

Complete 
By (M/YY) Notes 

 
Decide who wants to be part of LANC Program Advisory Committee (PAC) 

 
LAURENCE 
GAUVREAU 

LANC 
meeting 
October 
2023 

 
October 
2023 

 

Create PAC (get informed about the process, tasks, resources) Two faculty 
to be 

October 
2023 

December 
2023 

 

Get in touch with Alumni and gather information about where they work or volunteer. 
Get information about the skills required to obtain these positions or how the skills acquired in 
our program serve them in their lives. 

Forward this information and contact information to the Social Media Committee (Ana Robles), 
Marketing and Promotion Committee & Experiential learning/exchange Committee 

selected at 
a fall 2023 
(October) 
meeting. 

 

October 
2023 

 
 
April 2024 

 



BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan 

BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan Page 13 

 

 

Action(s) Required to Achieve this Goal Led 
by 

Start 
on (M/YY) 

Complete 
By (M/YY) Notes 

 
Create LANC Experiential Learning & Exchange Committee 

 
LAURENCE 

LANC 
meeting 
October 
6th, 2023 

 
October 
2023 

 

Reach out to the Dean, KPU international and COIL to make a list of existing student exchanges 
available (with financial aids available & links for more information). 
Discuss the options available to restart students exchange options or create new ones – so we 
can have more opportunities for students taking any of our language courses. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Two faculty 
to be 

selected at 
a fall 2023 
(October) 
meeting. 

 
January 
2024 

 
April 2024 

 

With information provided by PAC: Create relationships with employers, organizations, or 
communities, and develop a list of volunteering/work opportunities with contact person 
information. 

 
April 2024 August 

2024 

 

 

 
Promote work-related and volunteering opportunities 

September 
2024 
(Every 
September, 
moving 
forward) 

 
 
October 
2024 

 

 
Promote student exchanges (and financial aids) 

September 
2024 
(Every 
September, 
moving 
forward) 

 
October 
2024 

 



BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan 

BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan Page 14 

 

 

 

 
 

Resource Requirements (if applicable) 

 
Resources required to achieve this Goal: 

 
- Time release section for PAC 

 
When resources will be required: Fall 2023 or Spring 2024 

 
Faculty and/or Institutional support required: 

 
- Program Advisory Committee - https://www.kpu.ca/arts/ngo/advisory-committee 
- Alumni Office - https://www.kpu.ca/acp/ap/alumni-network 
- KPU International (Ada Lee) - https://www.kpu.ca/international 
- Study Abroad Program - https://www.kpu.ca/studyabroad 
- COIL - https://www.kpu.ca/international/partnerships/faculty-exchange/coil 
- Larissa Petrillo, Lead Advisor, WIL 

http://www.kpu.ca/arts/ngo/advisory-committee
http://www.kpu.ca/acp/ap/alumni-network
http://www.kpu.ca/international
http://www.kpu.ca/studyabroad
http://www.kpu.ca/international/partnerships/faculty-exchange/coil


BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan 

BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan Page 15 

 

 

GOAL 4: Ensure and improve successful student progression through the degree. 
 

Recommendation(s) Addressed in this Goal Indicate Report & Page Number 

Seek the relevant support from the institution to add one language course (3 credits) to the Minor requirement. Curriculum Review, Self-Study, 
p.41 

External Review Report, p.4 

Seek the relevant support from the institution to offer our 2nd and 3rd-year linguistics courses more regularly (LING 2120, LING 2400, LING 3390), 
as well as some language 2nd and 3rd-year courses. 

*Note that we already use a rotation system for LING 3390, LANC 1200, LANC 1150, FREN 3110, and JAPN 3xxx. 
*Note that LANC faculty and External Reviewers are opposed to split courses. 

Curriculum Review, Self-Study, 
p.41 

Program relevance and Student 
demand, Self-Study, p. 42 and 
p.43 

Seek the relevant support from the institution to reduce the enrolment threshold for class cancellations (especially cancelation of higher-level 
language courses needed to complete the program). An alternative could be to allow for smaller numbers in higher-level language classes. 

External Review Report, p. 6 

Increase the offering of courses with high enrolment and waitlists (FREN 1100, SPAN 1100, PUNJ 1100, LANC 1870). Since there is a great 
increase in international students in these courses specifically, we see this as an opportunity to both solve a demand issue and grow the 
department’s revenue, allowing the program to reintroduce some 2nd, 3rd or 4th-year courses with lower enrolment, for the time it takes to build 
the demand in upper- level courses. 

Program relevance and Student 
demand, Self-Study, p. 42 

 

Review FREN and SPAN 2200/2201 prerequisites, to allow students to take these two courses in any order. Curriculum Review, Self-Study, 
p.41 

Review LING courses prerequisites. Self-Study p.18 



BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan 

BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan Page 16 

 

 

 
 

Action(s) Required to Achieve this Goal Led 
by 

Start 
on (M/YY) 

Complete 
By (M/YY) Notes 

 

Decide who will take care of “adding 3 credits to the Minor” idea. 

 
LAURENCE 
GAUVREAU 

LANC 
meeting 
October 
6th, 2023 

 
October 
2023 

 

Meet with Arts Advisors and ask to provide data as to the impact that adding 3 credits to the 
Minor might have on students’ ability to complete the Minor. 

 
One faculty 

to be 
selected at 
a fall 2023 
(October) 
meeting. 

October 
2023 

October 
2023 

 

 
Meet with LANC faculty to discuss results provided by Arts advisors. 

LANC 
meeting in 
December 
2023 

 
December 
2023 

 

Meet with Arts Associate Dean to start the process of adding 3 credits to the language 
requirement of the minor (if this idea is successful). 

January 
2024 

January 
2026 

 

 

 
Meet with LANC faculty and discuss the idea of adding more courses in rotation, adding 
blended or online courses, and other ideas. 

 
LAURENCE 
GAUVREAU 

LANC 
meeting 
December 
2023 

 
December 
2023 

 

 

 
Meet with the Dean and Associate Dean to discuss how to support the Program’s growth and 
improve its progression. 

ANA 
ROBLES, 

LAURENCE 
GAUVREAU 

and 
YANFENG 

QU 

 

 
January 
2024 

 

 
January 
2024 

 

 



BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan 

BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan Page 17 

 

 

Action(s) Required to Achieve this Goal Led 
by 

Start 
on (M/YY) 

Complete 
By (M/YY) Notes 

Consult with ASCC, program and curriculum support in Provost’s office, and/or Dean’s office 
about the steps to modify pre-requisites. 

KIMIKO 
BROOKS 

January 
2024 

February 
2024 

 

Report how to modify pre-requisites, ask LANC faculty members about courses that need 
changes & their rationale, and go on with the process. 

KIMIKO 
BROOKS 

February 
2024 June 2024  

 

Resource Requirements (if applicable) 
 
Resources required to achieve this Goal: 

 
When resources will be required: 

 
Faculty and/or Institutional support required: 

 
- Art Advisors - https://www.kpu.ca/arts/advising 
- Dean’s office - https://www.kpu.ca/arts/deans-office 
- Curriculum committee - https://www.kpu.ca/senate/committees/curriculum 

 
  

http://www.kpu.ca/arts/advising
http://www.kpu.ca/arts/deans-office
http://www.kpu.ca/senate/committees/curriculum


BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan 

BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan Page 18 

 

 

GOAL 5: Expand decolonization and Indigenization into the program. 
 

Recommendation(s) Addressed in this Goal Indicate Report & Page Number 

Offer and develop more Indigenous language and culture courses. Program relevance and Student demand, Self-Study, p. 42 

External Review Report, p. 6 

Collaborate with the Indigenous Studies Department and Creative Writing Department. Program relevance and Student demand, Self-Study, p. 43 

External Review Report, p. 7 

 
 

Action(s) Required to Achieve this Goal Led 
by 

Start 
on (M/YY) 

Complete 
By (M/YY) Notes 

 
Find workshop(s) for all LANC faculty members about Decolonisation and Indigenization 
(asynchronous or synchronous and attend together) and facilitate the workshop(s). 

 
PAIVI 

KOSKINEN 

 
September 
2023 

 
December 
2023 

Once we have found some workshop(s) 
about the topic, we can ask LANC faculty 
members (by email) which one(s) they 
prefer or what dates they are available (in 
case it is a synchronous workshop). 

 

 
Consult with Associate Vice President, Indigenous Leadership. Innovation, and Partnerships to 
talk about hiring an Indigenous person with connections to the community, to run the 
development of any courses beyond CREE 1101. 

 
JENNIFER 

ANAQUOD 
and 

PAIVI 
KOSKINEN 

 

September 
2023 

 
 
April 2024 

The discussions need to include questions 
about developing either a non-credit 
course for community members, or credit 
course for Indigenous and non-Indigenous 
students, or both. 

 
Consult with the community about creating courses. 

 
April 2024 September 

2024 
The discussions need to include questions 
about developing either non-credit course 
for community members, or credit course 

- A collaboration with Creative Writing (writing children’s book) – see below 
- hənq̓ə̓minə̓m̓ classes – see below 
- hən̓q̓əmin̓əm̓ language classes – see below 

   for Indigenous and non-Indigenous 
students, or both. 

 



BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan 

BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan Page 19 

 

 

Action(s) Required to Achieve this Goal Led 
by 

Start 
on (M/YY) 

Complete 
By (M/YY) Notes 

 
Consult with the community and the Creative Writing Department to discuss opportunities for 
a collaboration (writing children’s book). 

* If there is a need/desire/instructor from the community 

TBD 
(based on 
discussions 

with the 
community) 

 
 
April 2024 

 

September 
2024 

 

 
Develop community based hənq̓ə̓minə̓m̓ classes. 

* If there is a need/desire/instructor from the community 

TBD 
(based on 
discussions 

with the 
community) 

 
September 
2024 

 
 
April 2025 

 

 

Develop a course teaching the hən̓q̓əmin̓əm̓ language. 

* If there is a need/desire/instructor from the community 

TBD 

(based on 
discussions 

with the 
community) 

 

September 
2024 

 
 
April 2025 

 

 

 
 
Consult with Indigenous Studies to develop language and culture courses (cross-listed). 

JENNIFER 
ANAQUOD 

and 
PAIVI 

KOSKINEN 

 
October 
2023 

December 
2023 

 

Develop CREE 1101 JENNIFER 
ANAQUOD 

September 
2023 

December 
2023 

Ready to be offered Fall 2024. 

Discuss adding CREE 1100 and 1101 to a future Indigenous Studies Degree and/or the 
Indigenous Community Justice minor. 

PAIVI 
KOSKINEN 

January 
2024 April 2024  



BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan 

BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan Page 20 

 

 

 
 

Resource Requirements (if applicable) 

 
Resources required to achieve this Goal: 

 
- Funding to develop CREE 1101 (one term) – see Dean’s memo, Self-Study, p.3 

 
When resources will be required: September 2023 

 
Faculty and/or Institutional support required: 

 
- Indigenous Studies - https://www.kpu.ca/arts/indigenous-studies 

- Indigenous Service for Students - https://www.kpu.ca/indigenous 
- Indigenous Leadership, innovation, and Partnerships (Gayle Bedard) 
- Creative Writing - https://www.kpu.ca/arts/creative-writing 

http://www.kpu.ca/arts/indigenous-studies
http://www.kpu.ca/indigenous
http://www.kpu.ca/arts/creative-writing


BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan 

BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan Page 21 

 

 

 
GOAL 6: Better align PLO and CLO in the program. 

 

Recommendation(s) Addressed in this Goal Indicate Report & Page Number 

Review the CLOs that are loosely related to the Program Learning Outcomes. Add details about the topic of essays to produce or 
analyze material. This way, these CLOs will be linked with PLOs #1 and #7 which are not well advanced in the program (FREN 3110, 
LANC 3310, LANC 3320). 

Curriculum Review, Self-Study, p.42 

External Review Report, p.4 

nd- Add CLOs to our 2 year language courses to better introduce PLO #2. Curriculum Review, Self-Study, p.42 

 
 

Action(s) Required to Achieve this Goal Led 
by 

Start 
on (M/YY) 

Complete 
By (M/YY) 

Notes 

 
Review our Program Learning Outcomes (the Program Learning Outcomes where created at 
the beginning of this Program Review and will certainly need revisions before our next Program 
review). 

- Establish where our Alumni are working/studying. 
- Identify the skills needed for these positions/studies. 
- Review the Program Learning Outcomes, based on these findings. 

The two 
faculty to 

be selected 
at a fall 

2023 
(October) 

meeting. 
(PAC team) 

 
 
 

April 2024 

 
 
 
September 
2024 

 
 
Ask Laurence Gauvreau about the process 
of creating Program Learning Outcomes, 
which she has done at the beginning of 
this Program Review. 

Identify the courses for which Courses Learning Outcomes need revision. PAC Team September 
2024 

October 
2024 

 

 

Share the desired modification with LANC faculty. 

 

PAC Team 

LANC 
meeting 
October 
2024 

 
October 
2024 

 

Get informed about the process to modify Course Learning Outcomes. PAC Team October 
2024 

November 
2024 

 

Modify the desired Course Learning Outcomes. PAC Team December 
2024 April 2025  



BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan 

BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan Page 22 

 

 

 

 

Resource Requirements (if applicable) 

 
Resources required to achieve this Goal: 

 
- Time release section for PAC team 

 
When resources will be required: Summer 2024 

 
Faculty and/or Institutional support required: 

 
 

PLAN SUPPORTED BY: 

 
Diane Purvey 31 July 2023 

 
Provost’s Name Provost’s Signature Date 

 
 
 

Shelley Boyd 31 July 2023 
 

Dean’s Name Dean’s Signature Date 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 

 

1 
 

 
REPORT: Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan 

 
Instructions for Reviewers 
Your assessment should ensure the Quality Assurance Plan does the following: 

o address all the recommendations in the Self-Study and External Review reports (or provide a clear 
rationale when a recommendation is not addressed); 

o provide clear, realistic plan of actions that are within the department’s purview; 
o clearly articulate how the Program will demonstrate Progress on a Goal and/or Action in its Annual Follow-

Up Report. 
 

OVERALL ASSESSMENT:  
Please provide a brief assessment of the Quality Assurance Plan under review and an overall recommendation. 
 
Reviewer #1: Congratulations to the program on developing such a thorough plan for promoting and 
strengthening the program. It is also great to see the plans for development of Indigenous language courses, 
especially hən̓q̓əmin̓əm̓. Below, I have identified some recommendations from the Self-Study and External 
Review that don’t seem to be addressed in the QA Plan, and I also have some suggestions for improving 
clarity in some areas.  
 
The Report (select the box that corresponds to your recommendation):  

☐          Recommend for approval by the SSCPR as is 
☒          Reviewer #1 & #2: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR pending suggested actions (see below) 
☐          Recommend for rejection by the SSCPR 

 
MAJOR ISSUES AND SUGGESTED ACTIONS:  
Complete this section ONLY if you have identified the following major issues with the Plan: 

a) Recommendations made in the Self-Study Report and/or External Review Report are not appropriately 
addressed. 

b) Goals, Actions, and/or Resource Implications are not worded clearly. 
c) It is unclear how the Program will demonstrate Progress on a Goal and/or Actions in its Annual Follow-

Up Report. 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 

 

2 
 

Issue (page #) Suggested Action Program’s Response 
Page #3, The first recommendation the QAP 
does not address, “The lack of usage for 
these resources does not seem very 
alarming as our courses are introductory 
and do not require such resources.” 
The program requires 3 credits at the 1000 
level, 3 at 2000 and 12 at 3000. It is fair to 
say one course is introductory. Looking at 
the course outlines for the 3 credits at the 
1000 level, most require some form of 
assignment, which may benefit from library 
use.  

A more detailed rational may 
be helpful here.  

I think the rationale might 
have been phrased badly 
here. What we mean is that 
most courses offered in our 
Program do not require 
students to use library 
resources, as they are 
language classes using a 
textbook or OER provided 
by the instructor on 
Moodle. This is probably 
why this category scored 
“low” when it comes to 
usage.  
 
I added tasks to “LANC 
Lounge Committee”, p.10, 
to address this: 

1.  Advertise the 
library orientation 
in this lounge. 

2. Advertise lists of 
resources offered at 
the library (books, 
games, movies in 
the target language, 
for example) in this 
lounge. 

 
The library orientation 
scored “low” as well, which 
is not lead by our Program, 
but by the library. I am not 
sure if investigating what 
improvements are needed 
for the library orientation to 
get better falls under the 
scope of our LANC program 
review.  
  



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 

 

3 
 

Page #3, The second recommendation the 
QAP does not address. Collecting more 
relevant data from students and faculty 
regarding technology use…” 
The recommendation addresses  
“Gathering Data Regarding Technology” 
The rationales address  
delivery and instruction quality,  
emerging resources through T&L, and  
communication 

The rational could more clearly 
address the recommendation.  
 

I have rephrased and added 
details, p. 3  

Self-Study Report (SSR), p45, #4. Although 
you do address student emotional and 
physical safety in the QA Plan, this 
recommendation is specifically about 
keeping the language labs, which doesn't 
seem to be mentioned in the QA Plan. 
 

All recommendations from the 
self-study report and external 
review report (ERR) need to be 
listed in the QA Plan, either as 
part of a goal (or goals), or in 
the list of recommendations 
that you have decided not to 
address. 

I added it to “not 
addressed” with rationale. 

SSR, p46, #4. This recommendation is about 
allowing more spacious conversation lab 
classes, and doesn’t seem to be mentioned 
in QA Plan.  
 

See above. I added it to “not 
addressed” with rationale.  



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 

 

4 
 

SSR, p46, #6. Although you have action 
items related to working with Advisors, the 
part of the recommendation about 
collaborating with career services and 
accessibility services doesn't seem to be 
addressed in the QA Plan.  
 

If those aspects are not being 
addressed, state that in the QA 
Plan. 

This recommendation falls 
under “Promote our 
program more intensively 
and in new ways.” (p. 4) and 
is being addressed p.7.  
 
I added “career advisors and 
accessibility services” 
instead of using “advisors” 
only.  
 

Communicate our 
Ed Plan (and cross-
listed courses Ed 
Plan) with 
Advisors, Career 
Services, 
Accessibility 
Services, and 
Student Service, so 
they can help 
students chose a 
path effectively 
and accurately.  

 
  



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 

 

5 
 

Issue (page #) Suggested Action Program’s Response 
External review report (ERR), p 4, on 
the distinction between English 
language skills and those skills in other 
languages.  This doesn’t seem to be 
explicitly addressed in the QA Plan. 
 

If this is not being addressed, state 
that in the QA Plan. 

I added it to “not 
addressed” with rationale.  

ERR, p8. Re: having many non-regular 
faculty; precarity; morale. I admit that 
it’s not clear exactly what the ERT are 
recommending here -- perhaps they 
are suggesting a review to see if it is a 
problem?  
 

If this is not considered to be an 
issue, add it to the list of 
recommendations that are not being 
addressed. 

I added it to “not 
addressed” with rationale. 

Page 2. In some instances, it would 
help to state the name of the course.  

The reader can guess what CREE 
1100 is about, but would it be good 
to state the name of LING/LANC 
3390. 

Done. 

Page 5. For the benefit of future non-
KPU readers, define all 
acronyms/initialisms at first usage.  

ASCC is one example – check if there 
are others that need to be defined. 
 

Done. 

Page 6 & 7, Marketing and promotion 
committee action items.  

These action items are very good, 
but I think it will be easier to report 
on progress in the annual follow-up 
reports if they are all separate action 
items (e.g. some may be done or 
started by March 2024, others may 
not). 

I agree. However, we will 
delegate tasks and new 
committees during our next 
department meeting, in 
October. Therefore, I cannot 
separate each item right 
now, as the new committee 
will agree on a timeline for 
each task within the 
deadline.  

Page 8. Final action item of Goal 1, 
currently “led by all faculty members”. 
Ideally, this should be led by a specific 
person or position (e.g. chair). 
 

Is there someone who can lead this 
and be accountable for it, to make 
sure the meetings happen? 
 

Done.  

Page 10, “LANC Lounge Committee” 
action items. 

I suggest making each one a separate 
action item to make it easier to 
report on progress next year. 
 

I agree. However, we will 
delegate tasks and new 
committees during our next 
department meeting, in 
October. Therefore, I cannot 
separate each item right 
now, as the new committee 
will agree on a timeline for 
each task within the 
deadline. 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 

 

6 
 

Page 12, first action item of Goal 3. I 
assume you are referring to KPU 
faculty PAC members (as opposed to 
external members)?  
 

Please clarify. 
 

Clarified.  

Page 13, 3rd action item of Goal 3. You 
write that the info will be forwarded 
to various committees.  

Perhaps add a note on what the 
committees would use the 
information for. I assume it is related 
to the later actions on promotion. 

Done. 

  



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 

 

7 
 

Issue (page #) Suggested Action Program’s Response 
Page 13, last two action items of Goal 
3. The wording is a little bit vague. 

Can you be more specific about what 
form this promotion is likely to take? 
Would it involve going into classes? 
 

I added details.  

Page 16, 4th action item of Goal 4. This 
timeline (2 years) seems very long for 
starting the process. 

Is the intent to have the process 
finished within the two years? If so, 
that should be stated. 
 

I added “to start & 
complete the process” 

Page 19, “Develop CREE 1101” action 
item.  
 

Clarify if this refers to writing the 
course outline or developing the 
course materials or both. Also, if the 
approval process for a new course 
outline is expected to be complete 
by December, perhaps state that 
explicitly. 
 

A note says, “ready to be 
offered Fall 2024”.  
 
I added one action under 
“develop CREE 1101”: 
hopefully it makes this 
action more explicit. 

Page 18, 2nd action item of Goal 5. 
Initially I was a bit confused, as CREE 
1101 had not been mentioned before 
this.  
 

For clarity, I suggest putting the 
action about developing CREE 1101 
before this one. Also, it would be 
good to mention briefly in the notes 
how CREE 1101 will be different from 
CREE 1100. 
 

We need to consult with the 
community before/while 
developing CREE 1101. This 
is why the actions related to 
these consultations comes 
first.  
 
 

Page 18, 3rd, 5th, and 6th action items 
of Goal 5. It is great that the 
development of hən̓q̓əmin̓əm̓ classes 
will be investigated.  

It would be good to clarify the 
difference between “hən̓q̓əmin̓əm̓ 
classes” and “hən̓q̓əmin̓əm̓ language 
classes”. 
 

There is no difference. It’s a 
language class with 
considerable portion of 
culture. I corrected it and 
used “hən̓q̓əmin̓əm̓ classes” 
only. 

Page 19, 4th, 5th, and 6th, action items 
of Goal 5.  

Each entry in the “Led by column” 
should have a name (or a position). Is 
it possible to add a name to these at 
this stage? 
 

We have indicated that the 
person leading these actions 
will be determined after 
discussions with the 
community. It is not 
possible to add names now, 
as we don’t have potential 
instructors for these courses 
yet. 

Page 21, Goal 6. Is “PAC Team” the 
same as “PAC”? Or does it only refer 
to the KPU faculty member(s) that will 
be on the PAC?  

Please clarify. 
 

Yes, PAC team is the same 
as PAC.  
 
I erased “team” and just left 
“PAC”.  

 
MINOR EDITS (Spelling, syntax, word choice and other mechanical issues). 
Please list corresponding page numbers. Minor edits are NOT discussed at the SSCPR meeting. Add or remove 
rows as needed. 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 

 

8 
 

Minor Edits (page #) 
Page 18, 2nd action item of Goal 5. Period after “Leadership” should be a comma. Corrected. 
Page 21, Goal 6. For benefit of future non-KPU readers, I suggest writing “program learning outcomes and 
course learning outcomes” fully in the heading for this goal. Corrected. 
Page 21, 1st action item of Goal 6. “Where” should be “were”. Corrected. 

 



 
Date Quality Assurance Plan submitted to SSCPR: July 31August 31st, 2023 
 
Date Self-Study Report approved by SSCPR: November 23, 2022  
 
Date of External Review: March 8 & 9, 2023 
 

SUMMARY OF PROGRAM STENGTHS, CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES FOR IMPROVEMENT 
 

STRENGTHS 

Firstly, the Minor helps students acquire most of the essential skills, which are outlined by KPU and the Ministry of Education.  
 

The program also offers a great range of subjects and topics. The unique aspect of the program is the flexibility to either focus on one language/culture or to study many, broadly. This 

diversity of courses gives the students the liberty to choose from a variety of courses at different levels and prepares them well for the diverse and interconnected world they will face 

after university. However, the External Review Report mentions that it could also be one reason for the difficulty in ensuring the regularity of course offerings and enabling student 

progression (see challenges, below).  

 

The relevance of the program to pursue a career or further studies also appears as a strength. The skills and knowledge developed in our program are very important in a wide variety of 
industries where cross-cultural communication skills are in high demand, such as business, education, finances, foreign affairs, government, health care, immigration, media, research, 
tourism, and transportation. These skills are also essential to take leading roles in different communities and to thrive in today’s globalized world. This aspect could be used to advertise 
our program more effectively.  
 

Plus, the program offers high quality instruction and involves instructors who are enthusiastic, knowledgeable, and engaging. The program shows quality and a variety of teaching 
methods and assessments.  
 

Finally, 1st-year French, 1st-year Spanish, 1st-year Punjabi and Bhangra dance courses have witnessed a surge in enrolment, and some of the waitlists are full every semester.  



 
CHALLENGES  
 

Even if the program offers a variety of courses at different levels, many are not offered anymore or are not offered regularly. FREN 2220, (French oral skills), FREN 3300, (Upper 
intermediate French I), FREN 3301, (Upper intermediate French I), FREN 3100, (French oral and writing skills), JAPN 4400, (Advanced Japanese I: conversation), JAPN 4410, (Advanced 
Japanese for business), LING 2120, (Grammatical patterns in language), LING 2400, (first and second language acquisition), PUNJ 2200, (Intermediate Punjabi I), PUNJ 2201, (Intermediate 
Punjabi II), SPAN 2200, (Intermediate Spanish I), SPAN 2201 (Intermediate Spanish II) and SPAN 3310 (Advanced Spanish conversation through film) are not offered anymore.  

These courses are mostly 2nd and 3rd-year, which compromises the attractiveness of the program and the ability for students to take desirable courses and/or complete the program in a 
reasonable time. It affects the program’s progression because students cannot proceed from an introductory course through to the 3rd or 4th-year studies without breaks.  

This being said it has been challenging to reach steady and high enrollment in some 2nd and 3rd-year courses. This resulted in leadership canceling many courses with lower enrollment, 
which makes it even more challenging to try offering these courses again soon. Hopefully, this Action Plan can show our strong willingness to promote our program, build enrollments, and 
retain students more effectively, so that we can receive support from leadership to start offering some of our 2nd and 3rd-year courses again. 

 

OPPORTUNITIES FOR IMPROVEMENT  

Our program is suited to deliver courses in different modes. We are ready to move forward with different deliveries or teaching modalities if it helps grow or offer more courses and to 
better serve our students moving forward. However, we recognize the importance of practicums and live interactions in order to develop most of the skills in the program. Teaching 
blended courses or online courses with a mandatory synchronous component is an opportunity to consider.   

As the first steps in the Indigenization of the LANC curriculum, CREE 1100 was added in the Fall of 2020, and LING/LANC 3390 (Indigenous languages in Canada) in the Fall of 2016 (taught 
for the first time in the Spring of 2017). Both courses have been very successful since their inception, and represent an opportunity to teach them more often, or to develop new courses 
teaching different Indigenous languages and cultures, as well as a collaboration with the Indigenous Studies department.   

The current fit and relationships between the program and industry and further studies needs improvement. The current opportunities for experiential learning also need improvement. 

The current opportunities for experiential learning also need improvement.  

Communication between the program and Student Advisors needs improvement, in order to make sure our students are aware of our course offering, and to plan their studying path 
accurately and accordingly.  

 



RECOMMENDATIONS THE QUALITY ASSURANCE PLAN DOES NOT ADDRESS 
The Recommendations from the Self-Study Report and External Review Report that this Plan does not address as provided below, with a brief rationale for why these Recommendations 
cannot be addressed.  

Recommendations Indicate Self-Study Report 
(SSR) or External Review 
Report (ERR) and page 
number 

The Rationale for Not Addressing 

Investigating further to understand what needs to be 
improved regarding library orientation (Student and 
faculty satisfaction is low) and usage of this resource. 

Self-Study p.45 

External Review Report, p.9 

The lack of usage for these resources does not seem very alarming as most of our 
courses are introductory courses and/or do not require such resources. 

Collecting more relevant data from students and faculty regarding 
technology, and establishing which specific technology is needed to 
deliver the course content most successfully.  

Self-Study p.45  Course delivery methods and quality of instruction have been considered a 
strength of the program., according to students. New or specific 
technology does not seem to be missing or needed in order to improve 
teaching methods or quality of instruction.  

AlsoAlso, if our faculty members need a specific technology, Teaching and 
Learning provides a wide variety of tools and workshops already, and their 
newsletters often inform us about new teaching technologies and 
platforms available. There is an overwhelming number of technologies 
available already to deliver our course content.  

Finally, we think there is no need to collect data, as the department 
already has good communication among faculty members regarding 
technology needs: we often ask each other if we need a new specific 
technology, and we have a budget available for such new needs.  

We do not think this recommendation is a priority at the moment.  

Cooperating in more course development with the Asian Studies 
department. 

Program relevance and 
Student demand, Self-Study, 
p. 43 

External Review Report, p.4 

Considering the main challenges of the program, we think that the focus 
should be to strengthen/offer our existing courses, as well as create 
Indigenous Language and culture classes.  

Realistically, we don’t think we can develop courses with Asian Studies in 
the next 5 years if we want to focus on the main goals.  



We recommend keeping existing language labs. Self-Study Report, p.45 There is no plan to cancel or stop existing language labs. The Self-Study 
simply reported that they are important, according to the surveys we 
analyzed. Therefore, they should not be cancelled in the future.  

Allowing more spacious conversation lab classes Self-Study, p. 46 The new space in Fir 110 (LANC Lounge) is next to our conversation class, 
and could be used during conversation class as well, for larger groups. Each 
instructor can also request a larger room for their conversation class, when 
the Department Assistant asks to provide the schedule of the next 
semester.  

Providing a fuller assessment of Punjabi courses in the next report.  External Review Report, p.4 Our Punjabi instructor was on leave when we completed the Self-Study 
Report, which is why there is a lack of assessment of Punjabi courses.  

Our Punjabi instructor is back and will contribute to the remaining steps of 
this Program Review process.  

Maximum class size in language courses (27) is too high for optimal 
proficiency outcomes. We recommend this being reduced to a target level 
of 17 maximum. 

External Review Report, p.4 SSCPR memo says that this recommendation is outside of program review’s 
scope. 

A distinction should be made between English reading, writing, and oral 
proficiency on one hand and these skills in target languages on the other. 
Proficiency in target languages appear underemphasized in comparison to 
proficiency in English skills.  

External Review Report, p. 4 It seems like “in the target language” is mentioned when the Program 
Learning Outcomes or the Course Learning Outcomes are linked with 
language classes. If there is no mention, we assume that we are talking 
about English language skills, as it is the official language KPU is using in 
their classes. 

Also, there are only 3 credits required in the Minor regarding language 
classes. Therefore, it seems normal that “target language” is not 
emphasized as much. In this document, we will suggest increasing the 
language requirement to 6 credits.  

There are 4 full-time and 8 part-time faculty. The review team discussed 
whether having so many part-time and contract faculty members affected 
some aspects of the program unequally. Concern was expressed about the 
possible precarity and morale of part-time and contract faculty. This could 
also affect program development. 

External Review Report, p. 8 The collective agreement often dictates when we need to search for non-
regular or regular positions, and when an employee becomes 
“regularized”. We wish to have more full-time regular employees, but this 
means that more classes need to be offered regularly, as we will suggest in 
this document.  

 



QUALITY ASSURANCE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN 

The Quality Assurance Goals for improving or maintaining program quality over the next five years are:  
 

MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGINS: October 2023 

GOAL 1: Promote the program more effectively within KPU and across the communities we serve. 

Recommendation(s) Addressed in this Goal Indicate Report & Page Number 

Discontinuing courses that we don’t plan to offer again.  Curriculum Review, Self-Study, 
p.42. 

Promote our program more intensively and in new ways.  Program relevance and Student 
demand, Self-Study, p. 44 & 46 

Better inform prospective LANC BA Minor students. Effectiveness of Instructional 
Delivery, Self-Study, p. 45 

External Review Report, p. 6 

Review the pace and skills level of students in beginner classes. External Review Report, p. 6 

 

Actions(s) Required to Achieve this Goal 
Led  
by 

Start  
on (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

Notes 

Identify courses that the program does not plan to offer again and establish a list of courses 
to be discontinued.  

KIMIKO 
BROOKSBRUCKS 

October 2023 
November 
2023 

- Laurence Gauvreau will 
compile a list of all courses.  
- Send an email to faculty 
members with the list of 
courses in their area.  
- Ask each area to discuss and 
report which courses should be 
discontinued.  
- Share the list of courses to be 
discontinued with LANC faculty 



members, to get feedback and 
everyone’s approval at a 
department meeting in early fall 
2023. 

Get informed about the process for discontinuing courses.  
KIMIKO 

BROOKSBRUCKS 
October 2023 

November 
2023 

 

Discontinue identified courses (LANC 4320 & others?) 
KIMIKO 

BROOKSBRUCKS 

Submit the 
motion to 
ASCCSenate 
Standing 
Committee on 
Curriculum in 
November 2023 
to begin the 
governance 
approval 
process for 
discontinuation. 

Approved by 
February 
2024 
/Implemented 
in the 
calendar for 
fall 2024 

 

 

Create a promotional video and material – Alumni testimonies (filmed or written) about 
how the program serves them now – and share it on KPU’s LANC website & send it to 
LANC’s Marketing and Promotion Committee.  
 

ANA ROBLES 

April 2024 

Once PAC has 
been created 
and has done 
some research 

(Goal #3) 

January 2025 

The Dean’s office may be able 
to provide support through the 
future hiring of a student digital 
content producer; faculty 
member Gordon Cobb (MUSI) 
may also be able to assist. 

Create a LANC Marketing & Promotion Committee 
LAURENCE 
GAUVREAU 

LANC meeting 
October 6th 

December 
2023 

Consult with Arts staff, 
specifically the Arts 
Communications and Events 
Coordinators, who liaise with 
KPU Marketing. The 



coordinators may be able to 
provide some suggestions to 
the LANC committee. 

Marketing & Promotion Committee:  

- Create a PowerPoint to promote our Minor, including (a) our Ed Plan, (b) a 
description of the program, (c) opportunities – career paths, study paths, student 
exchanges, (d) our new LANC Lounge – students tutoring, LANC club, events, (e) how 
to declare your Minor & the benefits.  

- Make a list of the Lower Mainland high schools. Highlight schools offering languages 
other than French.  

- Identify culture-related events (community centers, festivals, street events, music 
events in one of our target languages, etc.) and make a list of the contact persons 
who could help us promote our program at their event.  

- Identify Majors in different disciplines across the university, whose students could 
be interested in our Minor (in Asian Studies, for example) 

Two faculty to be 
selected at a fall 
2023 (October) 

meeting. 

October 2023 
December 
2023 

 

Merged Cells



Marketing & Promotion Committee:  

- Consult with Asian Studies to make sure we know their Ed Plan for cross-listed 
courses.  

- Communicate our Ed Plan (and cross-listed courses Ed Plan) with Advisors, Career 
Services, Accessibility Services, and Student Service, so they can help students chose 
a path effectively and accurately.  

- Share/update our ED Plan on the Language and Culture website. 

- Facilitate and promote information about the Minor (Advisors visit in class for 
Declaration Month, posters on campus, ask all LANC faculty members to present our 
Promo PowerPoint in class)  

- Promote the program in high schools (grade 12): send them the promotional video 
or testimonies (texts) once they are done around April 2024 / send the short 
PowerPoint to promote the program / offer to Zoom with the class for 5-10 minutes 
to promote the program. 

- Reach out to the culture-event listed contact persons, and ask how we could 
promote our Minor at their event (print and send posters. Present our Promo 
PowerPoint. Play our promotional video – done April 2024. Send someone to give a 
short presentation.) 

- Promote our BA Minor to target students majoring in different disciplines across the 
university, not just Asian Studies – ask instructors to present our Promo PowerPoint 
in class or to post it on their Moodle site. 

 January 2024  
March 2024, 
and ongoing 

 

     

Meet with LANC faculty to discuss the pace of 1st-year language classes, how to deal with 
varying skill levels among students in one class, and how to encourage 2nd-year course 
enrollment.  

LAURENCE 
GAUVREAU 

LANC meeting 
December 2023 

December 
2023 

 



Meet with colleagues teaching the same 1st year courses and establish strategies to ensure 
appropriate pace, language assessments, similar course content, and how to promote 2nd-
year courses. 

ALL LANC FACULTY 
MEMBERSLAURENCE 

GAUVREAU 
January 2024 August 2024 

 

 

Resource Requirements (if applicable) 

 
Resources required to achieve this Goal: Someone to film the promotional testimonies.  

 

 
When resources will be required: Fall 2024 Fall 2024 

 

Faculty and/or Institutional support required: 
 

- Curriculum Committee - https:// 
- Asian Studies - https:// 
- Future Students Office (for a list of high schools) - https:// 
- Marketing Services Department - https://kpuemp.sharepoint.com/sites/marketing/SitePages/Home.aspx 

Arts Communications and Events Coordinators 
Faculty and/or Institutional support required:  - Curriculum Committee - https://www.kpu.ca/senate/committees/curriculum- Asian 
Studies - https://www.kpu.ca/arts/asian-studies- Future Students Office (for a list of high schools) - https://www.kpu.ca/future-students- 
Marketing Services Department - https://kpuemp.sharepoint.com/sites/marketing/SitePages/Home.aspx- Arts Communications and 
Events Coordinators 

 

 

 

 



 

GOAL 2: Create a “Language and Culture Program” community. 

Recommendation(s) Addressed in this Goal  Indicate Report & Page Number 

Develop opportunities for students to develop better interpersonal skills.  Curriculum Review, Self-Study, 
p.40 

Develop opportunities for students to develop better personal management & entrepreneurial skills. Curriculum Review, Self-Study, 
p.40 

Explore ways to meet the student’s needs in terms of emotional and physical safety. Effectiveness of Instructional 
Delivery, Self-Study, p. 45 

Offer better/more diverse learning (open access) resources.  

Improve the usage of the library orientation and resources. 

Resources, services and facilities, 
Self-Study, p.45 

External Review Report, p. 9 

Strengthen the LANC student community.  External Review Report, p. 9 

 

Action(s) Required to Achieve this Goal 
Led  
by 

Start  
on (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

Notes 

Create a LANC Lounge Committee 
LAURENCE 
GAUVREAU 

LANC 
meeting 
October 6th 
2023 

October 
2023  

 

LANC Lounge Committee: 

- Explore options for gathering students in Fir 110 or elsewhere to tutor, study, and hold 
language club meetings. 

- Collect data on faculty and student preferences regarding books, eBooks, periodicals, 
journals, and learning resources (such as vocabulary games, cue cards, etc.) 

Two faculty 
to be 

selected at 
a fall 2023 

 
October 
2023 

 
December 
2023 

 

LANC Lounge Committee: Two faculty 
to be 

October 
2023 

December 
2023 

 



- Explore options for gathering students in Fir 110 or elsewhere to tutor, study, and hold 
language club meetings.  

- Collect data on faculty and student preferences regarding books, eBooks, periodicals, 
journals, and learning resources (such as vocabulary games, cue cards, etc.) 

- Subscribe or buy new ones (depending on faculty’s needs and student’s interests) and 
display them in the new LANC Lounge room. 

- Gather a list, from each mini area, of Open Resources (relevant eBooks, magazines, and 
websites for each of their courses), and post the list on the LANC website & in the new 
LANC Lounge room. 

- Gather a list, from each mini area, of library resources, and post it in the new LANC 
lounge room.  

- Consult with Counselling Services to explore ways to meet the student’s needs in terms 
of emotional and physical safety that apply to all our courses. 

selected at 
a fall 2023 
(October) 
meeting. 

LANC Lounge Committee:  

- Facilitate & promote a student lead LANC club. 
- Promote tutoring among students.   
- Post library orientation information in the new LANC lounge room.  

 

January 
2024 

(Every 
January, 
moving 
forward) 

February 
2024, and 
ongoing 

 

  

Organize an annual singing/karaoke event 
JUSTIN 
STEIN 

Summer 
2023 

October 
2023 

We have already started to organize this 
event, which will hopefully become an 
annual LANC event.  

 
   

 

 
 

Resource Requirements (if applicable) 

 

Resources required to achieve this Goal: 



From department budget: 
- Decorations for Fir 110 
- Buy eBooks/games/books 
- Rent a karaoke machine 

 

More chairs in Fir 110 
   From department budget:- Decorations for Fir 110- Buy eBooks/games/books- Rent a karaoke machineMore chairs in Fir 110 

 
When resources will be required: 

 

- October 2023 (for Fir 110) 
- October 2023 (budget for eBooks, books, and games) 

September 2023 (for Karaoke machine) 
  - October 2023 (for Fir 110)- October 2023 (budget for eBooks, books, and games)- September 2023 (for Karaoke machine)  

 

Faculty and/or Institutional support required: 
 

- Facilities needs to approve the new use of Fir 110 – make sure the door remains unlocked - https:// 
- Counselling Services - https:// 
- Peer Wellness Group - https:// 

Accessibility Services - https:// 
Faculty and/or Institutional support required: 
  - Facilities needs to approve the new use of Fir 110 – make sure the door remains unlocked - https://www.kpu.ca/facilities- Counselling 
Services - https://www.kpu.ca/counselling- Peer Wellness Group - https://www.kpu.ca/peerwellness - Accessibility Services - 
https://www.kpu.ca/access     

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

GOAL 3: Grow and build work-related or real life-related opportunities for students to use what they have learned or what they are learning in the program. 

Recommendation(s) Addressed in this Goal Indicate Report & Page Number 

Develop opportunities for students to develop better interpersonal skills.  Curriculum Review, Self-Study, 
p.40 

Develop opportunities for students to develop better personal management & entrepreneurial skills. Curriculum Review, Self-Study, 
p.40 

External Review Report, p.4 

Offer more opportunities for students to work with other people from different linguistic or cultural backgrounds, outside of the classroom setting, 
and developing more diverse experiential learning opportunities.  

 

Program relevance and Student 
demand, Self-Study, p. 44 

External Review Report, p. 8 

Strengthen our connections to the discipline and sector.  

 

Program relevance and Student 
demand, Self-Study, p. 44 

External Review Report, p. 8 

Strengthen our connections to Alumni.  External Review Report, p.4 

Provide a coordinator for opportunities abroad, in the workplace, and community. External Review Report, p. 9 

 

Action(s) Required to Achieve this Goal 
Led  
by 

Start  
on (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

Notes 



Decide who wants to be part of LANC Program Advisory Committee (PAC) 
LAURENCE 
GAUVREAU 

LANC 
meeting 
October 
2023 

October 
2023 

 

Create LANC Program Advisory Committee (PAC (): get informed about the process, tasks, 
resources) 

Two faculty 
to be 

selected at 
a fall 2023 
(October) 
meeting. 

October 
2023 

December 
2023 

 

Get in touch with Alumni and gather information about where they work or volunteer. 
Get information about the skills required to obtain these positions or how the skills acquired in 
our program serve them in their lives.  

Forward this information and contact information to the Social Media Committee (Ana Robles), 
Marketing and Promotion Committee & Experiential learning/exchange Committee 

 
October 
2023 

April 2024 

 

 

This information will be used by the Social 
Media Committee to create promotional 
video (goal #1), Marketing and Promotion 
Committee to create a promotional 
PowerPoint (goal #1) and Experiential 
learning Committee to create relationships 
with employers, organizations, or 
communities (goal #3) 

 

Create LANC Experiential Learning & Exchange Committee  
LAURENCE 
GAUVREAU 

LANC 
meeting 
October 
6th, 2023 

October 
2023  

 

Reach out to the Dean, KPU international and COIL to make a list of existing student exchanges 
available (with financial aids available & links for more information).  
Discuss the options available to restart students exchange options or create new ones – so we 
can have more opportunities for students taking any of our language courses.  

Two faculty 
to be 

selected at 
a fall 2023 

January 
2024 

April 2024 

 

Merged Cells



With information provided by PAC: Create relationships with employers, organizations, or 
communities, and develop a list of volunteering/work opportunities with contact person 
information.  

(October) 
meeting. April 2024  

August 
2024 

 

Promote work-related and volunteering opportunities:  

- Reach out to employers, organization, communities and ask for their needs.  
- Make a list of positions available, with contact information.  
- Ask LANC faculty members to promote this initiative and list in class.  
- Ask LANC faculty members to display this information on Moodle.   

September 
2024 (Every 
September, 
moving 
forward) 

October 
2024 

 

Promote student exchanges (and financial aids)  

September 
2024 (Every 
September, 
moving 
forward) 

October 
2024 

 

 

Get in touch with Alumni and gather information about where they work or volunteer. 
Get information about the skills required to obtain these positions or how the skills acquired in our 
program serve them in their lives. 

Forward this information and contact information to the Social Media Committee (Ana Robles), Marketing 
and Promotion Committee & Experiential learning/exchange CommitteeResource Requirements (if 
applicable) 

selected 
at a fall 
2023 
(October) 
meeting. 

 
October 
2023 

 

 
April 2024 

 

Action(s) 
Resources required to achieve this Goal: 
   - Time release section for PAC  

Led 
by 

Start 
on 
(M/YY) 

Complete 
By (M/YY) 

Notes 

 
Create LANC Experiential Learning & Exchange Committee 

 
LAURENCE 

LANC 
meeting 
October 
6th, 2023 

 

October 
2023 

 

Reach out to the Dean, KPU international and COIL to make a list of existing student exchanges available 
(with financial aids available & links for more information). 
Discuss the options available to restart students exchange options or create new ones – so we can have 

 
 
 

 

January 
2024 

 
April 
2024 

 

Deleted Cells

Deleted Cells

Deleted Cells

Deleted Cells

Deleted Cells

Split Cells

Deleted Cells

Deleted Cells

Deleted Cells



more opportunities for students taking any of our language courses.  
 
 

Two faculty to be selected at a fall 2023 
(October) meeting. 
When resources will be required:  Fall 
2023 or Spring 2024  

With information provided by PAC: Create relationships with employers, 
organizations, or communities, and develop a list of volunteering/work 
opportunities with contact person information. 
Faculty and/or Institutional support required:   
- Program Advisory Committee - https://www.kpu.ca/arts/ngo/advisory-
committee- Alumni Office - https://www.kpu.ca/acp/ap/alumni-network- 
KPU International (Ada Lee) - https://www.kpu.ca/international- Study 
Abroad Program - https://www.kpu.ca/studyabroad- COIL - 
https://www.kpu.ca/international/partnerships/faculty-exchange/coil- 
Larissa Petrillo, Lead Advisor, WIL 

 

 

April 
2024 

August 
2024 

 

 

 
Promote work-related and volunteering opportunities 

 

September 
2024 
(Every 
September, 
moving 
forward) 

 
 

October 
2024 

 

 
Promote student exchanges (and financial aids) 

 

September 
2024 
(Every 
September, 
moving 
forward) 

 

October 
2024 

 

 

 

Deleted Cells

Deleted Cells

Deleted Cells

Deleted Cells



 

 



 

 

 

Resource Requirements (if applicable) 

 

Resources required to achieve this Goal: 
 

- Time release section for PAC 

 

When resources will be required: Fall 2023 or Spring 2024 

 

Faculty and/or Institutional support required: 
 

- Program Advisory Committee - https://www.kpu.ca/arts/ngo/advisory-committee 
- Alumni Office - https://www.kpu.ca/acp/ap/alumni-network 
- KPU International (Ada Lee) - https://www.kpu.ca/international 
- Study Abroad Program - https://www.kpu.ca/studyabroad 
- COIL - https://www.kpu.ca/international/partnerships/faculty-exchange/coil 
- Larissa Petrillo, Lead Advisor, WIL 



GOAL 4: Ensure and improve successful student progression through the degree.   

Recommendation(s) Addressed in this Goal Indicate Report & Page Number 

Seek the relevant support from the institution to add one language course (3 credits) to the Minor requirement. Curriculum Review, Self-Study, 
p.41 

External Review Report, p.4 

Seek the relevant support from the institution to offer our 2nd and 3rd-year linguistics courses more regularly (LING 2120, LING 2400, LING 3390), as 
well as some language 2nd and 3rd-year courses. 

*Note that we already use a rotation system for LING 3390, LANC 1200, LANC 1150, FREN 3110, and JAPN 3xxx.  
*Note that LANC faculty and External Reviewers are opposed to split courses.   

Curriculum Review, Self-Study, 
p.41 

Program relevance and Student 
demand, Self-Study, p. 42 and p.43 

Seek the relevant support from the institution to reduce the enrolment threshold for class cancellations (especially cancelation of higher-level 
language courses needed to complete the program). An alternative could be to allow for smaller numbers in higher-level language classes.  

 

External Review Report, p. 6 

Increase the offering of courses with high enrolment and waitlists (FREN 1100, SPAN 1100, PUNJ 1100, LANC 1870). Since there is a great increase 
in international students in these courses specifically, we see this as an opportunity to both solve a demand issue and grow the department’s 
revenue, allowing the program to reintroduce some 2nd, 3rd or 4th-year courses with lower enrolment, for the time it takes to build the demand in 
upper- level courses. 

Program relevance and Student 
demand, Self-Study, p. 42 

 

Review FREN and SPAN 2200/2201 prerequisites, to allow students to take these two courses in any order.  Curriculum Review, Self-Study, 
p.41 

Review LING courses prerequisites.  Self-Study p.18 

 

 

 

 

Action(s) Required to Achieve this Goal 
Led  
by 

Start  
on (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

Notes 



Decide who will take care of “adding 3 credits to the Minor” idea.   
LAURENCE 
GAUVREAU 

LANC 
meeting 
October 
6th, 2023 

October 
2023 

 

Meet with Arts Advisors and ask to provide data as to the impact that adding 3 credits to the 
Minor might have on students’ ability to complete the Minor. 

One faculty to 
be selected at a 

fall 2023 
(October) 
meeting. 

October 
2023 

October 
2023 

 

Meet with LANC faculty to discuss results provided by Arts advisors. 

LANC 
meeting in 
December 
2023 

December 
2023 

 

Meet with Arts Associate Dean to start & complete the process of adding 3 credits to the 
language requirement of the minor (if this idea is successful).  

January 
2024 

January 
2026 

 

 

Meet with LANC faculty and discuss the idea of adding more courses in rotation, adding 
blended or online courses, and other ideas.   

LAURENCE 
GAUVREAU 

LANC 
meeting 
December 
2023 

December 
2023 

 

Meet with the Dean and Associate Dean to discuss how to support the Program’s growth and 
improve its progression. 

ANA ROBLES, 
LAURENCE 

GAUVREAU and 
YANFENG QU 

January 
2024 

January 
2024 

 

 

Consult with ASCCSenate Standing Committee on Curriculum, program and curriculum support 
in Provost’s office, and/or Dean’s office about the steps to modify pre-requisites. 

KIMIKO 
BROOKSBRUCKS 

January 
2024 

February 
2024 

 

Report how to modify pre-requisites, ask LANC faculty members about courses that need 
changes & their rationale, and go on with the process.  

KIMIKO 
BROOKSBRUCKS 

February 
2024 

June 2024 
 

 

Resource Requirements (if applicable) 



 
Resources required to achieve this Goal:  
    

 
When resources will be required:   
  

 
Faculty and/or Institutional support required: 

 

- Art Advisors - https:// 
- Dean’s office - https:// 

Curriculum committee - https://   
- Art Advisors - https://www.kpu.ca/arts/advising- Dean’s office - https://www.kpu.ca/arts/deans-office- Curriculum committee - 
https://www.kpu.ca/senate/committees/curriculum 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

GOAL 5: Expand decolonization and Indigenization into the program. 

Recommendation(s) Addressed in this Goal Indicate Report & Page Number 

Offer and develop more Indigenous language and culture courses.  Program relevance and Student 
demand, Self-Study, p. 42 



External Review Report, p. 6 

Collaborate with the Indigenous Studies Department and Creative Writing Department. Program relevance and Student 
demand, Self-Study, p. 43 

External Review Report, p. 7 

 

Action(s) Required to Achieve this Goal 
Led  
by 

Start  
on (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

Notes 

Find workshop(s) for all LANC faculty members about Decolonisation and Indigenization 
(asynchronous or synchronous and attend together) and facilitate the workshop(s).   

PAIVI 
KOSKINEN 

September 
2023 

December 
2023 

Once we have found some workshop(s) 
about the topic, we can ask LANC faculty 
members (by email) which one(s) they 
prefer or what dates they are available (in 
case it is a synchronous workshop).  

 

Consult with Associate Vice President, Indigenous Leadership., Innovation, and Partnerships to 
talk about hiring an Indigenous person with connections to the community, to run the 
development of any courses beyond CREE 1101.   

JENNIFER 
ANAQUOD 

and  

PAIVI 
KOSKINEN 

September 
2023 

April 2024  

The discussions need to include questions 
about developing either a non-credit 
course for community members, or credit 
course for Indigenous and non-Indigenous 
students, or both. 

Consult with the community about creating courses. 

          - A collaboration with Creative Writing (writing children’s book) – see below 
          - hənq̓̓əmin̓əm̓ classes – see below 

April 2024 
September 
2024 

The discussions need to include questions 
about developing either non-credit course 
for community members, or credit course 
for Indigenous and non-Indigenous 
students, or both. 

Consult with the community and the Creative Writing Department to discuss opportunities for a 
collaboration (writing children’s book). 

* If there is a need/desire/instructor from the community  

TBD  
(based on 

discussions 
with the 

community) 

April 2024 
September 
2024 

 



Develop community based hən̓qə̓minə̓m̓ classes.  

* If there is a need/desire/instructor from the community  

TBD  
(based on 

discussions 
with the 

community) 

September 
2024 

April 2025 

 

 

Consult with Indigenous Studies to develop language and culture courses (cross-listed). 

JENNIFER 
ANAQUOD 

and  
PAIVI 

KOSKINEN 

October 
2023 

December 
2023 

 

Develop CREE 1101: writing the course outline & developing course materials.  
JENNIFER 

ANAQUOD 
September 
2023 

December 
2023 

 

Submit the new course outline to Senate Standing Committee on Curriculum for approval. 
JENNIFER 

ANAQUOD 
December 
2023 

January 
2024 

We hope that the course will be ready to 
be offered Fall 2024.   



 
BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan 

 

BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan                             Page 24  

- A collaboration with Creative Writing (writing children’s book) – see below 
- hən̓qə̓min̓əm̓ classes – see below 
- hən̓q̓əmin̓əm̓ language classes – see below 

   for Indigenous and non-Indigenous 
students, or both. 

 

Action(s) Required to Achieve this Goal 
Led 
by 

Start 
on (M/YY) 

Complete 
By (M/YY) 

Notes 

 

Consult with the community and the Creative Writing Department to discuss opportunities for 
a collaboration (writing children’s book). 

* If there is a need/desire/instructor from the community 

TBD 
(based on 
discussions 

with the 
community) 

 
 
April 2024 

 

September 
2024 

 

 
Develop community based hən̓qə̓minə̓m̓ classes. 

* If there is a need/desire/instructor from the community 

TBD 
(based on 
discussions 

with the 
community) 

 
September 
2024 

 
 

April 2025 

 

 

Develop a course teaching the hən̓q̓əmin̓əm̓ language. 

* If there is a need/desire/instructor from the community 

TBD 

(based on 
discussions 

with the 
community) 

 

September 
2024 

 

 
April 2025 

 

 

 
 

Consult with Indigenous Studies to develop language and culture courses (cross-listed). 

JENNIFER 
ANAQUOD 

and 
PAIVI 

KOSKINEN 

 
October 
2023 

December 
2023 

 



 
BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan 

 

BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan                             Page 25  

Action(s) Required to Achieve this Goal 
Led 
by 

Start 
on (M/YY) 

Complete 
By (M/YY) 

Notes 

Develop CREE 1101 
JENNIFER 

ANAQUOD 
September 
2023 

December 
2023 

Ready to be offered Fall 2024. 

Discuss adding CREE 1100 and 1101 to a future Indigenous Studies Degree and/or the 
Indigenous Community Justice minor. 

PAIVI 
KOSKINEN 

January 
2024 

April 2024 
 

 

Resource Requirements (if applicable) 

 
Resources required to achieve this Goal: 

 

- Funding to develop CREE 1101 (one term) – see Dean’s memo, Self-Study, p.3 
   - Funding to develop CREE 1101 (one term) – see Dean’s memo, Self-Study, p.3 

 
When resources will be required: September 2023 September 2023  

 
Faculty and/or Institutional support required: 

 
- Indigenous Studies - https:// 

- Indigenous Service for Students - https:// 
- Indigenous Leadership, innovation, and Partnerships (Gayle Bedard) 

Creative Writing - https:// 
Faculty and/or Institutional support required: 
  
 - Indigenous Studies - https://www.kpu.ca/arts/indigenous-studies- Indigenous Service for Students - https://www.kpu.ca/indigenous- 
Indigenous Leadership, innovation, and Partnerships (Gayle Bedard)- Creative Writing - https://www.kpu.ca/arts/creative-writing 

 



 
BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan 

 

BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan                             Page 26  

 

 

 

 

 

 

GOAL 6: Better align Program Learning Outcomes (PLO) and Course Learning Outcomes (CLO) in the program. 

Recommendation(s) Addressed in this Goal Indicate Report & Page Number 

Review the CLOs that are loosely related to the Program Learning Outcomes. Add details about the topic of essays to produce or analyze 
material. This way, these CLOs will be linked with PLOs #1 and #7 which are not well advanced in the program (FREN 3110, LANC 3310, LANC 
3320). 

Curriculum Review, Self-Study, 
p.42 

External Review Report, p.4 
nd- 

Add CLOs to our 2 2
nd-year language courses to better introduce PLO #2. 

Curriculum Review, Self-Study, 
p.42 

 

Action(s) Required to Achieve this Goal 
Led  
by 

Start  
on (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

Notes 

Review our Program Learning Outcomes (the Program Learning Outcomes wherewere created 
at the beginning of this Program Review and will certainly need revisions before our next 
Program review). 

- Establish where our Alumni are working/studying.  
- Identify the skills needed for these positions/studies.  
- Review the Program Learning Outcomes, based on these findings.  

The two 
faculty to 

be selected 
at a fall 

2023 
(October) 
meeting. 

(PAC team) 

April 2024 
September 
2024 

Ask Laurence Gauvreau about the process 
of creating Program Learning Outcomes, 
which she has done at the beginning of 
this Program Review. 

Identify the courses for which Courses Learning Outcomes need revision.  PAC Team 
September 
2024 

October 
2024 

 



 
BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan 

 

BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan                             Page 27  

Share the desired modification with LANC faculty. PAC Team 

LANC 
meeting 
October 
2024 

October 
2024 

 

Get informed about the process to modify Course Learning Outcomes. PAC Team 
October 
2024 

November 
2024 

 

Modify the desired Course Learning Outcomes. PAC Team 
December 
2024  

April 2025 
 

 

 

Resource Requirements (if applicable) 

 
Resources required to achieve this Goal: 

 

- Time release section for PAC team 
   - Time release section for PAC team  

 
When resources will be required: Summer 2024 Summer 2024   

 
Faculty and/or Institutional support required:  
  

  



 
BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan 

 

BA, Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan                             Page 28  

 

 

 

PLAN SUPPORTED BY:    

 

Diane Purvey 31 July 2023 

 

________________________________________                  _________________________________________________                         _________________________________ 
Provost’s Name      Provost’s Signature        Date  
 
 
 

Shelley Boyd 31 July 2023 
 

________________________________________                  _________________________________________________                         _________________________________ 
Dean’s Name       Dean’s Signature        Date  
 
   



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
Agenda Number: 5.2 

Meeting Date: September 27, 2023 
Presenter(s):  Jen Currin, Melinda Bige, Shelley Boyd 

 1 / 1 

 

 

AGENDA TITLE: CREATIVE WRITING QUALITY ASSURANCE PLAN 

ACTION REQUESTED:  Motion 

RECOMMENDED RESOLUTION: THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program 
Review accept the Creative Writing Quality Assurance Plan as attached.  

 

COMMITTEE REPORT 

For Secretariat Use Only   

 

Attachments 

Creative Writing Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Submitted by 

Melike Kinik-Dicleli, Manager of Quality Assurance, Office of Planning & Accountability 

Date submitted 

August 31, 2023 



 
Creative Writing Quality Assurance Plan 

 

KPU Creative Writing Quality Assurance Plan                           Page 1  

 
Date submitted to SSCPR: Click here to enter text. 
 
Date Self-Study Report approved by SSCPR: September 21, 2022  
 
Date of External Review: January 16 and 18, 2023 
 

SUMMARY OF PROGRAM STENGTHS, CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES FOR IMPROVEMENT 
 

The strengths of the Creative Writing program are distilled best in the comment sections of the students, alumni, and faculty surveys. These include numerous remarks from current 
students about the quality of instruction and the variety of topics and genres in the curriculum: “good professors,” “smaller classes that lead to a discussion,” “broad variety of 
courses in different genres of creative writing,” “interactive, attentive professors,” “variety of classes available and supportive professors,” “[t]he faculty. Very inclusive and willing to 
help you,” “[t]eachers who are practicing writers and the variety of writing genres taught.” 

Of the thirteen alumni comments on the strengths of the program, five used the word variety or various (“variety of courses offered” or “various literary genres”) and seven 
referenced the instructional quality of the program: “The Creative Writing Program’s strength is in its instructors” or “[h]igh instructor variety showcasing a multitude of writing 
styles, focus areas, and approaches to the creative process.” The faculty survey also reflects the idea that one of the main strengths of the program as a whole has to do with the fact 
that the program is taught by “working writers” and faculty using “interdisciplinary approaches to creative process” and that, on the whole, the faculty are “excellent 
instructors/practitioners who teach with a strong emphasis on craft, self-awareness, and empathy.”  

Suggestions for improvement from current students include more interactive activities to help make connections amongst students, classes offered in the summer term or on other 
campuses, and more opportunities for professional development and job preparation. Suggestions from alumni primarily focus on improving professional development opportunities 
and experiences, creating clarity around the Business of Writing class and, as raised elsewhere, the need for permanent BIPOC faculty members: “The faculty doesn’t reflect the 
students they teach and can’t guide them properly in topics of writing about being in a racially marginalized body so students stray away from these topics.” The faculty takes this 
comment very seriously. Thinking and writing about the self are fundamental to both personal growth and coming into one’s own as an artist. If we can grow the program in a way 
that benefits a larger swathe of students then we can hire an instructor or instructors whose life experience(s) reflect some of our students’ life experiences.  
  
 



 
Creative Writing Quality Assurance Plan 

 

KPU Creative Writing Quality Assurance Plan                           Page 2  

One of the struggles the department faces is how to grow the program and create and develop larger initiatives when so many of the faculty are already working full-time or beyond 
full-time jobs. A number of part-time faculty teach in different departments to make ends meet, some teach at different institutions or do consulting work, some take on literary jury 
duties, all have committee responsibilities within the department, and all of the faculty are working on their creative or collaborative projects to stay current in the 
creative/academic/activist/wellness spheres. Which is to say that one of the difficulties for the program is that any large conceptual initiative ultimately seems to require more 
bandwidth than the current faculty has. Initiatives may be conceptualized and forwarded to an extent but the work of furthering the initiative (whether investigating Co-op options or 
developing a CRWR class for international students) rests on a department already stretched to capacity. 

The way forward will be to work diligently on the feedback and recommendations we receive in the Program Review and to prioritize our program’s potential growth opportunities, 
working collectively to achieve the best outcomes for our learners and department, and to advocate for institutional support in those areas where we can generate real and beneficial 
outcomes for our department and the institution. This study shows that the program and faculty are highly regarded by students, by alumni, and by members of creative 
communities and the arts sector. We look forward to building on the positive work we have already done and to developing those areas that would benefit from attention, critical 
thought, and action.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



 
Creative Writing Quality Assurance Plan 

 

KPU Creative Writing Quality Assurance Plan                           Page 3  

 
RECOMMENDATIONS THE QUALITY ASSURANCE PLAN DOES NOT ADDRESS 
The Recommendations from the Self-Study Report and External Review Report that this Plan does not address as provided below, with a brief rationale for why these Recommendations 
cannot be addressed.  

Recommendations Indicate Self-Study Report 
(SSR) or External Review 
Report (ERR) and page 
number 

Rationale for Not Addressing 

Including sessional faculty in reviewing course outlines for course 
revisions.  

64 Too onerous for sessional faculty. This will be done by permanent faculty 
with possibly some NR2 help. 

Finish revising hiring criteria to reflect decolonizing practices across the 
institution and the nation. 

64 Already completed. 

Develop a marketing plan to promote the Creative Writing program to 
high school writers in our catchment areas. 

66 Our department participates in the Open Doors day to welcome 
Indigenous high school students to KPU as well as other promotional 
events such as Open Houses and Declaration week. As well, our classes 
are full, and so marketing the department is not a high priority at the 
moment. We also feel that developing a marketing plan is a duty that 
should be done by the Marketing Dept. 

Create a clearer 4-year pathway model for students (via graphics or a 
video) so that the idea of what a Creative Writing degree entails 
becomes more easily conceptualized. 

66 This needs to be done with the Arts Advisors and Marketing department 
and we have not had the capacity to address it yet. 

Discuss how CRWR Dept. can work with, and support, Indigenous writer-
in-residence. 

65 Already completed. 

Post intended CRWR classes for the year so that students can plan their 
schedule.  

66 Already completed. 

Present students with learning outcomes for each course in the course 
outline. 

68 This should already be done by all faculty. Chairs will remind them of this 
requirement, but this should not be an “action” item. 



 
Creative Writing Quality Assurance Plan 

 

KPU Creative Writing Quality Assurance Plan                           Page 4  

Faculty to work with facilities to assess current public spaces on campus 
for events and display of student work.  

69 Already completed. 

 
  



 
Creative Writing Quality Assurance Plan 

 

KPU Creative Writing Quality Assurance Plan                           Page 5  

 
QUALITY ASSURANCE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN 

The Quality Assurance Goals for improving or maintaining program quality over the next five years are:  
 
MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGINS: September 2023 

GOAL 1: Review and revise course outlines to reflect revised PLOs 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Indicate Report & Page Number 
Create small working groups composed of those who most often teach a certain course. 24, 64 

Have working groups review all course outlines for Creative Writing to assess which PLOs have been integrated into which courses (and how). 24, 64 

Revise course outlines. 24, 64 

  

 

Actions(s) Required to Achieve this Goal Led  
by 

Start  
on (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) Notes 

Create small working groups composed of those who most often teach a certain course. Aislinn 
Hunter and 
Jen Currin 

September 
2023 

September 
2023 

 

Have working groups review all course outlines for Creative Writing to assess which PLOs have 
been integrated into which courses (and how). 

Aislinn 
Hunter and 
Jen Currin 

September 
2023 

September 
2024 

Aislinn Hunter and Jen Currin will be the 
leads but all faculty will be asked to give 
input. 

Revise course outlines. All faculty January 
2024 

September 
2024 

 

 

Resource Requirements (if applicable) 



 
Creative Writing Quality Assurance Plan 

 

KPU Creative Writing Quality Assurance Plan                           Page 6  

Resources required to achieve this Goal:   Click here to enter text. 

When resources will be required:  Click here to enter text.  

Faculty and/or Institutional support required:  Need permanent and possibly NR2 faculty to make time to do this. 

 

GOAL 2: Update program relevance and help students enter and continue the pathway.  

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Indicate Report & Page Number 

Clarify and consolidate the purpose of the New Media stream, hire more qualified faculty who can teach it, promote the stream through 
marketing. 

38, 64 

Revisit the possibility of an online Minor stream in Creative Writing.  38, 64 

Revisit CRWR request for a specific budget for decolonial work and for funding to bring in Indigenous writers and speakers.  38, 64 

Develop a clear set of admission guidelines (a one-pager) for mature student applicants or aspiring writers wanting to take a CRWR class at KPU. 
Offer and promote Advising hours. 

38, 66 

 

Action(s) Required to Achieve this Goal Led  
by 

Start  
on (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) Notes 

Discuss the possibility of extra funding for decolonial work and to bring in Indigenous writers 
and speakers. 

CRWR 
Chairs 

September 
2023 

December 
2023 

We have been working closely with the 
new Indigenous writer and artist in 
residence program initiated by the Dean’s 
office and engaging significantly with the 
visiting artist and writer. We also have a 
long history (ten years a least) of inviting 
Indigenous writers to read/speak in our 
department. 



 
Creative Writing Quality Assurance Plan 

 

KPU Creative Writing Quality Assurance Plan                           Page 7  

Discuss possibility of online minor stream with administration. CRWR 
Chairs and 
Aislinn 
Hunter 

January 
2024 

April 2024  

Develop a clear set of admission guidelines (a one-pager) for mature student applicants or 
aspiring writers wanting to take a CRWR class at KPU. Offer and promote Advising hours. 

CRWR 
Chairs September 

2023 

April 2024 The CRWR chairs are working with 
Advising to start have an annual “CRWR 
Advising Day” every October for students 
to plan out their pathways. This is 
underway and will start in fall of 2023. 

Clarify and consolidate the purpose of the New Media stream, hire more qualified faculty who 
can teach it, promote the stream through marketing.  

Nicola 
Harwood, 
Ross Laird, 
Nathan 
Adler 

September 
2023 

April 2024 Marketing will continue indefinitely.  

 

Resource Requirements (if applicable) 
Resources required to achieve this Goal:   Marketing materials to promote New Media stream. KPU social media to promote this stream. 
Academic Advisors to hold specific “CRWR Advising” hours. 

When resources will be required:  Starting in fall 2023 or spring 2024.  

Faculty and/or Institutional support required:  Marketing support (social media and also materials developed); CRWR faculty who teach 
New Media. 

 

  



 
Creative Writing Quality Assurance Plan 

 

KPU Creative Writing Quality Assurance Plan                           Page 8  

 

GOAL 3:  Analyze and update instructional delivery methods as needed. 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Indicate Report & Page Number 

Begin robust faculty discussion on issue of professional development for our students and the balance of literary training with employment skills. 
Consider adding a professional development component to the capstone 4150/4250 courses. 

45, 66, 68 

Create (and possibly formalize) opportunities for students to experience professional development through specific courses. Consider revising 
the reading series model to focus more on professional development.  

45, 66 

Have a fulsome faculty discussion about the effects of de-laddering courses in our last curriculum revision. Perform an analysis/multiple student 
case-study of the two-year ed. plan to see how the ed. Plan’s genre switching affects students’ ability to progress through the program.  

46, 66 

Review the balance of courses offered across terms to see if adding more courses in the summer would help with the flow of the program.  46, 66 

 

Action(s) Required to Achieve this Goal Led  
by 

Start  
on (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) Notes 

Review the balance of courses offered across terms to see if adding more courses in the 
summer would help with the flow of the program. 

CRWR 
Chairs 

September 
2023 

December 
2023 

 

Create (and possibly formalize) opportunities for students to experience professional 
development and work experience through specific courses. Consider revising the reading 
series model to focus more on professional development. 

CRWR 
faculty as a 
whole 

September 
2023 

September 
2028 

Embedding professional development 
opportunities and assignments in courses 
will be ongoing. 

Begin robust faculty discussion on issue of professional development for students and the 
balance of literary training with employment skills. Consider adding a professional 
development component to the capstone 4150/4250 courses. 

CRWR 
faculty as a 
whole 

September 
2023 

December 
2023 

 

Have a fulsome faculty discussion about the effects of de-laddering courses in our last 
curriculum revision.  

CRWR 
faculty as a 
whole  

September 
2023 

December 
2023 

 



 
Creative Writing Quality Assurance Plan 

 

KPU Creative Writing Quality Assurance Plan                           Page 9  

Perform an analysis/multiple student case-study of the two-year ed. plan to see how the ed. 
plan’s genre switching affects students’ ability to progress through the program. 

CRWR 
Chairs 

September 
2023 

September 
2025 

 

 

Resource Requirements (if applicable) 
Resources required to achieve this Goal:   Click here to enter text. 

When resources will be required:  Click here to enter text.  

Faculty and/or Institutional support required:  Faculty are needed to take on some of these duties. 

 

 

 

  



 
Creative Writing Quality Assurance Plan 

 

KPU Creative Writing Quality Assurance Plan                           Page 10  

 

GOAL 4: Market the Creative Writing Program to a wider pool of potential students and create a stronger alumni community. 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Indicate Report & Page Number 

Work with recommendations from the DA and enlist Marketing to create communication tools to increase Creative Writing’s profile. 52, 68 

Create more opportunities for CRWR alumni. 52, 68 

Investigate ways to formalize or regularize connections between alumni and current students, and alumni and faculty. 52, 68 

Expand the CRWR Department’s presence on social media. 38, 66 

 

Action(s) Required to Achieve this Goal Led  
by 

Start  
on (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) Notes 

Assist students in starting a CRWR chapter of the Alumni Association.  Jen Currin May 2023 December 
2023 

This is already underway. 

Work with recommendations from the DA and enlist Marketing to create communication tools 
to increase Creative Writing’s profile. 

CRWR 
Chairs  September 

2023 

September 
2028 

Marketing of the CRWR Dept. will be 
ongoing and will need to involve help 
from the Marketing Dept. 

Start an annual CRWR Alumni Reading or event.  Jen Currin 
and Cathy 
Stonehouse 

March 
2023 

September 
2028. 

This has already begun (first CRWR Alumni 
Reading in March 2023) and will be 
ongoing.  

Expand the CRWR Department’s presence on social media. Cathleen 
With and 
Anne Linn  

 This will be dependent on time that 
faculty and staff have to pursue this. 
Ideally, Marketing would be the engine 
behind this. 

 

Resource Requirements (if applicable) 



 
Creative Writing Quality Assurance Plan 

 

KPU Creative Writing Quality Assurance Plan                           Page 11  

Resources required to achieve this Goal:   Marketing help to promote the program via social media. 

When resources will be required:  Starting in fall 2023.  

Faculty and/or Institutional support required:  Help is needed from the Marketing Department to help with promoting CRWR through 
social media.  

 

 

  



Creative Writing Quality Assurance Plan 

KPU Creative Writing Quality Assurance Plan Page 12 

GOAL 5: Assess the Creative Writing Department’s needs around services and facilities on campus and make changes if necessary. 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Indicate Report & Page Number 

Invite a member, or members, of Accessibility Services to sit in on a Creative Writing first year and third year class so they have a better idea of 
what our courses entail. 

59, 69 

Action(s) Required to Achieve this Goal Led 
by 

Start 
on (M/YY) 

Complete 
By (M/YY) Notes 

Invite a member, or members, of Accessibility Services to sit in on a Creative Writing first year 
and third year class so they have a better idea of what our courses entail. 

CRWR 
Chairs 

September 
2023 

April 2024 

Resource Requirements (if applicable) 
Resources required to achieve this Goal:   Click here to enter text. 

When resources will be required:  Starting in fall 2023. 

Faculty and/or Institutional support required:  A member of Accessibility Services who has time to sit in on at least two courses. 

PLAN SUPPORTED BY: 

________________________________________  _________________________________________________    _________________________________      24 August 2023



Creative Writing Quality Assurance Plan 

KPU Creative Writing Quality Assurance Plan Page 13 

Provost’s Name Provost’s Signature Date 

Shelley Boyd 17 August 2023 
________________________________________  _________________________________________________     _________________________________ 
Dean’s Name  Dean’s Signature Date  

Provost’s Name Provost’s Signature Date 

Shelley Boyd 
________________________________________ 
Dean’s Name  

17 August 2023 
  _________________________________ 
Date  

Provost’s Name Provost’s Signature Date 

Shelley Boyd 
________________________________________ 
Dean’s Name  

17 August 2023 
  _________________________________ 
Date  



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 

 

1 
 

 
REPORT: Creative Writing Quality Assurance Plan 

 
Instructions for Reviewers 
Your assessment should ensure the Quality Assurance Plan does the following: 

o address all the recommendations in the Self-Study and External Review reports (or provide a clear 
rationale when a recommendation is not addressed); 

o provide clear, realistic plan of actions that are within the department’s purview; 
o clearly articulate how the Program will demonstrate Progress on a Goal and/or Action in its Annual Follow-

Up Report. 
 

OVERALL ASSESSMENT:  
Please provide a brief assessment of the Quality Assurance Plan under review and an overall recommendation. 
 
Reviewer #1: It appears that several recommendations listed in the Self Study Report have been left without 
comment in the Quality Assurance Plan. Similarly, some of the recommendations suggested in the External 
Review (regarding the Curriculum Review and Resources, Services and Facilities) have not been reflected in 
the Quality Assurance Plan. In addition, several SSR recommendations have not been addressed in the QAP. 
My impression is that the program enjoys a very high demand and that effort to meet them exhausts 
available faculty resources. In such situation it is quite understandable that some recommendations that are 
especially onerous or fall outside of the faculty experience (like marketing) have not been addressed. I 
assume that the omission of certain recommendations in the QAP results from the same problems. 
   
Reviewer #2: Overall, very in-depth report, I would consider asking for further funding in the areas that you 
have indicated, for example, FTE’s and Summer sections to retain and further grow the program. This may fit 
under Goal 4. 
The Report (select the box that corresponds to your recommendation):  

☐          Recommend for approval by the SSCPR as is 
☒          Reviewer #1 & #2: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR pending suggested actions (see below) 
☐          Recommend for rejection by the SSCPR 

 
MAJOR ISSUES AND SUGGESTED ACTIONS:  
Complete this section ONLY if you have identified the following major issues with the Plan: 

a) Recommendations made in the Self-Study Report and/or External Review Report are not appropriately 
addressed. 

b) Goals, Actions, and/or Resource Implications are not worded clearly. 
c) It is unclear how the Program will demonstrate Progress on a Goal and/or Actions in its Annual Follow-

Up Report. 
Issue (page #) Suggested Action Program’s Response  
Goal 1 (Curriculum Review), p. 3 
sessional faculty not included in 
reviewing course outlines – task is 
too onerous  

Confirm that the task can be 
successfully completed by the 
permanent faculty: consider 
workload and inclusion of diverse 
pedagogies, strategies, styles 

 

Goal 2 (Program Relevance), p. 3 
development of a marketing plan to 
promote the Creative Writing 

I agree that considering the current 
workload and full classrooms this 
recommendation could be dropped 

 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 

 

2 
 

program to high school writers 
Page 3: Develop a marketing plan 
to promote the Creative Writing 
program to high school writers in 
our catchment areas. P 66. Our 
department participates in the 
Open Doors day to welcome 
Indigenous high school students to 
KPU as well as other promotional 
events such as Open Houses and 
Declaration week. As well, our 
classes are full, and so marketing the 
department is not a high priority at 
the moment. We also feel that 
developing a marketing plan is a 
duty 
that should be done by the 
Marketing Dept. 

Marketing promotion campaigns are 
often done in tandem with the 
department chair, faculty, and the 
marketing/communications team 
because marketing does not always 
clearly understand the best way to 
clearly communicate a program as 
they do not have the deep 
understanding the faculty and chair 
do. It will be important to have clear 
communication with marketing 
through this program review 
process. 

 

Page 3: Create a clearer 4-year 
pathway model for students (via 
graphics or a video) so that the idea 
of what a Creative Writing degree 
entails becomes more easily 
conceptualized. p66. This needs to 
be done with the Arts Advisors and 
Marketing department and we 
have not had the capacity to 
address it yet. 

This is very important as parents 
and students request a clearer 
picture of where their investment 
in education is going to take them 
in the future. The School of Design 
has some great examples that they 
have done through this process of 
program review 
that I am sure they would be happy 
to share. 

 

Goal 2 expand CRWR’s presence on 
social media 

Not addressed, but similar to the 
one above. Drop? 

 

Goal 2, p. 3 create a 4-year pathway 
model for students encapsulated in 
graphics or video 

Not feasible, need input/ideas from 
Arts and Marketing. Can we demand 
such tasks of writers? 

 

Page 6: Resources required to 
achieve this Goal: Click here to enter 
text 

If not needed then indicate, and 
remove highlighted 

 

Page 6: When resources will be 
required: Click here to enter text. 

If not needed then indicate, and 
remove highlighted 

 

Goal 2, p.7 Recommendation to 
“offer and promote advising hours 
bi-weekly” 

Discussion point: will an annual 
“CRWR Advising Day” in October 
meet the recommendation 
spirit/resolve the problem?  

 

Page 9: Resources required to 
achieve this Goal: Click here to enter 
text. 

If not needed then indicate, and 
remove highlighted 

 

Page 9: When resources will be If not needed then indicate, and  



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 

 

3 
 

required: Click here to enter text. remove highlighted 
Page 12: Resources required to 
achieve this Goal: Click here to 
enter text. 

If not needed then indicate, and 
remove highlighted 

 

Goal 3 (instruction delivery), SSR p. 
62 “utilize the Student Assistant 
Program…” etc.  

Not addressed in the AP. Please 
provide comments.  

 

Goal 3, SSR p. 62 “consider adding a 
PD mentorship… “etc.  

Not addressed in the AP. Please 
provide comments.  

 

Goal 3, SSR p. 62 “clarify if student 
dissatisfaction…” etc.  

Not addressed in the AP. Please 
provide comments.  

 

Goal 3, SSR p. 63 “continue grading 
roundtables…”etc 

Not addressed in the AP. Please 
provide comments.  

 

Goal 3, SSR p. 63 “continue grading 
roundtables…”etc 

Not addressed in the AP. Please 
provide comments.  

 

Goal 3, SSR p. 64: five 
recommendations from 
“have a robust discussion on 
curriculum…”etc 
to “create more opportunities for 
alumni…” etc. 

Not addressed in the AP. Please 
provide comments.  

 

Resources, Services, and Facilities 
Recommendations, SSR p.64 one of 
the three recommendations are not 
addressed: 
“faculty members should assess 
satisfaction with the shared office…”   

Not addressed in the AP. Please 
provide comments. 

 

 
MINOR EDITS (Spelling, syntax, word choice and other mechanical issues). 
Please list corresponding page numbers. Minor edits are NOT discussed at the SSCPR meeting. Add or remove 
rows as needed. 

Minor Edits (page #) 
 
 

 



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
Agenda Number: 5.3 

Meeting Date: September 27, 2023 
Presenter(s):  Justin Stein, Kamala Nayar, Alena Buis, Shelley Boyd 

 1 / 1 

 

 

AGENDA TITLE: ASIAN STUDIES SELF-STUDY REPORT 

ACTION REQUESTED:  Motion 

RECOMMENDED RESOLUTION: THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program 
Review accept the Asian Studies Self-Study Report as attached.  

 

COMMITTEE REPORT 

For Secretariat Use Only   

 

Attachments 

Asian Studies Self-Study Report 

Asian Studies Self-Study Report Appendices
 

Submitted by 

Melike Kinik-Dicleli, Manager of Quality Assurance, Office of Planning & Accountability 

Date submitted 

August 31, 2023 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Asian Studies Program Review 
Self-Study Report 

 
Report Submission Date: August 21, 2023 

 
Program Review Team Members: 

Justin B. Stein (lead author) 
Kamala Elizabeth Nayar 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Asian Studies Program Self-Study Report    

Table of Contents 
List of Acronyms .................................................................................................................................. 1 
Memo from Dean/Associate Dean ....................................................................................................... 2 
1. Introduction .................................................................................................................................. 4 

1.1. Overview of the Program(s) ............................................................................................................ 4 
1.2. Program Department ...................................................................................................................... 6 
1.3. Program Purpose ............................................................................................................................. 7 
1.4. Issues for Program Review .............................................................................................................. 7 

2. Curriculum Review ....................................................................................................................... 10 
2.1. Pathways for Graduates ................................................................................................................ 10 
2.2. Skill Development .......................................................................................................................... 11 
2.3. Curriculum Assessment ................................................................................................................. 14 

3. Program Relevance and Demand ................................................................................................. 18 
3.1. Relevance ...................................................................................................................................... 18 
3.2. Faculty Qualifications and Currency .............................................................................................. 20 
3.3. Student Demand ............................................................................................................................ 21 

4. Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery ......................................................................................... 24 
4.1. Instructional Design and Delivery of Curriculum ........................................................................... 24 
4.2. Student Success ............................................................................................................................. 29 

5. Resources, Services, and Facilities ................................................................................................ 33 
6. Conclusions and Recommendations ............................................................................................. 35 

6.1. Summary of Program’s Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, and Challenges ......................... 35 
6.2. Recommendations ......................................................................................................................... 37 

7. Appendices .................................................................................................................................. 40 
 
 
 



Asian Studies Program Self-Study Report 1 

List of Acronyms 
 

AA: Associate of Arts 

ANTH: Anthropology 

ASIA: Asian Studies 

BA: Bachelor of Arts 

CLO: Course Learning Outcomes 

COIL: Collaborative Online International Learning 

FTE: Full-Time Equivalency 

GEOG: Geography 

HIST: History 

INDG: Indigenous Studies 

JAPN: Japanese 

JRNL: Journalism 

IAB: Internal Advisory Board 

KPU: Kwantlen Polytechnic University 

LANC: Language and Culture 

MAND: Mandarin 

NR1: Non-Regular Type 1 

NR2: Non-Regular Type 2 

PAC: Program Advisory Committee 

PHIL: Philosophy 

PLO: Program Learning Outcomes 

POLI: Political Science 

PUNJ: Punjabi 

QFL: Qualified Faculty List 

SOCI: Sociology 

ZTC: Zero Textbook Cost 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 2 

Memo from Dean/Associate Dean 
 
TO: Senate Standing Committee on Program Review  
 
FROM: Shelley Boyd, Dean, Faculty of Arts; Alena Buis, Associate Dean, Faculty of Arts   
   
DATE: 21 August 2023 
 
SUBJECT: Asian Studies Self-Study, A.A. in Asian Studies, BA Minor Asian Studies, and BA Major Asian 
Studies   
   

First, we would like to express our gratitude for the detailed analysis and dedication that have gone into 
writing this Self-Study Report for the Asian Studies Program as a key component of Program Review of 
the Asian Studies Associate of Arts, Bachelor of Arts Minor in Asian Studies, and a Bachelor of Arts Major 
in Asian Studies credentials. This is the program’s second review, and the Self-Study Report is a 
thoughtful assessment of the credentials offered, evaluation of changes made over the last five years, 
and recommendations for next steps. This Self-Study provides valuable insights on current areas of 
concern; it identifies strengths and makes recommendations for enhancement. By acting on these 
findings, the program will no doubt be able to continue to attract students looking to develop strong 
cultural, communicative, and linguistic competencies, reflecting the diversity and interconnectedness of 
today’s society. 

As outlined in the Self-Study, the logistical challenges of the program are offset by Asian Studies’ 
interdisciplinary and multidisciplinary strengths. There is an opportunity for faculty members to bolster 
already forged relationships with other departments (HIST, LANC, GEOG, etc.) and engage in 
collaborative planning with Indigenous Studies. There may also be opportunities to collaborate with the 
Canada Research Chair in South Asian Literary and Cultural Studies on special events, if the program is 
interesting in contributing to such multi-department events as the South Asian Arts Festival. Additional 
curriculum development can be discussed with the program’s robust Internal Advisory Board (IAB) 
consisting of ASIA faculty and representatives from other departments including History, Languages and 
Cultures, and Sociology. 

Furthermore, Asian Studies should be commended for establishing a thoughtful and engaged Program 
Advisory Committee (PAC), consisting of community leaders, professionals, and key parties from a 
variety of sectors including non-profit, government, cultural, and corporate organizations. The feedback 
from PAC members will be crucial in better understanding the needs of local communities and 
employers, and going forward providing direction for curriculum development, and identifying 
community partners for work integrated learning and other experiential opportunities for students. 

The Self-Study Report recommends three main areas of focus: curriculum changes specifically related to 
Indigenization and decolonization, pedagogical improvements supported by experiential learning and 
technology, and expanding the department by adding a Regular faculty member possibly with Southeast 
Asian expertise. Going forward the Dean and the Associate Dean supporting Asian Studies can work with 
the faculty to identify even more specific actions to address the weaknesses and needs identified. 
Faculty teaching in the program may want to consider inviting Teaching and Learning to give a program-
specific workshop on ways of introducing/enhancing experiential learning and the use of e-portfolios at 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 3 

the various course levels, especially as a way to build upon other efforts, such as participation in ARTS 
4800, which occurs at the conclusion of students’ program of study.  Integrating experiential learning 
both within and outside the classroom would provide hands-on learning opportunities that would also 
help to prepare students for the workplace by applying their learning at each course level. Teaching and 
Learning may also be able to assist in building strategies and approaches for re-integrating group 
assignments and collaborative learning for both online and in-person courses. The program mentions 
that a course release would benefit in the planning of experiential learning opportunities and lists six 
options.  The dean’s office invites the program to reflect and perhaps strategically narrow their focus on 
a couple possibilities that will benefit the most students while also balancing the work involved with a 
small team of faculty.  After the program has reflected and determined a feasible path, the dean’s office 
would welcome a proposal for time release as it relates to an experiential learning strategy for Asian 
Studies.  

One particularly pertinent recommendation from this Self-Study is to review and revise course outlines 
to better align course learning outcomes (PLOs) with the newly established program learning outcomes 
(CLOs). This curricular revisioning will include an emphasis on Indigenization and decolonization, for 
which a faculty member has received course release. A focus on the Asian diaspora in Canada and 
relationships between Asian and Indigenous communities underscores the discipline’s relevance in 
confronting pertinent global issues. The Self-Study authors have astutely identified a disconnect 
between the program’s learning outcomes, specifically related to community engagement and the 
application of intercultural competencies, and the current experiential learning opportunities provided. 
In addition to continuing to participate in ARTS 4800, and other practicums, members of Asian Studies 
could work with KPU’s work integrated learning advisor, Larissa Petrillo, to identify additional 
opportunities for students, especially those in lower-level courses, to gain skills beneficial to their 
professional goals.  

The key issues for Asian Studies stem from challenges associated with being a small program, with most 
instructors having primary appointments in other departments. The dean’s office would be happy to 
explore possibly adding another faculty member to teach courses that would meet the demand for 
lower-level introductory courses, and upper-level course on the areas identified (Korea, Iran, Philippines, 
etc.). Courses on Southeast Asia and Western Asia, including courses on Islam in Asia, could be designed 
in relation to, and complement efforts to strengthen, areas of Indigenization and decolonization. 

We would like to thank the faculty members who have fully engaged in the program review process and 
who have already taken important steps to enhance the student experience through their community-
minded approach and creative initiatives. Through their Self-Study Report, Asian Studies has identified 
potential areas that need to grow, change, and evolve, and we trust they will seriously consider and, 
where appropriate, act on the recommendations in close collaboration with support from the dean’s 
office. 

 

          
Shelley Boyd, Dean, Faculty of Arts   Alena Buis, Associate Dean, Faculty of Arts 

  



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 4 

1. Introduction 

1.1. Overview of the Program(s) 

Program(s) Under Review 

Program Name Asian Studies 

Program Level Associate of Arts Degree 

Credential Associate of Arts 

Credits Required 24 

Discipline and 
specializations if 
applicable 

Asian Studies 

Date established and 
last revision 

Established 2007, last revised September 2020 

 

Program Name Asian Studies 

Program Level Minor 

Credential Bachelor of Arts 

Credits Required 27  

Discipline and 
specializations if 
applicable 

Asian Studies 

Date established and 
last revision 

Established 2010, last revised September 2017 

 

Program Name Asian Studies 

Program Level BA Major 

Credential Bachelor of Arts 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 5 

Credits Required 60 

Discipline and 
specializations if 
applicable 

Asian Studies 

Date established and 
last revision 

Established 2010, last revised September 2017 

The Kwantlen Polytechnic University Asian Studies Program offers an Associate of Arts degree, a 
Minor, and a Bachelor of Arts Major. Asian Studies has been part of the Faculty of Arts since the 
establishment of the two-year AA degree in 2007. The BA Major and Minor were approved by 
the KPU Senate and the BC Ministry of Advanced Education in 2010 and the degree was launched 
in 2011. The first AA degree in Asian Studies was awarded in 2009 and the first BA Major was 
awarded in 2013. The last program review was completed in January 2018, and since this time 
the department has progressed and evolved to provide our students with courses that give a rich 
understanding of Asia’s diverse cultures and practical skills and competencies that can be applied 
in our local multicultural community as well as in experiences abroad. 

The program is interdisciplinary, in that the degree courses designated as ASIA combine 
methodologies from a variety of disciplines in the humanities and social sciences, including 
anthropology, cultural studies, history, geography, philosophy, political science, religious studies, 
and sociology. The program is also multidisciplinary, as degree courses are also drawn from other 
disciplines across the Faculty of Arts. The program was structured in this way to teach students 
that no single discipline, method, or theory by itself is sufficient to fully understand Asia. Rather, 
each discipline (and its application in the community setting) provides countless insights and 
opportunities to interpret and respond to various contemporary challenges more effectively. 
Students in the program develop strong communicative, cultural, and linguistic competencies, as 
well as critical thinking, abstract reasoning, and problem-solving skills. 

Students in the BA Major program can choose to specialize in an area (South Asia or East Asia) or 
in a particular theme (cinema, diaspora studies, ethnicity, gender, or religion). BA Majors and AA 
degree students are also required to complete training in an Asian language such as Punjabi, 
Mandarin, or Japanese. For students who want to complete an AA degree at KPU and continue 
their education elsewhere, many of the courses offered in our department are transferable to 
other institutions including UBC, SFU, and UVic.  

Admission Requirements and Laddering 

All the courses offered by ASIA are offered at an undergraduate level and students from any KPU 
faculty can declare a Minor in Asian Studies. Students who have been admitted to KPU’s Faculty 
of Arts can declare the BA Major. Eligibility for the AA Degree in Asian Studies shares the same 
English Proficiency Requirement as the Faculty of Arts. The courses that can be applied towards 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 6 

the ASIA BA Major, Minor, and AA degree include both courses in ASIA and courses from a list of 
approved courses from other departments (including ANTH, GEOG, HIST, LANC, PHIL, and POLI). 

The course requirements listed below require a minimum grade of C in each course. 

The AA Degree in Asian Studies requires a total of 24 credits distributed across three different 
course clusters, including:  

• 9 credits of ASIA or ASIA-approved courses on geography, politics, and society 
• 9 credits of ASIA or ASIA-approved courses on culture, history, and philosophy 
• 6 credits in JAPN, MAND, or PUNJ 

o if a student can demonstrate oral and written competency to an equivalent level, 
these credits can be fulfilled with electives 

The BA Minor in Asian Studies requires a total of 27 credits, including:  

• 12 credits of lower-level ASIA or ASIA-approved courses (at least 6 of which are at the 
2000 level) 

• 15 credits of upper-level ASIA or ASIA-approved courses (including at least 9 at the 3000 
level and 6 at the 4000 level) 

The BA Major in Asian Studies requires a total of 60 credits, including:  

• 18 credits of lower-level ASIA or ASIA-approved courses (at least 12 of which are at the 
2000 level) 

• 30 credits of upper-level ASIA or ASIA-approved courses (at least 6 of which are at the 
4000 level, including the capstone course ASIA 4350 – Canadian East and South Asian 
Communities 

• 12 credits in JAPN, MAND, or PUNJ 
o if a student can demonstrate oral and written competency to an equivalent level, 

these credits can be fulfilled with ASIA or ASIA-approved electives 
 

1.2. Program Department  

Unlike most other programs in the Faculty of Arts, the Asian Studies Program is not a department, 
so most of our instructors have their primary appointments in other departments. Currently, ASIA 
courses are taught by 3 regular faculty members, 1 of whom has a full-time appointment in ASIA 
and 2 of whom have part-time appointments in ASIA (ranging from 25% to 50%) as well as 
appointments in other departments (HIST and LANC). This constitutes a total of 1.75 Full-Time 
Equivalencies (FTEs) in ASIA. 11 other regular faculty members from other departments (ANTH, 
ENGL, GEOG, HIST, LANC, PHIL, and POLI) also teach cross-listed or ASIA-approved courses, and 
we also employ NR1 faculty to cover instructional needs. All our faculty offer up-to-date courses 
using a variety of pedagogical methods and tools. 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 7 

An Internal Advisory Board (IAB) consisting of ASIA faculty and representatives from some of the 
programs contributing courses to the Asian Studies program meets five times annually to discuss 
issues related to the program and to consider new curriculum proposals. Membership on the IAB 
is voluntary and currently there are representatives from ASIA, HIST, LANC, and SOCI who attend 
regularly, including regular and non-regular faculty.  

Since January 2021, we have also had a Program Advisory Committee (PAC), composed of 
community members and stakeholders from various relevant sectors, including non-profit 
organizations, governmental offices, museums, and the business world. Our PAC has been helpful 
in getting feedback on our program development and in building connections between our 
program and the broader community. For example, our PAC has helped inspire us to enhance 
our experiential learning opportunities, including the student award we initiated in 2022, and 
members of our PAC have helped facilitate student practicums at their organizations. The PAC 
meets twice annually. 

 

1.3. Program Purpose  
 
The current purpose of the program is to prepare students for an increasingly diverse and 
interconnected world. Students will be prepared for both graduate programs and employment 
opportunities in a wide range of fields that benefit from cross-cultural communication and 
competence. BA Majors and recipients of the AA degree will also develop strong cultural, 
communicative, and linguistic competencies, both written and oral, in the cultures of study. BA 
Minors are not required to undergo linguistic training, but will still receive a strong education 
focused on intercultural understanding. The program includes courses in several departments, 
reflecting the diversity and interconnectedness of today's society. It also permits a variety of 
international experiences to encourage students to take up to one year of their studies in Study 
Abroad opportunities.   
  
No significant changes have been made to the purpose of the program from the time that the BA 
Major and Minor were first approved in 2010. However, the field schools and exchange 
opportunities component are one area of the program that has had to adjust. Around 2016, all 
field schools were suspended due to allegedly inadequate risk assessments. Due to anticipated 
insufficient enrolment, Japanese field schools were cancelled. More recently, all field schools and 
exchange opportunities were suspended from 2020 to 2022 due to the COVID-19 pandemic. We 
recently began sending our students on exchange programs again. 
 

1.4. Issues for Program Review 

The major issues we are addressing in this program review are in regard to curriculum, pedagogy, 
and faculty. 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 8 

First, despite offering a wide selection of ASIA and ASIA-approved courses, we recognize a need 
to strengthen several dimensions of our curriculum. One dimension is in regard to Indigenization 
and decolonization. While we have courses in which Indigenous issues are taught, in both the 
sense of Indigenous groups in Asia (such as ASIA 3152 – Ethnicity in China and Japan) and in the 
relationship between Asian settlers and First Nations in Canada (such as ASIA 4350 – Asian 
Communities in Canada), there is a need to expand the opportunities for our students to be 
exposed to Indigenous culture and issues facing Indigenous communities, including the impact 
of colonialism and paths towards decolonization. Our program was recently awarded a time 
release to assess our current curriculum in regard to Indigenization / decolonization and to work 
on a plan to strengthen this dimension of our curriculum, so we anticipate this should grow in 
the next five years. 

Our other curricular issues are our offerings regarding Southeast Asia, Western Asia, and Islam. 
With the exception of our introductory course ASIA 1100 – Introducing Asia, most of our courses 
focus on either East Asia (chiefly China and Japan) or South Asia (chiefly India). We would like to 
offer more courses on Southeast Asia and Western Asia, including courses on Islam in Asia that 
would cover these regions, but our previous attempts have faced some challenges. First, given 
our limited faculty we do not have any specialists in Southeast Asia, and we have had difficulty 
recruiting quality instructors for an occasional special topics course. We do have instructors who 
specialize in Islam (the religion practiced by 25% of the population of Asia) and Western Asia, but 
two recent attempts to offer courses (ASIA 2399 – Special Topics: Afghanistan & Pakistan – “War 
on Terror,” Islamophobia, and Decolonization in Spring 2022; and ASIA 3230 – Islam in South Asia 
in Fall 2022) were cancelled due to low enrollment. The previous time we offered ASIA 3230, in 
summer 2017, it had 27 students (77% fill rate). We are unsure why these courses did not attract 
a sufficient number of students. 

These curricular issues could (at least partly) be addressed through strengthening relations with 
other departments and programs and engaging in collaborative planning. This is particularly 
relevant as interdisciplinarity and multidisciplinarity are two of our program’s strengths. For 
example, we might consider working with Indigenous Studies (INDG) to develop a cross-listed 
course on Indigenous Asia and work with other programs to develop curriculum that addresses 
Southeast and Western Asia. 

Regarding pedagogy, the two major issues are experiential learning and technology. Experiential 
learning is part of KPU’s focus on applied education, and currently ASIA has two courses listed as 
experiential learning opportunities based on their use of service learning projects: ASIA 2290 – 
South Asians Around the Globe, and ASIA 4350 – Asian Communities in Canada. Several other 
courses that make use experiential learning opportunities, including field trips, mini-fieldwork 
activities, and other hands-on activities, so we might consider having these courses listed as well. 
In 2022, we instituted an Asian Studies Experiential Learning Award to encourage our students 
to excel in this area. We also began to participate in the ARTS 4800 Student Practicum course, 
which is another opportunity for experiential learning. However, we would like to better 
integrate experiential learning throughout our curriculum, which we believe will help us to better 
implement our Program Learning Outcomes #7 & #10 regarding the relevance of course content 
to local communities and the application of intercultural competencies outside of the university. 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 9 

The surveys of current students and alumni also stressed that they wanted more experiential 
opportunities, which they felt would make the curriculum more engaging and also better prepare 
them for employment post-graduation. 

Technology is another opportunity for our pedagogical growth. As with post-secondary education 
more broadly, our course delivery modes have shifted towards more online and hybrid courses 
since the last program review. This was, of course, partly due to the pandemic, but also partly 
due to institutional initiatives to increase the number of online offerings as well. We have found 
that online and hybrid courses offer opportunities and challenges. On the one hand, many 
students appreciate online courses due to the flexibility they provide. On the other, we have 
found that groupwork declined during the pandemic and in our online courses, and plan to 
increase the amount of groupwork in our courses. The recent developments in AI technology 
offer further challenges, especially for online courses, but we are all doing our best to adapt and 
update our assessment methods for this new world. Technology also provides opportunities even 
for in-person instruction, where we can bring in guest lecturers via videoconferencing and assign 
projects such as digital portfolios. Some of our faculty are collaborating with students to generate 
innovative content as Open Education Resources, which they can use in place of textbooks and 
combine with interactive assessment methods. We are eager to move forward with different 
teaching modalities to better serve our students moving forward.  

The final issue is regarding our faculty, which could be further expanded. Since our last program 
review, we had a replacement hire in the form of a 50% NR2 position (in January 2020), which 
was very helpful for staffing needs during a period of increasing student enrollment, and this 
faculty member has since become regularized at 50%. Data from the last five years (discussed in 
more detail in the following chapters) show that our enrollment growth and fill rates are higher 
than those of the Faculty of Arts and KPU as a whole, and also demonstrate unmet demand for 
our courses. Our courses have significantly higher enrollment rates by international students 
than courses in other programs and departments, generating relatively high levels of net revenue 
for the university. As indicated above, we would like to continue to expand our course offerings, 
a goal that is supported by our PAC and our survey of graduates from the program. Adding a new 
regular faculty position would help us achieve this goal. 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 10 

2. Curriculum Review 

2.1. Pathways for Graduates 

Pathways to Employment 
Students in the Asian Studies Program become innovative, critical, and creative thinkers who can 
flexibly adapt to a rapidly changing world where Asian countries and cultures have become 
increasingly influential. Our program offers high quality courses where students learn how to 
apply effective cultural, research, writing, and oral skills to solve specific problems, with a 
particular eye towards real-world application. The types of experiential education that we offer 
(and want to continue to develop) and in our courses will help our students stand out in a 
competitive employment market. After graduation, our students can apply the skills they develop 
in our program in a variety of career paths, deepen their learning in a particular field, and adapt 
as the contemporary trends we study continue to evolve.  
 
In our economically interdependent world, students with cultural knowledge, intercultural 
competencies, language abilities, and practical experience have marketable skills, especially the 
ability to interact confidently with people of different cultural and linguistic backgrounds, in 
person as well as online. Future career prospects are found in a wide variety of industries where 
cross-cultural communication skills are in high demand, such as business, cultural sector, 
education, healthcare, immigration, journalism / media, museums, non-governmental 
organizations (NGOs), research, social services, and tourism.  
 
In a presentation at the 2012 KPU Modern Languages Department conference on Language and 
the Intercultural Mind, Sergeant Baltej Dhillon (NCOI/C Operations Provincial Intelligence Centre 
of BC), a former KPU student, emphasized the important role his multilingualism and cross-
cultural skills have played in investigations, community outreach and collaborative work in the 
community. Acquisition of such cultural sensitivity can help graduates engage in, interact with, 
and contribute to their communities. 
 

Pathways to Further Study 

Graduates from the Asian Studies program are well prepared to combine their knowledge of 
various subjects with a wide range of methodological approaches from several disciplines. Our 
students receive a solid foundation in oral and written skills for entry into graduate programs 
across Canada and abroad in disciplines in a variety of humanities and social sciences including, 
but not limited to, Asian Studies. The content of our courses, the oral and written communication 
skills our students develop, and their linguistic training, all prepare them for graduate school 
applications. 

Some students minor in in Asian Studies while pursuing in other Bachelor of Arts programs in the 
Faculty of Arts, such as Anthropology, Criminology, English, History, Journalism, Music, Political 
Science, and Sociology, as well students from the Faculty of Health or the Melville School of 
Business. Some of these students will go on to pursue graduate degrees in these disciplines with 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 11 

specializations in Asia. For students who want to complete an AA degree at KPU and continue 
their education elsewhere, many of the courses offered in our department are transferable to 
other institutions including UBC, SFU, and UVic. 

 

Pathways to an Enriched Civic and Personal Life 

Students in the Asian Studies program are challenged to consider issues of cultural diversity, 
reflecting on themselves, their communities, and various ways they can interpret the world and 
their place in it. In addition to enhancing professional and academic opportunities, the linguistic 
and intercultural competencies developed in this program contribute to building strong 
community ties and developing global citizens. Our students not only learn about modern Asia 
and the local communities of Asian heritage served by KPU, but our program learning outcome 
around Indigenization and decolonization will contribute to our graduates’ deeper understanding 
of diverse Indigenous cultures and nations, including those here in Canada. Our graduates are 
well-positioned to contribute to the civic life of Canada or wherever they make their home, due 
to their intercultural competencies, critical thinking skills, and various types of literacy. The global 
citizenship skills instilled in the Asian Studies program enhance graduates’ adaptability to 
increasingly mobile and flexible lifestyles, helping them develop pluralistic views of our 
contemporary world. 

Moreover, the BA Major and AA certificate in Asian Studies both require two years studying an 
Asian language, which positively affects cognitive and social abilities (including memory, 
attention, task-switching, conflict management, flexibility, et cetera). Competency in additional 
languages also help our graduates to become more reflective and aware of their primary 
language and culture, helping improve their written and oral communication, as well as 
recognizing how language use represents cultural values and norms. The Asian Studies and Asian 
language coursework help our graduates become better informed and more well-rounded 
citizens and human beings. 

 

Career Pathways Map 

The Career Pathways Map of the program is presented in Appendix A.  

 

2.2. Skill Development 

As outlined in KPU Policy AC9 (Skills and Outcomes), the Asian Studies program is designed to 
help students attain the following skills:  

 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 12 

Writing Clearly and Concisely 

ASIA courses are designed to help our students improve their writing skills. Each course includes 
writing assignments, which tend to increase in length, complexity, and argumentation from the 
introductory level courses to the upper-level courses. Especially in the introductory-level courses, 
class time is dedicated to reviewing principles of writing, including common grammatical and 
stylistic mistakes. Several courses require students to compose a rough draft and then 
incorporate feedback, either from the instructor or Learning Centre tutors, into the final draft. 
Our instructors distribute writing assignment rubrics, which emphasize the value of clear and 
concise writing.  

Our surveys of students and alumni (Appendices B & C, respectively) indicate that the vast 
majority of our students feel that the program helped develop their writing skills: 71% of current 
ASIA students who responded to the survey said the program helped them develop their ability 
to write clearly and concisely to “a large extent” (and an additional 14% said to “a moderate 
extent”), and 47% of alumni reported “a large extent” (with an additional 47% choosing 
“moderate extent”). 
 

Speaking Effectively 

ASIA courses are also designed to help our students improve their oral communication. In-class 
discussions are an essential component of our courses. Our instructors tend to move between 
different size discussions, from whole-class instruction to discussions with a partner or small 
groups. Small group discussions provide students with low-stakes settings where they can 
practice their oral communication and their interpersonal skills (which also develops the essential 
skill of Working Effectively with Others, below). Some of our students are anxious about speaking 
in public, especially as many of them speak English as a second or third language, but our 
instructional strategies help produce an environment in which students feel safe sharing their 
ideas. 

Oral skills was one of the weaker responses on our surveys of current ASIA students and ASIA 
alumni, but a majority of both groups still felt that the program helped them develop these skills 
either to “a large extent” or “a moderate extent”: 14% of current students chose “large” and 43% 
chose “moderate”; among alumni, 33% reported “large” and 33% picked “moderate.” At the 
same time, one of our alumni said in the survey that ASIA instructors are “interested in student 
perspectives and are willing to engage in discussion.” 

 

Reading and Comprehending Material 

Our courses are also designed to help students improve their ability to read and comprehend a 
variety of texts, including primary sources and scholarly writing. As with the other skills, the 
difficulty of these materials ramps up from the introductory courses to the advanced courses. 
Instructors help support student comprehension by reviewing short selections of texts and 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 13 

deciphering them with the class’s help, or having students work together to interpret texts and 
then reviewing this with the whole group. Instructors also model reading strategies with 
students, including locating thesis statements, notetaking, use of context clues, and how to 
navigate e-books. Various assignments check student comprehension, including writing 
summaries, responses, and book reports. 
 
Every single respondent to our surveys of students and alumni reported that the program helped 
them develop their skills either to “a large extent” or “a moderate extent.” Among current 
students, 71% said “a large extent” and 29% said “moderate,” whereas among alumni the 
breakdown was 73% “large” and 27% “moderate.” 
 

Working Effectively with Others 

ASIA courses also emphasize collaborative learning. As mentioned above, our instructors 
frequently use partner and small-group activities in class that encourage students to discuss 
various questions and solve problems with their classmates. Some of our instructors have 
students take on different roles in group work, such as facilitator, recorder, and reporter. In some 
of our courses we also assign group projects and presentations that require students to work 
together in a more long-term, high stakes setting. 

According to our survey of current ASIA students, this skill was the weakest developed of the 
essential skills, with only 14% of responding students saying that the program helped them 
develop this skill to “a large extent” and 29% choosing “a moderate extent.” Alumni reported 
slightly better results, with 27% reporting that the program helped them develop this skill to “a 
large extent” and another 40% reporting “a moderate extent.” As mentioned in section 1.4, we 
believe that the challenges of shifting to remote learning during the pandemic negatively 
impacted groupwork for the current cohort of students and we are making efforts to re-integrate 
group assignments and other forms of collaborative learning to our courses. 

 

Analyzing and Thinking Critically 

All ASIA courses stress higher-order thinking skills such as analytical and critical thinking. Even in 
the introductory level courses, our instructors challenge our students to go beyond memorization 
and identification, challenging them to consider the deeper meanings of social and cultural 
structures, consider the different stakeholders in various situations, engage in comparative work, 
and imagine ways that things could change in the future. Our surveys of students and alumni 
provide evidence that developing analytical and critical thinking skills is another strength of our 
program. Among current students, 57% said the program helped them develop these skills to “a 
large extent” and another 29% said it helped to “a moderate extent.” The numbers among alumni 
were even stronger, with a breakdown of 67% “large” and 33% “moderate.” 

 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 14 

Resolving Issues or Other Problems 

The essential skill of problem-solving is closely related to the skill of analytical and critical 
thinking, and our courses also challenge students to consider how to apply the course content to 
help resolve various issues. Most of our students and alumni who responded to the survey also 
reported that the ASIA program helped them to develop their problem-solving skills. 43% of 
current students who responded to the survey said the program helped them develop these skills 
to “a large extent,” and an additional 29% said to “a moderate extent.” Among alumni, 33% 
reported “a large extent” and an additional 33% chose “moderate extent”. 

 

Learning on Your Own 

Another large majority of our students and alumni feel that the program helped develop their 
independent learning skills. All of our current students who responded to the survey reported 
that the program helped them with this skill, with 71% saying that it helped “a large extent” and 
an additional 29% saying that it helped to “a moderate extent.” Among alumni, 47% reported “a 
large extent,” with an additional 47% choosing “a moderate extent.” 

 

One final skill that is a real strength of our program but does not appear on the updated list of 
essential skills is Developing Multicultural Sensitivity and Awareness. In our surveys, 100% of 
current students said that the program helped them develop this skill to “a large extent” while 
73% of alumni reported “a large extent” and another 20% said it helped “a moderate extent.” 

 

2.3. Curriculum Assessment 

The full curriculum map is provided in Appendix D.  

Program Learning Outcomes 

The Asian Studies program did not have PLOs when this program review started. In preparation 
for the program review, we created the following PLOs:  

A student who successfully completes the BA Major in Asian Studies will have reliably 
demonstrated the ability to: 

1. Demonstrate a working knowledge of core vocabulary and theoretical perspectives in 
Asian Studies to make careful comparisons across time, space, and culture; 

2. Identify key issues in Asian society, culture, politics, and history through written and oral 
communication; 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 15 

3. Apply frameworks of ethnicity, gender, and class to analyze Asian literature, film, and 
media; 

4. Apply critical thinking and problem-solving skills to address the impact of colonialism and 
processes of decolonization in Asia and Asian diasporas to address real world problems in 
ways that are sensitive both to history and competing sets of values; 

5. Analyze how diverse Asian diasporic groups interact with globalization and 
transnationalism to improve the social, political, economic, or cultural well-being of 
communities; 

6. Interpret insider perspectives (Indigenous, majority, and minority) in Asia or Asian 
diasporic contexts to take informed positions as global citizens; 

7. Apply knowledge gained in the Asian Studies program to specific situations in our local 
communities; 

8. Demonstrate familiarity with one or more Asian languages through written and oral 
communication; 

9. Apply research skills by designing, conducting, and presenting research; and 

10. Apply the intercultural competencies gained in the Asian Studies program to successful 
careers in public, private, or non-profit sectors. 

A student who successfully completes the BA Minor in Asian Studies will have reliably 
demonstrated the ability to: 

1. Demonstrate a working knowledge of core vocabulary and theoretical perspectives in 
Asian Studies to make careful comparisons across time, space, and culture; 

2. Identify key issues in Asian society, culture, politics, and history through written and oral 
communication; 

3. Apply frameworks of ethnicity, gender, and class to analyze Asian literature, film, and 
media; 

4. Apply critical thinking and problem-solving skills to address the impact of colonialism and 
processes of decolonization in Asia and Asian diasporas to address real world problems in 
ways that are sensitive both to history and competing sets of values; 

5. Analyze how diverse Asian diasporic groups interact with globalization and 
transnationalism to improve the social, political, economic, or cultural well-being of 
communities; 

6. Interpret insider perspectives (Indigenous, majority, and minority) in Asia or Asian 
diasporic contexts to take informed positions as global citizens; 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 16 

7. Apply research skills by designing, conducting, and presenting research; and 

8. Apply the intercultural competencies gained in the Asian Studies program to successful 
careers in public, private, or non-profit sectors. 

A student who successfully completes the AA Diploma in Asian Studies will have reliably 
demonstrated the ability to: 

1. Demonstrate a working knowledge of core vocabulary and theoretical perspectives in 
Asian Studies to make careful comparisons across time, space, and culture; 

2. Identify key issues in Asian society, culture, politics, and history through written and oral 
communication; 

3. Apply frameworks of ethnicity, gender, and class to analyze Asian literature, film, and 
media; 

4. Analyze how diverse Asian diasporic groups interact with globalization and 
transnationalism to improve the social, political, economic, or cultural well-being of 
communities; 

5. Demonstrate familiarity with one or more Asian languages through written and oral 
communication; and 

6. Apply research skills by designing, conducting, and presenting research. 

 

Results of Curriculum Assessment 
 
In preparation for this program review, we completed a full curriculum map of all 32 ASIA 
courses, 22 ASIA-approved courses, and 18 Asian language courses to see how well the course 
learning outcomes (CLOs) for these courses align with the program learning outcomes (PLOs) 
that we developed. Please note that the PLO numbers used below refer to the PLOs of the BA 
Major (which are more comprehensive than those of the Minor or AA).  
 
First, we considered whether some PLOs are overly emphasized in the CLOs of ASIA and ASIA-
approved courses. #1 and #2 are the most frequently emphasized PLOs, but this makes sense as 
these two PLOs are foundational for all of the others. Without a working knowledge of key 
vocabulary and theoretical perspectives in Asian Studies, it will be difficult to address all other 
PLOs and course material, and the same goes for the ability to identify key issues in Asian 
societies, cultures, politics, and history through written and oral communication. Therefore, 
nearly every ASIA, ASIA-approved, and Asian language course have CLOs related to PLOs #1 and 
2.  
 
Next, we considered whether some PLOs are inadequately addressed in the current CLOs. 
Currently, the least addressed PLOs are #10, #8, and #7. PLO #10 is currently only addressed in 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 17 

the CLOs of 26% (14 out of 54) of the ASIA and ASIA-approved courses. Because PLO #10 
addresses the successful application of intercultural competencies developed in our courses to 
careers outside of the university, it usually is most relevant in upper-level coursework. However, 
we hope that integrating experiential learning throughout our curriculum can lead to course 
revisions with new CLOs that will encourage instructors and students to work on PLO #10 more 
broadly. Similarly, PLO #7, about applying knowledge gained in the Asian Studies program to 
specific situations in our local communities, would also benefit from curricular reform to 
encourage experiential learning. It is currently addressed in the CLOs of 39% (21 out of 54) of the 
ASIA and ASIA-approved courses, which could be improved. Finally, PLO #8 is only addressed in 
the language courses (and not the ASIA and ASIA-approved courses), but that makes sense as this 
is the PLO about language acquisition.  
 
In general, the PLOs follow a progression from more introductory outcomes, in early courses, to 
more advanced outcomes in final courses. This is especially true when considering the ASIA 
courses, as several of the PLOs do not have many advanced outcomes in the ASIA-approved 
courses. Also, PLO #10 is chiefly “introduced” with fewer opportunities for “development” and 
“advancement” than the other PLOs, even when considering both ASIA and ASIA-approved 
courses. Again, this could be expanded with curricular reform aimed towards developing 
experiential education, specifically regarding how to apply intercultural competencies in career 
pathways. 
 
  
 
 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 18 

3. Program Relevance and Demand 

3.1. Relevance 

Are the program learning outcomes relevant to the current needs of the discipline/sector?  

Based on our surveys of current students, alumni, and representatives from the sector 
(Appendices B, C, and E), there is a broad consensus that our PLOs are relevant to the current 
needs of the discipline/sector, although our current students are less convinced of this than the 
other two groups surveyed. 

Representatives from the sector were most positive about the relevance of the PLOs. Based on 
the 8 responses to each question, an average of 78.1% of sector representatives thought it was 
either “essential” or “very important” for an entry-level employee to be able to demonstrate 
each of the PLOs. The maximum was 88% (for PLOs #1, #2, #9, and #10) and the minimum was 
51% (for #8). When asked, “what other skills, training, or knowledge should an entry-level 
applicant have to be hired into your organization?” several representatives repeated skills that 
appeared in the PLOs, including “language like Punjabi or Hindi” (PLO #8), “strong research skills 
(PLO #9), and “intercultural communication” (PLO #10). 

Alumni were also largely positive about the relevance of the PLOs. Based on the 8 or 9 responses 
to each question, an average of 71.7% of alumni thought each of the PLOs was either “very 
relevant” or “somewhat relevant” to their career goals. The maximum was 89% (for PLOs #2 & 
#8), the mode was 66% (PLOs #1, #5, #6, & #9), and the minimum was 44% (for #7). 

Current students were the least positive about the relevance of the PLOs, but they were still 
overall positive regarding their satisfaction with the curriculum. Based on the 10 respondents, 
50% either “somewhat agree” or “strongly agree” that the program’s curriculum is relevant to 
their career goals, and 90% said they were either “somewhat satisfied” or “very satisfied” with 
the Asian Studies curriculum.  

According to the Administrative Data Report (Appendix F), 100% of the ASIA graduates from 
2019–2021 who responded to another survey agreed that they were satisfied with their 
education, 100% thought it was a quality education, and 86% thought it was useful. 
 

Does the program have the connections to the discipline/sector needed to remain current? 

All of our regular faculty members demonstrate a commitment to maintaining strong 
connections to the discipline, engaging in continual scholarly production, professional 
development, and community outreach. Members of our faculty regularly attend the annual 
meetings of the Association of Asian Studies and/or the American Academy of Religion. A number 
of our non-regular faculty also are engaged in regular professional development as well.  

In January 2021, we held the first meeting of the ASIA Program Advisory Committee (PAC), a 
group of community leaders and stakeholders from various relevant sectors, including non-profit 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 19 

organizations, governmental offices, museums, and the business world. Our PAC has been helpful 
in building connections between our program and the broader community, as well as sharing 
ideas concerning how to enhance experiential learning. PAC members have also been helpful 
conversation partners regarding areas of ongoing concern such as student mental health and 
challenges facing international students, both of which were compounded by the COVID-19 
pandemic. Our initial members have completed their first two-year term and two of them opted 
for reappointment; we have also been recruiting new members annually. The feedback from our 
PAC members has been helpful to consider the needs of local communities and employers, and 
our PAC has been very supportive for our program development, including connecting course 
content with real-world and local situations. 

Out of the respondents of our survey of the discipline/sector, 38% said they were “very satisfied” 
with the opportunities they had to stay connected with the program and another 38% said they 
were “somewhat satisfied.” 63% of respondents said they were “very interested” in participating 
in projects connecting ASIA students with the industry / sector and another 38% said they were 
“somewhat interested. 

Some suggestions they had to build better connections included: 

• More communication, networking, events, programs, and projects 

• More policy-oriented and applied research related to Canada-Asia relations, professional 
applications, and the “reality of everyday people and their day to day issues” 

• Greater connections with Asian nonprofits 

In our survey of ASIA alumni, most respondents felt that our PLOs were relevant to their career 
goals. Interestingly, the only one of the PLOs that had less than 50% support that it was either 
“very relevant” or “somewhat relevant” to their career goals was PLO #7, “Apply knowledge 
gained in the Asian Studies program to specific situations in our local communities,” among 
students with the BA Major. Several students were quite positive about the relevance of the 
program in their qualitative comments, saying things like the curriculum on “Punjabi and 
Chinese/Japanese culture [was] very relevant if living in Metro Vancouver or working alongside 
these groups” and another student spoke positively about their field trip experiences. One 
student was particularly frustrated in feeling that the program was “useless for getting a job” and 
another student said they wish there had been “more courses that include excursions relevant 
to the subject matter.” A number of students commented that the program was excessively 
focused on Japan, China, and India, and they wished there had been more opportunities to learn 
about other countries, including Korea, Iran, the Philippines, and South Asian countries aside 
from India. 

In summary, our faculty has made efforts to build connections with the discipline/sector to stay 
current and afford opportunities to our students, but even more can be done in this regard. 

 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 20 

Does the program include appropriate Indigenous content? 

The ASIA program includes Indigenous and decolonialization content but, as indicated in Chapter 
1, we have identified this area as a focus area for development. Our current curriculum has 
courses in which Indigenous issues are taught, in both the sense of Indigenous groups in Asia 
(such as ASIA 3152 – Ethnicity in China and Japan) and in the relationship between Asian settlers 
and First Nations in Canada (such as ASIA 4350 – Asian Communities in Canada), but we believe 
there is a need to expand the opportunities for our students to be exposed to Indigenous culture 
and issues facing Indigenous communities, including the impact of colonialism and paths towards 
decolonization.  

In our survey of ASIA alumni, a plurality of respondents said they were “neither satisfied nor 
dissatisfied” with the extent to which ASIA included Indigenous content in our curriculum, with 
21% of respondents choosing they were “very satisfied” and another 21% choosing that they 
were “somewhat satisfied.” Similarly, in our survey of current ASIA students, a plurality of 
respondents said they were “neither satisfied nor dissatisfied” with the extent to which ASIA 
included Indigenous content in our curriculum, with 14% of respondents choosing they were 
“very satisfied” and another 29% choosing that they were “somewhat satisfied.” 

Our program was recently awarded a time release to assess our current curriculum in regard to 
Indigenization / decolonization and to work on a plan to strengthen this dimension of our 
curriculum, so we anticipate that this should improve in the next five years. 

 

3.2. Faculty Qualifications and Currency 

What is the collective expertise available to deliver the program? 

There are currently three regular faculty members in ASIA, one of whom has a full-time 
appointment in ASIA and two of whom have part-time appointments in ASIA (ranging from 25% 
to 50%) as well as appointments in other departments (HIST and LANC), for a total of 1.75 FTEs. 
All three of these faculty members have doctoral degrees from universities in Canada or the 
United States.  

As ASIA is an interdisciplinary and multidisciplinary program, not a department itself, we work 
closely with other departments, including ANTH, ENGL, GEOG, HIST, LANC, PHIL, and POLI, as 12 
regular faculty members from these departments teach cross-listed or ASIA-approved courses. 
11 of these faculty members have doctorates from universities in Canada, the United States, and 
Asia, and the twelfth has an M.A. We also employ NR1 faculty to cover instructional needs, most 
of whom also have Ph.Ds or are close to completing their doctoral degrees.  

The ASIA regular faculty have expertise in a variety of fields, including Asian religions (such as 
Buddhism, Hinduism, Sikhism, and new religious movements); diaspora, migration, and 
transnational studies; gender studies; labour history; film & television; and health and healing. 
We have language proficiency in Hindi, Japanese, and Sanskrit. When one considers the regular 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 21 

faculty from other departments who teach cross-listed and ASIA-approved courses, as well as the 
non-regular faculty who teach in our program, we also have faculty members who are fluent in 
Mandarin, Cantonese, and Punjabi. These cross-listed and non-regular faculty members also have 
expertise in a wide variety of fields that complement our regular faculty’s expertise, allowing ASIA 
students to learn about subjects such as Asian archaeology, art history, environmental history, 
history, media studies, philosophy, politics, and other religions such as Islam. 

Faculty members have presented their research work at conferences like the annual meetings of 
the Association for Asian Studies and the American Academy of Religion, as well as at smaller 
workshops.  Besides presentations, our faculty have also published peer-reviewed articles, book 
chapters and books that demonstrate expertise within the discipline. Several of these 
presentations and publications have been supported by the competitive 0.6% Faculty PD Award. 
Our faculty members are also members of different associations including the Association for 
Asian Studies, the American Academy of Religion, and the Modern Buddhist History Association.  

Members of the program have also been active in creating Open Education Resources for use in 
class, which are developed in collaboration with students. We hope to continue to develop these 
resources to the point where they can be shared more broadly with other university classrooms 
and the general public.  

 

Collectively, does the department have the expertise needed to deliver the curriculum? 

ASIA has the expertise needed to deliver the current curriculum. Our faculty is highly qualified to 
offer engaging courses that are in line with current scholarship and is engaged in continual 
professional development. However, we could use further expertise in areas like Korea, 
Southeast Asia, and Islam in Asia, which is reflected in the comments in our surveys of current 
students and ASIA alumni. Our PAC has also encouraged us to try to hire more faculty and expand 
our curriculum to try and fill some of these gaps. 

The Qualifications and Currency Profile is presented in Appendix G.  

 

3.3. Student Demand 

Who takes the program? 

According to the Administrative Data Report (Appendix F), during the period of academic year 
(AY) 2017–2022, Asian Studies Program students were closer to a 50/50 gender balance than the 
Faculty of Arts overall, more of our students were over 22 years old than Arts overall, and a 
significant number of our students were international students than Arts overall. From AY 
2017/18 to 2020/21, the percentage of international ASIA students was consistently more than 
twice the percentage of international students than Arts overall. Over these four years, ASIA 
averaged 37.8% international students, whereas Arts averaged 16% international students. As 
this gap decreased dramatically in AY 2021/22 (ASIA’s international students declining to 30% 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 22 

and Arts’ rate increasing to 26%), we shall have to see if that year was an outlier or if this indicates 
a trend towards parity.  

The trend for relatively older students is consistent with our previous Program Review. In that 
review, the authors theorized that the older demographic might suggest that Asian Studies was 
not particularly well-known among high-school students and more marketing might be done 
targeting high schoolers, particularly in the South Fraser region. However, ASIA’s appeal to older 
students could also be seen as a positive characteristic, as it could demonstrate how non-
traditional students recognize the value of the intercultural competencies and other benefits of 
enrolling in Asian Studies. 

 

Is demand for the program sustainable? 

The administrative data report for ASIA shows that the last five-year period has shown a 26% 
increase in student headcount in ASIA courses, compared to a 1% increase in Faculty of Arts 
courses as a whole. Moreover, there has been a 15% increase in declared BA majors, an 11% 
increase in declared minors, a 10% increase in “intended of undeclared,” and an 8% increase in 
total headcount. This is several times greater than the overall 3% increase in total headcount for 
all Faculty of Arts programs. This growth has been despite an overall decrease in Asian Studies in 
students enrolled at Asian Studies programs at other BC public post-secondary institutions over 
the same period. Although the demand has fluctuated over the period, demand for ASIA courses 
and enrollment in the program have increased overall at significantly higher rates than the overall 
Faculty of Arts trends. 

The cost structure of the program is also more sustainable than Arts and KPU undergraduate 
courses overall. With a higher average number of seats filled (28.1, compared to 25.5 for Arts 
and 24.8 for KPU) and a higher percentage of international students filling those seats (63%, 
compared to 37% and 43%, respectively), ASIA earns more than twice the average net revenue 
per class than other Arts and KPU undergraduate courses ($25,269, compared with $10,976 and 
$12,541, respectively). 

 

Does the program have the capacity to meet demand? 

While our fill rates exceed the averages in Faculty of Arts and KPU overall, there is some unmet 
demand, especially for the first-year courses ASIA 1100 (Introducing Asia) and 1111 (Religions of 
India).  This unmet demand is relevant to our interest in adding a new regular faculty position. 

 

Does the program have effective outreach to ensure demand? 

The program could do more effective outreach through its continued commitment to building 
relationships in the community. Co-hosting events with community partners could give it more 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 23 

visibility and if these events were of interest to local teenagers (or held at local high schools), it 
could turn into increased enrollment in the future. However, given the very small size of the 
program, our faculty members are already quite burdened with service commitments, so it has 
been difficult to commit to growing this type of community outreach to date. 

We have grown our social media presence, posting somewhat regularly on Facebook and X 
(formerly Twitter) and gaining new followers. We do not get a large amount of engagement, so 
we could do more to promote our social media accounts among our students and encourage 
students to repost our posts to reach a larger audience, including prospective students. 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 24 

4. Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery 

4.1. Instructional Design and Delivery of Curriculum 

Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the PLOs? 

Our surveys of current students, alumni, and faculty (Appendices B, C, and H) suggest a broad 
consensus that students receive appropriate opportunities to acquire our PLOs, with a few areas 
where we could show improvement. 

The student survey had a fairly low response rate on this section, with only 6 students from the 
BA Major responding and not enough students from the Minor responding to generate a report, 
so the results may be somewhat skewed, but a large majority of students reported that the ASIA 
courses helped them to develop the PLO to “a large extent” or “a moderate extent” for 9 out of 
10 PLOs. The maximums were for PLOs #2, 3, and 6, where 100% of students chose one of these 
outcomes. According to this survey, the PLOs that represent the best opportunities for growth in 
this area are #7 (apply knowledge to specific situations in our communities), #9 (apply research 
skills), and #10 (apply intercultural competencies to successful careers), especially the last one 
where 33% of respondents said our courses did not help them develop this PLO and another 17% 
said they only helped to “a small extent.” 

The alumni survey (with only a slightly larger sample size of 7 respondents) was more positive, 
with a sizable majority choosing “large” or “moderate extent” for all 10 PLOs. Here as well, #7 & 
10 represented the ones with the best opportunities for improvement.  

Our faculty had the most sanguine perspective on the PLOs, with 100% choosing “large” or 
“moderate extent” for all 10 PLOs. Interestingly, the two that scored lowest among faculty were 
different from those selected by students and alumni: faculty thought the two most in need of 
improvement were #6 (interpreting insider perspectives) and #8 (language skills).  

The results from the surveys of students and alumni reinforces the conclusions of our curriculum 
assessment (section 2.3), which found that PLOs #7 and 10 were the least represented across the 
CLOs of our curriculum. In summary, we recommend a review of the curriculum to identify places 
we can increase opportunities for students to apply the knowledge and intercultural 
competencies developed in our program to specific situations in our communities as well as 
successful careers outside of the university. 

 

Are appropriate experiential learning opportunities provided to help student acquire the learning 
outcomes? 

As mentioned in section 1.4, we feel that expanding the experiential learning opportunities in 
our program is one of key issues in this program review. The program currently offers several 
opportunities for experiential learning, but they tend to be clustered in certain courses (and 
predominantly upper-level courses) rather than integrated systemically through the curriculum. 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 25 

Integrating experiential learning more systemically through the curriculum will also help address 
the inadequate opportunities to develop PLOs #7 & 10, identified in the previous subsection. 

Among the 10 faculty members who responded to the faculty survey, 40% said that the program 
was incorporating experiential learning opportunities “very effectively” and the remaining 60% 
said “somewhat effectively.” Every single one of the qualitative comments mentioned 
experiential learning as a place where the program could improve. These comments mentioned: 

• Integrating experiential learning more systemically throughout the program, including in 
lower-level courses 

• More course-based projects, field trips, partnerships with community partners, and 
universities in Asia (through COIL and field schools) 

• Potentially developing a co-op program 

In the student survey, only a minority of students thought they had sufficient experiential 
opportunities in the program (a proposition with which 43% “somewhat” agreed), although the 
alumni responded much more positively, with 27% “strongly” and 60% “somewhat” agreeing that 
they had sufficient opportunities. This discrepancy may be related to the fact that the experiential 
opportunities are disproportionately in the upper-level classes, so alumni would have had 
experienced these opportunities whereas current students may not have reached that part of 
the program yet. However, one alumnus wrote that they wish the program were able to have 
“more departmental work-learn and independent study options for graduating students… [to 
provide] the opportunity to engage with topics and work experiences relevant to their field 
without having to resort to co-op terms.” Based on other information this alumnus provided in 
their comments, it is clear that they graduated from the program several years ago, so it is likely 
that they did not have the opportunity to engage in the ARTS 4800 Student Practicum, which 
ASIA only joined in the last few years. 

We will return to this subject in Chapter 6 – Conclusions and Recommendations. 

 

Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the essential skills? 

As discussed in Section 2.2, the data from the student survey, the alumni survey, and the 
administrative data report (Appendix F) shows that there are ample opportunities for students 
to acquire and develop most of the essential skills, but we also have room for growth, particularly 
regarding oral communication, working in groups, and problem solving.  

In the alumni survey, 93-100% of the respondents said that the program helped them develop 
five of the eight skills (Writing Clearly and Concisely, Reading and Comprehending Material, 
Analyzing and Thinking Critically, Learning on Your Own, and Developing Multicultural Sensitivity 
and Awareness) to a “large” or “moderate” extent, and a majority (67%) said that it also helped 
them develop the other three skills (Speaking Effectively, Working Effectively with Others, and 
Resolving Issues or Other Problems) to a “large” or “moderate” extent. 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 26 

In the survey of current students, 85-100% of the respondents said that the program helped them 
develop five of the eight skills (Writing Clearly and Concisely, Reading and Comprehending 
Material, Analyzing and Thinking Critically, Learning on Your Own, and Developing Multicultural 
Sensitivity and Awareness) to a “large” or “moderate” extent. A majority said that it also helped 
them develop two of the other three skills (Speaking Effectively and Resolving Issues or Other 
Problems) to a “large” or “moderate” extent. However, most current students felt that the 
program either only helped them to develop the skill Working Effectively with Others either “a 
small extent” or “not at all” (with 29% choosing each of those options).  

The administrative data report accords with the student surveys. In an assessment by program 
graduates of their skill development, the program ranked at 93%, which is above the Ministry 
target of 85%, but two individual skills fell below the target numbers: Work Effectively with 
Others (73%) and Resolve Issues or Problems (78%). 

It is important to remember that this data was impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic forcing all 
classes online, which weighs heavily in the experiences of current students and recent alumni. As 
is more difficult to have effective groupwork in online courses than in-person courses, we expect 
there should be a natural rebound in the Working Effectively with Others skill as we get back to 
teaching more in-person courses. That said, we recognize that oral communication, groupwork, 
and problem-solving are areas where we can improve and will address this further in the 
recommendations of Chapter 6. 

 

Does the program design ensure students are prepared for subsequent courses? 

Students, alumni, and faculty all broadly agreed that the prerequisites offered prepared students 
for more advanced courses. The faculty were most positive about this (with 60% “strongly” 
agreeing and another 30% “somewhat” agreeing), followed by alumni (29% “strongly” and 57% 
“somewhat”), and then current students (14% “strongly” and 43% “somewhat”). No one from 
any of the three surveys chose “disagree” for this question. 

However, a substantial number of current students and alumni expressed frustration with the 
range of courses being offered each term, which some said made it difficult to take the 
prerequisite courses when they needed them. Among the current students who responded to 
the survey, 43% “somewhat disagreed” with the statement, “I was able to take the prerequisite 
courses when I needed them,” and 71% disagreed with the statement “the range of courses 
offered each term was adequate” (57% “strongly” disagreeing and 14% “somewhat” 
disagreeing). One current student wrote, “I would have loved to see more diversity in the courses 
offered as well as more courses each semester.”  

21% of alumni surveyed disagreed with the statement, “I was able to take the prerequisite 
courses when I needed them” (7% “strongly” and 14% “moderately” disagreed), and 21% strongly 
disagreed with the statement “the range of courses offered each term was adequate.” Several 
alumni also wrote relevant qualitative comments, including: “more instructors and more 
courses,” “more variety in courses,” and “more availability for requisite 4th-year courses.” 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 27 

This said, we try to keep our prerequisite structure flexible so students within the program can 
quickly advance to the higher-level courses, while students from outside of the program are able 
to take higher-level courses as electives. This is in line with our commitment to teaching Asian 
Studies as a multidisciplinary and interdisciplinary subject and we believe that our courses benefit 
from having students of many different programs learning together. The main issue with our 
course offerings does not seem to actually be with the prerequisite structure but rather with the 
number of sections we are given and the fill rate requirements to run classes.  

In summary, the prerequisite structure seems to be well-designed but there are calls from 
students and alumni to offer more courses to help ensure that they can fulfill the prerequisites 
and complete the program in a timely manner.  

 

Does instruction meet the needs of diverse learners? 
 
The results of the student and alumni surveys indicate that they are generally satisfied that the 
instruction they are receiving is meeting their needs.  
 
On the survey of current students, the overall assessment of the program and instructors is quite 
positive, with no negative responses and a handful of neutral responses. On each of the sub-
questions in this section, between 71 and 86% “strongly” agreed that their instructors 
accommodated student needs, effectively presented course materials, were up-to-date on 
current developments in the discipline/sector, engaged with research expertise and experience, 
and ensured students’ emotional and physical safety. If it is possible to do follow-up research, it 
would be important to find out why two of the seven respondents gave neutral responses 
(“neither agree nor disagree”) with the questions about ensuring students’ emotional and 
physical safety, as this of course is a priority for our faculty. 
 
Both current students and alumni indicated positive overall satisfaction with the instruction in 
the program. 29% of current students said that they are “very satisfied,” 57% said “somewhat 
satisfied,” and one student gave a neutral response. Among alumni, 64% said they were “very 
satisfied” with their instruction, 29% said “somewhat satisfied,” and one student (out of the 
fourteen respondents) said they were “very dissatisfied.” Based on the qualitative comments that 
followed, it seems that this student has faced difficulty in the job market and felt that the 
program did not sufficiently prepare them with marketable skills. This will be further addressed 
below in section 4.2. Despite this one outlier, the overall evaluation of the instruction is 
overwhelmingly positive, with 19 out of 21  respondents to the two surveys (totaling 90.5%) 
expressing satisfaction with the program instruction. 
 
The respondents’ comments on the strengths of the program instruction emphasized instructors’ 
expertise, enthusiasm, kindness, and flexibility. One current student said, “The strengths of the 
program strongly came from the professors who delivered the lessons. They’re knowledgeable 
and care deeply about what they teach.” Another said, “The instructors are really kind, flexible 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 28 

and understanding,” going on to describe one particular instructor’s accommodation of students’ 
“different circumstances and learning methods.” Alumni similarly wrote: 

• “Instructors were very passionate, enthusiastic, and knowledgeable about their fields.” 
• “The instructors are very knowledgeable and passionate about what they teach which 

makes a huge difference. They are also interested in student perspectives and willing to 
engage in discussion.” 

• “[Instructors] were approachable and helpful. They offered a lot of support to students 
who sought it, and they gave me a lot of insights into my 3rd and 4th year papers during 
office hours.” 

• “I liked that most professors took time to explain what they wanted from students, and 
usually gave support and encouragement.” 

 
On the survey, students and alumni were asked to make suggestions for improvement in program 
instruction. As mentioned in the previous subsection, a common refrain was that the program 
should add more instructors and more courses. Current students say they want a more 
comprehensive understanding of Asia, including more diverse courses and more courses offered 
each semester. One suggested virtual interactive partnerships with Asian universities (like the 
COIL program) “as well as engaging in relevant social issues or research opportunities.” Alumni 
wrote similar comments, with several commenting on the need for more courses, more 
instructors, and more variety in courses. A few mentioned that instructional methods could be 
more varied, especially in online courses, as there is too much use of PowerPoint and not enough 
interaction. The alumnus who was especially negative about their experience was upset about 
not being able to take higher-level Japanese courses because (in their perspective) “the language 
portion of the program was heavily underfunded” and instructors “were not proactive in 
suggesting alternatives such as attending [a] different institution to fulfill credits.” One student 
also didn’t feel that they got enough helpful feedback from their instructors, or that the feedback 
they got was sometimes given “in a negative way.” 
 
In summary, the student and alumni surveys are overall quite positive, emphasizing faculty 
expertise and passion, while also indicating areas for improvement, to which we will return in 
Chapter 6. 
 
The faculty survey also indicates a broadly positive assessment of our instruction’s meeting 
student needs. 80% of respondents said they were “very satisfied” with the quality of instruction 
across the program and the remaining 20% said “somewhat satisfied.” On the more detailed sub-
questions, there were no negative responses, although here as well there were some neutral 
responses (“neither agree nor disagree”) with the questions about ensuring students’ emotional 
and physical safety in the learning environment. In the qualitative section, the faculty highlighted 
our expertise in varied interdisciplinary fields, as well as our diverse perspectives and pedagogical 
approaches. Two respondents mentioned aspects of our curriculum, which they saw as 
progressively helping students develop their critical thinking, communication, research skills, and 
intercultural competencies. In the section for suggestions on how the program could be 
improved, every single response mentioned expanding opportunities for experiential learning, 
and these were detailed in the previous subsection that focused on that topic. 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 29 

 

Do the assessment methods allow students to demonstrate to what extent they have achieved the 
learning outcomes? 
 
Again, the surveys indicated broadly positive feelings about the assessment methods.  
 
On the survey of current students, 100% agreed that they received clear information about how 
they would be evaluated (57% “strongly agree”), and no one disagreed that the range of 
assessments let them demonstrate what they learned (there was one neutral response). One 
student “somewhat” disagreed with the statement that the assessment standards were 
consistent throughout the program, and two “neither agree nor disagree” that instructors 
provide useful feedback.  
 
On the survey of alumni, 100% agreed that they received clear information about how they 
would be evaluated (79% “strongly agree”), and that the range of assessments let them 
demonstrate what they learned (43% “strongly”). One student “strongly” disagreed with the 
statement that the assessment standards were consistent throughout the program, and one 
chose “neither agree nor disagree” for the statement that instructors provide useful feedback, 
but the other 13 out of 14 respondents (93%) responded positively to these statements. 
 
The faculty respondents unanimously agreed that the assessment methods align with PLOs 
(50% “strongly”), that the range of assessments let students demonstrate what they have 
learned (50% “strongly”), that students are provided clear information about how they will be 
evaluated (80% “strongly”), and that the assessment standards are consistent throughout the 
program (50% “strongly”). 
 
Overall, the results are highly positive, but providing useful feedback and ensuring consistent 
assessment standards throughout the program might represent areas for improvement. 
 

4.2. Student Success  

Are students performing satisfactorily in courses? 

Student grade distribution, repeat rates, DFW rates for courses in the program roughly align 
with or are superior to those across the Faculty of Arts and do not present any issues that 
require addressing. 
 
ASIA’s grade distribution is fairly close to that across the faculty. It appears that it is has 
historically been somewhat more difficult to achieve the top marks in ASIA than in the Faculty of 
Arts as a whole, which made our mean grade somewhat below that of Arts for the first three of 
the five years under consideration, but since AY 20/21, this discrepancy has closed. For example, 
in AY 17/18 and 18/19, only a fraction of students in ASIA courses received marks of A+ or A 
compared to Arts students as a whole, but this difference has closed within 2%. This seems to be 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 30 

responsible for the gap between the ASIA and Arts mean grades closing from an average of 0.217 
(in AY 17/18 – 19/20) to an average of 0.04 (in AY 20/21 – 21/22). There has not been as dramatic 
of a change in the distribution of lower grades (i.e., in the C range and below), where ASIA 
students have historically slightly outperformed Arts as a whole. 
 
Repeat rates and DFW rates for ASIA students are consistently below those across Arts. For the 
five-year period in question, ASIA’s average repeat rate was 1.6%, compared to Arts’ 6.6%, and 
ASIA’s average DFW rate was 13.6%, compared with Arts’ 18.2%. 

 

Are students making satisfactory progress in the program? 

There has been a fluctuation in the number of students graduating from the Asian Studies 
program over the five years being considered in this program review, from a high of 11 in AY 
17/18 (5 majors and 6 minors) to a low of 4 in AY 19/20 (1 major and 3 minors) to rebound to 6 
(4 majors and 2 minors) in AY 21/22.1 Over this five year span, there has been a mean of 6.8 
graduates (evenly split between majors and minors). The median years to graduate has also 
fluctuated over this period between 5.8 years in AY 19/20 and 7.3 years in AY 20/21, with an 
average of 6.35 years to graduate, which is roughly half a year longer than the Arts average of 
5.7 years to complete a BA. 

There are several factors that may have impacted students’ ability to graduate in a timelier 
fashion. First, as we saw in section 4.1, students and alumni have complained of frustrations with 
the program’s limited course offerings. One alumnus described having to rearrange their entire 
schedule in order to take the requisite fourth-year seminar because it wasn’t offered more 
regularly and missing it would require enrolling for another year or more. Another factor may be 
the relatively high number of ASIA students who are over age 22. Many of our students pursue 
university while also engaging in professional careers, which increases the length of time for them 
to finish their degrees. 

 

Are graduates of the program successful? 

The data that we have from our surveys and the administrative data report indicate that 
graduates are reasonably successful after graduation, but there may be things we can do, such 
as expanding our opportunities for experiential learning, that can help ensure future graduates 
are even more successful. 

All respondents to our alumni survey reported being currently employed, although only 25% 
were in full-time regular positions. 57% said they are currently employed in a field related to 
what they studied at KPU and 21% reported having gone on to pursue higher degrees after 
graduating from KPU. Out of the seven alumni who listed specific job titles and the six who named 
their employers, three are working in Japan, one works for the Nikkei National Museum and 
                                                            
1 Although it is outside the range in question, this past year (AY 22/23), we had 10 graduates (5 majors, 5 minors). 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 31 

Cultural Centre, and the other two work in the public sector (City of Burnaby and New 
Westminster Public Library). These alumni work in fields including research, editorial work, 
library sciences, curriculum development, education, and online media creation. Additionally, 
students from the ASIA program have been very successful in applications for the JET Programme 
(which enables them to work in Japan post-graduation) in recent years, despite that programme 
becoming increasingly competitive. 

Alumni’s opinions regarding how well the Asian Studies program prepared them for employment 
in this industry are varied, but largely positive. 55% of respondents “agree that the program 
prepared [them] well for an entry-level job in the industry” (11% “strongly” and 44% 
“somewhat”), 11% “neither agree nor disagree,” and 33% disagree (11% strongly and 22% 
“somewhat”).  

The administrative data report data differed from the data in the alumni survey. As opposed to 
the alumni respondents who all said they were employed at the time of the survey, the 
administrative data showed a 22.2% unemployment rate, which is above the Ministry target of 
18.9%. It is unclear why there is this discrepancy, but this report had a higher number of 
respondents than the same question on the alumni survey (11 versus 8), so it is possible that 
some unemployed alumni chose not to answer that question on the survey. 

Based on the qualitative comments alumni made in the survey, it seems that more experience in 
the community, including workplaces, would be helpful for post-graduation employment. When 
asked to identify the skills and knowledge area(s) that they felt they lacked upon graduation, 
alumni responses included: 

• “legal background” 

• “courses focused more heavily on community engagement and the skills that come along 
with it” 

• “anything related to information-seeking needs for the Asian diaspora within the 
Canadian context” 

• “experience working in an office and other related environments” 

More ASIA students taking part in co-op programs, the ARTS Practicum, and other experiential 
learning opportunities should help address some of these needs.   

In our survey of members of the discipline/sector, half of the respondents had either hosted ASIA 
practicum students, worked with ASIA students on class projects, or worked with KPU ASIA 
alumni. In the comments, one respondent said that their experiences with KPU ASIA students 
and alumni were “very impressive” due to their maturity, professionalism, and “strong desire to 
learn.” Another respondent said that they thought the program prepared students for work “very 
well.” Moreover, all respondents expressed interest in participating in projects that connect ASIA 
students with the industry / sector (63% saying they were “very interested” and 38% choosing 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 32 

“somewhat interested”), so these respondents may include some untapped opportunities that 
we should follow up on. 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 33 

5. Resources, Services, and Facilities 

Does the program have the library and learning resources needed to deliver the curriculum? 

Based on our surveys of current students and ASIA faculty, the library and learning resources 
seem to be meeting our curricular needs fairly well.  

Among current students, the most commonly used library resources are eBooks, online resources 
(including journal articles), and print periodicals, as 100% of respondents report having used 
these. For each of these, most students (57%) were “very satisfied” with the offerings and the 
remainder were mostly “somewhat satisfied.” The next most commonly used offerings were 
print books, used by 86% of respondents, which similarly had no negative feedback. The next 
group of resources were audiovisual / computer equipment, DVDs / streaming video, and library 
orientation, which were each used by 71% of students. In this group, one student responded that 
they were “somewhat dissatisfied” with the availability of audiovisual computer equipment and 
with the DVDs / streaming video. Only a small majority of students (57%) reported having used 
the ASIA-specific library study guides, but the vast majority of those students were satisfied with 
those guides. A minority of students (43%) used librarian support for program-related research, 
but those who did were mostly “very satisfied” with this resource. 

Among faculty, most faculty said that 8 out of 9 types of library resources met the program’s 
needs either “extremely well” or “very well,” with top marks going to online resources, librarian 
support for program-related research, eBooks, and books. There appears to be some 
dissatisfaction with the DVDs / streaming video, which one respondent said was “not at all” 
meeting the program’s needs and had the lowest number of members choosing “extremely well.” 
The least-utilized resource (and the only one that was not used by at least 90% of faculty) was 
the library orientation. 

 

Does the program have the specialized technology needed to deliver the curriculum? 

The faculty seems to largely agree that there is technology available for students to effectively 
complete projects involving mapping, filmmaking, and/or podcasting, as 78% answered positively 
to this question. Based on follow-up emails with faculty, it appears that the 22% who answered 
“no” may have been saying that they would like more accessibility to this technology or training 
in how to access and use the technology with students. 

 

Does the program have the facilities needed to deliver the curriculum? 

The majority of ASIA faculty expressed that they were either “very satisfied” or “somewhat 
satisfied” with the space they had to fulfill their job-related responsibilities. However, two faculty 
members answered that they were dissatisfied with their space (one “somewhat dissatisfied” 
and one “very dissatisfied”). Based on follow-up inquiries, this dissatisfaction appears to be 
related to the downsizing of the ASIA / HIST shared office on the Richmond campus, as well as 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 34 

limited space (for both regular and non-regular faculty) on the Surrey campus. Faculty members 
expressed in private communication that having comfortable working spaces creates a virtuous 
cycle where faculty members use the space and interact with one another, which makes the 
space even more attractive, whereas cramped shared spaces can make our office spaces less 
welcoming and thus less utilized. 

 

Does the program have the other support services needed to deliver the curriculum? 
 
The faculty reported that they were largely satisfied with the support services for teaching but 
expressed some dissatisfaction with some other supports for students and research.  
 
The highest levels of satisfaction were reported for the zero textbook program (which 90% said 
met the program’s needs “extremely” or “very well”) and IT support (80%). Close behind were 
Accessibility Services, the Learning Centres, and Teaching and Learning Commons (all 70%), and 
then Advising Services (60%).  
 
The lowest rated services were the KPU Bookstore (for stocking required texts), Career Services, 
and KPU International. For the Bookstore and Career Services, zero respondents said that they 
met our program’s needs “extremely well,” one respondent said that they did not fulfill our 
program needs “at all,” and 40% of faculty said that they have not used or did not know how 
well they fulfilled the program needs. KPU International appears to be a more divisive issue, as 
two respondents said that it does not fulfill our program needs “at all” whereas 40% said it 
fulfills the program needs “very well” (30%) or “extremely well” (10%). Regarding the 
bookstore, our faculty likely does not engage with them because many of our courses are Zero 
Textbook Cost (ZTC) so we do not need the bookstore to stock required texts. One faculty 
member in private communication said that working with the bookstore was rather frustrating, 
which pushed them towards ZTC. It is unclear what the perceived issue with Career Services 
might be and we should follow up on this, as mentioned in Chapter 6. The issue with KPU 
International appears to be related to the perception that some international students enter 
ASIA courses inadequately prepared for the university classroom. One faculty member wrote 
(in personal communication), “Recruiting students who are unprepared means we deliver 
courses differently, and this is having an impact on our students.” This is something to follow up 
on.  
 
Regarding supports for research, a plurality (40%) said they were “somewhat satisfied,” but 
30% said they were “neither satisfied nor dissatisfied” and another 30% reported being 
“somewhat dissatisfied.” This is likely due to the difficulty in engaging in research due to our 
heavy teaching load.  



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 35 

6. Conclusions and Recommendations 

6.1. Summary of Program’s Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, and Challenges 

Strengths 
 
As outlined in the previous chapters, the program has several key strengths. 
 
The program offers high-quality instruction from qualified, enthusiastic, and caring faculty. This 
is at the heart of why over 90% of respondents on our student and alumni surveys were 
satisfied with their education in the program and why 100% of the ASIA graduates from 2019–
2021 said they thought they received a “quality education.” The faculty members are active in 
their disciplines and have the necessary expertise to deliver the curriculum. The quality of 
instruction, teaching methods, and assessments can be seen in many aspects of the data, 
including the grade distribution, DFW rates, and repeat rates for courses, which all align with or 
are superior to those across the Faculty of Arts. 
 
The program’s interdisciplinary and multidisciplinary design helps ensure that we can offer a 
broad variety of courses and approaches that appeal to students of many different backgrounds 
and help develop varied skills. The courses we offer support our PLOs, although (as addressed 
below) some could be further supported. Our survey of discipline/sector representatives 
indicates that our PLOs address important skills for a variety of workplaces, and our surveys of 
students and alumni indicate that they feel the program by-and-large achieves most of its 
objectives. Moreover, the program helps students acquire most of the essential skills as 
outlined by the Ministry of Education. This study found that the skills acquired the most 
effectively were Writing Clearly and Concisely, Reading and Comprehending Material, Analyzing 
and Thinking Critically, Learning on Your Own, and Developing Multicultural Sensitivity and 
Awareness (which seems to have been since removed from the Ministry’s updated list). 
 
Asian Studies’ cost structure is another strength. When compared to other Arts and KPU 
undergraduate courses, the average ASIA course earns more than twice the average net 
revenue per class. This is due to ASIA courses having higher average numbers of seats filled and 
higher percentages of international students filling those seats.  
 

Weaknesses 
 
One of the current weaknesses of the program is that the experiential component is 
underdeveloped. As it stands, the opportunities for experiential learning are mostly 
concentrated in a few courses, especially the fourth-year courses. This is related to a number of 
issues. For example, two of the three PLOs that are least integrated into our curriculum — #7 
(apply knowledge gained in the Asian Studies program to specific situations in our local 
communities) and #10 (apply the intercultural competencies gained in the Asian Studies 
program to successful careers in public, private, or non-profit sectors) — are related to real-



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 36 

world experience. Adding more experiential learning opportunities throughout the curriculum, 
possibly including revising course learning outcomes to include them, would help ensure that 
these PLOs are adequately introduced, developed, and advanced during the program. 
 
Expanding experiential learning opportunities should also help address a related weakness: 
some graduates from the program feel inadequately prepared to enter the workplace. In some 
cases, this seems to be related to the alumni having graduated prior to some experiential 
opportunities that have been instituted in the program in the last few years (such as our joining 
the ARTS 4800 student practicum) or being unaware of more long-standing opportunities (such 
as KPU’s co-op program), but still more can be done to address this issue. Again, further 
emphasis on PLO #10, the least adequately addressed PLO in the curriculum review, should 
help future graduates feel more prepared for their professional lives. 
 
Many students and alumni feel that we should have more courses and more varied courses, 
including courses that address Southeast Asian nations and more courses that address Korea. 
We also could improve our focus on helping students develop certain essential skills, namely 
Speaking Effectively, Resolving Issues and Problems, and Working Effectively with Others. 
 
Another weakness in our program is that we only have a handful of regular faculty members 
(and only one with a full-time appointment), so there is limited human labour to cover the 
program’s service work.  
 
Finally, there are a few issues on the surveys that could be followed up on by the external 
reviewers. The most important of these issues is that a handful of students “neither agree nor 
disagree” regarding a statement of their emotional and physical safety in our classrooms. It 
would be good to understand this issue better. Some other, less important issues come up in 
the faculty survey questions regarding resources and services discussed in Chapter 5, such as 
why some faculty members are dissatisfied with the learning technology available, with KPU 
International, and Career Services. 
 
Opportunities 
 

We see several opportunities for our program to continue growing in the years ahead to better 
meet the needs of our students, our university, and our community. One of the key opportunities 
we see is in terms of revising our curriculum to better integrate content about Indigenous groups 
and decolonization. As our program was recently awarded a time release to assess our current 
curriculum in regard to Indigenization / decolonization and to work on a plan to strengthen this 
dimension of our curriculum, we anticipate this should grow in the next five years. Another 
opportunity we see is to better address parts of Asia outside of our core areas of China, Japan, 
and India. Our students and our Program Advisory Committee (PAC) have encouraged us to offer 
more courses that address Southeast Asia, Korea, and Muslim Asia. We have also discussed 
collaborating with INDG to create a cross-listed course on Indigenous Asia. While we have made 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 37 

some attempts to recruit qualified faculty in these areas and offer special topics courses in these 
areas in the past, we have not yet successfully integrated them into our core curriculum. 

Another key opportunity is when it comes to teaching methods, especially regarding experiential 
learning and technology. The respondents to our surveys of current students, alumni, and faculty 
all emphasized preferences for more experiential learning opportunities to make the curriculum 
more engaging and better prepare students for employment post-graduation. As mentioned 
above, this would help address our current weakness revealed in our curriculum map and might 
include revising course outlines to include more course learning outcomes related to experiential 
learning, especially in lower-level courses. Regarding technology, we have the opportunity to 
offer more online courses and find ways to make these courses more engaging. Online courses 
can give students more flexibility to take ASIA courses while also pursuing professional 
opportunities outside KPU. We also have the opportunity to integrate technology into our in-
person courses in new ways, including using assessments like digital portfolios, bringing in guest 
lecturers via video conferencing, and collaboratively developing Open Education Resources. 

One final opportunity is the opportunity to continue growing as a program. The administrative 
data report shows that our enrollment growth rate and fill rates are higher than those of the 
Faculty of Arts and KPU as a whole, and also demonstrate unmet demand for our lower-level 
courses. 
 

Challenges 
 
The chief challenge that we face is that we will need more institutional support in order to 
make the most of these opportunities. It is one thing for students, faculty, and the PAC to 
express interest in us expanding our course offerings to include more courses about Southeast 
Asia, but it is another thing to recruit and retain qualified faculty to teach such courses. A 
previous search to add instructors to our Qualified Faculty List (QFL) to potentially teach special 
topics courses on Southeast Asia in the future was unfruitful. A call for a regular faculty position 
would attract much more qualified candidates. The Faculty of Arts has recognized the regular 
demand for ASIA courses, especially the introductory courses, regularly awarding one-time 
additional sections to the program’s educational plan in recent years, and we have had success 
offering courses with cross-listed and non-regular faculty, but recruiting and retaining highly 
qualified faculty on a more sustainable basis requires more institutional support to expand our 
regular faculty lines beyond the current 1.75 FTEs (full-time equivalencies). 
 

6.2. Recommendations 

Curriculum Review 

We recommend a review and revision of some of our course outlines to better align our course 
learning outcomes (CLOs) with our newly created program learning outcomes (PLOs), to integrate 
experiential learning opportunities into the curriculum, and strengthen the focus on some of the 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 38 

essential skills where we are currently less strong. Many course outlines have not been revised 
since they were first accepted and could be better aligned with the direction that our program 
has moved in, including concerns around indigenization and decolonization of the curriculum, as 
well as expanding experiential learning opportunities. We have already received a course time 
release to engage in this work around indigenization and decolonization, but it would also be 
good to pursue a course time release to address the expansion of experiential learning 
opportunities such as field trips, student co-ops, field schools, study abroad, independent study 
options, and collaborative projects such as the COIL program. 

Regarding the essential skills, the skills where we ranked the lowest on our surveys were Speaking 
Effectively, Resolving Issues and Problems, and Working Effectively with Others. Ensuring that 
CLOs contain language around oral communication, problem-solving, and groupwork could help 
address this weakness in the future. 

 

Program Relevance and Student Demand 

We recommend that the number of sections for courses with unmet demand (ASIA 1100 and 
1111) be increased. As ASIA 1100 is being taught with a 40-person enrollment cap and these 
courses tend to have high international student enrollment, this is an opportunity to both solve 
a demand issue and grow the program (and university) revenue. 

We recommend strengthening our connection with community partners and offering more 
opportunities for students to work with other people from outside of the KPU classroom, 
including the experiential learning opportunities described in the prior section. This could include 
following up on recommendations from our survey of the industry / sector, such as more 
communication, networking, events, programs, and projects that engage with community 
partners. If this networking included opportunities to promote the program among high school 
students in the Lower Mainland, this could also help with student recruitment. 

We recommend our faculty make efforts to engage with real-world examples into our classrooms 
that deal with contemporary social issues that affect ordinary Asians and Asian Canadians, as well 
as policy and applied research regarding Asia-Canada relations.  

Finally, we recommend making efforts to promote our social media accounts among our students 
and encouraging students to repost our posts to reach a larger audience, including prospective 
students. 

 

Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery 

Experiential learning opportunities came up here again as one of the major issues, so we would 
like to emphasize our recommendation to pursue a course time release to support expanding 
these opportunities throughout the curriculum, including in lower-level courses. This will help us 
address PLOs #7 and #10, which our students and alumni felt were the PLOs that needed the 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 39 

most attention and help ensure that students receive skills that they need to be successful in the 
post-graduation job market and workplaces. We also recommend that faculty familiarize 
themselves with experiential learning opportunities that are already in place like the co-op 
program and the ARTS 4800 student practicum and make in-class announcements about these 
programs to help ensure that students are aware of these opportunities. 

If we receive sufficient institutional support, we would like to follow up with student and alumni 
recommendations to offer more courses and more varied courses.  

As mentioned in the last section, we recommend faculty try to engage with contemporary social 
issues that matter to students and have real-world connections. 

Given the comments of the student and alumni respondents to our surveys, we recommend that 
faculty use more varied assessment methods, including opportunities for students to develop the 
essential skills of Speaking Effectively, Resolving Issues and Problems, and Working Effectively 
with Others. For example, presentation skills, group projects, and problem-based learning could 
help address these issues.  

We recommend consulting with students, alumni, and Counselling Services to explore ways to 
meet the students’ needs in terms of emotional and physical safety that apply to all our courses. 

 

Resources, Services and Facilities 

We recommend that faculty familiarize themselves with the resources at KPU for students to 
complete projects involving mapping, filmmaking, and/or podcasting. 

We recommend the program exploring how we could improve faculty utilization of resources 
such as library orientation and the library’s Asian Studies study guides, as well as interaction with 
student services such as Career Services. The latter might help address why some students are 
dissatisfied with their preparedness for the post-graduation employment market. 
 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 40 

7. Appendices  

Appendices are provided in separate document. 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Asian Studies  
Program Review 
Self-Study Report 

Appendices 
  



2 
 

 

Table of Contents 
APPENDIX A: CAREER PATHWAYS MAP ............................................................................................ 3 

APPENDIX B: STUDENT SURVEY RESULTS.......................................................................................... 5 

APPENDIX C: ALUMNI SURVEY RESULTS ......................................................................................... 23 

APPENDIX D: PROGRAM CURRICULUM MAP .................................................................................. 45 

APPENDIX E: DISCIPLINE/ SECTOR SURVEY RESULTS ...................................................................... 70 

APPENDIX F: ADMINISTRATIVE DATA REPORT ................................................................................ 78 

APPENDIX G: QUALIFICATIONS AND CURRENCY PROFILE .............................................................. 90 

APPENDIX H: FACULTY SURVEY RESULTS ........................................................................................ 94 
 
 
  



3 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX A: CAREER PATHWAYS MAP



4 
 

 
 

Industry / Sector Career Possibilities Next Steps 
Education: K-12 Classroom Teacher 

Educational Assistant ESL 
Specialist 

PDP or B.Ed. 
EA Certification 
PDP or B.Ed. 

Education: Post-secondary Professor 
Instructor 
Researcher 

MA or PhD (depending on the 
institution and position) 

Law / Policing Lawyer 
Legal Assistant 
Law Enforcement 

LLB or JD 
Paralegal certificate / diploma 
RCMP Academy or Justice 
Institute Police Academy 

Public Administration / 
NGOs 

Director 
Executive Director 
Administrator 
Frontline Staff 
Translator 

Direct entry or further training 
such as MPA or NGO certificate 

Social Services Social Worker 
 
Counselling 
Home Care 
Nursing 

Double major with SOCI or 
SOCI major / ASIA minor 
Graduate degree 
Direct entry 
Nursing degree + ASIA minor 

Business / Marketing Writing / Publishing 
Branding Advertising 
International Trade 
Representative 

Business degree + ASIA major / 
minor or direct entry 
COMM major / ASIA minor 

Museums / Archives Archivist 
Librarian 
Frontline Staff 
Community Programming 

MLIS or MAS 
 
Direct entry 

Self-employment Consultant Direct entry 
Cultural Sector Arts Programming 

Cultural Programming 
Creative Arts 
Filmmaking 

Direct entry 

Journalism Journalist JRNL major / ASIA minor 
 
 
  



5 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX B: STUDENT SURVEY RESULTS



6  

Student Survey Results 
The student survey was sent to 37 Asian Studies students. A total of 10 students responded. The response rate is 
27%. 

 
Note: The data includes open-ended comments. In order to preserve integrity and objectivity, OPA does not do value-judgment 
editing (i.e. we do not fix spelling errors, syntax issues, punctuation, etc.). Comments are included verbatim – with one 
exception: if individuals or courses are named, OPA redacts the name of the instructor or course. This rule applies to whether 
the comment is good, bad or indifferent. 

 
Please use caution when interpreting the results due to small sample size. 

 
 

QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 3: PROGRAM RELEVANCE AND DEMAND 
 

Who takes the program? 
 
 

1 - Which of the following credentials are you working towards at KPU? Please select all 
that apply. 

 
 

# 
 

Answer 
 

Percentage 

1 Bachelor’s degree: Major in Asian Studies 70% 

2 Bachelor’s degree: Minor in Asian Studies 30% 

3 Associate of Arts in Asian Studies 0% 

4 None of the above 0% 

5 Don’t know 0% 
 Total number of respondents 10 

 
2 - How many credits have you completed in Asian Studies program? 

 
 

# 
 

How many credits have you completed in Asian Studies program? 
 

Percentage 

1 Less than 15 credits 0% 

2 Between 15 and 30 credits 30% 

3 Between 31 and 45 credits 20% 

4 More than 45 credits 50% 
 Total number of respondents 10 



7  

Reasons for Taking the Program 
3 - What was your main reason for enrolling in the Asian Studies program? 

 

 
 

 
# 

 
What was your main reason for enrolling in the Asian Studies program? - Selected Choice 

 
Percentage 

1 To prepare for a specific career or job 20% 

2 To improve my job prospects and/or earning potential 20% 

3 To complement my career path with cultural competency 40% 

4 To prepare to transfer to another institution 0% 

5 To qualify for graduate studies 10% 

6 To qualify for the Post-Graduation Work Permit program 0% 

7 Other, please specify 10% 
 Total number of respondents 10 

 

 
Q3_7_TEXT - Other, please specify 

 
Wanted to learn more about Asia as one side of my family is from Japan. I also need a bachelors degree to work in Japan 



8  

4 - How effectively do you think KPU’s Asian Studies program engages with its broader 
community (marketing, Open House, program website, or the like)? 

 

 
Note that “not at all effectively” and “somewhat effectively” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the 
frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all effectively” and “somewhat effectively” categories. 

 
 

# How effectively do you think KPU’s Asian Studies program engages with its broader community (marketing, Open House, 
program website, or the like)? 

 
Percentage 

1 Extremely effectively 0% 

2 Very effectively 20% 

3 Somewhat effectively 60% 

4 Not at all effectively 20% 
 Total number of respondents 10 

 
 

Are the program learning outcomes relevant to the current needs of the discipline/sector? 
 

Program Relevance 
 
 

5 - Thinking of KPU's Asian Studies program as a whole, to what extent do you agree that 
the program’s curriculum is relevant to your career goals? 

 

 
 



9  

 
# Thinking of KPU's Asian Studies program as a whole, to what extent do you agree that the program’s curriculum is 

relevant to your career goals? 

 
Percentage 

1 Strongly disagree 0% 

2 Somewhat disagree 30% 

3 Neither agree nor disagree 20% 

4 Somewhat agree 30% 

5 Strongly agree 20% 
 Total number of respondents 10 

 
 

6 - Overall, how satisfied are you with the curriculum of KPU's Asian Studies program? 
 

 

 
 

# 
 

Overall, how satisfied are you with the curriculum of KPU's Asian Studies program? 
 

Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 0% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 10% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 70% 

5 Very satisfied 20% 
 Total number of respondents 10 

 
7 - Thinking of KPU’s Asian Studies program’s curriculum as a whole, please indicate the 
strengths of the program. 

 
I enjoyed that their was a variety of Asian courses, specifically relating to Japanese culture, available for me to enroll. 
All of my professors have been incredibly knowledgable and passionate. There is also a very big variety of classes to choose from so it gives 

 students more of a customized class record. For example one student may focus more on east Asia rather than south Asia.  
There are a lot of Asian history courses, as well as courses that touches on current and past sociological issues in Asia. 
I think the strength of the program are that we have some teachers who are also teaching at UBC or bigger universities, they also have a 

 bigger focus on contemporary studies, which is quite good.  
The strongest aspect of the Asian Studies program at KPU was the balance between historical and current elements in the lessons. Much of 
this I believe are thanks to the professors who include this in lesson plans. 



10  

8 - Thinking of KPU’s Asian Studies program's curriculum as a whole, please provide 
suggestions you have for improvement. 

 
I wish some Asian Studies courses were more widely available. their are some courses that I had to repeat, and had to wait over a semster 

 to even a year to retake, prolonging my graduation.  
None. 

The program could offer more courses that may help students gain technical skills. 
I feel like there is a big disconnect, especially in representation online for Asian studies majors people don’t really know what it’s about or 
what the values are of people who undertake the program. There is a somewhat big focus on language, but still we don’t offer languages 

 like Korean. There’s also a lot of contemporary studies like more advanced topics that we could be covering.  
The program itself lacks availability for students. Sometimes there would only be around 3 classes available from the 200-400 level classes. I 
also think they would benefit from having a newsletter or some kind of way to promote upcoming classes and their topics. Many classes I 
took during my undergrad were very fun and informative, when talking to other students they had no idea such classes were being offered. 

 

9 - What topics, if any, are missing from the program? 
 

wish more courses about other languages were available. their is a very small pool of language courses that are required in the Asian 
 Studies program, so I would have liked more options in choosing a language to learn.  

topics surrounding East Russia and North Korea. 
The program should offer other Asian languages such as Korean instead of the three choices offered at the moment (Japanese, Punjabi, 

 Chinese).  
I think we don’t have a big offering of Asian studies courses. A lot of them are only offered on certain semesters, and there isn’t a huge 
offering. I feel like there could be a lot more, and they could certainly be a lot more engagement with the community representation both 
online and on social media as well proactive ways for students to get involved with community, and this existing other disciplines within 
KPU, but not so much with an Asian studies discipline. A lot of the opportunities are solely based on study abroad years and there’s nothing 

 really about getting involved in the community or volunteer opportunities specific to Asian Studies majors.  
I think the program would benefit from implementing topics related to pop culture and media. I also think topics on South East Asia would 
be great to add more variety in classes offered. The current issues and rich history would have been something I would be keen to take. 
Further, in the duration of completing my minor, I had only taken one class that touched on the topic of colonization and decolonization. 
These types of topics explored would have created a greater understanding of culture, time and space. 

 

QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 4: EFFECTIVENESS OF INSTRUCTIONAL DELIVERY 
 

Instructional Design and Delivery 

Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the PLOs? 
 
 

10 - Program Learning Outcomes are statements that describe the knowledge and skills 
students will have upon completion of a program. To what extent are the courses you are 
taking for KPU’s Asian Studies program helping you develop each of the following 
learning outcomes? 



11  

Bachelor of Arts, Major in Asian Studies Results 
 

Demonstrate a working knowledge 
of core vocabulary and theoretical 

perspectives in Asian Studies to 
make careful comparisons across 

time, space and culture 
 

Identify key issues in Asian society, 
culture, politics, and history 

through written and oral 
communication 

 

Apply frameworks of ethnicity, gender, 
and class to analyze Asian literature, 

film, and media 

Apply critical thinking and problem- 
solving skills to address the impact of 

colonialism and processes of 
decolonization in Asia and Asian diasporas 

to address real world problems in a way 
that is sensitive both to history and 

competing sets of values 
Analyze how diverse Asian diasporic 

groups interact with globalization and 
transnationalism to improve the 

social, political, economic or cultural 
well-being of communities 

Interpret insider perspectives 
(Indigenous, majority, and minority) 
in Asia or Asian diasporic contexts to 

take informed positions as global 
citizens 

Apply knowledge gained in the 
Asian Studies program to specific 

situations in our local communities 
 

Demonstrate familiarity with one or 
more Asian languages through 

written and oral communication 
 
 

Apply research skills by designing, 
conducting, and presenting research 

 
 

Apply the intercultural 
competencies gained in the Asian 

Studies program to successful 
careers in public, private, or non- 

profit sectors 
 
 
 
 
 

Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the frequency table below 
for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories. 



12  

 

 
# 

 
Question Not 

at all 
A small 
extent 

A moderate 
extent 

A large 
extent 

 
Total 

 
1 

Demonstrate a working knowledge of core vocabulary and theoretical 
perspectives in Asian Studies to make careful comparisons across time, space 

and culture 

 
0% 

 
17% 

 
50% 

 
33% 

 
6 

2 Identify key issues in Asian society, culture, politics, and history through 
written and oral communication 0% 0% 33% 67% 6 

3 Apply frameworks of ethnicity, gender, and class to analyze Asian literature, 
film, and media 0% 0% 33% 67% 6 

 

4 

Apply critical thinking and problem-solving skills to address the impact of 
colonialism and processes of decolonization in Asia and Asian diasporas to 
address real world problems in a way that is sensitive both to history and 

competing sets of values 

 

0% 

 

17% 

 

50% 

 

33% 

 

6 

 
5 

Analyze how diverse Asian diasporic groups interact with globalization and 
transnationalism to improve the social, political, economic or cultural well- 

being of communities 

 
0% 

 
17% 

 
17% 

 
67% 

 
6 

6 
Interpret insider perspectives (Indigenous, majority, and minority) in Asia or 

Asian diasporic contexts to take informed positions as global citizens 0% 0% 50% 50% 6 

7 Apply knowledge gained in the Asian Studies program to specific situations in 
our local communities 17% 17% 33% 33% 6 

8 Demonstrate familiarity with one or more Asian languages through written and 
oral communication 0% 17% 17% 67% 6 

9 Apply research skills by designing, conducting, and presenting research 17% 17% 33% 33% 6 

10 
Apply the intercultural competencies gained in the Asian Studies program to 

successful careers in public, private, or non-profit sectors 33% 17% 17% 33% 6 

 
 

Bachelor of Arts, Minor in Asian Studies Results 
 

Not enough responses to report. 

Associate Degree in Asian Studies Results 

No response. 

 
 

11 - How satisfied are you with the extent KPU’s Asian Studies program is including 
Indigenous content in its curriculum? 

 



13  

 
 

 
# 

 
How satisfied are you with the extent KPU’s Asian Studies program is including Indigenous content in its curriculum? 

 
Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 14% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 43% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 29% 

5 Very satisfied 14% 
 Total number of respondents 7 

12 - Do you have any comments on the program’s efforts in addressing de-colonization 
and Indigenization in the curriculum? 

Like the topics of gender and sexual orientation, de-colonization and indigeneity are important topics to include in classes because they 
 apply to contexts across Asia and at home.  

I think the general tone already for people under taking Asian studies it to address and talk about in both indigenous and decolonization. I 
think that’s already a focus for people who engage in Asian studies especially for those who don’t identify as station. I do feel like our 

 process take a chance and an opportunity really to talk about indigenous issues when they can but it’s not a soul focus of the program.  
I don’t recall going into depth about the topics in any of my classes. That being said, I think both kpu and their students would greatly 
benefit from addressing these topics as there is a dense amount of literature, media, and film which explore issue that is still current. 

 
 

Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the essential skills? 

13 - To what extent are the courses you are taking for KPU’s Asian Studies program 
helping you develop each of the following essential skills? 



14  

 
 

Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the frequency table below 
for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories. 

 
 

# 
 

Question Not at 
all 

A small 
extent 

A moderate 
extent 

A large 
extent 

 
Total 

1 Writing clearly and concisely 0% 14% 14% 71% 7 

2 Speaking effectively 0% 43% 43% 14% 7 

3 Reading and comprehending material (appropriate to your 
field) 0% 0% 29% 71% 7 

4 Working effectively with others 29% 29% 29% 14% 7 

5 Analyzing and thinking critically 0% 14% 29% 57% 7 

6 Resolving issues or other problems 14% 14% 29% 43% 7 

7 Learning on your own 0% 0% 29% 71% 7 

8 Developing multicultural sensitivity and awareness 0% 0% 0% 100% 7 
 
 

Are appropriate work-integrated and/or community-engaged learning opportunities provided to help students 
acquire the learning outcomes? 

14 - To what extent do you agree that you have sufficient opportunities in the program to 
reinforce your learning through practical application of this learning? 



15  

 
 

 
 

# To what extent do you agree that you have sufficient opportunities in the program to reinforce your learning through 
practical application of this learning? 

 
Percentage 

1 Strongly disagree 14% 

2 Somewhat disagree 29% 

3 Neither agree nor disagree 14% 

4 Somewhat agree 43% 

5 Strongly agree 0% 
 Total number of respondents 7 



16  

15 - Were you involved in any of the following work-integrated and/or community- 
engaged learning opportunities? Select all that apply. 

 
 

# 
 

Answer 
 

Percentage 
 

Count 

1 Co-op 0% 0 

2 Work-integrated course project where you reinforce your learning through a practical application relevant to 
industry or a community partner. This includes service learning. 0% 0 

3 Applied research projects 75% 3 

4 Language lab 50% 2 
 Total number of respondents 100% 4 
Note: The last row presents the total number of respondents. The total number of responses for this question is greater than the number of 
respondents. Therefore, the percentage total exceeds 100%. 

 

16 - Indicate the extent the following learning opportunities contributed to your learning. 
 

Not enough responses to report. 
 
 
 

Does the program design ensure students are prepared for subsequent courses? / Are students making satisfactory 
progress in the program? 

17 - Thinking of KPU's Asian Studies program as a whole, please indicate your agreement 
with the following. 

 



17  

 
# 

 
Question Strongly 

disagree 
Somewhat 

disagree 
Neither agree nor 

disagree 
Somewhat 

agree 
Strongly 

agree 

 
Total 

1 
The prerequisites offered prepare me 

for more advanced courses. 0% 0% 43% 43% 14% 7 

2 
I am able to take the prerequisite 

courses when I need them. 0% 43% 0% 57% 0% 7 

3 The range of courses offered each term 
is adequate. 57% 14% 29% 0% 0% 7 

 
 

Does the instruction meet the needs of diverse learners? 
 

18 - Thinking of how the program is delivered, please indicate your agreement with the 
following. 

 



18  

 
# 

 
Question Strongly 

disagree 
Somewhat 

disagree 
Neither agree 

nor disagree 
Somewhat 

agree 
Strongly 

agree 

 
Total 

1 My instructors accommodate my learning 
needs. 0% 0% 0% 14% 86% 7 

2 My instructors present the course materials 
effectively. 0% 0% 14% 14% 71% 7 

3 
My instructors are up-to-date on current 

developments in the discipline/sector. 0% 0% 14% 0% 86% 7 

4 
My instructors are engaging with their 

research expertise and experience. 0% 0% 0% 29% 71% 7 

5 
My instructors ensure students’ emotional 

safety in the learning environment. 0% 0% 29% 0% 71% 7 

6 
My instructors ensure students’ physical 

safety in the learning environment. 0% 0% 29% 0% 71% 7 

 
 

19 - Overall, how satisfied are you with the instruction you have received in KPU's Asian 
Studies program? 

 

 

 
 

# 
 

Overall, how satisfied are you with the instruction you have received in KPU's Asian Studies program? 
 

Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 0% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 14% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 57% 

5 Very satisfied 29% 
 Total number of respondents 7 

 
20 -Thinking of how instruction is delivered across the program as a whole, please 
indicate the strengths of the program instruction. 

The instructors are really kind, flexible and understanding, especially [Instructor Name Redacted] who has made efforts in the way of 
 instruction to accommodate with his student's different circumstances and learning methods.  

I think there’s an obvious gap for things offered online and it’s quite inconsistent like I cannot guarantee with any certainty that I can 
complete a program online as a curriculum is often changing in the course offerings are changing so it’s hard for students to feel any 
security about committing to a particular field because once offered online is constantly changing 



19  

The strengths of the program strongly came from the professors who delivered the lessons. They’re knowledgeable and care deeply about 
what they teach. 

21 - Thinking of how instruction is delivered across the program as a whole, please 
provide suggestions you have for improvement in program instruction. 

More (in-class) instruction on understanding/analyzing modern cultural practices and nuances of the countries/regions studied to prepare 
 for future intercultural interaction  

I think we should offer more courses online and we should offer a bigger mix of hybrid courses without the need to be physically present. 
If courses like language instruction, and other courses can be offered online and I see no reason why other courses aren’t. Also, I think in 
language field, and Asian culture programs we should consider virtual interactive partnerships with other universities like we did with a 
pilot program for Global Skills and really kind of get interactions with other cultures as well as engaging in relevant social issues or research 

 opportunities. There aren’t very many research opportunities in our field, particularly at the BA level.  
I would have loved to see more diversity in the courses offered as well as more courses each semester. 

 
Do the assessment methods allow students to demonstrate the extent to which they have achieved the learning 
outcomes? 

22 - Thinking of how learning is assessed in the program as a whole, indicate your 
agreement with the following. 

 

 

 
# Question Strongly 

disagree 
Somewhat 

disagree 
Neither agree nor 

disagree 
Somewhat 

agree 
Strongly 

agree Total 

1 I receive clear information on how I will 
be evaluated. 0% 0% 0% 43% 57% 7 

2 
The range of assessments lets me 
demonstrate what I have learned. 0% 0% 14% 43% 43% 7 



20  

3 The assessment standards are consistent 
throughout the program. 0% 14% 0% 43% 43% 7 

4 My instructors provide useful feedback. 0% 0% 29% 43% 29% 7 
 

QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 5: RESOURCES, SERVICES AND FACILITIES 
 

Program Resources, Services and Facilities 

Does the program have the library and learning resources needed to deliver the curriculum? 

23 - How satisfied are you with the following library resources as they apply to KPU's 
Asian Studies program? 

 

 

 
 

# 
 

Question 
Have 
not 
used 

Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied 

 
Total 

1 
Availability of audio-visual 
and computer equipment 29% 0% 14% 14% 14% 29% 7 

2 Books 14% 0% 0% 29% 14% 43% 7 
3 eBooks 0% 0% 0% 14% 29% 57% 7 

4 Online resources - journal 
articles, etc. 0% 0% 0% 0% 43% 57% 7 

5 Print periodicals, journals, 
etc. 0% 0% 0% 0% 43% 57% 7 

6 Study guides 43% 0% 0% 14% 29% 14% 7 



21  

7 DVDs/streaming video on 
program-related topics 29% 0% 14% 0% 43% 14% 7 

8 
Librarian support for 

program-related research 57% 0% 0% 0% 14% 29% 7 

9 Library orientation 29% 0% 0% 14% 14% 43% 7 
 

Does the program have the specialized technology needed to deliver the curriculum? 
 

24 - Is the technology available for students to effectively complete projects involving 
mapping, filmmaking, and/or podcasting? 

 
 

# Is the technology available for students to effectively complete projects involving mapping, filmmaking, and/or 
podcasting? 

 
Percentage 

1 Yes 33% 

2 No 67% 
 Total number of respondents 6 

 
Does the program have the facilities needed to deliver the curriculum? 

 
25 - How satisfied are you with the space to meet with faculty (i.e. for appointments during 
office hours)? 

 
 

 
 

# 
 

How satisfied are you with the space to meet with faculty (i.e. for appointments during office hours)? 
 

Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 0% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 14% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 57% 

5 Very satisfied 29% 
 Total number of respondents 7 



22  

Does the program have the support services needed to deliver the curriculum?] 
 

26 - How satisfied are you with the following as they apply to KPU's Asian Studies 
program? 

 

 

 
 

# 
 

Question 
Have not 

used/Don't 
know 

Very 
dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
dissatisfied 

Neither satisfied 
nor dissatisfied 

Somewhat 
satisfied 

Very 
satisfied 

 
Total 

 
1 

Availability of required 
texts at the KPU 

bookstore 

 
29% 

 
0% 

 
14% 

 
0% 

 
14% 

 
43% 

 
7 

2 Zero textbook program 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 100% 7 

3 Advising Services 43% 0% 14% 0% 0% 43% 7 

4 Career Services 57% 0% 0% 14% 0% 29% 7 

5 Accessibility Services 67% 0% 0% 0% 0% 33% 6 

6 Learning Centres 67% 0% 0% 0% 0% 33% 6 

7 KPU International 57% 0% 0% 14% 0% 29% 7 

8 IT Support 67% 0% 0% 0% 17% 17% 6 



23 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX C: ALUMNI SURVEY RESULTS



24  

Alumni Survey Results 
The alumni survey was sent to 59 Asian Studies alumni. A total of 18 alumni responded. The response rate is 31%. 

 
Note: The data includes open-ended comments. In order to preserve integrity and objectivity, OPA does not do value-judgment 
editing (i.e. we do not fix spelling errors, syntax issues, punctuation, etc.). Comments are included verbatim – with one 
exception: if individuals or courses are named, OPA redacts the name of the instructor or course. This rule applies to whether 
the comment is good, bad or indifferent. 

 

1 - What is the highest credential you have earned in KPU’s Asian Studies program? 
 

 
# 

 
What is the highest credential you have earned in KPU’s Asian Studies program? 

 
Percentage 

1 Bachelor of Arts, Major in Asian Studies 50% 

2 Bachelor of Arts, Minor in Asian Studies 33% 

3 Associate of Arts Degree in Asian Studies 17% 
 Total number of respondents 18 

 
2 - When did you complete this credential? 

 
 

# 
 

When did you complete this credential? 
 

Percentage 

1 2022 27% 

2 2021 20% 

3 2020 0% 

4 2019 7% 

5 2018 20% 

6 2017 27% 

7 2016 0% 

8 2015 0% 
 Total number of respondents 15 



25  

3 - How effectively do you think KPU’s Asian Studies program engages with its broader 
community (marketing, Open House, program website, or the like)? 

 

 
Note that “not at all effectively” and “somewhat effectively” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the 
frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all effectively” and “somewhat effectively” categories. 

 
 

# How effectively do you think KPU’s Asian Studies program engages with its broader community (marketing, Open House, 
program website, or the like)? 

 
Percentage 

1 Extremely effectively 12% 

2 Very effectively 29% 

3 Somewhat effectively 41% 

4 Not at all effectively 18% 
 Total number of respondents 17 

 
 

QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 3: PROGRAM RELEVANCE AND DEMAND 
 

Program Relevance 

Are the program learning outcomes relevant to the current needs of the discipline/sector? 
 

4 - Program Learning Outcomes are statements that describe the knowledge and skills 
students will have upon completion of a program. Please indicate how relevant each of 
the following Program Learning Outcomes was to your career goals. 



26  

Bachelor of Arts, Major in Asian Studies Results 
 

Demonstrate a working knowledge of 
core vocabulary and theoretical 

perspectives in Asian Studies to make 
careful comparisons across time, space 

and culture 
 

Identify key issues in Asian society, 
culture, politics, and history through 

written and oral communication 

 
Apply frameworks of ethnicity, gender, 

and class to analyze Asian literature, 
film, and media 

Apply critical thinking and problem-solving 
skills to address the impact of colonialism 

and processes of decolonization in Asia 
and Asian diasporas to address real world 
problems in a way that is sensitive both to 

history and competing sets of values 
 

Analyze how diverse Asian diasporic 
groups interact with globalization and 

transnationalism to improve the 
social, political, economic or cultural 

well-being of communities 

Interpret insider perspectives 
(Indigenous, majority, and minority) in 
Asia or Asian diasporic contexts to take 

informed positions as global citizens 
 

Apply knowledge gained in the Asian 
Studies program to specific situations in 

our local communities 
 

Demonstrate familiarity with one or 
more Asian languages through written 

and oral communication 
 
 

Apply research skills by designing, 
conducting, and presenting research 

 
 

Apply the intercultural competencies 
gained in the Asian Studies program to 
successful careers in public, private, or 

non-profit sectors 
 
 
 
 
 

Note that “not at all” and “slightly relevant” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the frequency table below 
for the percentages for the “not at all relevant” and “slightly relevant” categories. 



27  

 
# 

 
Question Not at all 

relevant 
Slightly 

relevant 
Somewhat 

relevant 
Very 

relevant 

 
Total 

 
1 

Demonstrate a working knowledge of core vocabulary and theoretical 
perspectives in Asian Studies to make careful comparisons across time, 

space and culture 

 
0% 

 
33% 

 
44% 

 
22% 

 
9 

2 Identify key issues in Asian society, culture, politics, and history 
through written and oral communication 0% 11% 22% 67% 9 

3 Apply frameworks of ethnicity, gender, and class to analyze Asian 
literature, film, and media 0% 25% 25% 50% 8 

 

4 

Apply critical thinking and problem-solving skills to address the impact 
of colonialism and processes of decolonization in Asia and Asian 

diasporas to address real world problems in a way that is sensitive both 
to history and competing sets of values 

 

0% 

 

22% 

 

22% 

 

56% 

 

9 

 
5 

Analyze how diverse Asian diasporic groups interact with globalization 
and transnationalism to improve the social, political, economic or 

cultural well-being of communities 

 
0% 

 
33% 

 
22% 

 
44% 

 
9 

 
6 

Interpret insider perspectives (Indigenous, majority, and minority) in 
Asia or Asian diasporic contexts to take informed positions as global 

citizens 

 
0% 

 
33% 

 
33% 

 
33% 

 
9 

7 Apply knowledge gained in the Asian Studies program to specific 
situations in our local communities 0% 56% 11% 33% 9 

8 Demonstrate familiarity with one or more Asian languages through 
written and oral communication 0% 11% 22% 67% 9 

9 Apply research skills by designing, conducting, and presenting research 0% 33% 22% 44% 9 

10 
Apply the intercultural competencies gained in the Asian Studies 

program to successful careers in public, private, or non-profit sectors 11% 11% 11% 67% 9 



28  

Bachelor of Arts, Minor in Asian Studies Results 
 

Demonstrate a working 
knowledge of core vocabulary and 

theoretical perspectives in Asian 
Studies to make careful 

comparisons across time, space 
 

Identify key issues in Asian 
society, culture, politics, and 

history through written and oral 
communication 

 

Apply frameworks of ethnicity, 
gender, and class to analyze 

Asian literature, film, and media 

Apply critical thinking and problem- 
solving skills to address the impact 

of colonialism and processes of 
decolonization in Asia and Asian 
diasporas to address real world 

problems in a way that is sensitive 
both to history and competing sets 

Analyze how diverse Asian diasporic 
groups interact with globalization 
and transnationalism to improve 
the social, political, economic or 
cultural well-being of communities 

Interpret insider perspectives 
(Indigenous, majority, and 

minority) in Asia or Asian diasporic 
contexts to take informed 
positions as global citizens 

 

Apply research skills by designing, 
conducting, and presenting 

research 

 
Apply the intercultural 

competencies gained in the Asian 
Studies program to successful 

careers in public, private, or non- 
profit sectors 

 
 
 
 

Note that “not at all” and “slightly relevant” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the frequency table below 
for the percentages for the “not at all relevant” and “slightly relevant” categories. 



29  

 
# 

 
Question Not at all 

relevant 
Slightly 

relevant 
Somewhat 

relevant 
Very 

relevant 

 
Total 

 
1 

Demonstrate a working knowledge of core vocabulary and theoretical 
perspectives in Asian Studies to make careful comparisons across time, 

space and culture 

 
0% 

 
33% 

 
50% 

 
17% 

 
6 

2 Identify key issues in Asian society, culture, politics, and history through 
written and oral communication 0% 0% 17% 83% 6 

3 Apply frameworks of ethnicity, gender, and class to analyze Asian 
literature, film, and media 0% 0% 33% 67% 6 

 

4 

Apply critical thinking and problem-solving skills to address the impact 
of colonialism and processes of decolonization in Asia and Asian 

diasporas to address real world problems in a way that is sensitive both 
to history and competing sets of values 

 

0% 

 

17% 

 

50% 

 

33% 

 

6 

 
5 

Analyze how diverse Asian diasporic groups interact with globalization 
and transnationalism to improve the social, political, economic or 

cultural well-being of communities 

 
0% 

 
0% 

 
50% 

 
50% 

 
6 

 
6 

Interpret insider perspectives (Indigenous, majority, and minority) in 
Asia or Asian diasporic contexts to take informed positions as global 

citizens 

 
0% 

 
17% 

 
17% 

 
67% 

 
6 

7 Apply research skills by designing, conducting, and presenting research 0% 33% 17% 50% 6 

8 
Apply the intercultural competencies gained in the Asian Studies 

program to successful careers in public, private, or non-profit sectors 17% 17% 17% 50% 6 

 
 

Associate Degree in Asian Studies Results 
 

Not enough responses to report. 
 
 
 

5 - How satisfied are you with the extent KPU’s Asian Studies program is including 
Indigenous content in its curriculum? 

 

 

 
 

# 
 

How satisfied are you with the extent KPU’s Asian Studies program is including Indigenous content in its curriculum? 
 

Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 7% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 7% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 43% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 21% 

5 Very satisfied 21% 
 Total number of respondents 14 



30  

6 - The program curriculum is the academic content taught in a specific program. Overall, 
how satisfied are you with the curriculum of KPU's Asian Studies program? 

 

 

 
 

# The program curriculum is the academic content taught in a specific program. Overall, how satisfied are you with the 
curriculum of KPU's Asian Studies program? 

 
Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 6% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 6% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 6% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 44% 

5 Very satisfied 39% 
 Total number of respondents 18 

 
7 - Thinking of KPU’s Asian Studies program's curriculum as a whole, please indicate the 
strengths of the program. 

 
[Instructor Name Redacted] 

I didn't have much opportunity because I believe I was the first or second year the program started 

Useless for getting a job. 
Interesting topics, especially relating to Punjabi and Chinese/Japanese culture, very relevant if living in Metro Vancouver or working 

 alongside these groups  
Broad range of topics 

I think a number of the professors show that they care about students and their success in the program. 
- There were opportunities to learn about current trends such as pop culture, in addition to the more traditional history and anthropology. 
- I had the opportunity to go on small 'field trips' and participate in workshops in the local community. - When possible, instructors taught 
very interesting classes about more obscure or specific subtopics. 
It's been a while since I completed the program but I really enjoyed the opportunity to travel abroad to learn mandarin. That was an 
amazing experience 
The program is well-rounded with relevant courses and informed instructors. The instructors are, for the most part, invested in their 
students' success and make good efforts in preparing them for their future. 

KPU offers great professors and quality courses for much better prices. 

Very interesting niche topics available to study. 
My professors were knowledgeable and passionate. They inspired my interest for Asian Studies by placing the information in relevant 
context. I credit [Instructor Names Redacted] for their work in making the Asian Studies program what it was while I attended KPU. 
There is a wide variety of options for people wanting to learn about specific sections of Asia or those looking for a wider view 



31  

8 - Thinking of KPU’s Asian Studies program's curriculum as a whole, please provide any 
suggestions you have for improvement. 

 
Useless for getting a job 
More diverse topics, more engagement with the community. I graduated in 2015, which was a very long time ago, so difficult to talk about 
improvements 

It would be good to have more course availability, especially for 4th year seminars that are mandatory for graduation. 

I think the Asian Studies curriculum needs to incorporate more Korean and South East Asian courses. 

- The curriculum felt quite limited to topics about Japan/China/India. 
With respect to gender-based courses, it would be good to see more focus on LGBTQ2+ issues as that is most definitely a relevant topic for 
today's political climate. Specifically, more focus on two-spirit, Transgender and nonbinary folks rather than the typical binary history. This 
was quite glossed over in the two gender courses I took (Gender in South Asia and Gender in East Asia). This may well have happened in the 
years since I left - if it has, then kudos! 
The only limiting factor is the variety of courses, if you did not focus on South Asia or China for at least half of your Asian Studies credits, 
you would be extremely limited in choices. 
I was really not happy to have all Mandarin speakers in Mandarin courses. I think it should have some strict regulation to get no Chinese 
students in class. 

More content/classes about the Korea’s and South East Asia (Vietnam, Philippines, Malaysia etc.) 

I believe the Asian Studies program would benefit from more courses that include excursions relevant to the subject matter. 

 

9 - What topics, if any, were missing from the program? 
 

A way to get a job 
Topics relating to the broader Asian continent, like Korea, Phillipines, etc. It is heavily focused on China, Japan, and India which is 
understandable due to the communities here, but we do also have large Korean, Persian and Filipino communities that weren't very well 
represented in the program. 
Topics about the Koreas and Southeast Asia were scarce. 

I'd like to have seen more classes involving Korea and South East Asia. 

- nothing about Korean language, history, or culture in the East Asia stream - no South Asian countries other than India were represented 

More focus on Indigenous groups and efforts of Reconciliation in Asia and within the Asian diaspora would be great! 

Korean history/culture, Southeast Asian history/culture 

During my time in the program I would’ve liked to learn more about the Vietnam war, Korean War, colonialism in the Philippines. 
Courses specific to learning more about East Asian, South East Asian, and South Asian diasporic communities living in B.C. or across Canada. 
Japanese Canadian, Filipino Canadian, Vietnamese Canadian, Malaysian Canadian, Indonesian Canadian and/or others. 

QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 4: EFFECTIVENESS OF INSTRUCTIONAL DELIVERY 
 

Instructional Design and Delivery 

Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the PLOs? 



32  

10 - To what extent did KPU’s Asian Studies program help you develop each of the 
following Program Learning Outcomes? 

Bachelor of Arts, Major in Asian Studies Results 
 

Demonstrate a working knowledge of 
core vocabulary and theoretical 

perspectives in Asian Studies to make 
careful comparisons across time, space 

and culture 
 

Identify key issues in Asian society, 
culture, politics, and history through 

written and oral communication 

 
Apply frameworks of ethnicity, 

gender, and class to analyze Asian 
literature, film, and media 

Apply critical thinking and problem-solving 
skills to address the impact of colonialism 

and processes of decolonization in Asia and 
Asian diasporas to address real world 

problems in a way that is sensitive both to 
history and competing sets of values 

 

Analyze how diverse Asian diasporic 
groups interact with globalization and 

transnationalism to improve the social, 
political, economic or cultural well- 

being of communities 

Interpret insider perspectives 
(Indigenous, majority, and minority) in 
Asia or Asian diasporic contexts to take 

informed positions as global citizens 
 

Apply knowledge gained in the Asian 
Studies program to specific situations 

in our local communities 
 

Demonstrate familiarity with one or 
more Asian languages through written 

and oral communication 
 
 

Apply research skills by designing, 
conducting, and presenting research 

 
 

Apply the intercultural competencies 
gained in the Asian Studies program to 
successful careers in public, private, or 

non-profit sectors 
 
 
 
 
 

Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the frequency table below 
for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories. 



33  

 
# 

 
Question Not 

at all 
A small 
extent 

A moderate 
extent 

A large 
extent 

 
Total 

 
1 

Demonstrate a working knowledge of core vocabulary and theoretical 
perspectives in Asian Studies to make careful comparisons across time, space 

and culture 

 
0% 

 
14% 

 
29% 

 
57% 

 
7 

2 Identify key issues in Asian society, culture, politics, and history through 
written and oral communication 0% 0% 14% 86% 7 

3 Apply frameworks of ethnicity, gender, and class to analyze Asian literature, 
film, and media 0% 0% 14% 86% 7 

 

4 

Apply critical thinking and problem-solving skills to address the impact of 
colonialism and processes of decolonization in Asia and Asian diasporas to 
address real world problems in a way that is sensitive both to history and 

competing sets of values 

 

0% 

 

0% 

 

43% 

 

57% 

 

7 

 
5 

Analyze how diverse Asian diasporic groups interact with globalization and 
transnationalism to improve the social, political, economic or cultural well- 

being of communities 

 
0% 

 
14% 

 
43% 

 
43% 

 
7 

6 
Interpret insider perspectives (Indigenous, majority, and minority) in Asia or 

Asian diasporic contexts to take informed positions as global citizens 0% 14% 43% 43% 7 

7 Apply knowledge gained in the Asian Studies program to specific situations in 
our local communities 14% 14% 0% 71% 7 

8 Demonstrate familiarity with one or more Asian languages through written and 
oral communication 0% 14% 29% 57% 7 

9 Apply research skills by designing, conducting, and presenting research 0% 0% 29% 71% 7 

10 
Apply the intercultural competencies gained in the Asian Studies program to 

successful careers in public, private, or non-profit sectors 0% 29% 14% 57% 7 



34  

Bachelor of Arts, Minor in Asian Studies Results 
 

Demonstrate a working knowledge 
of core vocabulary and theoretical 

perspectives in Asian Studies to 
make careful comparisons across 

time, space and culture 
 

Identify key issues in Asian society, 
culture, politics, and history 

through written and oral 
communication 

 

Apply frameworks of ethnicity, 
gender, and class to analyze Asian 

literature, film, and media 

Apply critical thinking and problem- 
solving skills to address the impact of 

colonialism and processes of 
decolonization in Asia and Asian 
diasporas to address real world 

problems in a way that is sensitive both 
to history and competing sets of values 

Analyze how diverse Asian diasporic 
groups interact with globalization and 

transnationalism to improve the social, 
political, economic or cultural well- 

being of communities 

Interpret insider perspectives 
(Indigenous, majority, and minority) 
in Asia or Asian diasporic contexts to 

take informed positions as global 
citizens 

 

Apply research skills by designing, 
conducting, and presenting research 

 
 

Apply the intercultural competencies 
gained in the Asian Studies program 

to successful careers in public, 
private, or non-profit sectors 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the frequency table below 
for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories. 



35  

 
# 

 
Question Not 

at all 
A small 
extent 

A moderate 
extent 

A large 
extent 

 
Total 

 
1 

Demonstrate a working knowledge of core vocabulary and theoretical 
perspectives in Asian Studies to make careful comparisons across time, space 

and culture 

 
0% 

 
0% 

 
40% 

 
60% 

 
5 

2 Identify key issues in Asian society, culture, politics, and history through written 
and oral communication 0% 0% 20% 80% 5 

3 Apply frameworks of ethnicity, gender, and class to analyze Asian literature, 
film, and media 0% 20% 20% 60% 5 

 

4 

Apply critical thinking and problem-solving skills to address the impact of 
colonialism and processes of decolonization in Asia and Asian diasporas to 
address real world problems in a way that is sensitive both to history and 

competing sets of values 

 

0% 

 

40% 

 

20% 

 

40% 

 

5 

 
5 

Analyze how diverse Asian diasporic groups interact with globalization and 
transnationalism to improve the social, political, economic or cultural well-being 

of communities 

 
0% 

 
20% 

 
20% 

 
60% 

 
5 

6 
Interpret insider perspectives (Indigenous, majority, and minority) in Asia or 

Asian diasporic contexts to take informed positions as global citizens 0% 20% 20% 60% 5 

7 Apply research skills by designing, conducting, and presenting research 0% 0% 20% 80% 5 

8 
Apply the intercultural competencies gained in the Asian Studies program to 

successful careers in public, private, or non-profit sectors 20% 0% 0% 80% 5 

 
 

Associate Degree in Asian Studies Results 
 

Not enough responses to report. 



36  

Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the essential skills? 

11 - To what extent did KPU’s Asian Studies program help you develop each of the 
following essential skills? 

 

 
Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the frequency table below 
for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories. 

 
 

# 
 

Question Not at 
all 

A small 
extent 

A moderate 
extent 

A large 
extent 

 
Total 

1 Writing clearly and concisely 0% 7% 47% 47% 15 

2 Speaking effectively 0% 33% 33% 33% 15 

3 Reading and comprehending material (appropriate to your 
field) 0% 0% 27% 73% 15 

4 Working effectively with others 13% 20% 40% 27% 15 

5 Analyzing and thinking critically 0% 0% 33% 67% 15 

6 Resolving issues or other problems 13% 20% 33% 33% 15 

7 Learning on your own 0% 7% 47% 47% 15 

8 Developing multicultural sensitivity and awareness 0% 7% 20% 73% 15 



37  

Are appropriate work-integrated and/or community-engaged learning opportunities provided to help students 
acquire the learning outcomes? 

12 - To what extent do you agree that you had sufficient opportunities in the program to 
reinforce your learning through practical application of this learning? 

 

 

 
 

# To what extent do you agree that you had sufficient opportunities in the program to reinforce your learning through 
practical application of this learning? 

 
Percentage 

1 Strongly disagree 0% 

2 Somewhat disagree 0% 

3 Neither agree nor disagree 13% 

4 Somewhat agree 60% 

5 Strongly agree 27% 
 Total number of respondents 15 

 
13 - Were you involved in any of the following work-integrated and/or community- 
engaged learning opportunities? Select all that apply. 

 
 

# 
 

Answer 
 

Percentage 
 

Count 

1 Co-op 10% 1 

2 
Work-integrated course project where you reinforce your learning through a practical 
application relevant to industry or a community partner. This includes service learning 10% 1 

3 Applied research projects 60% 6 

4 Language lab 60% 6 
  Total number of 

respondents 10 

Note: The last row presents the total number of respondents. The total number of responses for this question is greater than the number of 
respondents. Therefore, the percentage total exceeds 100%. 



38  

14 - Indicate the extent the work-integrated and/or community-engaged learning 
opportunities contributed to your learning 

 
 

# 
 

Question Not 
at all 

A small 
extent 

A moderate 
extent 

A large 
extent 

 
Total 

1 Co-op  
 

Not enough responses to report  
2 

Work-integrated course project where you reinforce your learning through a 
practical application relevant to industry or a community partner. This 

includes service learning 

3 Applied research projects 0% 0% 50% 50% 6 

4 Language lab 0% 17% 17% 67% 6 

 
Does the program design ensure students are prepared for subsequent courses?/Are students making satisfactory 
progress in the program? 

15 - Thinking of KPU's Asian Studies program as a whole, please indicate your agreement 
with the following. 

 

 
 

 
 

# 
 

Question Strongly 
disagree 

Somewhat 
disagree 

Neither agree nor 
disagree 

Somewhat 
agree 

Strongly 
agree 

 
Total 

1 
The prerequisites offered prepared me 

for more advanced courses. 0% 0% 14% 57% 29% 14 

2 
I was able to take the prerequisite 

courses when I needed them. 7% 14% 21% 7% 50% 14 

3 The range of courses offered each term 
was adequate. 21% 0% 14% 36% 29% 14 



39  

Does the instruction meet the needs of diverse learners? 

16 - Overall, how satisfied are you with the instruction you have received in KPU's Asian 
Studies program? 

 

 

 
 

# 
 

Overall, how satisfied are you with the instruction you have received in KPU's Asian Studies program? 
 

Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 7% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 0% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 0% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 29% 

5 Very satisfied 64% 
 Total number of respondents 14 

 
17 - Thinking of how instruction is delivered across the program as a whole, please 
indicate the strengths of the program instruction. 

 
They we’re excited to teach the courses. 

The course by [Instructor Name Redacted] were good, but not enough to make the program good. 
The instructors are very knowledgeable and passionate about what they teach which makes a huge difference. They are also interested in 

 student perspectives and willing to engage in discussion.  
Professors (specifically for East Asia courses) were approachable and helpful. They offered a lot of support to students who sought it, and 

 they gave me a lot of insights into my 3rd and 4th year papers during office hours.  
I liked that most professors took time to explain what they wanted from students, and usually gave support and encouragement. 
- Instructors were very passionate, enthusiastic, and knowledgeable about their fields. - There was a decent variety of more general 

 knowledge classes and more specific subtopics.  
Very knowledgeable professors 

Professors that had a history teaching at multiple schools in the area, who were clearly passionate about the classes they taught. 



40  

18 - Thinking of how instruction is delivered across the program as a whole, please 
provide any suggestions you have for improvement in program instruction. 

 
 More variety in courses  

The courses were useless or not shown how they would be useful in a job. Might as well have been a history program on Asia. The language 
portion of the program was heavily underfunded, and I was never able to attend the 4000s for Japanese. Instructors also were not 

 proactive in suggesting alternatives such as attending at a different instituion to fulfill credits.  
Maybe more instructors, since when I was in the program in 2015, I mainly remember [Instructor Names Redacted] since I took the most 
classes with them and I think they offered the most classes. [Instructor Name Redacted] was the only instructor teaching Punjabi. Maybe it 

 has changed since then but based on what I remember, I think more faculty (and therefore more perspectives) would be good.  
I think in some classes, if improvement was needed on my part, some professors would give feedback in a negative way, or wouldn't give 

 feedback at all.  
during the period of online course delivery, there were a couple instructors that would impose large amounts of material to learn on our 

 own, with very little content or interaction of value in the class time.  
More availability for requisite 4th-year classes! I had to reconfigure my whole schedule around one class, only taught by one instructor 

 once a year. If I hadn't done that, I would've had to delay my graduation by at least a year or two.  
 Too many power point presentations. Maybe try to find more creative and interactive ways of teaching the content  

More departmental work-learn and independent study options for graduating students would allow them the opportunity to engage with 
topics and work experience relevant to their field without having to resort to co-op terms. Not every student has the ability to extend their 
program indefinitely (family commitments, visas) so work-learn and independent coursework are great opportunities for growth. I was 
privileged to have worked with both [Instructor Names Redacted] in my final year, and the personal and professional growth I experienced 
working with them directly influenced both my success in graduate school (completed at UBC in 2021) and within my chosen field, where I 

 secured employment within weeks of graduating.  
Simply put, more instructors and more classes. 

 

Do the assessment methods allow students to demonstrate to what extent they have achieved the learning 
outcomes? 

19 - Thinking of how learning is assessed in the program as a whole, indicate your 
agreement with the following. 

 

 



41  

 
# 

 
Question Strongly 

disagree 
Somewhat 

disagree 
Neither agree nor 

disagree 
Somewhat 

agree 
Strongly 

agree 

 
Total 

1 I received clear information on how I 
would be evaluated. 0% 0% 0% 21% 79% 14 

2 
The range of assessments let me 
demonstrate what I had learned. 0% 0% 0% 57% 43% 14 

3 
The assessment standards were 

consistent throughout the program. 7% 0% 0% 43% 50% 14 

4 My instructors provided useful feedback. 0% 0% 7% 36% 57% 14 
 
 

Are graduates of the program successful? 

Further Education 
 

20 - Have you pursued further education since completing KPU’s Asian Studies program? 
 

 
# 

 
Have you pursued further education since completing KPU’s Asian Studies program? 

 
Percentage 

1 Yes 21% 

2 No 79% 
 Total number of respondents 14 

 
21 - Please list the name of the program and the institution where you enrolled after 
completing KPU’s Asian Studies program. 

 
Douglas collage post bachelor diploma 

University of British Columbia, Simon Fraser University, University of Victoria 

Master of Library and Information Science, University of British Columbia 

 

22 - What is the highest credential you have earned or are currently pursuing since 
completing KPU’s Asian Studies program? 

Not enough responses to report. 
 

23 - To what extent do you agree that the KPU’s Asian Studies program prepared you well 
for further education? 

Not enough responses to report. 



42  

Employment 
 

24 - Are you currently employed in a field related to what you studied at KPU? 
 

 
# 

 
Are you currently employed in a field related to what you studied at KPU? 

 
Percentage 

1 Yes 57% 

2 No 43% 
 Total number of respondents 14 

 
25 - Were you previously employed in a field related to what you studied at KPU? 

 
 

# 
 

Were you previously employed in a field related to what you studied at KPU? 
 

Percentage 

1 Yes 17% 

2 No 83% 
 Total number of respondents 6 

 
26 - Which of the following best describes your current employment situation? 

 
 

# 
 

Which of the following best describes your current employment situation? 
 

Percentage 

1 In a full-time regular position 25% 

2 In a part-time regular position 25% 

3 In a contract position 38% 

4 In a casual or temporary position 13% 
 Total number of respondents 8 

 
27 - What is your position/role/job title? 

 
Researcher 

Curriculum developer 

English instructor in Japan 

Librarian 

Proofreader/言語品質担当者・校正者 

Daycare assistant and online media creator for international school in Japan 

Museum Assistant Intern 



43  

28 - Could you specify the organization where you are currently employed? This 
information will help us better determine KPU graduates’ career trajectories. 

 
City of Burnaby 

Yarukiswitch Group (Japan) 

New Westminster Public Library 

KINSHA 

KinderKids international school Japan 

Nikkei National Museum & Cultural Centre 

 

29 - Which of the following best describes your previous employment situation? 
 

Not enough responses to report. 
 

30 - What was your position/role/job title? 
 

Not enough responses to report. 
 
 
31 - Based on your experience since graduating, to what extent do you agree that the 
program prepared you well for an entry-level job in the industry? 

 

 

 
 

# Based on your experience since graduating, to what extent do you agree that the program prepared you well for an 
entry-level job in the industry? 

 
Percentage 

1 Strongly disagree 11% 

2 Somewhat disagree 22% 

3 Neither agree nor disagree 11% 

4 Somewhat agree 44% 

5 Strongly agree 11% 

 Total 9 



44  

32 - Please identify the skills/knowledge area(s) you felt were missing for an entry-level 
job in your industry. 

 
Legal background 
Just skills. We had one course where we interviewed the public for a research project which was great, but courses focused more heavily 

 on community engagement and the skills that come along with it would be better  
Libraries utilize a very broad set of skills, but anything related to information-seeking needs for the Asian diaspora within the Canadian 

 context would be relevant across a number of fields (marketing, etc)  
Mt first level-entry job was an internship with the National Philippine Parliamentary Internship Program. I was Parliametnary Assistant for 
Member of Parliament Brad Vis, and was involved in speech writing, drafting correspondence, and other verbal presentations. The skills I 
lacked for this job mostly pertained to lack of experience working in an office and other related environments. 

 
 

Does the program have the connections to the discipline/sector to remain current?] 
 

Alumni Connections 
 

33 - Please indicate the extent you agree with the following statements. 
 

 

 
 

# 
 

Question Strongly 
disagree 

Somewhat 
disagree 

Neither agree 
nor disagree 

Somewhat 
agree 

Strongly 
agree 

 
Total 

1 
The program provided me with opportunities to develop 

connections with industry/potential employers. 14% 21% 21% 21% 21% 14 

2 I am provided with opportunities to stay connected to 
the Asian Studies program? 21% 0% 29% 21% 29% 14 

34 - What can the program do to build better connections with alumni? 
 

Not sure 
USELESS program for getting a job. There are no Co-ops, or any help in getting a job. At most what was mentioned was the JET program, 

 but nobody actually thinks JET is good for getting a job. You are just an English foreigner monkey that gets sent to the boonies.  
I never hear about the Asian Studies program, aside from this survey. There are no newsletters or events I have ever seen or been made 

 aware of.  
Since Asian Studies is a program that is difficult to get work in that is directly related to the program, I think it'd would be nice if there was 

 some way alumni and current student's could learn about opportunities that are related to our program.  
I think more opportunities to "give back" through mentorship or through speaking with prospective students would be lovely! Attach a face 

 to the experience for those hoping to make KPU their "home"  
A monthly newsletter with news from the program or opportunities to get more involved. 



45  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX D: PROGRAM CURRICULUM MAP



46  

APPENDIX B - PROGRAM CURRICULUM MAP – BA Major in Asian Studies           

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

 
BA MAJOR: PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 
 
 
 
 

Demonstrate a working 
knowledge of core 

vocabulary and theoretical 
perspectives in Asian Studies 
to make careful comparisons 

across time, space and 
culture 

 
 
 
 
 

Identify key issues in 
Asian society, culture, 

politics, and history 
through written and 
oral communication 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply frameworks of 
ethnicity, gender, and 
class to analyze Asian 
literature, film, and 

media 

 
 
 
 
Apply critical thinking and problem- 
solving skills to address the impact 

of colonialism and processes of 
decolonization in Asia and Asian 
diasporas to address real world 

problems in a way that is sensitive 
both to history and competing sets 

of values 

 
 
 
 

Analyze how diverse Asian 
diasporic groups interact 

with globalization and 
transnationalism to improve 

the social, political, 
economic or cultural well- 

being of communities 

 
 
 
 
 

Interpret insider 
perspectives (Indigenous, 
majority, and minority) in 

Asia or Asian diasporic 
contexts to take informed 
positions as global citizens 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply knowledge 
gained in the Asian 
Studies program to 

specific situations in 
our local communities 

 
 
 
 
 

Demonstrate 
familiarity with one or 
more Asian languages 
through written and 
oral communication 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Apply research skills by 
designing, conducting, 
and presenting research 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply the intercultural 
competencies gained in the 
Asian Studies program to 

successful careers in public, 
private, or non-profit 

sectors 

For each CLO, the PLO(s) it satisfies are indicated, and at which level. The three levels are: 
Introduced [I]: Course learning outcomes that concentrate on knowledge or skills related to the program outcomes at a basic level or skills at an entry-level of complexity. 
Developing [D]: Course level outcomes that demonstrate learning at an increasing level of proficiency of the program level outcome as well expanding complexity. 
Advanced [A]: Course level outcomes that demonstrate learning related to the program level outcome with an increasing level of independence, expertise and sophistication or integrate the use of content or skills in multiple levels of complexity. 
Select 18 credits of lower-level ASIA courses, with at least 12 of these credits at the 2000 level           

ASIA 1100: Introducing Asia           

Identify and utilize differing approaches to the study of the Asian continent Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced   Introduced  

Identify and analyze Western perceptions of Asia in both popular culture and academic scholarship           

Analyze the lasting impacts of colonial and neocolonial control throughout Asia Introduced Introduced  Introduced Introduced    Introduced  

Analyze sources for bias, reliability, and validity Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced   Introduced  

Employ comparative perspectives to evaluate information and detect cultural cues Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced   Introduced  

Use information effectively and appropriately in written work and oral discussions Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced     Introduced  

Develop a signature assignment for use in a developmental portfolio Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced   Introduced  

Access information efficiently and effectively from a variety of media sources Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced   Introduced  

ASIA 1111: The Religions of India          

Describe the difference between the theological and phenomenological study of religion Introduced     Introduced     

Apply basic paradigms used in the study of religion Introduced          

 
State the basic tenets of the four religions (Hinduism, Buddhism, Jainism, Sikhism) 

  
Introduced 

 
Introduced 

      

Describe the evolution of the four Indian religions (Hinduism, Buddhism, Jainism, Sikhism)  Introduced  Introduced  Introduced     

Examine religions within their socio-cultural and historical contexts  Introduced  Introduced       

Read and analyze scriptural sources   Introduced        

Employ comparative and analytical skills in the assignments and in class discussions  Introduced         

ASIA 1311: Religions of East Asia           

Identify and explain the main characteristics of the major religions of East Asia Introduced Introduced Introduced        

 
Analyze the evolution of these religions over time, and identify the factors that influenced changes in doctrine and practices 

  
Introduced 

 
Introduced 

 
Introduced 

 
Introduced 

     

Identify and explain the relationship between religion and the state in pre-modern and modern East Asia Introduced Introduced  Introduced  Introduced     

Evaluate the influence of these religions on the formation of Chinese, Korean, and Japanese societies and cultures Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced  Introduced     

Apply research techniques to analyze specific issues in the study of East Asian religions Introduced Introduced       Introduced  

ASIA 2120: Introduction to Chinese and Japanese Cinema           

Explain the origins and development of Chinese and Japanese cinema Introduced          

Identify the main schools of cinematography in China and Japan Introduced          

Identify the major directors of cinematography in China and Japan Introduced Introduced Introduced        

Viewing films critically with attention to mise-en-scene, cinematography, editing, and sound Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced     

Evaluate the influence and meaning of East Asian cinema in China and Japan in the areas of culture politics, economics and 
history Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing  

Introduced 
    

Explain the influence of gender and ethnicity in East Asian cinema Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Introduced     

Analyze historiographical debates over the evolution of East Asian cinema and its main themes Introduced Introduced  Introduced Introduced      

Apply research and critical thinking skills to specific social and political problems related to East Asian cinema Introduced Developing  Introduced Introduced Introduced     

ASIA 2156: Martial Arts of China and Japan           

Explain the historical origins of martial arts in China and Japan Introduced Introduced Introduced Developing  Developing   Introduced  

Identify the main schools of martial arts in China and Japan Introduced Introduced         

Explain the relationship between martial arts, class, and gender in China and Japan Introduced Introduced Introduced        

Explain the relationship between martial arts practitioners and state power in both traditional and modern East Asia Introduced Introduced Developing Introduced     Introduced  

 
Apply research and critical thinking skills to specific social and political issues involving the role of martial arts in China and Japan Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing  

Introduced 
   

Introduced 
 

Explain the influence of martial arts on non-Asian perceptions of Chinese and Japanese culture Introduced Developing  Introduced Introduced      

Explain the influence of Chinese and Japanese martial arts on cinema, television, and print media outside of East Asia Developing Developing Developing Developing Introduced Introduced     

ASIA 2210: Happiness and Wellbeing in Indian Religions           

Explain the concepts of wellness, wellbeing and happiness           

Identify and explain the Hindu, Buddhist, and Sikh perspectives on wellbeing and happiness Introduced Developing         

Analyze major Indic wellness practices Developing Developing    Developing     

 
Critically evaluate the overlap of Indic perspectives on wellbeing and popular concepts & themes found in Western thought 

   
Developing Developing  

Developing 
    

Examine the influence on, and diffusion of, Indic religious practices in the global context    Developing Developing Developing     

Use information effectively and appropriately in written work and oral discussions  Developing         

Apply research to the analysis of Indic wellness practices or the constituents of happiness in Indic religions         Introduced  

ASIA 2240: Sikh Gurus: Life and Teachings           

Identify and utilize differing approaches to religious literature Developing          

Analyze sources for bias, reliability, and validity Developing          

Delineate key religious and philosophical concepts in Sikh texts  Developing Introduced        

Examine the relationship between life stories and teachings   Developing        

Analyze the development of Sikh thought and practice  Developing         

Analyze the application of Sikh teachings to the contemporary world     Introduced      

Employ comparative perspectives to evaluate information and detect cultural cues  Developing    Developing     

Use information effectively and appropriately in written work and oral discussions  Developing         

Access information efficiently and effectively from a variety of media sources   Developing      Introduced  



47  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

 
BA MAJOR: PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 
 
 
 
 

Demonstrate a working 
knowledge of core 

vocabulary and theoretical 
perspectives in Asian Studies 
to make careful comparisons 

across time, space and 
culture 

 
 
 
 
 

Identify key issues in 
Asian society, culture, 

politics, and history 
through written and 
oral communication 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply frameworks of 
ethnicity, gender, and 
class to analyze Asian 
literature, film, and 

media 

 
 
 
 
Apply critical thinking and problem- 
solving skills to address the impact 

of colonialism and processes of 
decolonization in Asia and Asian 
diasporas to address real world 

problems in a way that is sensitive 
both to history and competing sets 

of values 

 
 
 
 

Analyze how diverse Asian 
diasporic groups interact 

with globalization and 
transnationalism to improve 

the social, political, 
economic or cultural well- 

being of communities 

 
 
 
 
 

Interpret insider 
perspectives (Indigenous, 
majority, and minority) in 

Asia or Asian diasporic 
contexts to take informed 
positions as global citizens 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply knowledge 
gained in the Asian 
Studies program to 

specific situations in 
our local communities 

 
 
 
 
 

Demonstrate 
familiarity with one or 
more Asian languages 
through written and 
oral communication 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Apply research skills by 
designing, conducting, 
and presenting research 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply the intercultural 
competencies gained in the 
Asian Studies program to 

successful careers in public, 
private, or non-profit 

sectors 

ASIA 2252: Indian Society through Popular Film           

Define and describe World Cinema Introduced          

Identify and explain the characteristics of First, Second, and Third Cinema           

 
Identify film as a text, paying attention to the main elements of film, i.e. mise-en-scene, cinematography, editing and sound 

  
Developing 

       

Describe the history of India's film industry post-1947  Developing         

Explain the main social, cultural and historical issues related to Indian cinema  Developing         

Delineate important social themes and motifs employed in various films   Developing  Developing Developing     

Read and critically analyze relevant academic articles           

Apply readings to the films viewed   Developing  Developing Developing     

Apply analytical skills in discussions and assignments  Developing       Introduced  

ASIA 2290: South Asians around the Globe           

Identify and describe relevant theories concerning migration, diaspora, globalization, and transnationalism Developing          

Analyze and explain the patterns of South Asian migration from the 1800s to the present  Developing   Developing      

Examine the patterns of South Asian emigration and settlement experiences throughout the world  Developing Developing Developing Developing      

Describe the connections between South Asian diasporas and the 'homeland'  Developing  Developing Developing      

Examine the development of the South Asian diasporas in Canada   Developing Introduced Developing      

 
Critically analyze the basic social issues surrounding the adaptation and integration process of South Asians in Canada 

     
Developing 

 
Developing Introduced 

   

Display an awareness of various ways of seeing the world and the issues South Asian immigrants face           

Read and critically analyze relevant academic articles  Developing     Introduced    

Apply analytical skills in classroom discussions, assignments, and experiential learning  Developing       Developing  

ASIA 2351: Opium, Alcohol, & Tobacco in Asian History & Culture           

Examine core historical theoretical and methodological issues around drugs and alcohol in Asia, including but not limited to 
imperialism, class, international relations, and warfare/conflict as they relate to medicines, drugs, alcohol, and tobacco 
production and consumption 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Introduced 

 
Introduced 

    

Explain the historical origins and development of East Asian and South Asian narratives about alcohol, drugs, and relationship to 
religions, medicines, food/folklore, and economies Introduced Developing Developing Developing Introduced Developing 

    

Evaluate the influence, development, and meaning of poppy agriculture and opium culture as an historical commodity in China, 
India, and Japan Developing Developing Introduced Developing 

 
Introduced 

    

Identify and explain major trends around alcohol manufacturing and consumption in Asia Developing Developing Introduced Developing  Introduced     

Identity and explain major trends around illicit drug agriculture, manufacturing, trade, and consumption in Asia Developing Developing Introduced Developing  Introduced     

Evaluate the influence of alcohol and drugs on not just East Asian but regional and global societies Introduced Developing Introduced Developing Introduced Developing     

Evaluate arguments and their supporting evidence, taking into account context, perspective, and assumptions Developing   Introduced Introduced Developing     

Interrogate a wide range of source materials and use these sources to support ideas and arguments Introduced   Introduced  Developing     

Write effectively according to the conventions of the discipline, taking into account audience, purpose, and situation Developing     Developing     

Speak in a public or online context with confidence and clarity of purpose Developing     Developing     

Articulate similarities and differences among cultures and peoples across time and geographic space Introduced   Introduced  Developing     

ASIA 2355: The Chinese Overseas: A Global History of Chinese Migration           

Identify and analyze patterns of migration in modern Chinese history, with an emphasis on overseas migration Developing Developing Introduced Introduced Developing Developing Developing  Developing Introduced 
Identify relevant theories concerning migration, diaspora, and transnationalism Developing Developing Introduced Developing Developing Developing Developing  Developing Introduced 

Examine and critically analyze patterns of Chinese emigration, settlement experiences in various host countries, and connections 
between emigrants and their country of origin Developing Developing Introduced Developing Developing Developing Developing 

 
Developing Introduced 

Examine and analyze the development of ethnic Chinese communities abroad, and relations between diaspora and China during 
successive periods over the past two centuries Developing Developing Introduced Developing Developing Developing Developing 

 
Developing Introduced 

Analyze primary documents related to Chinese migration Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Developing Introduced Introduced  Introduced Introduced 
Apply research, writing, and critical thinking skills to issues in migration in modern Chinese history Developing Developing Introduced Developing Developing Developing Developing  Developing Introduced 
ASIA 2359: Tea in Asia           

Explain the origins and development of East and South Asian narratives about tea and tea culture in Chinese, Japanese, and 
Indian societies Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing 

     

Identify and explain the major tea practices of China, Japan, and India Developing Developing Developing Developing   Developing    

Critically evaluate the influence, development, and meaning of tea and tea culture as an historical commodity and lived tradition 
in China, Japan, and India Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing 

 
Developing 

   

Examine the influence of art and literature in the development of Asian tea culture Introduced Introduced Developing Developing Introduced      

Evaluate the influence of tea and tea culture on other regional and global societies Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing  Developing    

Analyze sources for bias, reliability, and validity Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing  Introduced    

Employ comparative perspectives to evaluate information Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing      

Use information effectively and appropriately in written work and oral discussions Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing      

Access information efficiently and effectively from a variety of media sources Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing      

ASIA 2365: Pathways to Nirvana: Cultural History of Buddhism           

Explain the difference between the theological and historical studies of religion Introduced Developing Developing   Developing   Developing  

State the basic tenets of the three primary sects of Buddhism Introduced Developing Developing   Introduced   Developing  

Describe the evolution of the three primary sects of Buddhism Introduced Developing Developing   Introduced   Developing  

Analyze the synergy between philosophy and cultural religious practices Introduced Developing Developing   Introduced   Developing  

Examine religions within their socio-cultural and historical contexts Introduced Developing Developing   Developing   Developing  

Read and analyze scriptural sources Developing Developing Developing   Developing   Developing  

Employ comparative and analytical skills Developing Developing Developing   Developing   Developing  

Write clearly and concisely according to the conventions of the discipline Developing Developing Developing   Developing   Developing  



48  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

 
BA MAJOR: PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 
 
 
 
 

Demonstrate a working 
knowledge of core 

vocabulary and theoretical 
perspectives in Asian Studies 
to make careful comparisons 

across time, space and 
culture 

 
 
 
 
 

Identify key issues in 
Asian society, culture, 

politics, and history 
through written and 
oral communication 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply frameworks of 
ethnicity, gender, and 
class to analyze Asian 
literature, film, and 

media 

 
 
 
 
Apply critical thinking and problem- 
solving skills to address the impact 

of colonialism and processes of 
decolonization in Asia and Asian 
diasporas to address real world 

problems in a way that is sensitive 
both to history and competing sets 

of values 

 
 
 
 

Analyze how diverse Asian 
diasporic groups interact 

with globalization and 
transnationalism to improve 

the social, political, 
economic or cultural well- 

being of communities 

 
 
 
 
 

Interpret insider 
perspectives (Indigenous, 
majority, and minority) in 

Asia or Asian diasporic 
contexts to take informed 
positions as global citizens 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply knowledge 
gained in the Asian 
Studies program to 

specific situations in 
our local communities 

 
 
 
 
 

Demonstrate 
familiarity with one or 
more Asian languages 
through written and 
oral communication 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Apply research skills by 
designing, conducting, 
and presenting research 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply the intercultural 
competencies gained in the 
Asian Studies program to 

successful careers in public, 
private, or non-profit 

sectors 

ASIA 2399: Readings in Asian Studies           

Identify and analyze key issues related to the course material Developing Developing Developing Introduced  Developing   Developing  

Identify and select relevant information from a variety of sources Developing Developing  Introduced     Developing  

Examine the ways in which different analysts have approached the study of this particular topic Developing Developing       Developing  

Apply effective research techniques and gather evidence to produce a convincing argument         Developing  

Use writing skills effectively in a number of analytical assignments  Developing       Developing  

Communicate ideas effectively in written and oral assignments  Developing       Developing  

Apply critical thinking skills to the analysis of the course material         Developing  

Select 30 credits of upper-level ASIA courses, with at least 6 credits at the 4000 level, including the following capstone course: 
ASIA 4350 

          

ASIA 3130: Sikh Culture, Religion and Society           

Characterize the concepts of culture, society, and religion           

Examine the interrelationships between culture, religion, and society and their impact on the individua Developing          

Examine the Sikh tradition within its social, cultural, and historical contexts  Advanced    Advanced     

Describe the development of the Sikh tradition  Advanced  Developing  Advanced     

Probe the basic issues surrounding the evolution of the Sikh tradition  Advanced Advanced Developing  Advanced     

Explain different religious and cultural beliefs  Advanced         

Examine traditional beliefs and practices from the perspective of continuity and change   Advanced Developing  Advanced     

Interact with people from diverse backgrounds           

Understand and critique academic articles           

Apply previously learned analytical skills toward class discussions, article presentations, writing essays  Advanced       Developing  

ASIA 3140: Environment and Society in East Asia           

Critically analyze the main characteristics of key environmental issues in contemporary China and Japan Developing Advanced Advanced Developing Introduced Introduced   Advanced  

Analyze the evolution of Chinese and Japanese understandings of environmental themes (or issues) over time, and relate these 
to the social, cultural, or political factors that have influenced the environment in specific eras Developing  

Advanced Developing  
Advanced 

 
Introduced 

    

Critically examine the relationship between environmental issues and contemporary Chinese and Japanese policy (as well as 
historical contexts of these policies) 

 
Advanced 

 
Advanced Developing  

Advanced 
 

Introduced 
   

Advanced 
 

Evaluate the impacts of environmental themes/issues in both East Asia and globally Advanced Advanced Developing Developing     Advanced  

 
Apply Advanced level research and writing techniques in the analysis of specific environmental issues in China and Japan 

 
Advanced 

 
Advanced Developing Developing 

     
Advanced 

 

ASIA 3149: Hong Kong: Past, Present, and Future           

Critically analyze the history of Hong Kong with a particular focus on the 19th and 20th centuries Advanced Advanced Developing Advanced Developing Developing Advanced  Advanced Introduced 

 
Examine and critically analyze developments within Hong Kong itself, and place them into a broader regional and global context Advanced Advanced Developing Advanced Developing Developing Advanced 

 
Advanced Introduced 

Critically examine Hong Kong's first century under British rule Developing Advanced Introduced Advanced Developing Developing Developing  Advanced Introduced 
Analyze the transformation of Hong Kong after the establishment of the People's Republic of China in 1949 Advanced Advanced Developing Advanced Developing Developing Advanced  Advanced Introduced 

Critically analyze contemporary issues such as the impact of Hong Kong's 'liberation' from colonial rule, the role of "One Country 
Two Systems" in protecting Hong Kong's unique character, the region's economic prospects following the opening of China's 
economy, and the ongoing struggle for democratic reform 

 
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

 
Developing 

 
Advanced 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Advanced 

  
Advanced 

 
Introduced 

Critically analyze primary documents Developing Developing Introduced Developing Developing Introduced Introduced  Developing Introduced 

 
Apply effective research, writing, and critical thinking skills to the solution of specific problems in the history of Hong Kong Advanced Advanced Developing Advanced Developing Developing Advanced 

 
Advanced Introduced 

ASIA 3150: East Asian Immigrants to North America           

Critically analyze the factors driving and motivations underlying East Asian migration to North America Advanced Advanced Introduced Advanced Advanced Advanced Advanced  Advanced Introduced 
Trace the migration processes involved in East Asian migration to North America Advanced Advanced Developing Advanced Developing Advanced Advanced  Advanced Introduced 
Critically examine the experiences of East Asian immigrants in North America over the last two hundred years Advanced Advanced Developing Advanced Advanced Advanced Advanced  Developing Introduced 
Critique concepts such as identity, racism, assimilation, multiculturalism, transnationalism, and cultural hybridity Advanced Advanced Developing Advanced Advanced Advanced Advanced  Advanced Introduced 

Effectively apply research, writing, and critical thinking skills to the resolution of specific problems related to the East Asian 
immigrant experience in North America Advanced Advanced Developing Advanced Advanced Advanced Advanced 

 
Advanced Introduced 

Recognize the contested meaning of terms and theories associated with immigration and immigrant communties Advanced Advanced Introduced Advanced Advanced Advanced Advanced  Advanced Introduced 
ASIA 3151: Gender in East Asia           

 
Identify and critically analyze the main characteristics of feminist scholarship and gender issues in contemporary East Asia Advanced Developing 

   
Developing 

    

Critically examine the evolution of gender issues/politics/practices over time in China and Japan Advanced Advanced Advanced Developing  Advanced     

 
Critically analyze the main factors that influenced changes in Chinese and Japanese societies, cultures, and status of women Advanced Advanced Advanced Developing 

 
Advanced 

    

Identify and analyze the relationship between gender and various Chinese and Japanese regimes from early modern to modern 
East Asia Advanced Advanced Advanced Developing 

 
Advanced 

    

Apply Advanced level research and writing techniques to suggest possible solutions to specific issues in the study of East Asian 
gender Advanced Advanced Advanced 

     
Developing 

 

ASIA 3152: Ethnicity in China and Japan           

Critically examine the origins and development of East Asian national narratives in multi-ethnic contexts Advanced Advanced Advanced Advanced  Advanced Developing    

Identify and analyze the major ethnic groups of China and Japan Developing Developing Advanced Developing  Developing     

Evaluate the influence, development, and meaning of different ethnic groups in China and Japan in the areas of culture, politics, 
and history Advanced Advanced Advanced Developing Introduced Advanced Introduced 

   

Critically examine the influence of gender in East Asian ethnicity Advanced Advanced Advanced   Developing     

Critique a broad range of historiographical debates on the evolution of East Asian ethnicity Advanced Advanced  Advanced Developing Advanced Advanced  Advanced  

Analyze the influence of ethnicity and indigenous rights on both East Asian and global history Advanced Advanced Advanced Advanced Advanced Advanced Advanced    

Apply research and critical thinking skills to specific social and political problems related to East Asian ethnicity Advanced Advanced Advanced      Advanced  



49  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

 
BA MAJOR: PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 
 
 
 
 

Demonstrate a working 
knowledge of core 

vocabulary and theoretical 
perspectives in Asian Studies 
to make careful comparisons 

across time, space and 
culture 

 
 
 
 
 

Identify key issues in 
Asian society, culture, 

politics, and history 
through written and 
oral communication 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply frameworks of 
ethnicity, gender, and 
class to analyze Asian 
literature, film, and 

media 

 
 
 
 
Apply critical thinking and problem- 
solving skills to address the impact 

of colonialism and processes of 
decolonization in Asia and Asian 
diasporas to address real world 

problems in a way that is sensitive 
both to history and competing sets 

of values 

 
 
 
 

Analyze how diverse Asian 
diasporic groups interact 

with globalization and 
transnationalism to improve 

the social, political, 
economic or cultural well- 

being of communities 

 
 
 
 
 

Interpret insider 
perspectives (Indigenous, 
majority, and minority) in 

Asia or Asian diasporic 
contexts to take informed 
positions as global citizens 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply knowledge 
gained in the Asian 
Studies program to 

specific situations in 
our local communities 

 
 
 
 
 

Demonstrate 
familiarity with one or 
more Asian languages 
through written and 
oral communication 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Apply research skills by 
designing, conducting, 
and presenting research 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply the intercultural 
competencies gained in the 
Asian Studies program to 

successful careers in public, 
private, or non-profit 

sectors 

ASIA 3153: Folklore of China and Japan           

Explain how cultures establish categories and structures relevant to their understanding of the world Developing      Developing    

Critically analyze sources for bias, reliability, and validity Developing      Developing  Developing  

Explain how folktales are reinterpreted over time in various genres, with an aim to undermine cultural norms or to re-envision 
them 

  
Advanced Developing 

 
Advanced 

    

Critically evaluate how cultural categories and structures are shared or differ between cultures Advanced Advanced Advanced   Advanced     

Evaluate the role of gender and class in folklore  Advanced Advanced        

Critically evaluate the influence of pre-modern folklore in contemporary culture in China and Japan Developing Developing Developing        

Review research and methodology related to folklore and folkways theories in Asian Studies Advanced Advanced         

Employ comparative perspectives to evaluate information and to detect cultural cues Advanced   Developing       

Use information effectively and appropriately in written work and oral discussions  Advanced       Advanced  

Apply research and critical thinking skills to the analysis of folklore practices in Japan and China Advanced  Developing      Advanced  

Access information efficiently and effectively from a variety of media sources  Advanced Advanced    Developing  Advanced  

ASIA 3154: Chinese Cinema and Society           

Identify and analyze the major Chinese/Hong Kong/Taiwanese directors and their films Developing Developing Advanced Developing Developing Developing     

Critically analyze the evolution of cinema in mainland China, Hong Kong and Taiwan Developing Developing Advanced Advanced Advanced Developing     

Viewing films critically with attention to mise-en-scene, cinematography, editing, and sound Developing          

Identify and critically analyze the various genres of Chinese cinema Developing Developing    Developing     

Analyze the relationship between Chinese history and cinematic themes Developing Developing Developing Advanced Advanced Developing     

 
Apply Advanced level research and writing techniques to analyze the influence of cinema on Chinese society and culture Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing 

     

ASIA 3230: Islam in South Asia           

Critically analyze the main characteristics of Islam as practiced in South Asia Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Introduced  Developing Introduced 
Critically analyze the evolution of Islam in South Asia Developing Developing Introduced Developing Developing Developing Introduced  Developing  

 
Critically examine the relationship between Islam and society in South Asia in the Medieval, pre-Modern and Modern eras Developing Developing Introduced Developing Developing  

Developing 
  

Developing 
 

Critically analyze the relationship between Islam and state power in South Asia Developing Developing Introduced Developing Developing Developing   Developing  

Evaluate the influence of Islamic aesthetics on material and non-material culture in South Asia Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing   Developing  

Evaluate the role of politicized Islam in the partition of India and the post-partition era Developing Developing Introduced Developing Developing Developing Introduced  Developing Introduced 

 
Apply Advanced level research and writing techniques to the study of problems related to the place of Islam in South Asia Developing Developing Introduced Developing Developing  

Developing 
  

Developing  
Introduced 

ASIA 3252: Bollywood and Contemporary India           

Critically analyze globalization and its impact on Indian society and cinema     Advanced Developing     

Identify and analyze the pertinent social themes in contemporary Indian cinema  Advanced Advanced   Developing     

Analyze the relationship between cinematic themes and India as a transitional society  Advanced Advanced   Developing     

Identify the impact cinema has had on the Indian audience  Developing   Developing      

Identify and critically analyze the controversies surrounding various contemporary films  Advanced Advanced   Developing     

Identify and critically analyze intent, meaning, and ideas within multiple forms of communication   Advanced   Developing     

Speak, write, and compose with clarity, purpose, awareness of audience, empathy, and self-awareness         Advanced  

ASIA 3255: Gender in South Asia           

Critically evaluate the various theoretical perspectives on the study of dominant gender norms and issues in a South Asian 
context Advanced Developing 

    
Advanced 

    

Analyse the complex changes and continuities that have shaped the emergence of gender roles and impacted the peoples of 
South Asia from the early 1800s up to the present time 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

  
Advanced 

    

Deconstruct and critically assess the various images, roles, statuses, and living conditions in South Asia  Developing Advanced Developing  Advanced     

Analyse and evaluate the religious, cultural, social, and political forces that impact the lives of women in relation to men in South 
Asia 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

  
Advanced 

    

 
Critically evaluate contemporary debates and issues pertaining to discourses of femininity and masculinity in South Asia 

  
Advanced Developing 

  
Advanced 

    

Analyze gender issues in the South Asian diaspora   Advanced  Advanced Advanced     

Appraise scholarly works and varied sources in relation to academic principles          Developing 
Undertake independent scholarly research and provide evidence of the same in their research work         Advanced  

ASIA 3310: Japanese Culture and Business           

Define customs and values associated with Japanese business Developing Advanced Developing   Developing     

Research and explore topics related to Japanese business and culture Developing Developing Developing   Developing   Advanced  

Identify and critique theories and stereotypes of "Japanese-style business management" (nihonteki keiei) Advanced Advanced    Developing     

Explain connections between business leaders, politicians and senior bureaucrats in modern Japan Advanced Advanced Advanced        

Explore the relationship between workers (and their unions) and business leaders in Japan Advanced Advanced Advanced        

Describe the significance of business in the "invention" of Japanese culture Advanced Advanced    Advanced     

Identify cross-cultural similarities and differences in business practices Advanced     Advanced     

Expose political and economic motives behind competing concepts of Japanese-style business management and the "essence" 
of Japanese culture Advanced Advanced 

   
Advanced 

    

Explain the influence of business practices on other aspects of Japanese society Advanced Advanced    Advanced     

Read and critically analyze relevant academic articles and texts Developing Developing Developing   Developing   Developing  

Critique movies and documentaries that relate to Japanese business  Advanced Advanced        

Apply analytical skills in discussions and assignments Advanced Advanced         

Write thoughtful and well-developed responses to cultural questions Advanced Advanced Advanced   Advanced     

ASIA 3320: Japanese Culture Through Film           

Evaluate significant aspects of contemporary Japanese culture, especially as they are portrayed in films Advanced Advanced Advanced   Advanced     

Identify key events and movements in the cultural history of modern Japan  Developing         



50  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

 
BA MAJOR: PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 
 
 
 
 

Demonstrate a working 
knowledge of core 

vocabulary and theoretical 
perspectives in Asian Studies 
to make careful comparisons 

across time, space and 
culture 

 
 
 
 
 

Identify key issues in 
Asian society, culture, 

politics, and history 
through written and 
oral communication 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply frameworks of 
ethnicity, gender, and 
class to analyze Asian 
literature, film, and 

media 

 
 
 
 
Apply critical thinking and problem- 
solving skills to address the impact 

of colonialism and processes of 
decolonization in Asia and Asian 
diasporas to address real world 

problems in a way that is sensitive 
both to history and competing sets 

of values 

 
 
 
 

Analyze how diverse Asian 
diasporic groups interact 

with globalization and 
transnationalism to improve 

the social, political, 
economic or cultural well- 

being of communities 

 
 
 
 
 

Interpret insider 
perspectives (Indigenous, 
majority, and minority) in 

Asia or Asian diasporic 
contexts to take informed 
positions as global citizens 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply knowledge 
gained in the Asian 
Studies program to 

specific situations in 
our local communities 

 
 
 
 
 

Demonstrate 
familiarity with one or 
more Asian languages 
through written and 
oral communication 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Apply research skills by 
designing, conducting, 
and presenting research 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply the intercultural 
competencies gained in the 
Asian Studies program to 

successful careers in public, 
private, or non-profit 

sectors 

Respond critically to claims about themes and concepts in Japan's intellectual traditions Advanced     Advanced     

Describe diversity and change within Japanese culture as reflected in film   Developing   Developing     

Read and discuss critically relevant academic articles on Japanese media and culture Developing Developing Developing      Advanced  

Write a thoughtful, well-developed essay on a theme related to film in contemporary culture           

Apply analytical skills in discussions, debates and reports Developing Developing Developing        

Describe and analyze the role of media in cultural definition and change   Advanced        

ASIA 3860: South Asian Folklore           

Probe the concepts and theories of folklore, as well as the methods of folklife study           

 
Critically analyze the ways by which cultures establish categories and structures relevant to their understanding of the world 

          

Critically examine the reinterpretation of folktales over time in various genres, with an aim to undermine cultural norms or to re 
envision them 

          

Evaluate and analyze how cultural categories and structures are shared or differ between cultures  Introduced         

Critically analyze the role of gender and class in folklore  Introduced         

Apply research and critical thinking skills to the analysis of folklore practices         Advanced  

ASIA 3870: Bhangra Movements and Identity           

Critically analyze the origins and development of Bhangra           

Examine and analyze the controversies surrounding adapted and hybrid forms           

Critically analyze the relationships of the concepts of belonging and identity in reference to Bhangra  Introduced         

Identify and investigate common concepts and motifs used in Bhangra           

Critically analyze the relationship of the subaltern with Bhangra  Introduced Developing   Developing     

Apply research and critical thinking skills to the analysis of performance traditions and identity formation         Advanced  

ASIA 4350: Asian Communities in Canada           

 
Critically examine and evaluate various studies on Asian communities in Canada, with emphasis on the post-World War II period 

 
Advanced 

         

Compare and contrast the role of agency and structure in the immigrant experience      Advanced Advanced    

Critically examine the complexity of the experiences of members of Asian communities in terms of the porosity of borders, the 
heterogeneity in communities, and the negotiability of identities 

   
Advanced 

   
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

   

Identify and apply social theory and methodology effectively in a field research project on an Asian community Advanced      Advanced  Advanced Advanced 
Complete the steps necessary to gain approval from the Research Ethics Board (REB) for the field research project         Advanced Advanced 
Conduct fieldwork on an Asian community in Greater Vancouver or the Fraser Valley region       Advanced  Advanced Advanced 

Critically evaluate the impact of globalization and multiculturalism on social and cultural change of the Asian communities in 
Canada 

     
Advanced 

     

ASIA 4351: Advanced Topics in Asian Cinema           

Critically analyze primary and secondary sources at an Advanced level Advanced Advanced Advanced   Advanced     

 
Critically evaluate the influence of the chosen genres/directors/national film industries on contemporary cultures in Asia 

  
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

  
Advanced 

    

Determine and disseminate research findings         Advanced  

Critically analyze the various methodological and theoretical approaches employed in the study of film   Advanced        

Apply various methodological and theoretical approaches to the analysis of selected Asian films  Advanced Advanced Advanced       

 
Apply advance research, critical thinking, and writing skills to the analysis of specific issues related to the study of Asian cinema 

  
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

    
Advanced 

 

ASIA 4499: Selected Topics in Asian Studies           

Critically analyze primary and secondary sources at an Advanced level Advanced Advanced Advanced Advanced Advanced Advanced Advanced  Advanced  

Critically evaluate the relevance of the topic within the larger context of the discipline Advanced   Advanced Advanced      

Determine and disseminate research findings Advanced Advanced Advanced      Advanced  

Critically analyze a broad range of methodological debates Advanced          

Apply Advanced research, critical thinking, and writing skills to the understanding of specific issues in Asian Studies Advanced Advanced Advanced Advanced Advanced Advanced   Advanced  

Approved List of Courses in Lieu of ASIA Courses           

JAPN/LANC 1200: Introduction to Contemporary Japanese Society and Culture           

Identify certain key events in the history of Japan Introduced Introduced Introduced   Introduced     

Research and apply various relevant theories Introduced          

Explain the significance of culture and its impact on human behavior Introduced          

Recognize and appreciate cross-cultural and inter-cultural diversity Introduced          

Critique political, social and economic motives behind the creation of cultural stereotypes Introduced Introduced Introduced        

Explain influences of culture and society upon individuals and groups Introduced Introduced         

Critique cultural stereotypes and ethnocentrism Introduced Introduced         

Critically analyze relevant academic texts, as well as popular articles and movies  Introduced Introduced        

Apply analytical skills in discussions and assignments Introduced Introduced Introduced   Introduced     

Write meaningful responses to questions about cultures Introduced Introduced Introduced   Introduced     

Research, organize and develop an essay on a relevant topic         Introduced  

HIST 1150: Beyond the Middle Kingdom: Introduction to East Asian History           

Identify and analyze the major historical developments in East Asia to approximately 1600 Introduced Introduced  Introduced Introduced    Introduced  

Analyze the nature and significance of the interaction among thecultures and states of East Asia during this era Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced    Introduced  

Place the major events and developments in this area into a regional and global context Introduced Introduced  Introduced     Introduced  

Analyze and evaluate historical documents Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced    Introduced  

Employ comparative and analytical skills in assignments and discussions Introduced Introduced       Introduced  

Write clearly and concisely in a variety of formats according to the conventions of the discipline Introduced Introduced       Introduced  

Apply appropriate research techniques to the solution of a specific historical problem Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced    Introduced  



51  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

 
BA MAJOR: PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 
 
 
 
 

Demonstrate a working 
knowledge of core 

vocabulary and theoretical 
perspectives in Asian Studies 
to make careful comparisons 

across time, space and 
culture 

 
 
 
 
 

Identify key issues in 
Asian society, culture, 

politics, and history 
through written and 
oral communication 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply frameworks of 
ethnicity, gender, and 
class to analyze Asian 
literature, film, and 

media 

 
 
 
 
Apply critical thinking and problem- 
solving skills to address the impact 

of colonialism and processes of 
decolonization in Asia and Asian 
diasporas to address real world 

problems in a way that is sensitive 
both to history and competing sets 

of values 

 
 
 
 

Analyze how diverse Asian 
diasporic groups interact 

with globalization and 
transnationalism to improve 

the social, political, 
economic or cultural well- 

being of communities 

 
 
 
 
 

Interpret insider 
perspectives (Indigenous, 
majority, and minority) in 

Asia or Asian diasporic 
contexts to take informed 
positions as global citizens 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply knowledge 
gained in the Asian 
Studies program to 

specific situations in 
our local communities 

 
 
 
 
 

Demonstrate 
familiarity with one or 
more Asian languages 
through written and 
oral communication 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Apply research skills by 
designing, conducting, 
and presenting research 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply the intercultural 
competencies gained in the 
Asian Studies program to 

successful careers in public, 
private, or non-profit 

sectors 

HIST 1160: A Passage to South Asia: Introduction to South Asian History           
Identify the major developments in the history of the Indian sub-continent from the formation of the first civilizations into the 21st century  

Introduced 
 
Introduced 

  
Introduced 

 
Introduced 

    
Introduced 

 

Analyze the development of the early civilizations and the impact of the migrations by outside groups into the subcontinent Introduced Introduced  Introduced  Introduced   Introduced  

Analyze the rise and fall of the Mauryan, Gupta, and Muslim kingdoms Introduced Introduced       Introduced  

Analyze the rise and fall of the Mughal Empire and the impact of European incursions Introduced Introduced       Introduced  

 
Analyze the impact of British imperial rule on the societal, cultural, economic, and political development on the sub-continent 

 
Introduced 

 
Introduced 

  
Introduced 

     
Introduced 

 

Trace and analyze the growth and impact of the independence movement in British India Introduced Introduced  Introduced     Introduced  

Explain the reasons behind the end of British rule and the emergence of the independent nations of India and Pakistan Introduced Introduced  Introduced     Introduced  

Analyze messages, biases, and the limitations of iconographic sources Introduced Introduced  Introduced     Introduced  

Explain the evolution of the Indian Subcontinent in a regional and global context Introduced Introduced  Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced  Introduced  

Display an awareness of and sensitivity to differing cultural perspectives Introduced Introduced  Introduced Introduced    Introduced  

Analyze and evaluate historical documents Introduced Introduced  Introduced     Introduced  

Employ comparative and analytical skills in assignments and discussions Introduced Introduced  Introduced     Introduced  

Write clearly and concisely in a variety of formats according to the conventions of the discipline Introduced Introduced  Introduced     Introduced  

Apply appropriate research techniques to the solution of a specific historical problem Introduced Introduced  Introduced Introduced    Introduced  

GEOG 2185: Geography of East Asia           

Apply basic methods and concepts in regional geographical analyses Introduced Introduced Introduced Developing Developing Introduced Introduced  Introduced Introduced 
Critically comment on East Asia as a region within the global context Introduced Introduced Introduced Developing Developing Introduced Introduced  Introduced Introduced 
Analyze the major physiographic, climate, soil, and vegetation zones of East Asia and explain their relationships Introduced Introduced         

Explain the relationship between the physical setting and resource-based economic activities in each country Introduced Introduced  Introduced Introduced  Introduced  Introduced  

 
Analyze the evolution of economic growth in the region and discuss the economic and cultural links between countries of this region 

 
Introduced 

 
Introduced 

  
Introduced 

 
Introduced 

  
Introduced 

  
Introduced 

 

Describe the political and cultural identities of the countries in the region Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced  Introduced Introduced 

 
Analyze the historical geography of the region, including the influence of colonial powers on economic development in the region 

 
Introduced 

 
Introduced 

 
Introduced 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Introduced 

 
Introduced 

   

Account for the emergence of a regional hierarchy within East Asia based on global economic position Introduced Introduced  Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced  Introduced  

GEOG 2190: Geography of South Asia           

Apply basic methods and concepts in regional geographical analyses Introduced Introduced Introduced Developing Developing Introduced Introduced  Introduced Introduced 
Describe and explain the major physical landforms and climatic processes of South Asia Introduced      Introduced  Introduced Introduced 
Describe and explain the population and settlement patterns of South Asia Introduced Introduced Developing Developing Developing Introduced Introduced  Introduced Introduced 
Describe and explain the historical and economic development of South Asia Introduced Introduced  Developing Developing Introduced Introduced  Introduced  

Describe and explain the cultural geography of South Asia Introduced Introduced Introduced  Developing Introduced Introduced  Introduced Introduced 
Review the state of the environment of South Asia and discuss some major environmental issues facing this region Introduced Introduced     Introduced  Introduced Introduced 
Explain the importance of the interrelationships among South Asian nations Introduced Introduced  Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced  Introduced Introduced 
Explain the importance of external global forces and linkages that affect the future of South Asia Introduced Introduced   Introduced Introduced Introduced  Introduced Introduced 
HIST 2350: Late Imperial China           

 
Analyze the history of China's struggle to meet domestic and foreign challenges from the mid-fourteenth to the late-nineteenth centuries 

 
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

 
Introduced 

 
Advanced 

 
Introduced 

 
Introduced 

 
Advanced 

  
Advanced Developing 

 
Analyze and evaluate the influence and growth of domestic and global trade systems, demographic growth, and population transfers 

 
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

 
Introduced 

 
Advanced 

 
Introduced 

 
Introduced 

 
Advanced 

  
Advanced Developing 

Identify and analyze the internal conditions that gave rise to revolutionary changes in the Chinese political system, economic institutions, 
social structure, and intellectual attitudes as the country began to transform itself from a Confucian universal empire to a modern nation 
state 

 
 
Advanced 

 
 
Advanced 

 
 
Introduced 

 
 
Advanced 

 
 
Introduced 

 
 
Introduced 

 
 
Advanced 

  
 
Advanced 

 
Developing 

Identify and evaluate China's response to external pressures during the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries Advanced Advanced Introduced Advanced Introduced Introduced Advanced  Advanced Developing 
Evaluate arguments and their supporting evidence, taking into account context, perspective, and assumptions Advanced Advanced Introduced Advanced Introduced Introduced Advanced  Advanced Developing 
Interrogate a wide range of source materials and use these sources to support ideas and arguments Advanced Advanced Introduced Advanced Introduced Introduced Advanced  Advanced Developing 
Write effectively according to the conventions of the discipline, taking into account audience, purpose, and situation Advanced Advanced Introduced Advanced Introduced Introduced Advanced  Advanced Developing 
Speak in a public and/or online context with confidence and clarity of purpose           

Articulate similarities and differences among cultures and peoples across time and geographic space Advanced Advanced Introduced Advanced Introduced Introduced Advanced  Advanced Developing 
HIST 2375: Japan under the Shoguns, 1600 to 1868           

Identify and analyze the major historical developments in Japan from approximately 1600 to 1868 Developing Developing Developing Introduced Introduced    Developing  

Critically analyze the nature and significance of the interactions among Japan, the West, and other East Asian nation Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing      

Critically examine developments in culture, society, politics, economics, and the environment in early modern Japan Developing Developing Developing        

Apply their knowledge of Japan's past to more contemporary issues in Japanese historical development Developing Developing Developing Introduced     Developing  

Evaluate arguments and their supporting evidence, taking into account context, perspective, and assumptions Developing Developing Developing Introduced     Developing  

Interrogate a wide range of source materials and use these sources to support ideas and arguments Developing Developing Developing        

Write effectively according to the conventions of the discipline, taking into account audience, purpose, and situation Developing Developing Developing        

Speak in a public and/or online context with confidence and clarity of purpose Developing Developing Developing      Developing  

Articulate similarities and differences among cultures and peoples across time and geographic space Developing Developing Developing        

PHIL 2115: Asian Philosophy           

Analyze and appreciate important philosophical issues (e.g. the nature of reality and time, the meaning of life, virtue, right and wrong, and 
human nature) in Asian traditions 

 
Introduced 

 
Introduced 

     
Introduced 

  
Introduced 

 
Introduced 

 
Describe, analyze, compare, and assess various philosophical views in a way that is cognizant of Asian perspective and approaches 

 
Introduced 

 
Introduced 

  
Introduced 

   
Introduced 

  
Introduced 

 
Introduced 

Critically examine aspects of Asian philosophy Introduced Introduced  Introduced   Introduced  Introduced Introduced 
Conduct philosophical arguments           

POLI 2140: Comparative Politics of Asia           

Access, understand and use academic literature related to the subject area Developing Developing Developing   Developing Developing  Developing Developing 
Identify and explain in written and in oral form the basic terms and concepts important to the study of Asian political systems Developing Developing Developing   Developing Developing  Developing Developing 
Develop an informed and critical understanding of the sources and nature of conflict, power and political change in Asia Developing Developing Developing   Developing Developing  Developing Developing 
Integrate several recognized theoretical approaches to structure research Developing Developing Developing   Developing Developing  Developing Developing 



52  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

 
BA MAJOR: PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 
 
 
 
 

Demonstrate a working 
knowledge of core 

vocabulary and theoretical 
perspectives in Asian Studies 
to make careful comparisons 

across time, space and 
culture 

 
 
 
 
 

Identify key issues in 
Asian society, culture, 

politics, and history 
through written and 
oral communication 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply frameworks of 
ethnicity, gender, and 
class to analyze Asian 
literature, film, and 

media 

 
 
 
 
Apply critical thinking and problem- 
solving skills to address the impact 

of colonialism and processes of 
decolonization in Asia and Asian 
diasporas to address real world 

problems in a way that is sensitive 
both to history and competing sets 

of values 

 
 
 
 

Analyze how diverse Asian 
diasporic groups interact 

with globalization and 
transnationalism to improve 

the social, political, 
economic or cultural well- 

being of communities 

 
 
 
 
 

Interpret insider 
perspectives (Indigenous, 
majority, and minority) in 

Asia or Asian diasporic 
contexts to take informed 
positions as global citizens 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply knowledge 
gained in the Asian 
Studies program to 

specific situations in 
our local communities 

 
 
 
 
 

Demonstrate 
familiarity with one or 
more Asian languages 
through written and 
oral communication 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Apply research skills by 
designing, conducting, 
and presenting research 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply the intercultural 
competencies gained in the 
Asian Studies program to 

successful careers in public, 
private, or non-profit 

sectors 

Identify similarities and differences in political history, political culture and governance among different Asian countries Developing Developing Developing   Developing Developing  Developing Developing 
Identify advantages and disadvantages of different political systems Developing Developing Developing   Developing Developing  Developing Developing 
Analyze problems related to contemporary political conflicts in Asia Developing Developing Developing   Developing Developing  Developing Developing 
ANTH 3330: East Asian Archaeology           

Analyze the major time periods and events in East Asian prehistory  Developing         

Identify the key processes in the development of East Asian states  Advanced       Advanced  

Evaluate current archaeological methods used to examine the rise of social inequality in East Asia    Developing     Advanced  

Apply the concepts and methods of archaeology to their own written research project         Advanced  

Assess the importance of prehistory for contemporary East Asian cultures    Developing  Introduced     

Explain East Asian cultures and appreciate the importance of cross-cultural diversity  Introduced  Developing  Introduced     

Contextualizing local issues within broader national and international settings  Developing  Developing  Introduced   Developing  

HIST 3350: China in the Twentieth Century: Reforms and Revolutions           

Critically analyze the major historical developments in China from approximately 1900 to the present Advanced Developing Developing Developing Developing    Advanced  

Critically analyze the nature and significance of the interactions among China, the West, and other East Asian nations Developing Advanced Developing Developing Developing Developing   Developing  

Analyze the major events and developments in this area within a regional and global context Developing Advanced Developing Developing Developing Developing   Developing  

Critically examine concepts such as identity, tradition, modernity, and Westernization and their implications in the context of modern 
Chinese history 

 
Developing 

 
Advanced 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

   
Developing 

 

Critically evaluate arguments and their supporting evidence, taking into account context, perspective, and assumptions Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing   Advanced  

Interrogate a wide range of source materials and utilize these sources to support ideas and arguments Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing   Advanced  

Write effectively according to the conventions of the discipline, taking into account audience, purpose, and situation Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing   Advanced  

Articulate similarities and differences among peoples and cultures across time and geographic space Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing   Developing  

HIST 3360: British India 1857 to 1947           

Identify and critically analyze the major developments in the history of the Indian sub-continent between 1857 and 1947 Developing Developing Developing Developing  Developing Developing  Developing  

 
Critically analyze the impact of British imperial rule on societal, cultural, economic, and political development on the sub-continent 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

  
Developing 

 
Developing 

  
Developing 

 

Trace and critically analyze the growth and impact of the independence movement in India Developing Developing Developing Developing  Developing Developing  Developing  

Evaluate the theories underpinning the end of British rule and the implications of the emergence of the independent states Developing Developing Developing Developing  Developing Developing  Developing  

Critically evaluate arguments and their supporting evidence, taking into account context, perspective, and assumptions Developing Developing Developing Developing  Developing Developing  Developing  

Interrogate a wide range of source materials and utilize these sources to support ideas and arguments Developing Developing Developing Developing  Developing Developing  Developing  

Write effectively according to the conventions of the discipline, taking into account audience, purpose, and situation Developing Developing Developing Developing  Developing Developing  Developing  

Speak in a public context with confidence and clarity of purpose Developing Developing Developing Developing  Developing Developing  Developing  

Articulate similarities and differences among cultures across time and geographic space Developing Developing Developing Developing  Developing Developing  Developing  

HIST 3361: Indian Subcontinent since 1947           

Critically analyze the major developments in the history of the Indian sub-continent between 1947 and the present Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing  Developing  

Critically analyze the establishment and evolution of governmental and administrative structures in the newly-independent states of India, 
Pakistan, and Bangladesh 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

  
Developing 

 

Trace and critically analyze the development of nationalism in each of the states of the sub-continent Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing  Developing  

Critically analyze the social and cultural changes since independence in India, Pakistan, and Bangladesh Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing  Developing  

Critically analyze the relationships among the states of the sub-continent Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing  Developing  

Critically analyze the major political and economic events and developments in India, Pakistan, and Bangladesh from independence to the 
present 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

  
Developing 

 

Critically evaluate arguments and their supporting evidence, taking into account context, perspective, and assumptions Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing  Developing  

Interrogate a wide range of source materials and utilize these sources to support ideas and arguments Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing  Developing  

Write effectively according to the conventions of the discipline, taking into account audience, purpose, and situation Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing  Developing  

Speak in a public context with confidence and clarity of purpose Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing  Developing  

Articulate similarities and differences among cultures across time and geographic space Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing  Developing  

HIST 3370: History of Modern Japan           

Critically analyze the major historical developments in Japan from approximately 1868 to the present Advanced Developing Developing Developing Developing    Advanced  

Critically analyze the nature and significance of the interactions among Japan, the West, and other East Asian nations Developing Advanced Developing Developing Developing Developing   Developing  

Place the major events and developments in this area into a regional and global context Developing Advanced Developing Developing Developing Developing   Developing  

Critically examine concepts such as identity, tradition, modernity, and Westernization and their implications in the context of modern 
Japanese history 

 
Developing 

 
Advanced 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

   
Developing 

 

Apply effective research, writing, and critical thinking skills to the solution of specific historical problems Advanced Developing Developing Advanced Developing Developing     

Evaluate arguments and their supporting evidence, taking into account context, perspective, and assumptions Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing   Advanced  

Interrogate a wide range of source materials and use these sources to support ideas and arguments Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing   Advanced  

Write effectively according to the conventions of the discipline, taking into account audience, purpose, and situation Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing   Advanced  

Speak in a public context with confidence and clarity of purpose Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing   Advanced  

Articulate similarities and differences among cultures and peoples across time and geographic space Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing   Developing  

LANC 3150: Developing Intercultural Competencies in the 21st Century           

Conceptualize and identify intercultural competencies and skills   Introduced Introduced Introduced Developing Introduced Introduced Developing Advanced 
Identify and assess models of intercultural competence development   Developing Introduced Introduced Developing Developing Introduced Developing Advanced 
Explore personal, professional, and global cross-cultural settings  Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Introduced Advanced Advanced 
Explore and develop personal intercultural capability  Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Advanced Introduced Advanced Advanced 
Reflect on future personal, professional, and global cross-cultural settings  Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Advanced Introduced Advanced Advanced 
Identify best practices for effective intercultural relations  Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Advanced Introduced Advanced Advanced 
Develop and apply a global mindset  Introduced Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Introduced Developing Advanced 
POLI 3146: Government and Politics of India           

Critically evaluate academic literature related to the subject area Advanced Advanced Introduced Advanced Developing Introduced Introduced  Advanced Advanced 
Assess the sources and nature of conflict, power and political change in India Advanced Advanced Introduced Advanced Developing Introduced Introduced  Advanced Advanced 
Appraise theories of development and modernization as they apply to India and the South Asia region Developing Developing Introduced Advanced Introduced Introduced Introduced  Advanced Advanced 
Analyze key developments in political history, political culture and development of democracy in India Advanced Advanced Introduced Advanced Developing Advanced Introduced  Advanced Advanced 
Critically assess advantages and disadvantages of democracy in a Developing society Introduced Introduced Introduced Advanced Developing Introduced Introduced  Advanced Advanced 
Critically analyze contemporary political issues facing India Advanced Advanced Introduced Advanced Developing Introduced Introduced  Advanced Advanced 



53  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

 
BA MAJOR: PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 
 
 
 
 

Demonstrate a working 
knowledge of core 

vocabulary and theoretical 
perspectives in Asian Studies 
to make careful comparisons 

across time, space and 
culture 

 
 
 
 
 

Identify key issues in 
Asian society, culture, 

politics, and history 
through written and 
oral communication 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply frameworks of 
ethnicity, gender, and 
class to analyze Asian 
literature, film, and 

media 

 
 
 
 
Apply critical thinking and problem- 
solving skills to address the impact 

of colonialism and processes of 
decolonization in Asia and Asian 
diasporas to address real world 

problems in a way that is sensitive 
both to history and competing sets 

of values 

 
 
 
 

Analyze how diverse Asian 
diasporic groups interact 

with globalization and 
transnationalism to improve 

the social, political, 
economic or cultural well- 

being of communities 

 
 
 
 
 

Interpret insider 
perspectives (Indigenous, 
majority, and minority) in 

Asia or Asian diasporic 
contexts to take informed 
positions as global citizens 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply knowledge 
gained in the Asian 
Studies program to 

specific situations in 
our local communities 

 
 
 
 
 

Demonstrate 
familiarity with one or 
more Asian languages 
through written and 
oral communication 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Apply research skills by 
designing, conducting, 
and presenting research 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply the intercultural 
competencies gained in the 
Asian Studies program to 

successful careers in public, 
private, or non-profit 

sectors 

ARTS 4800: Arts Practicum           

Participate effectively in a relevant work setting       Advanced  Advanced Advanced 
Apply understanding, skills, and knowledge from an academic program to an employment setting       Advanced   Advanced 

Perform work related to select areas of one's degree program, with a particular focus on analytical applications (historical, 
geographical/spatial, conceptual, ethical, jurisdictional, cost-benefit) 

      
Advanced 

 
Advanced Advanced 

Produce professional materials or other work outputs for an employer generate proposals, reports, presentations, or other 
project materials for the employer/host and student portfolio 

        
Advanced Advanced 

Critically appraise and report verbally and in writing on how the academic program links to the work experience         Advanced Advanced 
HIST 4450: China and the West           

Critically analyze the relationship between China and the West across a number of historical eras           

 
Challenge existing myths related to the encounter between China and the West such as "Chinese backwardness" and "Western superiority" 

          

Critically examine the changing nature of that relationship and the causes of periodic Sinomania and Sinophobia in the West  leave blank - course has not been taught in years (potentially being revised or dropped)      

Critically analyze a number of texts which purport to merge Chinese and Western philosophies           

Critically analyze historical documents           

Apply research, critical thinking, and writing skills to finding solutions to historical and philosophical problems related to exchanges 
between China and the West 

          

HIST 4460: Gandhi in History           

Identify and analyze the major milestones in Gandhi's life and in the development of his philosophical/religious views Advanced Advanced  Advanced Advanced    Advanced  

Critically analyze the construction of the theory and method of satyagraha within the context of Gandhi's experiences and 
philosophical/religious studies 

 
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

  
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

    
Advanced 

 

Critically analyze the impact of Gandhi's leadership of the Indian political movement in South Africa and of the independence movement in 
India 

 
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

  
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

    
Advanced 

 

Evaluate and analyze the impact of Gandhi's theory and methods of satyagraha as applied in a number of other historical examples, such 
as the Civil Rights movement in the United States and the anti-apartheid movement in South Africa 

 
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

  
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

    
Advanced 

 

Apply Advanced research, critical thinking, and writing skills to the solution of specific historical and philosophical problems regarding the 
formation and application of non-violent, non-cooperation as a method of political activism 

 
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

  
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

    
Advanced 

 

HIST 4470 : Warriors of Japan: The Samurai           

Critically analyze the roles played by the hereditary warrior elite of pre- and early-modern Japan Advanced Advanced Advanced   Advanced   Advanced  

Examine and critically analyze the process by which Bushido was constructed Advanced Advanced Advanced   Advanced   Advanced  

Distinguish the samurai as historical figure from the samurai as cultural construct Advanced Advanced Advanced   Advanced   Advanced  

Critically analyze Japanese and foreign cinematic portrayals of the samurai and bushido Advanced Advanced Advanced   Advanced   Advanced  

Apply effective research, writing, and critical thinking skills to the solution of specific historical problems Advanced Advanced Advanced   Advanced   Advanced  

Evaluate arguments and their supporting evidence, taking into account context, perspective, and assumptions Advanced Advanced Advanced   Advanced   Advanced  

Interrogate a wide range of source materials and use these sources to support ideas and arguments Advanced Advanced Advanced   Advanced   Advanced  

Write effectively according to the conventions of the discipline, taking into account audience, purpose, and situation Advanced Advanced Advanced   Advanced   Advanced  

Speak in a public or online context with confidence and clarity of purpose Advanced Advanced Advanced   Advanced   Advanced  

HIST 4480: The Vietnam War in Historical Perspective           

Critically analyze the nature of the war, and the reasons for the French and American defeat 
 

 Advanced  Advanced       

Critically analyze the impact of the war in the United States, including the development of the antiwar movement, and in Indochina 

 Advanced  Advanced       

Critically examine the ways in which war in Vietnam has become part of public memory in Southeast Asia and in North America 

 Advanced  Advanced Introduced      

Interrogate sources for bias, reliability, and validity, and use credible, relevant sources to support your ideas and arguments 

        Advanced  

Evaluate arguments and their supporting evidence, considering context, perspective, and assumptions 
 

          

Write effectively according to the conventions of the discipline, considering audience, purpose, and situation 

 Advanced       Advanced  

Speak in a public context with confidence and clarity of purpose 
 

          

Articulate similarities and differences among cultures across time and geographic space 
 

 Advanced  Advanced       

Participate effectively in collaborative activities with persons of diverse backgrounds 

          

LANC 4320: Understanding Japanese Culture through Literature           

Distinguish the variety of written forms and symbols in Japanese This course hasn't been taught in years and is being removed from the catalog        

Analyze critically connections between education, literacy, and identify in contemporary Japan           

Explore the relationship between writers and their readership in Japan           

Examine the history and development of publishing and print-making in Japan           

Understand the relation of the written word to magic and religion in Japan           

Recognize the relationship between gender and writing in Japan           

Describe the significance of writing in the "invention" of Japanese culture           

 
Discern political and economic motives behind competing views of the written language and the "essence" of Japanese culture 

          

Interpret and critically analyze relevant academic articles and texts           

Apply analytical skills in discussions and assignments           

Write thoughtful and well-developed responses to questions about culture           

Delineate significant developments in Japanese literature from ancient times until today           

Select at least 12 credits in a single approved Asian language: JAPN, MAND, or PUNJ           

JAPN 1100: Basic Japanese I           

Develop oral and aural skills to perform basic communicative tasks in everyday life        Introduced   

Read and write Hiragana, Katakana, and up to 60 basic Kanji characters        Introduced   

Read and write short passages on topics related to daily life activities        Introduced   

Explore the relationship between Japanese language and culture Introduced Introduced         

JAPN 1101: Basic Japanese II           

Develop oral and aural skills to perform communicative tasks in everyday life        Introduced   

Read and write up to 150 basic Kanji characters        Introduced   

Read and write short essays on topics related to daily life activities        Introduced   



54  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

 
BA MAJOR: PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 
 
 
 
 

Demonstrate a working 
knowledge of core 

vocabulary and theoretical 
perspectives in Asian Studies 
to make careful comparisons 

across time, space and 
culture 

 
 
 
 
 

Identify key issues in 
Asian society, culture, 

politics, and history 
through written and 
oral communication 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply frameworks of 
ethnicity, gender, and 
class to analyze Asian 
literature, film, and 

media 

 
 
 
 
Apply critical thinking and problem- 
solving skills to address the impact 

of colonialism and processes of 
decolonization in Asia and Asian 
diasporas to address real world 

problems in a way that is sensitive 
both to history and competing sets 

of values 

 
 
 
 

Analyze how diverse Asian 
diasporic groups interact 

with globalization and 
transnationalism to improve 

the social, political, 
economic or cultural well- 

being of communities 

 
 
 
 
 

Interpret insider 
perspectives (Indigenous, 
majority, and minority) in 

Asia or Asian diasporic 
contexts to take informed 
positions as global citizens 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply knowledge 
gained in the Asian 
Studies program to 

specific situations in 
our local communities 

 
 
 
 
 

Demonstrate 
familiarity with one or 
more Asian languages 
through written and 
oral communication 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Apply research skills by 
designing, conducting, 
and presenting research 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply the intercultural 
competencies gained in the 
Asian Studies program to 

successful careers in public, 
private, or non-profit 

sectors 

Analyze the relationship between Japanese language and culture Developing Developing         

Develop intercultural competence appropriate to everyday life situations        Introduced   

JAPN 2200: Intermediate Japanese I           

Develop oral and aural skills to perform communicative tasks in social and professional life situations        Developing   

Read and write up to 250 kanji characters        Developing   

Read short texts including stories, newspaper and magazine articles, essays, and business and personal letters        Developing   

Write coherent paragraphs and short essays in Japanese        Developing   

Examine one's own sociocultural norms, values, and beliefs through the study of Japanese culture Developing Developing         

JAPN 2201: Intermediate Japanese II           

Develop oral and aural skills to perform communicative tasks in a variety of academic and professional life situations        Developing   

Read and write up to 350 kanji characters        Developing   

Read various genres, including modern Japanese prose and essays        Developing   

Write short compositions with reasonable accuracy and speed        Developing   

Write in a variety of genres such as personal and business letters, reports, resumes, and essays        Developing   

Examine one's own sociocultural norms, values, and beliefs through the study of Japanese culture, and develop intercultural 
communication skills 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

        

JAPN 3300: Upper Intermediate Japanese I           

 
Perform communicative tasks, using a variety of vocabulary and complex grammatical structures to an upper-intermediate level 

        
Advanced 

  

Identify a situation and context and communicate with an appropriate level of formality        Advanced   

Interpret academic and spoken Japanese in a variety of situations        Advanced   

Differentiate different genres of writing construct reports and essays in an academic context        Advanced   

Identify elements of Japanese culture reflected in written and spoken Japanese Advanced Advanced         

JAPN 3301: Upper Intermediate Japanese II           

Perform communicative tasks, using competence in a variety of vocabulary and complex grammatical structures at an upper-intermediate 
level 

        
Advanced 

  

Communicate with an appropriate level of formality for a given situation and context        Advanced   

Interpret academic and spoken Japanese in a variety of situations        Advanced   

Utilize different genres of writing        Advanced   

Construct reports and essays in academic and work-related contexts        Advanced   

Analyze elements of Japanese culture reflected in written and spoken Japanese Advanced Advanced         

JAPN 4400: Advanced Japanese I: Conversation           

Perform communicative tasks demonstrating competence in a variety of vocabulary and complex grammatical structures at an Advanced 
level 

        
Advanced 

  

Communicate with native speakers with a degree of fluency and spontaneity        Advanced   

Converse articulately on a wide range of subjects and express a viewpoint on an issue        Advanced   

Construct reports and short essays in support of oral projects        Advanced   

Refine their knowledge of Japanese culture Advanced Advanced         

MAND 1100: Beginner Mandarin I           

Comprehend simple discourse        Introduced   

Read and comprehend simplified texts        Introduced   

Extend greetings, express needs, ask simple questions and give replies        Introduced   

Write simple sentences and short dialogues both in Chinese characters and in PINYIN        Introduced   

Acquire a preliminary understanding of the Chinese culture Introduced Introduced         

MAND 1101: Beginner Mandarin II           

Comprehend more refined discourse        Developing   

Read and comprehend texts on daily topics        Developing   

Discuss daily topics in more sophisticated ways        Developing   

Write more complex sentences and longer dialogues both in Chinese characters and in PINYIN        Developing   

Better understand and appreciate the Chinese culture and customs Developing Developing         

MAND 2200: Intermediate Mandarin I           

Comprehend a wide array of authentic language situations        Developing   

Read and comprehend intermediate writings        Developing   

Support an opinion, defend a point of view and make hypotheses        Developing   

Write longer compositions both in Chinese characters and in Pinyin        Developing   

Better identify many of the differences between their own and the Chinese culture and customs Developing Developing         

MAND 2201: Intermediate Mandarin II           

Comprehend a wide array of more complex authentic language situations        Developing   

Read and comprehend more complex and sophisticated writings        Developing   

Support an opinion, defend a point of view and make hypotheses        Developing   

Write clear, grammatically correct compositions both in Chinese characters and in Pinyin        Developing   

Better identify many of the differences between their own and the Chinese culture and customs Developing Developing         

MAND 3310: Upper Intermediate Mandarin: Reading And Writing I           

Use aproximately 350 new vocabulary and phrases at the upper intermediate level        Advanced   

Apply upper intermediate grammar structures in writing and speaking        Advanced   

Recognize and write both simplified Chinese characters and Pinyin, the Chinese phonetic spelling system        Advanced   

Comprehend reading materials on various social and cultural topics        Advanced   

Use different writing styles to write short essays with competence and confidence        Advanced   

Conduct conversations within the correct social context with accuracy and fluency        Advanced   

 
Understand and discuss social and cultural issues and express their opinions with the newly acquired grammar and vocabulary 

 
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

      
Advanced 

  

Better understand Chinese language, culture, history and society Advanced Advanced         



55  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

 
BA MAJOR: PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 
 
 
 
 

Demonstrate a working 
knowledge of core 

vocabulary and theoretical 
perspectives in Asian Studies 
to make careful comparisons 

across time, space and 
culture 

 
 
 
 
 

Identify key issues in 
Asian society, culture, 

politics, and history 
through written and 
oral communication 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply frameworks of 
ethnicity, gender, and 
class to analyze Asian 
literature, film, and 

media 

 
 
 
 
Apply critical thinking and problem- 
solving skills to address the impact 

of colonialism and processes of 
decolonization in Asia and Asian 
diasporas to address real world 

problems in a way that is sensitive 
both to history and competing sets 

of values 

 
 
 
 

Analyze how diverse Asian 
diasporic groups interact 

with globalization and 
transnationalism to improve 

the social, political, 
economic or cultural well- 

being of communities 

 
 
 
 
 

Interpret insider 
perspectives (Indigenous, 
majority, and minority) in 

Asia or Asian diasporic 
contexts to take informed 
positions as global citizens 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply knowledge 
gained in the Asian 
Studies program to 

specific situations in 
our local communities 

 
 
 
 
 

Demonstrate 
familiarity with one or 
more Asian languages 
through written and 
oral communication 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Apply research skills by 
designing, conducting, 
and presenting research 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply the intercultural 
competencies gained in the 
Asian Studies program to 

successful careers in public, 
private, or non-profit 

sectors 

MAND 3311: Upper Intermediate Mandarin II: Reading and Writing           

Use about 350 new vocabulary and phrases at the upper intermediate level        Advanced   

Apply Advanced grammatical structures in writing and speaking        Advanced   

Acquire and apply Chinese word-formation rules at the upper intermediate level        Advanced   

Recognize and write both simplified Chinese characters and Pinyin, the Chinese phonetic spelling system        Advanced   

Comprehend reading materials on various social and cultural topics        Advanced   

Use different writing styles to write longer essays with competence and confidence        Advanced   

Conduct conversations within the correct social context with accuracy and fluency        Advanced   

 
Understand and discuss social and cultural issues and express their opinions with the newly acquired grammar and vocabulary 

 
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

      
Advanced 

  

Better understand Chinese language, culture, history and society Advanced Advanced         

PUNJ 1100: Introductory Punjabi I           

Comprehend simple discourse        Introduced   

Read and comprehend selected texts        Introduced   

Extend greetings, express needs, ask simple questions, and give replies        Introduced   

Write short compositions and dialogues        Introduced   

Perform basic communicative tasks within the context of school and everyday life        Introduced   

Exchange basic personal information        Introduced   

Count numerals up to 12        Introduced   

Describe likes and dislikes        Introduced   

PUNJ 1101: Introductory Punjabi II           

Read and comprehend adapted texts and authentic documents, for example, advertisements        Introduced   

Write sentences and paragraphs of 100 to 200 words        Introduced   

Comprehend refined discourse        Introduced   

Express needs, ask questions, and give replies        Introduced   

Count numerals up to 100        Introduced   

PUNJ 2200: Intermediate Punjabi I           

Comprehend Punjabi used in authentic language situations        Developing   

Read and comprehend Punjabi writing & authentic documents at the intermediate level        Developing   

Support an opinion, defend a point of view, and make hypotheses in Punjabi        Developing   

Write expository 200-word compositions in Punjabi        Developing   

Identify aspects of Punjabi culture as expressed in the readings  Developing      Developing   

Identify differences between their own and the Punjabi culture Developing Developing      Developing   

PUNJ 2201: Intermediate Punjabi II           

Comprehend Punjabi at a more Advanced intermediate level in authentic language situations        Developing   

Read and comprehend more Advanced writing at the intermediate level        Developing   

 
Support an opinion, defend a point of view, and make hypotheses in Punjabi using more Advanced vocabulary at the intermediate level 

        
Developing 

  

Write expository 250-word compositions in Punjabi        Developing   

Identify aspects of Punjabi culture as expressed in the works of Punjabi writers  Developing      Developing   

Identify differences between their own and the Punjabi culture Developing Developing      Developing   

PUNJ 3300: Learn Punjabi Through Punjabi Canadian Literature           

 
Perform communicative tasks, using a variety of vocabulary and complex grammatical structures at an upper-intermediate level 

        
Advanced 

  

Identify a situation and communicate with an appropriate level of formality        Advanced   

Comprehend academic and spoken Punjabi in a variety of situations        Advanced   

Write expository word compositions in Punjabi        Advanced   

Support an opinion, defend a point of view, and make hypotheses in Punjabi write journals, reports and essays        Advanced   

Identify elements of Punjabi and Punjabi Canadian culture reflected in written and spoken Punjabi  Advanced   Advanced   Advanced   

Successfully communicate with members of the Punjabi community        Advanced   

  



56  

PROGRAM CURRICULUM MAP - Minor in Asian Studies         

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

BA MINOR: PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 
PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 

 
 
 

Demonstrate a working 
knowledge of core vocabulary 
and theoretical perspectives in 
Asian Studies to make careful 

comparisons across time, space 
and culture 

 
 
 
 

Identify key issues in Asian 
society, culture, politics, and 
history through written and 

oral communication 

 
 
 
 

Apply frameworks of ethnicity, 
gender, and class to analyze 

Asian literature, film, and 
media 

 
 

Apply critical thinking and problem- 
solving skills to address the impact of 

colonialism and processes of 
decolonization in Asia and Asian 
diasporas to address real world 

problems in a way that is sensitive both 
to history and competing sets of values 

 
 

Analyze how diverse Asian 
diasporic groups interact with 

globalization and 
transnationalism to improve 

the social, political, economic or 
cultural well-being of 

communities 

 
 
 

Interpret insider perspectives 
(Indigenous, majority, and 
minority) in Asia or Asian 
diasporic contexts to take 

informed positions as global 
citizens 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply research skills by 
designing, conducting, and 

presenting research 

 
 
 
 

Apply the intercultural 
competencies gained in the 

Asian Studies program to 
successful careers in public, 
private, or non-profit sectors 

For each CLO, the PLO(s) it satisfies are indicated, and at which level. The three levels are: 
Introduced [I]: Course learning outcomes that concentrate on knowledge or skills related to the program outcomes at a basic level or skills at an entry-level of complexity. 
Developing [D]: Course level outcomes that demonstrate learning at an increasing level of proficiency of the program level outcome as well expanding complexity. 
Advanced [A]: Course level outcomes that demonstrate learning related to the program level outcome with an increasing level of independence, expertise and sophistication or integrate the use of content or skills in multiple levels of complexity. 
Students are required to complete 12 credits of lower level courses in ASIA or approved Asian Studies courses (as listed under 
the requirements for the Major in Asian Studies) with a minimum of 6 credits at the 2000 level. 

        

ASIA 1100: Introducing Asia         

Identify and utilize differing approaches to the study of the Asian continent Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced   

Identify and analyze Western perceptions of Asia in both popular culture and academic scholarship         

Analyze the lasting impacts of colonial and neocolonial control throughout Asia Introduced Introduced  Introduced Introduced    

Analyze sources for bias, reliability, and validity Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced   

Employ comparative perspectives to evaluate information and detect cultural cues Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced   

Use information effectively and appropriately in written work and oral discussions Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced     

Develop a signature assignment for use in a developmental portfolio Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced   

Access information efficiently and effectively from a variety of media sources Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced   

ASIA 1111: The Religions of India         

Describe the difference between the theological and phenomenological study of religion Introduced     Introduced   

Apply basic paradigms used in the study of religion Introduced        

State the basic tenets of the four religions (Hinduism, Buddhism, Jainism, Sikhism)  Introduced  Introduced     

Describe the evolution of the four Indian religions (Hinduism, Buddhism, Jainism, Sikhism)  Introduced  Introduced  Introduced   

Examine religions within their socio-cultural and historical contexts  Introduced  Introduced     

Read and analyze scriptural sources   Introduced      

Employ comparative and analytical skills in the assignments and in class discussions  Introduced       

ASIA 1311: Religions of East Asia         

Identify and explain the main characteristics of the major religions of East Asia Introduced Introduced Introduced      

 
Analyze the evolution of these religions over time, and identify the factors that influenced changes in doctrine and practices 

  
Introduced 

 
Introduced 

 
Introduced 

 
Introduced 

   

Identify and explain the relationship between religion and the state in pre-modern and modern East Asia Introduced Introduced  Introduced  Introduced   

Evaluate the influence of these religions on the formation of Chinese, Korean, and Japanese societies and cultures Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced  Introduced   

Apply research techniques to analyze specific issues in the study of East Asian religions Introduced Introduced     Introduced  

ASIA 2120: Introduction to Chinese and Japanese Cinema         

Explain the origins and development of Chinese and Japanese cinema Introduced        

Identify the main schools of cinematography in China and Japan Introduced        

Identify the major directors of cinematography in China and Japan Introduced Introduced Introduced      

Viewing films critically with attention to mise-en-scene, cinematography, editing, and sound Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced   

 
Evaluate the influence and meaning of East Asian cinema in China and Japan in the areas of culture politics, economics and history Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing  

Introduced 
  

Explain the influence of gender and ethnicity in East Asian cinema Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Introduced   

Analyze historiographical debates over the evolution of East Asian cinema and its main themes Introduced Introduced  Introduced Introduced    

Apply research and critical thinking skills to specific social and political problems related to East Asian cinema Introduced Developing  Introduced Introduced Introduced   

ASIA 2156: Martial Arts of China and Japan         

Explain the historical origins of martial arts in China and Japan Introduced Introduced Introduced Developing  Developing Introduced  

Identify the main schools of martial arts in China and Japan Introduced Introduced       

Explain the relationship between martial arts, class, and gender in China and Japan Introduced Introduced Introduced      

Explain the relationship between martial arts practitioners and state power in both traditional and modern East Asia Introduced Introduced Developing Introduced   Introduced  

 
Apply research and critical thinking skills to specific social and political issues involving the role of martial arts in China and Japan Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing  

Introduced 
 
Introduced 

 

Explain the influence of martial arts on non-Asian perceptions of Chinese and Japanese culture Introduced Developing  Introduced Introduced    

Explain the influence of Chinese and Japanese martial arts on cinema, television, and print media outside of East Asia Developing Developing Developing Developing Introduced Introduced   

ASIA 2210: Happiness and Wellbeing in Indian Religions         

Explain the concepts of wellness, wellbeing and happiness         

Identify and explain the Hindu, Buddhist, and Sikh perspectives on wellbeing and happiness Introduced Developing       

Analyze major Indic wellness practices Developing Developing    Developing   

 
Critically evaluate the overlap of Indic perspectives on wellbeing and popular concepts & themes found in Western thought 

   
Developing Developing Developing 

  

Examine the influence on, and diffusion of, Indic religious practices in the global context    Developing Developing Developing   

Use information effectively and appropriately in written work and oral discussions  Developing       

Apply research to the analysis of Indic wellness practices or the constituents of happiness in Indic religions       Introduced  

ASIA 2240: Sikh Gurus: Life and Teachings         

Identify and utilize differing approaches to religious literature Developing        

Analyze sources for bias, reliability, and validity Developing        

Delineate key religious and philosophical concepts in Sikh texts  Developing Introduced      

Examine the relationship between life stories and teachings   Developing      

Analyze the development of Sikh thought and practice  Developing       

Analyze the application of Sikh teachings to the contemporary world     Introduced    

Employ comparative perspectives to evaluate information and detect cultural cues  Developing    Developing   

Use information effectively and appropriatelyin written work and oral discussions  Developing       

Access information efficiently and effectively from a variety of media sources   Developing    Introduced  

ASIA 2252: Indian Society through Popular Film         

Define and describe World Cinema Introduced        

Identify and explain the characteristics of First, Second, and Third Cinema         



57  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

BA MINOR: PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 
PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 

 
 
 

Demonstrate a working 
knowledge of core vocabulary 
and theoretical perspectives in 
Asian Studies to make careful 

comparisons across time, space 
and culture 

 
 
 
 

Identify key issues in Asian 
society, culture, politics, and 
history through written and 

oral communication 

 
 
 
 

Apply frameworks of ethnicity, 
gender, and class to analyze 

Asian literature, film, and 
media 

 
 

Apply critical thinking and problem- 
solving skills to address the impact of 

colonialism and processes of 
decolonization in Asia and Asian 
diasporas to address real world 

problems in a way that is sensitive both 
to history and competing sets of values 

 
 

Analyze how diverse Asian 
diasporic groups interact with 

globalization and 
transnationalism to improve 

the social, political, economic or 
cultural well-being of 

communities 

 
 
 

Interpret insider perspectives 
(Indigenous, majority, and 
minority) in Asia or Asian 
diasporic contexts to take 

informed positions as global 
citizens 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply research skills by 
designing, conducting, and 

presenting research 

 
 
 
 

Apply the intercultural 
competencies gained in the 

Asian Studies program to 
successful careers in public, 
private, or non-profit sectors 

 
Identify film as a text, paying attention to the main elements of film, i.e. mise-en-scene, cinematography, editing and sound 

   
Developing 

     

Describe the history of India's film industry post-1947  Developing       

Explain the main social, cultural and historical issues related to Indian cinema  Developing       

Delineate important social themes and motifs employed in various films   Developing  Developing Developing   

Read and critically analyze relevant academic articles         

Apply readings to the films viewed   Developing  Developing Developing   

Apply analytical skills in discussions and assignments  Developing     Introduced  

ASIA 2290: South Asians around the Globe         

Identify and describe relevant theories concerning migration, diaspora, globalization, and transnationalism Developing        

Analyze and explain the patterns of South Asian migration from the 1800s to the present  Developing   Developing    

Examine the patterns of South Asian emigration and settlement experiences throughout the world  Developing Developing Developing Developing    

Describe the connections between South Asian diasporas and the 'homeland'  Developing  Developing Developing    

Examine the development of the South Asian diasporas in Canada   Developing Introduced Developing    

Critically analyze the basic social issues surrounding the adaptation and integration process of South Asians in Canada     Developing Developing   

Display an awareness of various ways of seeing the world and the issues South Asian immigrants face         

Read and critically analyze relevant academic articles  Developing       

Apply analytical skills in classroom discussions, assignments, and experiential learning  Developing     Developing  

ASIA 2351: Opium, Alcohol, & Tobacco in Asian History & Culture         

Examine core historical theoretical and methodological issues around drugs and alcohol in Asia, including but not limited to 
imperialism, class, international relations, and warfare/conflict as they relate to medicines, drugs, alcohol, and tobacco production 
and consumption 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Introduced 

 
Introduced 

  

Explain the historical origins and development of East Asian and South Asian narratives about alcohol, drugs, and relationship to 
religions, medicines, food/folklore, and economies Introduced Developing Developing Developing Introduced Developing 

  

Evaluate the influence, development, and meaning of poppy agriculture and opium culture as an historical commodity in China, 
India, and Japan Developing Developing Introduced Developing 

 
Introduced 

  

Identify and explain major trends around alcohol manufacturing and consumption in Asia Developing Developing Introduced Developing  Introduced   

Identity and explain major trends around illicit drug agriculture, manufacturing, trade, and consumption in Asia Developing Developing Introduced Developing  Introduced   

Evaluate the influence of alcohol and drugs on not just East Asian but regional and global societies Introduced Developing Introduced Developing Introduced Developing   

Evaluate arguments and their supporting evidence, taking into account context, perspective, and assumptions Developing   Introduced Introduced Developing   

Interrogate a wide range of source materials and use these sources to support ideas and arguments Introduced   Introduced  Developing   

Write effectively according to the conventions of the discipline, taking into account audience, purpose, and situation Developing     Developing   

Speak in a public or online context with confidence and clarity of purpose Developing     Developing   

Articulate similarities and differences among cultures and peoples across time and geographic space Introduced   Introduced  Developing   

ASIA 2355: The Chinese Overseas: A Global History of Chinese Migration         

Identify and analyze patterns of migration in modern Chinese history, with an emphasis on overseas migration Developing Developing Introduced Introduced Developing Developing Developing Introduced 
Identify relevant theories concerning migration, diaspora, and transnationalism Developing Developing Introduced Developing Developing Developing Developing Introduced 

Examine and critically analyze patterns of Chinese emigration, settlement experiences in various host countries, and connections 
between emigrants and their country of origin Developing Developing Introduced Developing Developing Developing Developing Introduced 

Examine and analyze the development of ethnic Chinese communities abroad, and relations between diaspora and China during 
successive periods over the past two centuries Developing Developing Introduced Developing Developing Developing Developing Introduced 

Analyze primary documents related to Chinese migration Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Developing Introduced Introduced Introduced 
Apply research, writing, and critical thinking skills to issues in migration in modern Chinese history Developing Developing Introduced Developing Developing Developing Developing Introduced 
ASIA 2359: Tea in Asia         

Explain the origins and development of East and South Asian narratives about tea and tea culture in Chinese, Japanese, and Indian 
societies Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing 

   

Identify and explain the major tea practices of China, Japan, and India Developing Developing Developing Developing     

Critically evaluate the influence, development, and meaning of tea and tea culture as an historical commodity and lived tradition in 
China, Japan, and India Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing 

   

Examine the influence of art and literature in the development of Asian tea culture Introduced Introduced Developing Developing Introduced    

Evaluate the influence of tea and tea culture on other regional and global societies Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing    

Analyze sources for bias, reliability, and validity Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing    

Employ comparative perspectives to evaluate information Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing    

Use information effectively and appropriately in written work and oral discussions Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing    

Access information efficiently and effectively from a variety of media sources Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing    

ASIA 2365: Pathways to Nirvana: Cultural History of Buddhism         

Explain the difference between the theological and historical studies of religion Introduced Developing Developing   Developing Developing  

State the basic tenets of the three primary sects of Buddhism Introduced Developing Developing   Introduced Developing  

Describe the evolution of the three primary sects of Buddhism Introduced Developing Developing   Introduced Developing  

Analyze the synergy between philosophy and cultural religious practices Introduced Developing Developing   Introduced Developing  

Examine religions within their socio-cultural and historical contexts Introduced Developing Developing   Developing Developing  

Read and analyze scriptural sources Developing Developing Developing   Developing Developing  

Employ comparative and analytical skills Developing Developing Developing   Developing Developing  

Write clearly and concisely according to the conventions of the discipline Developing Developing Developing   Developing Developing  

ASIA 2399: Readings in Asian Studies         

Identify and analyze key issues related to the course material Developing Developing Developing Introduced  Developing Developing  

Identify and select relevant information from a variety of sources Developing Developing  Introduced   Developing  

Examine the ways in which different analysts have approached the study of this particular topic Developing Developing     Developing  

Apply effective research techniques and gather evidence to produce a convincing argument       Developing  

Use writing skills effectively in a number of analytical assignments  Developing     Developing  

Communicate ideas effectively in written and oral assignments  Developing     Developing  

Apply critical thinking skills to the analysis of the course material       Developing  



58  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

BA MINOR: PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 
PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 

 
 
 

Demonstrate a working 
knowledge of core vocabulary 
and theoretical perspectives in 
Asian Studies to make careful 

comparisons across time, space 
and culture 

 
 
 
 

Identify key issues in Asian 
society, culture, politics, and 
history through written and 

oral communication 

 
 
 
 

Apply frameworks of ethnicity, 
gender, and class to analyze 

Asian literature, film, and 
media 

 
 

Apply critical thinking and problem- 
solving skills to address the impact of 

colonialism and processes of 
decolonization in Asia and Asian 
diasporas to address real world 

problems in a way that is sensitive both 
to history and competing sets of values 

 
 

Analyze how diverse Asian 
diasporic groups interact with 

globalization and 
transnationalism to improve 

the social, political, economic or 
cultural well-being of 

communities 

 
 
 

Interpret insider perspectives 
(Indigenous, majority, and 
minority) in Asia or Asian 
diasporic contexts to take 

informed positions as global 
citizens 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply research skills by 
designing, conducting, and 

presenting research 

 
 
 
 

Apply the intercultural 
competencies gained in the 

Asian Studies program to 
successful careers in public, 
private, or non-profit sectors 

Students are required to complete at least 15 credits of upper level courses in ASIA or approved Asian Studies courses (as listed 
under the requirements for the Major in Asian Studies), with a minimum of 9 credits at the 3000 level and 6 credits at the 4000 
level. 

        

ASIA 3130: Sikh Culture, Religion and Society         

Characterize the concepts of culture, society, and religion         

Examine the interrelationships between culture, religion, and society and their impact on the individua Developing        

Examine the Sikh tradition within its social, cultural, and historical contexts      Advanced   

Describe the development of the Sikh tradition  Advanced  Developing  Advanced   

Probe the basic issues surrounding the evolution of the Sikh tradition  Advanced Advanced Developing  Advanced   

Explain different religious and cultural beliefs  Advanced       

Examine traditional beliefs and practices from the perspective of continuity and change  Advanced Advanced Developing     

Interact with people from diverse backgrounds         

Understand and critique academic articles         

Apply previously learned analytical skills toward class discussions, article presentations, writing essays  Advanced    Advanced Developing  

ASIA 3140: Environment and Society in East Asia         

Critically analyze the main characteristics of key environmental issues in contemporary China and Japan Developing Advanced Advanced Developing Introduced Introduced Advanced  

Analyze the evolution of Chinese and Japanese understandings of environmental themes (or issues) over time, and relate these to 
the social, cultural, or political factors that have influenced the environment in specific eras Developing  

Advanced Developing  
Advanced 

 
Introduced 

  

Critically examine the relationship between environmental issues and contemporary Chinese and Japanese policy (as well as 
historical contexts of these policies) 

 
Advanced 

 
Advanced Developing  

Advanced 
 

Introduced  
Advanced 

 

Evaluate the impacts of environmental themes/issues in both East Asia and globally Advanced Advanced Developing Developing   Advanced  

 
Apply advanced level research and writing techniques in the analysis of specific environmental issues in China and Japan 

 
Advanced 

 
Advanced Developing Developing 

   
Advanced 

 

ASIA 3149: Hong Kong: Past, Present, and Future         

Critically analyze the history of Hong Kong with a particular focus on the 19th and 20th centuries Advanced Advanced Developing Advanced Developing Developing Advanced Introduced 

 
Examine and critically analyze developments within Hong Kong itself, and place them into a broader regional and global context Advanced Advanced Developing Advanced Developing Developing Advanced Introduced 

Critically examine Hong Kong's first century under British rule Developing Advanced Introduced Advanced Developing Developing Advanced Introduced 
Analyze the transformation of Hong Kong after the establishment of the People's Republic of China in 1949 Advanced Advanced Developing Advanced Developing Developing Advanced Introduced 

Critically analyze contemporary issues such as the impact of Hong Kong's 'liberation' from colonial rule, the role of "One Country - 
Two Systems" in protecting Hong Kong's unique character, the region's economic prospects following the opening of China's 
economy, and the ongoing struggle for democratic reform 

 
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

 
Developing 

 
Advanced 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Advanced 

 
Introduced 

Critically analyze primary documents Developing Developing Introduced Developing Developing Introduced Developing Introduced 

 
Apply effective research, writing, and critical thinking skills to the solution of specific problems in the history of Hong Kong Advanced Advanced Developing Advanced Developing Developing Advanced Introduced 

ASIA 3150: East Asian Immigrants to North America         

Critically analyze the factors driving and motivations underlying East Asian migration to North America Advanced Advanced Introduced Advanced Advanced Advanced Advanced Introduced 
Trace the migration processes involved in East Asian migration to North America Advanced Advanced Developing Advanced Developing Advanced Advanced Introduced 
Critically examine the experiences of East Asian immigrants in North America over the last two hundred years Advanced Advanced Developing Advanced Advanced Advanced Developing Introduced 
Critique concepts such as identity, racism, assimilation, multiculturalism, transnationalism, and cultural hybridity Advanced Advanced Developing Advanced Advanced Advanced Advanced Introduced 

Effectively apply research, writing, and critical thinking skills to the resolution of specific problems related to the East Asian 
immigrant experience in North America Advanced Advanced Developing Advanced Advanced Advanced Advanced Introduced 

Recognize the contested meaning of terms and theories associated with immigration and immigrant communties Advanced Advanced Introduced Advanced Advanced Advanced Advanced Introduced 
ASIA 3151: Gender in East Asia         

 
Identify and critically analyze the main characteristics of feminist scholarship and gender issues in contemporary East Asia Advanced Developing 

   
Developing 

  

Critically examine the evolution of gender issues/politics/practices over time in China and Japan Advanced Advanced Advanced Developing  Advanced   

 
Critically analyze the main factors that influenced changes in Chinese and Japanese societies, cultures, and status of women Advanced Advanced Advanced Developing 

 
Advanced 

  

Identify and analyze the relationship between gender and various Chinese and Japanese regimes from early modern to modern 
East Asia Advanced Advanced Advanced Developing 

 
Advanced 

  

Apply advanced level research and writing techniques to suggest possible solutions to specific issues in the study of East Asian 
gender Advanced Advanced Advanced 

   
Developing 

 

ASIA 3152: Ethnicity in China and Japan         

Critically examine the origins and development of East Asian national narratives in multi-ethnic contexts Advanced Advanced Advanced Advanced  Advanced   

Identify and analyze the major ethnic groups of China and Japan Developing Developing Advanced Developing  Developing   

Evaluate the influence, development, and meaning of different ethnic groups in China and Japan in the areas of culture, politics, 
and history Advanced Advanced Advanced Developing Introduced Advanced 

  

Critically examine the influence of gender in East Asian ethnicity Advanced Advanced Advanced   Developing   

Critique a broad range of historiographical debates on the evolution of East Asian ethnicity Advanced Advanced  Advanced Developing Advanced Advanced  

Analyze the influence of ethnicity and indigenous rights on both East Asian and global history Advanced Advanced Advanced Advanced Advanced Advanced   

Apply research and critical thinking skills to specific social and political problems related to East Asian ethnicity Advanced Advanced Advanced    Advanced  

ASIA 3153: Folklore of China and Japan         

Explain how cultures establish categories and structures relevant to their understanding of the world Developing        

Critically analyze sources for bias, reliability, and validity Developing      Developing  

Explain how folktales are reinterpreted over time in various genres, with an aim to undermine cultural norms or to re-envision 
them 

  
Advanced Developing 

 
Advanced 

  

Critically evaluate how cultural categories and structures are shared or differ between cultures Advanced Advanced Advanced   Advanced   

Evaluate the role of gender and class in folklore  Advanced Advanced      

Critically evaluate the influence of pre-modern folklore in contemporary culture in China and Japan Developing Developing Developing      

Review research and methodology related to folklore and folkways theories in Asian Studies Advanced Advanced       

Employ comparative perspectives to evaluate information and to detect cultural cues Advanced   Developing     

Use information effectively and appropriately in written work and oral discussions  Advanced     Advanced  

Apply research and critical thinking skills to the analysis of folklore practices in Japan and China Advanced  Developing    Advanced  

Access information efficiently and effectively from a variety of media sources  Advanced Advanced    Advanced  



59  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

BA MINOR: PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 
PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 

 
 
 

Demonstrate a working 
knowledge of core vocabulary 
and theoretical perspectives in 
Asian Studies to make careful 

comparisons across time, space 
and culture 

 
 
 
 

Identify key issues in Asian 
society, culture, politics, and 
history through written and 

oral communication 

 
 
 
 

Apply frameworks of ethnicity, 
gender, and class to analyze 

Asian literature, film, and 
media 

 
 

Apply critical thinking and problem- 
solving skills to address the impact of 

colonialism and processes of 
decolonization in Asia and Asian 
diasporas to address real world 

problems in a way that is sensitive both 
to history and competing sets of values 

 
 

Analyze how diverse Asian 
diasporic groups interact with 

globalization and 
transnationalism to improve 

the social, political, economic or 
cultural well-being of 

communities 

 
 
 

Interpret insider perspectives 
(Indigenous, majority, and 
minority) in Asia or Asian 
diasporic contexts to take 

informed positions as global 
citizens 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply research skills by 
designing, conducting, and 

presenting research 

 
 
 
 

Apply the intercultural 
competencies gained in the 

Asian Studies program to 
successful careers in public, 
private, or non-profit sectors 

ASIA 3154: Chinese Cinema and Society         

Identify and analyze the major Chinese/Hong Kong/Taiwanese directors and their films Developing Developing Advanced Developing Developing Developing   

Critically analyze the evolution of cinema in mainland China, Hong Kong and Taiwan Developing Developing Advanced Advanced Advanced Developing   

Viewing films critically with attention to mise-en-scene, cinematography, editing, and sound Developing        

Identify and critically analyze the various genres of Chinese cinema Developing Developing    Developing   

Analyze the relationship between Chinese history and cinematic themes Developing Developing Developing Advanced Advanced Developing   

Apply advanced level research and writing techniques to analyze the influence of cinema on Chinese society and culture Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing    

ASIA 3230: Islam in South Asia         

Critically analyze the main characteristics of Islam as practiced in South Asia Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Introduced 
Critically analyze the evolution of Islam in South Asia Developing Developing Introduced Developing Developing Developing Developing  

 
Critically examine the relationship between Islam and society in South Asia in the Medieval, pre-Modern and Modern eras Developing Developing Introduced Developing Developing  

Developing Developing 
 

Critically analyze the relationship between Islam and state power in South Asia Developing Developing Introduced Developing Developing Developing Developing  

Evaluate the influence of Islamic aesthetics on material and non-material culture in South Asia Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing  

Evaluate the role of politicized Islam in the partition of India and the post-partition era Developing Developing Introduced Developing Developing Developing Developing Introduced 

 
Apply advanced level research and writing techniques to the study of problems related to the place of Islam in South Asia Developing Developing Introduced Developing Developing  

Developing Developing  
Introduced 

ASIA 3252: Bollywood and Contemporary India         

Critically analyze globalization and its impact on Indian society and cinema     Advanced Developing   

Identify and analyze the pertinent social themes in contemporary Indian cinema  Advanced Advanced   Developing   

Analyze the relationship between cinematic themes and India as a transitional society  Advanced Advanced   Developing   

Identify the impact cinema has had on the Indian audience  Developing   Developing    

Identify and critically analyze the controversies surrounding various contemporary films  Advanced Advanced   Developing   

Identify and critically analyze intent, meaning, and ideas within multiple forms of communication   Advanced      

Speak, write, and compose with clarity, purpose, awareness of audience, empathy, and self-awareness       Advanced  

ASIA 3255: Gender in South Asia         

 
Critically evaluate the various theoretical perspectives on the study of dominant gender norms and issues in a South Asian context Advanced Developing 

   
Advanced 

  

Analyse the complex changes and continuities that have shaped the emergence of gender roles and impacted the peoples of South 
Asia from the early 1800s up to the present time 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Advanced 

  

Deconstruct and critically assess the various images, roles, statuses, and living conditions in South Asia  Developing Advanced Developing  Advanced   

Analyse and evaluate the religious, cultural, social, and political forces that impact the lives of women in relation to men in South 
Asia 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Advanced 

  

Critically evaluate contemporary debates and issues pertaining to discourses of femininity and masculinity in South Asia   Advanced Developing  Advanced   

Analyze gender issues in the South Asian diaspora   Advanced  Advanced Advanced   

Appraise scholarly works and varied sources in relation to academic principles         

Undertake independent scholarly research and provide evidence of the same in their research work       Advanced  

ASIA 3310: Japanese Culture and Business         

Define customs and values associated with Japanese business Developing Advanced Developing   Developing   

Research and explore topics related to Japanese business and culture Developing Developing Developing   Developing Advanced  

Identify and critique theories and stereotypes of "Japanese-style business management" (nihonteki keiei) Advanced Advanced    Developing   

Explain connections between business leaders, politicians and senior bureaucrats in modern Japan Advanced Advanced Advanced      

Explore the relationship between workers (and their unions) and business leaders in Japan Advanced Advanced Advanced      

Describe the significance of business in the "invention" of Japanese culture Advanced Advanced    Advanced   

Identify cross-cultural similarities and differences in business practices Advanced     Advanced   

Expose political and economic motives behind competing concepts of Japanese-style business management and the "essence" of 
Japanese culture Advanced Advanced 

   
Advanced 

  

Explain the influence of business practices on other aspects of Japanese society Advanced Advanced    Advanced   

Read and critically analyze relevant academic articles and texts Developing Developing Developing   Developing Developing  

Critique movies and documentaries that relate to Japanese business  Advanced Advanced      

Apply analytical skills in discussions and assignments Advanced Advanced       

Write thoughtful and well-developed responses to cultural questions Advanced Advanced Advanced   Advanced   

ASIA 3320: Japanese Culture Through Film         

Evaluate significant aspects of contemporary Japanese culture, especially as they are portrayed in films Advanced Advanced Advanced   Advanced   

Identify key events and movements in the cultural history of modern Japan  Developing       

Respond critically to claims about themes and concepts in Japan's intellectual traditions Advanced     Advanced   

Describe diversity and change within Japanese culture as reflected in film   Developing   Developing   

Read and discuss critically relevant academic articles on Japanese media and culture Developing Developing Developing    Advanced  

Write a thoughtful, well-developed essay on a theme related to film in contemporary culture         

Apply analytical skills in discussions, debates and reports Developing Developing Developing      

Describe and analyze the role of media in cultural definition and change   Advanced      

ASIA 3860: South Asian Folklore         

Probe the concepts and theories of folklore, as well as the methods of folklife study         

 
Critically analyze the ways by which cultures establish categories and structures relevant to their understanding of the world 

        

Critically examine the reinterpretation of folktales over time in various genres, with an aim to undermine cultural norms or to re- 
envision them 

        

Evaluate and analyze how cultural categories and structures are shared or differ between cultures  Introduced       

Critically analyze the role of gender and class in folklore  Introduced       

Apply research and critical thinking skills to the analysis of folklore practices        Advanced 
ASIA 3870: Bhangra Movements and Identity         

Critically analyze the origins and development of Bhangra         

Examine and analyze the controversies surrounding adapted and hybrid forms         

Critically analyze the relationships of the concepts of belonging and identity in reference to Bhangra  Introduced 
      



60  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

BA MINOR: PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 
PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 

 
 
 

Demonstrate a working 
knowledge of core vocabulary 
and theoretical perspectives in 
Asian Studies to make careful 

comparisons across time, space 
and culture 

 
 
 
 

Identify key issues in Asian 
society, culture, politics, and 
history through written and 

oral communication 

 
 
 
 

Apply frameworks of ethnicity, 
gender, and class to analyze 

Asian literature, film, and 
media 

 
 

Apply critical thinking and problem- 
solving skills to address the impact of 

colonialism and processes of 
decolonization in Asia and Asian 
diasporas to address real world 

problems in a way that is sensitive both 
to history and competing sets of values 

 
 

Analyze how diverse Asian 
diasporic groups interact with 

globalization and 
transnationalism to improve 

the social, political, economic or 
cultural well-being of 

communities 

 
 
 

Interpret insider perspectives 
(Indigenous, majority, and 
minority) in Asia or Asian 
diasporic contexts to take 

informed positions as global 
citizens 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply research skills by 
designing, conducting, and 

presenting research 

 
 
 
 

Apply the intercultural 
competencies gained in the 

Asian Studies program to 
successful careers in public, 
private, or non-profit sectors 

Identify and investigate common concepts and motifs used in Bhangra         

Critically analyze the relationship of the subaltern with Bhangra  Introduced Developing   Developing   

Apply research and critical thinking skills to the analysis of performance traditions and identity formation        Advanced 
ASIA 4350: Asian Communities in Canada         

 
Critically examine and evaluate various studies on Asian communities in Canada, with emphasis on the post-World War II period 

 
Advanced 

       

Compare and contrast the role of agency and structure in the immigrant experience      Advanced   

Critically examine the complexity of the experiences of members of Asian communities in terms of the porosity of borders, the 
heterogeneity in communities, and the negotiability of identities 

   
Advanced 

   
Advanced 

  

Identify and apply social theory and methodology effectively in a field research project on an Asian community Advanced      Advanced Advanced 
Complete the steps necessary to gain approval from the Research Ethics Board (REB) for the field research project       Advanced Advanced 
Conduct fieldwork on an Asian community in Greater Vancouver or the Fraser Valley region       Advanced Advanced 

Critically evaluate the impact of globalization and multiculturalism on social and cultural change of the Asian communities in 
Canada 

     
Advanced 

   

ASIA 4351: Advanced Topics in Asian Cinema         

Critically analyze primary and secondary sources at an advanced level Advanced Advanced Advanced   Advanced   

Critically evaluate the influence of the chosen genres/directors/national film industries on contemporary cultures in Asia  Advanced Advanced Advanced  Advanced   

Determine and disseminate research findings         

Critically analyze the various methodological and theoretical approaches employed in the study of film   Advanced      

Apply various methodological and theoretical approaches to the analysis of selected Asian films  Advanced Advanced Advanced     

 
Apply advance research, critical thinking, and writing skills to the analysis of specific issues related to the study of Asian cinema 

  
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

   

ASIA 4499: Selected Topics in Asian Studies         

Critically analyze primary and secondary sources at an advanced level Advanced Advanced Advanced Advanced Advanced Advanced Advanced  

Critically evaluate the relevance of the topic within the larger context of the discipline Advanced   Advanced Advanced    

Determine and disseminate research findings Advanced Advanced Advanced    Advanced  

Critically analyze a broad range of methodological debates Advanced        

Apply advanced research, critical thinking, and writing skills to the understanding of specific issues in Asian Studies Advanced Advanced Advanced Advanced Advanced Advanced Advanced  

Approved List of Courses in Lieu of ASIA Courses         

JAPN/LANC 1200: Introduction to Contemporary Japanese Society and Culture         

Identify certain key events in the history of Japan Introduced Introduced Introduced   Introduced   

Research and apply various relevant theories Introduced        

Explain the significance of culture and its impact on human behavior Introduced        

Recognize and appreciate cross-cultural and inter-cultural diversity Introduced        

Critique political, social and economic motives behind the creation of cultural stereotypes Introduced Introduced Introduced      

Explain influences of culture and society upon individuals and groups Introduced Introduced       

Critique cultural stereotypes and ethnocentrism Introduced Introduced       

Critically analyze relevant academic texts, as well as popular articles and movies  Introduced Introduced      

Apply analytical skills in discussions and assignments Introduced Introduced Introduced   Introduced   

Write meaningful responses to questions about cultures Introduced Introduced Introduced   Introduced   

Research, organize and develop an essay on a relevant topic         

HIST 1150: Beyond the Middle Kingdom: Introduction to East Asian History         

Identify and analyze the major historical developments in East Asia to approximately 1600 Introduced Introduced  Introduced Introduced  Introduced  

Analyze the nature and significance of the interaction among thecultures and states of East Asia during this era Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced  Introduced  

Place the major events and developments in this area into a regional and global context Introduced Introduced  Introduced   Introduced  

Analyze and evaluate historical documents Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced  Introduced  

Employ comparative and analytical skills in assignments and discussions Introduced Introduced     Introduced  

Write clearly and concisely in a variety of formats according to the conventions of the discipline Introduced Introduced     Introduced  

Apply appropriate research techniques to the solution of a specific historical problem Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced  Introduced  

HIST 1160: A Passage to South Asia: Introduction to South Asian History         

 
Identify the major developments in the history of the Indian sub-continent from the formation of the first civilizations into the 21st century 

 
Introduced 

 
Introduced 

  
Introduced 

 
Introduced 

  
Introduced 

 

Analyze the development of the early civilizations and the impact of the migrations by outside groups into the subcontinent Introduced Introduced  Introduced  Introduced Introduced  

Analyze the rise and fall of the Mauryan, Gupta, and Muslim kingdoms Introduced Introduced     Introduced  

Analyze the rise and fall of the Mughal Empire and the impact of European incursions Introduced Introduced     Introduced  

Analyze the impact of British imperial rule on the societal, cultural, economic, and political development on the sub-continent Introduced Introduced  Introduced   Introduced  

Trace and analyze the growth and impact of the independence movement in British India Introduced Introduced  Introduced   Introduced  

Explain the reasons behind the end of British rule and the emergence of the independent nations of India and Pakistan Introduced Introduced  Introduced   Introduced  

Analyze messages, biases, and the limitations of iconographic sources Introduced Introduced  Introduced   Introduced  

Explain the evolution of the Indian Subcontinent in a regional and global context Introduced Introduced  Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced  

Display an awareness of and sensitivity to differing cultural perspectives Introduced Introduced  Introduced Introduced  Introduced  

Analyze and evaluate historical documents Introduced Introduced  Introduced   Introduced  

Employ comparative and analytical skills in assignments and discussions Introduced Introduced  Introduced   Introduced  

Write clearly and concisely in a variety of formats according to the conventions of the discipline Introduced Introduced  Introduced   Introduced  

Apply appropriate research techniques to the solution of a specific historical problem Introduced Introduced  Introduced Introduced  Introduced  

GEOG 2185: Geography of East Asia         

Apply basic methods and concepts in regional geographical analyses Introduced Introduced Introduced Developing Developing Introduced Introduced Introduced 
Critically comment on East Asia as a region within the global context Introduced Introduced Introduced Developing Developing Introduced Introduced Introduced 
Analyze the major physiographic, climate, soil, and vegetation zones of East Asia and explain their relationships Introduced Introduced       

Explain the relationship between the physical setting and resource-based economic activities in each country Introduced Introduced  Introduced Introduced  Introduced  

 
Analyze the evolution of economic growth in the region and discuss the economic and cultural links between countries of this region 

 
Introduced 

 
Introduced 

  
Introduced 

 
Introduced 

  
Introduced 

 

Describe the political and cultural identities of the countries in the region Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced 

 
Analyze the historical geography of the region, including the influence of colonial powers on economic development in the region 

 
Introduced 

 
Introduced 

 
Introduced 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Introduced 

  

Account for the emergence of a regional hierarchy within East Asia based on global economic position Introduced Introduced  Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced  



61  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

BA MINOR: PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 
PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 

 
 
 

Demonstrate a working 
knowledge of core vocabulary 
and theoretical perspectives in 
Asian Studies to make careful 

comparisons across time, space 
and culture 

 
 
 
 

Identify key issues in Asian 
society, culture, politics, and 
history through written and 

oral communication 

 
 
 
 

Apply frameworks of ethnicity, 
gender, and class to analyze 

Asian literature, film, and 
media 

 
 

Apply critical thinking and problem- 
solving skills to address the impact of 

colonialism and processes of 
decolonization in Asia and Asian 
diasporas to address real world 

problems in a way that is sensitive both 
to history and competing sets of values 

 
 

Analyze how diverse Asian 
diasporic groups interact with 

globalization and 
transnationalism to improve 

the social, political, economic or 
cultural well-being of 

communities 

 
 
 

Interpret insider perspectives 
(Indigenous, majority, and 
minority) in Asia or Asian 
diasporic contexts to take 

informed positions as global 
citizens 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply research skills by 
designing, conducting, and 

presenting research 

 
 
 
 

Apply the intercultural 
competencies gained in the 

Asian Studies program to 
successful careers in public, 
private, or non-profit sectors 

GEOG 2190: Geography of South Asia         

Apply basic methods and concepts in regional geographical analyses Introduced Introduced Introduced Developing Developing Introduced Introduced Introduced 
Describe and explain the major physical landforms and climatic processes of South Asia Introduced      Introduced Introduced 
Describe and explain the population and settlement patterns of South Asia Introduced Introduced Developing Developing Developing Introduced Introduced Introduced 
Describe and explain the historical and economic development of South Asia Introduced Introduced  Developing Developing Introduced Introduced  

Describe and explain the cultural geography of South Asia Introduced Introduced Introduced  Developing Introduced Introduced Introduced 
Review the state of the environment of South Asia and discuss some major environmental issues facing this region Introduced Introduced     Introduced Introduced 
Explain the importance of the interrelationships among South Asian nations Introduced Introduced  Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced 
Explain the importance of external global forces and linkages that affect the future of South Asia Introduced Introduced   Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced 
HIST 2350: Late Imperial China         

 
Analyze the history of China's struggle to meet domestic and foreign challenges from the mid-fourteenth to the late-nineteenth centuries 

 
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

 
Introduced 

 
Advanced 

 
Introduced 

 
Introduced 

 
Advanced Developing 

 
Analyze and evaluate the influence and growth of domestic and global trade systems, demographic growth, and population transfers 

 
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

 
Introduced 

 
Advanced 

 
Introduced 

 
Introduced 

 
Advanced Developing 

Identify and analyze the internal conditions that gave rise to revolutionary changes in the Chinese political system, economic institutions, 
social structure, and intellectual attitudes as the country began to transform itself from a Confucian universal empire to a modern nation 
state 

 
 
Advanced 

 
 
Advanced 

 
 
Introduced 

 
 
Advanced 

 
 
Introduced 

 
 
Introduced 

 
 
Advanced 

 
Developing 

Identify and evaluate China's response to external pressures during the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries Advanced Advanced Introduced Advanced Introduced Introduced Advanced Developing 
Evaluate arguments and their supporting evidence, taking into account context, perspective, and assumptions Advanced Advanced Introduced Advanced Introduced Introduced Advanced Developing 
Interrogate a wide range of source materials and use these sources to support ideas and arguments Advanced Advanced Introduced Advanced Introduced Introduced Advanced Developing 
Write effectively according to the conventions of the discipline, taking into account audience, purpose, and situation Advanced Advanced Introduced Advanced Introduced Introduced Advanced Developing 
Speak in a public and/or online context with confidence and clarity of purpose         

Articulate similarities and differences among cultures and peoples across time and geographic space Advanced Advanced Introduced Advanced Introduced Introduced Advanced Developing 
HIST 2375: Japan under the Shoguns, 1600 to 1868         

Identify and analyze the major historical developments in Japan from approximately 1600 to 1868 Developing Developing Developing Introduced Introduced  Developing  

Critically analyze the nature and significance of the interactions among Japan, the West, and other East Asian nation Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing    

Critically examine developments in culture, society, politics, economics, and the environment in early modern Japan Developing Developing Developing      

Apply their knowledge of Japan's past to more contemporary issues in Japanese historical development Developing Developing Developing Introduced   Developing  

Evaluate arguments and their supporting evidence, taking into account context, perspective, and assumptions Developing Developing Developing Introduced   Developing  

Interrogate a wide range of source materials and use these sources to support ideas and arguments Developing Developing Developing      

Write effectively according to the conventions of the discipline, taking into account audience, purpose, and situation Developing Developing Developing      

Speak in a public and/or online context with confidence and clarity of purpose Developing Developing Developing    Developing  

Articulate similarities and differences among cultures and peoples across time and geographic space Developing Developing Developing      

PHIL 2115: Asian Philosophy         

Analyze and appreciate important philosophical issues (e.g. the nature of reality and time, the meaning of life, virtue, right and wrong, and 
human nature) in Asian traditions 

 
Introducing 

 
Introducing 

     
Introducing 

 
Introducing 

 
Describe, analyze, compare, and assess various philosophical views in a way that is cognizant of Asian perspective and approaches 

 
Introducing 

 
Introducing 

  
Introducing 

   
Introducing 

 
Introducing 

Critically examine aspects of Asian philosophy Introducing Introducing  Introducing   Introducing Introducing 
Conduct philosophical arguments         

POLI 2140: Comparative Politics of Asia         

Access, understand and use academic literature related to the subject area Developing Developing Developing   Developing Developing Developing 
Identify and explain in written and in oral form the basic terms and concepts important to the study of Asian political systems Developing Developing Developing   Developing Developing Developing 
Develop an informed and critical understanding of the sources and nature of conflict, power and political change in Asia Developing Developing Developing   Developing Developing Developing 
Integrate several recognized theoretical approaches to structure research Developing Developing Developing   Developing Developing Developing 
Identify similarities and differences in political history, political culture and governance among different Asian countries Developing Developing Developing   Developing Developing Developing 
Identify advantages and disadvantages of different political systems Developing Developing Developing   Developing Developing Developing 
Analyze problems related to contemporary political conflicts in Asia Developing Developing Developing   Developing Developing Developing 
ANTH 3330: East Asian Archaeology         

Analyze the major time periods and events in East Asian prehistory  Developing       

Identify the key processes in the development of East Asian states  Advanced     Advanced  

Evaluate current archaeological methods used to examine the rise of social inequality in East Asia    Developing   Advanced  

Apply the concepts and methods of archaeology to their own written research project       Advanced  

Assess the importance of prehistory for contemporary East Asian cultures    Developing  Introduced   

Explain East Asian cultures and appreciate the importance of cross-cultural diversity  Introduced  Developing  Introduced   

Contextualizing local issues within broader national and international settings  Developing  Developing  Introduced Developing  

HIST 3350: China in the Twentieth Century: Reforms and Revolutions         

Critically analyze the major historical developments in China from approximately 1900 to the present Advanced Developing Developing Developing Developing  Advanced  

Critically analyze the nature and significance of the interactions among China, the West, and other East Asian nations Developing Advanced Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing  

Analyze the major events and developments in this area within a regional and global context Developing Advanced Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing  

Critically examine concepts such as identity, tradition, modernity, and Westernization and their implications in the context of modern Chinese 
history 

 
Developing 

 
Advanced 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 

Critically evaluate arguments and their supporting evidence, taking into account context, perspective, and assumptions Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Advanced  

Interrogate a wide range of source materials and utilize these sources to support ideas and arguments Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Advanced  

Write effectively according to the conventions of the discipline, taking into account audience, purpose, and situation Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Advanced  

Articulate similarities and differences among peoples and cultures across time and geographic space Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing  

HIST 3360: British India 1857 to 1947         

Identify and critically analyze the major developments in the history of the Indian sub-continent between 1857 and 1947 Developing Developing Developing Developing  Developing Developing  

 
Critically analyze the impact of British imperial rule on societal, cultural, economic, and political development on the sub-continent 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

  
Developing 

 
Developing 

 

Trace and critically analyze the growth and impact of the independence movement in India Developing Developing Developing Developing  Developing Developing  

Evaluate the theories underpinning the end of British rule and the implications of the emergence of the independent states Developing Developing Developing Developing  Developing Developing  

Critically evaluate arguments and their supporting evidence, taking into account context, perspective, and assumptions Developing Developing Developing Developing  Developing Developing  

Interrogate a wide range of source materials and utilize these sources to support ideas and arguments Developing Developing Developing Developing  Developing Developing  

Write effectively according to the conventions of the discipline, taking into account audience, purpose, and situation Developing Developing Developing Developing  Developing Developing  

Speak in a public context with confidence and clarity of purpose Developing Developing Developing Developing  Developing Developing  

Articulate similarities and differences among cultures across time and geographic space Developing Developing Developing Developing  Developing Developing  



62  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

BA MINOR: PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 
PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 

 
 
 

Demonstrate a working 
knowledge of core vocabulary 
and theoretical perspectives in 
Asian Studies to make careful 

comparisons across time, space 
and culture 

 
 
 
 

Identify key issues in Asian 
society, culture, politics, and 
history through written and 

oral communication 

 
 
 
 

Apply frameworks of ethnicity, 
gender, and class to analyze 

Asian literature, film, and 
media 

 
 

Apply critical thinking and problem- 
solving skills to address the impact of 

colonialism and processes of 
decolonization in Asia and Asian 
diasporas to address real world 

problems in a way that is sensitive both 
to history and competing sets of values 

 
 

Analyze how diverse Asian 
diasporic groups interact with 

globalization and 
transnationalism to improve 

the social, political, economic or 
cultural well-being of 

communities 

 
 
 

Interpret insider perspectives 
(Indigenous, majority, and 
minority) in Asia or Asian 
diasporic contexts to take 

informed positions as global 
citizens 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply research skills by 
designing, conducting, and 

presenting research 

 
 
 
 

Apply the intercultural 
competencies gained in the 

Asian Studies program to 
successful careers in public, 
private, or non-profit sectors 

HIST 3361: Indian Subcontinent since 1947         

Critically analyze the major developments in the history of the Indian sub-continent between 1947 and the present Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing  

Critically analyze the establishment and evolution of governmental and administrative structures in the newly-independent states of India, 
Pakistan, and Bangladesh 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 

Trace and critically analyze the development of nationalism in each of the states of the sub-continent Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing  

Critically analyze the social and cultural changes since independence in India, Pakistan, and Bangladesh Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing  

Critically analyze the relationships among the states of the sub-continent Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing  

Critically analyze the major political and economic events and developments in India, Pakistan, and Bangladesh from independence to the 
present 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 

Critically evaluate arguments and their supporting evidence, taking into account context, perspective, and assumptions Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing  

Interrogate a wide range of source materials and utilize these sources to support ideas and arguments Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing  

Write effectively according to the conventions of the discipline, taking into account audience, purpose, and situation Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing  

Speak in a public context with confidence and clarity of purpose Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing  

Articulate similarities and differences among cultures across time and geographic space Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing  

HIST 3370: History of Modern Japan         

Critically analyze the major historical developments in Japan from approximately 1868 to the present Advanced Developing Developing Developing Developing  Advanced  

Critically analyze the nature and significance of the interactions among Japan, the West, and other East Asian nations Developing Advanced Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing  

Place the major events and developments in this area into a regional and global context Developing Advanced Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing  

Critically examine concepts such as identity, tradition, modernity, and Westernization and their implications in the context of modern 
Japanese history 

 
Developing 

 
Advanced 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 

Apply effective research, writing, and critical thinking skills to the solution of specific historical problems Advanced Developing Developing Advanced Developing Developing   

Evaluate arguments and their supporting evidence, taking into account context, perspective, and assumptions Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Advanced  

Interrogate a wide range of source materials and use these sources to support ideas and arguments Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Advanced  

Write effectively according to the conventions of the discipline, taking into account audience, purpose, and situation Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Advanced  

Speak in a public context with confidence and clarity of purpose Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Advanced  

Articulate similarities and differences among cultures and peoples across time and geographic space Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing  

LANC 3150: Developing Intercultural Competencies in the 21st Century         

Conceptualize and identify intercultural competencies and skills   Introduced Introduced Introduced Developing Developing Advanced 
Identify and assess models of intercultural competence development   Developing Introduced Introduced Developing Developing Advanced 
Explore personal, professional, and global cross-cultural settings  Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Advanced Advanced 
Explore and develop personal intercultural capability  Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Advanced Advanced 
Reflect on future personal, professional, and global cross-cultural settings  Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Advanced Advanced 
Identify best practices for effective intercultural relations  Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Advanced Advanced 
Develop and apply a global mindset  Introduced Developing Developing Developing Developing Developing Advanced 
POLI 3146: Government and Politics of India         

Critically evaluate academic literature related to the subject area Advanced Advanced Introduced Advanced Developing Introduced Advanced Advanced 
Assess the sources and nature of conflict, power and political change in India Advanced Advanced Introduced Advanced Developing Introduced Advanced Advanced 
Appraise theories of development and modernization as they apply to India and the South Asia region Developing Developing Introduced Advanced Introduced Introduced Advanced Advanced 
Analyze key developments in political history, political culture and development of democracy in India Advanced Advanced Introduced Advanced Developing Advanced Advanced Advanced 
Critically assess advantages and disadvantages of democracy in a developing society Introduced Introduced Introduced Advanced Developing Introduced Advanced Advanced 
Critically analyze contemporary political issues facing India Advanced Advanced Introduced Advanced Developing Introduced Advanced Advanced 
HIST 4450: China and the West         

Critically analyze the relationship between China and the West across a number of historical eras         

 
Challenge existing myths related to the encounter between China and the West such as "Chinese backwardness" and "Western superiority" 

        

Critically examine the changing nature of that relationship and the causes of periodic Sinomania and Sinophobia in the West  leave blank - course has not been taught in years (potentially being revised or dropped)     

Critically analyze a number of texts which purport to merge Chinese and Western philosophies         

Critically analyze historical documents         

Apply research, critical thinking, and writing skills to finding solutions to historical and philosophical problems related to exchanges between 
China and the West 

        

HIST 4460: Gandhi in History         

Identify and analyze the major milestones in Gandhi's life and in the development of his philosophical/religious views Advanced Advanced  Advanced Advanced  Advanced  

Critically analyze the construction of the theory and method of satyagraha within the context of Gandhi's experiences and 
philosophical/religious studies 

 
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

  
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

  
Advanced 

 

Critically analyze the impact of Gandhi's leadership of the Indian political movement in South Africa and of the independence movement in 
India 

 
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

  
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

  
Advanced 

 

Evaluate and analyze the impact of Gandhi's theory and methods of satyagraha as applied in a number of other historical examples, such as 
the Civil Rights movement in the United States and the anti-apartheid movement in South Africa 

 
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

  
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

  
Advanced 

 

Apply advanced research, critical thinking, and writing skills to the solution of specific historical and philosophical problems regarding the 
formation and application of non-violent, non-cooperation as a method of political activism 

 
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

  
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

  
Advanced 

 

HIST 4470 : Warriors of Japan: The Samurai         

Critically analyze the roles played by the hereditary warrior elite of pre- and early-modern Japan Advanced Advanced Advanced   Advanced Advanced  

Examine and critically analyze the process by which Bushido was constructed Advanced Advanced Advanced   Advanced Advanced  

Distinguish the samurai as historical figure from the samurai as cultural construct Advanced Advanced Advanced   Advanced Advanced  

Critically analyze Japanese and foreign cinematic portrayals of the samurai and bushido Advanced Advanced Advanced   Advanced Advanced  

Apply effective research, writing, and critical thinking skills to the solution of specific historical problems Advanced Advanced Advanced   Advanced Advanced  

Evaluate arguments and their supporting evidence, taking into account context, perspective, and assumptions Advanced Advanced Advanced   Advanced Advanced  

Interrogate a wide range of source materials and use these sources to support ideas and arguments Advanced Advanced Advanced   Advanced Advanced  

Write effectively according to the conventions of the discipline, taking into account audience, purpose, and situation Advanced Advanced Advanced   Advanced Advanced  

Speak in a public or online context with confidence and clarity of purpose Advanced Advanced Advanced   Advanced Advanced  

HIST 4480: The Vietnam War in Historical Perspective         

Critically analyze the nature of the war, and the reasons for the French and American defeat  Advanced  Advanced     

Critically analyze the impact of the war in the United States, including the development of the antiwar movement, and in Indochina 

 Advanced  Advanced     

Critically examine the ways in which war in Vietnam has become part of public memory in Southeast Asia and in North America 

 Advanced  Advanced Introduced    

Interrogate sources for bias, reliability, and validity, and use credible, relevant sources to support your ideas and arguments 

      Advanced  

Evaluate arguments and their supporting evidence, considering context, perspective, and assumptions 

        



63  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

BA MINOR: PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 
PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 

 
 
 

Demonstrate a working 
knowledge of core vocabulary 
and theoretical perspectives in 
Asian Studies to make careful 

comparisons across time, space 
and culture 

 
 
 
 

Identify key issues in Asian 
society, culture, politics, and 
history through written and 

oral communication 

 
 
 
 

Apply frameworks of ethnicity, 
gender, and class to analyze 

Asian literature, film, and 
media 

 
 

Apply critical thinking and problem- 
solving skills to address the impact of 

colonialism and processes of 
decolonization in Asia and Asian 
diasporas to address real world 

problems in a way that is sensitive both 
to history and competing sets of values 

 
 

Analyze how diverse Asian 
diasporic groups interact with 

globalization and 
transnationalism to improve 

the social, political, economic or 
cultural well-being of 

communities 

 
 
 

Interpret insider perspectives 
(Indigenous, majority, and 
minority) in Asia or Asian 
diasporic contexts to take 

informed positions as global 
citizens 

 
 
 
 
 

Apply research skills by 
designing, conducting, and 

presenting research 

 
 
 
 

Apply the intercultural 
competencies gained in the 

Asian Studies program to 
successful careers in public, 
private, or non-profit sectors 

Write effectively according to the conventions of the discipline, considering audience, purpose, and situation   Advanced     Advanced  

Speak in a public context with confidence and clarity of purpose 
 

        

Articulate similarities and differences among cultures across time and geographic space 
 

 Advanced  Advanced     

Participate effectively in collaborative activities with persons of diverse backgrounds 

        

LANC 4320: Understanding Japanese Culture through Literature         

Distinguish the variety of written forms and symbols in Japanese This course hasn't been taught in years and is being removed from the catalog      

Analyze critically connections between education, literacy, and identify in contemporary Japan         

Explore the relationship between writers and their readership in Japan         

Examine the history and development of publishing and print-making in Japan         

Understand the relation of the written word to magic and religion in Japan         

Recognize the relationship between gender and writing in Japan         

Describe the significance of writing in the "invention" of Japanese culture         

Discern political and economic motives behind competing views of the written language and the "essence" of Japanese culture         

Interpret and critically analyze relevant academic articles and texts         

Apply analytical skills in discussions and assignments         

Write thoughtful and well-developed responses to questions about culture         

Delineate significant developments in Japanese literature from ancient times until today         

  



64  

PROGRAM CURRICULUM MAP - AA in Asian Studies       

 
 
 
 
 

PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

AA: PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 
PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 

 
 

Demonstrate a working knowledge of core 
vocabulary and theoretical perspectives in 
Asian Studies to make careful comparisons 

across time, space and culture 

 
 
 
Identify key issues in Asian society, culture, 
politics, and history through written and 

oral communication 

 
 
 
Apply frameworks of ethnicity, gender, and 
class to analyze Asian literature, film, and 

media 

 
 
Analyze how diverse Asian diasporic groups 

interact with globalization and 
transnationalism to improve the social, 

political, economic or cultural well-being of 
communities 

 
 
 

Demonstrate familiarity with one or more 
Asian languages through written and oral 

communication 

 
 

Apply the intercultural competencies 
gained in the Asian Studies program to 

successful careers in public, private, or non- 
profit sectors 

For each CLO, the PLO(s) it satisfies are indicated, and at which level. The three levels are: 
Introduced [I]: Course learning outcomes that concentrate on knowledge or skills related to the program outcomes at a basic level or skills at an entry-level of complexity. 
Developing [D]: Course level outcomes that demonstrate learning at an increasing level of proficiency of the program level outcome as well expanding complexity. 
Advanced [A]: Course level outcomes that demonstrate learning related to the program level outcome with an increasing level of independence, expertise and sophistication or integrate the use of content or skills in multiple levels of complexity. 
Select at least 9 credits from the following:       

ASIA 2252: Indian Society through Popular Film       

Define and describe World Cinema Introduced      

Identify and explain the characteristics of First, Second, and Third Cinema       

Identify film as a text, paying attention to the main elements of film, i.e. mise-en-scene, cinematography, editing and sound   Developing    

Describe the history of India's film industry post-1947  Developing     

Explain the main social, cultural and historical issues related to Indian cinema  Developing     

Delineate important social themes and motifs employed in various films   Developing Developing   

Read and critically analyze relevant academic articles       

Apply readings to the films viewed   Developing Developing   

Apply analytical skills in discussions and assignments  Developing     

ASIA 2290: South Asians around the Globe       

Identify and describe relevant theories concerning migration, diaspora, globalization, and transnationalism Developing      

Analyze and explain the patterns of South Asian migration from the 1800s to the present  Developing  Developing   

Examine the patterns of South Asian emigration and settlement experiences throughout the world  Developing Developing Developing   

Describe the connections between South Asian diasporas and the 'homeland'  Developing  Developing   

Examine the development of the South Asian diasporas in Canada   Developing Developing   

Critically analyze the basic social issues surrounding the adaptation and integration process of South Asians in Canada    Developing   

Display an awareness of various ways of seeing the world and the issues South Asian immigrants face       

Read and critically analyze relevant academic articles  Developing     

Apply analytical skills in classroom discussions, assignments, and experiential learning  Developing     

ASIA 3130: Sikh Culture, Religion and Society       

Characterize the concepts of culture, society, and religion       

Examine the interrelationships between culture, religion, and society and their impact on the individual Developing      

Examine the Sikh tradition within its social, cultural, and historical contexts  Advanced     

Describe the development of the Sikh tradition  Advanced     

Probe the basic issues surrounding the evolution of the Sikh tradition  Advanced Advanced    

Explain different religious and cultural beliefs  Advanced     

Examine traditional beliefs and practices from the perspective of continuity and change   Advanced    

Interact with people from diverse backgrounds       

Understand and critique academic articles       

Apply previously learned analytical skills toward class discussions, article presentations, writing essays  Advanced     

GEOG 2185: Geography of East Asia       

Apply basic methods and concepts in regional geographical analyses Introduced Introduced Introduced Developing  Introduced 
Critically comment on East Asia as a region within the global context Introduced Introduced Introduced Developing  Introduced 
Analyze the major physiographic, climate, soil, and vegetation zones of East Asia and explain their relationships Introduced Introduced     

Explain the relationship between the physical setting and resource-based economic activities in each country Introduced Introduced  Introduced   

 
Analyze the evolution of economic growth in the region and discuss the economic and cultural links between countries of this region 

 
Introduced 

 
Introduced 

  
Introduced 

  

Describe the political and cultural identities of the countries in the region Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced  Introduced 
Analyze the historical geography of the region, including the influence of colonial powers on economic development in the region Introduced Introduced Introduced Developing   

Account for the emergence of a regional hierarchy within East Asia based on global economic position Introduced Introduced  Introduced   

GEOG 2190: Geography of South Asia       

Apply basic methods and concepts in regional geographical analyses Introduced Introduced Introduced Developing  Introduced 
Describe and explain the major physical landforms and climatic processes of South Asia Introduced     Introduced 
Describe and explain the population and settlement patterns of South Asia Introduced Introduced Developing Developing  Introduced 
Describe and explain the historical and economic development of South Asia Introduced Introduced  Developing   

Describe and explain the cultural geography of South Asia Introduced Introduced Introduced Developing  Introduced 
Review the state of the environment of South Asia and discuss some major environmental issues facing this region Introduced Introduced    Introduced 
Explain the importance of the interrelationships among South Asian nations Introduced Introduced  Introduced  Introduced 
Explain the importance of external global forces and linkages that affect the future of South Asia Introduced Introduced  Introduced  Introduced 
POLI 2140: Comparative Politics of Asia       

Access, understand and use academic literature related to the subject area Developing Developing Developing   Developing 
Identify and explain in written and in oral form the basic terms and concepts important to the study of Asian political systems Developing Developing Developing   Developing 
Develop an informed and critical understanding of the sources and nature of conflict, power and political change in Asia Developing Developing Developing   Developing 
Integrate several recognized theoretical approaches to structure research Developing Developing Developing   Developing 
Identify similarities and differences in political history, political culture and governance among different Asian countries Developing Developing Developing   Developing 
Identify advantages and disadvantages of different political systems Developing Developing Developing   Developing 
Analyze problems related to contemporary political conflicts in Asia Developing Developing Developing   Developing 
POLI 3146: Government and Politics of India       

Critically evaluate academic literature related to the subject area Advanced Advanced Introduced Developing  Advanced 
Assess the sources and nature of conflict, power and political change in India Advanced Advanced Introduced Developing  Advanced 
Appraise theories of development and modernization as they apply to India and the South Asia region Developing Developing Introduced Introduced  Advanced 
Analyze key developments in political history, political culture and development of democracy in India Advanced Advanced Introduced Developing  Advanced 
Critically assess advantages and disadvantages of democracy in a developing society Introduced Introduced Introduced Developing  Advanced 
Critically analyze contemporary political issues facing India Advanced Advanced Introduced Developing  Advanced 
SOCI 3230: International Migration       

Identify and critically analyze the causes and consequences of international migration    Introduced   

Compare different migrant and refugee categories  Introduced  Introduced   

Identity and evaluate social attitudes towards immigrants and refugees  Introduced  Developing   

Compare and contrast social, political, economic, and cultural responses from multicultural and monocultural receiving states 
 

Developing 
 

Introduced 
  



65  

 
 
 
 
 

PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

AA: PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 
PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 

 
 

Demonstrate a working knowledge of core 
vocabulary and theoretical perspectives in 
Asian Studies to make careful comparisons 

across time, space and culture 

 
 
 
Identify key issues in Asian society, culture, 
politics, and history through written and 

oral communication 

 
 
 
Apply frameworks of ethnicity, gender, and 
class to analyze Asian literature, film, and 

media 

 
 
Analyze how diverse Asian diasporic groups 

interact with globalization and 
transnationalism to improve the social, 

political, economic or cultural well-being of 
communities 

 
 
 

Demonstrate familiarity with one or more 
Asian languages through written and oral 

communication 

 
 

Apply the intercultural competencies 
gained in the Asian Studies program to 

successful careers in public, private, or non- 
profit sectors 

Critically examine how gender, class, ethnicity, racialization, sexuality, ability, and legal status organize migration and settlement 
 

Developing 
 

Developing 
  

Explore immigrant identity, lived experience, community, and sense of belonging  Developing  Developing   

Critically analyze state and international laws affecting migrant and refugee human rights in terms of migration and settlement 
 

Introduced 
 

Developing 
  

Examine relationships between immigrant and Indigenous communities  Developing  Introduced   

Select at least 9 credits from the following:       

ASIA 1111: The Religions of India       

Describe the difference between the theological and phenomenological study of religion Introduced      

Apply basic paradigms used in the study of religion Introduced      

State the basic tenets of the four religions (Hinduism, Buddhism, Jainism, Sikhism)  Introduced     

Describe the evolution of the four Indian religions (Hinduism, Buddhism, Jainism, Sikhism)  Introduced     

Examine religions within their socio-cultural and historical contexts  Introduced     

Read and analyze scriptural sources   Introduced    

Employ comparative and analytical skills in the assignments and in class discussions  Introduced     

JAPN/LANC 1200: Introduction to Contemporary Japanese Society and Culture       

Identify certain key events in the history of Japan Introduced Introduced Introduced    

Research and apply various relevant theories Introduced      

Explain the significance of culture and its impact on human behavior Introduced      

Recognize and appreciate cross-cultural and inter-cultural diversity Introduced      

Critique political, social and economic motives behind the creation of cultural stereotypes Introduced Introduced Introduced    

Explain influences of culture and society upon individuals and groups Introduced Introduced     

Critique cultural stereotypes and ethnocentrism Introduced Introduced     

Critically analyze relevant academic texts, as well as popular articles and movies  Introduced Introduced    

Apply analytical skills in discussions and assignments Introduced Introduced Introduced    

Write meaningful responses to questions about cultures Introduced Introduced Introduced    

Research, organize and develop an essay on a relevant topic       

HIST 1150: Beyond the Middle Kingdom: Introduction to East Asian History       

Identify and analyze the major historical developments in East Asia to approximately 1600 Introduced Introduced  Introduced   

Analyze the nature and significance of the interaction among thecultures and states of East Asia during this era Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced   

Place the major events and developments in this area into a regional and global context Introduced Introduced     

Analyze and evaluate historical documents Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced   

Employ comparative and analytical skills in assignments and discussions Introduced Introduced     

Write clearly and concisely in a variety of formats according to the conventions of the discipline Introduced Introduced     

Apply appropriate research techniques to the solution of a specific historical problem Introduced Introduced Introduced Introduced   

HIST 1160: A Passage to South Asia: Introduction to South Asian History       

 
Identify the major developments in the history of the Indian sub-continent from the formation of the first civilizations into the 21st century 

 
Introduced 

 
Introduced 

  
Introduced 

  

Analyze the development of the early civilizations and the impact of the migrations by outside groups into the subcontinent Introduced Introduced     

Analyze the rise and fall of the Mauryan, Gupta, and Muslim kingdoms Introduced Introduced     

Analyze the rise and fall of the Mughal Empire and the impact of European incursions Introduced Introduced     

Analyze the impact of British imperial rule on the societal, cultural, economic, and political development on the sub-continent Introduced Introduced     

Trace and analyze the growth and impact of the independence movement in British India Introduced Introduced     

Explain the reasons behind the end of British rule and the emergence of the independent nations of India and Pakistan Introduced Introduced     

Analyze messages, biases, and the limitations of iconographic sources Introduced Introduced     

Explain the evolution of the Indian Subcontinent in a regional and global context Introduced Introduced  Introduced   

Display an awareness of and sensitivity to differing cultural perspectives Introduced Introduced  Introduced   

Analyze and evaluate historical documents Introduced Introduced     

Employ comparative and analytical skills in assignments and discussions Introduced Introduced     

Write clearly and concisely in a variety of formats according to the conventions of the discipline Introduced Introduced     

Apply appropriate research techniques to the solution of a specific historical problem Introduced Introduced  Introduced   

HIST 2350: Late Imperial China       

 
Analyze the history of China's struggle to meet domestic and foreign challenges from the mid-fourteenth to the late-nineteenth centuries 

 
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

 
Introduced 

 
Introduced 

 
Developing 

 
Analyze and evaluate the influence and growth of domestic and global trade systems, demographic growth, and population transfers 

 
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

 
Introduced 

 
Introduced 

 
Developing 

 
Identify and analyze the internal conditions that gave rise to revolutionary changes in the Chinese political system, economic institutions, social 
structure, and intellectual attitudes as the country began to transform itself from a Confucian universal empire to a modern nation state 

 
 
Advanced 

 
 
Advanced 

 
 
Introduced 

 
 
Introduced 

  
Developing 

Identify and evaluate China's response to external pressures during the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries Advanced Advanced Introduced Introduced  Developing 
Evaluate arguments and their supporting evidence, taking into account context, perspective, and assumptions Advanced Advanced Introduced Introduced  Developing 
Interrogate a wide range of source materials and use these sources to support ideas and arguments Advanced Advanced Introduced Introduced  Developing 
Write effectively according to the conventions of the discipline, taking into account audience, purpose, and situation Advanced Advanced Introduced Introduced  Developing 
Speak in a public and/or online context with confidence and clarity of purpose       

Articulate similarities and differences among cultures and peoples across time and geographic space Advanced Advanced Introduced Introduced  Developing 
HIST 3350: China in the Twentieth Century: Reforms and Revolutions       

Critically analyze the major historical developments in China from approximately 1900 to the present Advanced Developing Developing Developing   

Critically analyze the nature and significance of the interactions among China, the West, and other East Asian nations Developing Advanced Developing Developing   

Analyze the major events and developments in this area within a regional and global context Developing Advanced Developing Developing   

Critically examine concepts such as identity, tradition, modernity, and Westernization and their implications in the context of modern Chinese 
history 

 
Developing 

 
Advanced 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

  

Critically evaluate arguments and their supporting evidence, taking into account context, perspective, and assumptions Developing Developing Developing Developing   

Interrogate a wide range of source materials and utilize these sources to support ideas and arguments Developing Developing Developing Developing   

Write effectively according to the conventions of the discipline, taking into account audience, purpose, and situation Developing Developing Developing Developing   

Articulate similarities and differences among peoples and cultures across time and geographic space Developing Developing Developing Developing   

HIST 3360: British India 1857 to 1947       

Identify and critically analyze the major developments in the history of the Indian sub-continent between 1857 and 1947 Developing Developing Developing    

 
Critically analyze the impact of British imperial rule on societal, cultural, economic, and political development on the sub-continent 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

   



66  

 
 
 
 
 

PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

AA: PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 
PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 

 
 

Demonstrate a working knowledge of core 
vocabulary and theoretical perspectives in 
Asian Studies to make careful comparisons 

across time, space and culture 

 
 
 
Identify key issues in Asian society, culture, 
politics, and history through written and 

oral communication 

 
 
 
Apply frameworks of ethnicity, gender, and 
class to analyze Asian literature, film, and 

media 

 
 
Analyze how diverse Asian diasporic groups 

interact with globalization and 
transnationalism to improve the social, 

political, economic or cultural well-being of 
communities 

 
 
 

Demonstrate familiarity with one or more 
Asian languages through written and oral 

communication 

 
 

Apply the intercultural competencies 
gained in the Asian Studies program to 

successful careers in public, private, or non- 
profit sectors 

Trace and critically analyze the growth and impact of the independence movement in India Developing Developing Developing    

Evaluate the theories underpinning the end of British rule and the implications of the emergence of the independent states Developing Developing Developing    

Critically evaluate arguments and their supporting evidence, taking into account context, perspective, and assumptions Developing Developing Developing    

Interrogate a wide range of source materials and utilize these sources to support ideas and arguments Developing Developing Developing    

Write effectively according to the conventions of the discipline, taking into account audience, purpose, and situation Developing Developing Developing    

Speak in a public context with confidence and clarity of purpose Developing Developing Developing    

Articulate similarities and differences among cultures across time and geographic space Developing Developing Developing    

HIST 3361: Indian Subcontinent since 1947       

Critically analyze the major developments in the history of the Indian sub-continent between 1947 and the present Developing Developing Developing Developing   

Critically analyze the establishment and evolution of governmental and administrative structures in the newly-independent states of India, 
Pakistan, and Bangladesh 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

  

Trace and critically analyze the development of nationalism in each of the states of the sub-continent Developing Developing Developing Developing   

Critically analyze the social and cultural changes since independence in India, Pakistan, and Bangladesh Developing Developing Developing Developing   

Critically analyze the relationships among the states of the sub-continent Developing Developing Developing Developing   

 
Critically analyze the major political and economic events and developments in India, Pakistan, and Bangladesh from independence to the present 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

  

Critically evaluate arguments and their supporting evidence, taking into account context, perspective, and assumptions Developing Developing Developing Developing   

Interrogate a wide range of source materials and utilize these sources to support ideas and arguments Developing Developing Developing Developing   

Write effectively according to the conventions of the discipline, taking into account audience, purpose, and situation Developing Developing Developing Developing   

Speak in a public context with confidence and clarity of purpose Developing Developing Developing Developing   

Articulate similarities and differences among cultures across time and geographic space Developing Developing Developing Developing   

HIST 3370: History of Modern Japan       

Critically analyze the major historical developments in Japan from approximately 1868 to the present Advanced Developing Developing Developing   

Critically analyze the nature and significance of the interactions among Japan, the West, and other East Asian nations Developing Advanced Developing Developing   

Place the major events and developments in this area into a regional and global context Developing Advanced Developing Developing   

Critically examine concepts such as identity, tradition, modernity, and Westernization and their implications in the context of modern Japanese 
history 

 
Developing 

 
Advanced 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

  

Apply effective research, writing, and critical thinking skills to the solution of specific historical problems Advanced Developing Developing Developing   

Evaluate arguments and their supporting evidence, taking into account context, perspective, and assumptions Developing Developing Developing Developing   

Interrogate a wide range of source materials and use these sources to support ideas and arguments Developing Developing Developing Developing   

Write effectively according to the conventions of the discipline, taking into account audience, purpose, and situation Developing Developing Developing Developing   

Speak in a public context with confidence and clarity of purpose Developing Developing Developing Developing   

Articulate similarities and differences among cultures and peoples across time and geographic space Developing Developing Developing Developing   

HIST 4450: China and the West       

Critically analyze the relationship between China and the West across a number of historical eras       

 
Challenge existing myths related to the encounter between China and the West such as "Chinese backwardness" and "Western superiority" 

      

Critically examine the changing nature of that relationship and the causes of periodic Sinomania and Sinophobia in the West  leave blank - course has not been taught in years (potentially being revised or dropped)    

Critically analyze a number of texts which purport to merge Chinese and Western philosophies       

Critically analyze historical documents       

Apply research, critical thinking, and writing skills to finding solutions to historical and philosophical problems related to exchanges between China 
and the West 

      

HIST 4460: Gandhi in History       

Identify and analyze the major milestones in Gandhi's life and in the development of his philosophical/religious views Advanced Advanced  Advanced   

Critically analyze the construction of the theory and method of satyagraha within the context of Gandhi's experiences and philosophical/religious 
studies 

 
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

  
Advanced 

  

 
Critically analyze the impact of Gandhi's leadership of the Indian political movement in South Africa and of the independence movement in India 

 
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

  
Advanced 

  

Evaluate and analyze the impact of Gandhi's theory and methods of satyagraha as applied in a number of other historical examples, such as the 
Civil Rights movement in the United States and the anti-apartheid movement in South Africa 

 
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

  
Advanced 

  

Apply advanced research, critical thinking, and writing skills to the solution of specific historical and philosophical problems regarding the 
formation and application of non-violent, non-cooperation as a method of political activism 

 
Advanced 

 
Advanced 

  
Advanced 

  

HIST 4470 : Warriors of Japan: The Samurai       

Critically analyze the roles played by the hereditary warrior elite of pre- and early-modern Japan Advanced Advanced Advanced    

Examine and critically analyze the process by which Bushido was constructed Advanced Advanced Advanced    

Distinguish the samurai as historical figure from the samurai as cultural construct Advanced Advanced Advanced    

Critically analyze Japanese and foreign cinematic portrayals of the samurai and bushido Advanced Advanced Advanced    

Apply effective research, writing, and critical thinking skills to the solution of specific historical problems Advanced Advanced Advanced    

Evaluate arguments and their supporting evidence, taking into account context, perspective, and assumptions Advanced Advanced Advanced    

Interrogate a wide range of source materials and use these sources to support ideas and arguments Advanced Advanced Advanced    

Write effectively according to the conventions of the discipline, taking into account audience, purpose, and situation Advanced Advanced Advanced    

Speak in a public or online context with confidence and clarity of purpose Advanced Advanced Advanced    

HIST 4480: The Vietnam War in Historical Perspective       

Critically analyze the nature of the war, and the reasons for the French and American defeat  Advanced     

Critically analyze the impact of the war in the United States, including the development of the antiwar movement, and in Indochina 

 Advanced     

Critically examine the ways in which war in Vietnam has become part of public memory in Southeast Asia and in North America 

 Advanced  Introduced   

Interrogate sources for bias, reliability, and validity, and use credible, relevant sources to support your ideas and arguments 

      

Evaluate arguments and their supporting evidence, considering context, perspective, and assumptions 

      

Write effectively according to the conventions of the discipline, considering audience, purpose, and situation 

 Advanced     

Speak in a public context with confidence and clarity of purpose 
 

      

Articulate similarities and differences among cultures across time and geographic space 
 

 Advanced     

Participate effectively in collaborative activities with persons of diverse backgrounds 

      

PHIL 2115: Asian Philosophy       

Analyze and appreciate important philosophical issues (e.g. the nature of reality and time, the meaning of life, virtue, right and wrong, and human 
nature) in Asian traditions 

 
Introducing 

 
Introducing 

    
Introducing 

Describe, analyze, compare, and assess various philosophical views in a way that is cognizant of Asian perspective and approaches Introducing Introducing    Introducing 
Critically examine aspects of Asian philosophy Introducing Introducing    Introducing 
Conduct philosophical arguments       

 
 
 



67  

 
 
 
 
 

PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

AA: PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 
PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 

 
 

Demonstrate a working knowledge of core 
vocabulary and theoretical perspectives in 
Asian Studies to make careful comparisons 

across time, space and culture 

 
 
 
Identify key issues in Asian society, culture, 
politics, and history through written and 

oral communication 

 
 
 
Apply frameworks of ethnicity, gender, and 
class to analyze Asian literature, film, and 

media 

 
 
Analyze how diverse Asian diasporic groups 

interact with globalization and 
transnationalism to improve the social, 

political, economic or cultural well-being of 
communities 

 
 
 

Demonstrate familiarity with one or more 
Asian languages through written and oral 

communication 

 
 

Apply the intercultural competencies 
gained in the Asian Studies program to 

successful careers in public, private, or non- 
profit sectors 

Select at least 6 credits in an Asian language:       

JAPN 1100: Basic Japanese I       

Develop oral and aural skills to perform basic communicative tasks in everyday life     Introduced  

Read and write Hiragana, Katakana, and up to 60 basic Kanji characters     Introduced  

Read and write short passages on topics related to daily life activities     Introduced  

Explore the relationship between Japanese language and culture Introduced Introduced     

JAPN 1101: Basic Japanese II       

Develop oral and aural skills to perform communicative tasks in everyday life     Introduced  

Read and write up to 150 basic Kanji characters     Introduced  

Read and write short essays on topics related to daily life activities     Introduced  

Analyze the relationship between Japanese language and culture Developing Developing     

Develop intercultural competence appropriate to everyday life situations     Introduced  

JAPN 2200: Intermediate Japanese I       

Develop oral and aural skills to perform communicative tasks in social and professional life situations     Developing  

Read and write up to 250 kanji characters     Developing  

Read short texts including stories, newspaper and magazine articles, essays, and business and personal letters     Developing  

Write coherent paragraphs and short essays in Japanese     Developing  

Examine one's own sociocultural norms, values, and beliefs through the study of Japanese culture Developing Developing     

JAPN 2201: Intermediate Japanese II       

Develop oral and aural skills to perform communicative tasks in a variety of academic and professional life situations     Developing  

Read and write up to 350 kanji characters     Developing  

Read various genres, including modern Japanese prose and essays     Developing  

Write short compositions with reasonable accuracy and speed     Developing  

Write in a variety of genres such as personal and business letters, reports, resumes, and essays     Developing  

 
Examine one's own sociocultural norms, values, and beliefs through the study of Japanese culture, and develop intercultural communication skills 

 
Developing 

 
Developing 

    

JAPN 3300: Upper Intermediate Japanese I       

Perform communicative tasks, using a variety of vocabulary and complex grammatical structures to an upper-intermediate level     Advanced  

Identify a situation and context and communicate with an appropriate level of formality     Advanced  

Interpret academic and spoken Japanese in a variety of situations     Advanced  

Differentiate different genres of writing construct reports and essays in an academic context     Advanced  

Identify elements of Japanese culture reflected in written and spoken Japanese Advanced Advanced     

JAPN 3301: Upper Intermediate Japanese II       

Perform communicative tasks, using competence in a variety of vocabulary and complex grammatical structures at an upper-intermediate level      
Advanced 

 

Communicate with an appropriate level of formality for a given situation and context     Advanced  

Interpret academic and spoken Japanese in a variety of situations     Advanced  

Utilize different genres of writing     Advanced  

Construct reports and essays in academic and work-related contexts     Advanced  

Analyze elements of Japanese culture reflected in written and spoken Japanese Advanced Advanced     

JAPN 4400: Advanced Japanese I: Conversation       

Perform communicative tasks demonstrating competence in a variety of vocabulary and complex grammatical structures at an advanced level      
Advanced 

 

Communicate with native speakers with a degree of fluency and spontaneity     Advanced  

Converse articulately on a wide range of subjects and express a viewpoint on an issue     Advanced  

Construct reports and short essays in support of oral projects     Advanced  

Refine their knowledge of Japanese culture Advanced Advanced     

MAND 1100: Beginner Mandarin I       

Comprehend simple discourse     Introduced  

Read and comprehend simplified texts     Introduced  

Extend greetings, express needs, ask simple questions and give replies     Introduced  

Write simple sentences and short dialogues both in Chinese characters and in PINYIN     Introduced  

Acquire a preliminary understanding of the Chinese culture Introduced Introduced     

MAND 1101: Beginner Mandarin II       

Comprehend more refined discourse     Developing  

Read and comprehend texts on daily topics     Developing  

Discuss daily topics in more sophisticated ways     Developing  

Write more complex sentences and longer dialogues both in Chinese characters and in PINYIN     Developing  

Better understand and appreciate the Chinese culture and customs Developing Developing     

MAND 2200: Intermediate Mandarin I       

Comprehend a wide array of authentic language situations     Developing  

Read and comprehend intermediate writings     Developing  

Support an opinion, defend a point of view and make hypotheses     Developing  

Write longer compositions both in Chinese characters and in Pinyin     Developing  

Better identify many of the differences between their own and the Chinese culture and customs Developing Developing     

MAND 2201: Intermediate Mandarin II       

Comprehend a wide array of more complex authentic language situations     Developing  

Read and comprehend more complex and sophisticated writings     Developing  

Support an opinion, defend a point of view and make hypotheses     Developing  

Write clear, grammatically correct compositions both in Chinese characters and in Pinyin     Developing  

Better identify many of the differences between their own and the Chinese culture and customs Developing Developing     

MAND 3310: Upper Intermediate Mandarin: Reading And Writing I       

Use aproximately 350 new vocabulary and phrases at the upper intermediate level     Advanced  

Apply upper intermediate grammar structures in writing and speaking     Advanced  

Recognize and write both simplified Chinese characters and Pinyin, the Chinese phonetic spelling system     Advanced  

Comprehend reading materials on various social and cultural topics     Advanced  

Use different writing styles to write short essays with competence and confidence     Advanced  

Conduct conversations within the correct social context with accuracy and fluency     Advanced  

Understand and discuss social and cultural issues and express their opinions with the newly acquired grammar and vocabulary Advanced Advanced   Advanced  

Better understand Chinese language, culture, history and society Advanced Advanced     

MAND 3311: Upper Intermediate Mandarin II: Reading and Writing       

Use about 350 new vocabulary and phrases at the upper intermediate level     Advanced  



68 
 

 
 
 
 
 

PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

AA: PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 
PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 

 
 

Demonstrate a working knowledge of core 
vocabulary and theoretical perspectives in 
Asian Studies to make careful comparisons 

across time, space and culture 

 
 
 
Identify key issues in Asian society, culture, 
politics, and history through written and 

oral communication 

 
 
 
Apply frameworks of ethnicity, gender, and 
class to analyze Asian literature, film, and 

media 

 
 
Analyze how diverse Asian diasporic groups 

interact with globalization and 
transnationalism to improve the social, 

political, economic or cultural well-being of 
communities 

 
 
 

Demonstrate familiarity with one or more 
Asian languages through written and oral 

communication 

 
 

Apply the intercultural competencies 
gained in the Asian Studies program to 

successful careers in public, private, or non- 
profit sectors 

Apply advanced grammatical structures in writing and speaking     Advanced  

Acquire and apply Chinese word-formation rules at the upper intermediate level     Advanced  

Recognize and write both simplified Chinese characters and Pinyin, the Chinese phonetic spelling system     Advanced  

Comprehend reading materials on various social and cultural topics     Advanced  

Use different writing styles to write longer essays with competence and confidence     Advanced  

Conduct conversations within the correct social context with accuracy and fluency     Advanced  

Understand and discuss social and cultural issues and express their opinions with the newly acquired grammar and vocabulary Advanced Advanced   Advanced  

Better understand Chinese language, culture, history and society Advanced Advanced     

PUNJ 1100: Introductory Punjabi I       

Comprehend simple discourse     Introduced  

Read and comprehend selected texts     Introduced  

Extend greetings, express needs, ask simple questions, and give replies     Introduced  

Write short compositions and dialogues     Introduced  

Perform basic communicative tasks within the context of school and everyday life     Introduced  

Exchange basic personal information     Introduced  

Count numerals up to 12     Introduced  

Describe likes and dislikes     Introduced  

PUNJ 1101: Introductory Punjabi II       

Read and comprehend adapted texts and authentic documents, for example, advertisements     Introduced  

Write sentences and paragraphs of 100 to 200 words     Introduced  

Comprehend refined discourse     Introduced  

Express needs, ask questions, and give replies     Introduced  

Count numerals up to 100     Introduced  

PUNJ 2200: Intermediate Punjabi I       

Comprehend Punjabi used in authentic language situations     Developing  

Read and comprehend Punjabi writing & authentic documents at the intermediate level     Developing  

Support an opinion, defend a point of view, and make hypotheses in Punjabi     Developing  

Write expository 200-word compositions in Punjabi     Developing  

Identify aspects of Punjabi culture as expressed in the readings  Developing   Developing  

Identify differences between their own and the Punjabi culture Developing Developing   Developing  

PUNJ 2201: Intermediate Punjabi II       

Comprehend Punjabi at a more advanced intermediate level in authentic language situations     Developing  

Read and comprehend more advanced writing at the intermediate level     Developing  

 
Support an opinion, defend a point of view, and make hypotheses in Punjabi using more advanced vocabulary at the intermediate level 

     
Developing 

 

Write expository 250-word compositions in Punjabi     Developing  

Identify aspects of Punjabi culture as expressed in the works of Punjabi writers  Developing   Developing  

Identify differences between their own and the Punjabi culture Developing Developing   Developing  

PUNJ 3300: Learn Punjabi Through Punjabi Canadian Literature       

Perform communicative tasks, using a variety of vocabulary and complex grammatical structures at an upper-intermediate level     Advanced  

Identify a situation and communicate with an appropriate level of formality     Advanced  

Comprehend academic and spoken Punjabi in a variety of situations     Advanced  

Write expository word compositions in Punjabi     Advanced  

Support an opinion, defend a point of view, and make hypotheses in Punjabi write journals, reports and essays     Advanced  

Identify elements of Punjabi and Punjabi Canadian culture reflected in written and spoken Punjabi  Advanced  Advanced Advanced  

Successfully communicate with members of the Punjabi community     Advanced  

 



69 
 

  



70 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX E: DISCIPLINE/ SECTOR SURVEY RESULTS



71  

Discipline/Sector Survey Results 
The discipline/sector survey was sent to 26 Asian Studies discipline/sector representatives. A total of 8 
discipline/sector representatives responded. The response rate is 31%. 

 
Note: The data includes open-ended comments. In order to preserve integrity and objectivity, OPA does not do value-judgment 
editing (i.e. we do not fix spelling errors, syntax issues, punctuation, etc.). Comments are included verbatim – with one 
exception: if individuals or courses are named, OPA redacts the name of the instructor or course. This rule applies to whether 
the comment is good, bad or indifferent. 
Please use caution when interpreting the results due to small sample size. 

 
 

About Your Organization/Role 

1 - Which sector best describes your organization/business? Select all that apply. 
 

 
 

 
# 

 
Answer 

 
Percentage 

1 Education (primary, secondary, post-secondary) 13% 

2 Social and Community Services (GO, NGO, charity) 63% 

3 Culture and Heritage (libraries, museums, archives) 0% 

4 Creative Industries (entertainment, social media, design) 0% 

5 Business, Finance, and Administration 13% 

6 Other. Please specify 13% 
 Total number of respondents 8 

 
 
 

Other. Please specify - Text 

Think Tank 



72  

2 - What is your current job title/role? 
 

Vice President, Students & Community Development 
Social Worker and Counsellor 
Senior Program Manager 
President 
President 
Executive Director 
Director of Settlement and Family Services 
Director of Family and Settlement Services Oversee the family support, settlement, counselling, health and advocacy work with newcomer 
immigrants, refugees, migrant workers, and international students in the Lower Mainland, and in BC. Policy dialogue and engagement 
with governments, policy makers and communities across Canada 

 
3 - How familiar are you with KPU’s Asian Studies program? 

 

 
Note that “not at all familiar” and “slightly familiar” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the frequency 
table below for the percentages for the “not at all familiar” and “slightly familiar” categories 

 

# How familiar are you with KPU’s Asian Studies program? Percentage 

1 Not at all familiar 0% 
2 Slightly familiar 50% 
3 Moderately familiar 50% 
4 Very familiar 0% 

 Total number of respondents 8 
 
 

4 - When you think about KPU’s Asian Studies program, what are the top three 
characteristics that come to mind? 

 

Characteristic #1 Characteristic #2 Characteristic #3 

comprehensive unique growing 
History Cultural studies Diversity 
Diversity Regional specific Human and Culture 
South Asian Diverse Coop 

 
5 - How effectively do you think KPU’s Asian Studies program engages with its broader 
community (marketing, Open House, program website, or the like)? 

Not enough responses to report. 



73  

QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 3: PROGRAM RELEVANCE AND DEMAND 
 

Program Relevance 

Are the program learning outcomes relevant to the current needs of the discipline/sector? 

6 - Considering the needs and expectations of your organization, how important is it for 
an entry-level employee to be able to demonstrate the following? 

 
Demonstrate a working knowledge 
of core vocabulary and theoretical 

perspectives in Asian Studies to 
make careful comparisons across 

time, space and culture 
 

Identify key issues in Asian society, 
culture, politics, and history 

through written and oral 
communication 

 

Apply frameworks of ethnicity, 
gender, and class to analyze Asian 

literature, film, and media 

Apply critical thinking and problem- 
solving skills to address the impact of 

colonialism and processes of 
decolonization in Asia and Asian 
diasporas to address real world 

problems in a way that is sensitive both 
to history and competing sets of values 

Analyze how diverse Asian diasporic 
groups interact with globalization and 

transnationalism to improve the 
social, political, economic or cultural 

well-being of communities 
Interpret insider perspectives 

(Indigenous, majority, and minority) 
in Asia or Asian diasporic contexts 

to take informed positions as global 
citizens 

Apply knowledge gained in the 
Asian Studies program to specific 

situations in our local communities 

 
Demonstrate familiarity with one or 

more Asian languages through 
written and oral communication 

 
Apply research skills by designing, 

conducting, and presenting 
research 

 

Apply the intercultural 
competencies gained in the Asian 

Studies program to successful 
careers in public, private, or non- 

profit sectors 



74  

 
# 

 
Question Not at all 

important 
Somewhat 
important 

Very 
important 

 
Essential 

 
Total 

 
1 

Demonstrate a working knowledge of core vocabulary and 
theoretical perspectives in Asian Studies to make careful 

comparisons across time, space and culture 

 
0% 

 
13% 

 
75% 

 
13% 

 
8 

2 Identify key issues in Asian society, culture, politics, and history 
through written and oral communication 0% 13% 38% 50% 8 

3 Apply frameworks of ethnicity, gender, and class to analyze Asian 
literature, film, and media 0% 25% 38% 38% 8 

 

4 

Apply critical thinking and problem-solving skills to address the 
impact of colonialism and processes of decolonization in Asia and 

Asian diasporas to address real world problems in a way that is 
sensitive both to history and competing sets of values 

 

0% 

 

25% 

 

63% 

 

13% 

 

8 

 
5 

Analyze how diverse Asian diasporic groups interact with 
globalization and transnationalism to improve the social, political, 

economic or cultural well-being of communities 

 
0% 

 
25% 

 
38% 

 
38% 

 
8 

 
6 

Interpret insider perspectives (Indigenous, majority, and minority) in 
Asia or Asian diasporic contexts to take informed positions as global 

citizens 

 
0% 

 
25% 

 
50% 

 
25% 

 
8 

7 Apply knowledge gained in the Asian Studies program to specific 
situations in our local communities 13% 13% 50% 25% 8 

8 Demonstrate familiarity with one or more Asian languages through 
written and oral communication 13% 38% 38% 13% 8 

9 Apply research skills by designing, conducting, and presenting 
research 0% 13% 75% 13% 8 

10 
Apply the intercultural competencies gained in the Asian Studies 

program to successful careers in public, private, or non-profit sectors 0% 13% 63% 25% 8 

 
 

7 - How effectively is KPU’s Asian Studies program incorporating experiential learning 
opportunities for students? 

Not enough responses to report. 
 

8 - What other skills, training or knowledge should an entry-level applicant have to be 
hired into your organization? 

 
N/A 

initial engagement skills (i.e. intake) 

intercultural communication, advocacy and ability to guide client access services and community resources, trauma-informed practice 

Strong research skills and especially the ability to write clearly, accurately, and concisely. 
Critical thinking. Can-do, positive attitude. Work ethic. Problem solving. Communication. Team work. Organizational skills and attention to 
detail. Administrative and budgetary tact. Willingness to learn. 
Language like Punjabi or Hindi 



75  

9 - What are the emerging trends in the sector that KPU Asian Studies students should be 
prepared for? These trends might include technology, sustainability, and innovation. 
Please be as specific as you are able to. 

 
Technology, no doubt. 

Technology, infrastructure development, the impact of climate change, immigration. 

virtual and in-person communication with clients 

technology, demographic changes, and geopolitical issues. 
Local diaspora connections and network, ears on the ground understanding of issues and intersectionality with systemic/societal policies 
and pressures. 
International students are exploited 

 

QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 4: EFFECTIVENESS OF INSTRUCTIONAL DELIVERY 
 

Career and Further Education Preparedness 

Are graduates of the program successful? 

10 - Which of the following best describes your previous experience with students and/or 
alumni in KPU’s Asian Studies program? Please select all that apply 

 
 

# 
 

Answer 
 

Percentage 

1 I have hosted KPU Asian Studies co-op, practicum or internship students. 13% 

2 I have worked with KPU Asian Studies students on class projects. 13% 

3 I have worked with KPU Asian Studies alumni. 25% 

4 None of the above 50% 

 Total number of respondents 8 

 
11 - Based on your experience, how prepared were KPU’s Asian Studies co-op, practicum 
or internship students to work in your organization? 

Not enough responses to report. 
 

12 - Based on your experience, how prepared were the KPU Asian Studies students you 
worked with on class projects? 

Not enough responses to report. 
 

13 - Based on your experience, how prepared were KPU’s Asian Studies alumni to work in 
your organization? 

Not enough responses to report. 



76  

14 - Please comment on how well the program is preparing students for work. 
 

The Advisory Group Committee is working on a number of ways to contribute to its growth and further development. 

N/A 
I have only worked with a couple of KPU students over the years, and it was relatively brief. Both were mature and professional and had a 

 strong desire to learn, which I found very impressive.  
very well 

 

QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 3: PROGRAM RELEVANCE AND DEMAND 
 

Program’s Connections 
 

Does the program have the connections to the discipline/sector to remain current? 
 
 

15 - How satisfied are you with the opportunities you have to stay connected to KPU’s 
Asian Studies program? 

 

 
 

 
 

# 
 

How satisfied are you with the opportunities you have to stay connected to KPU’s Asian Studies program? 
 

Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 13% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 0% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 13% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 38% 

5 Very satisfied 38% 
 Total number of respondents 8 



77  

16 - What can KPU’s Asian Studies program do to build better connections with the 
discipline/sector? 

 
Continuous communication. Exploring events, other programs/projects, learning from those. 

more networking 
As an organization that focuses on policy-oriented and applied research related to Canada-Asia relations, I would be curious to know more 
about whether the program is interested in getting the students focused on policy, current events, etc. I was an Asian Studies major many, 
many years ago, and it was a more academically-oriented program of study. I recognize the strengths in various approaches, but my current 

 work situation inclines me to think about the application of Asian Studies training to one's career.  
Academic programming of this nature tends to be literature based, history replays, policy or systemically focused but otherwise just really 

 out of touch with reality of everyday people and their day to day issues.  
connect with Asian non profits 

 

17 - Please rate your level of interest in participating in projects that connect program 
students with the industry or sector. 

 
 

# 
 

Please rate your level of interest in participating in projects that connect program students with the industry or sector. 
 

Percentage 

1 Not at all interested 0% 

2 Somewhat interested 38% 

3 Very interested 63% 
 Total number of respondents 8 

 
18 - Please share any project ideas you have to connect program students with the 
industry. 

 
our agency provides counselling so perhaps not the best fit (but we could accommodate outreach type activities, or strategies to engage 

 Asian communities to our counselling and support services)  
exploration and story telling 

Perhaps through career chats or something along those lines? 
Less so industry but more so cultural diaspora- in the communities like settlement agencies, local diplomat offices, ethnic media, churches 

 and temples, and various political extensions of programs and services targeted to Asian population.  
Sundar Prize Film Festival 



78  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX F: ADMINISTRATIVE DATA REPORT 
  



79  

The chapter headings refer to the chapters in the Self-Study to which the data pertain. 

Glossary 

Average Seats Offered: Maximum number of seats available in a department/Faculty divided by the count 
of classes offered by the department/Faculty. 

 

Average Seats Filled: Number of seats taken in a department/Faculty divided by the count of classes 
offered by the department/Faculty. 

 

BC Student Outcomes: Results of the three annual surveys of former post-secondary students in BC, one 
to two years after graduation, as a supplemental tool for assessing programs offered by KPU and 
comparing them to similar programs at other institutions. The three BC Student Outcomes surveys include 
the Diploma, Associate Degree, and Certificate Student Outcomes Survey (DAC), the Baccalaureate 
Graduates Survey (BGS), and the Trades Student Outcomes Survey (Trades). Note that while DAC covers 
all BC public post-secondary institutions, BGS does not report data from programs at research-intensive 
universities such as UBC and SFU. 

 

Cumulative Grade Distribution: The number of students who receive a particular letter grade (A+ through 
F) plus those who receive a higher grade, as a percentage of the total number of students with a grade or 
a W/WE or DEF (Deferred). Useful for estimating the proportion of passing students based on any specific 
grade requirement. 

 

DFW Rate: % of students who received a grade of D or F or withdrew from the course. Percentage is 
calculated based on number of students with a grade or a W/WE or DEF (Deferred). 

 

Faculty Student Headcount: Count of all students enrolled in a Faculty, including undeclared students. 
 

Fill Rate: Number of seats filled divided by the number of seats offered. 
 

Grade Point Equivalent Mean: The average grade of students in the selected courses, based solely on the 
numerical grade point equivalent of a letter grade. A weighted average is used, such that larger classes 
have a larger influence on the computed mean. It is not an average of course-level grades weighted by 
course credits. 

 

Intended of Undeclared: Students who identified the program under review as their intended major on 
their application. Note that not all of these students declare a major in the program under review. 

 

Program Student Headcount: Count of declared and intended of undeclared students. Withdrawals are 
included. To avoid double counting students, the student headcount is a unique headcount for the year, 
not the sum of intended of undeclared and declared counts. 

 

Repeat Rate: Students who repeat a course, that is, have taken the course previously. Percentage is 
calculated based on number of students with a grade or a W/WE or DEF. 

 

Unmet Demand: Number of waitlist seats held by students unable to enroll in the same course, and have 
not dropped that course, within the same term. A student waitlisted in multiple sections of the same 
course in the same term is counted as one waitlist seat. 

 

Seats Offered: Maximum number of seats available in a unit (section, course, department, faculty). 
 

Seats Filled: Number of seats taken in the unit (section, course, department, faculty) 



80  

Chapter 3. Program Relevance and Demand 

3.1 Relevance 

Are the program learning outcomes relevant to the current needs of the discipline/sector?1 

What percentage of the program graduates are satisfied with the education they received? What 
percentage of the graduates rate the quality of instruction they received as “very good”, “good”, or 
“adequate”? Do they find their program of study useful in their current position? 
Exhibit 1: KPU Asian Studies Program Student Outcomes Data Compared with Ministry Targets 
 

Measures 
Student Outcome Data for 
KPU Asian Studies Program 

(2019-21) 

Ministry 
Target 

Respondents 11 - 
Satisfaction2 100% ≥ 90% 
Quality3 100% ≥ 90% 
Usefulness4 86% ≥ 90% 

 

3.3 Student Demand 

Who takes the program?5 

Has the demographic profile of Asian Studies Program students changed over the last five years? 
Exhibit 2: Demographic Profile of Asian Studies Program Students by Academic Year 
 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

Student Headcount 62 58 61 68 67 
% Women 61% 64% 48% 47% 52% 
% 22 years or younger 60% 53% 52% 54% 54% 
% International 40% 36% 38% 37% 30% 

 

How does the demographic profile of Asian Studies Program students compare with that of students at 
the same level for the Faculty of Arts as a whole over the same period? 
Exhibit 3: Demographic Profile of Faculty of Arts Students by Academic Year 
 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

Student Headcount 5,948 5,805 5,887 5,755 6,146 
% Women 62% 62% 62% 63% 62% 
% 22 years or younger 69% 68% 68% 68% 68% 
% International 15% 14% 17% 18% 26% 

 
 
 
 

 
1 Data reported in this section was obtained from a dashboard that is under development. 
2 Respondents who are "very satisfied" or "satisfied" with the education or training they received in their program of study. 
3 Respondents who rate the quality of instruction received from their program of study as "very good", "good" or "adequate". 
4 Respondents who describe their program of study as "very" or "somewhat" useful in their current occupation. 
5 Data reported in this section was obtained from a dashboard that is under development. 



81  

Is demand for the program sustainable? 

Has demand for Asian Studies courses been changing over the last five years? Is the overall class size, in 
terms of filled seats, sustainable? How does demand for Asian Studies courses compare with demand 
for Faculty of Arts courses at the same level over the same period? 
Exhibit 4: Student Headcount in Asian Studies Courses by Academic Year Compared with Faculty of 
Arts Courses 
 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 %Change6 

Asian Studies 339 656 571 508 427 26% 
Faculty of Arts 11,035 12,385 12,122 11,574 11,167 1% 

 

Has demand for the Asian Studies Program changed over the last five years? How does it compare with 
demand for Faculty of Arts programs at the same level over the same period? 
Exhibit 5: Student Headcount in Asian Studies Program by Academic Year Compared with Faculty of 
Arts Programs 
 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 %Change 

Declared-Bachelor of Arts, 
Major in Asian Studies 13 12 14 17 15 15% 

Declared-Associate of Arts in 
Asian Studies 1 0 0 0 1 0% 

Declared-Minor 9 7 3 4 10 11% 
Intended of Undeclared 40 41 46 50 44 10% 
Asian Studies Total Headcount 62 58 61 68 67 8% 
Faculty of Arts Total Headcount 5,948 5,805 5,887 5,755 6,146 3% 

 

How do KPU Asian Studies Program enrolment trends compare with overall enrolment trends in similar 
programs in BC? 

Exhibit 6: Number of Students Enrolled in Asian Studies Programs at BC Public Post-Secondary 
Institutions (excluding KPU students) 7 
 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

Total (excluding KPU) 8 410 425 416 387 296 
Bachelor’s Degree 341 360 349 327 257 
Associate Degree 70 65 64 60 39 
KPU Total 14 12 14 17 16 
Bachelor’s Degree 13 12 14 17 15 
Associate Degree 1 0 0 0 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 

6 % Change refers to change between 2017/18 to 2021/22. 
7 Data reported in this section was obtained from a dashboard that is under development. Data are coded by Classification of 
Instructional Program (CIP). To identify Asian Studies programs, CIP codes 5.0103 was used. 
8 Langara College, Simon Fraser University, University of British Columbia Vancouver 



82  

Has there been a change in average filled seats per class in Asian Studies courses? How do they compare 
with Faculty of Arts courses at the same level? Is demand steady, declining, or increasing? 
Exhibit 7: Average Filled Seats per Class by Academic Year from AY 2018/19 to 2021/229 

Asian Studies: Faculty of Arts: 
 

 
 

How does demand for upper level courses (3rd and 4th year) compare with demand for lower level 
courses, where applicable? How does demand for upper level versus lower level courses compare with 
demand for Faculty of Arts upper level and lower level courses? 
Exhibit 8: Number of Course Enrolments by Level for AY 2021/2210 

Asian Studies: Faculty of Arts: 
 

 
How does tuition compare with instructional costs for the average class in your program? 

A program’s importance isn’t gaged by the tuition revenue it brings in, as some programs will not be 
able to cover their costs, but all programs should be delivered efficiently. Part of assessing a program’s 
sustainability is considering if it can be made more efficient without compromising student safety or 
success. The biggest driver of efficiency is class size in terms of filled seats. International enrolments, 
where relevant, can improve a program’s sustainability. 

 
 
 

9 Data reported in this section was obtained from a dashboard that is under development. 



83  

Exhibit 9: Cost Structure of Average Class for Asian Studies, Faculty of Arts UG, and All KPU UG Courses 
for Academic Year 2021/2211 
 Asian Studies Arts UG All KPU UG Courses 

Cost of Instruction $15,712.75 $15,712.75 $15,712.75 
Average # of Seats Filled 28.1 25.5 24.8 
Overall % filled by International 63% 37% 43% 
Tuition Revenue $40,981.71 $26,688.97 $28,253.34 
Average Net Revenue $25,268.96 $10,976.22 $12,540.59 
Total # of Classes 27 1,850 4,602 
Total Net Revenue $682,262.01 $20,306,002.41 $57,711,794.08 

*Average Net Revenue = Cost of instruction - tuition revenue 
 

Does the program have the capacity to meet demand? 

Are there waitlists that limit students’ ability to progress through the program in a timely manner? Are 
the waitlists for courses delivered by the program, or delivered by other departments? 

Exhibit 10: Unmet Demand at the Stable Enrolment Date 
 Unmet Demand Fill Rate 

Fall 2022 61 85% 
Summer 2022 56 95% 
Spring 2022 54 87% 
Fall 2021 29 86% 
Summer 2021 67 98% 
Spring 2021 31 84% 
Fall 2020 49 87% 

 
 

 Course Unmet Demand 
Fall 2022 ASIA-1111 48 

Summer 2022 ASIA-1100 29 
ASIA-1111 27 

Spring 2022 ASIA-1100 22 
ASIA-1111 32 

Summer 2021 ASIA-1100 53 
Fall 2020 ASIA-1111 20 

 
Unmet demand by course is available in the Enrolment Tracking Report dashboard for each term. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/apps/851e6c7f-4896-4f3a-8a34-49c7c5c8dcd9/reports/fd0dcdd3-04bc-4549-8b7c-fe3ed5322fd7/ReportSection40e9da610aab37cd78d0?ctid=66b9f62d-3042-495e-aab6-db86f21500c0


84  

Chapter 4. Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery 

4.1 Instructional Design and Delivery of Curriculum 

Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the essential skills? 12 

Graduates are asked to indicate the extent to which the program helps them achieve the Ministry 
identified essential skills. Is the program achieving the Ministry’s targets in skills development? 
Exhibit 11: KPU Asian Studies Program Student Outcomes Essential Skills Data Compared with Ministry 
Targets 
 

Measures 
Student Outcome Data for 
KPU Asian Studies Program 

(2019-21) 

Ministry 
Target 

Respondents 11  

Skill Development13 93% ≥ 85% 
Write Clearly and Concisely 100% ≥ 85% 

Speak Effectively 100% ≥ 85% 
Read and Comprehend Materials 100% ≥ 85% 

Work Effectively with Others 73% ≥ 85% 
Analyze and Think Critically 100% ≥ 85% 
Resolve Issues or Problems 78% ≥ 85% 

Learn on your Own 100% ≥ 85% 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

12 Data reported in this section was obtained from a dashboard that is under development. 
13 Program graduates’ assessment of their skill development at KPU. An overall average for all skills is provided, plus the results 
for each skill. 



85  

4.2 Student Success 

Are students performing satisfactorily in courses? 14 

Are an adequate number of students in Asian Studies courses receiving a grade of C and above? How do 
they compare with the students in Faculty of Arts courses at the same level? 

Exhibit 12: Cumulative Grade Distribution for Asian Studies Courses from AY 2017/18 to AY 2021/22 

Exhibit 13: Cumulative Grade Distribution for Faculty of Arts Undergraduate Courses from AY 2017/18 
to AY 2021/22 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

14 Data reported in this section was obtained from the Grade Distribution Report, which is available at DATA - Home 
(sharepoint.com) 

https://kpuemp.sharepoint.com/sites/sem/data/SitePages/Home.aspx
https://kpuemp.sharepoint.com/sites/sem/data/SitePages/Home.aspx


86  

Do the overall grade trends for the Asian Studies courses indicate an issue? How do they compare with 
the overall grades for Faculty of Arts courses? 

Exhibit 14: Grade Data for Asian Studies Undergraduate Level Courses by Academic Year compared 
with Faculty of Arts 

Asian Studies: Faculty of Arts: 

 

Do the repeat rate trends in Asian Studies courses indicate an issue? How does it compare with the 
repeat rate trends of Faculty of Arts undergraduate courses? 

Exhibit 15: Repeat Rates in Asian Studies Undergraduate Level Courses by Academic Year Compared 
with Faculty of Arts 

Asian Studies: Faculty of Arts: 



87  

Does the DFW rate trends in Asian Studies courses indicate an issue? How does it compare with the 
DFW rate trends in Faculty of Arts undergraduate courses? 

Exhibit 16: DFW Rates in Asian Studies Undergraduate Level Courses by Academic Year Compared with 
Faculty of Arts 

Asian Studies: Faculty of Arts: 

  

Are there any issues with Asian Studies students’ performance at each level? How do they compare with 
Faculty of Arts undergraduate courses? 

Exhibit 17: Student Performance Data for Asian Studies Courses for AY 2021/22 by Undergraduate 
Levels Compared with Faculty of Arts 

 

Asian Studies:15 Faculty of Arts: 
 

 

 

 
Asian Studies: Faculty of Arts: 

  
 
 
 

 
15 Note that variations in sample size can affect the Grade Point Equivalent Mean data. 



88  

Asian Studies: Faculty of Arts: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Are students making satisfactory progress in the program? 16 
Has there been a change in the number of Asian Studies Program graduates over time? How does it 
compare with Faculty of Arts in general? 

Exhibit 18: Asian Studies Program Graduate Headcount17 by Credential and Academic Year 
 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

Total18 11 5 4 8 6 
Bachelor’s Degree – Major 5 2 1 5 4 
Bachelor’s Degree – Minor 6 3 3 3 2 

Exhibit 19: Faculty of Arts Graduate Headcount by Credential and Academic Year 
 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

Total 804 893 1,565 1,341 1,327 
Associate Degree 74 52 66 55 66 
Bachelor’s Degree 389 358 440 449 441 
Certificate 102 72 203 108 146 
Diploma 245 421 862 738 689 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

16 Data reported in this section was obtained from the Credentials Report, which is available at DATA - Home 
(sharepoint.com) 
17 Count of unique students who have earned a KPU credential. Breakdown values may not add up to total or 100% because a 
student can earn multiple credentials in different categories within the same academic year. 
18 To avoid double counting students, total graduate headcounts presented in Exhibits 18 and 19 are unique headcounts of 
students for the year, not the sum of the credential counts. 

https://kpuemp.sharepoint.com/sites/sem/data/SitePages/Home.aspx
https://kpuemp.sharepoint.com/sites/sem/data/SitePages/Home.aspx


89  

Are Asian Studies students completing the program within a reasonable time? How does it compare 
with Faculty of Arts in general? 

Exhibit 20: Median19 Years to Graduate:20 Asian Studies 
 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

Bachelor’s Degree 6.3 5.8 7.3 6.0 

Exhibit 21: Median Years to Graduate: Faculty of Arts 
 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

Associate Degree 4.5 3.0 3.7 3.8 
Bachelor’s Degree 5.7 5.7 5.7 5.7 
Certificate 2.0 1.7 2.5 2.0 
Diploma 2.3 2.7 3.0 2.3 

Are graduates of the program successful? 

Are the graduates getting jobs in a related field? Are the graduates pursuing further education? 
Exhibit 22: KPU Asian Studies Program Student Outcomes Data Compared with Ministry Targets 
 

Measures 

Average Student Outcome 
Data for KPU Asian Studies 

Program 
(2019-21) 

 
Ministry 
Target 

Respondents 11  

Unemployment Rate21 22.2% ≤18.9% 
Currently Employed22 64%  

In a Related Job23 57%  

Further Studies24 18%  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



90  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX G: QUALIFICATIONS AND CURRENCY PROFILE



91  

Qualifications and Currency Profile 
 

The number of FTEs by role: 
 
There are 3 regularized employees in ASIA, 1 of whom has a full-time appointment in ASIA, 
and 2 who have part-time (25–50%) appointments in ASIA and other appointments in HIST & 
LANC, for a total of 1.75 FTEs. 

 
12 regular faculty members appointed to other departments also teach courses cross-listed with 
ASIA and/or ASIA-approved courses. 

Area(s) of Faculty Expertise: 
Research concentrations: 

• Religion (Buddhism, Hinduism, Sikhism, new religious movements) 
• Diaspora, migration, and transnationalism 
• Gender 
• Labour history 
• Film / television 
• Health and healing 

 
Languages: 

• Hindi 
• Japanese 
• Punjabi 
• Sanskrit 

 
(several faculty who teach cross-listed and ASIA-approved courses are fluent in Mandarin and 
Cantonese as well) 

Faculty Qualifications: 
All ASIA regular faculty have doctorates. 

Recent Professional Development (since 2018): 
 
Selected Presentations and Roundtable Panels: 

• “Transnational Religious Expressions: Between Asia and North America,” Roundtable 
panel at the American Academy of Religion Annual Meeting, Denver, CO, November 
19, 2022. 

• “Universalizing ‘Energy’ in Therapeutic Touch and Reiki: from Occult(ed) Roots to 
Medicalized Fruits,” Subtle Energies: Explorations within Holistic Healing and 
Spiritualities Conference, University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria, April 28, 2022 

• “Buddhism as Resource for Reiki Healers,” Annual Conference for the Association of 
Asian Studies, Honolulu, HI, March 25, 2022 



92  

• “Japanese Imperialism and the 1934 Pan-Pacific Young Buddhists’ Associations 
Conference,” American Academy of Religion Annual Meeting, San Antonio, TX, 
November 19, 2021 

• “Secularization, Spirituality, and Medicine during the Covid-19 Pandemic,” Medicine, 
Wellness, and Post-Institutional Spiritualities Workshop, Centre for the Study of 
Religion and Society, University of Victoria, Victoria, BC, October 20-21, 2021 

• “The Neurophysiology of Enlightenment: Hara Tanzan’s Zen Method, Neuroscience, 
and Psychosomatic Buddhist Medicine,” American Academy of Religion Annual 
Meeting, San Diego, CA, November 25, 2019 

• “Negotiating the Legal Status of Reiki and other Spiritual Therapies in the United 
States,” American Academy of Religion Annual Meeting, San Diego, CA, November 23, 
2019 

 

Selected Publications: 
 
Books: 

 
• Alternate Currents: Reiki's Circulation in the Twentieth-Century North Pacific 

(Honolulu: University of Hawai'i Press, September 30, 2023). 
• Routledge Handbook of Religion, Medicine, and Health, co-edited with Pamela 

Klassen, Dorothea Lüddeckens, and Philipp Hetmanczyk (New York: Routledge, 
2022). 

• The Sikh View on Happiness: Guru Arjan’s Sukhmani, with Jaswinder Sandhu 
(London: Bloomsbury Academic, 2020) 

 
Journal Special Issues 

 
• "Japanese Religions and the Global Occult" (special issue, co-edited with Ioannis 

Gaitanidis), Japanese Religions 44 (2019). 
 
 
Book Chapters: 

 
• “Punjabi Migration to Northwestern British Columbia: Labour and the First Nations,” 

India Migration Report, edited by S. Irudaya Rajan (New Delhi: Routledge, 
forthcoming) 

• “Generation Gap in the Diaspora,” Brill’s Encyclopedia of Sikhism, Vol. II, edited by 
Knut A. Jacobsen, et. al. (Leiden: Brill Academic, forthcoming) 

• "Introduction: Critical Approaches to the Entanglement of Religion, Medicine, and 
Healing" (co-authored with Dorothea Lüddeckens, Pamela Klassen, and Philipp 
Hetmanczyk), Routledge Handbook of Religion, Medicine, and Health (New York: 
Routledge, 2022), 1-10. 

• "Energy Healing: Reiki, Therapeutic Touch, and Healing Touch in the United States 
and Beyond," Routledge Handbook of Religion, Medicine, and Health (New York: 
Routledge, 2022), 115-141. 



93  

• “Psychosomatic Buddhist Medicine at the Dawn of Modern Japan: Hara Tanzan’s ‘On 
the Difference Between the Brain and the Spinal Cord’ (1869),” in Buddhism and 
Medicine: An Anthology of Modern and Contemporary Voices, edited by C. Pierce 
Salguero (New York: Columbia University Press, 2019), 38–44. 

 
Journal Articles 

 
• “Nationalism and Buddhist Youth Groups in the Japanese, British, and American 

Empires, 1880s–1930s,” Journal of Global Buddhism 22:2 (2021), 341-359. 
• "Japanese Religions and the Global Occult: An Introduction and Literature Review" 

(co-authored with Ioannis Gaitanidis), Japanese Religions 44 (2019), 1–32. 
• “‘Universe Energy’: Translation and Reiki Healing in the Twentieth-Century North 

Pacific,” Asian Medicine 14:1 (2019), 81–103. 
 
Other PD Work: 

 
• Working with students to develop Open Education Resources (OERs) for ASIA courses 
• Developing interactive websites mapping religious sites in Thailand and the Lower Mainland 

of British Columbia 
• Language study (Thai, Mandarin) 



94 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

APPENDIX H: FACULTY SURVEY RESULTS



95  

Faculty Survey Results 
The faculty survey was sent to 19 Asian Studies faculty members. A total of 10 faculty members responded. The 
response rate is 53%. 

 
Note: The data includes open-ended comments. In order to preserve integrity and objectivity, OPA does not do value-judgment 
editing (i.e. we do not fix spelling errors, syntax issues, punctuation, etc.). Comments are included verbatim – with one 
exception: if individuals or courses are named, OPA redacts the name of the instructor or course. This rule applies to whether 
the comment is good, bad or indifferent. 

 
 

QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 3: PROGRAM RELEVANCE AND DEMAND 
 

1 - How familiar are you with KPU’s Asian Studies program? 
 

 
Note that “not at all familiar” and “slightly familiar” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the frequency 
table below for the percentages for the “not at all familiar” and “slightly familiar” categories 

 
 

# 
 

How familiar are you with KPU’s Asian Studies program? 
 

Percentage 

1 Not at all familiar 0% 

2 Slightly familiar 0% 

3 Moderately familiar 50% 

4 Very familiar 50% 
 Total number of respondents 10 

 
 

2 - How effectively do you think KPU’s Asian Studies program engages with its broader 
community (marketing, Open House, program website, or the like)? 

 

 
Note that “not at all effectively” and “somewhat effectively” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the 
frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all effectively” and “somewhat effectively” categories. 



96  

 

 
# How effectively do you think KPU’s Asian Studies program engages with its broader community (marketing, Open House, 

program website, or the like)? 

 
Percentage 

1 Extremely effectively 0% 

2 Very effectively 30% 

3 Somewhat effectively 70% 

4 Not at all effectively 0% 
 Total number of respondents 10 

 
Program Relevance 

Are the program learning outcomes relevant to the current needs of the discipline/sector? 
 

3 - Thinking of KPU’s Asian Studies program as a whole, indicate the extent you agree 
with the following. 

 

 

 
 

# 
 

Question Strongly 
disagree 

Somewhat 
disagree 

Neither agree 
nor disagree 

Somewhat 
agree 

Strongly 
agree 

 
Total 

1 
Program curriculum is relevant to the 

needs of the discipline/sector. 0% 0% 0% 60% 40% 10 

2 
The program prepares students for a 

career in the discipline/sector. 0% 0% 40% 50% 10% 10 

3 
The program prepares students for 

further education in the field. 0% 0% 10% 50% 40% 10 



97  

4 Program prepares students with cultural 
competency. 0% 0% 0% 30% 70% 10 

 
4 - Please indicate how relevant each of the following Program Learning Outcomes is to 
the current needs of the discipline/sector? 

 
Demonstrate a working knowledge of 

core vocabulary and theoretical 
perspectives in Asian Studies to make 

careful comparisons across time, space 
and culture 

 

Identify key issues in Asian 
society, culture, politics, and 

history through written and oral 
communication 

 
Apply frameworks of ethnicity, 

gender, and class to analyze Asian 
literature, film, and media 

Apply critical thinking and problem-solving 
skills to address the impact of colonialism and 
processes of decolonization in Asia and Asian 
diasporas to address real world problems in a 

way that is sensitive both to history and 
competing sets of values 

 

Analyze how diverse Asian diasporic groups 
interact with globalization and 

transnationalism to improve the social, 
political, economic or cultural well-being of 

communities 

Interpret insider perspectives 
(Indigenous, majority, and minority) in 
Asia or Asian diasporic contexts to take 

informed positions as global citizens 
 

Apply knowledge gained in the 
Asian Studies program to specific 

situations in our local 
communities 

 

Demonstrate familiarity with one 
or more Asian languages through 
written and oral communication 

 
Apply research skills by designing, 

conducting, and presenting 
research 

 

Apply the intercultural 
competencies gained in the Asian 

Studies program to successful 
careers in public, private, or non- 

profit sectors 
 
 
 
 
 

Note that “not at all” and “slightly relevant” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the frequency table below 
for the percentages for the “not at all relevant” and “slightly relevant” categories. 



98  

 
# 

 
Question Not at all 

relevant 
Slightly 

relevant 
Somewhat 

relevant 
Very 

relevant 

 
Total 

 
1 

Demonstrate a working knowledge of core vocabulary and theoretical 
perspectives in Asian Studies to make careful comparisons across time, 

space and culture 

 
0% 

 
0% 

 
10% 

 
90% 

 
10 

2 Identify key issues in Asian society, culture, politics, and history 
through written and oral communication 0% 0% 0% 100% 10 

3 Apply frameworks of ethnicity, gender, and class to analyze Asian 
literature, film, and media 0% 0% 0% 100% 10 

 

4 

Apply critical thinking and problem-solving skills to address the impact 
of colonialism and processes of decolonization in Asia and Asian 

diasporas to address real world problems in a way that is sensitive both 
to history and competing sets of values 

 

0% 

 

0% 

 

10% 

 

90% 

 

10 

 
5 

Analyze how diverse Asian diasporic groups interact with globalization 
and transnationalism to improve the social, political, economic or 

cultural well-being of communities 

 
0% 

 
0% 

 
0% 

 
100% 

 
10 

 
6 

Interpret insider perspectives (Indigenous, majority, and minority) in 
Asia or Asian diasporic contexts to take informed positions as global 

citizens 

 
0% 

 
0% 

 
10% 

 
90% 

 
10 

7 Apply knowledge gained in the Asian Studies program to specific 
situations in our local communities 0% 0% 20% 80% 10 

8 Demonstrate familiarity with one or more Asian languages through 
written and oral communication 0% 0% 20% 80% 10 

9 Apply research skills by designing, conducting, and presenting research 0% 0% 10% 90% 10 

10 
Apply the intercultural competencies gained in the Asian Studies 

program to successful careers in public, private, or non-profit sectors 0% 0% 20% 80% 10 

 

5 - How satisfied are you with the extent KPU’s Asian Studies program is including 
Indigenous content in its curriculum? 

 

 

 
 

# 
 

How satisfied are you with the extent KPU’s Asian Studies program is including Indigenous content in its curriculum? 
 

Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 40% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 10% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 40% 

5 Very satisfied 10% 
 Total number of respondents 10 



99  

6 - Do you have any comments on the program’s efforts in addressing de-colonization 
and Indigenization in the curriculum? 

 
I believe that our wider society's discourse fails to integrate ongoing processes of disenfranchisement resulting from colonial structures. 
Currently, Canadian higher ed's reliance on international student's tuition to fund the sector results in the reipscription of colonial ideas. 
There are ways to continue to address indigenization, but the scope of what KPU and society more broadly view as decolonization and 
indigenization must be more capacious. The program has a long standing commitment to critically addressing histories of colonization in its 
curriculum toward decolonization, but indigeneity in Asian Studies must also be permitted to make inquiries about indigenous contexts 

 within the region and think about how the concept applies (and doesn't) in different ways in other contexts.  
I think the faculty members want to do the right thing and have taken good first steps, but I think we could use better training in Indigenous 
issues specifically in regards to Asian Indigeneities and comparative work with local Indigenous issues. Also, I think several of the upper- 
level courses address these issues in greater depth, but it would be good to consider ways to integrate them throughout the curriculum 

 more broadly.  
From a Canadian point of view, decolonization and Indigenization with KPU Asian Studies is more limited, from an Asian and Global point of 
view, much more effective. As a multi- and inter-disciplinary program, addressing decolonization is absolutely built in to the program (given 
studies and courses on South and East Asia). It could probably do more by crafting a course on decolonization and Indigeneity in Asia 
(south, east or Asia as a whole) to directly address this, and that would create an opportunity to bring a Canadian Indigenous perspective 

 into the processes.  
Having taught and lived in various locations in Asia where decolonization (related primarily to British East India and Dutch East India as well 
as European and American extractivism and Cold War politics were very influential) and Indigenous peoples have had longstanding issues 
with colonial empires and contemporary post-colonial Westphalian nation-states (i.e. Indonesia, Taiwan R.O.C., India, etc.), it seems 
important to makes students aware of Indigenous peoples (i.e. Indigenous-Aboriginal Indonesians, S.E. Asian Hill Tribes, Taiwan's 13 
identified Indigenous Tribal Peoples, Adavasi and Scheduled Tribal Peoples in India, including NE India and the Andaman and Nicobar 
Islands). current issues and claims in East, South East and South Asia. Bringing this bridging awareness to Indigenous struggles in various 
locales in 'Asia' and comparing this to Turtle Island / North America seems like an important advancement in de-colonization and 

 Indigenization efforts. In addition, Bandung Conference and Post Bandung de-colonization efforts ought to be explored.  
We could have more on de-colonization and indigenization 

This is an area that I am not as familiar with regarding the current Asian Studies program, so I don't feel I can accurately comment. 
While Asian Studies does address de-colonization, it could be more explicitly integrated in the curriculum and readings. Asian Studies could 
address Indigenization in its curriculum in two major ways: (1) courses on Asia (i.e. there are Indigenous communities in Asia), and (2) 
courses on Asian communities in North America (like [Course Names Redacted]). 

 

7 - Overall, how satisfied are you with KPU's Asian Studies program curriculum? 
 

 

 
# Overall, how satisfied are you with KPU's Asian Studies program curriculum? Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 
2 Somewhat dissatisfied 0% 
3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 10% 
4 Somewhat satisfied 70% 
5 Very satisfied 20% 

 Total number of respondents 10 



100  

8 - Thinking of KPU’s Asian Studies program's curriculum as a whole, please indicate the 
strengths of the program. 

 
The East Asian studies courses have ample support from faculty in the department and affiliated faculty. There are a number of compelling 

 courses that integrate experiential learning.  
 Reputation of faculty, connections with other disciplines across KPU Arts, curriculum reflects program outcomes  

Especially given the small number of faculty in the program, there is a broad variety of courses on East Asia and South Asia, especially 
China, Japan, and India. The fourth-year level courses offer experiential opportunities that make use of the rich Asian diaspora 
communities of the Lower Mainland. Many of the courses, especially courses cross-listed with HIST and LANC, provide interesting and 

 unique looks at specific and engaging topics that appeal to broad arrays of students outside of Asian Studies.  
It is relatively comprehensive and covers most of Asia. Given the number of dedicated and affiliate faculty, it is also purposefully 
interdisciplinary, which is absolutely necessary. It also offers an interesting array of courses that build on strengths in religion, film, gender, 

 transnational, and related subject matter and curricula.  
Interdisciplinary aspects of the program are both a strength and no doubt pose a challenge as well. For a small department the program is 
doing what it can to develop a unique niche and also possibly partner with universities in Asia (e.g. in India, Singapore, Hong Kong or 

 Taiwan). Scholars in non-Asian Studies may also want to support Asian Studies in this regards (e.g. History, Geography, etc.).  
 It has a diversity of courses within the specific themes we have chosen to focus on.  

Providing a wide range of excellent courses and instruction on various aspects of Asian culture and society. Providing cultural competency 
training for KPU students that they can take with them in the higher education and job sectors. Excellent and highly competent faculty that 

 have lots of hands-on experience in research and scholarship with Asian cultures.  
Given the program's limited regular faculty, Asian Studies program does provide a solid and wide range of courses, which allows students 
to choose an area focus (East or South Asia) and/or a thematic focus (film, culture, ethnicity, religion, etc.). 

 
9 - Thinking of KPU’s Asian Studies program's curriculum as a whole, please provide any 
suggestions you have for improvement. 

 
The focus on Islam across Asia is not substantially addressed in the curriculum. There is a grave need to focus on Islam in a first year religion 
course. Student's current exposure to Islam is reserved to an infrequently taught third year course that is also limited to South Asia. Being 
taught outside of the Religions of India course also results in a reipscription of ideas that it is external to, even an imposition on Asia, rather 
that part of a complex cultural matrix spanning the continent and beyond. This reality may also stem from a reality that KPU offers few to 
no Middle East studies courses, something that Asian Studies could also seek to address. Southeast Asia, which does currently exist within 
the scope of the department is also lacking in the curriculum. At the upper level, there needs to be more administrative support for 
developing these regions in the curriculum. The proposed "Muslim Cultures and Histories across Asia" course that has been cancelled 
should be supported and developed to become a regular part of the curriculum. 
Address the limitations of the program’s regional foci and consider creating additional pan-Asian courses 
It seems odd that the Asian Studies minor has no requirement for coursework in Asian languages. Moreover, language classes don't count 
towards the minor, and neither do the "Additional Asian Studies Courses" from other departments that do count towards the major. I think 
that changing the minor requirements to require 6 credits in an Asian language and formally allowing students to apply courses from other 
departments with Asian content towards the minor would better prepare our students and encourage more people to declare the minor. 
It is almost impossible to do so - but the program could use some central and west Asian programming to build out the curriculum. It could 
also add some specific programming on decolonization/Indigenous studies. While many courses allude to this, or have further elements 
built in, it might make this more front and centre in program curriculum. 
It might be helpful if there were support from the Administration for running exploratory courses that may not immediately 'fill' 
(particularly upper year efforts). Furthermore the university administration ought not to undermine or dissuade from 'win-win' cross 
listings with other departments that could further the offerings and also the fill rates of smaller departments. It seems disingenuous for the 
administration to undermine cross-listings by saying they should not be done simply to attract students, when at the same time they can 
solidifying nascent and creative offerings, particularly in small departments. Such a lack of creativity simply perpetuates inertia. This is not 
a problem of the program but a problematic mindset that limits small programs and 'keeps them in their place'. 
We could expand some of the cultural themes, especially in de-colonization, indigenization, religion, and literatures of Asia (linking with 
LANC) 
More student research opportunities and increased hands-on experiential learning opportunities for students. Additional opportunities for 
student community outreach connections and training opportunities for Asian Studies students. 
In terms of the program's area focus, courses are only offered on South and East Asia (i.e. not Southeast Asia). The program would be more 
comprehensive if it offered several courses on Southeast Asia. [Some faculty do integrate a little bit of Southeast content in the current 
courses and allow students to do their projects on Southeast Asia.]. Along with the program's 3rd year level course on "Islam in South Asia," 
a 2nd year level course on "Islam in Asia" would also add to the curriculum; it would provide a pan-Asia perspective in addressing many 
complex issues pertaining to Muslim communities in Asia (e.g., Uyghur, Rohingya, Afghans, etc.), as well as be a stepping stone for the 3rd 
year level course already offered by the program. 



101  

QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 4: EFFECTIVENESS OF INSTRUCTIONAL DELIVERY 
 

Instructional Design and Delivery 

Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the PLOs? 
 

10 - To what extent is KPU’s Asian Studies program helping students develop the 
following Program Learning Outcomes? 

Associate Degree in Asian Studies Results 
 

 
Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the frequency table below 
for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories. 

 
 

# 
 

Question Not 
at all 

A small 
extent 

A moderate 
extent 

A large 
extent 

 
Total 

 
1 

Demonstrate a working knowledge of core vocabulary and theoretical 
perspectives in Asian Studies to make careful comparisons across time, space 

and culture 

 
0% 

 
10% 

 
30% 

 
60% 

 
10 

2 Identify key issues in Asian society, culture, politics, and history through 
written and oral communication 0% 10% 30% 60% 10 

3 Apply frameworks of ethnicity, gender, and class to analyze Asian literature, 
film, and media 0% 10% 60% 30% 10 

 
4 

Analyze how diverse Asian diasporic groups interact with globalization and 
transnationalism to improve the social, political, economic or cultural well- 

being of communities 

 
0% 

 
10% 

 
60% 

 
30% 

 
10 

5 
Apply the intercultural competencies gained in the Asian Studies program to 

successful careers in public, private, or non-profit sectors 0% 20% 70% 10% 10 

6 Demonstrate familiarity with one or more Asian languages through written 
and oral communication 0% 10% 80% 10% 10 

Demonstrate a working knowledge 
of core vocabulary and theoretical 

perspectives in Asian Studies to 
make careful comparisons across 

time, space and culture 
 

Identify key issues in Asian society, 
culture, politics, and history 

through written and oral 
communication 

Apply frameworks of ethnicity, 
gender, and class to analyze Asian 

literature, film, and media 
 

Analyze how diverse Asian diasporic 
groups interact with globalization 

and transnationalism to improve the 
social, political, economic or cultural 

well-being of communities 

Demonstrate familiarity with one or 
more Asian languages through 

written and oral communication 
 

Apply the intercultural competencies 
gained in the Asian Studies program 

to successful careers in public, 
private, or non-profit sectors 



102  

Bachelor of Arts, Minor in Asian Studies Results 
Demonstrate a working knowledge 
of core vocabulary and theoretical 

perspectives in Asian Studies to 
make careful comparisons across 

time, space and culture 
 

Identify key issues in Asian 
society, culture, politics, and 

history through written and oral 
communication 

 

Apply frameworks of ethnicity, 
gender, and class to analyze Asian 

literature, film, and media 

Apply critical thinking and problem- 
solving skills to address the impact of 

colonialism and processes of 
decolonization in Asia and Asian 
diasporas to address real world 

problems in a way that is sensitive both 
to history and competing sets of values 

Analyze how diverse Asian diasporic 
groups interact with globalization and 

transnationalism to improve the social, 
political, economic or cultural well- 

being of communities 

Interpret insider perspectives 
(Indigenous, majority, and 

minority) in Asia or Asian diasporic 
contexts to take informed positions 

as global citizens 
 

Apply research skills by designing, 
conducting, and presenting 

research 

 
Apply the intercultural 

competencies gained in the Asian 
Studies program to successful 

careers in public, private, or non- 
profit sectors 

 
 
 
 

Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the frequency table below 
for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories. 



103  

 
# 

 
Question Not 

at all 
A small 
extent 

A moderate 
extent 

A large 
extent 

 
Total 

 
1 

Demonstrate a working knowledge of core vocabulary and theoretical 
perspectives in Asian Studies to make careful comparisons across time, space 

and culture 

 
0% 

 
0% 

 
30% 

 
70% 

 
10 

2 Identify key issues in Asian society, culture, politics, and history through written 
and oral communication 0% 0% 20% 80% 10 

3 Apply frameworks of ethnicity, gender, and class to analyze Asian literature, film, 
and media 0% 0% 30% 70% 10 

 

4 

Apply critical thinking and problem-solving skills to address the impact of 
colonialism and processes of decolonization in Asia and Asian diasporas to 
address real world problems in a way that is sensitive both to history and 

competing sets of values 

 

0% 

 

0% 

 

50% 

 

50% 

 

10 

 
5 

Analyze how diverse Asian diasporic groups interact with globalization and 
transnationalism to improve the social, political, economic or cultural well-being 

of communities 

 
0% 

 
0% 

 
50% 

 
50% 

 
10 

6 
Interpret insider perspectives (Indigenous, majority, and minority) in Asia or 

Asian diasporic contexts to take informed positions as global citizens 0% 10% 70% 20% 10 

7 Apply research skills by designing, conducting, and presenting research 0% 0% 50% 50% 10 

8 
Apply the intercultural competencies gained in the Asian Studies program to 

successful careers in public, private, or non-profit sectors 0% 10% 60% 30% 10 



104  

Bachelor of Arts, Major in Asian Studies Results 
Demonstrate a working knowledge 
of core vocabulary and theoretical 

perspectives in Asian Studies to 
make careful comparisons across 

time, space and culture 
 

Identify key issues in Asian 
society, culture, politics, and 

history through written and oral 
communication 

 

Apply frameworks of ethnicity, 
gender, and class to analyze 

Asian literature, film, and media 
 

Apply critical thinking and problem-solving 
skills to address the impact of colonialism 

and processes of decolonization in Asia 
and Asian diasporas to address real world 
problems in a way that is sensitive both to 

history and competing sets of values 

Analyze how diverse Asian diasporic 
groups interact with globalization and 

transnationalism to improve the social, 
political, economic or cultural well- 

being of communities 

Interpret insider perspectives 
(Indigenous, majority, and minority) in 
Asia or Asian diasporic contexts to take 

informed positions as global citizens 
 

Apply knowledge gained in the 
Asian Studies program to specific 

situations in our local 
communities 

 

Demonstrate familiarity with one 
or more Asian languages through 
written and oral communication 

 
 

Apply research skills by designing, 
conducting, and presenting 

research 
 

Apply the intercultural 
competencies gained in the Asian 

Studies program to successful 
careers in public, private, or non- 

profit sectors 
 
 
 
 
 

Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the frequency table below 
for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories. 



105  

# Question Not 
at all 

A small 
extent 

A moderate 
extent 

A large 
extent Total 

 
1 

Demonstrate a working knowledge of core vocabulary and theoretical 
perspectives in Asian Studies to make careful comparisons across time, space 

and culture 

 
0% 

 
0% 

 
20% 

 
80% 

 
10 

2 Identify key issues in Asian society, culture, politics, and history through 
written and oral communication 0% 0% 10% 90% 10 

3 Apply frameworks of ethnicity, gender, and class to analyze Asian literature, 
film, and media 0% 0% 20% 80% 10 

 

4 

Apply critical thinking and problem-solving skills to address the impact of 
colonialism and processes of decolonization in Asia and Asian diasporas to 
address real world problems in a way that is sensitive both to history and 

competing sets of values 

 

0% 

 

0% 

 

40% 

 

60% 

 

10 

 
5 

Analyze how diverse Asian diasporic groups interact with globalization and 
transnationalism to improve the social, political, economic or cultural well- 

being of communities 

 
0% 

 
0% 

 
40% 

 
60% 

 
10 

6 
Interpret insider perspectives (Indigenous, majority, and minority) in Asia or 

Asian diasporic contexts to take informed positions as global citizens 0% 0% 60% 40% 10 

7 Apply knowledge gained in the Asian Studies program to specific situations in 
our local communities 0% 0% 50% 50% 10 

8 Demonstrate familiarity with one or more Asian languages through written 
and oral communication 0% 0% 60% 40% 10 

9 Apply research skills by designing, conducting, and presenting research 0% 0% 30% 70% 10 

10 
Apply the intercultural competencies gained in the Asian Studies program to 

successful careers in public, private, or non-profit sectors 0% 0% 40% 60% 10 

 
 

Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the essential skills? 
 

11 - To what extent is KPU’s Asian Studies program helping students develop the 
following essential skills? 

 



106  

Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the frequency table below 
for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories. 

 
 

# 
 

Question Not at 
all 

A small 
extent 

A moderate 
extent 

A large 
extent 

 
Total 

1 Writing clearly and concisely 0% 0% 50% 50% 10 

2 Speaking effectively 0% 0% 50% 50% 10 

3 Reading and comprehending material (appropriate to your 
field) 0% 0% 50% 50% 10 

4 Working effectively with others 0% 0% 60% 40% 10 

5 Analyzing and thinking critically 0% 0% 50% 50% 10 

6 Resolving issues or other problems 0% 0% 70% 30% 10 

7 Learning on your own 0% 0% 60% 40% 10 

8 Developing multicultural sensitivity and awareness 0% 10% 0% 90% 10 
 
 

Does the program design ensure students are prepared for subsequent courses? 
 

12 - Thinking of KPU's Asian Studies program as a whole, to what extent do you agree 
that the prerequisites offered prepare students for more advanced courses? 

 

 
 

 
 

# Thinking of KPU's Asian Studies program as a whole, to what extent do you agree that the prerequisites offered prepare 
students for more advanced courses? 

 
Percentage 

1 Strongly disagree 0% 

2 Somewhat disagree 10% 

3 Neither agree nor disagree 0% 

4 Somewhat agree 30% 

5 Strongly agree 60% 
 Total number of respondents 10 



107  

Does the instruction meet the needs of diverse learners? 
 

13 - Thinking of how the program’s courses are delivered, please indicate your agreement 
with the following. 

 

 

 
 

# 
 

Question Strongly 
disagree 

Somewhat 
disagree 

Neither agree 
nor disagree 

Somewhat 
agree 

Strongly 
agree 

 
Total 

1 Multiple learning modalities are 
accommodated. 0% 0% 0% 70% 30% 10 

2 The delivery of the curriculum is effective. 0% 0% 0% 20% 80% 10 

3 
Course materials reflect current 

developments in the discipline/sector. 0% 0% 0% 50% 50% 10 

4 
Instructors ensure students’ emotional 

safety in the learning environment. 0% 0% 20% 20% 60% 10 

5 Instructors ensure students’ physical safety 
in the learning environment. 0% 0% 10% 20% 70% 10 



108  

14 - How effectively is Asian Studies program incorporating experiential learning 
opportunities for students? 

 

 
Note that “not at all effectively” and “somewhat effectively” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the 
frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all effectively” and “somewhat effectively” categories. 

 
 

# 
 

How effectively is Asian Studies program incorporating experiential learning opportunities for students? 
 

Percentage 

1 Extremely effectively 0% 

2 Very effectively 40% 

3 Somewhat effectively 60% 

4 Not at all effectively 0% 
 Total 10 

 
 

15 - Overall, how satisfied are you with the quality of instruction across the program? 
 

 

 
 

# 
 

Overall, how satisfied are you with the quality of instruction across the program? 
 

Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 0% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 0% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 20% 

5 Very satisfied 80% 
 Total number of respondents 10 



109  

16 - Thinking of how instruction is delivered across the program as a whole, please 
indicate the strengths of the program instruction. 

 
Expertise of faculty 
We have experts in varied fields 

The interdisciplinary background of instructors is a key strength of this program. 
Delivering knowledge and skills in cultural competency and awareness and respect of different cultural traditions. Delivery of academic 
skills including critical thinking, oral and written communication and research. Delivery of necessary skills to compare and evaluate 

 different Asian cultures across time and space.  
Faculty offer diverse perspectives and pedagogical approaches within the classroom; that is, delivery ranging from "flipped" in-person 
classroom to asynchronous online. Curriculum is developed as such to help students progressively develop their skills. Over the last several 
years, Asian Studies has been incorporating an experiential learning component to some of its courses. 

 
17 - Thinking of how instruction is delivered across the program as a whole, please 
provide any suggestions you have for improvements in program instruction. 

 
Experiential learning is foregrounded in a small number of courses (including the capstone for Majors) and students have some 

 opportunities through the Arts practicum. A more systemic approach to experiential learning would benefit all students  
Maybe experiential opportunities could be integrated into lower-level classes. We could probably do more group learning opportunities, 

 although this has been an issue during the pandemic.  
The development of a co-op program (if administratively elegant) would be recommended and could involved instructors. Further 
instructional and student collaborations, partnerships with Asian universities (e.g. Ambedkar University, Ashoka University, JNU, HKU, 

 CUHK, NTU, NUS, Academia Sinica, etc.) ought to be encouraged and enabled and possible (e.g. through KPU COIL and Field Schools).  
Providing more experiential learning opportunities and ways for students to connect with community partners to gain additional research 

 and scholarship opportunities and training.  
Asian Studies should continue to incorporate experiential learning opportunities, including course-based projects, field trips. 

 
Do the assessment methods allow students to demonstrate to what extent they have achieved the learning 
outcomes? 

 

18 - Thinking of how learning is assessed in the program courses you teach, indicate your 
agreement with the following. 

 



110  

 
 

 
# 

 
Question Strongly 

disagree 
Somewhat 

disagree 
Neither agree 

nor disagree 
Somewhat 

agree 
Strongly 

agree 

 
Total 

1 Assessment methods align with program 
learning outcomes. 0% 0% 0% 50% 50% 10 

2 
The range of assessments let students 
demonstrate what they have learned. 0% 0% 0% 50% 50% 10 

3 
Students are provided clear information 

on how they will be evaluated. 0% 0% 0% 20% 80% 10 

4 The assessment standards are consistent 
throughout the program. 0% 0% 0% 50% 50% 10 

 
 

QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 5: RESOURCES, SERVICES AND FACILITIES 
 

Program Resources, Services and Facilities 

Does the program have the library and learning resources needed to deliver the curriculum? 

19 - How satisfied are you with the supports to engage in research? 
 

 

 
 

# 
 

How satisfied are you with the supports to engage in research? 
 

Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 30% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 30% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 40% 

5 Very satisfied 0% 
 Total number of respondents 10 



111  

20 - How well are the following library resources meeting the program’s needs? 
 

 
Note that “not at all” and “somewhat well” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the frequency table below 
for the percentages for the “not at all” and “somewhat well” categories. 

 
 

# 
 

Question Have not 
used 

Not at 
all 

Somewhat 
well 

Very 
well 

Extremely 
well 

 
Total 

1 Availability of audio-visual and computer 
equipment 10% 0% 20% 40% 30% 10 

2 Books 0% 0% 30% 30% 40% 10 

3 eBooks 0% 0% 20% 50% 30% 10 

4 Online resources - journal articles, etc. 0% 0% 20% 30% 50% 10 

5 Print periodicals, journals, etc. 10% 0% 40% 30% 20% 10 

6 Study guides 10% 0% 10% 60% 20% 10 

7 DVDs/streaming video on program-related topics 10% 10% 20% 50% 10% 10 

8 Librarian support for program-related research 10% 0% 10% 40% 40% 10 

9 Library orientation 30% 0% 10% 20% 40% 10 



112  

Does the program have the specialized technology needed to deliver the curriculum? 
 

21 - Is the technology available for students to effectively complete projects involving 
mapping, filmmaking and/or podcasting? 

 
 

# Is the technology available for students to effectively complete projects involving mapping, filmmaking and/or 
podcasting? 

 
Percentage 

1 Yes 78% 

2 No 22% 
 Total number of respondents 9 

 
Does the program have the facilities needed to deliver the curriculum? 

 

22 - How satisfied are you with the space to fulfil your job-related responsibilities? 
 

 

 
 

# 
 

How satisfied are you with the space to fulfil your job-related responsibilities? 
 

Percentage 

1 Very dissatisfied 10% 

2 Somewhat dissatisfied 10% 

3 Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 20% 

4 Somewhat satisfied 40% 

5 Very satisfied 20% 
 Total number of respondents 10 



113  

Does the program have the support services needed to deliver the curriculum? 
23 - How well are the following services meeting the program’s needs? 

 

 
Note that “not at all” and “somewhat well” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the frequency table below 
for the percentages for the “not at all” and “somewhat well” categories. 

 
 

# 
 

Question Have not used/Don't 
know 

Not at 
all 

Somewhat 
well 

Very 
well 

Extremely 
well 

 
Total 

1 Availability of required texts at the KPU 
bookstore 40% 10% 20% 30% 0% 10 

2 Zero textbook program 0% 0% 10% 40% 50% 10 

3 Advising Services 10% 0% 30% 40% 20% 10 

4 Career Services 40% 10% 20% 30% 0% 10 

5 Accessibility Services 0% 0% 30% 40% 30% 10 

6 Learning Centres 0% 0% 30% 50% 20% 10 

7 KPU International 10% 20% 30% 30% 10% 10 

8 Teaching and Learning Commons 0% 0% 30% 60% 10% 10 

9 IT Support 0% 0% 20% 40% 40% 10 



114  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

19 A computed "middle" number in a set of numbers when sorted by value, such that 50% of the values are higher and 50% are 
smaller than this number. The Median is preferred over the Mean when the distribution of numbers contains a few extreme 
values. Extreme values will distort the Mean in that direction, whereas the Median is not affected by extreme values. 
20 The data in Exhibits 20 and 21 present the median number of years students took to receive their first credential. 
21 Unemployment rate of KPU's graduates (of those in the labour market). 
22 Respondents who were working at a job or business at the time of the survey, as a percentage of all respondents, regardless 
of whether they were in the labour force (see above). 
23 Respondents who are currently employed in occupations that they describe as "very" or "somewhat" related to their studies, 
as a percentage of all employed respondents. 
24 Respondents who have taken further studies after taking the program, including those currently studying. 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
        Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 

 

1 
 

  

REPORT: Asian Studies Self-Study Report  
 

OVERALL ASSESSMENT:  
Please provide a brief assessment of the Self-Study Report under review and an overall recommendation. 
Reviewer #1: This self-study report is excellent. It's written with clarity and presented exceptionally well. I 
applaud my colleagues for their dedicated efforts and am grateful for the learning experience I've gained from 
their analysis. 
 
Reviewer #2: While well written and extensive, there was a fair amount of redundancy throughout the 
report.  Paring this down would make for a more streamlined read.  As well, the requests for additional 
faculty members (FTE) to grow the program are not appropriate in a program review, and my 
recommendation would be to remove those comments.  
 
The Report (select the box that corresponds your recommendation):  

☒         Reviewer #1: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR as is 
☒         Reviewer #2: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR pending further action (see below) 
☐         Recommend return to the Program for major revision 
☐         Recommend for rejection by the SSCPR 

 
Direction for Reviewers: Determine if the criterion for each chapter is fully addressed according to the standard. 

CHAPTER 1: Program Overview 
 
Criterion: This chapter provides an overview of the program, its purpose, and the scope of the review. 
 
Standard: The Chapter clearly describes the program, its purpose, and the scope of the current review. 
 
THE CHAPTER:  
  ☒     Meets the Standard 

Additional Comments (if necessary):  
Minor edits indicated on the document. 

 
  ☐     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 

Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
Click here to enter text. 

 
 
 
 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
        Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 

 

2 
 

CHAPTER 2: Curriculum Review 
 
Criteria: This chapter provides a clear profile of the program graduates, relevant program learning outcomes, 
and a curriculum mapping assessment that adequately identifies any gaps in the program’s curriculum.  
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations. 
 
THE CHAPTER:  
  ☒     Meets the Standard 

Additional Comments (if necessary):  
Click here to enter text. 

 
  ☐     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 

Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
Click here to enter text. 

 
CHAPTER 3: Program Relevance and Student Demand 
 
Criteria: This chapter adequately assesses program’s relevance, faculty qualifications and currency, 
connections to the discipline/sector, and student demand.  
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations. 
 
THE CHAPTER:  
  ☒     Meets the Standard 

Additional Comments (if necessary):  
Click here to enter text. 

 
  ☐     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 

Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
Click here to enter text. 

 
 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
        Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 

 

3 
 

CHAPTER 4: Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery 
 
Criteria: This chapter adequately examines the effectiveness of the instructional design and delivery of the 
program and student success.  
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations. 
 
THE CHAPTER:  
  ☒     Meets the Standard 

Additional Comments (if necessary):  
Click here to enter text. 

 
  ☐     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 

Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
Click here to enter text. 

 
CHAPTER 5: Resources, Services and Facilities 
 
Criteria: This chapter adequately assesses program’s resources, services, and facilities from both the student 
and faculty perspective.  
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations. 
 
THE CHAPTER:  
  ☒     Meets the Standard 

Additional Comments (if necessary):  
Click here to enter text. 

 
  ☐     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 

Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
Click here to enter text. 

 
 
 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
        Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report 

 

4 
 

CHAPTER 6: Conclusions and Recommendations 
 
Criterion: This chapter summarizes the conclusions drawn from the evidence gathered in the program review. 
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported recommendations. 
 
THE CHAPTER:  
  ☒     Meets the Standard 

Additional Comments (if necessary):  
Click here to enter text. 

 
  ☐     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 

Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
Click here to enter text. 

 
MINOR EDITS (Spelling, syntax, word choice and other mechanical issues). 
Please list corresponding page numbers. Minor edits are NOT discussed at the SSCPR meeting. Add or remove 
rows as needed. 

Minor Edits (page #) 
3:  align course learning outcomes (PLOs) with the newly established program learning outcomes (CLOs). 
5:  reference to “students from any KPU faculty can declare a Minor…”.  Need to ensure this is actually true. 
8:  “courses that make use of experiential learning opportunities…” 
9:  delete redundant “moving forward” 
9:  Remove reference to adding a new regular faculty position 
10:  “Some students minor in in Asian Studies…” 
10:  “…while pursuing in other Bachelor of Arts…” 
12:  “…introductory-level…” 
13:  “…high-stakes…” 
17:  change “final courses” to “upper-level courses” 
18:  Remove reference to non-regular faculty engaging in professional development activities as this is a 
collective agreement requirement.  Or, clarify if there is a difference between NR2 and QFL/NR1. 
19:  multiple instances of “Arts” should be clarified to “Faculty of Arts” 
19:  add “AY” to List of Acronyms 
22:  multiple instances of “Arts” should be clarified to “Faculty of Arts” 
22:  remove reference to adding a new regular faculty position 
26:  “As it is more difficult to have…” 
29:  add “DFW” to List of Acronyms 
29:  multiple instances of “Arts” should be clarified to “Faculty of Arts” 
30:  multiple instances of “Arts” should be clarified to “Faculty of Arts” 
31:  clarify the use of “ARTS Practicum”.  Is this a Faculty of Arts practicum or is this ARTS 4800 or is this 
something else? 
35:  correct “Arts” to “Faculty of Arts” 
37:  remove reference to adding a faculty member 
38:  capitalize Indigenous 
38:  remove reference to securing a course time release 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Asian Studies Program Review 
Self-Study Report 

 
Report Submission Date: AugustSeptember 21, 2023 

 
Program Review Team Members: 

Justin B. Stein (lead author) 
Kamala Elizabeth Nayar 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Asian Studies Program Self-Study Report    

Table of Contents 
List of Acronyms .................................................................................................................................. 1 
Memo from Dean/Associate Dean ....................................................................................................... 1 
1. Introduction .................................................................................................................................. 3 

1.1. Overview of the Program(s) ............................................................................................................ 3 
1.2. Program Department ...................................................................................................................... 5 
1.3. Program Purpose ............................................................................................................................. 6 
1.4. Issues for Program Review .............................................................................................................. 6 

2. Curriculum Review ......................................................................................................................... 9 
2.1. Pathways for Graduates .................................................................................................................. 9 
2.2. Skill Development .......................................................................................................................... 10 
2.3. Curriculum Assessment ................................................................................................................. 13 

3. Program Relevance and Demand ................................................................................................. 17 
3.1. Relevance ...................................................................................................................................... 17 
3.2. Faculty Qualifications and Currency .............................................................................................. 19 
3.3. Student Demand ............................................................................................................................ 20 

4. Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery ......................................................................................... 23 
4.1. Instructional Design and Delivery of Curriculum ........................................................................... 23 
4.2. Student Success ............................................................................................................................. 28 

5. Resources, Services, and Facilities ................................................................................................ 32 
6. Conclusions and Recommendations ............................................................................................. 34 

6.1. Summary of Program’s Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, and Challenges ......................... 34 
6.2. Recommendations ......................................................................................................................... 37 

7. Appendices .................................................................................................................................. 39 
 
 
 



Asian Studies Program Self-Study Report 1 

List of Acronyms 
 

AA: Associate of Arts 

AY: Academic Year 

ANTH: Anthropology 

ASIA: Asian Studies 

BA: Bachelor of Arts 

CLO: Course Learning Outcomes 

COIL: Collaborative Online International 
Learning 

DFW: % of students receiving a D or an F or 
withdrawing from a course  

FTE: Full-Time Equivalency 

GEOG: Geography 

HIST: History 

INDG: Indigenous Studies 

JAPN: Japanese 

JRNL: Journalism 

IAB: Internal Advisory Board 

KPU: Kwantlen Polytechnic University 

LANC: Language and Culture 

MAND: Mandarin 

NR1: Non-Regular Type 1 

NR2: Non-Regular Type 2 

PAC: Program Advisory Committee 

PHIL: Philosophy 

PLO: Program Learning Outcomes 

POLI: Political Science 

PUNJ: Punjabi 

QFL: Qualified Faculty List 

SOCI: Sociology 

ZTC: Zero Textbook Cost 



Asian Studies Program Self-Study Report 1 

Memo from Dean/Associate Dean 
 
TO: Senate Standing Committee on Program Review  
 
FROM: Shelley Boyd, Dean, Faculty of Arts; Alena Buis, Associate Dean, Faculty of Arts   
   
DATE: 21 August 2023 
 
SUBJECT: Asian Studies Self-Study, A.A. in Asian Studies, BA Minor Asian Studies, and BA Major Asian 
Studies   
   

First, we would like to express our gratitude for the detailed analysis and dedication that have gone into 
writing this Self-Study Report for the Asian Studies Program as a key component of Program Review of 
the Asian Studies Associate of Arts, Bachelor of Arts Minor in Asian Studies, and a Bachelor of Arts Major 
in Asian Studies credentials. This is the program’s second review, and the Self-Study Report is a 
thoughtful assessment of the credentials offered, evaluation of changes made over the last five years, 
and recommendations for next steps. This Self-Study provides valuable insights on current areas of 
concern; it identifies strengths and makes recommendations for enhancement. By acting on these 
findings, the program will no doubt be able to continue to attract students looking to develop strong 
cultural, communicative, and linguistic competencies, reflecting the diversity and interconnectedness of 
today’s society. 

As outlined in the Self-Study, the logistical challenges of the program are offset by Asian Studies’ 
interdisciplinary and multidisciplinary strengths. There is an opportunity for faculty members to bolster 
already forged relationships with other departments (HIST, LANC, GEOG, etc.) and engage in 
collaborative planning with Indigenous Studies. There may also be opportunities to collaborate with the 
Canada Research Chair in South Asian Literary and Cultural Studies on special events, if the program is 
interesting in contributing to such multi-department events as the South Asian Arts Festival. Additional 
curriculum development can be discussed with the program’s robust Internal Advisory Board (IAB) 
consisting of ASIA faculty and representatives from other departments including History, Languages and 
Cultures, and Sociology. 

Furthermore, Asian Studies should be commended for establishing a thoughtful and engaged Program 
Advisory Committee (PAC), consisting of community leaders, professionals, and key parties from a 
variety of sectors including non-profit, government, cultural, and corporate organizations. The feedback 
from PAC members will be crucial in better understanding the needs of local communities and 
employers, and going forward providing direction for curriculum development, and identifying 
community partners for work integrated learning and other experiential opportunities for students. 

The Self-Study Report recommends three main areas of focus: curriculum changes specifically related to 
Indigenization and decolonization, pedagogical improvements supported by experiential learning and 
technology, and expanding the department by adding a Regular faculty member possibly with Southeast 
Asian expertise. Going forward the Dean and the Associate Dean supporting Asian Studies can work with 
the faculty to identify even more specific actions to address the weaknesses and needs identified. 
Faculty teaching in the program may want to consider inviting Teaching and Learning to give a program-



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 2 

specific workshop on ways of introducing/enhancing experiential learning and the use of e-portfolios at 
the various course levels, especially as a way to build upon other efforts, such as participation in ARTS 
4800, which occurs at the conclusion of students’ program of study.  Integrating experiential learning 
both within and outside the classroom would provide hands-on learning opportunities that would also 
help to prepare students for the workplace by applying their learning at each course level. Teaching and 
Learning may also be able to assist in building strategies and approaches for re-integrating group 
assignments and collaborative learning for both online and in-person courses. The program mentions 
that a course release would benefit in the planning of experiential learning opportunities and lists six 
options.  The dean’s office invites the program to reflect and perhaps strategically narrow their focus on 
a couple possibilities that will benefit the most students while also balancing the work involved with a 
small team of faculty.  After the program has reflected and determined a feasible path, the dean’s office 
would welcome a proposal for time release as it relates to an experiential learning strategy for Asian 
Studies.  

One particularly pertinent recommendation from this Self-Study is to review and revise course outlines 
to better align course learning outcomes (PLOsCLOs) with the newly established program learning 
outcomes (CLOsPLOs). This curricular revisioning will include an emphasis on Indigenization and 
decolonization, for which a faculty member has received course release. A focus on the Asian diaspora in 
Canada and relationships between Asian and Indigenous communities underscores the discipline’s 
relevance in confronting pertinent global issues. The Self-Study authors have astutely identified a 
disconnect between the program’s learning outcomes, specifically related to community engagement 
and the application of intercultural competencies, and the current experiential learning opportunities 
provided. In addition to continuing to participate in ARTS 4800, and other practicums, members of Asian 
Studies could work with KPU’s work integrated learning advisor, Larissa Petrillo, to identify additional 
opportunities for students, especially those in lower-level courses, to gain skills beneficial to their 
professional goals.  

The key issues for Asian Studies stem from challenges associated with being a small program, with most 
instructors having primary appointments in other departments. The dean’s office would be happy to 
explore possibly adding another faculty member to teach courses that would meet the demand for 
lower-level introductory courses, and upper-level course on the areas identified (Korea, Iran, Philippines, 
etc.). Courses on Southeast Asia and Western Asia, including courses on Islam in Asia, could be designed 
in relation to, and complement efforts to strengthen, areas of Indigenization and decolonization. 

We would like to thank the faculty members who have fully engaged in the program review process and 
who have already taken important steps to enhance the student experience through their community-
minded approach and creative initiatives. Through their Self-Study Report, Asian Studies has identified 
potential areas that need to grow, change, and evolve, and we trust they will seriously consider and, 
where appropriate, act on the recommendations in close collaboration with support from the dean’s 
office. 

 

          
Shelley Boyd, Dean, Faculty of Arts   Alena Buis, Associate Dean, Faculty of Arts 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 3 

1. Introduction 

1.1. Overview of the Program(s) 

Program(s) Under Review 

Program Name Asian Studies 

Program Level Associate of Arts Degree 

Credential Associate of Arts 

Credits Required 24 

Discipline and 
specializations if 
applicable 

Asian Studies 

Date established and 
last revision 

Established 2007, last revised September 2020 

 

Program Name Asian Studies 

Program Level Minor 

Credential Bachelor of Arts 

Credits Required 27  

Discipline and 
specializations if 
applicable 

Asian Studies 

Date established and 
last revision 

Established 2010, last revised September 2017 

 

Program Name Asian Studies 

Program Level BA Major 

Credential Bachelor of Arts 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 4 

Credits Required 60 

Discipline and 
specializations if 
applicable 

Asian Studies 

Date established and 
last revision 

Established 2010, last revised September 2017 

The Kwantlen Polytechnic University Asian Studies Program offers an Associate of Arts degree, a 
Minor, and a Bachelor of Arts Major. Asian Studies has been part of the Faculty of Arts since the 
establishment of the two-year AA degree in 2007. The BA Major and Minor were approved by 
the KPU Senate and the BC Ministry of Advanced Education in 2010 and the degree was launched 
in 2011. The first AA degree in Asian Studies was awarded in 2009 and the first BA Major was 
awarded in 2013. The last program review was completed in January 2018, and since this time 
the department has progressed and evolved to provide our students with courses that give a rich 
understanding of Asia’s diverse cultures and practical skills and competencies that can be applied 
in our local multicultural community as well as in experiences abroad. 

The program is interdisciplinary, in that the degree courses designated as ASIA combine 
methodologies from a variety of disciplines in the humanities and social sciences, including 
anthropology, cultural studies, history, geography, philosophy, political science, religious studies, 
and sociology. The program is also multidisciplinary, as degree courses are also drawn from other 
disciplines across the Faculty of Arts. The program was structured in this way to teach students 
that no single discipline, method, or theory by itself is sufficient to fully understand Asia. Rather, 
each discipline (and its application in the community setting) provides countless insights and 
opportunities to interpret and respond to various contemporary challenges more effectively. 
Students in the program develop strong communicative, cultural, and linguistic competencies, as 
well as critical thinking, abstract reasoning, and problem-solving skills. 

Students in the BA Major program can choose to specialize in an area (South Asia or East Asia) or 
in a particular theme (cinema, diaspora studies, ethnicity, gender, or religion). BA Majors and AA 
degree students are also required to complete training in an Asian language such as Punjabi, 
Mandarin, or Japanese. For students who want to complete an AA degree at KPU and continue 
their education elsewhere, many of the courses offered in our department are transferable to 
other institutions including UBC, SFU, and UVic.  

Admission Requirements and Laddering 

All the courses offered by ASIA are offered at an undergraduate level and students from any KPU 
faculty can declare a Minor in Asian Studies. Students who have been admitted to KPU’s Faculty 
of Arts can declare the BA Major. Eligibility for the AA Degree in Asian Studies shares the same 
English Proficiency Requirement as the Faculty of Arts. The courses that can be applied towards 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 5 

the ASIA BA Major, Minor, and AA degree include both courses in ASIA and courses from a list of 
approved courses from other departments (including ANTH, GEOG, HIST, LANC, PHIL, and POLI). 

The course requirements listed below require a minimum grade of C in each course. 

The AA Degree in Asian Studies requires a total of 24 credits distributed across three different 
course clusters, including:  

• 9 credits of ASIA or ASIA-approved courses on geography, politics, and society 
• 9 credits of ASIA or ASIA-approved courses on culture, history, and philosophy 
• 6 credits in JAPN, MAND, or PUNJ 

o if a student can demonstrate oral and written competency to an equivalent level, 
these credits can be fulfilled with electives 

The BA Minor in Asian Studies requires a total of 27 credits, including:  

• 12 credits of lower-level ASIA or ASIA-approved courses (at least 6 of which are at the 
2000 level) 

• 15 credits of upper-level ASIA or ASIA-approved courses (including at least 9 at the 3000 
level and 6 at the 4000 level) 

The BA Major in Asian Studies requires a total of 60 credits, including:  

• 18 credits of lower-level ASIA or ASIA-approved courses (at least 12 of which are at the 
2000 level) 

• 30 credits of upper-level ASIA or ASIA-approved courses (at least 6 of which are at the 
4000 level, including the capstone course ASIA 4350 – Canadian East and South Asian 
Communities 

• 12 credits in JAPN, MAND, or PUNJ 
o if a student can demonstrate oral and written competency to an equivalent level, 

these credits can be fulfilled with ASIA or ASIA-approved electives 
 

1.2. Program Department  

Unlike most other programs in the Faculty of Arts, the Asian Studies Program is not a department, 
so most of our instructors have their primary appointments in other departments. Currently, ASIA 
courses are taught by 3 regular faculty members, 1 of whom has a full-time appointment in ASIA 
and 2 of whom have part-time appointments in ASIA (ranging from 25% to 50%) as well as 
appointments in other departments (HIST and LANC). This constitutes a total of 1.75 Full-Time 
Equivalencies (FTEs) in ASIA. 11 other regular faculty members from other departments (ANTH, 
ENGL, GEOG, HIST, LANC, PHIL, and POLI) also teach cross-listed or ASIA-approved courses, and 
we also employ NR1 faculty to cover instructional needs. All our faculty offer up-to-date courses 
using a variety of pedagogical methods and tools. 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 6 

An Internal Advisory Board (IAB) consisting of ASIA faculty and representatives from some of the 
programs contributing courses to the Asian Studies program meets five times annually to discuss 
issues related to the program and to consider new curriculum proposals. Membership on the IAB 
is voluntary and currently there are representatives from ASIA, HIST, LANC, and SOCI who attend 
regularly, including regular and non-regular faculty.  

Since January 2021, we have also had a Program Advisory Committee (PAC), composed of 
community members and stakeholders from various relevant sectors, including non-profit 
organizations, governmental offices, museums, and the business world. Our PAC has been helpful 
in getting feedback on our program development and in building connections between our 
program and the broader community. For example, our PAC has helped inspire us to enhance 
our experiential learning opportunities, including the student award we initiated in 2022, and 
members of our PAC have helped facilitate student practicums at their organizations. The PAC 
meets twice annually. 

 

1.3. Program Purpose  
 
The current purpose of the program is to prepare students for an increasingly diverse and 
interconnected world. Students will be prepared for both graduate programs and employment 
opportunities in a wide range of fields that benefit from cross-cultural communication and 
competence. BA Majors and recipients of the AA degree will also develop strong cultural, 
communicative, and linguistic competencies, both written and oral, in the cultures of study. BA 
Minors are not required to undergo linguistic training, but will still receive a strong education 
focused on intercultural understanding. The program includes courses in several departments, 
reflecting the diversity and interconnectedness of today's society. It also permits a variety of 
international experiences to encourage students to take up to one year of their studies in Study 
Abroad opportunities.   
  
No significant changes have been made to the purpose of the program from the time that the BA 
Major and Minor were first approved in 2010. However, the field schools and exchange 
opportunities component are one area of the program that has had to adjust. Around 2016, all 
field schools were suspended due to allegedly inadequate risk assessments. Due to anticipated 
insufficient enrolment, Japanese field schools were cancelled. More recently, all field schools and 
exchange opportunities were suspended from 2020 to 2022 due to the COVID-19 pandemic. We 
recently began sending our students on exchange programs again. 
 

1.4. Issues for Program Review 

The major issues we are addressing in this program review are in regard to curriculum, pedagogy, 
and faculty. 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 7 

First, despite offering a wide selection of ASIA and ASIA-approved courses, we recognize a need 
to strengthen several dimensions of our curriculum. One dimension is in regard to Indigenization 
and decolonization. While we have courses in which Indigenous issues are taught, in both the 
sense of Indigenous groups in Asia (such as ASIA 3152 – Ethnicity in China and Japan) and in the 
relationship between Asian settlers and First Nations in Canada (such as ASIA 4350 – Asian 
Communities in Canada), there is a need to expand the opportunities for our students to be 
exposed to Indigenous culture and issues facing Indigenous communities, including the impact 
of colonialism and paths towards decolonization. Our program was recently awarded a time 
release to assess our current curriculum in regard to Indigenization / decolonization and to work 
on a plan to strengthen this dimension of our curriculum, so we anticipate this should grow in 
the next five years. 

Our other curricular issues are our offerings regarding Southeast Asia, Western Asia, and Islam. 
With the exception of our introductory course ASIA 1100 – Introducing Asia, most of our courses 
focus on either East Asia (chiefly China and Japan) or South Asia (chiefly India). We would like to 
offer more courses on Southeast Asia and Western Asia, including courses on Islam in Asia that 
would cover these regions, but our previous attempts have faced some challenges. First, given 
our limited faculty we do not have any specialists in Southeast Asia, and we have had difficulty 
recruiting quality instructors for an occasional special topics course. We do have instructors who 
specialize in Islam (the religion practiced by 25% of the population of Asia) and Western Asia, but 
two recent attempts to offer courses (ASIA 2399 – Special Topics: Afghanistan & Pakistan – “War 
on Terror,” Islamophobia, and Decolonization in Spring 2022; and ASIA 3230 – Islam in South Asia 
in Fall 2022) were cancelled due to low enrollment. The previous time we offered ASIA 3230, in 
summer 2017, it had 27 students (77% fill rate). We are unsure why these courses did not attract 
a sufficient number of students. 

These curricular issues could (at least partly) be addressed through strengthening relations with 
other departments and programs and engaging in collaborative planning. This is particularly 
relevant as interdisciplinarity and multidisciplinarity are two of our program’s strengths. For 
example, we might consider working with Indigenous Studies (INDG) to develop a cross-listed 
course on Indigenous Asia and work with other programs to develop curriculum that addresses 
Southeast and Western Asia. 

Regarding pedagogy, the two major issues are experiential learning and technology. Experiential 
learning is part of KPU’s focus on applied education, and currently ASIA has two courses listed as 
experiential learning opportunities based on their use of service learning projects: ASIA 2290 – 
South Asians Around the Globe, and ASIA 4350 – Asian Communities in Canada. Several other 
courses that make use of experiential learning opportunities, including field trips, mini-fieldwork 
activities, and other hands-on activities, so we might consider having these courses listed as well. 
In 2022, we instituted an Asian Studies Experiential Learning Award to encourage our students 
to excel in this area. We also began to participate in the ARTS 4800 Student Practicum course, 
which is another opportunity for experiential learning. However, we would like to better 
integrate experiential learning throughout our curriculum, which we believe will help us to better 
implement our Program Learning Outcomes #7 & #10 regarding the relevance of course content 
to local communities and the application of intercultural competencies outside of the university. 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 8 

The surveys of current students and alumni also stressed that they wanted more experiential 
opportunities, which they felt would make the curriculum more engaging and also better prepare 
them for employment post-graduation. 

Technology is another opportunity for our pedagogical growth. As with post-secondary education 
more broadly, our course delivery modes have shifted towards more online and hybrid courses 
since the last program review. This was, of course, partly due to the pandemic, but also partly 
due to institutional initiatives to increase the number of online offerings as well. We have found 
that online and hybrid courses offer opportunities and challenges. On the one hand, many 
students appreciate online courses due to the flexibility they provide. On the other, we have 
found that groupwork declined during the pandemic and in our online courses, and plan to 
increase the amount of groupwork in our courses. The recent developments in AI technology 
offer further challenges, especially for online courses, but we are all doing our best to adapt and 
update our assessment methods for this new world. Technology also provides opportunities even 
for in-person instruction, where we can bring in guest lecturers via videoconferencing and assign 
projects such as digital portfolios. Some of our faculty are collaborating with students to generate 
innovative content as Open Education Resources, which they can use in place of textbooks and 
combine with interactive assessment methods. We are eager to move forward with different 
teaching modalities to better serve our students moving forward.  

The final issue is regardingthat the increasing demands on our program are stretching our faculty, 
which could be further expanded resources. Since our last program review, we had a replacement 
hire in the form of a 50% NR2 position (in January 2020), which was very helpful for staffing needs 
during a period of increasing student enrollment, and this faculty member has since become 
regularized at 50%. Data from the last five years (discussed in more detail in the following 
chapters) show that our enrollment growth and fill rates are higher than those of the Faculty of 
Arts and KPU as a whole, and also demonstrate unmet demand for our courses. Our courses have 
significantly higher enrollment rates by international students than courses in other programs 
and departments, generating relatively high levels of net revenue for the university. As indicated 
above, we would like to continue to expand our course offerings, a goal that is supported by our 
PAC and our survey of graduates from the program. Adding a new regular faculty position would 
help us achieve this goalFurthermore, with only 1.75 full-time equivalencies (FTEs) in the 
program, we have limited resources for faculty service. We have been in close consultation with 
the Deans’ Office about the possibility of expanding our regular faculty in the future. 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 9 

2. Curriculum Review 

2.1. Pathways for Graduates 

Pathways to Employment 
Students in the Asian Studies Program become innovative, critical, and creative thinkers who can 
flexibly adapt to a rapidly changing world where Asian countries and cultures have become 
increasingly influential. Our program offers high quality courses where students learn how to 
apply effective cultural, research, writing, and oral skills to solve specific problems, with a 
particular eye towards real-world application. The types of experiential education that we offer 
(and want to continue to develop) and in our courses will help our students stand out in a 
competitive employment market. After graduation, our students can apply the skills they develop 
in our program in a variety of career paths, deepen their learning in a particular field, and adapt 
as the contemporary trends we study continue to evolve.  
 
In our economically interdependent world, students with cultural knowledge, intercultural 
competencies, language abilities, and practical experience have marketable skills, especially the 
ability to interact confidently with people of different cultural and linguistic backgrounds, in 
person as well as online. Future career prospects are found in a wide variety of industries where 
cross-cultural communication skills are in high demand, such as business, cultural sector, 
education, healthcare, immigration, journalism / media, museums, non-governmental 
organizations (NGOs), research, social services, and tourism.  
 
In a presentation at the 2012 KPU Modern Languages Department conference on Language and 
the Intercultural Mind, Sergeant Baltej Dhillon (NCOI/C Operations Provincial Intelligence Centre 
of BC), a former KPU student, emphasized the important role his multilingualism and cross-
cultural skills have played in investigations, community outreach and collaborative work in the 
community. Acquisition of such cultural sensitivity can help graduates engage in, interact with, 
and contribute to their communities. 
 

Pathways to Further Study 

Graduates from the Asian Studies program are well prepared to combine their knowledge of 
various subjects with a wide range of methodological approaches from several disciplines. Our 
students receive a solid foundation in oral and written skills for entry into graduate programs 
across Canada and abroad in disciplines in a variety of humanities and social sciences including, 
but not limited to, Asian Studies. The content of our courses, the oral and written communication 
skills our students develop, and their linguistic training, all prepare them for graduate school 
applications. 

Some students minor in in Asian Studies while pursuing in other Bachelor of Arts programs in the 
Faculty of Arts, such as Anthropology, Criminology, English, History, Journalism, Music, Political 
Science, and Sociology, as well students from the Faculty of Health or the Melville School of 
Business. Some of these students will go on to pursue graduate degrees in these disciplines with 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 10 

specializations in Asia. For students who want to complete an AA degree at KPU and continue 
their education elsewhere, many of the courses offered in our department are transferable to 
other institutions including UBC, SFU, and UVic. 

 

Pathways to an Enriched Civic and Personal Life 

Students in the Asian Studies program are challenged to consider issues of cultural diversity, 
reflecting on themselves, their communities, and various ways they can interpret the world and 
their place in it. In addition to enhancing professional and academic opportunities, the linguistic 
and intercultural competencies developed in this program contribute to building strong 
community ties and developing global citizens. Our students not only learn about modern Asia 
and the local communities of Asian heritage served by KPU, but our program learning outcome 
around Indigenization and decolonization will contribute to our graduates’ deeper understanding 
of diverse Indigenous cultures and nations, including those here in Canada. Our graduates are 
well-positioned to contribute to the civic life of Canada or wherever they make their home, due 
to their intercultural competencies, critical thinking skills, and various types of literacy. The global 
citizenship skills instilled in the Asian Studies program enhance graduates’ adaptability to 
increasingly mobile and flexible lifestyles, helping them develop pluralistic views of our 
contemporary world. 

Moreover, the BA Major and AA certificate in Asian Studies both require two years studying an 
Asian language, which positively affects cognitive and social abilities (including memory, 
attention, task-switching, conflict management, flexibility, et cetera). Competency in additional 
languages also help our graduates to become more reflective and aware of their primary 
language and culture, helping improve their written and oral communication, as well as 
recognizing how language use represents cultural values and norms. The Asian Studies and Asian 
language coursework help our graduates become better informed and more well-rounded 
citizens and human beings. 

 

Career Pathways Map 

The Career Pathways Map of the program is presented in Appendix A.  

 

2.2. Skill Development 

As outlined in KPU Policy AC9 (Skills and Outcomes), the Asian Studies program is designed to 
help students attain the following skills:  

 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 11 

Writing Clearly and Concisely 

ASIA courses are designed to help our students improve their writing skills. Each course includes 
writing assignments, which tend to increase in length, complexity, and argumentation from the 
introductory level courses to the upper-level courses. Especially in the introductory- level 
courses, class time is dedicated to reviewing principles of writing, including common grammatical 
and stylistic mistakes. Several courses require students to compose a rough draft and then 
incorporate feedback, either from the instructor or Learning Centre tutors, into the final draft. 
Our instructors distribute writing assignment rubrics, which emphasize the value of clear and 
concise writing.  

Our surveys of students and alumni (Appendices B & C, respectively) indicate that the vast 
majority of our students feel that the program helped develop their writing skills: 71% of current 
ASIA students who responded to the survey said the program helped them develop their ability 
to write clearly and concisely to “a large extent” (and an additional 14% said to “a moderate 
extent”), and 47% of alumni reported “a large extent” (with an additional 47% choosing 
“moderate extent”). 
 

Speaking Effectively 

ASIA courses are also designed to help our students improve their oral communication. In-class 
discussions are an essential component of our courses. Our instructors tend to move between 
different size discussions, from whole-class instruction to discussions with a partner or small 
groups. Small group discussions provide students with low-stakes settings where they can 
practice their oral communication and their interpersonal skills (which also develops the essential 
skill of Working Effectively with Others, below). Some of our students are anxious about speaking 
in public, especially as many of them speak English as a second or third language, but our 
instructional strategies help produce an environment in which students feel safe sharing their 
ideas. 

Oral skills was one of the weaker responses on our surveys of current ASIA students and ASIA 
alumni, but a majority of both groups still felt that the program helped them develop these skills 
either to “a large extent” or “a moderate extent”: 14% of current students chose “large” and 43% 
chose “moderate”; among alumni, 33% reported “large” and 33% picked “moderate.” At the 
same time, one of our alumni said in the survey that ASIA instructors are “interested in student 
perspectives and are willing to engage in discussion.” 

 

Reading and Comprehending Material 

Our courses are also designed to help students improve their ability to read and comprehend a 
variety of texts, including primary sources and scholarly writing. As with the other skills, the 
difficulty of these materials ramps up from the introductory courses to the advanced courses. 
Instructors help support student comprehension by reviewing short selections of texts and 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 12 

deciphering them with the class’s help, or having students work together to interpret texts and 
then reviewing this with the whole group. Instructors also model reading strategies with 
students, including locating thesis statements, notetaking, use of context clues, and how to 
navigate e-books. Various assignments check student comprehension, including writing 
summaries, responses, and book reports. 
 
Every single respondent to our surveys of students and alumni reported that the program helped 
them develop their skills either to “a large extent” or “a moderate extent.” Among current 
students, 71% said “a large extent” and 29% said “moderate,” whereas among alumni the 
breakdown was 73% “large” and 27% “moderate.” 
 

Working Effectively with Others 

ASIA courses also emphasize collaborative learning. As mentioned above, our instructors 
frequently use partner and small-group activities in class that encourage students to discuss 
various questions and solve problems with their classmates. Some of our instructors have 
students take on different roles in group work, such as facilitator, recorder, and reporter. In some 
of our courses we also assign group projects and presentations that require students to work 
together in a more long-term, high -stakes setting. 

According to our survey of current ASIA students, this skill was the weakest developed of the 
essential skills, with only 14% of responding students saying that the program helped them 
develop this skill to “a large extent” and 29% choosing “a moderate extent.” Alumni reported 
slightly better results, with 27% reporting that the program helped them develop this skill to “a 
large extent” and another 40% reporting “a moderate extent.” As mentioned in section 1.4, we 
believe that the challenges of shifting to remote learning during the pandemic negatively 
impacted groupwork for the current cohort of students and we are making efforts to re-integrate 
group assignments and other forms of collaborative learning to our courses. 

 

Analyzing and Thinking Critically 

All ASIA courses stress higher-order thinking skills such as analytical and critical thinking. Even in 
the introductory level courses, our instructors challenge our students to go beyond memorization 
and identification, challenging them to consider the deeper meanings of social and cultural 
structures, consider the different stakeholders in various situations, engage in comparative work, 
and imagine ways that things could change in the future. Our surveys of students and alumni 
provide evidence that developing analytical and critical thinking skills is another strength of our 
program. Among current students, 57% said the program helped them develop these skills to “a 
large extent” and another 29% said it helped to “a moderate extent.” The numbers among alumni 
were even stronger, with a breakdown of 67% “large” and 33% “moderate.” 

 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 13 

Resolving Issues or Other Problems 

The essential skill of problem-solving is closely related to the skill of analytical and critical 
thinking, and our courses also challenge students to consider how to apply the course content to 
help resolve various issues. Most of our students and alumni who responded to the survey also 
reported that the ASIA program helped them to develop their problem-solving skills. 43% of 
current students who responded to the survey said the program helped them develop these skills 
to “a large extent,” and an additional 29% said to “a moderate extent.” Among alumni, 33% 
reported “a large extent” and an additional 33% chose “moderate extent”. 

 

Learning on Your Own 

Another large majority of our students and alumni feel that the program helped develop their 
independent learning skills. All of our current students who responded to the survey reported 
that the program helped them with this skill, with 71% saying that it helped “a large extent” and 
an additional 29% saying that it helped to “a moderate extent.” Among alumni, 47% reported “a 
large extent,” with an additional 47% choosing “a moderate extent.” 

 

One final skill that is a real strength of our program but does not appear on the updated list of 
essential skills is Developing Multicultural Sensitivity and Awareness. In our surveys, 100% of 
current students said that the program helped them develop this skill to “a large extent” while 
73% of alumni reported “a large extent” and another 20% said it helped “a moderate extent.” 

 

2.3. Curriculum Assessment 

The full curriculum map is provided in Appendix D.  

Program Learning Outcomes 

The Asian Studies program did not have PLOs when this program review started. In preparation 
for the program review, we created the following PLOs:  

A student who successfully completes the BA Major in Asian Studies will have reliably 
demonstrated the ability to: 

1. Demonstrate a working knowledge of core vocabulary and theoretical perspectives in 
Asian Studies to make careful comparisons across time, space, and culture; 

2. Identify key issues in Asian society, culture, politics, and history through written and oral 
communication; 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 14 

3. Apply frameworks of ethnicity, gender, and class to analyze Asian literature, film, and 
media; 

4. Apply critical thinking and problem-solving skills to address the impact of colonialism and 
processes of decolonization in Asia and Asian diasporas to address real world problems in 
ways that are sensitive both to history and competing sets of values; 

5. Analyze how diverse Asian diasporic groups interact with globalization and 
transnationalism to improve the social, political, economic, or cultural well-being of 
communities; 

6. Interpret insider perspectives (Indigenous, majority, and minority) in Asia or Asian 
diasporic contexts to take informed positions as global citizens; 

7. Apply knowledge gained in the Asian Studies program to specific situations in our local 
communities; 

8. Demonstrate familiarity with one or more Asian languages through written and oral 
communication; 

9. Apply research skills by designing, conducting, and presenting research; and 

10. Apply the intercultural competencies gained in the Asian Studies program to successful 
careers in public, private, or non-profit sectors. 

A student who successfully completes the BA Minor in Asian Studies will have reliably 
demonstrated the ability to: 

1. Demonstrate a working knowledge of core vocabulary and theoretical perspectives in 
Asian Studies to make careful comparisons across time, space, and culture; 

2. Identify key issues in Asian society, culture, politics, and history through written and oral 
communication; 

3. Apply frameworks of ethnicity, gender, and class to analyze Asian literature, film, and 
media; 

4. Apply critical thinking and problem-solving skills to address the impact of colonialism and 
processes of decolonization in Asia and Asian diasporas to address real world problems in 
ways that are sensitive both to history and competing sets of values; 

5. Analyze how diverse Asian diasporic groups interact with globalization and 
transnationalism to improve the social, political, economic, or cultural well-being of 
communities; 

6. Interpret insider perspectives (Indigenous, majority, and minority) in Asia or Asian 
diasporic contexts to take informed positions as global citizens; 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 15 

7. Apply research skills by designing, conducting, and presenting research; and 

8. Apply the intercultural competencies gained in the Asian Studies program to successful 
careers in public, private, or non-profit sectors. 

A student who successfully completes the AA Diploma in Asian Studies will have reliably 
demonstrated the ability to: 

1. Demonstrate a working knowledge of core vocabulary and theoretical perspectives in 
Asian Studies to make careful comparisons across time, space, and culture; 

2. Identify key issues in Asian society, culture, politics, and history through written and oral 
communication; 

3. Apply frameworks of ethnicity, gender, and class to analyze Asian literature, film, and 
media; 

4. Analyze how diverse Asian diasporic groups interact with globalization and 
transnationalism to improve the social, political, economic, or cultural well-being of 
communities; 

5. Demonstrate familiarity with one or more Asian languages through written and oral 
communication; and 

6. Apply research skills by designing, conducting, and presenting research. 

 

Results of Curriculum Assessment 
 
In preparation for this program review, we completed a full curriculum map of all 32 ASIA 
courses, 22 ASIA-approved courses, and 18 Asian language courses to see how well the course 
learning outcomes (CLOs) for these courses align with the program learning outcomes (PLOs) 
that we developed. Please note that the PLO numbers used below refer to the PLOs of the BA 
Major (which are more comprehensive than those of the Minor or AA).  
 
First, we considered whether some PLOs are overly emphasized in the CLOs of ASIA and ASIA-
approved courses. #1 and #2 are the most frequently emphasized PLOs, but this makes sense as 
these two PLOs are foundational for all of the others. Without a working knowledge of key 
vocabulary and theoretical perspectives in Asian Studies, it will be difficult to address all other 
PLOs and course material, and the same goes for the ability to identify key issues in Asian 
societies, cultures, politics, and history through written and oral communication. Therefore, 
nearly every ASIA, ASIA-approved, and Asian language course have CLOs related to PLOs #1 and 
2.  
 
Next, we considered whether some PLOs are inadequately addressed in the current CLOs. 
Currently, the least addressed PLOs are #10, #8, and #7. PLO #10 is currently only addressed in 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 16 

the CLOs of 26% (14 out of 54) of the ASIA and ASIA-approved courses. Because PLO #10 
addresses the successful application of intercultural competencies developed in our courses to 
careers outside of the university, it usually is most relevant in upper-level coursework. However, 
we hope that integrating experiential learning throughout our curriculum can lead to course 
revisions with new CLOs that will encourage instructors and students to work on PLO #10 more 
broadly. Similarly, PLO #7, about applying knowledge gained in the Asian Studies program to 
specific situations in our local communities, would also benefit from curricular reform to 
encourage experiential learning. It is currently addressed in the CLOs of 39% (21 out of 54) of the 
ASIA and ASIA-approved courses, which could be improved. Finally, PLO #8 is only addressed in 
the language courses (and not the ASIA and ASIA-approved courses), but that makes sense as this 
is the PLO about language acquisition.  
 
In general, the PLOs follow a progression from more introductory outcomes, in early courses, to 
more advanced outcomes in finalupper-level courses. This is especially true when considering 
the ASIA courses, as several of the PLOs do not have many advanced outcomes in the ASIA-
approved courses. Also, PLO #10 is chiefly “introduced” with fewer opportunities for 
“development” and “advancement” than the other PLOs, even when considering both ASIA and 
ASIA-approved courses. Again, this could be expanded with curricular reform aimed towards 
developing experiential education, specifically regarding how to apply intercultural 
competencies in career pathways. 
 
  
 
 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 17 

3. Program Relevance and Demand 

3.1. Relevance 

Are the program learning outcomes relevant to the current needs of the discipline/sector?  

Based on our surveys of current students, alumni, and representatives from the sector 
(Appendices B, C, and E), there is a broad consensus that our PLOs are relevant to the current 
needs of the discipline/sector, although our current students are less convinced of this than the 
other two groups surveyed. 

Representatives from the sector were most positive about the relevance of the PLOs. Based on 
the 8 responses to each question, an average of 78.1% of sector representatives thought it was 
either “essential” or “very important” for an entry-level employee to be able to demonstrate 
each of the PLOs. The maximum was 88% (for PLOs #1, #2, #9, and #10) and the minimum was 
51% (for #8). When asked, “what other skills, training, or knowledge should an entry-level 
applicant have to be hired into your organization?” several representatives repeated skills that 
appeared in the PLOs, including “language like Punjabi or Hindi” (PLO #8), “strong research skills 
(PLO #9), and “intercultural communication” (PLO #10). 

Alumni were also largely positive about the relevance of the PLOs. Based on the 8 or 9 responses 
to each question, an average of 71.7% of alumni thought each of the PLOs was either “very 
relevant” or “somewhat relevant” to their career goals. The maximum was 89% (for PLOs #2 & 
#8), the mode was 66% (PLOs #1, #5, #6, & #9), and the minimum was 44% (for #7). 

Current students were the least positive about the relevance of the PLOs, but they were still 
overall positive regarding their satisfaction with the curriculum. Based on the 10 respondents, 
50% either “somewhat agree” or “strongly agree” that the program’s curriculum is relevant to 
their career goals, and 90% said they were either “somewhat satisfied” or “very satisfied” with 
the Asian Studies curriculum.  

According to the Administrative Data Report (Appendix F), 100% of the ASIA graduates from 
2019–2021 who responded to another survey agreed that they were satisfied with their 
education, 100% thought it was a quality education, and 86% thought it was useful. 
 

Does the program have the connections to the discipline/sector needed to remain current? 

All of our regularOur faculty members demonstrate a commitment to maintaining strong 
connections to the discipline, engaging in continual scholarly production, professional 
development, and community outreach. Members of our faculty regularly attend the annual 
meetings of the Association of Asian Studies and/or the American Academy of Religion. A number 
of our non-regular faculty also are engaged in regular professional development as well.  

In January 2021, we held the first meeting of the ASIA Program Advisory Committee (PAC), a 
group of community leaders and stakeholders from various relevant sectors, including non-profit 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 18 

organizations, governmental offices, museums, and the business world. Our PAC has been helpful 
in building connections between our program and the broader community, as well as sharing 
ideas concerning how to enhance experiential learning. PAC members have also been helpful 
conversation partners regarding areas of ongoing concern such as student mental health and 
challenges facing international students, both of which were compounded by the COVID-19 
pandemic. Our initial members have completed their first two-year term and two of them opted 
for reappointment; we have also been recruiting new members annually. The feedback from our 
PAC members has been helpful to consider the needs of local communities and employers, and 
our PAC has been very supportive for our program development, including connecting course 
content with real-world and local situations. 

Out of the respondents of our survey of the discipline/sector, 38% said they were “very satisfied” 
with the opportunities they had to stay connected with the program and another 38% said they 
were “somewhat satisfied.” 63% of respondents said they were “very interested” in participating 
in projects connecting ASIA students with the industry / sector and another 38% said they were 
“somewhat interested. 

Some suggestions they had to build better connections included: 

• More communication, networking, events, programs, and projects 

• More policy-oriented and applied research related to Canada-Asia relations, professional 
applications, and the “reality of everyday people and their day to day issues” 

• Greater connections with Asian nonprofits 

In our survey of ASIA alumni, most respondents felt that our PLOs were relevant to their career 
goals. Interestingly, the only one of the PLOs that had less than 50% support that it was either 
“very relevant” or “somewhat relevant” to their career goals was PLO #7, “Apply knowledge 
gained in the Asian Studies program to specific situations in our local communities,” among 
students with the BA Major. Several students were quite positive about the relevance of the 
program in their qualitative comments, saying things like the curriculum on “Punjabi and 
Chinese/Japanese culture [was] very relevant if living in Metro Vancouver or working alongside 
these groups” and another student spoke positively about their field trip experiences. One 
student was particularly frustrated in feeling that the program was “useless for getting a job” and 
another student said they wish there had been “more courses that include excursions relevant 
to the subject matter.” A number of students commented that the program was excessively 
focused on Japan, China, and India, and they wished there had been more opportunities to learn 
about other countries, including Korea, Iran, the Philippines, and South Asian countries aside 
from India. 

In summary, our faculty has made efforts to build connections with the discipline/sector to stay 
current and afford opportunities to our students, but even more can be done in this regard. 

 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 19 

Does the program include appropriate Indigenous content? 

The ASIA program includes Indigenous and decolonialization content but, as indicated in Chapter 
1, we have identified this area as a focus area for development. Our current curriculum has 
courses in which Indigenous issues are taught, in both the sense of Indigenous groups in Asia 
(such as ASIA 3152 – Ethnicity in China and Japan) and in the relationship between Asian settlers 
and First Nations in Canada (such as ASIA 4350 – Asian Communities in Canada), but we believe 
there is a need to expand the opportunities for our students to be exposed to Indigenous culture 
and issues facing Indigenous communities, including the impact of colonialism and paths towards 
decolonization.  

In our survey of ASIA alumni, a plurality of respondents said they were “neither satisfied nor 
dissatisfied” with the extent to which ASIA included Indigenous content in our curriculum, with 
21% of respondents choosing they were “very satisfied” and another 21% choosing that they 
were “somewhat satisfied.” Similarly, in our survey of current ASIA students, a plurality of 
respondents said they were “neither satisfied nor dissatisfied” with the extent to which ASIA 
included Indigenous content in our curriculum, with 14% of respondents choosing they were 
“very satisfied” and another 29% choosing that they were “somewhat satisfied.” 

Our program was recently awarded a time release to assess our current curriculum in regard to 
Indigenization / decolonization and to work on a plan to strengthen this dimension of our 
curriculum, so we anticipate that this should improve in the next five years. 

 

3.2. Faculty Qualifications and Currency 

What is the collective expertise available to deliver the program? 

There are currently three regular faculty members in ASIA, one of whom has a full-time 
appointment in ASIA and two of whom have part-time appointments in ASIA (ranging from 25% 
to 50%) as well as appointments in other departments (HIST and LANC), for a total of 1.75 FTEs. 
All three of these faculty members have doctoral degrees from universities in Canada or the 
United States.  

As ASIA is an interdisciplinary and multidisciplinary program, not a department itself, we work 
closely with other departments, including ANTH, ENGL, GEOG, HIST, LANC, PHIL, and POLI, as 12 
regular faculty members from these departments teach cross-listed or ASIA-approved courses. 
11 of these faculty members have doctorates from universities in Canada, the United States, and 
Asia, and the twelfth has an M.A. We also employ NR1 faculty to cover instructional needs, most 
of whom also have Ph.Ds or are close to completing their doctoral degrees.  

The ASIA regular faculty have expertise in a variety of fields, including Asian religions (such as 
Buddhism, Hinduism, Sikhism, and new religious movements); diaspora, migration, and 
transnational studies; gender studies; labour history; film & television; and health and healing. 
We have language proficiency in Hindi, Japanese, and Sanskrit. When one considers the regular 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 20 

faculty from other departments who teach cross-listed and ASIA-approved courses, as well as the 
non-regular faculty who teach in our program, we also have faculty members who are fluent in 
Mandarin, Cantonese, and Punjabi. These cross-listed and non-regular faculty members also have 
expertise in a wide variety of fields that complement our regular faculty’s expertise, allowing ASIA 
students to learn about subjects such as Asian archaeology, art history, environmental history, 
history, media studies, philosophy, politics, and other religions such as Islam. 

Faculty members have presented their research work at conferences like the annual meetings of 
the Association for Asian Studies and the American Academy of Religion, as well as at smaller 
workshops.  Besides presentations, our faculty have also published peer-reviewed articles, book 
chapters and books that demonstrate expertise within the discipline. Several of these 
presentations and publications have been supported by the competitive 0.6% Faculty PD Award. 
Our faculty members are also members of different associations including the Association for 
Asian Studies, the American Academy of Religion, and the Modern Buddhist History Association.  

Members of the program have also been active in creating Open Education Resources for use in 
class, which are developed in collaboration with students. We hope to continue to develop these 
resources to the point where they can be shared more broadly with other university classrooms 
and the general public.  

 

Collectively, does the department have the expertise needed to deliver the curriculum? 

ASIA has the expertise needed to deliver the current curriculum. Our faculty is highly qualified to 
offer engaging courses that are in line with current scholarship and is engaged in continual 
professional development. However, we could use further expertise in areas like Korea, 
Southeast Asia, and Islam in Asia, which is reflected in the comments in our surveys of current 
students and ASIA alumni. Our PAC has also encouraged us to try to hire more faculty and expand 
our curriculum to try and fill some of these gaps. 

The Qualifications and Currency Profile is presented in Appendix G.  

 

3.3. Student Demand 

Who takes the program? 

According to the Administrative Data Report (Appendix F), during the period of academic year 
(AY) 2017–2022, Asian Studies Program students were closer to a 50/50 gender balance than the 
Faculty of Arts overall, more of our students were over 22 years old than the Faculty of Arts 
overall, and a significant number of our students were international students than the Faculty of 
Arts overall. From AY 2017/18 to 2020/21, the percentage of international ASIA students was 
consistently more than twice the percentage of international students than the Faculty of Arts 
overall. Over these four years, ASIA averaged 37.8% international students, whereas the Faculty 
of Arts averaged 16% international students. As this gap decreased dramatically in AY 2021/22 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 21 

(ASIA’s international students declining to 30% and the Faculty of Arts’ rate increasing to 26%), 
we shall have to see if that year was an outlier or if this indicates a trend towards parity.  

The trend for relatively older students is consistent with our previous Program Review. In that 
review, the authors theorized that the older demographic might suggest that Asian Studies was 
not particularly well-known among high-school students and more marketing might be done 
targeting high schoolers, particularly in the South Fraser region. However, ASIA’s appeal to older 
students could also be seen as a positive characteristic, as it could demonstrate how non-
traditional students recognize the value of the intercultural competencies and other benefits of 
enrolling in Asian Studies. 

 

Is demand for the program sustainable? 

The administrative data report for ASIA shows that the last five-year period has shown a 26% 
increase in student headcount in ASIA courses, compared to a 1% increase in Faculty of Arts 
courses as a whole. Moreover, there has been a 15% increase in declared BA majors, an 11% 
increase in declared minors, a 10% increase in “intended of undeclared,” and an 8% increase in 
total headcount. This is several times greater than the overall 3% increase in total headcount for 
all Faculty of Arts programs. This growth has been despite an overall decrease in Asian Studies in 
students enrolled at Asian Studies programs at other BC public post-secondary institutions over 
the same period. Although the demand has fluctuated over the period, demand for ASIA courses 
and enrollment in the program have increased overall at significantly higher rates than the overall 
Faculty of Arts trends. 

The cost structure of the program is also more sustainable than Faculty of Arts and KPU 
undergraduate courses overall. With a higher average number of seats filled (28.1, compared to 
25.5 for Faculty of Arts and 24.8 for KPU) and a higher percentage of international students filling 
those seats (63%, compared to 37% and 43%, respectively), ASIA earns more than twice the 
average net revenue per class than other Faculty of Arts and KPU undergraduate courses 
($25,269, compared with $10,976 and $12,541, respectively). 

 

Does the program have the capacity to meet demand? 

While our fill rates exceed the averages in Faculty of Arts and KPU overall, there is some unmet 
demand, especially for the first-year courses ASIA 1100 (Introducing Asia) and 1111 (Religions of 
India).  This unmet demand is relevant to our interest in adding a new regular faculty positionthe 
issue we previously introduced regarding the limited resources of our small program. As 
documented above, our students, alumni, and PAC have expressed that it would be beneficial to 
expand our course offerings. Naturally, this would require more faculty resources, which is an 
ongoing discussion that our program is having with the Deans. 

 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 22 

Does the program have effective outreach to ensure demand? 

The program could do more effective outreach through its continued commitment to building 
relationships in the community. Co-hosting events with community partners could give it more 
visibility and if these events were of interest to local teenagers (or held at local high schools), it 
could turn into increased enrollment in the future. However, given the very small size of the 
program, our faculty members are already quite burdened with service commitments, so it has 
been difficult to commit to growing this type of community outreach to date. 

We have grown our social media presence, posting somewhat regularly on Facebook and X 
(formerly Twitter) and gaining new followers. We do not get a large amount of engagement, so 
we could do more to promote our social media accounts among our students and encourage 
students to repost our posts to reach a larger audience, including prospective students. 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 23 

4. Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery 

4.1. Instructional Design and Delivery of Curriculum 

Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the PLOs? 

Our surveys of current students, alumni, and faculty (Appendices B, C, and H) suggest a broad 
consensus that students receive appropriate opportunities to acquire our PLOs, with a few areas 
where we could show improvement. 

The student survey had a fairly low response rate on this section, with only 6 students from the 
BA Major responding and not enough students from the Minor responding to generate a report, 
so the results may be somewhat skewed, but a large majority of students reported that the ASIA 
courses helped them to develop the PLO to “a large extent” or “a moderate extent” for 9 out of 
10 PLOs. The maximums were for PLOs #2, 3, and 6, where 100% of students chose one of these 
outcomes. According to this survey, the PLOs that represent the best opportunities for growth in 
this area are #7 (apply knowledge to specific situations in our communities), #9 (apply research 
skills), and #10 (apply intercultural competencies to successful careers), especially the last one 
where 33% of respondents said our courses did not help them develop this PLO and another 17% 
said they only helped to “a small extent.” 

The alumni survey (with only a slightly larger sample size of 7 respondents) was more positive, 
with a sizable majority choosing “large” or “moderate extent” for all 10 PLOs. Here as well, #7 & 
10 represented the ones with the best opportunities for improvement.  

Our faculty had the most sanguine perspective on the PLOs, with 100% choosing “large” or 
“moderate extent” for all 10 PLOs. Interestingly, the two that scored lowest among faculty were 
different from those selected by students and alumni: faculty thought the two most in need of 
improvement were #6 (interpreting insider perspectives) and #8 (language skills).  

The results from the surveys of students and alumni reinforces the conclusions of our curriculum 
assessment (section 2.3), which found that PLOs #7 and 10 were the least represented across the 
CLOs of our curriculum. In summary, we recommend a review of the curriculum to identify places 
we can increase opportunities for students to apply the knowledge and intercultural 
competencies developed in our program to specific situations in our communities as well as 
successful careers outside of the university. 

 

Are appropriate experiential learning opportunities provided to help student acquire the learning 
outcomes? 

As mentioned in section 1.4, we feel that expanding the experiential learning opportunities in 
our program is one of key issues in this program review. The program currently offers several 
opportunities for experiential learning, but they tend to be clustered in certain courses (and 
predominantly upper-level courses) rather than integrated systemically through the curriculum. 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 24 

Integrating experiential learning more systemically through the curriculum will also help address 
the inadequate opportunities to develop PLOs #7 & 10, identified in the previous subsection. 

Among the 10 faculty members who responded to the faculty survey, 40% said that the program 
was incorporating experiential learning opportunities “very effectively” and the remaining 60% 
said “somewhat effectively.” Every single one of the qualitative comments mentioned 
experiential learning as a place where the program could improve. These comments mentioned: 

• Integrating experiential learning more systemically throughout the program, including in 
lower-level courses 

• More course-based projects, field trips, partnerships with community partners, and 
universities in Asia (through COIL and field schools) 

• Potentially developing a co-op program 

In the student survey, only a minority of students thought they had sufficient experiential 
opportunities in the program (a proposition with which 43% “somewhat” agreed), although the 
alumni responded much more positively, with 27% “strongly” and 60% “somewhat” agreeing that 
they had sufficient opportunities. This discrepancy may be related to the fact that the experiential 
opportunities are disproportionately in the upper-level classes, so alumni would have had 
experienced these opportunities whereas current students may not have reached that part of 
the program yet. However, one alumnus wrote that they wish the program were able to have 
“more departmental work-learn and independent study options for graduating students… [to 
provide] the opportunity to engage with topics and work experiences relevant to their field 
without having to resort to co-op terms.” Based on other information this alumnus provided in 
their comments, it is clear that they graduated from the program several years ago, so it is likely 
that they did not have the opportunity to engage in the ARTS 4800 Student Practicum, which 
ASIA only joined in the last few years. 

We will return to this subject in Chapter 6 – Conclusions and Recommendations. 

 

Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the essential skills? 

As discussed in Section 2.2, the data from the student survey, the alumni survey, and the 
administrative data report (Appendix F) shows that there are ample opportunities for students 
to acquire and develop most of the essential skills, but we also have room for growth, particularly 
regarding oral communication, working in groups, and problem solving.  

In the alumni survey, 93-100% of the respondents said that the program helped them develop 
five of the eight skills (Writing Clearly and Concisely, Reading and Comprehending Material, 
Analyzing and Thinking Critically, Learning on Your Own, and Developing Multicultural Sensitivity 
and Awareness) to a “large” or “moderate” extent, and a majority (67%) said that it also helped 
them develop the other three skills (Speaking Effectively, Working Effectively with Others, and 
Resolving Issues or Other Problems) to a “large” or “moderate” extent. 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 25 

In the survey of current students, 85-100% of the respondents said that the program helped them 
develop five of the eight skills (Writing Clearly and Concisely, Reading and Comprehending 
Material, Analyzing and Thinking Critically, Learning on Your Own, and Developing Multicultural 
Sensitivity and Awareness) to a “large” or “moderate” extent. A majority said that it also helped 
them develop two of the other three skills (Speaking Effectively and Resolving Issues or Other 
Problems) to a “large” or “moderate” extent. However, most current students felt that the 
program either only helped them to develop the skill Working Effectively with Others either “a 
small extent” or “not at all” (with 29% choosing each of those options).  

The administrative data report accords with the student surveys. In an assessment by program 
graduates of their skill development, the program ranked at 93%, which is above the Ministry 
target of 85%, but two individual skills fell below the target numbers: Work Effectively with 
Others (73%) and Resolve Issues or Problems (78%). 

It is important to remember that this data was impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic forcing all 
classes online, which weighs heavily in the experiences of current students and recent alumni. As 
it is more difficult to have effective groupwork in online courses than in-person courses, we 
expect there should be a natural rebound in the Working Effectively with Others skill as we get 
back to teaching more in-person courses. That said, we recognize that oral communication, 
groupwork, and problem-solving are areas where we can improve and will address this further in 
the recommendations of Chapter 6. 

 

Does the program design ensure students are prepared for subsequent courses? 

Students, alumni, and faculty all broadly agreed that the prerequisites offered prepared students 
for more advanced courses. The faculty were most positive about this (with 60% “strongly” 
agreeing and another 30% “somewhat” agreeing), followed by alumni (29% “strongly” and 57% 
“somewhat”), and then current students (14% “strongly” and 43% “somewhat”). No one from 
any of the three surveys chose “disagree” for this question. 

However, a substantial number of current students and alumni expressed frustration with the 
range of courses being offered each term, which some said made it difficult to take the 
prerequisite courses when they needed them. Among the current students who responded to 
the survey, 43% “somewhat disagreed” with the statement, “I was able to take the prerequisite 
courses when I needed them,” and 71% disagreed with the statement “the range of courses 
offered each term was adequate” (57% “strongly” disagreeing and 14% “somewhat” 
disagreeing). One current student wrote, “I would have loved to see more diversity in the courses 
offered as well as more courses each semester.”  

21% of alumni surveyed disagreed with the statement, “I was able to take the prerequisite 
courses when I needed them” (7% “strongly” and 14% “moderately” disagreed), and 21% strongly 
disagreed with the statement “the range of courses offered each term was adequate.” Several 
alumni also wrote relevant qualitative comments, including: “more instructors and more 
courses,” “more variety in courses,” and “more availability for requisite 4th-year courses.” 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 26 

This said, we try to keep our prerequisite structure flexible so students within the program can 
quickly advance to the higher-level courses, while students from outside of the program are able 
to take higher-level courses as electives. This is in line with our commitment to teaching Asian 
Studies as a multidisciplinary and interdisciplinary subject and we believe that our courses benefit 
from having students of many different programs learning together. The main issue with our 
course offerings does not seem to actually be with the prerequisite structure but rather with the 
number of sections we are given and the fill rate requirements to run classes.  

In summary, the prerequisite structure seems to be well-designed but there are calls from 
students and alumni to offer more courses to help ensure that they can fulfill the prerequisites 
and complete the program in a timely manner.  

 

Does instruction meet the needs of diverse learners? 
 
The results of the student and alumni surveys indicate that they are generally satisfied that the 
instruction they are receiving is meeting their needs.  
 
On the survey of current students, the overall assessment of the program and instructors is quite 
positive, with no negative responses and a handful of neutral responses. On each of the sub-
questions in this section, between 71 and 86% “strongly” agreed that their instructors 
accommodated student needs, effectively presented course materials, were up-to-date on 
current developments in the discipline/sector, engaged with research expertise and experience, 
and ensured students’ emotional and physical safety. If it is possible to do follow-up research, it 
would be important to find out why two of the seven respondents gave neutral responses 
(“neither agree nor disagree”) with the questions about ensuring students’ emotional and 
physical safety, as this of course is a priority for our faculty. 
 
Both current students and alumni indicated positive overall satisfaction with the instruction in 
the program. 29% of current students said that they are “very satisfied,” 57% said “somewhat 
satisfied,” and one student gave a neutral response. Among alumni, 64% said they were “very 
satisfied” with their instruction, 29% said “somewhat satisfied,” and one student (out of the 
fourteen respondents) said they were “very dissatisfied.” Based on the qualitative comments that 
followed, it seems that this student has faced difficulty in the job market and felt that the 
program did not sufficiently prepare them with marketable skills. This will be further addressed 
below in section 4.2. Despite this one outlier, the overall evaluation of the instruction is 
overwhelmingly positive, with 19 out of 21  respondents to the two surveys (totaling 90.5%) 
expressing satisfaction with the program instruction. 
 
The respondents’ comments on the strengths of the program instruction emphasized instructors’ 
expertise, enthusiasm, kindness, and flexibility. One current student said, “The strengths of the 
program strongly came from the professors who delivered the lessons. They’re knowledgeable 
and care deeply about what they teach.” Another said, “The instructors are really kind, flexible 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 27 

and understanding,” going on to describe one particular instructor’s accommodation of students’ 
“different circumstances and learning methods.” Alumni similarly wrote: 

• “Instructors were very passionate, enthusiastic, and knowledgeable about their fields.” 
• “The instructors are very knowledgeable and passionate about what they teach which 

makes a huge difference. They are also interested in student perspectives and willing to 
engage in discussion.” 

• “[Instructors] were approachable and helpful. They offered a lot of support to students 
who sought it, and they gave me a lot of insights into my 3rd and 4th year papers during 
office hours.” 

• “I liked that most professors took time to explain what they wanted from students, and 
usually gave support and encouragement.” 

 
On the survey, students and alumni were asked to make suggestions for improvement in program 
instruction. As mentioned in the previous subsection, a common refrain was that the program 
should add more instructors and more courses. Current students say they want a more 
comprehensive understanding of Asia, including more diverse courses and more courses offered 
each semester. One suggested virtual interactive partnerships with Asian universities (like the 
COIL program) “as well as engaging in relevant social issues or research opportunities.” Alumni 
wrote similar comments, with several commenting on the need for more courses, more 
instructors, and more variety in courses. A few mentioned that instructional methods could be 
more varied, especially in online courses, as there is too much use of PowerPoint and not enough 
interaction. The alumnus who was especially negative about their experience was upset about 
not being able to take higher-level Japanese courses because (in their perspective) “the language 
portion of the program was heavily underfunded” and instructors “were not proactive in 
suggesting alternatives such as attending [a] different institution to fulfill credits.” One student 
also didn’t feel that they got enough helpful feedback from their instructors, or that the feedback 
they got was sometimes given “in a negative way.” 
 
In summary, the student and alumni surveys are overall quite positive, emphasizing faculty 
expertise and passion, while also indicating areas for improvement, to which we will return in 
Chapter 6. 
 
The faculty survey also indicates a broadly positive assessment of our instruction’s meeting 
student needs. 80% of respondents said they were “very satisfied” with the quality of instruction 
across the program and the remaining 20% said “somewhat satisfied.” On the more detailed sub-
questions, there were no negative responses, although here as well there were some neutral 
responses (“neither agree nor disagree”) with the questions about ensuring students’ emotional 
and physical safety in the learning environment. In the qualitative section, the faculty highlighted 
our expertise in varied interdisciplinary fields, as well as our diverse perspectives and pedagogical 
approaches. Two respondents mentioned aspects of our curriculum, which they saw as 
progressively helping students develop their critical thinking, communication, research skills, and 
intercultural competencies. In the section for suggestions on how the program could be 
improved, every single response mentioned expanding opportunities for experiential learning, 
and these were detailed in the previous subsection that focused on that topic. 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 28 

 

Do the assessment methods allow students to demonstrate to what extent they have achieved the 
learning outcomes? 
 
Again, the surveys indicated broadly positive feelings about the assessment methods.  
 
On the survey of current students, 100% agreed that they received clear information about how 
they would be evaluated (57% “strongly agree”), and no one disagreed that the range of 
assessments let them demonstrate what they learned (there was one neutral response). One 
student “somewhat” disagreed with the statement that the assessment standards were 
consistent throughout the program, and two “neither agree nor disagree” that instructors 
provide useful feedback.  
 
On the survey of alumni, 100% agreed that they received clear information about how they 
would be evaluated (79% “strongly agree”), and that the range of assessments let them 
demonstrate what they learned (43% “strongly”). One student “strongly” disagreed with the 
statement that the assessment standards were consistent throughout the program, and one 
chose “neither agree nor disagree” for the statement that instructors provide useful feedback, 
but the other 13 out of 14 respondents (93%) responded positively to these statements. 
 
The faculty respondents unanimously agreed that the assessment methods align with PLOs 
(50% “strongly”), that the range of assessments let students demonstrate what they have 
learned (50% “strongly”), that students are provided clear information about how they will be 
evaluated (80% “strongly”), and that the assessment standards are consistent throughout the 
program (50% “strongly”). 
 
Overall, the results are highly positive, but providing useful feedback and ensuring consistent 
assessment standards throughout the program might represent areas for improvement. 
 

4.2. Student Success  

Are students performing satisfactorily in courses? 

Student grade distribution, repeat rates, DFW rates for courses in the program roughly align 
with or are superior to those across the Faculty of Arts and do not present any issues that 
require addressing. 
 
ASIA’s grade distribution is fairly close to that across the faculty. It appears that it is has 
historically been somewhat more difficult to achieve the top marks in ASIA than in the Faculty of 
Arts as a whole, which made our mean grade somewhat below that of the Faculty of Arts for the 
first three of the five years under consideration, but since AY 20/21, this discrepancy has closed. 
For example, in AY 17/18 and 18/19, only a fraction of students in ASIA courses received marks 
of A+ or A compared to Faculty of Arts students as a whole, but this difference has closed within 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 29 

2%. This seems to be responsible for the gap between the ASIA and the Faculty of Arts mean 
grades closing from an average of 0.217 (in AY 17/18 – 19/20) to an average of 0.04 (in AY 20/21 
– 21/22). There has not been as dramatic of a change in the distribution of lower grades (i.e., in 
the C range and below), where ASIA students have historically slightly outperformed the Faculty 
of Arts as a whole. 
 
Repeat rates and DFW rates for ASIA students are consistently below those across the Faculty of 
Arts. For the five-year period in question, ASIA’s average repeat rate was 1.6%, compared to the 
Faculty of Arts’ 6.6%, and ASIA’s average DFW rate was 13.6%, compared with the Faculty of Arts’ 
18.2%. 

 

Are students making satisfactory progress in the program? 

There has been a fluctuation in the number of students graduating from the Asian Studies 
program over the five years being considered in this program review, from a high of 11 in AY 
17/18 (5 majors and 6 minors) to a low of 4 in AY 19/20 (1 major and 3 minors) to rebound to 6 
(4 majors and 2 minors) in AY 21/22.1 Over this five year span, there has been a mean of 6.8 
graduates (evenly split between majors and minors). The median years to graduate has also 
fluctuated over this period between 5.8 years in AY 19/20 and 7.3 years in AY 20/21, with an 
average of 6.35 years to graduate, which is roughly half a year longer than the Faculty of Arts 
average of 5.7 years to complete a BA. 

There are several factors that may have impacted students’ ability to graduate in a timelier 
fashion. First, as we saw in section 4.1, students and alumni have complained of frustrations with 
the program’s limited course offerings. One alumnus described having to rearrange their entire 
schedule in order to take the requisite fourth-year seminar because it wasn’t offered more 
regularly and missing it would require enrolling for another year or more. Another factor may be 
the relatively high number of ASIA students who are over age 22. Many of our students pursue 
university while also engaging in professional careers, which increases the length of time for them 
to finish their degrees. 

 

Are graduates of the program successful? 

The data that we have from our surveys and the administrative data report indicate that 
graduates are reasonably successful after graduation, but there may be things we can do, such 
as expanding our opportunities for experiential learning, that can help ensure future graduates 
are even more successful. 

All respondents to our alumni survey reported being currently employed, although only 25% 
were in full-time regular positions. 57% said they are currently employed in a field related to 
what they studied at KPU and 21% reported having gone on to pursue higher degrees after 
                                                            
1 Although it is outside the range in question, this past year (AY 22/23), we had 10 graduates (5 majors, 5 minors). 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 30 

graduating from KPU. Out of the seven alumni who listed specific job titles and the six who named 
their employers, three are working in Japan, one works for the Nikkei National Museum and 
Cultural Centre, and the other two work in the public sector (City of Burnaby and New 
Westminster Public Library). These alumni work in fields including research, editorial work, 
library sciences, curriculum development, education, and online media creation. Additionally, 
students from the ASIA program have been very successful in applications for the JET Programme 
(which enables them to work in Japan post-graduation) in recent years, despite that programme 
becoming increasingly competitive. 

Alumni’s opinions regarding how well the Asian Studies program prepared them for employment 
in this industry are varied, but largely positive. 55% of respondents “agree that the program 
prepared [them] well for an entry-level job in the industry” (11% “strongly” and 44% 
“somewhat”), 11% “neither agree nor disagree,” and 33% disagree (11% strongly and 22% 
“somewhat”).  

The administrative data report data differed from the data in the alumni survey. As opposed to 
the alumni respondents who all said they were employed at the time of the survey, the 
administrative data showed a 22.2% unemployment rate, which is above the Ministry target of 
18.9%. It is unclear why there is this discrepancy, but this report had a higher number of 
respondents than the same question on the alumni survey (11 versus 8), so it is possible that 
some unemployed alumni chose not to answer that question on the survey. 

Based on the qualitative comments alumni made in the survey, it seems that more experience in 
the community, including workplaces, would be helpful for post-graduation employment. When 
asked to identify the skills and knowledge area(s) that they felt they lacked upon graduation, 
alumni responses included: 

• “legal background” 

• “courses focused more heavily on community engagement and the skills that come along 
with it” 

• “anything related to information-seeking needs for the Asian diaspora within the 
Canadian context” 

• “experience working in an office and other related environments” 

More ASIA students taking part in co-op programs, ARTS 4800 (the ARTS Practicum,), and other 
experiential learning opportunities should help address some of these needs.   

In our survey of members of the discipline/sector, half of the respondents had either hosted ASIA 
practicum students, worked with ASIA students on class projects, or worked with KPU ASIA 
alumni. In the comments, one respondent said that their experiences with KPU ASIA students 
and alumni were “very impressive” due to their maturity, professionalism, and “strong desire to 
learn.” Another respondent said that they thought the program prepared students for work “very 
well.” Moreover, all respondents expressed interest in participating in projects that connect ASIA 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 31 

students with the industry / sector (63% saying they were “very interested” and 38% choosing 
“somewhat interested”), so these respondents may include some untapped opportunities that 
we should follow up on. 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 32 

5. Resources, Services, and Facilities 

Does the program have the library and learning resources needed to deliver the curriculum? 

Based on our surveys of current students and ASIA faculty, the library and learning resources 
seem to be meeting our curricular needs fairly well.  

Among current students, the most commonly used library resources are eBooks, online resources 
(including journal articles), and print periodicals, as 100% of respondents report having used 
these. For each of these, most students (57%) were “very satisfied” with the offerings and the 
remainder were mostly “somewhat satisfied.” The next most commonly used offerings were 
print books, used by 86% of respondents, which similarly had no negative feedback. The next 
group of resources were audiovisual / computer equipment, DVDs / streaming video, and library 
orientation, which were each used by 71% of students. In this group, one student responded that 
they were “somewhat dissatisfied” with the availability of audiovisual computer equipment and 
with the DVDs / streaming video. Only a small majority of students (57%) reported having used 
the ASIA-specific library study guides, but the vast majority of those students were satisfied with 
those guides. A minority of students (43%) used librarian support for program-related research, 
but those who did were mostly “very satisfied” with this resource. 

Among faculty, most faculty said that 8 out of 9 types of library resources met the program’s 
needs either “extremely well” or “very well,” with top marks going to online resources, librarian 
support for program-related research, eBooks, and books. There appears to be some 
dissatisfaction with the DVDs / streaming video, which one respondent said was “not at all” 
meeting the program’s needs and had the lowest number of members choosing “extremely well.” 
The least-utilized resource (and the only one that was not used by at least 90% of faculty) was 
the library orientation. 

 

Does the program have the specialized technology needed to deliver the curriculum? 

The faculty seems to largely agree that there is technology available for students to effectively 
complete projects involving mapping, filmmaking, and/or podcasting, as 78% answered positively 
to this question. Based on follow-up emails with faculty, it appears that the 22% who answered 
“no” may have been saying that they would like more accessibility to this technology or training 
in how to access and use the technology with students. 

 

Does the program have the facilities needed to deliver the curriculum? 

The majority of ASIA faculty expressed that they were either “very satisfied” or “somewhat 
satisfied” with the space they had to fulfill their job-related responsibilities. However, two faculty 
members answered that they were dissatisfied with their space (one “somewhat dissatisfied” 
and one “very dissatisfied”). Based on follow-up inquiries, this dissatisfaction appears to be 
related to the downsizing of the ASIA / HIST shared office on the Richmond campus, as well as 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 33 

limited space (for both regular and non-regular faculty) on the Surrey campus. Faculty members 
expressed in private communication that having comfortable working spaces creates a virtuous 
cycle where faculty members use the space and interact with one another, which makes the 
space even more attractive, whereas cramped shared spaces can make our office spaces less 
welcoming and thus less utilized. 

 

Does the program have the other support services needed to deliver the curriculum? 
 
The faculty reported that they were largely satisfied with the support services for teaching but 
expressed some dissatisfaction with some other supports for students and research.  
 
The highest levels of satisfaction were reported for the zero textbook program (which 90% said 
met the program’s needs “extremely” or “very well”) and IT support (80%). Close behind were 
Accessibility Services, the Learning Centres, and Teaching and Learning Commons (all 70%), and 
then Advising Services (60%).  
 
The lowest rated services were the KPU Bookstore (for stocking required texts), Career Services, 
and KPU International. For the Bookstore and Career Services, zero respondents said that they 
met our program’s needs “extremely well,” one respondent said that they did not fulfill our 
program needs “at all,” and 40% of faculty said that they have not used or did not know how 
well they fulfilled the program needs. KPU International appears to be a more divisive issue, as 
two respondents said that it does not fulfill our program needs “at all” whereas 40% said it 
fulfills the program needs “very well” (30%) or “extremely well” (10%). Regarding the 
bookstore, our faculty likely does not engage with them because many of our courses are Zero 
Textbook Cost (ZTC) so we do not need the bookstore to stock required texts. One faculty 
member in private communication said that working with the bookstore was rather frustrating, 
which pushed them towards ZTC. It is unclear what the perceived issue with Career Services 
might be and we should follow up on this, as mentioned in Chapter 6. The issue with KPU 
International appears to be related to the perception that some international students enter 
ASIA courses inadequately prepared for the university classroom. One faculty member wrote 
(in personal communication), “Recruiting students who are unprepared means we deliver 
courses differently, and this is having an impact on our students.” This is something to follow up 
on.  
 
Regarding supports for research, a plurality (40%) said they were “somewhat satisfied,” but 
30% said they were “neither satisfied nor dissatisfied” and another 30% reported being 
“somewhat dissatisfied.” This is likely due to the difficulty in engaging in research due to our 
heavy teaching load.  



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 34 

6. Conclusions and Recommendations 

6.1. Summary of Program’s Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, and Challenges 

Strengths 
 
As outlined in the previous chapters, the program has several key strengths. 
 
The program offers high-quality instruction from qualified, enthusiastic, and caring faculty. This 
is at the heart of why over 90% of respondents on our student and alumni surveys were 
satisfied with their education in the program and why 100% of the ASIA graduates from 2019–
2021 said they thought they received a “quality education.” The faculty members are active in 
their disciplines and have the necessary expertise to deliver the curriculum. The quality of 
instruction, teaching methods, and assessments can be seen in many aspects of the data, 
including the grade distribution, DFW rates, and repeat rates for courses, which all align with or 
are superior to those across the Faculty of Arts. 
 
The program’s interdisciplinary and multidisciplinary design helps ensure that we can offer a 
broad variety of courses and approaches that appeal to students of many different backgrounds 
and help develop varied skills. The courses we offer support our PLOs, although (as addressed 
below) some could be further supported. Our survey of discipline/sector representatives 
indicates that our PLOs address important skills for a variety of workplaces, and our surveys of 
students and alumni indicate that they feel the program by-and-large achieves most of its 
objectives. Moreover, the program helps students acquire most of the essential skills as 
outlined by the Ministry of Education. This study found that the skills acquired the most 
effectively were Writing Clearly and Concisely, Reading and Comprehending Material, Analyzing 
and Thinking Critically, Learning on Your Own, and Developing Multicultural Sensitivity and 
Awareness (which seems to have been since removed from the Ministry’s updated list). 
 
Asian Studies’ cost structure is another strength. When compared to other Faculty of Arts and 
KPU undergraduate courses, the average ASIA course earns more than twice the average net 
revenue per class. This is due to ASIA courses having higher average numbers of seats filled and 
higher percentages of international students filling those seats.  
 

Weaknesses 
 
One of the current weaknesses of the program is that the experiential component is 
underdeveloped. As it stands, the opportunities for experiential learning are mostly 
concentrated in a few courses, especially the fourth-year courses. This is related to a number of 
issues. For example, two of the three PLOs that are least integrated into our curriculum — #7 
(apply knowledge gained in the Asian Studies program to specific situations in our local 
communities) and #10 (apply the intercultural competencies gained in the Asian Studies 
program to successful careers in public, private, or non-profit sectors) — are related to real-



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 35 

world experience. Adding more experiential learning opportunities throughout the curriculum, 
possibly including revising course learning outcomes to include them, would help ensure that 
these PLOs are adequately introduced, developed, and advanced during the program. 
 
Expanding experiential learning opportunities should also help address a related weakness: 
some graduates from the program feel inadequately prepared to enter the workplace. In some 
cases, this seems to be related to the alumni having graduated prior to some experiential 
opportunities that have been instituted in the program in the last few years (such as our joining 
the ARTS 4800 student practicum) or being unaware of more long-standing opportunities (such 
as KPU’s co-op program), but still more can be done to address this issue. Again, further 
emphasis on PLO #10, the least adequately addressed PLO in the curriculum review, should 
help future graduates feel more prepared for their professional lives. 
 
Many students and alumni feel that we should have more courses and more varied courses, 
including courses that address Southeast Asian nations and more courses that address Korea. 
We also could improve our focus on helping students develop certain essential skills, namely 
Speaking Effectively, Resolving Issues and Problems, and Working Effectively with Others. 
 
Another weakness in our program is that we only have a handful of regular faculty members 
(and only one with a full-time appointment), so there is limited human labour to cover the 
program’s service work.  
 
Finally, there are a few issues on the surveys that could be followed up on by the external 
reviewers. The most important of these issues is that a handful of students “neither agree nor 
disagree” regarding a statement of their emotional and physical safety in our classrooms. It 
would be good to understand this issue better. Some other, less important issues come up in 
the faculty survey questions regarding resources and services discussed in Chapter 5, such as 
why some faculty members are dissatisfied with the learning technology available, with KPU 
International, and Career Services. 
 
Opportunities 
 

We see several opportunities for our program to continue growing in the years ahead to better 
meet the needs of our students, our university, and our community. One of the key opportunities 
we see is in terms of revising our curriculum to better integrate content about Indigenous groups 
and decolonization. As our program was recently awarded a time release to assess our current 
curriculum in regard to Indigenization / decolonization and to work on a plan to strengthen this 
dimension of our curriculum, we anticipate this should grow in the next five years. Another 
opportunity we see is to better address parts of Asia outside of our core areas of China, Japan, 
and India. Our students and our Program Advisory Committee (PAC) have encouraged us to offer 
more courses that address Southeast Asia, Korea, and Muslim Asia. We have also discussed 
collaborating with INDG to create a cross-listed course on Indigenous Asia. While we have made 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 36 

some attempts to recruit qualified faculty in these areas and offer special topics courses in these 
areas in the past, we have not yet successfully integrated them into our core curriculum. 

Another key opportunity is when it comes to teaching methods, especially regarding experiential 
learning and technology. The respondents to our surveys of current students, alumni, and faculty 
all emphasized preferences for more experiential learning opportunities to make the curriculum 
more engaging and better prepare students for employment post-graduation. As mentioned 
above, this would help address our current weakness revealed in our curriculum map and might 
include revising course outlines to include more course learning outcomes related to experiential 
learning, especially in lower-level courses. Regarding technology, we have the opportunity to 
offer more online courses and find ways to make these courses more engaging. Online courses 
can give students more flexibility to take ASIA courses while also pursuing professional 
opportunities outside KPU. We also have the opportunity to integrate technology into our in-
person courses in new ways, including using assessments like digital portfolios, bringing in guest 
lecturers via video conferencing, and collaboratively developing Open Education Resources. 

One final opportunity is the opportunity to continue growing as a program. The administrative 
data report shows that our enrollment growth rate and fill rates are higher than those of the 
Faculty of Arts and KPU as a whole, and also demonstrate unmet demand for our lower-level 
courses. 
 

Challenges 
 
The chief challenge that we face is that we will need more institutional support in order to 
make the mosttaking advantage of these opportunities is difficult given our limited faculty 
resources. It is one thing for students, faculty, and the PAC to express interest in us expanding 
our course offerings to include more courses about Southeast Asia, but it is another thing to 
recruit and retain qualified faculty to teach such courses. A previous search to add NR1 
instructors to our Qualified Faculty List (QFL) to potentially teach special topics courses on 
Southeast Asia in the future was unfruitful. A call for a regular faculty position would attract 
much more qualified candidates. The Faculty of Arts has recognized the regular demand for 
ASIA courses, especially the introductory courses, regularly awarding one-time additional 
sections to the program’s educational plan in recent years, and we have had success offering 
courses with cross-listed and non-regular faculty, but. However, recruiting and retaining highly 
qualified faculty on a more sustainable basis requires more institutional support to expandwith 
our regular faculty lines beyond the current limited resources (1.75 FTEs (full-time 
equivalencies).) remains a major challenge. 
 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 37 

6.2. Recommendations 

Curriculum Review 

We recommend a review and revision of some of our course outlines to better align our course 
learning outcomes (CLOs) with our newly created program learning outcomes (PLOs), to integrate 
experiential learning opportunities into the curriculum, and strengthen the focus on some of the 
essential skills where we are currently less strong. Many course outlines have not been revised 
since they were first accepted and could be better aligned with the direction that our program 
has moved in, including concerns around indigenizationIndigenization and decolonization of the 
curriculum, as well as expanding experiential learning opportunities. We have already received a 
course time release to engage in this work around indigenizationIndigenization and 
decolonization, but it would also be good to pursue a course time release. We recommend 
further discussion with the Dean’s office regarding additional resources to address the expansion 
ofexpanding experiential learning opportunities such as field trips, student co-ops, field schools, 
study abroad, independent study options, and collaborative projects such as the COIL program. 
This would help our small program pursue the goals set out in KPU’s Vision 2028 plan.  

Regarding the essential skills, the skills where we ranked the lowest on our surveys were Speaking 
Effectively, Resolving Issues and Problems, and Working Effectively with Others. Ensuring that 
CLOs contain language around oral communication, problem-solving, and groupwork could help 
address this weakness in the future. 

 

Program Relevance and Student Demand 

We recommend that the number of sections for courses with unmet demand (ASIA 1100 and 
1111) be increased. As ASIA 1100 is being taught with a 40-person enrollment cap and these 
courses tend to have high international student enrollment, this is an opportunity to both solve 
a demand issue and grow the program (and university) revenue. 

We recommend strengthening our connection with community partners and offering more 
opportunities for students to work with other people from outside of the KPU classroom, 
including the experiential learning opportunities described in the prior section. This could include 
following up on recommendations from our survey of the industry / sector, such as more 
communication, networking, events, programs, and projects that engage with community 
partners. If this networking included opportunities to promote the program among high school 
students in the Lower Mainland, this could also help with student recruitment. 

We recommend our faculty make efforts to engage with real-world examples into our classrooms 
that deal with contemporary social issues that affect ordinary Asians and Asian Canadians, as well 
as policy and applied research regarding Asia-Canada relations.  

Finally, we recommend making efforts to promote our social media accounts among our students 
and encouraging students to repost our posts to reach a larger audience, including prospective 
students. 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 38 

 

Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery 

Experiential learning opportunities came up here again as one of the major issues, so we would 
like to emphasize our recommendation to pursue a course time release to support expanding 
these opportunities throughout the curriculum, including in lower-level courses. This will help us 
address PLOs #7 and #10, which our students and alumni felt were the PLOs that needed the 
most attention and help ensure that students receive skills that they need to be successful in the 
post-graduation job market and workplaces. We also recommend that faculty familiarize 
themselves with experiential learning opportunities that are already in place like the co-op 
program and the ARTS 4800 student practicum and make in-class announcements about these 
programs to help ensure that students are aware of these opportunities. 

If we receive sufficient institutional support, we would like to follow up with student and alumni 
recommendations to offer more courses and more varied courses.  

As mentioned in the last section, we recommend faculty try to engage with contemporary social 
issues that matter to students and have real-world connections. 

Given the comments of the student and alumni respondents to our surveys, we recommend that 
faculty use more varied assessment methods, including opportunities for students to develop the 
essential skills of Speaking Effectively, Resolving Issues and Problems, and Working Effectively 
with Others. For example, presentation skills, group projects, and problem-based learning could 
help address these issues.  

We recommend consulting with students, alumni, and Counselling Services to explore ways to 
meet the students’ needs in terms of emotional and physical safety that apply to all our courses. 

 

Resources, Services and Facilities 

We recommend that faculty familiarize themselves with the resources at KPU for students to 
complete projects involving mapping, filmmaking, and/or podcasting. 

We recommend the program exploring how we could improve faculty utilization of resources 
such as library orientation and the library’s Asian Studies study guides, as well as interaction with 
student services such as Career Services. The latter might help address why some students are 
dissatisfied with their preparedness for the post-graduation employment market. 
 



Asian Studies Self-Study Report 39 

7. Appendices  

Appendices are provided in separate document. 



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
Agenda Number: 5.4 

Meeting Date: September 27, 2023 
Presenter(s):  Chad Skelton, Tracy Sherlock, Billeh Nickerson, Shelley Boyd 

 1 / 1 

 

 

AGENDA TITLE: JOURNALISM SELF-STUDY REPORT 

ACTION REQUESTED:  Motion 

RECOMMENDED RESOLUTION: THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program 
Review accept the Journalism Self-Study Report as attached.  

 

COMMITTEE REPORT 

For Secretariat Use Only   

 

Attachments 

Journalism Self-Study Report 

Journalism Self-Study Report Appendices
 

Submitted by 

Melike Kinik-Dicleli, Manager of Quality Assurance, Office of Planning & Accountability 

Date submitted 

August 31, 2023 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Journalism Program Review 
Self-Study Report 

 
Report Submission Date: August 26, 2023 

 
Primary Author:  

Chad Skelton 
Program Review Team Members: 

Nick Chen 
Aaron Goodman 

Lubna Moosa 
Tracy Sherlock 
Chad Skelton 

Bev Wake 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



Journalism Self-Study Report  

Table of Contents 
List of Acronyms .................................................................................................................................. 1 
Memo from Dean/Associate Dean ....................................................................................................... 2 
1. Introduction .................................................................................................................................. 5 

1.1. Overview of the Program(s) ............................................................................................................ 5 
1.2. Program Department .................................................................................................................... 12 
1.3. Program Purpose ........................................................................................................................... 12 
1.4. Issues for Program Review ............................................................................................................ 12 

2. Curriculum Review ....................................................................................................................... 19 
2.1. Pathways for Graduates ................................................................................................................ 19 
2.2. Skill Development .......................................................................................................................... 21 
2.3. Curriculum Assessment ................................................................................................................. 22 

3. Program Relevance and Demand ................................................................................................. 31 
3.1. Relevance ...................................................................................................................................... 31 
3.2. Faculty Qualifications and Currency .............................................................................................. 35 
3.3. Student Demand ............................................................................................................................ 36 

4. Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery ......................................................................................... 43 
4.1. Instructional Design and Delivery of Curriculum ........................................................................... 43 
4.2. Student Success ............................................................................................................................. 45 

5. Resources, Services, and Facilities ................................................................................................ 49 
6. Conclusions and Recommendations ............................................................................................. 51 

6.1. Summary of Program’s strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and challenges ........................... 51 
6.2. Recommendations ......................................................................................................................... 52 

7. Appendices .................................................................................................................................. 55 
 
 
 



[Program Name] Self-Study Report 1 

List of Acronyms 
 

BCCAT: BC Council on Admissions and Transfer  

BCIT: B.C. Institute of Technology 

BIPOC: Black, Indigenous and other Persons of Colour 

CAMAC: Communication and Media Articulation Committee 

CAPU: Capilano University 

DFW: A letter grade of D, F or a student who withdraws from the course. 

DOUG: Douglas College 

CLO: Course Learning Outcomes 

COMM: Communication Studies course code 

JRNL: Journalism course code 

KPU: Kwantlen Polytechnic University 

LANG: Langara College 

NIC: North Island College 

OC: Okanagan College 

OPA: KPU’s Office of Planning & Accountability 

PAC: Program Advisory Committee 

PLO: Program Learning Outcomes 

PR: Public Relations 

SFU: Simon Fraser University 

TRU: Thompson Rivers University 

TWU: Trinity Western University 

UBCO: University of B.C. Okanagan 

UBCV: University of B.C. Vancouver 

UNBC: University of Northern B.C. 

UVIC: University of Victoria 

  



Journalism Self-Study Report 2 

Memo from Dean/Associate Dean 
 

 
TO: Senate Standing Committee on Program Review  
 
FROM: Shelley Boyd, Dean, Faculty of Arts; Billeh Nickerson, Associate Dean, Faculty of Arts   
   
DATE: 24 August 2023 
 
SUBJECT: Journalism and Communication Studies Self-Study  
   
 
We would like to begin by expressing our gratitude to the Journalism and Communication Studies 
Department for their consideration and care in writing this Self-Study Report, which is a significant 
component of the Program Review of the BA in Journalism, and the BA Minor in Journalism. Thank you 
to program review team members Nick Chen, Aaron Goodman, Lubna Moosa, Tracy Sherlock, Chad 
Skelton, and Bev Wake. We would like to extend a special shout out to the department Chair Chad 
Skelton for his invaluable use of data analytics and for investigating this report as he would a cover story 
or news report.  This Self-Study embodies the spirit and expertise of the Journalism and Communication 
Studies department. 
 
The Self-Study details the many ways in which the department has addressed and is addressing the 
changing landscapes of its discipline. It also details their commitment to increased student progression 
and access. The department is well aware of its student population and their needs, and has been quite 
nimble to make strategic changes in course offerings and curriculum, degree pathways, and opening up 
their classes to students outside their department or Faculty. The department has been proactive in 
creating resources and supports for students, such as the flowchart that explains the pre-requisite 
structure.  These kinds of initiatives demonstrate the faculty members’ student-centered approach.   
 
It is now easier for Major and Minor students to complete their studies at KPU, and to do so with a 
contemporary job-ready preparedness. It is also now easier for students outside of Journalism and 
Communications to enroll in upper-level course offerings, which has only increased the department’s 
already stellar numbers of seats taken in service to the Faculty of Arts and other Faculties at KPU. The 
growth in the Minor is also encouraging and due in large part to the department’s ongoing work in 
supporting student progression. The Self-Study mentions potentially reducing the lower-level discipline-
specific course requirements while still keeping the laddering of courses in place to ensure students are 
meeting the learning outcomes as they advance through the program.  This issue seems an important 
one to reflect carefully upon during this program review by finding ways to balance learning outcomes 
and preparedness with the prevention of any unexpected barriers or potential bottlenecks that may 
inhibit timely student progression through the program.  
 
The program also appears to be reflecting carefully on learning outcomes and the need to strengthen 
coverage of such issues as media ethics and law. Furthermore, finding ways of teaching and familiarizing 
students with peer-editing earlier in the program also seems important so students are developing 
those skills at the various stages of their learning. The program fully engages with the Program Advisory 
Committee, which is excellent to see as PAC input has helped the department to improve its course 

MEMORANDUM 



Journalism Self-Study Report 3 

offerings in ongoing, intentional ways. This is yet another way this department has deepened its 
community and discipline-specific connections. Such external connections are gold in that they further 
the department’s already solid connections to industry, and offer new wise eyes to department 
initiatives. We heartily commend the program for its thoughtful and detailed reflections on the learning 
experiences and needs of their students and their attentiveness to PAC points of view.  
 
Journalism and Communication Studies is not just for students intending to be journalists. The 
department’s understanding of this fact and their strategic pivots have made them stronger and placed 
them in a position for possible further growth in terms of both the number of sections offered and the 
topics covered. It has managed to achieve this without diluting its core offerings. All students have 
access to qualified industry professionals who bring significant discipline-specific experience and 
wisdom. 
 
The Journalism and Communication Studies department has been on the vanguard of Indigenization in 
both their curriculum and degree requirements. Of note, they were one of the first departments to 
require INDG 1100 for their BA Majors.  They also developed, collaboratively, an EDID mission statement 
and have helped other areas in the Faculty of Arts to consider the same. This process involved much 
consultation across the university, not to mention self-reflection.  
 
Another area where the department has been proactive is in completing articulation agreements with 
other institutions, such as Langara College.  The Self-Study notes, “To date, no Langara graduates have 
taken advantage of the agreement.” To raise the profile and attract future transfer students, the 
department may want to consider ways of enhancing its external-facing profile as a strong destination 
for future students who already have an interest in journalism and communications, especially in light of 
other institutions’ growth in this discipline (BCIT). The fact that recent KPU graduates have secured 
employment in the industry immediately is another clear strength that may create opportunities for 
future transfer students and retention.  The Dean’s office would be happy to discuss possibilities and 
opportunities with the department, especially to enhance the profile of this department being the only 
one to offer a four-year Bachelor of Journalism in the region and one that has a clear record of alumni 
success.  The Dean’s office finds the idea of a Certificate in Multimedia Storytelling promising in that it 
may further aid in drawing current and future students to the program. Finding ways of growing 
journalism students’ work-integrated learning through ARTS 4800 or other avenues are also strong 
possibilities. The Dean’s office looks forward to discussing these and other possibilities with the 
department depending on the final recommendations of this program review.  
 
Finally, the faculty in the Journalism and Communication Studies department have provided pivotal 
support for the Faculty of Arts and KPU-wide communities in areas such as academic integrity, 
international student success, and climate change. Their experiences in the field are often invaluable. 
We thank the faculty members who have engaged in the program review process and for being so 
proactive in improving their program and growing their student engagement through steadfast 
commitment. The dean’s office looks forward to continuing to support the department in future 
initiatives. 
 

      



Journalism Self-Study Report 4 

 
Shelley Boyd       Billeh Nickerson 
Dean, Faculty of Arts      Associate Dean, Faculty of Arts 
 

  



Journalism Self-Study Report 5 

1. Introduction 

1.1. Overview of the Program(s) 

Program(s) Under Review 
 

Program Name Bachelor of Journalism 

Program Level Undergraduate 

Credential Baccalaureate Degree 

Credits Required 120 

Discipline and 
specializations if 
applicable 

N/A 

Date established and last 
revision 

Established: Apr. 19, 2001 

Last Revision: Jan. 29, 2018 
 
 

Program Name Minor in Journalism 

Program Level Undergraduate 

Credential Minor 

Credits Required 27 

Discipline and 
specializations if 
applicable 

N/A 

Date established and last 
revision 

Established: Feb. 25, 2015 

Last Revision: Oct. 26, 2020 

The Journalism and Communication Studies department, part of the Faculty of Arts, offers two credentials: 
the Bachelor of Journalism, with an Honours option, and the Minor in Journalism. 

Brief History of the Program 

The Journalism program has been part of KPU for many decades. It began as a two-year diploma program 
when Kwantlen and Douglas College were one entity. The degree first appeared in the 2002/03 calendar 
as the Bachelor of Applied Journalism, with an Honours option. The degree added two years, advanced 
skills and 60 credits onto the 60-credit diploma program. Students could graduate with the diploma after 
two years or continue for another two years to earn the degree. They also had the option of doing a 
concentration in Public Relations, another diploma program in the Faculty of Design. Students could 



Journalism Self-Study Report 6 

substitute some specific PR courses for some specific upper-level Journalism courses. Similarly, PR 
students could do a concentration in Journalism with the same course substitutions.  

Maintaining the diploma along with the degree was a requirement of the provincial ministry responsible 
for post-secondary education. This model was problematic, as it guaranteed substantial attrition at the 
two-year mark. The cohort of 22 students dropped significantly between second and third year, as many 
students decided they were happy with a diploma and didn’t want to pursue the four-year degree.  

In September 2011, the Journalism program at KPU underwent a significant change. The department 
moved from the Faculty of Design in Richmond to the Faculty of Social Sciences (now Arts) in Surrey. The 
department revised its program entirely, eliminating the diploma and cohort model, and following the 
Bachelor of Arts framework. The instructors’ commitment to provide students with the skills to succeed 
as journalists resulted in a completely revised curriculum that reflected the technological changes in the 
industry and the growth of social media and citizen journalism. In addition, communication-theory 
courses, which had previously been labelled Journalism (JRNL) courses, such as Media and Diversity, were 
given their rightful designation as Communication Studies (COMM) courses. More COMM courses were 
added and the department name was changed to Journalism and Communication Studies.  

It was not possible to retain the PR concentration because, at the time, the PR program operated on a 
cohort model, as the JRNL program used to, so there were no seats available for JRNL students interested 
in PR courses as electives. 

These changes were not prompted by an official program review, but by the department's recognition 
that the structure of the degree needed to change, not only to address the attrition issue, but to update 
the curriculum to reflect the changing reality of the profession of journalism and the importance of media 
literacy to all citizens, not just journalists. 

In 2015, a proposal from the department for a Minor in Journalism was approved by KPU’s Senate. The 
Minor required students take 27 JRNL credits of lower- and upper-level courses. 

In 2016, the Bachelor of Journalism and Minor in Journalism underwent Program Review. As a result of 
that review, several changes were made to the program as part of the Quality Assurance Plan, including: 

• Upper-level requirements for the Bachelor of Journalism were simplified. Whereas before 
students had to select two courses from each of three separate categories of courses, students 
were now required to take any six upper-level JRNL electives and any two upper-level COMM 
electives. 

• Course outlines were revised to facilitate a clearer progression through advancing skills, 
culminating in a capstone course: JRNL 4270 Advanced Storytelling. 

• Course outlines were revised to specifically include content and learning outcomes that prepare 
students to use transferable journalism skills in professions other than journalism, such as media 
relations. 

• Several multimedia courses were revised to reflect changes in the industry, including changing 
the Advanced Photojournalism course to one specifically focused on Video Journalism and adding 
both a second-year and upper-level course in Audio Storytelling, to reflect the growth in 
podcasting. 



Journalism Self-Study Report 7 

These changes were implemented in 2018 and established a clearer progression for Bachelor of 
Journalism students through the program, with courses more clearly building on the one that came 
before. But that clearer progression also resulted in an unintended consequence: course prerequisites 
that were often quite onerous. 

For example, after the 2018 changes were made, JRNL 3370 Advanced Audio Storytelling had three 
prerequisites: JRNL 2230 Multimedia Storytelling, JRNL 2240 Beyond the News and JRNL 2370 Audio 
Storytelling.  But several of those courses had their own prerequisites. Taken together, a student would 
have needed to take six separate prerequisite courses before they could take JRNL 3370 Advanced Audio 
Storytelling. This made it almost impossible for a student not Majoring in Journalism but interested in 
podcasting to take the course as an elective. It also made it more difficult for Journalism students to 
navigate their upper-level degree requirements, as some upper-level courses are only offered every other 
year and students sometimes didn’t have all the necessary prerequisites to take a course when it was 
offered. 

As a result, in Fall 2019, the department revised the outlines of several courses, reducing the prerequisites 
required for many of them. This made it easier for non-Journalism students to take upper-level JRNL 
courses they were interested in. It also provided Journalism students with more flexibility in meeting their 
degree requirements. Several of the course names were also changed to make them clearer and better 
reflect their course content (“Visual Storytelling” became “Photojournalism”; “Advanced Visual 
Storytelling” became “Video Journalism”). 



Journalism Self-Study Report 8 

 

A handout containing the flowchart above is provided to all students who take JRNL courses to help explain to 
them the current prerequisite structure. 

 

At the same time, the prerequisites for JRNL 4270 Advanced Storytelling were also simplified. Advanced 
Storytelling was originally designed as a required “capstone course” that students would take in their final 
year of studies, after they had already taken several other upper-level courses. The problem is that 
Advanced Storytelling only works as a final, capstone course if it is offered every year which, given the 
small size of the Journalism program, poses enrolment challenges. Only 15 students were enrolled in 
Advanced Storytelling in Spring 2017, 16 in Spring 2018 and 11 in Spring 2019. To ensure robust enrolment 
for the course, the prerequisites for JRNL 4270 Advanced Storytelling were changed to make it accessible 
to both third- and fourth-year Journalism students. And, beginning in Spring 2021, JRNL 4270 Advanced 
Storytelling was offered only every other year, like most other upper-level Journalism courses. 



Journalism Self-Study Report 9 

The department also made a small change to the Minor of Journalism in 2020, removing the requirement 
to take JRNL 2230 Multimedia Storytelling and JRNL 2240 Beyond the News and replacing it with a more 
flexible requirement to take any two JRNL courses at the 2000 level. This was done to reflect the fact that 
the changes to the Bachelor of Journalism program made in 2018 had created two new 2000-level courses: 
JRNL 2360 Photojournalism and JRNL 2370 Podcasting and Audio Storytelling. 

Admission Requirements and Laddering 
 
Admission to KPU’s Journalism program is classified as open intake – there is no set limit to the number 
of students admitted. All applicants to undergraduate studies in the Faculty of Arts must satisfy the 
faculty’s undergraduate admission requirement, which consists of KPU’s undergraduate English 
proficiency requirement. KPU Journalism's open-access approach makes the program more accessible 
than many other journalism programs in Canada, which have high admission requirements. This makes it 
easier for students who may have struggled in high school to participate in the program. 

Credential and Curricular Requirements  

Currently, in addition to the Bachelor of Arts general framework criteria, students must meet the 
following requirements to graduate with a Bachelor of Journalism: 
 
All of the following lower-level courses: 

• INDG 1100 Introduction to Indigenous Studies 
• JRNL 1160 Introduction to Journalism 
• JRNL 1220 Citizen Journalism 
• JRNL 2120 Storytelling: Writing for Journalism 
• JRNL 2230 Multimedia Storytelling 
• JRNL 2240 Beyond the News: Feature Writing 
• JRNL 2360 Photojournalism 
• JRNL 2370 Podcasting and Audio Storytelling  

 
Plus 6 credits from courses in Communication (COMM) numbered 1100 through 2999. 
 
All of the following upper-level courses: 

• JRNL 3165 Data Visualization 
• JRNL 4270 Advanced Storytelling 

 
Plus 18 credits from courses in Journalism (JRNL) numbered 3000 through 4999. 
Plus 6 credits from courses in Communications (COMM) numbered 3000 through 4999. 
 
(60 Credits Total) 
 
The requirements for the Minor in Journalism are: 
 

• JRNL 1160 Introduction to Journalism 
• JRNL 1220 Citizen Journalism 
• JRNL 2120 Storytelling: Writing for Journalism 

 



Journalism Self-Study Report 10 

Plus 6 credits from courses in Journalism (JRNL) numbered 2000 through 2999. 
Plus 12 credits from courses in Journalism (JRNL) numbered 3000 through 4999. 
 

Transferability 

KPU is a member of the BC Council on Admissions and Transfer (BCCAT), an organization that oversees 
articulation agreements across institutions in the province. The Journalism and Communication Studies 
department is also a member of the BCCAT’s Communication and Media Articulation Committee 
(CAMAC). Several articulation agreements exist for both JRNL and COMM courses. The frequency of those 
agreements varies, with Simon Fraser University (SFU), University of the Fraser Valley (UFV) and Trinity 
Western (TWU) being the institutions with the most articulation agreements in place to recognize KPU’s 
JRNL and COMM courses. The two charts below show the articulation agreements in place for select 
institutions. Some small institutions with only a single articulation agreement with KPU have been left out 
for clarity. 

 

 

CAPU
 

DO
U

G
 

LAN
G 

N
IC 

O
C 

SFU
 

TRU
 

TW
U

 

U
BCO

 

U
BCV 

U
FV 

U
N

BC 

U
VIC 

TOTAL 4 2 1 1 2 9 6 6 4 3 9 3 2 
COMM 1100 Y Y  Y Y Y Y  Y  Y   
COMM 1110  Y    Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 
COMM 1200   Y  Y      Y   
COMM 2100      Y Y  Y Y Y   
COMM 2210      Y  Y Y Y Y   
COMM 3100      Y     Y   
COMM 3200 Y     Y Y Y   Y   
COMM 3210 Y     Y Y Y   Y Y Y 
COMM 3220      Y Y Y   Y Y  
COMM 3230 Y     Y  Y      

 

 

 

CAPU
 

DO
U

G
 

LAN
G 

O
C 

SFU
 

TW
U

 

U
BCO

 

U
BCV 

U
FV 

U
N

BC 

U
VIC 

VCC 

VIU
 

TOTAL 4 6 5 1 16 10 3 5 13 10 6 2 6 
JRNL 1160 Y  Y Y Y Y Y Y Y    Y 
JRNL 1220 Y Y   Y Y Y Y Y Y Y  Y 
JRNL 2120   Y  Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 



Journalism Self-Study Report 11 

JRNL 2230         Y     
JRNL 2240  Y Y  Y Y    Y Y Y Y 
JRNL 2360  Y Y  Y Y  Y Y  Y  Y 
JRNL 2370  Y Y  Y Y  Y Y Y Y  Y 
JRNL 3165     Y     Y    
JRNL 3170  Y   Y Y   Y  Y   
JRNL 3175 Y     Y   Y     
JRNL 3180 Y    Y Y   Y     
JRNL 3260              
JRNL 3270     Y         
JRNL 3370     Y    Y Y    
JRNL 4141              
JRNL 4180     Y    Y Y    
JRNL 4190              
JRNL 4240     Y     Y    
JRNL 4250  Y   Y Y    Y    
JRNL 4260     Y    Y     
JRNL 4270     Y    Y Y    
JRNL 4290              
JRNL 4295              
JRNL 4900              

In 2020, the Chairs of the KPU and Langara Journalism programs worked together to ensure that sufficient 
articulation agreements existed between the two institutions so that a student graduating from Langara’s 
two-year Journalism diploma program could continue their studies at KPU and, with another two years of 
study, earn a Bachelor of Journalism degree. Once the articulation agreements were in place, an 
information session was held at Langara to let students know about the opportunity to study at KPU. To 
date, no Langara graduates have yet taken advantage of the agreement. 

Partnership with KPU’s Public Relations Department 

Beginning in 2019, the Chairs of KPU’s Journalism and Public Relations programs began discussions around 
how the two programs could work more closely together to offer opportunities to their respective 
students. With the assistance of Arts Degree Advising, it was determined that, given the significant overlap 
in courses between the two programs, students could pursue both a Bachelor of Journalism degree and a 
two-year Public Relations diploma at the same time and receive both credentials with as little as one extra 
semester of study. 

This was good news for Bachelor of Journalism students, many of whom want to pursue a career in Public 
Relations or Communications, and to those in the PR diploma program, who are often looking for ways to 
leverage their two-year diploma into a four-year degree. 

Both programs have been actively promoting this option to students. So far, only one student is pursuing 
the option, but a number of others have expressed interest. 



Journalism Self-Study Report 12 

1.2. Program Department  

The Journalism and Communication Studies department has six regular faculty members. The faculty is a 
mixture of current and former journalists who primarily teach practical Journalism (JRNL) courses and 
academics with doctorates in Communication Studies who primarily teach courses in Communication 
Studies (COMM). The department also has a number of sessional instructors, including those with 
particular areas of expertise (like photojournalism or audio journalism) who teach courses in those areas. 
Many of our instructors, both regular faculty and contract faculty, have won journalism awards at both 
the provincial and national levels. 

Most in-person JRNL and COMM courses are offered on the Surrey campus, however usually one first-
year course a semester is offered at the Langley and/or Richmond campuses. 

 

1.3. Program Purpose  

The original Full Program Proposal for KPU’s Journalism degree, prepared in 2000, reads: 

“The goal of Kwantlen's Bachelor of Applied Journalism degree is to give students the skills and 
knowledge to allow them to work immediately and comfortably in the constantly shifting 
communications industry.” 

Two decades later, that fundamental goal has not changed. However, many of the details of how that goal 
is achieved are different. For example, Journalism students at KPU no longer learn darkroom skills, as they 
did in the early 2000s. Instead, they are taught how to manipulate digital images using Adobe Photoshop. 
Courses in audio journalism are designed not just to prepare students for work in radio, but also for work 
on podcasts. Data analysis and visualization skills — not mentioned at all in the original proposal in 2000 
— are now a key component of the program, with all students required to take a dedicated course in data 
visualization. Social media has also become an integral part of the program, as both a place to connect 
with sources and a way for journalists to quickly share information about developing news stories.  

Another key change over the decades has been an increased focus on multimedia journalism. While the 
original proposal in 2000 refers to “on-line journalism”, the journalism industry at the time was still largely 
siloed into different media formats. A student graduating from KPU’s program in the early 2000s would 
likely find a job as a radio reporter, TV reporter, photojournalist or newspaper reporter, and their work in 
that position would be almost exclusively focused on audio, video, photos or words. The journalists of 
today don’t fit into such clean categories. A TV journalist is often expected to produce a written story for 
the web along with their broadcast report. Newspaper reporters gather video from the scene of news 
events to publish on their publication’s website. And an online news story often has multiple component 
parts: a story, a photo, a video, a data visualization. The way journalism is taught at KPU reflects this, with 
coursework that often requires student to integrate various forms of storytelling. 

1.4. Issues for Program Review 

There are a number of issues currently affecting the Bachelor of Journalism program that the department 
is hoping can be addressed as part of this Program Review. 

Growth in Lower-Level Enrolment 



Journalism Self-Study Report 13 

First-year Journalism (JRNL) and Communication Studies (COMM) courses have seen sharp increases in 
enrolment over the past few years, driven in large part by the increasing numbers of international 
students at KPU. For example, JRNL 1160 Introduction to Journalism has seen its total number of students 
per year almost double since 2017. 

 

Source: Class list data 

While overall enrolment is up, the number of students interested in pursuing a Bachelor of Journalism 
degree has stayed flat, or even declined slightly. The result is that an increasing share of students in lower-
level courses are not planning to Major in Journalism and are instead taking such courses as electives. 



Journalism Self-Study Report 14 

 

Source: Class list data 

 

Where once about one in five students taking JRNL 1160 Introduction to Journalism were planning to 
Major in Journalism, that has since fallen as low as one in 10 or even one in 20. The trend is less dramatic, 
though still noticeable, in some second-year courses like JRNL 2360 Photojournalism. 

 



Journalism Self-Study Report 15 

 

Source: Class list data 

This change has created a challenge for instructors, who must balance preparing Bachelor of Journalism 
students for upper-level JRNL courses while making their course content accessible and useful for students 
with no intention of pursuing a Journalism degree. This challenge has been compounded by the increase 
in international students in such courses, who sometimes struggle with writing in English. 

It would be helpful, as part of this Program Review, to learn if students and instructors believe lower-level 
JRNL courses adequately prepare students for upper-level JRNL courses. 

 

Degree requirements compared to other programs 

All Bachelor of Arts degrees at KPU require students to take 120 credits (40 courses) but programs vary in 
how many specific courses students are required to take within their discipline versus electives students 
can choose on their own. These discipline-specific course requirements can take the form of specific 
courses that are required for a degree or electives that must be chosen from courses within the Major 
discipline. The requirements in the Bachelor of Journalism program are one of the highest compared to 
other Arts degrees. 

 

Program 

1000/2000 
Level 
Discipline-
Specific 
Courses 
Required 

3000/4000 
Level 
Discipline-
Specific 
Courses 
Required TOTAL 

Criminology 14 10 24 



Journalism Self-Study Report 16 

Journalism 10 10 20 
Creative Writing 7 11 18 
Policy Studies 9 8 17 
Applied Geography 8 9 17 
Sociology 8 9 17 
Psychology 7 10 17 
Political Science 6 10 16 
Anthropology 6 10 16 
English 5 10 15 
History 5 10 15 
Philosophy 7 6 13 

    
MEDIAN 7.0 10.0 17.0 

NOTE: The chart above includes both JRNL and COMM courses as Discipline Specific for the Bachelor of Journalism program as 
well as INDG 1100, which is a required course for the Bachelor of Journalism. 

Notably, the Bachelor of Journalism’s upper-level requirement of 10 courses is in line with most other Arts 
programs. Where the Journalism program differs is in its lower-level requirements, which are significantly 
higher than the median of 7 among those Arts programs compared. Having higher discipline-specific 
course requirements is not necessarily a bad thing. The Bachelor of Journalism program is a practical 
program that requires teaching students a solid grounding in various writing, research and multimedia 
skills. At the same time, having too many lower-level requirements may discourage some students from 
pursuing a Bachelor of Journalism or create difficulties in them laddering through all the courses they 
require. As part of this Program Review, we hope to gain some insight into whether there are some 
opportunities to reduce the lower-level discipline-specific course requirements for the degree while still 
ensuring adequate laddering of courses. 

 

Small Cohort 

In KPU Journalism’s last Program Review, the authors noted: 

Our program-specific issue boils down to battling two incorrect but common perceptions: 1) that 
Journalism is not a valid career option, and 2) that Journalism courses are only for journalists. 

Career options for KPU’s Bachelor of Journalism graduates have brightened considerably in recent years, 
as a tight labour market and the growth of online news sites has created several opportunities for new 
graduates. Several recent graduates of our program have secured jobs in journalism immediately upon 
graduation. Job opportunities are also plentiful in the related field of Communications. 

At the time of our last Program Review, there was some concern that interest in journalism education 
would decline significantly or even disappear. That hasn’t happened. At the same time, interest in the 
program hasn’t grown, either, and the program remains quite small. 

According to administrative data (Appendix 1), only about a dozen students graduate with a Bachelor of 
Journalism from KPU each year. Having such a small cohort of journalism students poses challenges for 



Journalism Self-Study Report 17 

the program. For example, the program is only able to offer most upper-level JRNL courses every other 
year, because if such courses were offered every year, they would only be half full or worse. It also means 
students sometimes have less choice of which upper-level courses to take than they otherwise would. 

Exhibit 18: Journalism Program Graduate Headcount1 by Credential and Academic Year  
2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

Total2  19 12 8 14 14 
Bachelor’s Degree 19 12 8 14 14 

The program has tried to address this somewhat by looking for ways to attract non-Journalism students 
to some upper-level courses with wider appeal, and fewer pre-requisites, such as JRNL 3165 Data 
Visualization and JRNL 3260 Future of News. The department has also seen small, but significant, growth 
in interest in its Minor in Journalism, which has helped to fill upper-level courses. The growth in the Minor 
has also provided the program with opportunities to offer a wider range of upper-level JRNL courses, 
including one upper-level JRNL course in the Summer semester for the first time in 2022. 

Exhibit 5: Student Headcount in Journalism Program by Academic Year Compared with Faculty of Arts 
Programs 

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 %Change 
Bachelor of Arts (Honours) in 
Journalism 2 1 1 4 1 -50% 

Bachelor of Arts (Major) in 
Journalism 45 34 48 40 38 -16% 

Bachelor of Arts (Minor) in 
Journalism 5 6 6 8 7 40% 

Intended of Undeclared 63 74 72 59 51 -19% 
Journalism Total Headcount 108 115 119 106 93 -14% 
Faculty of Arts Total Headcount 5,805 5,887 5,755 6,146 6,126 6% 

Through this Program Review, the department would like to examine other opportunities to make upper-
level courses more attractive to non-journalism students so we can offer upper-level courses more often 
and provide our Bachelor of Journalism students with more choices. At the moment, JRNL courses are 
most popular among KPU students Majoring in General Studies, English and Creative Writing. 

 

                                                            
1 Count of unique students who have earned a KPU credential. Breakdown values may not add up to total or 100% because a 
student can earn multiple credentials in different categories within the same academic year. 
2 To avoid double counting students, total graduate headcounts presented in Exhibits 18 and 19 are unique headcounts of 
students for the year, not the sum of the credential counts. 



Journalism Self-Study Report 18 

 

Source: Class list data 

 

Equity, Diversity, Inclusion and Decolonization 

In the Spring of 2021, recognizing the importance of diversity in the journalism industry, the Journalism 
and Communication Studies department began an initiative to adopt a statement on Equity, Diversity, 
Inclusion and Decolonization. A draft statement was prepared which was then shared with various groups 
and experts at KPU, including Asma Sayed and Jennifer Anaquod, the President’s Diversity and Equity 
Committee and the Arts Anti-Racism Committee. The department also surveyed all students taking JRNL 
and COMM courses through an anonymous online survey: 74 students responded. 

In early 2023, the statement was formally adopted by the department and published on our department 
website and social media channels. It is attached as Appendix 2. 

Through this Program Review, the department would like to gather some information on how students 
and alumni think the department is doing on issues of diversity as well as gathering some baseline data 
on the demographic profile of our current students and alumni. 

Social Media 

The Journalism and Communication Studies department at KPU actively maintains social media accounts 
on Facebook, Twitter and Instagram. However, in the past Facebook has been the primary method with 
which the department communicated information about the program and posted links to ads for 
journalism jobs. Through this Program Review, and the survey of students, the department would like to 
learn if Facebook remains the best way for the department to communicate such information or if another 
social media channel is used more often by those we are trying to reach. 

 



Journalism Self-Study Report 19 

2. Curriculum Review 

2.1. Pathways for Graduates 

Pathways to Employment 

While graduates of KPU’s Bachelor of Journalism program work in a wide range of occupations, the degree 
prepares students primarily for careers in one of two fields: Journalism and Communications. 

A career in Journalism can involve work in a variety of different positions, including: 

• Multimedia Journalist 

• Data Journalist 

• Sports Journalist 

• Columnist 

• Web editor 

• Copy editor 

• Segment Producer 

• Podcast host 

• Play-by-play sports announcer 

• Videographer 

• Photojournalist 

• Foreign Correspondent 

• Entertainment Journalist 

• Documentary Filmmaker 

• News anchor 

A career in Communications can involve positions such as: 

• Corporate Communications Director 

• Communication Manager 

• Social media specialist 

• Content creator 

• Media relations specialist 



Journalism Self-Study Report 20 

• Spokesperson 

• Community relations directors 

• Event Planner 

• Marketing Manager 

• Digital Marketing Manager 

• Fundraising Manager 

• Government Affairs Manager 

• Public Information Officer 

• Press Secretary 

• Social Media Management 

• Advertising copywriter 

In both fields, there are opportunities to work as an employee for an organization or to be self-employed, 
as a freelance journalist or public-relations consultant. 

KPU’s Bachelor of Journalism program prepares students for jobs in these fields by providing them with a 
strong foundation in the principles of journalistic research and news judgment. That is supplemented by 
specific courses that teach students how to tell stories in different formats, including writing, 
photography, video, audio and data visualization. 

Graduates of KPU’s Bachelor of Journalism program usually begin their careers in entry-level positions, 
often at smaller news outlets. For example, Kyler Emerson, a 2023 KPU Journalism graduate and former 
editor of The Runner student newspaper, was recently hired as a Multimedia Journalist at the Langley 
Advance Times. Sobia Moman (2022) was hired as a Multimedia Journalist at the Peace Arch News in 
White Rock shortly after graduation. Many KPU Journalism grads then work their way up to more senior 
leadership positions over the course of their careers. For example, Hayley Woodin, a 2014 KPU Journalism 
graduate and chair of our PAC, began working at Business in Vancouver as a Multimedia Journalist in 2016 
and is now BIV’s Editor in Chief. Harold Munro, Editor in Chief of The Vancouver Sun and The Province, is 
a 1985 KPU Journalism graduate who began his work at The Sun as a reporter. 

Pathways to Further Study 

KPU’s Bachelor of Journalism is the only four-year journalism degree program in the Lower Mainland and 
one of only two Bachelor’s degree programs in journalism in the province (the other is at Thompson Rivers 
University in Kamloops). Langara offers a two-year Diploma in Journalism and a one-year Certificate in 
Journalism for those who already have a post-secondary education. BCIT offers a two-year diploma in 
Broadcast and Online Journalism and a part-time 27-credit Journalism Associate Certificate. UBC offers a 
two-year Master of Journalism program for those who already have a Bachelor’s degree. 

Given KPU’s unique position as the only institution offering a four-year Bachelor of Journalism in the 
region, students interested in journalism tend to remain at KPU for the duration of their studies rather 



Journalism Self-Study Report 21 

than transferring to another institution partway through. Nonetheless, articulation agreements exist for 
almost all JRNL and COMM courses KPU offers, providing flexibility to students who begin their Journalism 
studies at KPU and then decide to study something else at another institution. 

As a professional program, Journalism at KPU is not explicitly designed to prepare students for graduate-
level studies. That said, as a baccalaureate degree, that path is open to students and some have chosen 
that route. For example, Marcus Barichello, who graduated from KPU’s Journalism program in 2021, went 
on to law school at UBC, Amei-lee Laboucan (2019) has completed her Masters of Indigenous Studies and 
Jenna Keeble (2023) is pursuing a Masters of Public Health. Several KPU Journalism graduates have also 
gone on to pursue a Master of Journalism at UBC. But for most, KPU’s program is the end of their formal 
journalism education. 

Pathways to an Enriched Civic and Personal Life 

In addition to teaching students practical skills, KPU’s Journalism program also prepares them to be better 
news consumers and citizens. In particular, JRNL 1160 Introduction to Journalism — a required course for 
the program and a very popular elective for non-journalism students — addresses the role of journalism 
in society, including how to know when you can trust a news source. The inclusion of Communication 
Studies (COMM) courses as part of the Bachelor of Journalism requirements also ensures that students 
learn about the role of media in society through courses such as COMM 3100 Media and Diversity and 
COMM 3220 Social Media, New Technology and Society. Through the process of being media creators, 
students also become better media consumers — for example, learning how photos can be manipulated 
to be misleading or how audio can be edited to leave out important context. 

The research skills students learn can also be applied to their personal and civic lives. For example, in JRNL 
1220 Citizen Journalism, students learn how to file a Freedom of Information request, a valuable tool for 
journalists but also a useful way for citizens to learn more about what their government is up to. In JRNL 
4270 Politics and Journalism, students research national and/or provincial political parties and their 
platforms, as well as individual candidates, which will help them be informed and engaged in the electoral 
process. 

Career Pathways Map 

The Career Pathways Map of the program is presented in Appendix 3.  

 

2.2. Skill Development 

KPU has a standard for essential skills that each program is expected to address (KPU Policy AC 9) and the 
Ministry measures 7 skills through graduate assessments. The Journalism program fosters the following 
essential skills in learners: 

Writing Clearly and Concisely 

Clear and concise writing is at the heart of KPU’s Journalism program. In the program’s academic COMM 
courses, students learn how to write academic papers using proper citations. In addition, all Bachelor of 
Journalism and Minor in Journalism students must take courses in news writing that teach them how to 
write short and clear news stories. 



Journalism Self-Study Report 22 

Speaking Effectively 

KPU’s JRNL and COMM courses, like most university-level courses, involve frequent class discussions and 
presentations that teach students how to speak effectively and persuasively. In addition, the program’s 
multimedia journalism courses also teach students how to speak effectively, such as during a standup in 
a video story or narrating a podcast. 

Reading and Comprehending Material 

In their COMM courses and electives in other disciplines, KPU Journalism students learn how to read and 
interpret academic publications. This is supplemented by instruction in practical journalism courses where 
students learn how to read and interpret documents of relevance to journalism such as court decisions, 
budgets and internal government documents obtained through Freedom of Information requests. 
Students also read and analyze works of journalism in several JRNL classes. 

Working Effectively with Others 

Group work is used throughout many of the JRNL and COMM courses at KPU, in particular in multimedia 
courses where students often work in teams to produce a work of journalism, such as one student being 
the camera person while another interviews a subject. Students also engage in peer editing in several 
classes, where they review the work of others and incorporate feedback from classmates. 

Analyzing and Thinking Critically 

Courses in JRNL and COMM encourage students to think critically about the role of media in society and 
its importance to democracy. Students also engage in discussions around media bias and how to assess 
the reliability of an information source. 

Resolving Issues or Other Problems 

Through group work in various classes, students in KPU’s Journalism program learn how to resolve issues 
or problems with their classmates. Students also learn how, as journalists, to negotiate difficult or hostile 
interviews and how to deal with legal threats from those unhappy with a news story. 

Learning on Your Own 

All Journalism and Communication Studies courses foster independent learning through writing and 
research projects completed on one’s own. Self-directed learning is particularly important in the field of 
journalism, as many aspects of reporting are solitary in nature and performed with little to no direct 
supervision.  

2.3. Curriculum Assessment 

The full curriculum map is provided in Appendix 4.  

Program Learning Outcomes 

Prior to this Program Review, the Bachelor of Journalism and Minor in Journalism did not have formal 
Program Learning Outcomes (PLOs). They were developed collaboratively by the department in early 
2023. 



Journalism Self-Study Report 23 

The Program Learning Outcomes for the Bachelor of Journalism state that after successfully completing 
the program, students will be able to: 

1. Create written and multimedia works of journalism using current industry standards and tools. 

2. Edit works of journalism produced by others, providing helpful and constructive feedback, and 
incorporate feedback from others. 

3. Produce works of journalism that incorporate an understanding of the importance of diversity, 
inclusion, reconciliation, empathy, curiosity and persistence. 

4. Practice the principles of sound news judgment in developing story ideas, deciding what stories 
to cover and how to structure information within a story. 

5. Conduct original research and reporting using a variety of different methods and resources and 
assess the reliability of different sources of information. 

6. Cover newsworthy events and produce stories on deadline. 

7. Critique works of journalism, demonstrating media literacy, critical thinking and an awareness of 
newsworthiness and the importance of diversity. 

8. Explain and apply the key concepts of journalism ethics and media law. 

9. Evaluate the role of journalism in a democratic society, including an understanding of the history 
of the industry and its business models. 

10. Evaluate the impact of media and communication technology on society, applying theories of 
mass communication and media studies. 

The Program Learning Outcomes for the Minor in Journalism state that after successfully completing the 
program, students will be able to: 

1. Create written and multimedia works of journalism using current industry standards and tools. 

2. Practice the principles of sound news judgment in developing story ideas, deciding what stories 
to cover and how to structure information within a story. 

3. Conduct original research and reporting using a variety of different methods and resources and 
assess the reliability of different sources of information. 

4. Critique works of journalism, demonstrating media literacy, critical thinking and an awareness of 
newsworthiness and the importance of diversity. 

Results of Curriculum Assessment 
 
The Curriculum Map in Appendix 4 gives a detailed accounting of how the Course Learning Outcomes 
(CLOs) in our courses align with the Program Learning Outcomes (PLOs) for the Bachelor of Journalism 
and the Minor in Journalism. 
 
While a useful tool for identifying gaps in the program’s curriculum, the Curriculum Map also has some 
key limitations: 



Journalism Self-Study Report 24 

 
1. There is a wide gap in the number of CLOs for different courses. For example, JRNL 3165 Data 

Visualization has 17 CLOs listed on its course outline. In contrast, JRNL 3180 Sports Journalism 
has just 6 CLOs. That gap does not reflect anything about the courses in question — JRNL 3165 
does not cover three times as much material as JRNL 3180 — but rather the peculiarities of how 
the course outlines for each course were drafted over time. As a result, any analysis of the 
simple number of alignments in the program is going to weight some courses much more highly 
than others, simply because of their total number of CLOs. 
 

2. Not all CLOs are of equal importance. Some CLOs address core concepts of a course that are 
woven through several weeks of instruction. Other CLOs are narrower in scope, addressing 
specific skills that may be addressed in just a single class. For example, in JRNL 3165 Data 
Visualization, one of its CLOs is, “Read, construct, interpret and evaluate arguments, tables, 
graphs and charts”. That CLO is so broad it arguably describes the entire course. In contrast, 
another CLO in that same course, “Calculate and explain a polling margin of error”, refers to a 
discrete skill that is taught in about a half hour in a single class and then not returned to again. 
 

3. Not all PLOs are of equal importance or can be successfully taught in equal amounts of time. The 
10 PLOs for the Bachelor of Journalism and the 4 PLOs for the Minor in Journalism were drafted 
to cover the key skills that students should have when they graduate from the program. But that 
does not imply that all PLOs are of equal importance. For example, PLO #1, “Create written and 
multimedia works of journalism using current industry standards and tools”, is arguably the core 
purpose of the Journalism program, as we want our students to be able to produce journalism 
and work successfully as journalists after graduation. It is also a PLO that is touched on by 
virtually all JRNL courses as they all, in one way or another, teach students how to produce 
works of journalism. Other PLOs, such as media ethics and law or the role of journalism in a 
democratic society, are important to our program but not quite as central and therefore are not 
likely to be reflected in as many courses or CLOs. 
 

4. The Curriculum Map lists 38 courses for the Bachelor of Journalism and 24 for the Minor in 
Journalism. This is significantly more courses than a typical student in either program is likely to 
take. That is because students have a choice of which courses to take, particularly at the upper 
levels. For example, students pursuing the Bachelor of Journalism are required to take 10 upper-
level JRNL/COMM courses. The Curriculum Map lists 25 upper-level JRNL/COMM courses. Given 
students have more choice at the upper levels than the lower levels, this will weigh the Course 
Alignment Map toward Advanced (A) skills in a way that may be misleading. 
 

5. The Curriculum Map includes a few courses that are no longer offered by the department for 
various reasons, specifically: JRNL 4260 Computer Coding for Journalists, JRNL 4141 Work 
Experience and JRNL 4180 Advanced Sports Journalism. The Curriculum Map also includes 
Honours courses, which only one or two students a year take in pursuit of their Bachelor of 
Journalism (Honours). Honours courses are also listed in the Curriculum Map twice, as there are 
pending changes to the course codes for those courses. 

 
Some of the caveats above reveal a lack of consistency in how CLOs have been drafted in course outlines 
over the years, as well as a shift in best practices at KPU about how CLOs should be worded. The 
department should adopt a more consistent approach to CLOs across all JRNL/COMM courses, both in 



Journalism Self-Study Report 25 

the number of CLOs per course and in how they are worded. As course outlines come up for review and 
revision, this consistent standard should be applied. 
 
The sheer size of the Curriculum Map spreadsheet can make it difficult to detect overall patterns in the 
program’s curriculum. To see some of the big-picture patterns more clearly, we have produced two bar 
charts that count the number of total alignments for both programs. Those bar charts come with the 
same caveats mentioned above about the Curriculum Map as a whole. But they provide a helpful 
overview of how certain skills are being taught across the program. 
 
In the bar charts below, as in the Curriculum Map, Is, Ds and As are used to show the nature of each 
alignment: 
 

Introduced [I]: Course learning outcomes that concentrate on knowledge or skills related to the 
program outcomes at a basic level or skills at an entry-level of complexity.   
     
Developing [D]: Course level outcomes that demonstrate learning at an increasing level of 
proficiency of the program level outcome as well expanding complexity.    
     
Advanced [A]: Course level outcomes that demonstrate learning related to the program level 
outcome with an increasing level of independence, expertise and sophistication or integrate the 
use of content or skills in multiple levels of complexity.   
 

Note that the PLOs in the charts below are truncated because they were too long to display fully. 
         

 



Journalism Self-Study Report 26 

 
This chart suggests that some PLOs in the program are covered in greater depth than others. However, 
this apparent imbalance is consistent with the goals of the program as a whole. Skills such as creating 
works of journalism (PLO #1), conducting original reporting (PLO #5) and practising sound news 
judgment (PLO #4) are core skills that are taught throughout the program at every level. In contrast, 
while journalism law and ethics (PLO #8) and evaluating the role of journalism in a democratic society 
(PLO #9) are both very important, they are topics that are naturally narrower in scope and so are not 
covered by as many courses, or in as much depth. 
 
This chart also shows that most of the PLOs in the Bachelor of Journalism have a good balance between 
the different levels of alignment: first introducing students to a concept, then having them develop it 
and finally having them hone those skills at an advanced level. While not visible in this bar chart, a 
deeper analysis of the Curriculum Map also indicates that the PLOs are generally well scaffolded in the 
program: courses that introduce (I) a concept are generally the prerequisites for those courses that 
develop (D) it, and then those courses in turn are prerequisites for the courses that teach those skills at 
an advanced (A) level. 
 
One notable exception to this is PLO #5 (“Conduct original research and reporting using a variety of 
different methods and resources and assess the reliability of different sources of information.”) Most of 
the introductory alignments for that PLO take place in JRNL 1220 Citizen Journalism, a course heavily 
focused on journalism research skills. Most of the developing (D) alignments for PLO #5 then take place 
in JRNL 2120 Writing for Journalism. However, JRNL 1220 Citizen Journalism is not a prerequisite for 
JRNL 2120 (students require either JRNL 1220 Citizen Journalism or JRNL 1160 Introduction to 
Journalism to take JRNL 2120). To ensure students are better prepared for the research demands of 
JRNL 2120, making JRNL 1220 a prerequisite should be considered. 
 
How adequately lower-level courses scaffold learning to upper-level courses is also something that 
cannot fully be captured by the Curriculum Map. A lower-level course may have CLOs that suggest 
appropriate laddering to an upper-level course, but if the concept is particularly challenging, students 
may not be adequately prepared. For example, department faculty have often discussed that students in 
upper-level writing courses still struggle with basic newswriting skills, such as Canadian Press style, 
despite JRNL 2120 Writing for Journalism being a prerequisite for all upper-level writing courses. This is 
reflected in one of the comments on the Faculty survey (Appendix 5): 
 

I think one of the central challenges of the program currently is that lower-level courses (in 
particular first-year courses) are taken overwhelmingly by non-journalism students as electives, 
and in many cases by international students whose command of English is not very strong. This 
limits the ability to integrate meaningful journalism writing assignments in courses like [Course 
Names Redacted]. This may leave students somewhat unprepared when they start taking more 
advanced journalism courses in the third and fourth year, especially those that involve a lot of 
writing.   

 
This may suggest that the laddering in place is not sufficient, in particular around writing and reporting 
skills. One idea that has been discussed by the department is changing the course learning outcomes for 
JRNL 2240 Beyond the News to make it a “Part 2” reporting and writing course that students would take 
after JRNL 2120 Writing for Journalism. Both courses would then be prerequisites for all upper-level 
JRNL writing courses. The department should undertake a general review of the laddering of courses to 
ensure that the prerequisites in place are sufficient. 



Journalism Self-Study Report 27 

 
As noted above, the Bachelor of Journalism program has more lower-level requirements than many 
other similar programs in the Faculty of Arts.  
 

Program 

1000/2000 
Level 
Discipline-
Specific 
Courses 
Required 

3000/4000 
Level 
Discipline-
Specific 
Courses 
Required TOTAL 

Criminology 14 10 24 
Journalism 10 10 20 
Creative Writing 7 11 18 
Policy Studies 9 8 17 
Applied Geography 8 9 17 
Sociology 8 9 17 
Psychology 7 10 17 
Political Science 6 10 16 
Anthropology 6 10 16 
English 5 10 15 
History 5 10 15 
Philosophy 7 6 13 

    
MEDIAN 7.0 10.0 17.0 

NOTE: The chart above includes both JRNL and COMM courses as Discipline Specific for the Bachelor of Journalism program as 
well as INDG 1100, which is a required course for the Bachelor of Journalism. 
 
The department should review all required first- and second-year courses to determine if they are 
necessary to prepare students for upper-level courses and to achieve the Program Learning Outcomes. 
There may be cases where some would work better as upper-level electives. For example, there have 
been some initial discussions in the department that JRNL 2360 Photojournalism might work better as 
an upper-level course. 
 
Another issue to consider is that while issues of media ethics and law are covered in a variety of courses, 
Bachelor of Journalism students are not required to take a specific course in media law and ethics, even 
though, “Explain and apply the key concepts of journalism ethics and media law” is one of the PLOs of 
the Bachelor of Journalism. The program does have a dedicated course that covers these issues — 
COMM 2100 Media Ethics and Law — but it is not required. Making it a required course for the degree 
should be considered. As noted by one respondent to the Faculty survey: 
 

“Students would benefit from a mandatory ethics course and a deeper understanding of the 
fundamentals of reporting.” 

 



Journalism Self-Study Report 28 

While alignments for the PLOs are generally well balanced, there are three PLOs where the number of 
introductory (I) alignments are notably lower: 

• 2. Edit works of journalism produced by others, providing helpful and constructive feedback, and 
incorporate feedback from others. 

• 4. Practice the principles of sound news judgment in developing story ideas, deciding what stories 
to cover and how to structure information within a story. 

• 6. Cover newsworthy events and produce stories on deadline. 
 
To some extent, this reflects the fact that these PLOs describe intermediate learning outcomes that, 
while they may be introduced in a small way in first-year courses, are not really developed until second 
year and beyond. For example, students typically are not sent out to cover a breaking news event (PLO 
#6) for the first time until JRNL 2120 Writing for Journalism, after they have first learned the basics of 
how to write a news story. Similarly, students tend not to engage in detailed editing of each other’s 
work (PLO #2) until they know enough about how to write a news story for that feedback to be 
effective. 
 
That said, the Curriculum Map does suggest more effort should be made to better introduce concepts 
like editing and news judgment at a basic level in first-year courses, so students are better prepared for 
later courses in the program. In some cases, that is already being done but has not been fully reflected 
in course outlines. For example, most instructors of JRNL 1160 Introduction to Journalism have a series 
of photo assignments and have students critique each other’s work. That peer feedback helps prepare 
students to edit each other’s work and to accept constructive criticism. But, as currently written, the 
course outline for JRNL 1160 Introduction to Journalism has no CLO that reflects that this peer-feedback 
skill is being taught and so the course has no alignment with PLO #2. Similarly, the instructor for JRNL 
2120 Writing for Journalism has incorporated some basic peer editing assignments in that class, 
including teaching best practices for editing, but there is no CLO in the course outline that indicates that. 
Course outlines for all courses, and JRNL 1160 and JRNL 2120 in particular, should be updated to better 
reflect their current content. 
 

 
 
The alignments for the Minor in Journalism are generally more balanced than for the Bachelor of 
Journalism as the Minor does not include many of the PLOs with fewer alignments overall or where the 



Journalism Self-Study Report 29 

Introductory alignments are under-represented. The one exception is PLO #2, where the number of 
Introductory alignments is notably smaller than the rest. 
 
PLO #2 for the Minor is worded identically to PLO #4 for the Bachelor of Journalism. There is also 
significant overlap in required courses for the Minor and Bachelor of Journalism, particularly at the 
lower levels. As a result, the strategies discussed above to improve lower-level representation for this 
PLO for the Bachelor of Journalism will provide greater balance for the Minor as well. 
 
In conclusion, the Bachelor of Journalism and Minor in Journalism courses adequately address the PLOs 
for the programs as a whole and provide good scaffolding progression from one course to another. That 
said, some improvements could be made. 
 
The following recommendations are provided to further strengthen the curriculum and better prepare 
students for the challenges and demands of the journalism field. These recommendations focus on 
enhancing student preparedness, curriculum alignment, course content, and program learning 
outcomes. 
 
Recommendations 
 

1. While the Curriculum Map suggests there is generally good laddering from lower-level to upper-
level courses, the department should discuss any gaps they’ve identified in student 
preparedness and consider what changes to course prerequisites and program structure should 
be made. 
 

2. The department should review all required first- and second-year courses to determine if they 
are necessary to prepare students for upper-level courses and to achieve the Program Learning 
Outcomes. Consideration should be given to whether some second-year courses may work 
better as upper-level electives. This may provide opportunities to reduce the number of 
discipline-specific lower-level courses Bachelor of Journalism students are required to take, 
putting the program’s requirements more in line with others in the Faculty of Arts. 
 

3. The department should consider introducing peer feedback — both giving it and receiving it —in 
first-year courses to better prepare students for peer editing each other’s work in later JRNL 
courses. This will ensure better scaffolding for PLO #2 (“2. Edit works of journalism produced by 
others, providing helpful and constructive feedback, and incorporate feedback from others.”) 
 

4. The department should consider doing more to address the concepts of what makes a story 
newsworthy and how news judgment is applied by news organizations into first-year courses to 
provide better scaffolding for both PLO #4 (“Practice the principles of sound news judgment in 
developing story ideas, deciding what stories to cover and how to structure information within a 
story.”) and PLO #6 (“Cover newsworthy events and produce stories on deadline.”) 
 

5. Course outlines should be updated to ensure they reflect any new material that has been added 
to courses in recent years. In particular, new material involving peer feedback and peer editing 
that has been added to JRNL 1160 Introduction to Journalism and JRNL 2120 Writing for 
Journalism should be reflected in those courses’ updated CLOs. 
 



Journalism Self-Study Report 30 

6. As course outlines come up for review and revision, they should be revised to ensure more 
consistency across courses, both in the number of CLOs per course and in how those CLOs are 
worded. 
 

7. The department should consider making COMM 2100 Media Ethics and Law a required course 
for the Bachelor of Journalism degree. 
 

8. Courses that are no longer offered by the program, such as JRNL 4260 Computer Coding for 
Journalists, should be removed from the course calendar. 
 

 
 



Journalism Self-Study Report 31 

3. Program Relevance and Demand 

3.1. Relevance 

Are the program learning outcomes relevant to the current needs of the discipline/sector?  

As noted earlier, prior to this Program Review, the Bachelor of Journalism and Minor in Journalism did not 
have formal Program Learning Outcomes (PLOs). They were developed collaboratively by the department 
in early 2023. Not surprisingly, then, the Faculty Survey (Appendix 5) found near-unanimous agreement 
that the PLOs were relevant to the current needs of the discipline/sector. For 9 of the 10 PLOs, 100% of 
faculty surveyed agreed that the PLO was “somewhat relevant” or “very relevant”, with the vast majority 
stating the PLOs were “very relevant”. Only one PLO, “Conduct original research and reporting using a 
variety of different methods and resources and assess the reliability of different sources of information”, 
had less than 100% support with one respondent saying it was only “slightly relevant” to the discipline. 

Support for some of the PLOs was more lukewarm among those in the discipline/sector who were 
surveyed (Appendix 6).  



Journalism Self-Study Report 32 

 

As the chart above shows, there were several PLOs that only a minority of those surveyed believed were 
“very important” or “essential” for an entry-level employee to have. While these survey results could 
suggest a mismatch between what the program is teaching and what employers want from new hires, 
there are some other possible explanations for these results: 

• The question asks survey respondents if the skills are ones that an “entry-level employee” needs 
to be able to demonstrate. Not surprisingly, then, those PLOs that address broader issues of 
citizenship — such as the role of journalism in a democratic society and the impact of media on 
society — were not given as much weight as those that are more obviously tied to job 



Journalism Self-Study Report 33 

requirements, like creating works of journalism. The department believes that a baccalaureate 
program should do more than simply teach job skills but also give students a sense of the role of 
journalism and journalists in society more broadly. 

• A closer look at the data tables reveals that while there were some PLOs that those surveyed did 
not think were “very important” or “essential”, many still thought the PLOs were “somewhat 
important”. Indeed, fewer than 20% of those surveyed thought any of the PLOs were “not at all 
important” with the exception of “Edit works of journalism produced by others, providing helpful 
and constructive feedback, and incorporate feedback from others”, which 45% felt were not 
important at all and “Evaluate the impact of media and communication technology on society, 
applying theories of mass communication and media studies” which 27% believed were not at all 
important. 

• A third of those surveyed in the discipline/sector specific survey work in Communications/Public 
Relations rather than in the News Media. This may impact their answers to what is required for 
an entry level job, as positions in Communications may demand less research skills than those in 
journalism and have less of a focus on producing stories on deadline. 

• In some cases, respondents may not have fully appreciated how the PLOs, which are written in a 
particular pedagogical style, translate into real-world job skills. For example, nearly half (45%) of 
those surveyed believed that the PLO, “Edit works of journalism produced by others, providing 
helpful and constructive feedback, and incorporate feedback from others” was “not at all 
important” for an entry level position. Yet in the written comments on the survey, several 
respondents stressed the importance of being able to accept feedback (“a willingness to accept 
feedback”, “an openness to feedback and the ability to apply feedback to their work”, “Ability to 
understand constructive feedback with story development”). It’s possible these comments were 
from those respondents who did think the PLO was relevant. But it’s also possible that those 
surveyed reflected on the fact that entry-level journalists are rarely in an editing role and so didn’t 
think of that PLO as essential, while not appreciating that the PLO is also related to being able to 
accept the feedback and editing of others. 

Support for the PLOs’ relevance was quite high among alumni surveyed (Appendix 7). All 10 PLOs were 
deemed “somewhat relevant” or “very relevant” by a majority of those surveyed, with support of 89% or 
higher for 6 of the 10 PLOs. As with the discipline/sector survey, support was lowest for the last two PLOs 
which, again, is not surprising as they are related to citizenship as opposed to employment. 

Another source of information on program relevance is the BC Student Outcome survey data (Appendix 
1). 

Exhibit 1: KPU Journalism Program Student Outcomes Data Compared with Ministry Targets 

Measures 

Student Outcome 
Data for KPU 
Journalism 

Program 
(2020-22) 

Student 
Outcome Data 

for Langara 
Journalism 

Program 
(2020-22) 

Student 
Outcome Data 

for BCIT 
Journalism 

Program 
(2020-22) 

Student 
Outcome Data 

for TRU 
Journalism 

Program 
(2020-22) 

Ministry 
Target 

Respondents 20 29 44 28 - 



Journalism Self-Study Report 34 

Measures 

Student Outcome 
Data for KPU 
Journalism 

Program 
(2020-22) 

Student 
Outcome Data 

for Langara 
Journalism 

Program 
(2020-22) 

Student 
Outcome Data 

for BCIT 
Journalism 

Program 
(2020-22) 

Student 
Outcome Data 

for TRU 
Journalism 

Program 
(2020-22) 

Ministry 
Target 

Satisfaction3 90% 100% 93% 96% ≥ 90% 
 Quality4 90% 100% 98% 93% ≥ 90% 
 Usefulness5 87% 75% 65% 93% ≥ 90% 
 

That data suggests that KPU’s Journalism program is meeting ministry targets in all areas but one, and 
given only 20 people responded to the survey, it is short of that target by just a single respondent. 
Interestingly, the survey data suggests that Journalism students at Langara and BCIT report higher levels 
of satisfaction with their program and rate the quality of instruction slightly higher. However, KPU 
students are more likely to say what they’ve learned is useful to their current occupation. TRU scores 
slightly higher than KPU on all three measures. 

Does the program have the connections to the discipline/sector needed to remain current? 

In 2019, the department created a Program Advisory Committee (PAC), made up of professionals from 
the fields of both Journalism and Communications. As of early 2023, its members are: 

• Laura Baziuk, Managing editor digital/radio, Global News 

• Chris Bryan, Public Affairs Manager, City of Burnaby 

• Johann Chang, Senior Communications Specialist, City of Vancouver 

• Darah Hansen, Senior Communications Manager, TELUS 

• Katie Hyslop, Education and Youth Issues Reporter, The Tyee 

• Ashley Wadhwani, Digital Content Editor for Western Canada, Black Press 

• Hayley Woodin, Editor in Chief, Business in Vancouver 

The PAC has provided valuable assistance to the department in alerting us to changes in the fields of both 
Journalism and Communications and identifying areas where our program could improve. For example, in 
one of the PAC’s first meetings, the committee identified that being able to cover breaking news under 
tight deadlines was an essential skill for journalists working in their newsrooms. The department identified 
that its existing suite of upper-level courses focused primarily on feature writing and did not emphasize 
breaking news enough. As a direct result of the PAC’s input, a new course — JRNL 3175 News Reporting 
— focused specifically on breaking news coverage was created and offered for the first time in Summer 
2022. 

                                                            
3 Respondents who are "very satisfied" or "satisfied" with the education or training they received in their program of study. 
4 Respondents who rate the quality of instruction received from their program of study as "very good", "good" or "adequate". 
5 Respondents who describe their program of study as "very" or "somewhat" useful in their current occupation. 



Journalism Self-Study Report 35 

In addition to the PAC’s input, several of the department’s instructors — both regular faculty and sessional 
instructors — continue to work in the field of journalism, which helps ensure they are up-to-date on the 
changes in the field. Some faculty members are also involved in administering or judging national 
journalism competitions, which helps keep them in touch with the best work being created in the field. 

Does the program include appropriate Indigenous content? 

In June 2015, the Truth and Reconciliation Commission’s Calls to Action included a specific call directed at 
journalism schools: 

86. We call upon Canadian journalism programs and media schools to require education for all 
students on the history of Aboriginal peoples, including the history and legacy of residential 
schools, the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, Treaties and 
Aboriginal rights, Indigenous law, and Aboriginal– Crown relations. 

In direct response to that Call to Action, INDG 1100 Introduction to Indigenous Studies was made a 
required course for the Bachelor of Journalism degree starting in September 2016. 

In early 2023, KPU’s Journalism school adopted a statement on Equity, Diversity, Inclusion and 
Decolonization (Appendix 2) that includes an acknowledgment of the harms done by journalists to 
Indigenous communities and committed the program to specific goals to improve Indigenous content, 
including: 
 

• We will integrate readings, assignments and examples in our classroom that encourage students 
to reflect on issues of Equity, Diversity, Inclusion and Decolonization. 
 

• We will encourage students to seek out and include Indigenous voices in their reporting, 
including the wisdom of Elders and other Indigenous ways of knowing. 

Indigenous content has already been added to several courses but more work needs be done. Those 
additions also need to be reflected in the official Course Learning Outcomes for those courses when the 
course outlines are reviewed. The program’s Diversity statement commits the department to coming up 
with an action plan to implement the statement’s goals and to review progress on an annual basis. That 
work is already underway and will continue. 

3.2. Faculty Qualifications and Currency 

What is the collective expertise available to deliver the program? 

As of September 2023, the Journalism and Communication Studies department at KPU has five 100% full-
time regular instructors, one regular 50% instructor and one 100% instructor on a one-year NR2 contract. 
The department also makes use of sessional instructors, both to provide coverage for time releases and 
demand sections, and to teach specialized courses in areas like Photojournalism and Podcasting. 

While there is some overlap, the department essentially has two types of instructors: Those who teach 
primarily Journalism (JRNL) courses and those who teach primarily Communication Studies (COMM) 
courses. 



Journalism Self-Study Report 36 

Journalism instructors at KPU all have extensive experience in the field of journalism, with many having 
worked as journalists for decades before teaching. Some still work as freelance journalists. All regular and 
NR2 journalism instructors at KPU have a Master’s degree. 

Communication Studies instructors are typically hired based on their academic credentials in the field. All 
of the department’s regular Communication Studies instructors have a PhD in Communication Studies or 
a related field. 

Collectively, does the department have the expertise needed to deliver the curriculum? 

The department has the expertise needed to deliver the curriculum, both for JRNL and COMM courses. 

The Qualifications and Currency Profile is presented in Appendix 8. 

3.3. Student Demand 

Who takes the program? 

KPU Journalism students are about 60% female, in line with the share for the Faculty of Arts as a whole. 
This number has been relatively stable over the past five years. The share of KPU Journalism students who 
are 22 years or younger has been steadily dropping, from 73% in 2018/19 to 60% in 2022/23. The reason 
for this is unclear, though a small number of mature students have gone through the program in recent 
years as well as students who come to the Journalism program after pursuing studies in something else 
at another institution. These two factors may account for the small decline in younger students. 

The most notable difference between the Journalism program as a whole and the Faculty of Arts is in the 
share of international students: 12% for Journalism and 30% for the Faculty as a whole. This is likely due 
to the fact that the only Journalism credentials offered are a four-year Bachelor of Journalism degree and 
a Minor in Journalism taken as part of a four-year degree. Many international students only attend KPU 
for two years, meaning a Journalism credential is not an option for them. That said, lower-level JRNL and 
COMM courses are very popular among international students as electives. Based on class-list data for 
2021-2023, 76% of students in first-year JRNL and COMM courses are international students. That figure 
drops to 32% for second-year courses and just 8% for upper-level courses. 

Exhibit 2: Demographic Profile of Journalism Program Students by Academic Year 
 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 
Student Headcount 108 115 119 106 93 
% Women 65% 57% 61% 62% 56% 
% 22 years or younger 73% 76% 64% 65% 60% 
% International 11% 18% 19% 12% 12% 

Exhibit 3: Demographic Profile of Faculty of Arts Students by Academic Year 
 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 
Student Headcount 5,805 5,887 5,755 6,146 6,126 
% Women 62% 62% 63% 62% 61% 
% 22 years or younger 68% 68% 68% 68% 69% 
% International 14% 17% 18% 26% 30% 



Journalism Self-Study Report 37 

According to the Student Survey (Appendix 9), 18% of KPU Journalism students surveyed identify as Black 
or as a Person of Colour, 35% have a disability and 41% identify as 2SLGBTQ+. None of the 22 students 
surveyed identified as Indigenous. However, we know there are some Indigenous students in the program 
as two current KPU Journalism students — Kayla MacInnis and Magdelaine Folk — have received the 
Indigenous Student Journalism Award from the Jack Webster Foundation in recent years. 

 

According to the 2021 Census, 54.5% of Metro Vancouver residents identify as being a member of a visible 
minority and 2.4% identify as Indigenous6. Statistics Canada data suggests 3.4% of B.C. residents identify 
as lesbian, gay or bisexual7 and 0.4% identify as transgender or non-binary8. Among British Columbians in 
their late teens and early 20s, 6.5% identify as lesbian, gay or bisexual and 0.8% identify as transgender 
or non-binary. These figures suggest that Black, Indigenous and other Persons of Colour (BIPOC) students 
are under-represented in KPU’s Journalism program and 2SLGBTQ+ students are over-represented 
compared to their share of the overall population. The program’s Diversity statement (Appendix 2) 
includes a specific commitment to work on increasing the diversity of the program’s students: 

                                                            
6 Statistics Canada. (2023, February 1). Census profile, 2021 census of Population - Vancouver CMA. 
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2021/dp-
pd/prof/details/page.cfm?Lang=E&SearchText=vancouver&DGUIDlist=2021S0503933&GENDERlist=1%2C2%2C3&S
TATISTIClist=1%2C4&HEADERlist=0 
 
7 Statistics Canada. (2021, March 26). Socioeconomic characteristics of the lesbian, gay and bisexual population, 
2015-2018. 
https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/cv!recreate.action?pid=1310081701&selectedNodeIds=1D6%2C5D1%2C
6D1%2C6D4&checkedLevels=1D1%2C2D1%2C3D1%2C3D2&refPeriods=20150101%2C20150101&dimensionLayout
s=layout2%2Clayout3%2Clayout2%2Clayout2%2Clayout3%2Clayout2%2Clayout2&vectorDisplay=false 
 
8 Statistics Canada. (2023, May 31). Canada is the first country to provide census data on transgender and non-
binary people. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/220427/dq220427b-eng.htm 

https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2021/dp-pd/prof/details/page.cfm?Lang=E&SearchText=vancouver&DGUIDlist=2021S0503933&GENDERlist=1%2C2%2C3&STATISTIClist=1%2C4&HEADERlist=0
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2021/dp-pd/prof/details/page.cfm?Lang=E&SearchText=vancouver&DGUIDlist=2021S0503933&GENDERlist=1%2C2%2C3&STATISTIClist=1%2C4&HEADERlist=0
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2021/dp-pd/prof/details/page.cfm?Lang=E&SearchText=vancouver&DGUIDlist=2021S0503933&GENDERlist=1%2C2%2C3&STATISTIClist=1%2C4&HEADERlist=0
https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/cv!recreate.action?pid=1310081701&selectedNodeIds=1D6%2C5D1%2C6D1%2C6D4&checkedLevels=1D1%2C2D1%2C3D1%2C3D2&refPeriods=20150101%2C20150101&dimensionLayouts=layout2%2Clayout3%2Clayout2%2Clayout2%2Clayout3%2Clayout2%2Clayout2&vectorDisplay=false
https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/cv!recreate.action?pid=1310081701&selectedNodeIds=1D6%2C5D1%2C6D1%2C6D4&checkedLevels=1D1%2C2D1%2C3D1%2C3D2&refPeriods=20150101%2C20150101&dimensionLayouts=layout2%2Clayout3%2Clayout2%2Clayout2%2Clayout3%2Clayout2%2Clayout2&vectorDisplay=false
https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/cv!recreate.action?pid=1310081701&selectedNodeIds=1D6%2C5D1%2C6D1%2C6D4&checkedLevels=1D1%2C2D1%2C3D1%2C3D2&refPeriods=20150101%2C20150101&dimensionLayouts=layout2%2Clayout3%2Clayout2%2Clayout2%2Clayout3%2Clayout2%2Clayout2&vectorDisplay=false
https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/220427/dq220427b-eng.htm


Journalism Self-Study Report 38 

• We will encourage and support students from under-represented groups to pursue a Bachelor of 
Journalism degree. 

The department’s action plan for its diversity statement, currently under development, will include 
specific plans for how to implement this goal. 

Students of the program were asked if they felt included in the Journalism program on the basis of various 
demographic factors. The survey showed students generally felt included, though students were least 
likely to say they felt included based on their cultural/ethnic/racial background (65%) and most likely to 
feel included on the basis of their gender identity or sexual orientation (83% for both). The low figure for 
cultural/ethnic/racial background is concerning, though it is somewhat difficult to interpret. Only 6% of 
those surveyed (one respondent) disagreed that they felt included on that basis with the remaining 29% 
saying they neither agreed or disagreed with the statement. Given the small number of respondents, 
KPU’s Office of Planning & Accountability (OPA) was not able to provide the department with answers to 
this question broken down by students’ cultural background. However, OPA confirmed that the 29% of 
respondents who said they neither agreed or disagreed with the statement were not students who 
identified as Black or a Person of Colour. This suggests those 29% may be white students who were unsure 
how to answer the question, rather than students who did not feel included. 

 
29 - I feel included in the Journalism program on the basis of my: 

 

 

# Question Strongly 
disagree 

Somewhat 
disagree 

Neither agree 
nor disagree 

Somewhat 
agree 

Strongly 
agree Total 

1 Cultural/ethnic/racial 
background 6% 0% 29% 12% 53% 17 



Journalism Self-Study Report 39 

2 Ability (e.g., physical, 
cognitive, sensory, etc.) 0% 6% 24% 6% 65% 17 

3 Gender identity 0% 0% 18% 12% 71% 17 

4 Sexual orientation 0% 6% 12% 18% 65% 17 

 

Students were also asked, more broadly, whether they believe KPU’s Journalism program is making good 
progress addressing issues of equity, diversity, inclusion and decolonization. Of those surveyed, 88% were 
satisfied the program was making good progress on equity, diversity and inclusion and 76% were satisfied 
the program was making good progress on decolonization. 

Is demand for the program sustainable? 

There are two key trends occurring in KPU’s Journalism program at the same time: a dramatic increase in 
demand for first-year JRNL and COMM courses while demand for the Bachelor of Journalism credential 
has been flat or slightly declining. 

Demand for JRNL and COMM courses at KPU has seen a dramatic increase over the past few years, driven 
in large part by international students taking first-year courses like COMM 1100 Foundations of 
Communication Studies and JRNL 1160 Introduction to Journalism. 

Exhibit 4: Student Headcount in Journalism Courses by Academic Year Compared with Faculty of Arts 
Courses 

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 %Change9 
Journalism 706 759 848 985 1,301 84% 
Faculty of Arts 12,122 11,574 11,167 12,306 12,580 4% 

At the same time, the number of students Majoring in Journalism has declined slightly, offset somewhat 
by an increase in the number of students choosing to Minor in Journalism. 

Exhibit 5: Student Headcount in Journalism Program by Academic Year Compared with Faculty of Arts 
Programs 

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 %Change 
Bachelor of Arts (Honours) in 
Journalism 2 1 1 4 1 -50% 

Bachelor of Arts (Major) in 
Journalism 45 34 48 40 38 -16% 

Bachelor of Arts (Minor) in 
Journalism 5 6 6 8 7 40% 

Intended of Undeclared 63 74 72 59 51 -19% 
Journalism Total Headcount 108 115 119 106 93 -14% 
Faculty of Arts Total Headcount 5,805 5,887 5,755 6,146 6,126 6% 

Looking at enrolment in other journalism programs in B.C., most are relatively flat like KPU’s, such as UBC’s 
Master’s Degree program and Langara’s Diploma and Certificate programs. However, TRU’s Bachelor’s 
Degree program has seen modest increases and BCIT’s part-time Journalism Associate Certificate has seen 
more than a doubling of demand in the past few years. 

                                                            
9 % Change refers to change between 2018/19 to 2022/23. 



Journalism Self-Study Report 40 

Exhibit 6: Number of Students Enrolled in Journalism Programs at BC Public Post-Secondary 
Institutions (excluding KPU students) 10 

 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Total (excluding KPU)  377 414 463 459 
UBC (V) 70 74 67 70 
    Master’s Degree  70 74 67 70 
TRU 114 125 150 142 
    Bachelor’s Degree 114 125 150 141 
    Post-Degree Diploma - - - 1 
Langara 49 39 42 47 
    Diploma 33 24 30 30 
    Post-Degree Certificate 16 15 12 17 
BCIT 142 173 204 200 
    Diploma 87 79 82 88 
    Certificate 55 95 122 112 
Okanagan 2 3 - - 
Diploma 2 3 - - 

KPU (Bachelor Degree Only) 49 47 36 49 

 

These figures suggest KPU could be doing a better job at attracting students into its Bachelor of Journalism 
program. The program has made some efforts in this regard in recent years, including giving all students 
in first-year JRNL and COMM courses a one-page handout on the advantages of pursuing a Bachelor of 
Journalism degree. The department has also made efforts to build a sense of community among 
Journalism students at KPU, holding pizza parties once or twice a year, purchasing Canadian Press 
Stylebooks for all second-year students and giving all students who Major or Minor in Journalism a KPU 
Journalism T-shirt. 

Does the program have the capacity to meet demand? 

The dramatic demand for first-year JRNL and COMM courses in recent years has led to a sharp increase in 
waitlists, in particular for three courses: JRNL 1160 Introduction to Journalism, COMM 1100 Foundations 
of Communication Studies and COMM 1110 Television and Social Change. 

Exhibit 10: Unmet Demand at the Stable Enrolment Date  
 Unmet Demand Fill Rate 
Spring 2023 222 97% 
Fall 2022 136 93% 
Summer 2022 134 95% 
Spring 2022 62 89% 
Fall 2021 65 88% 

                                                            
10 Data reported in this section was obtained from a dashboard that is under development. Data are coded by Classification of 
Instructional Program (CIP). To identify Journalism programs, CIP codes 9.0400, 9.0401, 9.0402 were used.  



Journalism Self-Study Report 41 

Summer 2021 91 99% 
Spring 2021 21 89% 
Fall 2020 29 99% 

 

 
 Course Unmet Demand 
 

Spring 2023 
COMM 1100 76 
COMM 1110 54 
JRNL 1160 58 

 Course Unmet Demand 
 

Fall 2022 
COMM 1100 52 
COMM 1110 55 
JRNL 1160 25 

 Course Unmet Demand 
 

Summer 2022 
 

COMM 1100 51 
COMM 1110 37 
JRNL 1160 46 

 

To help address this demand, the department has put on several one-time-only demand sections over the 
past two years. But, in some cases, the department has been unable to find an available instructor to 
teach a demand section offered by the Faculty of Arts. To help address this issue, the department has run 
several searches to help expand the ranks of instructors on its Qualified Faculty List. But finding faculty 
who are both qualified and available has been an ongoing challenge. 

To date, the unmet demand in first-year courses has not posed a problem for students’ timely progression 
towards the degree. In short, all Bachelor of Journalism students who need to take JRNL 1160 Introduction 
to Journalism as a prerequisite for other courses have been able to do so. However, it is something the 
department has been monitoring closely and, if it does become a problem, it can set aside some seats in 
JRNL 1160 specifically for Journalism Intended students. 

Does the program have effective outreach to ensure demand? 

Over the years, the department has invested significant time and effort to ensure the KPU Journalism 
website does a good job of showcasing the program. For example, the website features testimonials from 
graduates, a list of scholarships available to Journalism students and a comparison of KPU’s Journalism 
program with other similar programs in the region. 

Promoting the program among high-school students has proven more challenging. In 2022, our 
department spearheaded an effort to hold a special “KPU CREATES” workshop on campus to promote our 
program to local high-school students along with KPU’s Public Relations and Graphic Design programs. 
The event was promoted to high schools across the region. Despite heavy promotion efforts by KPU staff, 
only 5 students attended the event. 

https://www.kpu.ca/arts/journalism/testimonials
https://www.kpu.ca/arts/journalism/awards
https://www.kpu.ca/arts/journalism/what-kpu-offers


Journalism Self-Study Report 42 

The survey reveals that only 63% of alumni agree that they are provided with opportunities to stay 
connected to the Journalism program. At present, KPU alumni are sometimes invited to classes as guest 
speakers. But the department should investigate ways to keep KPU Journalism alumni better connected 
with the program and current students. Some possibilities might include social events and mentorship 
programs. 

One other idea that has been discussed by the department is developing a Certificate, perhaps in 
Multimedia Storytelling, that might attract mature learners to take upper-level JRNL courses. As noted 
above, BCIT’s part-time Journalism Associate Certificate program has seen a doubling of demand over the 
past few years. The department could also work with BCIT to set up articulation agreements making it 
easier for graduates of its certificate or diploma programs to continue their studies at KPU, similar to the 
agreements already in place with Langara. 

Recommendation: 

1. As a department, work on additional initiatives to promote the Journalism program, both among 
current KPU students and others. 

2. As a department, discuss initiatives to keep KPU Journalism alumni better connected with the 
program and current students. 

3. Investigate the possibility of offering a Certificate, perhaps in Multimedia Storytelling, which 
might attract mature learners to the program. 

4. Investigate the possibility of setting up articulation agreements with BCIT’s Journalism program 
similar to those that already exist with Langara, so graduates of its certificate and diploma 
programs could continue their studies and receive a Bachelor of Journalism at KPU. 

 



Journalism Self-Study Report 43 

4. Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery 

4.1. Instructional Design and Delivery of Curriculum 

Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the PLOs? 

Both the surveys of current students and alumni suggest that the PLOs of KPU’s Journalism program are 
being well taught. 

For most PLOs, 80%+ of current students agreed that the courses they had taken had helped them develop 
the PLO in question to a moderate or large extent. The lowest score was for the last PLO, “Evaluate the 
impact of media and communication technology on society, applying theories of mass communication 
and media studies”, but even here 71% of students agreed. 

Results were similar on the alumni survey. On most PLOs, 80%+ of alumni agreed the program helped 
them to develop the skill in question and the few PLOs that were lower were still at 75%. 

Among faculty surveyed, for all PLOs, fully 100% agreed KPU’s Journalism program helped students 
develop the learning objectives. 

Are appropriate experiential learning opportunities provided to help students acquire the learning 
outcomes? 

For many years, KPU’s Bachelor of Journalism program had an upper-level elective designed to give 
students real-world newsroom experience: JRNL 4141 Work Experience. Unfortunately, given the small 
number of students in the program, it became difficult to offer that course on a regular basis. Some years, 
the course was cancelled due to low enrolment. To address this gap in experiential learning, in Fall 2020 
the Journalism program joined KPU’s ARTS 4800 Practicum course, a course designed to allow a number 
of small programs at KPU to offer their students on-the-job experiences. Several local news organizations 
have joined the course as host employers, including the Richmond News, Fraser Valley Current and Black 
Press. Students’ participation in the ARTS 4800 course has provided them with valuable real-world 
experience and given them contacts in the industry which, in some cases, have led to career opportunities 
later. For example, in Fall 2021, one student, Sobia Moman, was placed with Black Press for her ARTS 4800 
practicum. Following her graduation, she was hired as a Multimedia Journalist at the Peace Arch News, a 
Black Press publication. 

In addition to the ARTS 4800 course, the Journalism program also helps to connect graduates and current 
students with job opportunities in the field. On a regular basis, news organizations reach out to the 
program to spread the word about open positions, which are shared on the program’s Facebook page. In 
some cases, the program also helps connect employers with students for part-time job opportunities. For 
example, in 2021, the Delta Optimist was looking for a student to work for them over the summer when 
their regular reporters were on vacation. The program put the publication in touch with one of its 
strongest students, Dani Penaloza, who so impressed the paper that she continued to work for it through 
the Fall and following her graduation. 

On the alumni survey, only 63% of those surveyed agreed that they had sufficient opportunities in the 
program to reinforce their learning through practical application. In contrast, 88% of current students 
agreed they had such opportunities. This may be because the ARTS 4800 Practicum was only offered for 
the first time in 2020, which was after most of the alumni surveyed graduated from the program. The 

https://www.kpu.ca/arts/arts-courses/arts-practicum
https://www.facebook.com/KwantlenJournalism


Journalism Self-Study Report 44 

Journalism program also offered a Special Topics course in Fall 2022 that gave students an opportunity to 
contribute to the Climate Disaster Project, a journalism project involving journalism schools from across 
Canada. The department has discussed looking for other opportunities like this, where a course could 
partner with an outside organization for a semester, giving students an opportunity to have their work 
read by a wider audience. For example, JRNL 4270 Advanced Storytelling, a course where students work 
as a team on several stories about a single theme, could be adapted to produce a package of stories for a 
news organization. 

While current students are generally satisfied with their opportunities for experiential learning, of the 5 
students surveyed who participated in the Practicum, only 3 agreed that the Practicum contributed to 
their learning to a moderate or large extent. Two said it only contributed to their learning to a small extent. 
The program is constantly revising its list of Practicum hosts to ensure students have the best experience 
possible. This work will continue. 

Recommendation: 

• The department should investigate opportunities for more upper-level courses to partner with 
news organizations on reporting projects. 

Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the essential skills? 

Students and alumni generally agree that KPU’s Journalism program teaches them the seven essential 
skills. For most of the essential skills, 80%+ of both students and alumni agree that the program helped 
them to develop the skills in question and even on essential skills with lower scores, most are still 70%+. 
There is one notable exception however. Only 59% of current students agree that the program teaches 
them how to “Speak effectively”. However, 75% of alumni agreed the program taught them that skill 
sufficiently. It is possible this reflects that skill being taught more in upper-level courses which some of 
the current students surveyed have not taken yet. For example, JRNL 3270 Video Journalism and JRNL 
3370 Audio Documentary both involve developing oral delivery skills in order to narrate the journalistic 
work being produced. 

On all essential skills, 100% of faculty surveyed agreed KPU’s Journalism program helped to teach them. 

Does the program design ensure students are prepared for subsequent courses? 

On both the student and alumni surveys, 88% of those surveyed agreed that “the prerequisites offered 
prepare(d) me for more advanced courses”. Similarly, 88% of faculty surveyed agreed that “the 
prerequisites offered prepare students for more advanced courses”. This suggests that there is generally 
good laddering in the KPU Journalism program between lower-level and upper-level courses. 

Does instruction meet the needs of diverse learners? 

Fully 100% of students surveyed agreed that “my instructors accommodate my learning needs”. There 
was also high level of agreement that instructors presented the course materials effectively (94%), were 
up-to-date on current developments in the discipline/sector (88%) and created a learning environment 
that made students feel safe and included (100%). There was 100% agreement among faculty surveyed 
that multiple learning modalities are accommodated, the delivery of the curriculum is effective, course 
materials reflect current developments and instructors create a safe learning environment. 

https://climatedisasterproject.com/


Journalism Self-Study Report 45 

Overall, 83% of current students surveyed and 100% of alumni surveyed were satisfied with the 
instruction they received in KPU’s Journalism program. 

Do the assessment methods allow students to demonstrate to what extent they have achieved the 
learning outcomes? 
 
Among both current students and alumni surveyed, 80%+ agreed that they received clear information 
on how they would be evaluated, that the range of assessments let them demonstrate what they had 
learned and that instructors provided useful feedback. However, only 51% of alumni agreed that the 
assessment standards were consistent throughout the program. Interestingly, that rises to 76% of 
current students, suggesting that assessment standards in the program may have become more 
consistent over time. 
 
There is 100% agreement among faculty that assessments align with PLOs, let students demonstrate 
what they have learned, that students are provided clear information on how they will be evaluated and 
that assessment standards are consistent throughout the program. 
 

4.2. Student Success  

Are students performing satisfactorily in courses? 

According to administrative data (Appendix 1), 89% of students taking Journalism courses received a C 
and above, compared to 76% for the Faculty of Arts as a whole. Journalism courses have lower repeat 
rates than the Faculty as a whole (2% vs. 7%) and lower DFW rates (9% vs. 21%). These figures could 
suggest that instructors in Journalism are more lenient graders than those in other departments. 
However, it could also indicate that the students taking JRNL and COMM courses are stronger students 
and/or that the department’s instructors are doing a good job of structuring their courses and 
assignments in a way that encourages student success. 

The department has ongoing discussions about grade inflation and individual instructors have often 
adjusted grading rubrics to ensure assessments are fair and consistent. At this time, the department is 
comfortable with its grade distribution, DFW rates and repeat rates and sees no cause for concern. 

Are students making satisfactory progress in the program? 

One consistent concern raised in both the student and alumni surveys is the availability of courses in the 
Journalism program. Only 63% of alumni and 24% of current students agreed that “the range of courses 
offered each term is/was adequate”. As a small program, this is an ongoing challenge for KPU Journalism. 
In order to adequately fill classes, many upper-level JRNL courses can only be offered every other year. 
That said, the growth in the number of students pursuing a Minor in Journalism has helped boost 
enrollment in upper-level JRNL courses in recent years, providing the department with a bit more 
flexibility in scheduling. In direct response to student requests, the department offered an upper-level 
JRNL course in the Summer for the first time in Summer 2022 and again in Summer 2023. 

The department has also had some recent success filling upper-level Journalism courses that have few or 
no prerequisites and which appeal to non-journalism students as electives, specifically JRNL 3165 Data 
Visualization and JRNL 3260 Future of News. Finding more opportunities for such courses would provide 
Bachelor of Journalism students with more flexibility in pursuing their degree. 



Journalism Self-Study Report 46 

One other challenge, which was mentioned earlier in this report, concerns JRNL 4270 Advanced 
Storytelling. JRNL 4270 was originally conceived as a ‘capstone’ course that students would be required 
to take in the final semester of their studies. As such, it had fairly extensive prerequisites to ensure 
students didn’t take it earlier than they should. However, as a small program, the department found it 
was unable to offer the course every year and have it fill. To address this, JRNL 4270 started to be offered 
every other year, like most upper-level JRNL courses. The prerequisites were changed to make it possible 
for both third- and fourth-year students to take the course. But the logic of it being a required capstone 
course may no longer apply. Some students have also neglected to take JRNL 4270 when they should have, 
which has required course substitutions later to allow them to graduate. Only two specific upper-level 
courses are required for the Bachelor of Journalism: JRNL 3165 Data Visualization and JRNL 4270 
Advanced Storytelling. JRNL 3165 Data Visualization, because it is popular with non-journalism students, 
is offered at least once a year and often twice a year, so it is easy for students to take. Given JRNL 4270 
Advanced Storytelling is offered only every other year, and is no longer really a ‘capstone’ course, the 
department should consider removing it as a required course for the Bachelor of Journalism and offering 
it as an upper-level JRNL elective instead. 

Filling upper-level COMM courses is less of a challenge as they tend to have fewer prerequisites and have 
wider appeal among students as electives. That said, one notable gap in the program is the lack of a Special 
Topics course for Communication Studies as there is for Journalism. JRNL 4900 Special Topics has provided 
the department with the ability to experiment with new course subjects and offer students unique 
opportunities, like the Climate Disaster Project in Fall 2022. A Special Topics course for COMM would 
provide similar opportunities to try out ideas for new courses and to provide students with enriching one-
off opportunities. 

Recommendation: 

• Consider opportunities for developing another upper-level JRNL course that would have limited 
prerequisites and appeal to non-journalism students as an elective. 

• Consider removing JRNL 4270 Advanced Storytelling as a required course for the degree and 
making it an upper-level JRNL elective instead. 

• Consider developing a Special Topics course for COMM, as already exists for JRNL. 

Are graduates of the program successful? 

According to Student Outcomes Data, KPU Journalism graduates surveyed have an unemployment rate of 
5.9%, well below the rate for graduates of the Journalism programs at Langara (16%) and BCIT (25%). KPU 
Journalism grads are also much more likely to be in a job related to their studies than graduates of BCIT, 
though KPU’s figures are similar to those for Langara and TRU. KPU graduates are also much more likely 
to have pursued further studies than graduates of other journalism programs in B.C. 



Journalism Self-Study Report 47 

Exhibit 22: KPU Journalism Program Student Outcomes Data Compared with Ministry Targets 

Measures 

Average Student 
Outcome Data for 

KPU Journalism 
Program 
(2020-22) 

Average 
Student 

Outcome Data 
for Langara 
Journalism 

Program 
(2020-22) 

Average 
Student 

Outcome Data 
for BCIT 

Journalism 
Program 
(2020-22) 

Average 
Student 

Outcome Data 
for TRU 

Journalism 
Program 
(2020-22) 

Ministry 
Target 

Respondents 20 29 44 28  
Unemployment 

 
5.9% 16% 25% NA ≤18.9% 

 Currently 
 

84%      75%      71% 100%  
In a Related Job13 73%      76%      53% 79%  
Further Studies14 45%      21%      21% 18%  

The results of the alumni survey echo these findings. All of the alumni surveyed were employed, 86% in a 
full-time regular position and 14% in a contract position. And 88% of surveyed alumni said they were 
currently employed in a field related to what they studied. 

Despite that, only a bare majority (51%) of alumni surveyed said they agreed the program prepared them 
well for an entry-level job in the industry. Asked to identify the areas they felt were missing from the 
program, some of the responses included: 

“Covering breaking news and learning to go beyond news release handouts and think more 
critically about them.” 

“More work experience opportunities, like practicums, co-ops, internships.” 

“Mostly practical experience to put on a resume, and general networking/contact building skills.” 

“It would be nice to … have students build a road map towards whatever their goal is and outline 
the opportunities they need to pursue to achieve it, like volunteer roles, competitions, 
residencies, conferences, key publications they can submit to etc. in order to tailor their resume 
to be competitive for the job they want.” 

Some of these issues have been addressed in the years since many of the alumni surveyed graduated from 
the program. For example, a new course, JRNL 3175 News Reporting — focused specifically on covering 
breaking news — was offered for the first time in Summer 2022. Also, Journalism students began taking 
part in the ARTS 4800 Practicum course in Fall 2020. 

Given the small size of the Journalism program, the department could explore opportunities for more 
one-on-one mentorship to help guide students through the program. 

Recommendation: 

                                                            
11 Unemployment rate of KPU's graduates (of those in the labour market). 
12 Respondents who were working at a job or business at the time of the survey, as a percentage of all respondents, regardless 
of whether they were in the labour force (see above). 
13 Respondents who are currently employed in occupations that they describe as "very" or "somewhat" related to their studies, 
as a percentage of all employed respondents. 
14 Respondents who have taken further studies after taking the program, including those currently studying. 



Journalism Self-Study Report 48 

• Consider developing a program where new students in the Journalism program would meet one-
on-one with an instructor to discuss what they want to get out of the program and their long-
term career goals. 

 



Journalism Self-Study Report 49 

5. Resources, Services, and Facilities 

Does the program have the library and learning resources needed to deliver the curriculum? 

Given the practical, hands-on nature of most Journalism courses, the department makes only limited use 
of traditional library resources such as books and journal articles. This is reflected in the survey, with a 
large share of both students and faculty saying they haven’t used many of the library’s resources. For 
those resources students and faculty have used, satisfaction is quite high with only a small share of 
students and no faculty expressing dissatisfaction with library resources. 

Does the program have the specialized technology needed to deliver the curriculum? 

Students and faculty were asked about two types of specialized technology in the program: software (like 
Adobe Photoshop) and digital cameras. As with the library resources, some faculty and students have not 
used either of these technologies and among those who have, satisfaction is quite high. Very few students 
and no faculty were dissatisfied with the quality of either. 

That said, the department only has 8 digital cameras available for students to borrow, not nearly enough 
to make available to all students who take the JRNL 2360 Photojournalism or JRNL 3270 Video Journalism 
courses. As a result, students are expected to purchase their own cameras, which can cost upwards of 
$1,000. It would be worth investigating whether the department could make a capital investment to 
purchase enough cameras (35) and related equipment so that an entire class could use them in a semester 
without needing to purchase their own. 

Recommendation: 

• Investigate the feasibility of purchasing enough digital cameras, lenses, microphones and tripods 
so there would be 35 cameras on hand, enough for an entire Photojournalism or Video Journalism 
class to have one without needing to purchase their own. 

Does the program have the facilities needed to deliver the curriculum? 

Most Journalism courses at KPU are taught in the Cedar 1060 Mac lab, which was updated in 2023 with 
both new computers and office furniture. A total of 65% of students surveyed and 63% of faculty surveyed 
said they were happy with the Mac lab. There were no written comments from either students or faculty 
about the Mac lab so the cause of dissatisfaction here is unclear. 

Recommendation: 

• Discuss the Mac lab at an upcoming department meeting to canvas what, if any, concerns 
instructors have with the lab and how they could be addressed. 

Does the program have the other support services needed to deliver the curriculum? 
 
Many students surveyed have not made use of the support services at KPU such as Advising, Career and 
Accessibility Services. However, of those who have, most are satisfied with only a small number 
expressing dissatisfaction. Results are similar for faculty surveyed, with those who have used the 
services being satisfied with them. 
 



Journalism Self-Study Report 50 

Social media 

KPU’s Journalism program actively maintains social media accounts on Facebook, Twitter and Instagram. 
However, in the past Facebook has been the primary method through which the department 
communicated information about the program and posted links to ads for journalism jobs. Current 
students were surveyed on how often they engaged with the KPU Journalism Facebook page and their 
use of other social media platforms. 

 
33 - When was the last time you read a post on the KPU Journalism Facebook 
page? 

# When was the last time you read a post on the KPU Journalism Facebook page? Percentage 

1 This month 18% 

2 This year 6% 

3 More than a year ago 24% 

4 Never 53% 

 Total number of respondents 17 

34 - Which of the following social media platforms do you use on a regular 
basis? Please select all that apply. 

# Which of the following social media platforms do you use on a regular basis? 
Please select all that apply. - Selected Choice Percentage Count 

1 Facebook 38% 6 

2 Twitter 44% 7 

3 Instagram 69% 11 

4 Snapchat 13% 2 

5 TikTok 25% 4 

6 Other, please specify 25% 4 

  Total number of 
respondents 16 

Note: The last row presents the total number of respondents. The total number of responses for this question is greater than 
the number of respondents. Therefore, the percentage total exceeds 100%. 

The results suggest more than half (53%) of current students never interact with the department’s 
Facebook page and are more likely to use Instagram as their social media tool of choice. This suggests the 
department should perhaps emphasize Instagram more in its outreach efforts, however that poses some 
challenges as it is more difficult to share links on Instagram than on Facebook, making it a less-than-ideal 
platform for sharing job postings. 

Recommendation: 

• The department should discuss its social media strategy at an upcoming department meeting and 
develop a plan for how best to communicate news about the department and job postings to 
students and alumni. 

 

https://www.facebook.com/KwantlenJournalism
https://twitter.com/KPUJournalism
https://www.instagram.com/kpu_journalism/


Journalism Self-Study Report 51 

6. Conclusions and Recommendations 

6.1. Summary of Program’s strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and challenges 

Strengths 

Surveys of both current students and alumni suggest broad satisfaction with KPU’s Journalism program.  
Here is a sample of some of the written comments from both surveys: 

“I think this program has fantastic instructors. There are also lots of cool journalism courses to 
take. Overall I feel very well-rounded in journalism from the classes I’ve taken so far.” 

“The teachers have real world practical experience and are extremely knowledgeable and helpful. 
They are easily the highlight of the program.” 

“Great instructors. Small class sizes. Hands-on learning and tons of access to resources.” 

“Instructors and department staff were very helpful in making sure they were easily accessible for 
help when it came to course material or even career directions.” 

“Very communicative, experienced and supportive instructors, a good variety of relevant topics 
and skills taught, flexible smaller classes, courses change a lot and evolve over time to fit ongoing 
issues and needs in the profession.” 

“The individual professors were very good and cared a lot about what they were doing.” 

While Program Review provides a key opportunity to reflect on the program and how it can be improved, 
one of the key strengths of KPU’s Journalism program is a commitment to ongoing improvement outside 
of the Program Review process. Since the last Program Review in 2016, the department has made a 
number of key improvements to the program including: 

• Simplifying prerequisites to make it easier for non-journalism students to take upper-level courses 
as electives and for Bachelor of Journalism students to take the courses they need when they are 
available. 

• Joining KPU’s ARTS 4800 Practicum course to give journalism students real-world experience in 
newsrooms across the region. 

• Developing a new course, JRNL 3175 News Reporting, as a direct response to advice from the 
Program Advisory Committee. 

• Offering an upper-level JRNL course in Summer for the first time in Summer 2022 and again in 
Summer 2023, satisfying a common request from students. 

• Adopting a statement on Diversity, Equity, Inclusion and Decolonization and beginning work on 
an action plan to help reach that statement’s goals. 

This commitment to ongoing improvement ensures that problems in the program are addressed as quickly 
as possible. This is also reflected in the general satisfaction with the program seen in the surveys 
conducted as part of this Program Review process.  



Journalism Self-Study Report 52 

Weaknesses 

By far the most consistent criticism from students and alumni in the surveys is the range of courses 
available to take, which at times can make it difficult for students to satisfy degree requirements or get 
prerequisites in a timely way. As noted in the comments: 

“I know it's difficult but more class availability, especially at higher levels. Having to wait for a 
specific course to come around is really difficult.” 

“Classes should be offered more often, having to wait another year to take something is really 
hard to finish a degree in just four years.” 

The program has tried to address this through adding upper-level JRNL courses in the Summer and offering 
some upper-level JRNL courses with few prerequisites and wider appeal among non-journalism students 
(such as JRNL 3260 Future of News). But, as a small program, offering a wider range of courses is an 
ongoing challenge. 

Challenges and Opportunities 

The central challenge facing the program is that while demand for lower-level JRNL and COMM courses 
has risen sharply due to the growth in international students, demand for upper-level JRNL and COMM 
courses has stayed relatively flat. This is because the number of students pursuing a Bachelor of 
Journalism is small and flat or declining slightly. The growth in students pursuing a Minor in Journalism 
has offset this somewhat. But the program needs to look for other opportunities to grow its upper-level 
enrolment. 

The program has already set up articulation agreements with Langara so that a student graduating from 
Langara’s two-year Journalism diploma program could continue their studies at KPU and, with another 
two years of study, earn a Bachelor of Journalism degree. While no Langara graduates have yet taken 
advantage of that opportunity, it may still be worth investigating whether a similar agreement could be 
established with BCIT’s two-year Journalism diploma. 

A Certificate program could also help boost enrolment in upper-level JRNL courses while making the 
program’s courses available to a broader range of students.  

 

6.2. Recommendations 

Curriculum Review 
 

1. While the Curriculum Map suggests there is generally good laddering from lower-level to upper-
level courses, the department should discuss any gaps they’ve identified in student 
preparedness and consider what changes to course prerequisites and program structure should 
be made. 
 

2. The department should review all required first- and second-year courses to determine if they 
are necessary to prepare students for upper-level courses and to achieve the Program Learning 
Outcomes. Consideration should be given to whether some second-year courses may work 
better as upper-level electives. This may provide opportunities to reduce the number of 



Journalism Self-Study Report 53 

discipline-specific lower-level courses Bachelor of Journalism students are required to take, 
putting the program’s requirements more in line with others in the Faculty of Arts. 
 

3. The department should consider introducing peer feedback — both giving it and receiving it —in 
first-year courses to better prepare students for peer editing each other’s work in later JRNL 
courses. This will ensure better scaffolding for PLO #2 (“2. Edit works of journalism produced by 
others, providing helpful and constructive feedback, and incorporate feedback from others.”) 
 

4. The department should consider doing more to address the concepts of what makes a story 
newsworthy and how news judgment is applied by news organizations into first-year courses to 
provide better scaffolding for both PLO #4 (“Practice the principles of sound news judgment in 
developing story ideas, deciding what stories to cover and how to structure information within a 
story.”) and PLO #6 (“Cover newsworthy events and produce stories on deadline.”) 
 

5. Course outlines should be updated to ensure they reflect any new material that has been added 
to courses in recent years. In particular, new material involving peer feedback and peer editing 
that has been added to JRNL 1160 Introduction to Journalism and JRNL 2120 Writing for 
Journalism should be reflected in those courses’ updated CLOs. 
 

6. As course outlines come up for review and revision, they should be revised to ensure more 
consistency across courses, both in the number of CLOs per course and in how those CLOs are 
worded. 
 

7. The department should consider making COMM 2100 Media Ethics and Law a required course 
for the Bachelor of Journalism degree. 
 

8. Courses that are no longer offered by the program, such as JRNL 4260 Computer Coding for 
Journalists, should be removed from the course calendar. 
 

Program Relevance and Student Demand 

1. As a department, work on additional initiatives to promote the Journalism program, both among 
current KPU students and others. 

2. As a department, discuss initiatives to keep KPU Journalism alumni better connected with the 
program and current students. 

3. Investigate the possibility of offering a Certificate, perhaps in Multimedia Storytelling, which 
might attract mature learners to the program. 

4. Investigate the possibility of setting up articulation agreements with BCIT’s Journalism program 
similar to those that already exist with Langara, so graduates of its certificate and diploma 
programs could continue their studies and receive a Bachelor of Journalism at KPU. 

Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery 

1. The department should investigate opportunities for more upper-level courses to partner with 
news organizations on reporting projects. 



Journalism Self-Study Report 54 

2. Consider opportunities for developing another upper-level JRNL course that would have limited 
prerequisites and appeal to non-journalism students as an elective. 

3. Consider removing JRNL 4270 Advanced Storytelling as a required course for the degree and 
making it an upper-level JRNL elective instead. 

4. Consider developing a Special Topics course for COMM, as already exists for JRNL. 

5. Consider developing a program where new students in the Journalism program would meet one-
on-one with an instructor to discuss what they want to get out of the program and their long-
term career goals. 

Resources, Services and Facilities 

1. Investigate the feasibility of purchasing enough digital cameras, lenses, microphones and tripods 
so there would be 35 cameras on hand, enough for an entire Photojournalism or Video Journalism 
class to have one without needing to purchase their own. 

2. Discuss the Mac lab at an upcoming department meeting to canvas what, if any, concerns 
instructors have with the lab and how they could be addressed. 

3. The department should discuss its social media strategy at an upcoming department meeting and 
develop a plan for how best to communicate news about the department and job postings to 
students and alumni. 

 



Journalism Self-Study Report 55 

7. Appendices  

Appendices are provided in separate document. 
  

 



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Journalism Program Review 
Self-Study Report Appendices 

August 2023 
 
 
 
 
 
  



2 
 

Table of contents 
 
Appendix 1: Administra�ve Data .................................................................................................... 3 

Appendix 2: KPU Journalism Statement on Equity, Diversity, Inclusion and Decoloniza�on ....... 15 

Appendix 3: Career Pathways Map ............................................................................................... 16 

Appendix 4: Curriculum Map ........................................................................................................ 16 

Appendix 5: Faculty Survey Results .............................................................................................. 34 

Appendix 6: Discipline/Sector Survey Results............................................................................... 50 

Appendix 7: Alumni Survey Results .............................................................................................. 58 

Appendix 8: Faculty Qualifica�ons and Currency Profile .............................................................. 73 

Appendix 9: Student Survey Results ............................................................................................. 74 

 
  



3 
 

Appendix 1: Administra�ve Data 
 
Administra�ve Data Report for Journalism Programs  
 
The chapter headings refer to the chapters in the Self-Study to which the data pertain. 

Table of CONTENTs 
 

Glossary ........................................................................................................................................... 4 

Chapter 3. Program Relevance and Demand ................................................................................... 5 
3.1 Relevance ............................................................................................................................................ 5 

Are the program learning outcomes relevant to the current needs of the discipline/sector? ................ 5 

3.3 Student Demand ................................................................................................................................. 5 

Who takes the program? ....................................................................................................................... 5 

Is demand for the program sustainable? ............................................................................................... 6 

Does the program have the capacity to meet demand? ........................................................................ 8 

Chapter 4. Effec�veness of Instruc�onal Delivery ........................................................................... 9 
4.1 Instructional Design and Delivery of Curriculum .............................................................................. 10 

Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the essential skills? ........................ 10 

4.2 Student Success ................................................................................................................................ 11 

Are students performing satisfactorily in courses? .............................................................................. 11 

Are students making satisfactory progress in the program? ................................................................ 14 

Are graduates of the program successful? ........................................................................................... 14 

 
 

 

 

  



4 
 

Glossary 

Average Seats Offered: Maximum number of seats available in a department/Faculty divided by the count of classes 
offered by the department/Faculty.  

Average Seats Filled: Number of seats taken in a department/Faculty divided by the count of classes offered by the 
department/Faculty.  

BC Student Outcomes: Results of the three annual surveys of former post-secondary students in BC, one to two 
years after graduation, as a supplemental tool for assessing programs offered by KPU and comparing them to similar 
programs at other institutions. The three BC Student Outcomes surveys include the Diploma, Associate Degree, and 
Certificate Student Outcomes Survey (DAC), the Baccalaureate Graduates Survey (BGS), and the Trades Student 
Outcomes Survey (Trades). Note that while DAC covers all BC public post-secondary institutions, BGS does not report 
data from programs at research-intensive universities such as UBC and SFU.  

Cumulative Grade Distribution: The number of students who receive a particular letter grade (A+ through F) plus 
those who receive a higher grade, as a percentage of the total number of students with a grade or a W/WE or DEF 
(Deferred). Useful for estimating the proportion of passing students based on any specific grade requirement. 

DFW Rate: % of students who received a grade of D or F or withdrew from the course. Percentage is calculated 
based on number of students with a grade or a W/WE or DEF (Deferred). 

Faculty Student Headcount: Count of all students enrolled in a Faculty, including undeclared students.  

Fill Rate: Number of seats filled divided by the number of seats offered.   

Grade Point Equivalent Mean: The average grade of students in the selected courses, based solely on the numerical 
grade point equivalent of a letter grade. A weighted average is used, such that larger classes have a larger influence 
on the computed mean. It is not an average of course-level grades weighted by course credits. 

Intended of Undeclared: Students who identified the program under review as their intended major on their 
application. Note that not all of these students declare a major in the program under review.   

Program Student Headcount: Count of declared and intended of undeclared students. Withdrawals are included. 
To avoid double counting students, the student headcount is a unique headcount for the year, not the sum of 
intended of undeclared and declared counts. 

Repeat Rate: Students who repeat a course, that is, have taken the course previously. Percentage is calculated based 
on number of students with a grade or a W/WE or DEF. 

Unmet Demand: Number of waitlist seats held by students unable to enroll in the same course, and have not 
dropped that course, within the same term. A student waitlisted in multiple sections of the same course in the same 
term is counted as one waitlist seat. 

Seats Offered: Maximum number of seats available in a unit (section, course, department, faculty).  

Seats Filled: Number of seats taken in the unit (section, course, department, faculty) 



5 
 

Chapter 3. Program Relevance and Demand 

3.1 Relevance 

Are the program learning outcomes relevant to the current needs of the discipline/sector?1  

What percentage of the program graduates are satisfied with the education they received? What percentage of 
the graduates rate the quality of instruction they received as “very good”, “good”, or “adequate”?  Do they find 
their program of study useful in their current position? 
Exhibit 1: KPU Journalism Program Student Outcomes Data Compared with Ministry Targets 

Measures 

Student 
Outcome Data 

for KPU 
Journalism 

Program 
(2020-22) 

Student Outcome 
Data for Langara 

Journalism Program 
(Diploma & Post-

Degree Cer�ficate) 
(2020-22) 

Student Outcome 
Data for BCIT 

Journalism 
Program 

(Cer�ficate) 
(2020-22) 

Student Outcome 
Data for TRU 

Journalism Program 
(Bachelor Degree) 

(2020-22) 

Ministry 
Target 

Respondents 20 29 44 28 - 
Satisfaction 2 90% 100% 93% 96% ≥ 90% 

 Quality 3 90% 100% 98% 93% ≥ 90% 
 Usefulness 4 87% 75% 65% 93% ≥ 90% 
 

3.3 Student Demand 

Who takes the program?5 

Has the demographic profile of Journalism Program declared and intended students changed over the last five 
years?  
Exhibit 2: Demographic Profile of Journalism Program Students by Academic Year 

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 
Student Headcount 108 115 119 106 93 
% Women 65% 57% 61% 62% 56% 
% 22 years or younger 73% 76% 64% 65% 60% 
% Interna�onal 11% 18% 19% 12% 12% 

How does the demographic profile of Journalism Program students compare with that of students at the same 
level for the Faculty of Arts as a whole over the same period? 
Exhibit 3: Demographic Profile of Faculty of Arts Students by Academic Year 

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 
Student Headcount 5,805 5,887 5,755 6,146 6,126 
% Women 62% 62% 63% 62% 61% 
% 22 years or younger 68% 68% 68% 68% 69% 
% Interna�onal 14% 17% 18% 26% 30% 

                                                       
1 Data reported in this section was obtained from a dashboard that is under development. 
2 Respondents who are "very satisfied" or "satisfied" with the education or training they received in their program of study. 
3 Respondents who rate the quality of instruction received from their program of study as "very good", "good" or "adequate". 
4 Respondents who describe their program of study as "very" or "somewhat" useful in their current occupation. 
5 Data reported in this section was obtained from a dashboard that is under development. 



6 
 

Is demand for the program sustainable? 

Has demand for Journalism courses been changing over the last five years? Is the overall class size, in terms of 
filled seats, sustainable? How does demand for Journalism courses compare with demand for Faculty of Arts 
courses at the same level over the same period?  
Exhibit 4: Student Headcount in Journalism Courses by Academic Year Compared with Faculty of Arts Courses 

 2018/1
9 

2019/2
0 

2020/2
1 

2021/2
2 

2022/2
3 

%Change
6 

Journalism 706 759 848 985 1,301 84% 
Faculty of Arts 12,122 11,574 11,167 12,306 12,580 4% 

Has demand for the Journalism Program changed over the last five years? How does it compare with demand for 
Faculty of Arts programs at the same level over the same period? 
Exhibit 5: Student Headcount in Journalism Program by Academic Year Compared with Faculty of Arts Programs 

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 %Change 
Bachelor of Arts (Honours) in 
Journalism 2 1 1 4 1 -50% 

Bachelor of Arts (Major) in 
Journalism 45 34 48 40 38 -16% 

Bachelor of Arts (Minor) in 
Journalism 5 6 6 8 7 40% 

Intended of Undeclared 63 74 72 59 51 -19% 
Journalism Total Headcount 108 115 119 106 93 -14% 
Faculty of Arts Total Headcount 5,805 5,887 5,755 6,146 6,126 6% 

  

                                                       
6 % Change refers to change between 2018/19 to 2022/23. 



7 
 

How do KPU Journalism Program enrolment trends compare with overall enrolment trends in similar programs in 
BC?  

Exhibit 6: Number of Students Enrolled in Journalism Programs at BC Public Post-Secondary Ins�tu�ons (excluding KPU 
students) 7 

 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 
Total (excluding KPU)  377 414 463 459 
UBC (V) 70 74 67 70 
    Master’s Degree  70 74 67 70 
TRU 114 125 150 142 
    Bachelor’s Degree 114 125 150 141 
    Post-Degree Diploma - - - 1 
Langara 49 39 42 47 
    Diploma 33 24 30 30 
    Post-Degree Cer�ficate 16 15 12 17 
BCIT 142 173 204 200 
    Diploma 87 79 82 88 
    Cer�ficate 55 95 122 112 
Okanagan 2 3 - - 
Diploma 2 3 - - 
KPU (Bachelor Degree Only) 49 47 36 49 

 
  

                                                       
7 Data reported in this section was obtained from a dashboard that is under development. Data are coded by Classification of Instructional 
Program (CIP). To identify Journalism programs, CIP codes 9.0400, 9.0401, 9.0402 were used.  



8 
 

Has there been a change in average filled seats per class in Journalism courses? How do they compare with Faculty 
of Arts courses at the same level? Is demand steady, declining, or increasing?  
Exhibit 7: Average Filled Seats per Class by Academic Year from AY 2018/19 to 2021/228 

Journalism:  Faculty of Arts: 

 

 

 
 

How does demand for upper level courses (3rd and 4th year) compare with demand for lower level 
courses, where applicable? How does demand for upper level versus lower level courses compare with 
demand for Faculty of Arts upper level and lower level courses?  
Exhibit 8: Number of Course Enrolments by Level for AY 2021/229 

Journalism: Faculty of Arts: 

 
 

How does tuition compare with instructional costs for the average class in your program?  

A program’s importance isn’t gaged by the tui�on revenue it brings in, as some programs will not be able 
to cover their costs, but all programs should be delivered efficiently. Part of assessing a program’s 
sustainability is considering if it can be made more efficient without compromising student safety or 
success. The biggest driver of efficiency is class size in terms of filled seats. Interna�onal enrolments, 
where relevant, can improve a program’s sustainability.  

                                                       
8 Data reported in this section was obtained from a dashboard that is under development.  
9 Data reported in this section was obtained from a dashboard that is under development.  



9 
 

Exhibit 9: Cost Structure of Average Class for Journalism, Faculty of Arts UG, and All KPU UG Courses for Academic Year 
2021/2210 

 Journalism Arts UG All KPU UG 
Courses 

Cost of Instruc�on $15,712.75 $15,712.75 $15,712.75  
Average # of Seats Filled 20.7 25.5 24.8 
Overall % filled by Interna�onal 38% 37% 43% 
Tui�on Revenue  $21,881.83 $26,688.97 $28,253.34  
Average Net Revenue $6,169.08 $10,976.22 $12,540.59  
Total # of Classes 29 1,850 4,602  
Total Net Revenue $178,903.21 $20,306,002.41 $57,711,794.08 

*Average Net Revenue = Cost of instruc�on - tui�on revenue 

Does the program have the capacity to meet demand? 

Are there waitlists that limit students’ ability to progress through the program in a timely manner? Are the 
waitlists for courses delivered by the program, or delivered by other departments? 

Exhibit 10: Unmet Demand at the Stable Enrolment Date  
 Unmet Demand Fill Rate 
Spring 2023 222 97% 
Fall 2022 136 93% 
Summer 2022 134 95% 
Spring 2022 62 89% 
Fall 2021 65 88% 
Summer 2021 91 99% 
Spring 2021 21 89% 
Fall 2020 29 99% 

  
 Course Unmet Demand 
 

Spring 2023 
COMM 1100 76 
COMM 1110 54 
JRNL 1160 58 

 Course Unmet Demand 
 

Fall 2022 
COMM 1100 52 
COMM 1110 55 
JRNL 1160 25 

 Course Unmet Demand 
 

Summer 2022 
 

COMM 1100 51 
COMM 1110 37 
JRNL 1160 46 

Unmet demand by course is available in the Enrolment Tracking Report dashboard for each term.  

  

                                                       
10 Data reported in this section was obtained from a dashboard that is under development. 

https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/apps/851e6c7f-4896-4f3a-8a34-49c7c5c8dcd9/reports/fd0dcdd3-04bc-4549-8b7c-fe3ed5322fd7/ReportSection40e9da610aab37cd78d0?ctid=66b9f62d-3042-495e-aab6-db86f21500c0


10 
 

Chapter 4. Effec�veness of Instruc�onal Delivery 

4.1 Instruc�onal Design and Delivery of Curriculum 

Are appropriate opportuni�es provided to help students acquire the essen�al skills? 11 

Graduates are asked to indicate the extent to which the program helps them achieve the Ministry identified 
essential skills. Is the program achieving the Ministry’s targets in skills development?  
Exhibit 11: KPU Journalism Program Student Outcomes Essen�al Skills Data Compared with Ministry Targets 

Measures 

Student Outcome 
Data for KPU 
Journalism 

Program 
(2020-22) 

Student 
Outcome 
Data for 
Langara 

Journalism 
Program 

(Diploma & 
Post-Degree 
Cer�ficate) 
(2020 22) 

Student 
Outcome 

Data for BCIT 
Journalism 

Program 
(Cer�ficate) 

(2020-22) 

Student 
Outcome 

Data for TRU 
Journalism 

Program 
(Bachelor 
Degree) 

(2020-22) 

Ministry 
Target 

Respondents 20 29 44 28  
Skill Development12 90% 89% 88% 96% ≥ 85% 
Write Clearly and Concisely 95% 96% 74% 100% ≥ 85% 
Speak Effectively 90% 75% 88% 100% ≥ 85% 
Read and Comprehend Materials 95% 96% 90% 100% ≥ 85% 
Work Effectively with Others 100% 90% 91% 93% ≥ 85% 
Analyze and Think Critically 80% 90% 84% 96% ≥ 85% 
Resolve Issues or Problems 75% 85% 93% 81% ≥ 85% 
Learn on your Own 95% 88% 93% 100% ≥ 85% 

 
  

                                                       
11 Data reported in this section was obtained from a dashboard that is under development. 
12 Program graduates’ assessment of their skill development at KPU. An overall average for all skills is provided, plus the results for each 
skill. 



11 
 

4.2 Student Success 

Are students performing sa�sfactorily in courses? 13 

Are an adequate number of students in Journalism courses receiving a grade of C and above? How do 
they compare with the students in Faculty of Arts courses at the same level? 

Exhibit 12: Cumula�ve Grade Distribu�on for Journalism Courses from AY 2017/18 to AY 2021/22 

 
Exhibit 13: Cumula�ve Grade Distribu�on for Faculty of Arts Undergraduate Courses from AY 2017/18 to AY 2021/22 

 
  

                                                       
13 Data reported in this section was obtained from the Grade Distribution Report, which is available at DATA - Home (sharepoint.com) 

https://kpuemp.sharepoint.com/sites/sem/data/SitePages/Home.aspx


12 
 

Do the overall grade trends for the Journalism courses indicate an issue? How do they compare with the 
overall grades for Faculty of Arts courses? 

Exhibit 14: Grade Data for Journalism Undergraduate Level Courses by Academic Year compared with Faculty of Arts 
Journalism: Faculty of Arts: 

  
Do the repeat rate trends in Journalism courses indicate an issue? How does it compare with the repeat 
rate trends of Faculty of Arts undergraduate courses?  

Exhibit 15: Repeat Rates in Journalism Undergraduate Level Courses by Academic Year Compared with Faculty of Arts 
Journalism: Faculty of Arts: 

  
Does the DFW rate trends in Journalism courses indicate an issue? How does it compare with the DFW 
rate trends in Faculty of Arts undergraduate courses? 

Exhibit 16: DFW Rates in Journalism Undergraduate Level Courses by Academic Year Compared with Faculty of Arts 
Journalism: Faculty of Arts: 

  

 

  



13 
 

Are there any issues with Journalism students’ performance at each level? How do they compare with 
Faculty of Arts undergraduate courses?   

Exhibit 17: Student Performance Data for Journalism Courses for AY 2021/22 by Undergraduate Levels Compared with 
Faculty of Arts  

Journalism:14 Faculty of Arts: 

  
Journalism: Faculty of Arts: 

  
 

Journalism: Faculty of Arts: 

  

                                                       
14 Note that variations in sample size can affect the Grade Point Equivalent Mean data. 



14 
 

Are students making sa�sfactory progress in the program? 15 

Has there been a change in the number of Journalism Program graduates over �me? How does it 
compare with Faculty of Arts in general? 

Exhibit 18: Journalism Program Graduate Headcount16 by Creden�al and Academic Year  
2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

Total17  19 12 8 14 14 
Bachelor’s Degree 19 12 8 14 14 

Exhibit 19: Faculty of Arts Graduate Headcount by Creden�al and Academic Year  
2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

Total  804 893 1,565 1,341 1,327 
Associate Degree 74 52 66 55 66 
Bachelor’s Degree 389 358 440 449 441 
Cer�ficate 102 72 203 108 146 
Diploma 245 421 862 738 689 

Are Journalism students comple�ng the program within a reasonable �me? How does it compare with 
Faculty of Arts in general? 

Are graduates of the program successful? 

Are the graduates getting jobs in a related field? Are the graduates pursuing further education?  
Exhibit 22: KPU Journalism Program Student Outcomes Data Compared with Ministry Targets 

Measures 

Average Student 
Outcome Data for 

KPU Journalism 
Program 
(2020-22) 

Average 
Student 

Outcome Data 
for Langara 
Journalism 

Program 
(Diploma and 
Post-Degree 
Cer�ficate) 
(2020-22) 

Average 
Student 

Outcome Data 
for BCIT 

Journalism 
Program 

(Cer�ficate) 
(2020-22) 

Average 
Student 

Outcome Data 
for TRU 

Journalism 
Program 
(Bachelor 
Degree) 

(2020-22) 

Ministry 
Target 

Respondents 20 29 44 28  
Unemployment Rate18 5.9% 16% 25% NA ≤18.9% 

 Currently Employed 19 84%      75%      71% 100%  
In a Related Job20 73%      76%      53% 79%  
Further Studies21 45%      21%      21% 18%  

                                                       
15 Data reported in this section was obtained from the Credentials Report, which is available at DATA - Home (sharepoint.com) 
16 Count of unique students who have earned a KPU credential. Breakdown values may not add up to total or 100% because a student can 
earn multiple credentials in different categories within the same academic year. 
17 To avoid double counting students, total graduate headcounts presented in Exhibits 18 and 19 are unique headcounts of students for the 
year, not the sum of the credential counts. 
18 Unemployment rate of KPU's graduates (of those in the labour market). 
19 Respondents who were working at a job or business at the time of the survey, as a percentage of all respondents, regardless of whether 
they were in the labour force (see above). 
20 Respondents who are currently employed in occupations that they describe as "very" or "somewhat" related to their studies, as a 
percentage of all employed respondents. 
21 Respondents who have taken further studies after taking the program, including those currently studying. 

https://kpuemp.sharepoint.com/sites/sem/data/SitePages/Home.aspx


15 
 

Appendix 2: KPU Journalism Statement on Equity, Diversity, Inclusion and 
Decoloniza�on 
 
KPU’s Journalism program is commited to suppor�ng Equity, Diversity, Inclusion and Decoloniza�on in 
our program and the journalism industry as a whole. We believe journalism is stronger when it is 
produced by and includes the voices of people from a variety of different backgrounds and perspec�ves. 
 
We recognize the harms done to minority communi�es by journalists in the past, including perpetua�ng 
nega�ve stereotypes and inci�ng fear of those who are different. 
 
We acknowledge the harms done to Indigenous people by journalists in the past. By seeking out and 
including Indigenous voices, considering colonialism in our repor�ng and repor�ng on news important to 
Indigenous communi�es, we believe journalists can play an important role in reconcilia�on moving 
forward. 
 
We want all students to feel welcome in our program, including those who are Black, Indigenous, people 
of colour, 2SLBGTQ+ and/or living with a disability. 
 
To that end: 
 

• We will encourage and support students from under-represented groups to pursue a Bachelor of 
Journalism degree. 

• We will work to ensure guest speakers in our classroom come from diverse backgrounds. 
• When featuring graduates of our program on our website and in promo�onal materials, we will 

work to make sure they reflect the diversity of the students in our program. 
• We have made INDG 1100 Introduc�on to Indigenous Studies a required course for the Bachelor 

of Journalism degree, in support of the Truth and Reconcilia�on Commission Call to Ac�on 86. 
• We will integrate readings, assignments and examples in our classroom that encourage students 

to reflect on issues of Equity, Diversity, Inclusion and Decoloniza�on. 
• We will encourage candidates from under-represented groups to apply for faculty posi�ons with 

our department. 
• We will encourage students to seek out and include Indigenous voices in their repor�ng, including 

the wisdom of Elders and other Indigenous ways of knowing. 
• We will encourage journalism students to interview sources that reflect the diversity of the 

community they’re repor�ng on. 
 
KPU's Journalism program commits to developing an ac�on plan to implement the goals in this statement 
and to review progress towards those goals on an annual basis. 
 
  



16 
 

Appendix 3: Career Pathways Map 
 
CAREER PATHWAYS FOR BACHELOR OF JOURNALISM AND MINOR IN JOURNALISM: 
 

 Journalism – Print and 
Online 

Journalism - 
Broadcast 

Communica�ons 

Entry Level • Mul�media 
Journalist 

• Data Journalist 
• Sports 

Reporter 
• Photojournalist 
• Videographer 
• Web editor 
• Copy editor 

• TV Reporter 
• Radio 

Reporter 
• Segment 

Producer 

• Communica�ons 
Officer 

• Media rela�ons 
specialist 

• Public 
Informa�on 
Officer 

• Social media 
specialist 

• Event Planner 
Midcareer • Columnist 

• Assignment 
Editor 

• City Editor 

• Podcast host 
• Managing 

editor 

• Senior 
Communica�ons 
Manager 

• Public Affairs 
Manager 

Senior Leadership • Editor in Chief 
• Execu�ve 

Editor 

• News Director • Corporate 
Communica�ons 
Director 

 
 
OTHER POSSIBLE CAREER PATHWAYS WITH FURTHER STUDY: 
 

Addi�onal Educa�on Possible Career Opportuni�es 
Law School Lawyer 
Teacher Educa�on Teacher 
MLIS in Library Sciences Librarian, archivist, researcher 
MA in Psychology Counsellor 
MA and PhD in Communica�on Studies Professor or Instructor 

 
 



17 
 

Appendix 4: Curriculum Map 

PROGRAM CURRICULUM MAP: Bachelor of Journalism 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 
 
 
 

1. Create written and 
multimedia works of 

journalism using current 
industry standards and 

tools. 

 

2. Edit works of 
journalism produced by 

others, providing 
helpful and constructive 

feedback, and 
incorporate feedback 

from others. 

 
3. Produce works of 

journalism that 
incorporate an 

understanding of the 
importance of diversity, 
inclusion, reconciliation, 
empathy, curiosity and 

persistence. 

 
4. Practice the 

principles of sound 
news judgment in 

developing story ideas, 
deciding what stories to 

cover and how to 
structure information 

within a story. 

 
5. Conduct original 

research and reporting 
using a variety of 

different methods and 
resources and assess 

the reliability of 
different sources of 

information. 

 
 
 
 

6. Cover newsworthy 
events and produce 
stories on deadline. 

 
7. Critique works of 

journalism, 
demonstrating media 

literacy, critical thinking 
and an awareness of 
newsworthiness and 

the importance of 
diversity. 

 
 
 
8. Explain and apply the 

key concepts of 
journalism ethics and 

media law. 

 

9. Evaluate the role of 
journalism in a 

democratic society, 
including an 

understanding of the 
history of the industry 

and its business models. 

 

10. Evaluate the impact 
of media and 
communication 

technology on society, 
applying theories of 

mass communication 
and media studies. 

Calendar link for Bachelor of Journalism 
Calendar link for Bachelor of Journalism (Honors) 
For each CLO, the PLO(s) it satisfies are indicated, and at which level. The three levels are: 
Introduced [I]: Course learning outcomes that concentrate on knowledge or skills related to the program outcomes at a basic level or skills at an entry‐level of complexity. 
Developing [D]: Course level outcomes that demonstrate learning at an increasing level of proficiency of the program level outcome as well expanding complexity. 
Advanced [A]: Course level outcomes that demonstrate learning related to the program level outcome with an increasing level of independence, expertise and sophistication or integrate the use of content or skills in multiple levels of complexity. 
1000 and 2000 Level           

INDG 1100: Introduction to Indigenous Studies           

Recognize the diversity of Indigenous people’s histories, cultures, and traditions in North 
America 

  
I 

       

Describe traditional cultures of various Indigenous peoples in Canada   I        

Identify the impact of past, current, and ongoing colonialism on Indigenous peoples   I    I    

Explain the legacy of colonial oppression in Canada   I        

Describe and critically assess colonial assumptions   I    I    

Recognize Eurocentric and colonial bias   I    I    

Critique political, social, and economic motives behind the creation of cultural stereotypes   
I 

   
I 

   

Identify key Indigenous events in histories   I        

Explain the significance of Indigenous languages, cultures, worldviews and their impact on 
humanity 

  
I 

       

Write meaningful responses to questions about Indigenous histories and cultures   I        

Research and apply Indigenous traditional knowledge and scholarship   I        

JRNL 1160: Introduction to Journalism           

Identify the differences between journalism and advertising, public relations and advocacy       
I 

 
I 

 

Describe how recent economic and technological changes have impacted journalism, both 
professional journalism and citizen journalism 

        
I 

 

Identify the differences between mainstream journalism platforms and alternative/new 
media journalism platforms 

      
I 

 
I 

 

Analyze the impacts of social media on the practice of journalism         I  

Discuss news-story    I   I    

Identify the various media platforms: print, broadcast, internet, social networking media       I  I  

Describe journalism guidelines and ethics        I   

Understand the role and duties of a reporter         I  

Analyze the role of journalism in society, in governance and in democracy         I  

Identify the variety and diversity of current events and issues covered by various journalism 
media 

      
I 

   

Identify what makes an event newsworthy    I   I    

Identify the differences between editorials, blogs, opinion pieces, news stories, feature 
stories 

      
I 

   

Write and research on issues of current concern for journalists and journalism I    I      

JRNL 1220: Citizen Journalism           

Write Freedom of Information requests     I      

Perform property record searches     I      

Search corporate records     I      

Find court documents     I      

Navigate the Statistics Canada website for specific information     I      

Interpret Statistics Canada information     I      

Perform searches including but not limited to: political campaign contributions, public-sector 
salaries 

    
I 

     

Write concise, clear, readable blog posts I          

Conduct journalistic interviews     I      



18 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 
 
 
 

1. Create written and 
multimedia works of 

journalism using current 
industry standards and 

tools. 

 

2. Edit works of 
journalism produced by 

others, providing 
helpful and constructive 

feedback, and 
incorporate feedback 

from others. 

 
3. Produce works of 

journalism that 
incorporate an 

understanding of the 
importance of diversity, 
inclusion, reconciliation, 
empathy, curiosity and 

persistence. 

 
4. Practice the 

principles of sound 
news judgment in 

developing story ideas, 
deciding what stories to 

cover and how to 
structure information 

within a story. 

 
5. Conduct original 

research and reporting 
using a variety of 

different methods and 
resources and assess 

the reliability of 
different sources of 

information. 

 
 
 
 

6. Cover newsworthy 
events and produce 
stories on deadline. 

 
7. Critique works of 

journalism, 
demonstrating media 

literacy, critical thinking 
and an awareness of 
newsworthiness and 

the importance of 
diversity. 

 
 
 
8. Explain and apply the 

key concepts of 
journalism ethics and 

media law. 

 

9. Evaluate the role of 
journalism in a 

democratic society, 
including an 

understanding of the 
history of the industry 

and its business models. 

 

10. Evaluate the impact 
of media and 
communication 

technology on society, 
applying theories of 

mass communication 
and media studies. 

Record high-quality video footage using a smartphone I          

Edit raw video footage into a concise news story I          

Embed video in a blog I          

Understand media law as it applies to blogging/social networking        I   

 Create blog posts with maximum search engine optimization I          

Write clear and concise blog posts about issues of community interest I          

Organize research materials     I      

JRNL 2120: Storytelling: Writing for Journalism           

Describe what makes a story newsworthy    I   I    

Identify the most newsworthy information they have gathered  I  D  I     

Interview individuals for stories     D D     

Conduct research using the Internet, including finding source documents such as court 
judgments and annual reports 

    
D D 

     

Write stories in Canadian Press (CP) style and following Canadian Press guidelines D D 
D D 

   D  D 
D 

  

Write clear and concise news stories  D D     

Report on a news event such as a city council meeting I  I I I I     

Explain basic journalism ethics and law        I   

JRNL 2230: Multimedia Storytelling           

Use computer and mobile applications to produce stories in a variety of media, including 
audio and video 

 
D 

  
I 

 
D D 

     

Describe the differences between journalism and personal storytelling       I I   

Describe ethical considerations when producing multimedia journalism        I   

Identify possible storytelling modes and publishing platforms for online delivery of individual 
stories 

    
D 

      

Gather images, audio and video and edit them for publication D 
D 

 I  D D  D 
D 

  

Utilize computer and mobile applications to publish to the internet         

Create a working plan for covering events, issues or people through multimedia    D D      

JRNL 2240: Beyond the News: Feature Writing           

Create and publish journalistically sound work in a variety of subject areas D I D D D D  I   

Recognize potential storytelling and publishing possibilities D  D D       

Describe the differences and similarities between news writing and feature writing in 
traditional and non-traditional journalism D 

 
D D D D D 

   

Describe research methods related to feature writing D    D  D    

Apply fact-gathering skills D    D D  I   

Describe essential differences between factual, critical and personal storytelling D   D   D    

Use the internet for research and for publishing     D  D    

Describe the role of visual imagery in storytelling  D D    D    

JRNL 2360: Photojournalism           

Compare basic concepts of visual journalism with those of other forms of photography       D    

Debate visual journalism as a means of communication       D    

Debate ethical issues in visual journalism and documentary image-making        D   

Differentiate between visual journalism and other types of photography       D    

Create effective imagery using professional-standard cameras A          

Produce visual storytelling images using appropriate software D          

Produce visual journalism in a variety of lighting conditions and settings that require different 
techniques A 

 
D D 

      

Create both colour and black-and-white images suitable for print and digital publication and 
for use on social media D 

         

Produce digital stories using images and audio D  D D       

JRNL 2370 : Podcasting and Audio Storytelling           

Describe the ethical considerations for audio gathering and editing        D   

Differentiate between types of audio storytelling       D    

Describe the roles of producers, editors and reporters in audio reporting         D  



19 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 
 
 
 

1. Create written and 
multimedia works of 

journalism using current 
industry standards and 

tools. 

 

2. Edit works of 
journalism produced by 

others, providing 
helpful and constructive 

feedback, and 
incorporate feedback 

from others. 

 
3. Produce works of 

journalism that 
incorporate an 

understanding of the 
importance of diversity, 
inclusion, reconciliation, 
empathy, curiosity and 

persistence. 

 
4. Practice the 

principles of sound 
news judgment in 

developing story ideas, 
deciding what stories to 

cover and how to 
structure information 

within a story. 

 
5. Conduct original 

research and reporting 
using a variety of 

different methods and 
resources and assess 

the reliability of 
different sources of 

information. 

 
 
 
 

6. Cover newsworthy 
events and produce 
stories on deadline. 

 
7. Critique works of 

journalism, 
demonstrating media 

literacy, critical thinking 
and an awareness of 
newsworthiness and 

the importance of 
diversity. 

 
 
 
8. Explain and apply the 

key concepts of 
journalism ethics and 

media law. 

 

9. Evaluate the role of 
journalism in a 

democratic society, 
including an 

understanding of the 
history of the industry 

and its business models. 

 

10. Evaluate the impact 
of media and 
communication 

technology on society, 
applying theories of 

mass communication 
and media studies. 

Create effective audio using professional-standard equipment D  D D D      

Produce audio stories using appropriate software D  D        

Describe the process of audio storytelling from idea to completed project I  D D       

Produce and publish short-form audio stories D  D D D      

Select 6 credits from courses in Communication (COMM) numbered 1100 through 2999           

           

COMM 1100 : Foundations of Communication Studies           

Define the steps of the communication cycle (message, messenger, medium, audience)          D 
Describe the main ideas behind each step of the communication cycle          I 
Discuss the notion of objectivity           

Describe different approaches to analysis of media content          I 
Describe some of the major organizations and other players involved in communications 
around the world with particular focus on North America 

         
I 

Discuss the impact of advertising and private ownership on media content          I 
Describe how new technologies are continually reshaping the Canadian communications 
environment 

         
I 

Describe the various regulations that apply to media in Canada (laws, acts, etc)          I 
COMM 1110: Television and Social Change           

Discuss the relationship between television and social change          I 
Consider the impact of television on society          I 
Consider the significance of "firsts" on television          I 
Discuss the cultural and societal norms when such "firsts" occurred          I 
Discuss methods of audience research and impact of such research on television 
programming 

          

Discuss the role of television programs in challenging or upholding social norms          I 
Identify the characteristics of various television genres, such as sitcom, reality show, satire, 
news magazine 

         
I 

Consider the use of humour as social commentary in Western television programs          I 
Consider the significance of current high-profile programs in the context of cultural 
influence/reflection 

         
I 

Consider the differences between Canadian and American entertainment programming, and 
reasons for those differences 

         
I 

Differentiate between watching television as entertainment and as a barometer of societal 
attitudes 

         
I 

 
Consider the effect of new media and technology on the evolution of television programming 

          

Discuss the effect of North American television programs on other societies          I 
COMM 1200: Visual Literacy           

Apply definitions of visual literacy to an interdisciplinary field of visual expression          I 
Recognize and apply basic design elements and principles to solve design problems           

Identify the structural elements of multimedia formats to formulate a personal, critical 
theory 

          

Identify and evaluate visual messages by applying concepts of visual syntax (structure and 
organisation of image) and visual semantics (culturally constructed ideas) 

         
I 

Acquire a set of visual-literacy skills by analyzing a broad range of media       I   I 
Discuss the merit of work based on social-cultural value, purpose and audience          I 
Describe historical references of visual literacy from a number of sources          I 
Create and apply visual strategies to synthesize resource/research material          I 
Design personal projects to apply concepts and comprehension of visual literacy          I 
Interview people effectively for research related to visual literacy     I      

COMM 2100: Media Ethics and Law           

Explain the differences between legal and ethical issues       I I   

Describe theories of ethics        I   



20 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 
 
 
 

1. Create written and 
multimedia works of 

journalism using current 
industry standards and 

tools. 

 

2. Edit works of 
journalism produced by 

others, providing 
helpful and constructive 

feedback, and 
incorporate feedback 

from others. 

 
3. Produce works of 

journalism that 
incorporate an 

understanding of the 
importance of diversity, 
inclusion, reconciliation, 
empathy, curiosity and 

persistence. 

 
4. Practice the 

principles of sound 
news judgment in 

developing story ideas, 
deciding what stories to 

cover and how to 
structure information 

within a story. 

 
5. Conduct original 

research and reporting 
using a variety of 

different methods and 
resources and assess 

the reliability of 
different sources of 

information. 

 
 
 
 

6. Cover newsworthy 
events and produce 
stories on deadline. 

 
7. Critique works of 

journalism, 
demonstrating media 

literacy, critical thinking 
and an awareness of 
newsworthiness and 

the importance of 
diversity. 

 
 
 
8. Explain and apply the 

key concepts of 
journalism ethics and 

media law. 

 

9. Evaluate the role of 
journalism in a 

democratic society, 
including an 

understanding of the 
history of the industry 

and its business models. 

 

10. Evaluate the impact 
of media and 
communication 

technology on society, 
applying theories of 

mass communication 
and media studies. 

Discuss different perspectives from which one can approach an ethical issue        I   

Interpret the process of reaching a decision on an ethical issue        I   

Discuss the differences among key aspects of the codes of ethics for journalists, advertisers, 
and public-relations professionals 

       
D 

  

Analyze various types of media content, such as news reports, YouTube videos and blogs 
from an ethical and legal perspectives 

      
D 

 
D 

 

Describe and understand key aspects of Canadian law relating to journalism, social media, 
blogs and other digital-communication forums 

       
I 

  

COMM 2210: Media, Audiences and Popular Culture           

Define popular culture          I 
Describe different critical views towards popular culture          I 
Discuss the relationship of popular culture to capitalism          D 
Discuss the relationship between popular culture and psychology          I 
Describe some of the salient characteristics of popular culture          D 
Discuss the historical origins of popular culture          D 
Discuss how people adapt popular culture to their day-to-day lives          D 
Describe how popular culture follows and/or affects social changes in attitudes, values, and 
popular beliefs 

         
D 

3000 and 4000 Level           

JRNL 3165: Data Visualization           

Read, construct, interpret and evaluate arguments, tables, graphs and charts     A      

Collect, organize and interpret numerial data from surveys, open-data portals and Statistics 
Canada to reach conclusions and draw inferences 

    
A 

     

Explain the limitations of raw data and how it can be misleading     D      

Undertake advanced Internet research     A      

Locate data on open-data portals and the Statistics Canada website     D      

Clean up poorly formatted data using spreadsheet program formulas     A      

Compile and analyze data in spreadsheets and databases     D      

Analyze surveys, polls and research questionnaires     D      

Calculate and explain a polling margin of error     A      

Use Freedom of Information and Access to Information laws and processes to obtain 
government data 

    
A 

     

Locate and verify information sources     D      

Create an interactive map A  A        

Create a searchable database A  A        

Create an interactive data visualization A  A        

Identify misleading charts, tables and graphs     A  A A   

Explain and apply concepts such as regression toward the mean and correlation     A      

Develop analyses and reports founded on data A          

JRNL 4270 : Advanced Storytelling           

Develop and produce individual articles that are part of a larger story package A A A A A A     

Assess methods for component storytelling within the context of a large project A D A A       

Interpret complex information and data     A      

Consider and employ best practices of reporting and publication A A A A A A     

Consider and employ effective storytelling modes and methods A A         

Select 18 credits from courses in Journalism (JRNL) numbered 3000 through 4999           

           

JRNL 3170: Narrative Nonfiction           

Analyze the characteristics of long-form narrative nonfiction       A    

Compare narrative nonfiction with reportage -only writing       A    

Analyze the fundamental journalistic principles that narrative nonfiction must follow D D A A A  A    

Debate how narrative nonfiction can have a unique impact on readers and society       A    

Analyze appropriate formats for a story, such as magazine article, memoir, essay D D A A A  A    



21 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 
 
 
 

1. Create written and 
multimedia works of 

journalism using current 
industry standards and 

tools. 

 

2. Edit works of 
journalism produced by 

others, providing 
helpful and constructive 

feedback, and 
incorporate feedback 

from others. 

 
3. Produce works of 

journalism that 
incorporate an 

understanding of the 
importance of diversity, 
inclusion, reconciliation, 
empathy, curiosity and 

persistence. 

 
4. Practice the 

principles of sound 
news judgment in 

developing story ideas, 
deciding what stories to 

cover and how to 
structure information 

within a story. 

 
5. Conduct original 

research and reporting 
using a variety of 

different methods and 
resources and assess 

the reliability of 
different sources of 

information. 

 
 
 
 

6. Cover newsworthy 
events and produce 
stories on deadline. 

 
7. Critique works of 

journalism, 
demonstrating media 

literacy, critical thinking 
and an awareness of 
newsworthiness and 

the importance of 
diversity. 

 
 
 
8. Explain and apply the 

key concepts of 
journalism ethics and 

media law. 

 

9. Evaluate the role of 
journalism in a 

democratic society, 
including an 

understanding of the 
history of the industry 

and its business models. 

 

10. Evaluate the impact 
of media and 
communication 

technology on society, 
applying theories of 

mass communication 
and media studies. 

Debate the impact of new technologies on the nonfiction publishing industry          A 
Generate original story ideas A  A A       

Interview people and do other research for a story A  A A A A     

Produce a publishable narrative-nonfiction story online and/or print A A A A A A  A   

Rewrite a story based on editor's input  A         

JRNL 3175: News Reporting           

Create news stories (print, audio or video) suitable for publication about public affairs, courts, 
police and crime A 

  
A A 

  
A 

  

Attend and report on news events, such as news conferences, court cases, city council and 
school board meetings 

    
A A 

    

Identify and articulate what makes a story newsworthy and why D D  D A D D    

Interview individuals for stories A  A  A      

Conduct research using the Internet, including finding source documents such as court 
judgments, annual reports and budgets 

   
A A 

 
A 

   

Explain defamation and journalism ethics        A   

Analyze stories in the news that cover these topics, using the same techniques learned in 
class 

 
D 

    
A A 

 
D 

Use social media to promote stories and to find sources A  A  A A     

JRNL 3180: Sports Journalism           

Provide effective coverage of sports events and/or issues for print, broadcast and online D A D A A D A    

Identify a sports beat and develop a plan for covering it    D A      

Write long- and short-form sports features D  D A D      

Develop quality sports coverage plans for print, broadcast and online media    D D  D    

Use social media to comments on sports and engage with an audience D  D   D     

Understand ethical considerations in for covering sports        D   

JRNL 3260: The Future of News           

Analyze fundamental media economics       D  A D 
Analyze the effects of the Internet on existing media economics       D  A D 
Investigate changing employment trends for journalists       D  A  

Interpret possibilities for self-employment in a changing media landscape       D  A  

Develop strategies for professional networking, reputation-building and promotion D   D     A  

Employ strategies for starting, building and maintaining a self-directed career in media D   D     A  

JRNL 3270: Video Journalism           

Produce visual journalism using advanced features of video cameras A  A A A      

Debate legal and ethical rights and obligations of visual storytellers        A   

Analyze the contribution of visual journalism to public discourse       A  A  

Analyze effective video journalism and storytelling       A    

Solve storytelling challenges with advanced technical knowledge and creative techniques A  A        

Produce and publish video stories A  A A A A     

Create and present an effective video story A  A A A A     

Utilize technical and creative skills in covering a wide variety of events A          

Consider the responsibilities of a visual storyteller in covering events of a sensitive or 
controversial nature 

  
A 

    
A 

  

Organize work effectively in a team environment A A A        

JRNL 3370: Audio Documentary           

Produce audio journalism using advanced reporting and editing techniques A  A A A      

Debate legal and ethical rights and obligations of storytellers        A   

Analyze the contribution of audio storytelling to public discourse       A  A  

Solve storytelling challenges with advanced technical knowledge and creative techniques A  A A       

Produce and publish long-form audio stories A  A A A      

Utilize technical and creative skills to cover a story in-depth A  A A A      

Consider the responsibilities of a storyteller in covering events of a sensitive or controversial 
nature 

       
A 

  



22 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 
 
 
 

1. Create written and 
multimedia works of 

journalism using current 
industry standards and 

tools. 

 

2. Edit works of 
journalism produced by 

others, providing 
helpful and constructive 

feedback, and 
incorporate feedback 

from others. 

 
3. Produce works of 

journalism that 
incorporate an 

understanding of the 
importance of diversity, 
inclusion, reconciliation, 
empathy, curiosity and 

persistence. 

 
4. Practice the 

principles of sound 
news judgment in 

developing story ideas, 
deciding what stories to 

cover and how to 
structure information 

within a story. 

 
5. Conduct original 

research and reporting 
using a variety of 

different methods and 
resources and assess 

the reliability of 
different sources of 

information. 

 
 
 
 

6. Cover newsworthy 
events and produce 
stories on deadline. 

 
7. Critique works of 

journalism, 
demonstrating media 

literacy, critical thinking 
and an awareness of 
newsworthiness and 

the importance of 
diversity. 

 
 
 
8. Explain and apply the 

key concepts of 
journalism ethics and 

media law. 

 

9. Evaluate the role of 
journalism in a 

democratic society, 
including an 

understanding of the 
history of the industry 

and its business models. 

 

10. Evaluate the impact 
of media and 
communication 

technology on society, 
applying theories of 

mass communication 
and media studies. 

Organize work effectively in a team environment A A A        

JRNL 4141: Work Experience           

Work effectively as a journalist in a professional setting A  A A A A     

Produce and maintain a work experience plan           

Investigate potential job markets         A  

Explore and assess the range of industry-related employment         A  

Set realistic and achievable personal and professional learning objectives for their work 
experience 

          

Experience, observe, explore and participate in a work setting relevant to their Bachelor of 
Journalism curriculum and career interests A 

 
A A A A 

    

Conduct themselves in a professional and collegial manner with others at the work site           

Evaluate and assess their own ability, effectiveness, interest and competency as a journalist           
Produce the quality and quantity of work that meets the expectations of the workplace A  A A A A     

Synthesize educational and practical experience and insights in a report on the experience           
Produce and maintain a portfolio of professional work           

Produce an effective cover letter and resume           

JRNL 4180: Advanced Sports Journalism           

Apply journalism standards and ethical principles to coverage of sports events A A  A A A A A   

Develop journalistically-sound coverage of sports events and social issues as they relate to 
sports 

          

Identify and report on wider societal issues that affect or arise from sports   A A   A   A 
Identify, extract, and report essential material (written and oral) from sports coverage and 
interviews A 

  
A A A 

    

Apply and refine research skills A A A A A  A    

Identify roles and opportunities within professional sports journalism         A  

Apply ethical and cultural considerations to various sports coverage related issue   A A   A A  A 
JRNL 4240: Social Issues Journalism           

Plan, research and write feature-length social-issues journalism stories suitable for 
publication A 

 
A A A 

  
A 

  

Combine extensive research with feature-writing skills A A A  A      

Interview a variety of people, including those with personal experiences relating to social 
issues A 

 
A A A 

  
A 

  

Identify issues in the news that are indicative of broad social and political issues of ongoing 
social significance 

      
A 

   

Debate the forces that shape social-issues journalism, such as journalism traditions and 
pressure from special-interest groups, or corporate and political interests 

      
A A D 

 

Discuss the history and current role of social issues reporting, including advocacy and 
investigative journalism 

  
A 

   
A 

 
A 

 

Analyze current examples of social-issues journalism       A    

JRNL 4250 : Politics and Journalism           

Write professional-level journalistic articles about politics A A A A A A     

Meet responsibilities for publishing in various formats when reporting on live events A  A A  A  A   

Find sources of information and conduct in-depth research A    A A     

Access documents from various levels of government A    A      

Resist pressure from government or other organizations to publish only material to their 
benefit A 

 
A A 

    
A 

 

Conduct effective interviews with people involved in politics about relevant issues     A      

Create news stories from government budget information A          

Discuss and debate topics such as the watchdog role of journalism in democracy and the 
relationships among politicians, bureaucrats, non-governmental organizations and journalists 

       
A 

  
A 

 

 
  



23 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 
 
 
 

1. Create written and 
multimedia works of 

journalism using current 
industry standards and 

tools. 

 

2. Edit works of 
journalism produced by 

others, providing 
helpful and constructive 

feedback, and 
incorporate feedback 

from others. 

 
3. Produce works of 

journalism that 
incorporate an 

understanding of the 
importance of diversity, 
inclusion, reconciliation, 
empathy, curiosity and 

persistence. 

 
4. Practice the 

principles of sound 
news judgment in 

developing story ideas, 
deciding what stories to 

cover and how to 
structure information 

within a story. 

 
5. Conduct original 

research and reporting 
using a variety of 

different methods and 
resources and assess 

the reliability of 
different sources of 

information. 

 
 
 
 

6. Cover newsworthy 
events and produce 
stories on deadline. 

 
7. Critique works of 

journalism, 
demonstrating media 

literacy, critical thinking 
and an awareness of 
newsworthiness and 

the importance of 
diversity. 

 
 
 
8. Explain and apply the 

key concepts of 
journalism ethics and 

media law. 

 

9. Evaluate the role of 
journalism in a 

democratic society, 
including an 

understanding of the 
history of the industry 

and its business models. 

 

10. Evaluate the impact 
of media and 
communication 

technology on society, 
applying theories of 

mass communication 
and media studies. 

Discuss principles of journalism ethics        A   

JRNL 4260 : Computer Coding for Journalists           

Analyze interactive methods for reportage and storytelling     A  A    

Produce interactive web features using a variety of techniques A  A        

Consider principles of effective interactive design to present data and information A  A A       

Compare best-use software applications, programs and platforms for delivery of individual 
interactives A 

         

Develop conceptual plans that use programming for delivery of data and information A          

Publish applications and interactive webs A  A        

JRNL 4900 : Special Topics           

Clearly and concisely explain specific concepts relevant to the selected topic A      A    

Identify and analyze trends in the selected topic area (reporting, technology, or the academic 
discipline) 

      
A 

   

Apply effective innovation and problem-solving skills in the selected topic through discussion 
and analysis 

      
A 

   

Develop a project that demonstrates effective communication considering context, audience 
and format A A A A A 

     

JRNL 4970 : Journalism Honours Seminar           

Explain their research plan, strategy and outcomes to other students   A A A      

Plan a communication strategy to share the research results with the public or other groups     
A 

     

Present individual research for at least 3 seminars     A      

Publish the journalism work or present the thesis paper to a group of instructors or other 
academics A 

 
A A 

      

JRNL 4990 : Honours I - Research           

Identify a research topic that is appropriate in scope and depth for an undergraduate honours 
degree 

    
A 

     

Write a preliminary research proposal     A      

Develop a research program     A      

Analyze the quality and content of research materials     A      

Write a research framework     A      

JRNL 4995 : Honours Thesis           

Interpret research findings     A      

Select material that is relevant to the thesis topic or journalism project from extensive 
preliminary research 

    
A 

     

Organize complex material into chapters and sections or into a series of journalism stories A A A A       

Produce a first draft of a thesis or in-depth journalism project A A A A       

Revise and edit the draft into a final document or project  A         

Assess whether there are any omissions that need to be addressed  A         

Complete a final draft of the thesis or series of journalism stories A A A A       

Select 6 credits from courses in Communications (COMM) numbered 3000 through 4999           

           

COMM 3100: Media and Diversity           

Interpret diversity and discuss it from an inclusive perspective          A 
Debate what constitutes a diverse audience          A 
Debate the relationship between diversity and objectivity          D 
Write about diversity with fairness and balance          A 
Investigate how people of various races, ethnicities, cultures, genders, sexualities, and 
disabilities participate in and are portrayed in the media 

      
I 

  
A 

Debate problems in how marginalized and oppressed groups are portrayed in media          A 
COMM 3200: Celebrity and the Media           

Explain the evolution of celebrity culture          A 
Analyze the effect of changing media technologies on the nature of celebrity          D 



24 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 PLO#5 PLO#6 PLO#7 PLO#8 PLO#9 PLO#10 
 
 
 

1. Create written and 
multimedia works of 

journalism using current 
industry standards and 

tools. 

 

2. Edit works of 
journalism produced by 

others, providing 
helpful and constructive 

feedback, and 
incorporate feedback 

from others. 

 
3. Produce works of 

journalism that 
incorporate an 

understanding of the 
importance of diversity, 
inclusion, reconciliation, 
empathy, curiosity and 

persistence. 

 
4. Practice the 

principles of sound 
news judgment in 

developing story ideas, 
deciding what stories to 

cover and how to 
structure information 

within a story. 

 
5. Conduct original 

research and reporting 
using a variety of 

different methods and 
resources and assess 

the reliability of 
different sources of 

information. 

 
 
 
 

6. Cover newsworthy 
events and produce 
stories on deadline. 

 
7. Critique works of 

journalism, 
demonstrating media 

literacy, critical thinking 
and an awareness of 
newsworthiness and 

the importance of 
diversity. 

 
 
 
8. Explain and apply the 

key concepts of 
journalism ethics and 

media law. 

 

9. Evaluate the role of 
journalism in a 

democratic society, 
including an 

understanding of the 
history of the industry 

and its business models. 

 

10. Evaluate the impact 
of media and 
communication 

technology on society, 
applying theories of 

mass communication 
and media studies. 

Evaluate the relationship between celebrity culture and various aspects of society       I   A 
Discuss the impact of celebrity culture on notions of self and identity          D 
Critically reflect on one's own interaction with celebrity culture          A 
COMM 3210: Communication and Everyday Life           

Explain the origins of and the concept of a text and give various examples          A 
Discuss broadly the semiotic tradition as it applies to the field of communications          A 
Perform the various elements of textual analysis: semiotic, ideological, visual, intertextual, 
etc. 

          

Understand the concept and process of discourse analysis          A 
Discuss the history of discourse theory          A 
Analyze how ideologies shape discourses          A 
Explain how discourses can take verbal, written, visual, and various other forms          A 
COMM 3220: Social Media, New Technology, and Society           

Discuss the stakeholders in the realms of social media, mobile technologies, and wearable 
technology 

         
A 

Examine the history of social media          A 
Analyze the social impacts of social media, mobile technologies, and wearable tech          A 
Explain inequalities related to gender, race, sexuality, and class in regards to social media, 
mobile technologies, and wearable technology 

         
A 

Join, use, and analyze critically a series of social media platforms          A 
Analyze critically a series of mobile and wearable technologies          A 
COMM 3230 : Sports, Media and Audience           

Analyze the relationship between sports, athletes, media and audience       A  A A 
Debate issues relating to sports media, e.g. race, gender, sexuality, nationalism, 
consumerism, violence and civic life 

      
A 

 
A A 

Analyze issues of media ethics particular to sports media, including mass media and social media       A A   

For Honours           

JRNL 4190: Directed Study Honours I - Research           

Identify a research and thesis topic that is appropriate in scope and depth for an 
undergraduate honours degree 

   
A A 

     

Write a preliminary thesis proposal A  A A A      

Develop a research program     A      

Analyze the quality and content of research materials     A      

Write a thesis outline A   A A      

JRNL 4290: Honours Thesis           

Interpret research findings    A A      

Select material that is relevant to the thesis topic from extensive preliminary research    A A      

Organize complex material chapters and sections  A         

Produce a first draft A A A A       

As necessary, engage in a process of revision and rewriting that will result in a final document  
A 

        

Assess whether there are any omissions that need to be addressed           

Complete a final draft of the thesis on the methods and results of a research project           

JRNL 4295 : Journalism Honours Seminar           

Identify and explain contemporary mass communication and journalism research strategies         
A A 

Identify contemporary mass communication and research issues          A 
Evaluate contemporary mass communication and journalism research strategies     A     A 
Critique the process of designing research strategies in mass communication and journalism     

A 
     

Lead a seminar     A      

Present a research paper     A      



25 
 

PROGRAM CURRICULUM MAP: Minor in Journalism 

 
 
 
 
PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 
 

1. Create written and 
multimedia works of 

journalism using 
current industry 

standards and tools. 

2. Practice the 
principles of sound 
news judgment in 

developing story ideas, 
deciding what stories to 

cover and how to 
structure information 

within a story. 

3. Conduct original 
research and reporting 

using a variety of 
different methods and 
resources and assess 

the reliability of 
different sources of 

information. 

4. Critique works of 
journalism, 

demonstrating media 
literacy, critical thinking 

and an awareness of 
newsworthiness and 

the importance of 
diversity. 

Calendar link for the Minor in Journalism 
For each CLO, the PLO(s) it satisfies are indicated, and at which level. The three levels are: 
Introduced [I]: Course learning outcomes that concentrate on knowledge or skills related to the program outcomes at a basic level or skills at an entry-level of complexity. 
Developing [D]: Course level outcomes that demonstrate learning at an increasing level of proficiency of the program level outcome as well expanding complexity. 
Advanced [A]: Course level outcomes that demonstrate learning related to the program level outcome with an increasing level of independence, expertise and sophistication or 
JRNL 1160: Introduction to Journalism     

Identify the differences between journalism and advertising, public relations and 
advocacy 

   
I 

Describe how recent economic and technological changes have impacted journalism, 
both professional journalism and citizen journalism 

    

Identify the differences between mainstream journalism platforms and 
alternative/new media journalism platforms 

   
I 

Analyze the impacts of social media on the practice of journalism     
Discuss news-story  I  I 
Identify the various media platforms: print, broadcast, internet, social networking 
media 

   
I 

Describe journalism guidelines and ethics     

Understand the role and duties of a reporter     

Analyze the role of journalism in society, in governance and in democracy     

Identify the variety and diversity of current events and issues covered by various 
journalism media 

   
I 

Identify what makes an event newsworthy  I  I 
Identify the differences between editorials, blogs, opinion pieces, news stories, feature 
stories 

   
I 

Write and research on issues of current concern for journalists and journalism I  I  

JRNL 1220: Citizen Journalism     
Write Freedom of Information requests   I  

Perform property record searches   I  

Search corporate records   I  
Find court documents   I  

Navigate the Statistics Canada website for specific information   I  

Interpret Statistics Canada information   I  



26 
 

 
 
 
 
PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 
 

1. Create written and 
multimedia works of 

journalism using 
current industry 

standards and tools. 

2. Practice the 
principles of sound news 
judgment in developing 

story ideas, deciding what 
stories to cover and how to 

structure information 
within a story. 

3. Conduct original 
research and reporting 

using a variety of 
different methods and 

resources and assess the 
reliability of different 

sources of information. 

4. Critique works of 
journalism, 

demonstrating media 
literacy, critical thinking 

and an awareness of 
newsworthiness and the 
importance of diversity. 

Perform searches including but not limited to: political campaign contributions, public- 
sector salaries 

  I  

Write concise, clear, readable blog posts I    
Conduct journalistic interviews   I  

Record high-quality video footage using a smartphone I    

Edit raw video footage into a concise news story I    
Embed video in a blog I    
Understand media law as it applies to blogging/social networking     

Create blog posts with maximum search engine optimization I    
Write clear and concise blog posts about issues of community interest I    

Organize research materials   I  
JRNL 2120: Storytelling: Writing for Journalism     

Describe what makes a story newsworthy  I  I 
Identify the most newsworthy information they have gathered  D   

Interview individuals for stories   D  

Conduct research using the Internet, including finding source documents such as court 
judgments and annual reports 

  
D D 

 

Write stories in Canadian Press (CP) style and following Canadian Press guidelines D    

Write clear and concise news stories D D D  

Report on a news event such as a city council meeting I I I  
Explain basic journalism ethics and law     

Select 6 credits from courses in Journalism (JRNL) numbered 2000 through 2999     
     
JRNL 2230: Multimedia Storytelling     

Use computer and mobile applications to produce stories in a variety of media, 
including audio and video 

 
D D D 

 

Describe the differences between journalism and personal storytelling    I 
Describe ethical considerations when producing multimedia journalism     

Identify possible storytelling modes and publishing platforms for online delivery of 
individual stories 

  
D 

  

Gather images, audio and video and edit them for publication D 
D 

 D  

Utilize computer and mobile applications to publish to the internet    

Create a working plan for covering events, issues or people through multimedia  D D  
JRNL 2240: Beyond the News: Feature Writing     

Create and publish journalistically sound work in a variety of subject areas D D D  



27 
 

 
 
 
 
PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 
 

1. Create written and 
multimedia works of 

journalism using 
current industry 

standards and tools. 

2. Practice the 
principles of sound news 
judgment in developing 

story ideas, deciding what 
stories to cover and how to 

structure information 
within a story. 

3. Conduct original 
research and reporting 

using a variety of 
different methods and 

resources and assess the 
reliability of different 

sources of information. 

4. Critique works of 
journalism, 

demonstrating media 
literacy, critical thinking 

and an awareness of 
newsworthiness and the 
importance of diversity. 

Recognize potential storytelling and publishing possibilities D D   

Describe the differences and similarities between news writing and feature writing in 
traditional and non-traditional journalism D D D D 

Describe research methods related to feature writing D  D D 
Apply fact-gathering skills D  D  

Describe essential differences between factual, critical and personal storytelling D D  D 
Use the internet for research and for publishing   D D 
Describe the role of visual imagery in storytelling    D 
JRNL 2360: Photojournalism     

Compare basic concepts of visual journalism with those of other forms of photography    
D 

Debate visual journalism as a means of communication    D 
Debate ethical issues in visual journalism and documentary image-making     
Differentiate between visual journalism and other types of photography    D 
Create effective imagery using professional-standard cameras A    

Produce visual storytelling images using appropriate software D    

Produce visual journalism in a variety of lighting conditions and settings that require 
different techniques A D   

Create both colour and black-and-white images suitable for print and digital publication 
and for use on social media D    

Produce digital stories using images and audio D D   

JRNL 2370 : Podcasting and Audio Storytelling     

Describe the ethical considerations for audio gathering and editing     
Differentiate between types of audio storytelling    D 
Describe the roles of producers, editors and reporters in audio reporting     

Create effective audio using professional-standard equipment D D D  

Produce audio stories using appropriate software D    

Describe the process of audio storytelling from idea to completed project 
Produce and publish short-form audio stories 

I D   
D D D  

Select 12 credits from courses in Journalism (JRNL) numbered 3000 through 4999     
     

JRNL 3165: Data Visualization     

Read, construct, interpret and evaluate arguments, tables, graphs and charts   A  

Collect, organize and interpret numerial data from surveys, open-data portals and 
Statistics Canada to reach conclusions and draw inferences 

  
A  



28 
 

 
 
 
 
PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 
 

1. Create written and 
multimedia works of 

journalism using 
current industry 

standards and tools. 

2. Practice the 
principles of sound news 
judgment in developing 

story ideas, deciding what 
stories to cover and how to 

structure information 
within a story. 

3. Conduct original 
research and reporting 

using a variety of 
different methods and 

resources and assess the 
reliability of different 

sources of information. 

4. Critique works of 
journalism, 

demonstrating media 
literacy, critical thinking 

and an awareness of 
newsworthiness and the 
importance of diversity. 

Explain the limitations of raw data and how it can be misleading   D  

Undertake advanced Internet research   A  
Locate data on open-data portals and the Statistics Canada website   D  

Clean up poorly formatted data using spreadsheet program formulas   A  
Compile and analyze data in spreadsheets and databases   D  
Analyze surveys, polls and research questionnaires   D  

Calculate and explain a polling margin of error   A  

Use Freedom of Information and Access to Information laws and processes to obtain 
government data 

  
A  

Locate and verify information sources   D  

Create an interactive map A    
Create a searchable database A    

Create an interactive data visualization A    

Identify misleading charts, tables and graphs   A A 
Explain and apply concepts such as regression toward the mean and correlation   A  

Develop analyses and reports founded on data A    
JRNL 3170: Narrative Nonfiction     
Analyze the characteristics of long-form narrative nonfiction    A 
Compare narrative nonfiction with reportage-only writing    A 
 
Analyze the fundamental journalistic principles that narrative nonfiction must follow D A A A 

Debate how narrative nonfiction can have a unique impact on readers and society    A 
Analyze appropriate formats for a story, such as magazine article, memoir, essay D A A A 
Debate the impact of new technologies on the nonfiction publishing industry     

Generate original story ideas A A   
Interview people and do other research for a story A A A  

Produce a publishable narrative-nonfiction story online and/or print A A A  

Rewrite a story based on editor's input     

JRNL 3175: News Reporting     

Create news stories (print, audio or video) suitable for publication about public affairs, 
courts, police and crime A A A  

Attend and report on news events, such as news conferences, court cases, city council 
and school board meetings 

  
A  

Identify and articulate what makes a story newsworthy and why D D A D 
Interview individuals for stories A  A  



29 
 

 
 
 
 
PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 
 

1. Create written and 
multimedia works of 

journalism using 
current industry 

standards and tools. 

2. Practice the 
principles of sound news 
judgment in developing 

story ideas, deciding what 
stories to cover and how to 

structure information 
within a story. 

3. Conduct original 
research and reporting 

using a variety of 
different methods and 

resources and assess the 
reliability of different 

sources of information. 

4. Critique works of 
journalism, 

demonstrating media 
literacy, critical thinking 

and an awareness of 
newsworthiness and the 
importance of diversity. 

Conduct research using the Internet, including finding source documents such as court 
judgments, annual reports and budgets 

 A A A 

Explain defamation and journalism ethics     

Analyze stories in the news that cover these topics, using the same techniques learned 
in class 

   
A 

Use social media to promote stories and to find sources A  A  
JRNL 3180: Sports Journalism     

Provide effective coverage of sports events and/or issues for print, broadcast and 
online D A A A 

Identify a sports beat and develop a plan for covering it  D A  

Write long- and short-form sports features D A D  

Develop quality sports coverage plans for print, broadcast and online media  D D D 
Use social media to comments on sports and engage with an audience D    

Understand ethical considerations in for covering sports     

JRNL 3260: The Future of News     

Analyze fundamental media economics    D 
Analyze the effects of the Internet on existing media economics    D 
Investigate changing employment trends for journalists    D 
Interpret possibilities for self-employment in a changing media landscape    D 
Develop strategies for professional networking, reputation-building and promotion D D   

 
Employ strategies for starting, building and maintaining a self-directed career in media D D   

JRNL 3270: Video Journalism     
Produce visual journalism using advanced features of video cameras A A A  
Debate legal and ethical rights and obligations of visual storytellers     

Analyze the contribution of visual journalism to public discourse    A 
Analyze effective video journalism and storytelling    A 
Solve storytelling challenges with advanced technical knowledge and creative 
techniques A    

Produce and publish video stories A A A  

Create and present an effective video story A A A  

Utilize technical and creative skills in covering a wide variety of events A    

Consider the responsibilities of a visual storyteller in covering events of a sensitive or 
controversial nature 

    

Organize work effectively in a team environment A    



30 
 

 
 
 
 
PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 
 

1. Create written and 
multimedia works of 

journalism using 
current industry 

standards and tools. 

2. Practice the 
principles of sound news 
judgment in developing 

story ideas, deciding what 
stories to cover and how to 

structure information 
within a story. 

3. Conduct original 
research and reporting 

using a variety of 
different methods and 

resources and assess the 
reliability of different 

sources of information. 

4. Critique works of 
journalism, 

demonstrating media 
literacy, critical thinking 

and an awareness of 
newsworthiness and the 
importance of diversity. 

JRNL 3370: Audio Documentary     

Produce audio journalism using advanced reporting and editing techniques A A A  
Debate legal and ethical rights and obligations of storytellers     

Analyze the contribution of audio storytelling to public discourse    A 
Solve storytelling challenges with advanced technical knowledge and creative 
techniques A A   

Produce and publish long-form audio stories A A A  
Utilize technical and creative skills to cover a story in-depth A A A  

Consider the responsibilities of a storyteller in covering events of a sensitive or 
controversial nature 

    

Organize work effectively in a team environment A    
JRNL 4141: Work Experience     

Work effectively as a journalist in a professional setting A A A  
Produce and maintain a work experience plan     

Investigate potential job markets     

Explore and assess the range of industry-related employment     

Set realistic and achievable personal and professional learning objectives for their work 
experience 

    

Experience, observe, explore and participate in a work setting relevant to their 
Bachelor of Journalism curriculum and career interests A A A  

Conduct themselves in a professional and collegial manner with others at the work site     
Evaluate and assess their own ability, effectiveness, interest and competency as a 
journalist 

    

Produce the quality and quantity of work that meets the expectations of the workplace 
A A A  

Synthesize educational and practical experience and insights in a report on the 
experience 

    

Produce and maintain a portfolio of professional work     

Produce an effective cover letter and resume     

JRNL 4180: Advanced Sports Journalism     
Apply journalism standards and ethical principles to coverage of sports events A A A A 
Develop journalistically-sound coverage of sports events and social issues as they relate 
to sports 

    

Identify and report on wider societal issues that affect or arise from sports  A  A 



31 
 

 
 
 
 
PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 
 

1. Create written and 
multimedia works of 

journalism using 
current industry 

standards and tools. 

2. Practice the 
principles of sound news 
judgment in developing 

story ideas, deciding what 
stories to cover and how to 

structure information 
within a story. 

3. Conduct original 
research and reporting 

using a variety of 
different methods and 

resources and assess the 
reliability of different 

sources of information. 

4. Critique works of 
journalism, 

demonstrating media 
literacy, critical thinking 

and an awareness of 
newsworthiness and the 
importance of diversity. 

Identify, extract, and report essential material (written and oral) from sports coverage 
and interviews A A A  

Apply and refine research skills A A A A 
Identify roles and opportunities within professional sports journalism     
Apply ethical and cultural considerations to various sports coverage related issue  A  A 
JRNL 4190: Directed Study Honours I - Research     

Identify a research and thesis topic that is appropriate in scope and depth for an 
undergraduate honours degree 

 
A A  

Write a preliminary thesis proposal A A A  
Develop a research program   A  
Analyze the quality and content of research materials   A  

Write a thesis outline A A A  
JRNL 4240: Social Issues Journalism     

Plan, research and write feature-length social-issues journalism stories suitable for 
publication A A A  

Combine extensive research with feature-writing skills A  A  

Interview a variety of people, including those with personal experiences relating to 
social issues A A A  

Identify issues in the news that are indicative of broad social and political issues of 
ongoing social significance 

   
A 

Debate the forces that shape social-issues journalism, such as journalism traditions and 
pressure from special-interest groups, or corporate and political interests 

   
A 

Discuss the history and current role of social issues reporting, including advocacy and 
investigative journalism 

   
A 

Analyze current examples of social-issues journalism    A 
JRNL 4250 : Politics and Journalism     
Write professional-level journalistic articles about politics A A A  

Meet responsibilities for publishing in various formats when reporting on live events 
A A   

Find sources of information and conduct in-depth research A  A  

Access documents from various levels of government A  A  

Resist pressure from government or other organizations to publish only material to 
their benefit A A   

Conduct effective interviews with people involved in politics about relevant issues   A  

Create news stories from government budget information A    



32 
 

 
 
 
 
PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 
 

1. Create written and 
multimedia works of 

journalism using 
current industry 

standards and tools. 

2. Practice the 
principles of sound news 
judgment in developing 

story ideas, deciding what 
stories to cover and how to 

structure information 
within a story. 

3. Conduct original 
research and reporting 

using a variety of 
different methods and 

resources and assess the 
reliability of different 

sources of information. 

4. Critique works of 
journalism, 

demonstrating media 
literacy, critical thinking 

and an awareness of 
newsworthiness and the 
importance of diversity. 

Discuss and debate topics such as the watchdog role of journalism in democracy and 
the relationships among politicians, bureaucrats, non-governmental organizations and 
journalists 

    
A 

Discuss principles of journalism ethics     
JRNL 4260 : Computer Coding for Journalists     

Analyze interactive methods for reportage and storytelling   A A 
Produce interactive web features using a variety of techniques A    

Consider principles of effective interactive design to present data and information A A   

Compare best-use software applications, programs and platforms for delivery of 
individual interactives A    

Develop conceptual plans that use programming for delivery of data and information 
A    

Publish applications and interactive webs A    

JRNL 4270 : Advanced Storytelling     
Develop and produce individual articles that are part of a larger story package A A A  

Assess methods for component storytelling within the context of a large project A A   
Interpret complex information and data   A  

Consider and employ best practices of reporting and publication A A A  
Consider and employ effective storytelling modes and methods A    

JRNL 4290: Honours Thesis     
Interpret research findings  A A  

Select material that is relevant to the thesis topic from extensive preliminary research  
A A  

Organize complex material chapters and sections     
Produce a first draft A A   

As necessary, engage in a process of revision and rewriting that will result in a final 
document 

    

Assess whether there are any omissions that need to be addressed     

Complete a final draft of the thesis on the methods and results of a research project     
JRNL 4295 : Journalism Honours Seminar     

Identify and explain contemporary mass communication and journalism research 
strategies 

    

Identify contemporary mass communication and research issues     
Evaluate contemporary mass communication and journalism research strategies   A  

  



33 
 

 
 
 
 
PROGRAM COURSES WITH COURSE LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PROGRAM LEARNING OUTCOMES 

PLO#1 PLO#2 PLO#3 PLO#4 
 

1. Create written and 
multimedia works of 
journalism using current 
industry standards and 

tools. 

2. Practice the 
principles of sound news 
judgment in developing 

story ideas, deciding what 
stories to cover and how to 

structure information 
within a story. 

3. Conduct original 
research and reporting 

using a variety of 
different methods and 

resources and assess the 
reliability of different 

sources of information. 

4. Critique works of 
journalism, 

demonstrating media 
literacy, critical thinking 

and an awareness of 
newsworthiness and the 
importance of diversity. 

Critique the process of designing research strategies in mass communication and 
journalism 

  A  

Lead a seminar   A  
Present a research paper  A  

JRNL 4900 : Special Topics     
Clearly and concisely explain specific concepts relevant to the selected topic A   A 
Identify and analyze trends in the selected topic area (reporting, technology, or the 
academic discipline) 

   
A 

Apply effective innovation and problem-solving skills in the selected topic through 
discussion and analysis 

   
A 

Develop a project that demonstrates effective communication considering context, 
audience and format A A A  



34 
 

Appendix 5: Faculty Survey Results 
 
Journalism Program Review - Faculty Survey Results 
 
The faculty survey was sent to 14 Journalism faculty members. A total of 8 faculty members responded. 
The response rate is 57%. 
 
Note: The data includes open-ended comments. In order to preserve integrity and objec�vity, OPA does not do 
value-judgment edi�ng (i.e. we do not fix spelling errors, syntax issues, punctua�on, etc.). Comments are included 
verba�m – with one excep�on: if individuals or courses are named, OPA redacts the name of the instructor or 
course. This rule applies to whether the comment is good, bad or indifferent. 
 

QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 3: PROGRAM RELEVANCE AND DEMAND 

Program Relevance 

Are the program learning outcomes relevant to the current needs of the discipline/sector? 
1 - Thinking of KPU’s Journalism program as a whole, indicate the extent you 
agree with the following. 

 

 
# Ques�on Strongly 

disagree 
Somewhat 

disagree 
Neither agree 

nor disagree 
Somewhat 

agree 
Strongly 

agree Total 

1 Program curriculum is relevant to 
the needs of the discipline/sector. 0% 0% 0% 13% 88% 8 

2 The program prepares students for 
a career in the discipline/sector. 0% 0% 0% 38% 63% 8 

3 The program prepares students for 
further educa�on in the field. 0% 0% 0% 25% 75% 8 



35 
 

2 - Please indicate how relevant each of the following Program Learning 
Outcomes is to the current needs of the discipline/sector. 

 
Note that “not at all” and “slightly relevant” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the 
frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all relevant” and “slightly relevant” categories. 
  

Create writen and mul�media 
works of journalism using current 

industry standards and tools. 

Edit works of journalism 
produced by others, providing 

helpful and construc�ve 
feedback, and incorporate 

feedback from others. 

Produce works of journalism that 
incorporate an understanding of the 

importance of diversity, inclusion, 
reconcilia�on, empathy, curiosity 

and persistence. 

Prac�ce the principles of sound news 
judgment in developing story ideas, 

deciding what stories to cover and how to 
structure informa�on within a story. 

Conduct original research and 
repor�ng using a variety of different 

methods and resources and assess 
the reliability of different sources of 

informa�on. 

Cover newsworthy events and 
produce stories on deadline. 

Cri�que works of journalism, 
demonstra�ng media literacy, 

cri�cal thinking and an awareness 
of newsworthiness and the 

importance of diversity. 

Explain and apply the key 
concepts of journalism ethics and 

media law. 

Evaluate the role of journalism in 
a democra�c society, including an 

understanding of the history of 
the industry and its business 

 
Evaluate the impact of media and 

communica�on technology on 
society, applying theories of mass 

communica�on and media 
studies. 



36 
 

# Ques�on Not at all 
relevant 

Slightly 
relevant 

Somewhat 
relevant 

Very 
relevant Total 

1 Create writen and mul�media works of journalism 
using current industry standards and tools. 0% 0% 13% 88% 8 

2 
Edit works of journalism produced by others, providing 

helpful and construc�ve feedback, and incorporate 
feedback from others. 

0% 0% 13% 88% 8 

3 
Produce works of journalism that incorporate an 

understanding of the importance of diversity, inclusion, 
reconcilia�on, empathy, curiosity and persistence. 

0% 0% 0% 100% 8 

4 
Prac�ce the principles of sound news judgment in 

developing story ideas, deciding what stories to cover 
and how to structure informa�on within a story. 

0% 0% 13% 88% 8 

5 
Conduct original research and repor�ng using a variety 

of different methods and resources and assess the 
reliability of different sources of informa�on. 

0% 13% 13% 75% 8 

6 Cover newsworthy events and produce stories on 
deadline. 0% 0% 13% 88% 8 

7 
Cri�que works of journalism, demonstra�ng media 

literacy, cri�cal thinking and an awareness of 
newsworthiness and the importance of diversity. 

0% 0% 13% 88% 8 

8 Explain and apply the key concepts of journalism ethics 
and media law. 0% 0% 13% 88% 8 

9 
Evaluate the role of journalism in a democra�c society, 

including an understanding of the history of the 
industry and its business models. 

0% 0% 13% 88% 8 

10 
Evaluate the impact of media and communica�on 

technology on society, applying theories of mass 
communica�on and media studies. 

0% 0% 38% 63% 8 

 
3 - Overall, how sa�sfied are you with KPU's Journalism program curriculum? 

 

 
# Overall, how sa�sfied are you with KPU's Journalism program curriculum? Percentage 

1 Very dissa�sfied 25% 

2 Somewhat dissa�sfied 0% 

3 Neither sa�sfied nor dissa�sfied 0% 

4 Somewhat sa�sfied 0% 

5 Very sa�sfied 75% 

 Total number of respondents 8 

 



37 
 

4 - Thinking of KPU’s Journalism program's curriculum as a whole, please 
indicate the strengths of the program. 

Variety of courses offered. Range of topics covered. 
KPU's Journalism program provides students with a solid understanding of the role of media in a democracy. It encourages 
them to think cri�cally about the media they consume. I appreciate that it is open to students who do not intend to pursue 
journalism as a career as well as those who do. 
The KPU Journalism faculty are all successful journalism professionals, who are giving journalism students an excellent 
training for a future journalism career. 
The program's faculty members are experienced professionals in the field of journalism, bringing real-world experience and 
exper�se to the classroom. Many of the faculty members are ac�ve in the industry, con�nuing to work as journalists while 
teaching at KPU. This dedica�on to their work and the profession translates to a high level of professionalism and 
commitment to their students.  The program also provides students with opportuni�es for hands-on experience through 
internships and a prac�cum, allowing students to apply the skills they have learned in real-world situa�ons. The program's 
emphasis on prac�cal experience, combined with a strong theore�cal founda�on, ensures that graduates are well-prepared 
for careers in the media industry. 
It aligns with the purpose of a polytechnic, in that the majority of classes are prac�cal and hands-on. Students are able to 
gain experience through actually doing journalism, receiving guidance and feedback from instructors who work/worked in 
the industry. The curriculum should help prepare students for the real world. 
I believe we teach students a wide range of skills, including how to produce journalism using different media formats like 
video, audio, photography and data visualiza�on. I believe we also give students meaningful choices at the upper-levels to 
take courses in areas that they're par�cularly interested and passionate in. 
The program is flexible so that all types of learners can be successful. There is good breadth across technologies so students 
can produce writen and mul�media stories. 

 
5 - Thinking of KPU’s Journalism program's curriculum as a whole, please 
provide any sugges�ons you have for improvement. 

More hands on experience 
A journalism curriculum should always maintain professional standards and norms, while at the same �me embracing new 
ways of storytelling. That means enlarging the curriculum to include BIPOC and Indigenous journalism perspec�ves, as well, I 
suggest, a journalism FOR social change, such as climate change journalism, where journalists act as agents of change. What 
is journalism? and What is journalism for? are both pressing ques�ons currently engaging journalists and journalism 
instructors. 
To beter prepare students for their chosen career paths, programs could offer more specialized courses in addi�on to the 
core curriculum. 
We need to con�nue to seek guidance from outside the school, to make sure our curriculum evolves along with a changing 
industry. 
I think one of the central challenges of the program currently is that lower-level courses (in par�cular first-year courses) are 
taken overwhelmingly by non-journalism students as elec�ves, and in many cases by interna�onal students whose command 
of English is not very strong. This limits the ability to integrate meaningful journalism wri�ng assignments in courses like 
[Course Names Redacted]. This may leave students somewhat unprepared when they start taking more advanced journalism 
courses in the third and fourth year, especially those that involve a lot of wri�ng.  The problem is similar, though not 
iden�cal, for our second-year [Course Names Redacted]. Instructors have some�mes complained that most of the students 
in those courses are not serious about journalism. This, again, is perhaps a func�on of students ending up in those courses 
because they need an elec�ve and/or (wrongly) thinking such courses are going to be easy. We have had some discussions 
that [Course Name Redacted] may work beter as an upper-level 3000/4000 level course for that reason, as the students in it 
would then be more serious about journalism and about photography specifically (as those students who aren't interested in 
photography could take a different upper-level JRNL elec�ve).  I believe we have had some success as a program with making 
[Course Name Redacted] more of a founda�onal journalism course, with serious wri�ng assignments. The lower class cap for 
that course, and se�ng aside seats for Journalism Intended/Majors/Minors helps here, as it ensures most of the students in 
that class are planning to pursue a Journalism creden�al of some sort. I think we could perhaps build on the success of 
[Course Name Redacted] by having a "Part 2" required course a�er [Course Name Redacted] that would be designed 
primarily for journalism students. We could then have [Course Name Redacted] being a less wri�ng-intensive course that 
may be a beter fit for non-journalism students looking for a 2000-level elec�ve. 
Students would benefit from a mandatory ethics course and a deeper understanding of the fundamentals of repor�ng. 



38 
 

QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 4: EFFECTIVENESS OF INSTRUCTIONAL DELIVERY 

Instructional Design and Delivery 

Are appropriate opportuni�es provided to help students acquire the PLOs? 
6 - To what extent is KPU’s Journalism program helping students develop the 
following Program Learning Outcomes? 
Bachelor of Journalism (Honours) and Bachelor of Journalism 

 
Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the 
frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

Create writen and mul�media 
works of journalism using current 

industry standards and tools. 

Edit works of journalism 
produced by others, providing 

helpful and construc�ve 
feedback, and incorporate 

feedback from others  
Produce works of journalism that 

incorporate an understanding of the 
importance of diversity, inclusion, 
reconcilia�on, empathy, curiosity 

and persistence. 

Prac�ce the principles of sound 
news judgment in developing story 

ideas, deciding what stories to 
cover and how to structure 
i f �  ithi   t  

Conduct original research and 
repor�ng using a variety of different 

methods and resources and assess 
the reliability of different sources of 

informa�on. 

Cover newsworthy events and 
produce stories on deadline. 

Cri�que works of journalism, 
demonstra�ng media literacy, 

cri�cal thinking and an awareness 
of newsworthiness and the 

importance of diversity. 

Explain and apply the key 
concepts of journalism ethics and 

media law. 

Evaluate the role of journalism in a 
democra�c society, including an 
understanding of the history of 

the industry and its business 
 Evaluate the impact of media and 

communica�on technology on 
society, applying theories of mass 

communica�on and media 
studies. 



39 
 

# Ques�on Not 
at all 

A small 
extent 

A moderate 
extent 

A large 
extent Total 

1 Create writen and mul�media works of journalism using 
current industry standards and tools. 0% 0% 13% 88% 8 

2 
Edit works of journalism produced by others, providing helpful 

and construc�ve feedback, and incorporate feedback from 
others. 

0% 0% 50% 50% 8 

3 
Produce works of journalism that incorporate an understanding 

of the importance of diversity, inclusion, reconcilia�on, 
empathy, curiosity and persistence. 

0% 0% 13% 88% 8 

4 
Prac�ce the principles of sound news judgment in developing 

story ideas, deciding what stories to cover and how to structure 
informa�on within a story. 

0% 0% 13% 88% 8 

5 
Conduct original research and repor�ng using a variety of 

different methods and resources and assess the reliability of 
different sources of informa�on. 

0% 0% 13% 88% 8 

6 Cover newsworthy events and produce stories on deadline. 0% 0% 50% 50% 8 

7 
Cri�que works of journalism, demonstra�ng media literacy, 

cri�cal thinking and an awareness of newsworthiness and the 
importance of diversity. 

0% 0% 0% 100% 8 

8 Explain and apply the key concepts of journalism ethics and 
media law. 0% 0% 50% 50% 8 

9 
Evaluate the role of journalism in a democra�c society, 

including an understanding of the history of the industry and its 
business models. 

0% 0% 38% 63% 8 

10 
Evaluate the impact of media and communica�on technology 

on society, applying theories of mass communica�on and 
media studies. 

0% 0% 25% 75% 8 

 
Minor in Journalism 

 
Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the 
frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

Create writen and mul�media 
works of journalism using 

current industry standards and 
tools. 

Prac�ce the principles of sound 
news judgment in developing 

story ideas, deciding what stories 
to cover and how to structure 

informa�on within a story. 

Conduct original research and 
repor�ng using a variety of 

different methods and resources 
and assess the reliability of 

different sources of informa�on. 
Cri�que works of journalism, 

demonstra�ng media literacy, 
cri�cal thinking and an 

awareness of newsworthiness 
and the importance of diversity. 



40 
 

# Ques�on Not 
at all 

A small 
extent 

A moderate 
extent 

A large 
extent Total 

1 Create writen and mul�media works of journalism using 
current industry standards and tools. 0% 0% 50% 50% 8 

2 
Prac�ce the principles of sound news judgment in developing 

story ideas, deciding what stories to cover and how to structure 
informa�on within a story. 

0% 0% 50% 50% 8 

3 
Conduct original research and repor�ng using a variety of 

different methods and resources and assess the reliability of 
different sources of informa�on. 

0% 0% 75% 25% 8 

4 
Cri�que works of journalism, demonstra�ng media literacy, 

cri�cal thinking and an awareness of newsworthiness and the 
importance of diversity 

0% 0% 38% 63% 8 

 

Are appropriate opportuni�es provided to help students acquire the essen�al skills? 
7 - To what extent is KPU’s Journalism program helping students develop the 
following essen�al skills? 

 
Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the 
frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  



41 
 

# Ques�on Not at 
all 

A small 
extent 

A moderate 
extent 

A large 
extent Total 

1 Wri�ng clearly and concisely 0% 0% 38% 63% 8 

2 Speaking effec�vely 0% 0% 50% 50% 8 

3 Reading and comprehending material (appropriate 
to your field) 0% 0% 25% 75% 8 

4 Working effec�vely with others 0% 0% 38% 63% 8 

5 Analyzing and thinking cri�cally 0% 0% 25% 75% 8 

6 Resolving issues or other problems 0% 0% 63% 38% 8 

7 Learning on your own 0% 0% 38% 63% 8 

 

Does the program design ensure students are prepared for subsequent courses? 
8 - Thinking of KPU's Journalism program as a whole, to what extent do you 
agree that the prerequisites offered prepare students for more advanced 
courses? 

 

 
# Thinking of KPU's Journalism program as a whole, to what extent do you agree that the prerequisites 

offered prepare students for more advanced courses? Percentage 

1 Strongly disagree 13% 

2 Somewhat disagree 0% 

3 Neither agree nor disagree 0% 

4 Somewhat agree 63% 

5 Strongly agree 25% 

 Total number of respondents 8 

 
 
  



42 
 

Does the instruc�on meet the needs of diverse learners? 
9 - Thinking of how the program’s courses are delivered, please indicate your 
agreement with the following. 

 

 
# Ques�on Strongly 

disagree 
Somewhat 

disagree 
Neither agree 

nor disagree 
Somewhat 

agree 
Strongly 

agree Total 

1 Mul�ple learning modali�es are 
accommodated. 0% 0% 0% 43% 57% 7 

2 The delivery of the curriculum is 
effec�ve. 0% 0% 0% 13% 88% 8 

3 
Course materials reflect current 

developments in the 
discipline/sector. 

0% 0% 0% 38% 63% 8 

4 
Instructors create a learning 

environment that makes students 
feel safe and included. 

0% 0% 0% 0% 100% 8 

  



43 
 

10 - Overall, how sa�sfied are you with the quality of instruc�on across the 
program? 

 
# Overall, how sa�sfied are you with the quality of instruc�on across the program? Percentage 

1 Very dissa�sfied 13% 

2 Somewhat dissa�sfied 0% 

3 Neither sa�sfied nor dissa�sfied 0% 

4 Somewhat sa�sfied 13% 

5 Very sa�sfied 75% 

 Total number of respondents 8 

 
11 - Thinking of how instruc�on is delivered across the program as a whole, 
please indicate the strengths of the program instruc�on. 

Instructors have personal experience in the industry which, I believe, is extremely valuable to the students. 
Overall, I believe the program is known for its high-quality instruc�on and its focus on prac�cal training and mentorship. 
Students have access to dedicated and passionate instructors who are commited to helping them succeed in the field of 
journalism. 
The instructors in this department are experienced journalists, with years of real-world experience, who are very good at 
sharing their knowledge with students. 
Overall, the instructors in the program — both regular faculty and sessional instructors — are excellent, with a love of 
teaching, a commitment to constant improvement and a deep care for their students. I feel lucky to work with so many 
dedicated, enthusias�c colleagues. 
The instructors are caring and understanding, with strong professional experience in journalism and communica�ons. 

 
12 - Thinking of how instruc�on is delivered across the program as a whole, 
please provide any sugges�ons you have for improvements in program 
instruc�on. 

While individuals in this department are extremely suppor�ve of each other, there could be more formal instruc�on on 
course planning and instruc�on. 
none 

  



44 
 

Do the assessment methods allow students to demonstrate to what extent they have achieved 
the learning outcomes? 
13 - Thinking of how learning is assessed in the program courses you teach, 
indicate your agreement with the following. 

 

 
# Ques�on Strongly 

disagree 
Somewhat 

disagree 
Neither agree 

nor disagree 
Somewhat 

agree 
Strongly 

agree Total 

1 Assessment methods align with 
program learning outcomes. 0% 0% 0% 38% 63% 8 

2 
The range of assessments let 

students demonstrate what they 
have learned. 

0% 0% 0% 13% 88% 8 

3 
Students are provided clear 

informa�on on how they will be 
evaluated. 

0% 0% 0% 0% 100% 8 

4 
The assessment standards are 

consistent throughout the 
program. 

0% 0% 0% 50% 50% 8 

  



45 
 

QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 5: RESOURCES, SERVICES AND FACILITIES 

Program Resources, Services and Facilities 

Does the program have the library and learning resources needed to deliver the curriculum? 

14 - How well are the following library resources mee�ng the program’s needs? 

 
Note that “not at all” and “somewhat well” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the 
frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “somewhat well” categories. 

# Ques�on Have not 
used 

Not at 
all 

Somewhat 
well 

Very 
well 

Extremely 
well Total 

1 Availability of audio-visual and computer 
equipment 25% 0% 0% 25% 50% 8 

2 Books 50% 0% 0% 25% 25% 8 
3 eBooks 50% 0% 13% 13% 25% 8 
4 Online resources -  journal ar�cles, etc. 38% 0% 13% 25% 25% 8 
5 Print periodicals, journals, etc. 38% 0% 0% 13% 50% 8 
6 Study guides 50% 0% 0% 25% 25% 8 

7 DVDs/streaming video on program-related 
topics 50% 0% 13% 13% 25% 8 

8 Librarian support for program-related 
research 50% 0% 13% 25% 13% 8 

9 Library orienta�on 38% 0% 13% 25% 25% 8 

10 Access to photo and video equipment for 
sign out 38% 0% 0% 25% 38% 8 



46 
 

Does the program have the specialized technology needed to deliver the curriculum?  
15 - How sa�sfied are you with the following specialized technology as they 
apply to KPU's Journalism program? 

 

 

# Ques�on 
Have 

not 
used 

Very 
dissa�sfied 

Somewhat 
dissa�sfied 

Neither sa�sfied 
nor dissa�sfied 

Somewhat 
sa�sfied 

Very 
sa�sfied Total 

1 
So�ware - Adobe 

Premiere and Adobe 
Photoshop, etc. 

0% 0% 0% 13% 25% 63% 8 

2 Digital cameras 38% 0% 0% 0% 50% 13% 8 

 
Does the program have the facili�es needed to deliver the curriculum?  
16 - How sa�sfied are you with the Mac Lab facility? 

 

 
# How sa�sfied are you with the Mac Lab facility? Percentage 

1 Very dissa�sfied 25% 

2 Somewhat dissa�sfied 0% 

3 Neither sa�sfied nor dissa�sfied 13% 

4 Somewhat sa�sfied 13% 

5 Very sa�sfied 50% 

 Total number of respondents 8 
 



47 
 

Does the program have the support services needed to deliver the curriculum? 

17 - How well are the following services mee�ng the program’s needs? 

 
Note that “not at all” and “somewhat well” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the 
frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “somewhat well” categories. 

# Ques�on Have not used/Don't 
know 

Not at 
all 

Somewhat 
well 

Very 
well 

Extremely 
well Total 

1 Availability of required texts at the 
KPU bookstore 13% 0% 25% 25% 38% 8 

2 Advising Services 25% 0% 13% 25% 38% 8 

3 Career Services 50% 0% 13% 13% 25% 8 

4 Accessibility Services 25% 0% 0% 25% 50% 8 

 
  



48 
 

About You 
18 - Do you iden�fy as Indigenous? 

# Do you iden�fy as Indigenous? Percentage 

1 Yes 0% 

2 No 100% 

3 Prefer not to answer 0% 

 Total number of respondents 8 

 
19 - Do you iden�fy as Black or a Person of Colour? 

# Do you iden�fy as Black or a Person of Colour? Percentage 

1 Yes 13% 

2 No 75% 

3 Prefer not to answer 13% 

 Total number of respondents 8 

 
20 - Do you iden�fy as 2SLGBTQ+? 

# Do you iden�fy as 2SLGBTQ+? Percentage 

1 Yes 13% 

2 No 88% 

3 Prefer not to answer 0% 

 Total number of respondents 8 

 
21 - Do you have a disability (e.g., physical, learning, sensory, etc.) or 
ongoing/recurring psychological or medical condi�on? 

# Do you have a disability (e.g., physical, learning, sensory, etc.) or ongoing/recurring psychological or 
medical condi�on? Percentage 

1 Yes 25% 

2 No 75% 

3 Prefer not to answer 0% 

 Total number of respondents 8 

 
22 - If you answered Yes to any of the ques�ons above and would like to provide 
more details on the specific groups you iden�fy as a member of, please do so 
here. 

Hearing disabled 

  



49 
 

23 - To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following statement? 
KPU’s Journalism program is making good progress addressing issues of equity, 
diversity, and inclusion. 

 

 
# To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following statement?   KPU’s Journalism program is 

making good progress addressing issues of equity, diversity, and inclusion. Percentage 

1 Strongly disagree 25% 
2 Somewhat disagree 0% 
3 Neither agree nor disagree 0% 
4 Somewhat agree 38% 
5 Strongly agree 38% 
 Total number of respondents 8 

 
24 - To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following statement? 
KPU’s Journalism program is making good progress addressing issue of 
decoloniza�on. 

 

 
# To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following statement?   KPU’s Journalism program is 

making good progress addressing issue of decoloniza�on. Percentage 

1 Strongly disagree 25% 
2 Somewhat disagree 0% 
3 Neither agree nor disagree 0% 
4 Somewhat agree 50% 
5 Strongly agree 25% 
 Total number of respondents 8 

 
  



50 
 

Appendix 6: Discipline/Sector Survey Results 
 
Journalism Program Review – Discipline/Sector Survey Results 
The discipline/sector survey was sent to 20 Journalism discipline/sector representa�ves. A total of 12 
discipline/sector representa�ves responded. The response rate is 60%. 
 
Note: The data includes open-ended comments. In order to preserve integrity and objec�vity, OPA does not do 
value-judgment edi�ng (i.e. we do not fix spelling errors, syntax issues, punctua�on, etc.). Comments are included 
verba�m – with one excep�on: if individuals or courses are named, OPA redacts the name of the instructor or 
course. This rule applies to whether the comment is good, bad or indifferent. 
 

About Your Organization/Role 

1 - Which sector best describes your organiza�on/business? 

# Which sector best describes your organiza�on/business? - Selected 
Choice Percentage Count 

 News Media   

1 TV 8% 1 

2 Radio 8% 1 

3 Newspaper 33% 4 

4 Magazine 8% 1 

5 Online Only 42% 5 

6 Other. Please specify 17% 2 

 Communica�ons/Public Rela�ons   

7 Government 8% 1 

8 Private Sector 0% 0 

9 Non-Profit/Charity 8% 1 

10 PR Firm 0% 0 

11 Other. Please specify 8% 1 

12 Other. Please specify 8% 1 

  Total number of 
respondents 12 

 
Note: The last row presents the total number of respondents. The total number of responses for this ques�on is greater than 
the number of respondents. Therefore, the percentage total exceeds 100%. 
Q1_6_TEXT - Other. Please specify (News Media) 

Newsleter 

Daily online newsleter 
 

Q1_11_TEXT - Other. Please specify (Communica�ons/Public Rela�ons) 
Marke�ng and Communica�ons Agency 

 

Q1_12_TEXT - Other. Please specify 
Public Sector 

2 - What is your current job �tle/role? 
Senior Editor 



51 
 

Reporter 
Publisher / Editor in Chief 
Public Affairs Manager 
Na�onal Director, Brand Marke�ng & Communica�ons 
Managing editor 
Managing editor 
Editorial Director 
Editor-in-chief 
Editor 
Chief Execu�ve Officer, Northern Development 
COO & Director of Marke�ng and Communica�ons 

 

3 - How familiar are you with KPU’s Journalism program? 

 
Note that “not at all familiar” and “slightly familiar” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the 
frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all familiar” and “slightly familiar” categories 

# How familiar are you with KPU’s Journalism program? Percentage 

1 Not at all familiar 0% 
2 Slightly familiar 17% 
3 Moderately familiar 42% 
4 Very familiar 42% 
 Total number of respondents 12 

 

4 - When you think about KPU’s Journalism program, what are the top three 
characteris�cs that come to mind? 

Characteris�c #1 Characteris�c #2 Characteris�c #3 

prac�cal community-minded accessible 
flexibility job-ready depth 
The one that isn't Langara The place [Instructor Name Redacted] works Metro Van 
Extensive Thorough On top of news media trends 
Applied Mul�media Comprehensive 
"working journalist" instructors "job readiness" hands-on / small program size 
Community-focused Prac�cal Suppor�ve 
Efficient Founda�onal Helpful 
Print-focused Smaller program  

 
  



52 
 

QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 3: PROGRAM RELEVANCE AND DEMAND 

Program Relevance  

Are the program learning outcomes relevant to the current needs of the discipline/sector?  

5 - Considering the needs and expecta�ons of your organiza�on, how important 
is it for an entry-level employee to be able to demonstrate the following? 
-

 
 

Create writen and mul�media 
works of journalism using 

current industry standards and 
tools. 

Edit works of journalism 
produced by others, providing 

helpful and construc�ve 
feedback, and incorporate 

feedback from others. 

Produce works of journalism that 
incorporate an understanding of 

the importance of diversity, 
inclusion, reconcilia�on, empathy, 

curiosity and persistence. 
Prac�ce the principles of sound 

news judgment in developing story 
ideas, deciding what stories to cover 

and how to structure informa�on 
within a story. 

Conduct original research and 
repor�ng using a variety of 

different methods and resources 
and assess the reliability of 

different sources of informa�on. 

Cover newsworthy events and 
produce stories on deadline. 

Cri�que works of journalism, 
demonstra�ng media literacy, 

cri�cal thinking and an 
awareness of newsworthiness 

and the importance of diversity. 

Explain and apply the key 
concepts of journalism ethics 

and media law. 

Evaluate the role of journalism 
in a democra�c society, 

including an understanding of 
the history of the industry and 

   
Evaluate the impact of media 

and communica�on technology 
on society, applying theories of 

mass communica�on and media 
studies. 



53 
 

# Ques�on Not at all 
important 

Somewhat 
important 

Very 
important Essen�al Total 

1 Create writen and mul�media works of journalism 
using current industry standards and tools. 9% 0% 18% 73% 11 

2 
Edit works of journalism produced by others, 

providing helpful and construc�ve feedback, and 
incorporate feedback from others. 

45% 18% 27% 9% 11 

3 

Produce works of journalism that incorporate an 
understanding of the importance of diversity, 

inclusion, reconcilia�on, empathy, curiosity and 
persistence. 

9% 27% 18% 45% 11 

4 
Prac�ce the principles of sound news judgment in 

developing story ideas, deciding what stories to cover 
and how to structure informa�on within a story. 

9% 0% 36% 55% 11 

5 

Conduct original research and repor�ng using a 
variety of different methods and resources and 

assess the reliability of different sources of 
informa�on. 

9% 9% 36% 45% 11 

6 Cover newsworthy events and produce stories on 
deadline. 9% 27% 18% 45% 11 

7 
Cri�que works of journalism, demonstra�ng media 

literacy, cri�cal thinking and an awareness of 
newsworthiness and the importance of diversity. 

18% 27% 45% 9% 11 

8 Explain and apply the key concepts of journalism 
ethics and media law. 9% 55% 27% 9% 11 

9 
Evaluate the role of journalism in a democra�c 

society, including an understanding of the history of 
the industry and its business models. 

18% 73% 9% 0% 11 

10 
Evaluate the impact of media and communica�on 

technology on society, applying theories of mass 
communica�on and media studies. 

27% 55% 18% 0% 11 

 

6 - What other skills, training or knowledge should an entry-level applicant have 
to be hired into your organiza�on? 

Excellent command of the language, including spelling, grammar and sentence structure Professionalism, maturity, a 
willingness to accept feedback and to cover a wide range of stories, whether or not they are of personal interest. 
- As fully developed sentence- and paragraph-level grammar and structure skills as possible. - Principals of layout: 
understanding how stories complement one another. Newspaper layout skills are in high demand and also highly translatable 
to online design and newsleter design. - The ability to write headlines, subheds for different venues (social media, headlines, 
newsleter subject lines) - Use of math and sta�s�cs, and combining it with cri�cal thinking skills to allow one to iden�fy bad 
or misleading math and sta�s�cs 
Trauma-informed repor�ng techniques. Basic digital photography and photo edi�ng skills. 
Industriousness and a strong work ethic; aten�on to detail and an understanding of why details mater; a commitment to 
learning, an openness to feedback and the ability to apply feedback to their work; diverse and regular news consump�on; the 
ability to develop sources and source rela�onships; how to generate story ideas and how to pitch them 
given that our organiza�on is not that of a news outlet, but a non-profit, our skill asks may be slightly less aligned with the 
straight journalism program, BUT here are my top three:  1. Being able to write well-sourced, newsworthy ar�cles in a 
journalis�c format (applicable both to being able to generate press releases that 'read like a story', and write stories for 
internal and external audiences.   2. Social media: an understanding of how the content for social differs from a tradi�onal 
channel, and an ability to execute on that content across various social channels.  3. Rela�onship management: interpersonal 
skills that help you excel at 'ge�ng the story'. 
-The importance of video in online journalism (it's what's mone�zable) -How to create AND source video -The importance of 
understanding and knowing your audience 
We're not a media organiza�on but rather a public sector ins�tu�on. The tradi�onal applica�on of journalism skills is not 
necessary here, however, we highly value candidates who have the ability to research, write and disseminate complicated 



54 
 

informa�on to an audience of decision makers. We also highly value the interpersonal skillset that journalism school 
graduates and prac��oners bring to our field. Further, a journalist's ability to determine what's real and what isn't - their 
bullshit detector - is highly valued in our organiza�on and the public sector broadly. 
A wide range of content crea�on skills - from copy to visuals to audio. Just understanding storytelling from a journalism and 
corporate level. 
Ability to understand construc�ve feedback with story development. Clear and strong understanding of CP style and basic 
grammar and punctua�on. Knowledge of what SEO and digital storytelling needs to include for reach. Understanding how to 
cover breaking news in today's world. 

7 - What are the emerging trends in the sector that KPU Journalism students 
should be prepared for? These trends might include technology, sustainability, 
and innova�on. Please be as specific as you are able to. 

- Newsleter design techniques are increasingly useful. - The need to capture the complexity of thought and opinion not only 
between communi�es but within communi�es. - The desperate need for ambi�ous journalists outside of big ci�es 
Data visualiza�on. Social media videos for promo�ng your stories. 
The demand for sharper, shorter work on �ghter deadlines; understanding the business, societal, democra�c and ethical 
ques�ons raised by the adop�on and integra�on of AI in journalism; a con�nued and disintegra�ng lack of trust in media in 
general, and the personal impact that can have on journalists 
A near-complete reliance on being able to work virtually, especially in the non-profit world when virtual connec�ons  = 
lowered opera�onal costs (no using donor dollars for unnecessary travel). Video interviewing via zoom/teams/etc. is so much 
the norm, and being able to develop a 'rela�onship' with an interview subject in that virtual environment is--thanks to the 
pandemic and its fallout--essen�al.   A student should also be tuned into all things Jus�ce, Equity, Diversity & Inclusion (JEDI) 
or similar such themes, being aware of how those things create the makeup of a workplace, as well provide the lens through 
which a lot of story telling needs to be seen. 
To get the best founda�on in journalism post-gradua�on, students should prepare more than ever to seek a job at a smaller 
opera�on. That's where you will get vital experience out in the field. Because the industry had to learn how to gather and 
deliver news from home during the pandemic, I believe there are fewer entry-level roles that give proper in-the-field 
experience at larger organiza�ons. E.g. arriving at a fire and trying to figure out what's going on, naviga�ng a news 
conference, honing your interview skills. Students would be wise to seek roles that WILL get them out there repor�ng, and 
not simply processing content at their desk all day. This is the experience I feel our younger employees are losing. 
N/A 
How to u�lize AI into their work, and to effec�vely differen�ate themselves, but also how to prepare for life a�er journalism 
— whether that's moving into the corporate or agency space. Understanding what skills are more transferable than others, 
and knowing what skillsets to enhance. 
Digital audience and reach – namely, the building blocks that impact growing readership: �mely storytelling, headline wri�ng, 
digital mul�media (which looks different than tradi�onal broadcast). An understanding of the reali�es journalists face today – 
conflict, confronta�on and cri�cism that is not limited to in-person readers – and a conceptualiza�on of self-care coping skills 
in how they'd work through these issues (in addi�on to/outside of corporate mental wellness supports offered to 
employees). 

 
  



55 
 

QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 4: EFFECTIVENESS OF INSTRUCTIONAL DELIVERY 

Career and Further Educa�on Preparedness 

Are graduates of the program successful? 

8 - Which of the following best describes your previous experience with students 
and/or alumni in KPU’s Journalism program? Please select all that apply. 

# Which of the following best describes your previous experience with students and/or alumni in 
KPU’s Journalism program? Please select all that apply. Percentage 

1 I have hosted KPU Journalism co-op, prac�cum or internship students. 50% 

2 I have worked with KPU Journalism students on class projects. 10% 

3 I have worked with KPU Journalism alumni. 0% 

4 None of the above 40% 

 Total number of respondents 10 

 
9 - Based on your experience, how prepared were KPU’s Journalism co-op, 
prac�cum or internship students to work in your organiza�on? 

 
Note that “not at all prepared” and “somewhat prepared” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please 
use the frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all prepared” and “somewhat prepared” categories.  

# Based on your experience, how prepared were KPU’s Journalism co-op, prac�cum or internship students 
to work in your organiza�on? Percentage 

1 Not at all prepared 0% 

2 Somewhat prepared 80% 

3 Very well prepared 20% 

4 Extremely well prepared 0% 

 Total number of respondents 5 
 

10 - Based on your experience, how prepared were the KPU Journalism students 
you worked with on class projects? 
Not enough responses to report. 
 
11 - Based on your experience, how prepared were KPU’s Journalism alumni to 
work in your organiza�on? 
No responses to report. 
 
12 - Please comment on how well the program is preparing students for work. 

My sample size of students is not high enough to evaluate this. 
KPU does an excellent job preparing students to prac�ce journalism. The applied focus of the program is cri�cal and sets the 
program apart. Grounding this work in academics and theory is also important. Students come out of this program ready to 
work, keen to do so. 



56 
 

The more the program can do in these areas to prepare students for internships, the beter:  -What is the news here? Why do 
people care? Picking out the lede/headline from a news release or presser.  -Knowing the key newsmakers and big stories in 
that market. And it helps to know some of the big personali�es at the organiza�on as well -- not a great look if you don't 
know who their 6pm anchor is.  -How to get comfortable sharing ideas and asking ques�ons during your internship, if you're 
not. Shyness/being in�midated is very real. But figure out how to face that so that you can engage and get the most out of 
your �me there. (Hint: Interns who pitch ideas, ask ques�ons, ask to learn something or shadow, who take ini�a�ve are the 
ones who stand out for possible jobs.) 
In my experience, many gradua�ng students tend to have an outdated understanding of newspaper legacy publica�ons that 
do not reflect how the transforma�on into a digital space has changed the responsibili�es and expecta�ons of a well-
rounded journalist. However, I should note that some have picked this understanding up quickly and perhaps are just not 
connec�ng their learnings to how they can be applied in a modern newsroom (IE they have minimal experience to refer to). 
Some have showcased litle-to-no mul�media skills/experience, including photography and basic videography. In today's 
world, these are essen�al skills that they need to feel confident in.  As an aside: A major deal-breaker is their lack of 
willingness to move outside of the Lower Mainland or their lack of a driver's licence. 

 

QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 3: PROGRAM RELEVANCE AND DEMAND 

Program’s Connec�ons 

Does the program have the connec�ons to the discipline/sector to remain current?  
13 - How sa�sfied are you with the opportuni�es you have to stay connected to 
KPU’s Journalism program? 

 

 
# How sa�sfied are you with the opportuni�es you have to stay connected to KPU’s Journalism program? Percentage 

1 Very dissa�sfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissa�sfied 20% 

3 Neither sa�sfied nor dissa�sfied 30% 

4 Somewhat sa�sfied 20% 

5 Very sa�sfied 30% 

 Total number of respondents 10 

 
14 - What can KPU’s Journalism program do to build beter connec�ons with the 
discipline/sector? 

I think it does a good job of proac�vely fostering connec�ons. 
More opportuni�es to connect with current students and alumni. Perhaps there is an opportunity to form a journalism-
focused chapter with the KPU Alumni Associa�on (with occasional networking events that are open to others in the industry, 
as well as current students). 
given the constantly changing media landscape and the insecurity that o�en presents itself in tradi�onal media spaces, I 
think it's wise of the journalism program to be reaching out to other areas (such as non-profit, public rela�ons firms, 



57 
 

government communica�ons shops, etc) where the skill sets of journalists are highly valued. Students may not immediately 
think of these places to prac�ce their 'journalism' skills, but they are great avenues of opportunity. 
Ask mul�ple leaders at an organiza�on if they want to come speak to a class. Our gain is more students wan�ng to apply for 
jobs because they've met one of us and heard about what we do. 
I would recommend program staff consider more broadly how journalism student skillsets could be u�lized in a variety of 
professions outside of the tradi�onal media sphere. This creates poten�al career opportuni�es for students who study 
journalism but are open to careers in other fields. The skillset gained is unique, highly valuable and far more applicable to 
today's work environment that program staff had tradi�onally considered. 
I'm not as involved with journalism anymore, so not sure. 

Longer Co-op/internships so editors can beter connect with journalists and create in-roads to employment post-gradua�on. 

 
15 - Please rate your level of interest in par�cipa�ng in projects that connect 
program students with the industry or sector. 

# Please rate your level of interest in par�cipa�ng in projects that connect program students with the 
industry or sector. Percentage 

1 Not at all interested 0% 

2 Somewhat interested 80% 

3 Very interested 20% 

 Total number of respondents 10 

 
16 - Please share any project ideas you have to connect program students with 
the industry. 

Wri�ng profiles of people is extremely useful and the simplicity of those stories allows for refinement of voice, and for 
placement in publica�ons. 
Being able to offer mentoring or working opportuni�es--even if only for a short term--are appealing. Or, having program 
grads that work in varying industries come in to share their experience with students is a great connec�on. Guest lectures 
'Ask Me Anything' sessions. 
I have no ability to connect students to the media industry. However, I am interested in high-performing students and recent 
graduates from the program who wish to use their research, wri�ng and communica�on skills for a broader public good. 
It would more be with storytelling on a brand / corporate level. 
Longer-term internships, specifically ones that are full days over a few weeks.  A summer longer-form mul�media series that 
is paid through an honorarium (we do something similar to this with Langara and it is sponsored by a bursary-type program) 

 
  



58 
 

Appendix 7: Alumni Survey Results 
 
Journalism Program Review - Alumni Survey Results 
The alumni survey was sent to 105 Journalism alumni. A total of 9 alumni responded. The response rate 
is 9%. 
 
Note: The data includes open-ended comments. In order to preserve integrity and objec�vity, OPA does not do 
value-judgment edi�ng (i.e. we do not fix spelling errors, syntax issues, punctua�on, etc.). Comments are included 
verba�m – with one excep�on: if individuals or courses are named, OPA redacts the name of the instructor or 
course. This rule applies to whether the comment is good, bad or indifferent. 
 

1 - What is the highest creden�al you have earned in KPU’s Journalism program? 

# What is the highest creden�al you have earned in KPU’s Journalism program? Percentage 

1 Bachelor of Journalism (Honours) 0% 

2 Bachelor of Journalism 100% 

3 Minor in Journalism 0% 

 Total number of respondents 9 

 
2 - When did you complete KPU’s Journalism program? 

# When did you complete this creden�al? Percentage 

1 2022 33% 

2 2021 0% 

3 2020 0% 

4 2019 22% 

5 2018 11% 

6 2023 0% 

7 2017 22% 

8 2016 11% 

9 2015 0% 

 Total number of respondents 9 

 

 
  



59 
 

QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 3: PROGRAM RELEVANCE AND DEMAND 

Program Relevance   

Are the program learning outcomes relevant to the current needs of the discipline/sector? 
3 - Program Learning Outcomes are statements that describe the knowledge and 
skills students will have upon comple�on of a program. Please indicate how 
relevant each of the following Program Learning Outcomes was to your career 
goals. 
Bachelor of Journalism 

 
Note that “not at all” and “slightly relevant” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the 
frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all relevant” and “slightly relevant” categories. 

Create writen and mul�media 
works of journalism using current 

industry standards and tools. 

Edit works of journalism 
produced by others, providing 

helpful and construc�ve 
feedback, and incorporate 

   Produce works of journalism that incorporate 
an understanding of the importance of 

diversity, inclusion, reconcilia�on, empathy, 
curiosity and persistence. 

Prac�ce the principles of sound 
news judgment in developing story 

ideas, deciding what stories to 
cover and how to structure 

    
Conduct original research and repor�ng 
using a variety of different methods and 

resources and assess the reliability of 
different sources of informa�on. 

Cover newsworthy events and 
produce stories on deadline. 

Cri�que works of journalism, 
demonstra�ng media literacy, 

cri�cal thinking and an awareness 
of newsworthiness and the 

importance of diversity. 

Explain and apply the key concepts 
of journalism ethics and media 

law. 

Evaluate the role of journalism in a 
democra�c society, including an 

understanding of the history of the 
industry and its business models  

Evaluate the impact of media and 
communica�on technology on 

society, applying theories of mass 
communica�on and media studies. 



60 
 

# Ques�on Not at all 
relevant 

Slightly 
relevant 

Somewhat 
relevant 

Very 
relevant Total 

1 Create writen and mul�media works of journalism using 
current industry standards and tools. 0% 11% 11% 78% 9 

2 
Edit works of journalism produced by others, providing 

helpful and construc�ve feedback, and incorporate feedback 
from others. 

11% 0% 11% 78% 9 

3 
Produce works of journalism that incorporate an 

understanding of the importance of diversity, inclusion, 
reconcilia�on, empathy, curiosity and persistence. 

0% 11% 0% 89% 9 

4 
Prac�ce the principles of sound news judgment in 

developing story ideas, deciding what stories to cover and 
how to structure informa�on within a story. 

0% 11% 22% 67% 9 

5 
Conduct original research and repor�ng using a variety of 

different methods and resources and assess the reliability of 
different sources of informa�on. 

0% 0% 22% 78% 9 

6 Cover newsworthy events and produce stories on deadline. 0% 0% 56% 44% 9 

7 
Cri�que works of journalism, demonstra�ng media literacy, 

cri�cal thinking and an awareness of newsworthiness and 
the importance of diversity. 

0% 22% 33% 44% 9 

8 Explain and apply the key concepts of journalism ethics and 
media law. 0% 22% 33% 44% 9 

9 
Evaluate the role of journalism in a democra�c society, 

including an understanding of the history of the industry 
and its business models. 

0% 33% 22% 44% 9 

10 
Evaluate the impact of media and communica�on 

technology on society, applying theories of mass 
communica�on and media studies. 

0% 33% 11% 56% 9 

 
Minor in Journalism 
No responses to report. 
 
4 - The program curriculum is the academic content taught in a specific program. 
Overall, how sa�sfied are you with the curriculum of KPU's Journalism program? 

 
# The program curriculum is the academic content taught in a specific program. Overall, how sa�sfied are 

you with the curriculum of KPU's Journalism program? Percentage 

1 Very dissa�sfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissa�sfied 0% 

3 Neither sa�sfied nor dissa�sfied 0% 

4 Somewhat sa�sfied 78% 

5 Very sa�sfied 22% 

 Total number of respondents 9 



61 
 

5 - Thinking of KPU’s Journalism program's curriculum as a whole, please 
indicate the strengths of the program. 

Instruc�ons with lots of prac�cal knowledge, good knowledge on structuring and crea�ng journalis�c works. 
The required courses in the Journalism program (at the �me) allowed students to learn diverse repor�ng methods such as 
writen, photography, video and radio. The variety helped provide a guideline on different career op�ons in the journalism 
world. 
Small class sizes opportunity for collabora�on and focused feedback from instructors. Teaching how to incorporate principles 
of equity and diversity as well as cri�cal thinking skills into researching and wri�ng. More affordable than other programs. 
The focus on mul�media was very helpful as well as learning to file FOIs and doing deep-dives into topics and learning to 
structure long-form stories was very beneficial. 
Strong focus on wri�ng and narra�ve structure 
Wri�ng skill emphasis, reading, media cri�que. The skill of asking ques�ons with the intent to explain things to the reader. 
Understanding why another person has arrived to their conclusions 
Great instructors. Small class sizes. Hands-on learning and tons of access to resources. 

 
6 - Thinking of KPU’s Journalism program's curriculum as a whole, please 
provide any sugges�ons you have for improvement. 

There should be educa�on on freelancing, how to get into it, and how to excel in this, which wasn't spoken about at all 
during my term. I found there too be too much overlap from the same instructors in different classes in the program, such as 
over-repe��on of "storytelling" and how broad that could be. The newer instructors had lots of recent and relevant industry 
knowledge, but the full �me instructor [Instructor Name Redacted] did not have this it seemed. I feel my educa�on could 
have been beter had there been more diversity on instructors and course op�ons. [Course Name Redacted] specifically I 
learnt nothing and found this class essen�ally useless, which was very disappoin�ng. I also found some of the 
communica�ons courses had too much theory and not enough prac�cal knowledge for learning. It would have been more 
useful to have communica�ons classes especially relate more towards modern day subjects and ideas, which students could 
relate to journalism. There was also no op�on to learn about edi�ng during my three year term in the program, which is an 
essen�al part of journalism and the industry, but I didn't know it while studying. A few instructors only explained how 
difficult it would be for students to find job, and I would have preferred to have support on the best ways to stand out a�er 
finishing this program instead of hearing I won't be able to find a job. 
It would be beneficial for all journalism students to have at least one semester of work experience or internship. While The 
Runner is a great opportunity for students to prac�ce wri�ng and publishing stories, it doesn't give students the best 
opportunity to connect with the community as much as. 
Maybe focusing less on print as a medium and exploring diverse journalism career trajectories and paths that exist outside 
tradi�onal newsrooms i.e. looking at successful journalists who have 'day jobs' to supplement their income, and highligh�ng 
how journalism skills can be useful in a variety of other professions. There should probably be a class on how AI is impac�ng  
the distribu�on and consump�on of informa�on and what that means for journalism. 
In my experience, inclusivity in newsrooms is s�ll not as common as it should be and so I think having instructors or special 
guests coming into classes to speak about how to combat toxicity or oppression in newsrooms would have been very helpful. 
Offering mul�ple opportuni�es for co-ops and internships, as opposed to once a year for fourth-years only. 

Classes could use more prac�cal exercises to produce content faster and on deadline, no mater the medium. 
A stronger push for students to get involved with The Runner. Beter prepara�on for the job at hand, but I've heard 
prac�cums are more normal now. A beter emphasis on interviewing people the student disagrees with would be an 
improvement. Pu�ng an emphasis on ge�ng to the point in the first sentence or two as opposed to meandering for a whole 
paragraph, this was something I saw a lot from new writers at The Runner. Safety and other techniques during civil unrest 
events may also be an asset. It would also be good to have some serious stuff covering libel law, maybe have a law prof teach 
a class on that.  It generally felt like the program put more emphasis on reading what other journalists said about journalism, 
and less emphasis on running outside, talking to people, taking photos, etc, just doing the job. I learned more during my first 
6 months at the Runner than I probably did in my whole 4 years in the program. 
More work experience opportuni�es. I didn't get experience in a newsroom un�l 4th year. 

 
  



62 
 

7 - What topics, if any, were missing from the program? 
Freelance including how to get into it, how to find work, what publica�ons may be looking for, edi�ng - in terms of edi�ng 
other peoples work, or edi�ng work for specific publica�ons and how that process works. And, informa�on and support to 
finding jobs, and what employers are looking for in employees. 
Social media is a growing medium for many media publica�ons. It would be great to have a course or a bigger sec�on for 
students to learn how to properly report on social media apps as, unfortunately, many big media groups are turning away 
from print and towards digital. 
More tech journalism would have been nice a la Andy Greenberg or Nicole Perlroth. Business and financial journalism should 
be required, not being fully informed on what a company is or how it works internally is a big shor�all for a lot of journalists. 
Gonzo journalism would be fun. Labour and health are big topics too. A seminar exclusively focusing on local communi�es 
would be interes�ng, like "Surrey News 101" where students examine local issues and how they are reported on by different 
sources. Music journalism would be a hit with students. 
Tips on finding new and crea�ve story ideas, especially for small communi�es and interview techniques for inves�ga�ve 
interviews 
Video and radio related content, well-researched opinion wri�ng 

More data journalism and an overlap on some SEO and basic web dev stuff to make your resume stand out. 

  



63 
 

QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 4: EFFECTIVENESS OF INSTRUCTIONAL DELIVERY 

Instructional Design and Delivery 

Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the PLOs? 

8 - To what extent did KPU’s Journalism program help you develop each of the 
following Program Learning Outcomes? 
Bachelor of Journalism 

 
Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the 
frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

Create writen and mul�media 
works of journalism using current 

industry standards and tools. 

Edit works of journalism produced 
by others, providing helpful and 

construc�ve feedback, and 
incorporate feedback from others. 

Produce works of journalism that incorporate 
an understanding of the importance of 

diversity, inclusion, reconcilia�on, empathy, 
curiosity and persistence. 

Prac�ce the principles of sound news 
judgment in developing story ideas, 

deciding what stories to cover and 
how to structure informa�on within a 

 
Conduct original research and 

repor�ng using a variety of different 
methods and resources and assess the 

reliability of different sources of 
informa�on. 

Cover newsworthy events and 
produce stories on deadline. 

Cri�que works of journalism, 
demonstra�ng media literacy, 

cri�cal thinking and an awareness 
of newsworthiness and the 

importance of diversity. 

Explain and apply the key concepts 
of journalism ethics and media law. 

Evaluate the role of journalism in a 
democra�c society, including an 

understanding of the history of the 
industry and its business models. 

Evaluate the impact of media and 
communica�on technology on 

society, applying theories of mass 
communica�on and media studies. 



64 
 

# Ques�on Not 
at all 

A small 
extent 

A moderate 
extent 

A large 
extent Total 

1 Create writen and mul�media works of journalism using 
current industry standards and tools. 0% 0% 63% 38% 8 

2 
Edit works of journalism produced by others, providing helpful 

and construc�ve feedback, and incorporate feedback from 
others. 

13% 13% 50% 25% 8 

3 
Produce works of journalism that incorporate an 

understanding of the importance of diversity, inclusion, 
reconcilia�on, empathy, curiosity and persistence. 

0% 25% 13% 63% 8 

4 
Prac�ce the principles of sound news judgment in developing 

story ideas, deciding what stories to cover and how to 
structure informa�on within a story. 

0% 25% 13% 63% 8 

5 
Conduct original research and repor�ng using a variety of 

different methods and resources and assess the reliability of 
different sources of informa�on. 

0% 13% 50% 38% 8 

6 Cover newsworthy events and produce stories on deadline. 13% 0% 25% 63% 8 

7 
Cri�que works of journalism, demonstra�ng media literacy, 

cri�cal thinking and an awareness of newsworthiness and the 
importance of diversity. 

0% 13% 25% 63% 8 

8 Explain and apply the key concepts of journalism ethics and 
media law. 0% 13% 63% 25% 8 

9 
Evaluate the role of journalism in a democra�c society, 

including an understanding of the history of the industry and 
its business models. 

0% 13% 50% 38% 8 

10 
Evaluate the impact of media and communica�on technology 

on society, applying theories of mass communica�on and 
media studies. 

0% 0% 38% 63% 8 

 
Minor in Journalism 
No response to report. 
  



65 
 

Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the essential skills? 

9 - To what extent did KPU’s Journalism program help you develop each of the 
following essen�al skills? 

 
Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the 
frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

# Ques�on Not at 
all 

A small 
extent 

A moderate 
extent 

A large 
extent Total 

1 Wri�ng clearly and concisely 0% 13% 38% 50% 8 

2 Speaking effec�vely 13% 13% 50% 25% 8 

3 Reading and comprehending material (appropriate 
to your field) 13% 0% 25% 63% 8 

4 Working effec�vely with others 25% 0% 25% 50% 8 

5 Analyzing and thinking cri�cally 0% 13% 50% 38% 8 

6 Resolving issues or other problems 0% 38% 38% 25% 8 

7 Learning on your own 0% 0% 75% 25% 8 

  



66 
 

Are appropriate work-integrated and/or community-engaged learning opportunities provided to help 
students acquire the learning outcomes? 

10 - To what extent do you agree that you had sufficient opportuni�es in the 
program to reinforce your learning through prac�cal applica�on of this learning? 

 

 
# To what extent do you agree that you had sufficient opportuni�es in the program to reinforce your 

learning through prac�cal applica�on of this learning? Percentage 

1 Strongly disagree 0% 

2 Somewhat disagree 25% 

3 Neither agree nor disagree 13% 

4 Somewhat agree 50% 

5 Strongly agree 13% 

 Total number of respondents 8 

 
11 - Were you involved in any of the following work-integrated and/or 
community-engaged learning opportuni�es? Select all that apply. 
Not enough responses to report. 
 
12 - Indicate the extent the work-integrated and/or community-engaged 
learning opportuni�es contributed to your learning. 
Not enough responses to report. 
 
 
  



67 
 

Does the program design ensure students are prepared for subsequent courses?/Are students making 
satisfactory progress in the program? 

13 - Thinking of KPU's Journalism program as a whole, please indicate your 
agreement with the following. 

 

 
# Ques�on Strongly 

disagree 
Somewhat 

disagree 
Neither agree 

nor disagree 
Somewhat 

agree 
Strongly 

agree Total 

1 
The prerequisites offered 

prepared me for more advanced 
courses. 

0% 0% 13% 38% 50% 8 

2 
I was able to take the 

prerequisite courses when I 
needed them. 

13% 25% 0% 50% 13% 8 

3 The range of courses offered 
each term was adequate. 13% 25% 0% 63% 0% 8 

  



68 
 

14 - Overall, how sa�sfied are you with the instruc�on you have received in 
KPU's Journalism program? 

 

 
# Overall, how sa�sfied are you with the instruc�on you have received in KPU's Journalism program? Percentage 

1 Very dissa�sfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissa�sfied 0% 

3 Neither sa�sfied nor dissa�sfied 0% 

4 Somewhat sa�sfied 75% 

5 Very sa�sfied 25% 

 Total number of respondents 8 

 
15 - Thinking of how instruc�on is delivered across the program as a whole, 
please indicate the strengths of the program instruc�on. 

Instructors and department staff were very helpful in making sure they were easily accessible for help when it came to 
course material or even career direc�ons. 
Very communica�ve, experienced and suppor�ve instructors, a good variety of relevant topics and skills taught, flexible 
smaller classes, courses change a lot and evolve over �me to fit ongoing issues and needs in the profession. 
I liked that most instructors gave a lot of freedom to students to delve into whatever topics interested us 

The individual professors were very good and cared a lot about what they were doing 
As I was in the program (2012-2016) more courses were added and the instructors kept on top of which classes we need to 
graduate. They also allowed us to take higher level courses to assure we graduated on �me and got the most out of our 
degrees. 

 
16 - Thinking of how instruc�on is delivered across the program as a whole, 
please provide any sugges�ons you have for improvement in program 
instruc�on. 

N/A 
I think suppor�ng students in developing their unique interests would help them beter understand the kind of work they 
would like to do. Most students I know in the program have an affinity for one or a few specific topics, (sports, music, 
climate, video games, poli�cs etc) and giving them more individualized opportuni�es to iden�fy the topics they like 
(surveys?) and pursue them through journalism could help them develop their background knowledge and specialize in the 
areas they feel passionate about. 
I think that more could have been done to give students tangible �ps and instruc�on on how to conduct interviews, gather 
informa�on and write in different styles 
I would welcome more prac�cal opportuni�es sooner in the program, though they might have to be built into the classes 
themselves. 
More emphasis on prac�cal repor�ng. [Course Name Redacted] course was very good for this 
If it wasn't for my independent work with newspapers and a broadcast prac�cum, I don't think I would have been prepared 
for jobs. There just aren't enough out there for people with a degree and no experience. I also feel like I didn't properly learn 
how to write newsworthy ar�cles un�l the end of my program with more focus being on essays, which aren't super relevant 



69 
 

in the industry. That said, the program was very diverse and if you wanted to be more involved and learn, the opportuni�es 
were there. 

 

Do the assessment methods allow students to demonstrate to what extent they have achieved the 
learning outcomes? 

17 - Thinking of how learning is assessed in the program as a whole, indicate 
your agreement with the following. 

 

 
# Ques�on Strongly 

disagree 
Somewhat 

disagree 
Neither agree 

nor disagree 
Somewhat 

agree 
Strongly 

agree Total 

1 I received clear informa�on on 
how I would be evaluated. 0% 13% 0% 25% 63% 8 

2 The range of assessments let me 
demonstrate what I had learned. 0% 0% 0% 25% 75% 8 

3 
The assessment standards were 

consistent throughout the 
program. 

13% 38% 0% 13% 38% 8 

4 My instructors provided useful 
feedback. 0% 0% 13% 25% 63% 8 

 
  



70 
 

Are graduates of the program successful? 

Further Educa�on 
18 - Have you pursued further educa�on since comple�ng KPU’s Journalism 
program? 

# Have you pursued further educa�on since comple�ng KPU’s Journalism program? Percentage 

1 Yes 13% 

2 No 88% 

 Total number of respondents 8 

 
19 - Please list the name of the program and the ins�tu�on where you enrolled 
a�er comple�ng KPU’s Journalism program. 

Science and math courses at KPU, soon Langara 

 
20 - What is the highest creden�al you have earned or are currently pursuing 
since comple�ng KPU’s Journalism program? 
Not enough responses to report. 
 
21 - To what extent do you agree that the KPU’s Journalism program prepared 
you well for further educa�on? 
Not enough responses to report. 
 
Employment  
22 - Are you currently employed in a field related to what you studied at KPU? 

# Are you currently employed in a field related to what you studied at KPU? Percentage 

1 Yes 88% 

2 No 13% 

 Total number of respondents 8 

 
23 - Were you previously employed in a field related to what you studied at 
KPU? 
Not enough responses to report. 
 
24 - Which of the following best describes your current employment situa�on? 

# Which of the following best describes your current employment situa�on? Percentage 

1 In a full-�me regular posi�on 86% 

2 In a part-�me regular posi�on 0% 

3 In a contract posi�on 14% 

4 In a casual or temporary posi�on 0% 



71 
 

 Total number of respondents 7 

 
25 - What is your posi�on/role/job �tle? 

Staff Writer 

Digital reporter 

Mul�media Journalist 

Communica�ons Coordinator 

Video Journalist 

Lead Copywriter and Content Strategist/PT community reporter 

 
26 - Could you specify the organiza�on where you are currently employed? This 
informa�on will help us beter determine KPU graduates’ career trajectories. 

Richmond News 

Black Press Media 

Canadian Nuclear Laboratories 

CityNews Vancouver, Citytv 

Marke�ng 

 
27 - Which of the following best describes your employment situa�on? 
Not enough responses to report. 
 
28 - What was your posi�on/role/job �tle? 
Not enough responses to report. 
 
29 - Based on your experience since gradua�ng, to what extent do you agree 
that the program prepared you well for an entry-level job in the industry? 

 

 
# Based on your experience since gradua�ng, to what extent do you agree that the program prepared you 

well for an entry-level job in the industry? Percentage 

1 Strongly disagree 0% 
2 Somewhat disagree 25% 
3 Neither agree nor disagree 25% 
4 Somewhat agree 38% 
5 Strongly agree 13% 
 Total number of respondents 8 

 



72 
 

30 - Please iden�fy the skills/knowledge area(s) you felt were missing for an 
entry-level job in your industry. 

Learning about how different publica�ons work, the educa�on focused more on broad topics, but it would be valuable to 
compare different publica�ons and topics to be covered instead of the same "news" and storytelling every �me, as in the 
real world there is so much variety 
Limited knowledge of poli�cians, people in the community when I first started. 
Mostly prac�cal experience to put on a resume, and general networking/contact building skills. Grads from more pres�gious 
programs have  access to a wider variety of extracurriculars that they can use to pad their CV, it would be nice to have some 
of that discussed in the KPU program, have students build a road map towards whatever their goal is and outline the 
opportuni�es they need to pursue to achieve it, like volunteer roles, compe��ons, residencies, conferences, key publica�ons 
they can submit to etc. in order to tailor their resume to be compe��ve for the job they want. 
Covering breaking news and learning to go beyond news release handouts and think more cri�cally about them. For 
example, being taught that some sources of informa�on should not be simply trusted would have been beneficial. 
More work experience opportuni�es, like prac�cums, co-ops, internships. 
I learned a lot of the prac�cal skills for television news on the job -- not at KPU. 
I was likely qualified for a decent job in journalism, but the decline of the industry and the fact that I have the capacity for 
learning STEM topics, I have since changed my career path towards engineering 
There are a lot more broadcast jobs so perhaps a higher focus on this over print journalism. 

Does the program have the connec�ons to the discipline/sector to remain current? 

Alumni Connections 
31 - Please indicate the extent you agree with the following statements. 

 

 

# Ques�on Strongly 
disagree 

Somewhat 
disagree 

Neither 
agree nor 

disagree 

Somewhat 
agree 

Strongly 
agree Total 

1 
The program provided me with 

opportuni�es to develop connec�ons 
with industry/poten�al employers. 

13% 13% 0% 50% 25% 8 

2 
I am provided with opportuni�es to 

stay connected to the Journalism 
program. 

13% 13% 13% 38% 25% 8 

 
32 - What can the program do to build beter connec�ons with alumni? 

Facebook or LinkedIn groups, or emails, I don't receive anything about journalism alumni. 

n/a, I'm not trying to do journalism anymore 
This survey is a great start. Not all journalism alumni are doing hard news jobs but it might be worth having some people 
come in and discuss the opportuni�es with current students. 



73 
 

Appendix 8: Faculty Qualifica�ons and Currency Profile 
 
Faculty Qualifica�ons and Currency Profile Template (as of the 2022-23 academic year) 
Do not name individuals, as this is about the collec�ve exper�se of program faculty and other 
instruc�onal staff. 

The number of FTEs by role: 
Faculty Instructors: 8.25 FTEs 
 
Area(s) of Faculty Exper�se: 
 
Primarily Journalism: 4.375 FTEs 
Primarily Communica�on Studies: 3.875 FTEs 
 
Faculty Qualifica�ons: 
Number of faculty FTEs with doctorate: 3.5 FTEs 
Number of faculty FTEs with masters: 4.375 FTEs 
Professional cer�fica�ons: Not Applicable 
 
Exper�se of Instruc�onal Staff, if appropriate: 
 
Not Applicable 
 
Recent Professional Development: 
 
Some faculty members are involved in administering or judging na�onal journalism 
compe��ons, which helps keep them in touch with the best work being created in the field. 
Several sessional Journalism instructors are working journalists, which keeps them current on 
developments in the field, and some regular faculty members s�ll do occasional freelance 
journalism. One instructor is currently enrolled in Vancouver Community College’s six-course 
Provincial Instructor Diploma Program. Several Communica�on Studies instructors are ac�ve 
in publishing academic papers and presen�ng at conferences. 
 

 
 
 
  



74 
 

Appendix 9: Student Survey Results 
 
Journalism Program Review - Student Survey Results 
The student survey was sent to 64 Journalism students. A total of 22 students responded. The response 
rate is 34%. 
 
Note: The data includes open-ended comments. In order to preserve integrity and objec�vity, OPA does not do 
value-judgment edi�ng (i.e. we do not fix spelling errors, syntax issues, punctua�on, etc.). Comments are included 
verba�m – with one excep�on: if individuals or courses are named, OPA redacts the name of the instructor or 
course. This rule applies to whether the comment is good, bad or indifferent. 
 
QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 3: PROGRAM RELEVANCE AND DEMAND 

Who takes the program? 

Your Program 

 
1 - Which of the following creden�als are you working towards at KPU? Please 
select all that apply. 

# Which of the following creden�als are you working towards at KPU? Please select all that apply. Percentage 

1 Bachelor of Journalism (Honours) 5% 

2 Don’t know 0% 

3 Bachelor of Journalism 86% 

4 Minor in Journalism 9% 

5 None of the above 0% 

 Total number of respondents 22 

 
2 - How many credits have you completed at KPU? 

# How many credits have you completed at KPU? Percentage 

1 less than 30 credits 5% 

2 between 30 and 60 credits 9% 

3 More than 60 credits 86% 

 Total number of respondents 22 

  



75 
 

Reasons for Taking the Program 
3 - What was your main reason for enrolling in the Journalism program? 

 
# What was your main reason for enrolling in the Journalism program? - Selected Choice Percentage 

1 To prepare for a career or job in journalism 55% 

2 To prepare for a career or job in public rela�ons 14% 

3 To prepare for a career or job in a field other than journalism or public rela�ons 18% 

4 To prepare to transfer to another ins�tu�on 0% 

5 To qualify for graduate studies 5% 

6 To qualify for the Post-Gradua�on Work Permit program 0% 

7 Other, please specify 9% 

 Total number of respondents 22 

 
Q3_7_TEXT - Other, please specify 

I study agriculture and I believe that agricultural journalism is severely underrepresented 

To prepare for a career or job in journalism and public rela�ons. Also interested in this field. 



76 
 

Are the program learning outcomes relevant to the current needs of the discipline/sector? 

Program Relevance 
 

4 - Thinking of KPU's Journalism program as a whole, to what extent do you 
agree that the program’s curriculum is relevant to your career goals? 

 

 
# Thinking of KPU's Journalism program as a whole, to what extent do you agree that the program’s 

curriculum is relevant to your career goals? Percentage 

1 Strongly disagree 5% 
2 Somewhat disagree 5% 
3 Neither agree nor disagree 5% 
4 Somewhat agree 32% 
5 Strongly agree 55% 
 Total number of respondents 22 

 
5 - Overall, how sa�sfied are you with the curriculum of KPU's Journalism 
program? 

 

 
# Overall, how sa�sfied are you with the curriculum of KPU's Journalism program? Percentage 

1 Very dissa�sfied 0% 
2 Somewhat dissa�sfied 18% 
3 Neither sa�sfied nor dissa�sfied 5% 
4 Somewhat sa�sfied 50% 
5 Very sa�sfied 27% 
 Total number of respondents 22 

6 - Thinking of KPU’s Journalism program’s curriculum as a whole, please 
indicate the strengths of the program. 

Some of the strengths of the program are learning how to write on deadline, how to take impac�ul photos, and how to 
effec�vely write a story using the inverted pyramid. 
Teachers are detailed, open to helping students, some go above & beyond. 
I think it has a strong focus on both theory and prac�ce. Enjoy that many of my classes force me to actually go out and 
prac�ce journalism instead of just si�ng behind a desk. 
The instructor and teaching students how to be reporters 



77 
 

Certain teachers and their exper�se in Journalism fields- using relevant databases, inves�ga�ve and/or crea�ve mul�-media 
projects during classes. The Journalism facebook page and helpful career pos�ngs 
Some of the courses are well presented. 
- Allows the opportunity for students to do independent research - Gives students the opportunity to have a por�olio for 
employers - Great instruc�on 
Gives students opportuni�es to explore journalism. 

Many opportuni�es for hands on applica�ons of skills learned in class 

I like the various forms of journalism that we are able to explore via classes like [Course Names Redacted]. 
You really get a good idea of what a news room environment feels like from taking the upper level courses. This is good 
because you know what to expect outside of the classroom. I enjoy how some classes do give students to op�on to chose 
what kind of story we want to write; data, photo, or audio. 
I have gained a lot of skills that I think will be applicable in almost any field, like how to deal with people, wri�ng concisely 
and interviewing skills (ie how to extract informa�on from someone, build rela�onships, etc). I also learned about the value 
of journalists and how what they do is incredibly important, especially today, with the overwhelming amount of info out 
there it's great to know that there are people we can s�ll trust to vet and verify that info, as long as we con�nue to trust 
them. 
[Course Name Redacted] taught by [Instructor Names Redacted] [Course Name Redacted] taught by [Instructor Name 
Redacted] [Course Names Redacted] taught by [Instructor Name Redacted] 
I think this program has fantas�c instructors. There are also lots of cool journalism courses to take. Overall I feel very well-
rounded in journalism from the classes I’ve taken so far. 
Strengths: the program provides a good array of courses that prepare students for a JRNL job or career. I like how students 
can go into audio, visual, or wri�ng streams of journalism. 
-being able to prac�ce wri�ng ar�cles in class to build a por�olio -learning skills other than wri�ng such as photography, 
audio/podcas�ng and video 
The teachers have real world prac�cal experience and are extremely knowledgeable and helpful. They are easily the highlight 
of the program. 
My three favourite instructors are [Instructor Names Redacted]. They make their classes engaging and are extremely 
approachable and want us to succeed in the course and in our careers. I feel very supported in the program and they have 
had an extremely posi�ve impact on my university experience. [Instructor Name Redacted] gave me so much confidence in 
the news repor�ng and sports class to interview people, even when I wasn't familiar with the topic. She always pushes me 
outside my comfort zone and wri�ng on deadline has helped me as the news writer for The Runner and has benefited me in 
so many other ways as well. I feel like I have become a much stronger writer since fall 2021 and it is so much fun taking her 
classes. I am excited for the summer class again this year.  It was so nice having a class with [Instructor Name Redacted] for 
the first �me in person this semester and I really enjoyed how much �me she gave us with brainstorming for our big feature 
story. She is always flexible with deadlines as well, even though I did not need any this semester. She is very approachable to 
come to if you need help. [Instructor Name Redacted] was the first journalism instructor I had at KPU and it was great having 
a class with him for the first �me in person this semester. He keeps us engaged and is prety funny too. I really like that he 
brought in guest speakers because it was prac�cal for us to use that �me to hear what from current journalists and former 
KPU students and how they have used their skills from KPU in their career. My experience at KPU has been extremely posi�ve 
and compared to my English instructors, I love how chill the three of them are as instructors. They don't talk down to us or 
make us feel bad if we have ques�ons about things. I also like the comradery they ins�ll in us as a group and I've made some 
lifelong friends in this program. Doing those deadline events in news repor�ng and BC Place in sports jrnl really helped me 
expand my social life and actually benefit from the social part of university life.  I'm so happy and thankful [Instructor Name 
Redacted] gave us those assignments because it helped me get to know my classmates. I'm sad that I only have two 
semesters le�, so I will make the most of my last three journalism courses! 

  



78 
 

7 - Thinking of KPU’s Journalism program's curriculum as a whole, please 
provide sugges�ons you have for improvement. 

I think some sugges�ons to improve the program would be to have the opportunity to do assignments that are photo, audio, 
or video stories or a combina�on of them. I think to also learn how to report in communi�es you’re not a part of and how to 
do trauma repor�ng. 
more BIPOC staff needed 
I think it's important to focus on different areas of journalism instead of just journalism in the local context. Global issues 
should also be a focus. There should be more advice on finding remote stories and how to preform journalism from abroad. 
all you learn how to do is be a reporter and there are few reporter jobs out there 
There needs to be much less forced assigned group projects as o�en certain students are taking advantage of not having to 
pull their weight or contribute towards the projects. There needs to be less assigned Communica�ons courses as they are 
consistently boring filler courses with lack of interes�ng or in-depth content taught in class. There is also a lack of prepara�on 
or effort from the Communica�on teachers that goes into the courses- dry PowerPoint slides read verba�m, drawn out 
concepts that could be summarized in less than one class. 
More coverage for online courses. 

- More focus on trying to pursue nonbiased stories in journalism 

Le�ng students focus on topics of their interest would make learning interes�ng. 

The �ming of some assignments could be improved, o�en a source of panic and anxiety 
Classes should be offered more o�en, having to wait another year to take something is really hard to finish a degree in just 
four years. 
I wish we learned how to edit more for those what want to work more with technology but maybe aren't able to based off 
the kind of assignments given. I'd also like to learn more journalism lingo in all JRNL classes as I only learned JRNL terms in 
the [Course Name Redacted] class this semester and haven't in past courses. 
I think right now the curriculum is s�ll mostly geared towards preparing people for a career as writen-news journalists, 
usually for local papers and things like that, even though almost every single person I speak to in my journalism classes are 
not planning on going into that field exactly. I know there are people like that in the program, and it's great that they're being 
properly prepared for such an important job, but I think the focus in the later classes should allow for students to build more 
varied skills that they're more interested in. For example, many of the later courses have projects that require students to 
con�nue wri�ng the news stories they've been wri�ng since first year, while I think they should be flexible enough to allow 
students to write the type of stories they think they want to write in their careers, such as feature stories, in-depth explainer 
pieces and so on. The instructors are very widely skilled, so I think they should s�ll be able to give instruc�on and sugges�ons 
for improvement on these kinds of stories. I know that these skills we've been building will be valuable, but I feel like 
some�mes we aren't being given the opportuni�es to prac�ce some of these skills, in favour of a very narrow career path. 
Any Journalism student should have a KPU course in MS Word, Excel and Powerpoint before 3000-4000 level courses are 
undertaken 
I think there should be a heavier focus on mul�media in our coursework. Much of the assignments we do are writen, which 
is very important, but I think doing more mul�media projects and learning web design and how to make content for social 
media would be beneficial. Also learning how to write/ pitch a story to editors would be beneficial, along with focusing more 
on how to come up with story ideas and build connec�ons in the community. 
I would have loved to have more fourth year classes available in the fall and spring semesters. 
I never found weekly readings helpful, especially in some classes the "weekly" assignments were repe��ve and didn't teach 
me anything at all about improving my skills in journalism. If we had more in-class assignments where the instructors let us 
prac�ce wri�ng / filming / recording and gave us direct feedback soon a�er, that would be ideal. 
I know it's difficult but more class availability, especially at higher levels. Having to wait for a specific course to come around 
is really difficult. 
It is really hard to say what could be improved while I am s�ll in my undergrad. Maybe when I start my career and become 
unsure of something or not good at a skill, I'll know that it was lacking from the program. Honestly, I think more field trips 
could be so much fun. Those were my favourite parts of my student experience so far at KPU. I also think it should be 
mandatory for students to take [Instructor Name Redacted] [Course Name Redacted]. I learned so much from that class and 
most of the people I know in the program know nothing about defama�on because they didn't take it, which I think might be 
a problem for them when they graduate. Finally we need more contributors for The Runner! It should be promoted more in 
class or maybe there could be op�on on an assignment to send it in to The Runner. I don't understand why nobody wants to 
get paid for doing home-work! It just baffles me. I started contribu�ng a�er I went to the Garden City Lands for a deadline 



79 
 

event assignment in Bev's news repor�ng class and now I have a posi�on. All in all,  I really hope we're learning all the skills 
we need and will feel prepared when we enter the workforce! :) 

 
8 - What topics, if any, are missing from the program? 

Repor�ng on communi�es you’re not a part of, LGBTQ+ issues, Indigenous communi�es. 

arts wri�ng (music, restaurants, books, travel etc). mostly focused on news journalism. 
I don't feel qualified to state anything is missing, but I personally think there should be a focus on coming at journalism from 
a different angle instead of just observa�onal journalism. I truly believe journalist should be personally involved in their 
stories, but there can be arguments made about conflict of interest ect.. so maybe that's not the best idea. � 
journalism for communica�ons, I took journalism because there is no communica�ons program at KPU and it did not prepare 
me for my career at all 
Interviewing techniques and styles. 
Can't think of any, but would like more online courses for students who aren't able to atend in person lectures. I understand 
that they are difficult and are usually piled onto professors who are already teaching mul�ple in person classes but it would 
be nice to be able to con�nuey educa�on without having to change my living situa�on. 
N/a 

Entertainment journalism, more PR classes 

Discussion of media created by and for marginalized groups (BIPOC, 2SLGBTQ+, disabled, etc.) 
I think podcasts would be fun to try as a mini or filler assignment for students. It would also allow non-tech savvy students to 
get familiar with different forms of media. 
Maybe later courses that speak about different career paths, not just news journalism and freelancing, but magazine wri�ng 
and things like that. Either that or the program could allow for more elec�ve op�ons instead of only the upper-level news 
journalism focused courses, like technical wri�ng and PR. 
For a student like me (who wants to be a writer), a course (or courses on) effec�ve wri�ng should be available Journalism and 
effec�ve use of Android/iPhones as effec�ve working tools, and helpful programs to increase cellphone usability... 
I think there should be a heavier focus on properly repor�ng on minority communi�es. I think learning about the “white 
gaze” in media and how to be inclusive in repor�ng should be taught earlier on in journalism (maybe intro or ci�zen 
journalism) that way students can focus on these concepts and entrain them into their prac�ce throughout their degree. 
I think there's too much focus on news-based journalism. I wish we learned about how to write for magazines and use our 
skills in journalism for more crea�ve outlets. 
I went to a KSA mee�ng for The Runner and found out that we pay in our tui�on for this KPU radio sta�on that has never 
been used. I think it would be so much fun if we had our own radio sta�on or learned more broadcas�ng skills. Or like how to 
write for a broadcast. 

 

QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 4: EFFECTIVENESS OF INSTRUCTIONAL DELIVERY 

Instructional Design and Delivery 

Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the PLOs? 

 
9 - Program Learning Outcomes are statements that describe the knowledge and 
skills students will have upon comple�on of a program. To what extent are the 
courses you are taking for KPU’s Bachelor of Journalism program helping you 
develop each of the following learning outcomes? 
 
 
 



80 
 

 
Bachelor of Journalism (Honours) and Bachelor of Journalism 

 
Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the 
frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  
  

Create writen and mul�media works 
of journalism using current industry 

standards and tools. 

Edit works of journalism produced 
by others, providing helpful and 

construc�ve feedback, and 
incorporate feedback from others. 

Produce works of journalism that 
incorporate an understanding of the 

importance of diversity, inclusion, 
reconcilia�on, empathy, curiosity and 

persistence. 

Prac�ce the principles of sound news 
judgment in developing story ideas, 

deciding what stories to cover and how 
to structure informa�on within a story. 

Conduct original research and repor�ng 
using a variety of different methods and 

resources and assess the reliability of 
different sources of informa�on. 

Cover newsworthy events and 
produce stories on deadline. 

Cri�que works of journalism, 
demonstra�ng media literacy, cri�cal 

thinking and an awareness of 
newsworthiness and the importance 

of diversity. 

Explain and apply the key concepts of 
journalism ethics and media law. 

Evaluate the role of journalism in a 
democra�c society, including an 

understanding of the history of the 
industry and its business models. 

Evaluate the impact of media and 
communica�on technology on 

society, applying theories of mass 
communica�on and media studies. 



81 
 

# Ques�on Not 
at all 

A small 
extent 

A moderate 
extent 

A large 
extent Total 

1 Create writen and mul�media works of journalism using 
current industry standards and tools. 0% 12% 47% 41% 17 

2 
Edit works of journalism produced by others, providing helpful 

and construc�ve feedback, and incorporate feedback from 
others. 

0% 18% 29% 53% 17 

3 
Produce works of journalism that incorporate an understanding 

of the importance of diversity, inclusion, reconcilia�on, 
empathy, curiosity and persistence. 

0% 18% 35% 47% 17 

4 
Prac�ce the principles of sound news judgment in developing 

story ideas, deciding what stories to cover and how to structure 
informa�on within a story. 

0% 24% 41% 35% 17 

5 
Conduct original research and repor�ng using a variety of 

different methods and resources and assess the reliability of 
different sources of informa�on. 

6% 0% 29% 65% 17 

6 Cover newsworthy events and produce stories on deadline. 6% 12% 35% 47% 17 

7 
Cri�que works of journalism, demonstra�ng media literacy, 

cri�cal thinking and an awareness of newsworthiness and the 
importance of diversity. 

0% 6% 41% 53% 17 

8 Explain and apply the key concepts of journalism ethics and 
media law. 0% 12% 47% 41% 17 

9 
Evaluate the role of journalism in a democra�c society, 

including an understanding of the history of the industry and its 
business models. 

6% 6% 35% 53% 17 

10 
Evaluate the impact of media and communica�on technology 

on society, applying theories of mass communica�on and 
media studies. 

0% 29% 24% 47% 17 

 
Minor in Journalism 
No responses to report. 
  



82 
 

Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the essential skills? 

10 - To what extent are the courses you are taking for KPU’s Journalism program 
helping you develop each of the following essen�al skills? 

 
Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the 
frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  

# Ques�on Not at 
all 

A small 
extent 

A moderate 
extent 

A large 
extent Total 

1 Wri�ng clearly and concisely 0% 6% 24% 71% 17 

2 Speaking effec�vely 0% 41% 24% 35% 17 

3 Reading and comprehending material (appropriate 
to your field) 0% 6% 47% 47% 17 

4 Working effec�vely with others 0% 24% 29% 47% 17 

5 Analyzing and thinking cri�cally 0% 12% 35% 53% 17 

6 Resolving issues or other problems 0% 31% 19% 50% 16 

7 Learning on your own 0% 12% 29% 59% 17 

 
  



83 
 

Are appropriate work-integrated and/or community-engaged learning opportunities provided to help 
students acquire the learning outcomes? 

11 - To what extent do you agree that you have sufficient opportuni�es in the 
program to reinforce your learning through prac�cal applica�on of this learning? 

 

 
# To what extent do you agree that you have sufficient opportuni�es in the program to reinforce your 

learning through prac�cal applica�on of this learning? Percentage 

1 Strongly disagree 0% 

2 Somewhat disagree 6% 

3 Neither agree nor disagree 6% 

4 Somewhat agree 41% 

5 Strongly agree 47% 

 Total number of respondents 17 

 
12 - Were you involved in any of the following work-integrated and/or 
community-engaged learning opportuni�es? Select all that apply. 

# Were you involved in any of the following work-integrated and/or community-engaged learning 
opportuni�es? Select all that apply. Percentage 

1 Prac�cum 71% 

2 A course that worked with an outside industry or community partner to provide prac�cal skills. 29% 

 Total number of respondents 7 

13 - Indicate the extent the following learning opportuni�es contributed to your 
learning.  
Prac�cum

  
Note that “not at all” and “a small extent” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the 
frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all” and “a small extent” categories.  
 
A course that worked with an outside industry or community partner to provide prac�cal 
skills. 
Not enough responses to report. 



84 
 

# Ques�on Not at 
all 

A small 
extent 

A moderate 
extent 

A large 
extent Total 

1 Prac�cum 0% 40% 20% 40% 5 

2 A course that worked with an outside industry or 
community partner to provide prac�cal skills. Not enough responses to report. 

 

Does the program design ensure students are prepared for subsequent courses? / Are students making 
satisfactory progress in the program? 

14 - Thinking of KPU's Journalism program as a whole, please indicate your 
agreement with the following. 

 

 
# Ques�on Strongly 

disagree 
Somewhat 

disagree 
Neither agree 

nor disagree 
Somewhat 

agree 
Strongly 

agree Total 

1 
The prerequisites offered 

prepare me for more advanced 
courses. 

0% 0% 12% 59% 29% 17 

2 I am able to take the prerequisite 
courses when I need them. 6% 6% 6% 47% 35% 17 

3 The range of courses offered 
each term is adequate. 24% 41% 12% 24% 0% 17 

 
  



85 
 

Does the instruc�on meet the needs of diverse learners? 
15 - Thinking of how the program is delivered, please indicate your agreement 
with the following. 

 

 
# Ques�on Strongly 

disagree 
Somewhat 

disagree 
Neither agree 

nor disagree 
Somewhat 

agree 
Strongly 

agree Total 

1 My instructors accommodate my 
learning needs. 0% 0% 0% 59% 41% 17 

2 My instructors present the course 
materials effec�vely. 0% 0% 6% 41% 53% 17 

3 
My instructors are up-to-date on 

current developments in the 
discipline/sector. 

0% 6% 6% 47% 41% 17 

4 
My instructors create a learning 

environment that makes me feel safe 
and included. 

0% 0% 0% 29% 71% 17 

 
  



86 
 

16 - Overall, how sa�sfied are you with the instruc�on you have received in 
KPU's Journalism program? 

 

 
# Overall, how sa�sfied are you with the instruc�on you have received in KPU's Journalism program? Percentage 

1 Very dissa�sfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissa�sfied 6% 

3 Neither sa�sfied nor dissa�sfied 12% 

4 Somewhat sa�sfied 24% 

5 Very sa�sfied 59% 

 Total number of respondents 17 

 
17 - Thinking of how instruc�on is delivered across the program as a whole, 
please indicate the strengths of the program instruc�on. 

I feel the instructors do a good job rela�ng to their previous experience working in the journalism field. 
I am pleased with most of the Journalism teachers, their class involvement, and their effort to make classes interes�ng or 
encourage dialogue and discussion in classes. They also provide varied projects and opportuni�es to try new skills. 
- Clear and straigh�orward instruc�on 

Some professors provide students with great feedback. 

Instructors engaged and passionate about the course material 

The varied types of journalism makes a well rounded journalism program. 

Instructors have worked in the newpaper industry and bring prac�cal knowledge to the classroom 
I like that certain courses are online, while others are in the classroom. I also like that some third and fourth year classes are 
flexible with atendance as the student journalists can use that �me to do interviews, go to events we are repor�ng on, or we 
can just work from home on our assignments. 
I think I've said this already LOL [Instructor Names Redacted] are the best! :) 

  



87 
 

18 - Thinking of how instruc�on is delivered across the program as a whole, 
please provide sugges�ons you have for improvement in program instruc�on. 

I personally would enjoy more op�ons for online courses, but that's biased as I'm studying my Batchelor degree out of 
Richmond and the journalism courses are out of Surrey. I just don't want to commute all the way to Surrey. 
Make the classes harder, if we are expected to be wri�ng 20-30 stories a month in our careers why are we only wri�ng one 
per term in our classes?!? We should be wri�ng at least one story a week for these classes to actually prepare us for the real 
world. 
The communica�ons teachers need to create more interes�ng content, projects, and delivery forms. There is also a lack or 
prepara�on and knowledge on their topics beyond the surface level and I found I learned very litle for en�re course 
offerings. They also need beter explana�on and instruc�on on how they are grading or making decisions on projects as it 
seemed very subjec�ve and had very litle construc�ve feedback. There was also lack of instruc�on or teaching actual 
techniques/skills in certain Journalism courses like the [Course  Name Redacted] which was unfortunate. 
At least one course doesn't offer any professor delivered content, at least in its online variety. 

- More concise expecta�ons per assignment given 

More flexibility in marking would be helpful in select cases 
I took three Public Rela�ons courses which were very helpful in iden�fying target audiences and useful methods for my 
wri�ng. PR and Journalism share many common prac�ces. The KPU PR and Journalism departments should offer one or two 
joint courses. 
Clearer guidelines for assignments, less tedious readings and assignments, more meaningful discussions on possible careers 
in the journalism/PR field that aren't news related, more room to be crea�ve 
More classes offered and make them in person. Journalists need to be social and interact with one another. I find a lot of my 
classmates very shy and scared to go up to people whereas I really don't care. I think online classes because of COVID has had 
a huge impact on peoples ability to make eye contact and keep a conversa�on going especially when everyone is looking at 
their phone. I think its extremely crucial for journalism students to break these stereotypes because realis�cally how will they 
have a career in journalism. 

 

Do the assessment methods allow students to demonstrate the extent to which they have achieved the 
learning outcomes? 

19 - Thinking of how learning is assessed in the program as a whole, indicate 
your agreement with the following. 

 

 



88 
 

# Ques�on Strongly 
disagree 

Somewhat 
disagree 

Neither agree 
nor disagree 

Somewhat 
agree 

Strongly 
agree Total 

1 I receive clear informa�on on 
how I will be evaluated. 0% 12% 6% 41% 41% 17 

2 
The range of assessments lets me 

demonstrate what I have 
learned. 

0% 0% 18% 47% 35% 17 

3 
The assessment standards are 

consistent throughout the 
program. 

6% 0% 18% 35% 41% 17 

4 My instructors provide useful 
feedback. 0% 6% 6% 24% 65% 17 

 

QUESTIONS ON CHAPTER 5: RESOURCES, SERVICES AND FACILITIES 

Program Resources, Services and Facilities 

Does the program have the library and learning resources needed to deliver the curriculum? 

20 - How sa�sfied are you with the following library resources as they apply to 
KPU's Journalism program? 

 

 



89 
 

# Ques�on 
Have 

not 
used 

Very 
dissa�sfied 

Somewhat 
dissa�sfied 

Neither 
sa�sfied nor 

dissa�sfied 

Somewhat 
sa�sfied 

Very 
sa�sfied Total 

1 
Availability of audio-
visual  and computer 

equipment 
35% 12% 12% 6% 24% 12% 17 

2 Books 35% 6% 0% 18% 18% 24% 17 
3 eBooks 47% 0% 0% 24% 24% 6% 17 

4 Online resources -  
journal ar�cles, etc. 24% 0% 6% 6% 24% 41% 17 

5 Print periodicals, 
journals, etc. 35% 0% 6% 6% 35% 18% 17 

6 Study guides 53% 0% 0% 18% 12% 18% 17 

7 
DVDs/streaming video 

on  program-related 
topics 

59% 0% 6% 18% 6% 12% 17 

8 
Librarian support for  

program-related 
research 

53% 6% 6% 18% 6% 12% 17 

9 Library orienta�on 47% 6% 6% 18% 6% 18% 17 

10 
Access to photo and  

video equipment  for 
sign out 

47% 6% 6% 18% 12% 12% 17 

 

Does the program have the specialized technology needed to deliver the curriculum?  
21 - How sa�sfied are you with the following specialized technology as they 
apply to KPU's Journalism program? 

 

 

# Ques�on 
Have 

not 
used 

Very 
dissa�sfied 

Somewhat 
dissa�sfied 

Neither sa�sfied 
nor dissa�sfied 

Somewhat 
sa�sfied 

Very 
sa�sfied Total 

1 
So�ware - Adobe 

Premiere and Adobe 
Photoshop, etc. 

24% 6% 6% 18% 18% 29% 17 

2 Digital cameras 41% 6% 6% 12% 24% 12% 17 

 



90 
 

Does the program have the facili�es needed to deliver the curriculum? 
22 - How sa�sfied are you with the Mac Lab facility? 

 

 
# How sa�sfied are you with the Mac Lab facility? Percentage 

1 Very dissa�sfied 0% 
2 Somewhat dissa�sfied 0% 
3 Neither sa�sfied nor dissa�sfied 35% 
4 Somewhat sa�sfied 24% 
5 Very sa�sfied 41% 
 Total number of respondents 17 

 

Does the program have the support services needed to deliver the curriculum? 
23 - How sa�sfied are you with the following as they apply to KPU's Journalism 
program? 

 

 



91 
 

# Ques�on 
Have 

not 
used 

Very 
dissa�sfied 

Somewhat 
dissa�sfied 

Neither sa�sfied 
nor dissa�sfied 

Somewhat 
sa�sfied 

Very 
sa�sfied Total 

1 
Availability of 

required texts at the 
KPU bookstore 

47% 0% 0% 12% 12% 29% 17 

2 Advising Services 35% 6% 6% 12% 18% 24% 17 

3 Career Services 53% 6% 12% 6% 12% 12% 17 

4 Accessibility Services 47% 0% 6% 12% 6% 29% 17 

 
About You 
24 - Do you iden�fy as Indigenous? 

# Do you iden�fy as Indigenous? Percentage 

1 Yes 0% 

2 No 94% 

3 Prefer not to answer 6% 

 Total number of respondents 17 

 
25 - Do you iden�fy as Black or a Person of Colour? 

# Do you iden�fy as Black or a Person of Colour? Percentage 

1 Yes 18% 

2 No 76% 

3 Prefer not to answer 6% 

 Total number of respondents 17 

 
26 - Do you iden�fy as 2SLGBTQ+? 

# Do you iden�fy as 2SLGBTQ+? Percentage 

1 Yes 41% 

2 No 53% 

3 Prefer not to answer 6% 

 Total number of respondents 17 

  



92 
 

27 - Do you have a disability (e.g., physical, learning, sensory, etc.) or 
ongoing/recurring psychological or medical condi�on? Disabili�es, mental 
health condi�ons, or medical condi�ons might require addi�onal support in 
your studies. 

# 
Do you have a disability (e.g., physical, learning, sensory, etc.) or ongoing/recurring psychological or 

medical condi�on? Disabili�es, mental health condi�ons, or medical condi�ons might require addi�onal 
support in your studies. 

Percentage 

1 Yes 35% 

2 No 53% 

3 Prefer not to answer 12% 

 Total number of respondents 17 

 
28 - If you answered Yes to any of the ques�ons above and would like to provide 
more details on the specific groups you iden�fy as a member of, please do so 
here. 

Diagnosed with Asperger's 
2SLGBTQ+ = Iden�fied as pansexual when I first began studies at KPU; currently iden�fy as a non-binary lesbian and use 
she/they pronouns. A good por�on of my work in the program has concerned the 2SLGBTQ+ community  Disability = am on 
the au�sm spectrum; while I am on the higher func�oning end, s�ll experience anxiety and become overwhelmed at certain 
points. Have o�en gravitated towards more visual forms of storytelling (i.e. photo/video journalism) 
I am Chinese, born in China and brought to Canada by my adopted parents. 

Queer, asexual 

 
29 - I feel included in the Journalism program on the basis of my: 

 

 



93 
 

# Ques�on Strongly 
disagree 

Somewhat 
disagree 

Neither agree 
nor disagree 

Somewhat 
agree 

Strongly 
agree Total 

1 Cultural/ethnic/racial 
background 6% 0% 29% 12% 53% 17 

2 Ability (e.g., physical, cogni�ve, 
sensory, etc.) 0% 6% 24% 6% 65% 17 

3 Gender iden�ty 0% 0% 18% 12% 71% 17 

4 Sexual orienta�on 0% 6% 12% 18% 65% 17 

 
30 - Please use this space to provide more details on your disagreement with the 
statement: I feel included in the Journalism program on the basis of my 
cultural/ethnic/racial background:  

I know KPU Surrey campus is located in an area with a high popula�on of Panjabi and/or Indo Canadian's but I have only seen 
one other Chinese person in my past classes and I rarely hear my peers speaking English because of this. I do not see peers 
who look like me and I cannot relate to any. 

 
31 - To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following statement? 
KPU’s Journalism program is making good progress addressing issues of equity, 
diversity, and inclusion. 

 

 
# To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following statement? KPU’s Journalism program is 

making good progress addressing issues of equity, diversity, and inclusion. Percentage 

1 Very dissa�sfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissa�sfied 0% 

3 Neither sa�sfied nor dissa�sfied 12% 

4 Somewhat sa�sfied 35% 

5 Very sa�sfied 53% 

6 I don’t know what equity, diversity, and inclusion means 0% 

 Total number of respondents 17 

  



94 
 

32 - To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following statement? 
KPU’s Journalism program is making good progress addressing issue of 
decoloniza�on. 

 

 
# To what extent do you agree or disagree with the following statement? KPU’s Journalism program is 

making good progress addressing issue of decoloniza�on. Percentage 

1 Very dissa�sfied 0% 

2 Somewhat dissa�sfied 0% 

3 Neither sa�sfied nor dissa�sfied 24% 

4 Somewhat sa�sfied 41% 

5 Very sa�sfied 35% 

6 I don’t know what decoloniza�on means 0% 

 Total number of respondents 17 

33 - When was the last �me you read a post on the KPU Journalism Facebook 
page? 

# When was the last �me you read a post on the KPU Journalism Facebook page? Percentage 

1 This month 18% 

2 This year 6% 

3 More than a year ago 24% 

4 Never 53% 

 Total number of respondents 17 

34 - Which of the following social media pla�orms do you use on a regular 
basis? Please select all that apply. 

# Which of the following social media pla�orms do you use on a regular basis? 
Please select all that apply. - Selected Choice Percentage Count 

1 Facebook 38% 6 

2 Twiter 44% 7 

3 Instagram 69% 11 

4 Snapchat 13% 2 

5 TikTok 25% 4 

6 Other, please specify 25% 4 

  Total number of 
respondents 16 

Note: The last row presents the total number of respondents. The total number of responses for this ques�on is greater than 
the number of respondents. Therefore, the percentage total exceeds 100%. 
 



95 
 

Q34_6_TEXT - Other, please specify 
Reddit 

Leterboxd 

LL764 IAMAW wbsite 
I want that photo that was taken at the pizza party in February. I never saw it posted anywhere. Can I get a copy? This is 
Emma LOL 

 
 



 
 

SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
  Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report  

1 
 

  

REPORT: Journalism Self-Study Report 
 
OVERALL ASSESSMENT:  
Please provide a brief assessment of the Self-Study Report under review and an overall recommendation. 
Reviewer #1: This is a robust and thoughtful SSR. The sole reason for the “pending action” recommendation is 
related to the low proportion of alumni who believed the program prepared them for an entry-level position; 
this datum warrants additional recommendations.  
 
Reviewer #2: Much work has been put into this report! I do have some needed changes that I have listed 
below. I have made reference to table/chart, etc. changes, but not page by page changes for written part of 
the document. Clarity is needed in some written parts, especially in chapter 1. The written component will be 
changed as Tables/charts, etc. are changed. 
 
The Report (select the box that corresponds your recommendation):  

☐         Recommend for approval by the SSCPR as is 
☒         Reviewer #1: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR pending further action (see below) 
☒         Reviewer #2: Recommend return to the Program for major revision 
☐         Recommend for rejection by the SSCPR 

 



 
 

SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
  Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report  

2 
 

Direction for Reviewers: Determine if the criterion for each chapter is fully addressed according to the standard. 
CHAPTER 1: Program Overview 
 
Criterion: This chapter provides an overview of the program, its purpose, and the scope of the review. 
 
Standard: The Chapter clearly describes the program, its purpose, and the scope of the current review. 
 
THE CHAPTER:  
  ☒     Meets the Standard 

Additional Comments (if necessary):  
Reviewer #1:  
I appreciate the candor and reflectiveness that the department has brought to their program overview. 
This section has a lucid and thoughtful examination of current pain points in progression, enrolment and 
the challenges of maintaining a relevant curriculum in a rapidly-changing landscape. Information about the 
initiatives involving the Public Relations department and Langara were particularly helpful. The topics the 
department chose to address in the “Issues” section were timely and evidence-based.  

 
  ☒     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 

Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
Reviewer #2:  

• According to the information provided, Im not entirely sure if this program review is for Journalism only. I 
believe that it is, yet Communication info is provided in parts of this chapter and throughout the 
document (when it shouldn’t be). 

• More clarity needed to segment and discuss: major, major with honours and then minor. Discussion 
needed on each -not only in Chapter 1, but in each chapter. Sometimes its not warranted to separate the 
three, but many times it is. 

• Table edits needed (see specific comments at end of this document).Edits needed to provide clarity, 
around the reporting of tables. This runs across all chapters. If you are reporting percentages, state that, if 
you are reporting cases (people/students/faculty)-specifically report this. 
General edits throughout. Just for example, p15, last sentence (“the requirements in the…”)-I don’t think 
that this is what you meant… but rather, perhaps…something like… As shown in Table x, compared to 
other Bachelor of Arts Majors in the Faculty, the number of discipline-specific credits required for a 
Bachelor of Journalism Major is quite high. As noted, 20 discipline-specific credits are needed, while the 
median for the Faculty is 17… So here, the requirements are not the highest, but rather, the number of 
discipline-specific credits required are among the highest. Do you see what I mean? Throughout the 
document there are statements that should be clarified/revised. 

 
 
 
 



 
 

SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
  Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report  

3 
 

CHAPTER 2: Curriculum Review 
 
Criteria: This chapter provides a clear profile of the program graduates, relevant program learning outcomes, 
and a curriculum mapping assessment that adequately identifies any gaps in the program’s curriculum.  
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations. 
 
THE CHAPTER:  
  ☒     Meets the Standard 

Additional Comments (if necessary):  
Reviewer #1:  
Examples of the pathways taken by specific graduates were helpful, even if these “success stories” are 
not necessarily representative of the entire student cohort. I was pleased to see that PLO’s have 
recently been developed. The natural consequences of having many lower-level courses taken by non-
journalism students was thoughtfully addressed. The report states, “The department should review all 
required first- and second-year courses to determine if they are necessary to prepare students for 
upper-level courses and to achieve the Program Learning Outcomes.”, a recommendation with which I 
would agree, given the large number of mandatory lower-level courses.  The lack of mandatory law and 
ethics content indeed seems like a gap, as stated in the report. The eight recommendations presented 
at the end of this section appear reasonable, achievable and relevant. 

 
  ☒     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 

Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
Reviewer #2: 

• Much of the chapter is great, but clarity needed in some areas (as overviewed above in Chapter 1 notes). 
• Make sure that the trends in the table/chart are reflected in what you explain. 

 



 
 

SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
  Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report  

4 
 

CHAPTER 3: Program Relevance and Student Demand 
 
Criteria: This chapter adequately assesses program’s relevance, faculty qualifications and currency, 
connections to the discipline/sector, and student demand.  
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations. 
THE CHAPTER:  
  ☒     Meets the Standard 

Reviewer #1:  
The variety and high industry positioning of PAC members is impressive. It is commendable that the 
program has responded assertively to the specific call for journalism schools that was included in the 
Truth and Reconciliation Commission’s Calls to Action. It would be helpful to have a bit more detail on 
the similarities and differences between JRNL and COMM courses. If these are sufficiently linked such 
that they coexist in a single department, the division into “two types of instructors” seems unusual. As 
the SSR acknowledges, the responses the question of whether students felt included in the Journalism 
program on the basis of various demographic factors were somewhat perplexing. The importance of 
recruiting students into the degree stream is adequately described and the need is underlined by 
growth in journalism program enrolment at other PSI’s. Beyond recruitment, though, retention is a 
priority. That is, how to encourage the growing numbers of students who take the lower-level courses 
to pursue a degree. The website content that is hyperlinked in the SSR is well-presented and compelling.  
 

  ☒     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 
Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
Reviewer #2:  

• P35 a list of what faculty have/are working on in the field would be useful in illustrating 
faculty connection to sector. 

• P35 you talk about EDI and Decolonization, mid-way through. It is useful to state where these goals 
can be found in your department. So for example, did faculty make a verbal commitment, is this 
commitment made on your website, has this been formalized into course content, what outlines have 
been revised in this manner, which ones need to be revised in this manner. And if so, when did this 
occur. 

• P36, with only 6 regular and 1 NR2 faculty -a short bio of each would be ideal in the body of the report. 
Perhaps… highlighting their ties to industry (so to link this with the last note I made for chapter 1) 

• I don’t advocate having student names nor pictures in a report. In my opinion, and others could 
disagree! But the report should not have specific names unless they have a role in the program (not 
merely in the program). 

• Write acronyms the first time they are defined (i.e. bipoc) 
• P41 what you are describing under the table is a decanal issue. I suggest you add in: request 

section(s) increase from the Dean. 
• -bottom of page, I suggest you might try going to the high schools! If students don’t come to you, go to 

them. 😊😊 
• p43, top you say survey, is this the alumni survey? 
• -bottom … other recommendations that you made but are not listed here 1)indigenous content added 

to outlines 2)request sections from Dean (if you would like to) 
Question: p34 lists names of PAC -were these people surveyed? Were these companies/offices 
surveyed? 



 
 

SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
  Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report  

5 
 

CHAPTER 4: Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery 
 
Criteria: This chapter adequately examines the effectiveness of the instructional design and delivery of the 
program and student success.  
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations. 
 
THE CHAPTER:  
  ☐     Meets the Standard 

Additional Comments (if necessary):  
 
  ☒     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 

Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
Reviewer #1:  
The reflections on possible grade inflation and the adequacy of JRNL 4270 were particularly helpful.  
Only 51% of alumni respondents stated they were well-prepared for an entry-level position. This is 
concerning, and it would be helpful to have more recommendations tied to correcting this. One-on-one 
coaching could be helpful but I would appreciate reading about some other recommendations for 
addressing this.  
 
Reviewer #2:  

• Generally, when you are talking about a survey, especially for the first time -you might wish to state 
the specific sample size … as this will inform the validity of the data… if only 5 people responded … vs 
50 …. It’s a big difference. You do make reference to small sample size in the general document (not 
in this chapter), but you don’t give a number. 

• student name included 
• p43 bottom, when was the alumni survey from -from what grad years were graduated surveyed? You 

do state this later on, but state it the first time you bring up this survey. 
• p44 mid way down, you say “helped to teach them.” But who is ‘them’ 
• p46 you state, ‘not really a cap stone course’ …but if it is currently a part of your program, you should 

have the cap stone. Just to add, if you don’t like this course so much, your dept might consider 
revamping it. You are able to do this. 
p47… not a change, but the mentor program, what a great idea! In some universities mentorship comes 
with a class/credit and is required. Just something to think about if you are going to develop new 
courses. 
 

 



 
 

SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
  Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report  

6 
 

CHAPTER 5: Resources, Services and Facilities 
 
Criteria: This chapter adequately assesses program’s resources, services, and facilities from both the student 
and faculty perspective.  
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported assessments and recommendations. 
 
THE CHAPTER:  
  ☒     Meets the Standard 

Additional Comments (if necessary):  
Reviewer #1:  
Apart from “investigating the feasibility of purchasing … cameras” it may be simpler just to put in a 
budget ask during the normal budget cycle.  
 
Reviewer #2:  

• P 49, par 1 -what social media sources do you use? What is used? Add in. Can KPU assist with these 
in someway? 

• -par3 -is it feasible to ask students to pay $1000 for equipment? 
• -Recommendations -are 35 unites needed? What’s the class size on average of these 2 classes? 

 
  ☐     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 

Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
Click here to enter text. 

 
 
 



 
 

SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
  Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report  

7 
 

CHAPTER 6: Conclusions and Recommendations 
 
Criterion: This chapter summarizes the conclusions drawn from the evidence gathered in the program review. 
 
Standard: The Chapter contains data-supported recommendations. 
THE CHAPTER:  
  ☒     Meets the Standard 

Additional Comments (if necessary):  
Reviewer #1:  
The point about pursing an affiliation agreement with BCIT is well-taken.  Overall, I find the conclusions 
and recommendations to be appropriate. 
 
Reviewer #2:  

P52opportunities should come under recommendations. I think the certificate program is an fantastic 
bridge to your BA. In addition it’s a great way to get international students to register (and complete 
a full certificate) 

 
  ☒     Requires Further Action to Meet the Standard 

Further Action Required for this Chapter to Meet the Standard:  
Reviewer #2:  
• As you change other chapters, updates needed in this final chapter 
• p53 add in EDI and meaningful indigenous content (you’ve discussed this in the document, you just 
need to sum it up here) to course outlines 
• P53 you’ve discussed the need for industry and grads to acknowledge the importance of citizenship. 
This is essential for you to socialize, you’ve talked about this in the document so you might wish to add 
this into all course outlines. 

 
MINOR EDITS (Spelling, syntax, word choice and other mechanical issues). 
Please list corresponding page numbers. Minor edits are NOT discussed at the SSCPR meeting. Add or remove rows 
as needed. 
 
Reviewer #1: This is a likely a reflection of the high standard of writing that exists in the department but it is 
laudable that the entire SSR is devoid of formatting or copyediting errors, to my eye! 
 
Minor Edits (page #) 
Tables & charts, etc. 
-Edit so to create consistent tables/charts (etc.) throughout the document 
On a related note, sometimes the bar charts have the % in the segment component, but other times its to the 

right of the segment. Its not easy to distinguish/ read. If you standardize all charts, graphs, tables this assists 
the reader. 
-edit so reference in the body & table, etc. is accurate 
-tables/ etc. should be on 1 page so to enhance readability 
-Titles need for each table/chart, etc. 
-title, etc comes at top or bottom (standardize) 
*titles have: what the table, etc. is illustrating; year of data; sample/population that is being presented, 
sample/population size, source of data (e.g., KPU Office of Planning, Office of Planning Journalism Program 
Dashboard …. Or what have you) 
*if the table is extracted from somewhere a source is needed 



 
 

SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
  Reviewers’ Comments: Self-Study Report  

8 
 

Minor Edits (page #) 
In addition to the above edits please note the following comments for specific Tables/Charts/etc. P5, is 
this 1 table or 2? 
Bachelor degree… are you talking about the Bachelor, Major? Where can the honours option be accounted 
for in the actual table. It is currently below the table, but it needs to be in the table. 
P10-p11 is this necessary in the body of your report? Is articulation a focus? Or does this belong in the 
appendix? Why is Communications in this list? This is a program review for Journalism. 
P9 & p8 -the diagram/chart info on both pages… does this illustrate 2 unique things? Or can you present 
this is one table/etc.? 
P14, 15 do you have data from 2014 to 2022 for both classes? Also, you have % in each row… but the title is 
share of students planning to major… what does other mean? Also make charts on pp 14, 15 standard… 
Journalism is first on page 14, other is first on page 15. What value to your report does stating ‘other’ bring? In 
addition, if you are reporting % you might consider stating, Percentage of students… (rather than 
share of students) 
P 15/16 what order are these departments in? If you are going to report median as a mid range statistic, the 
depts should be ranked highest to lowest on column 1. On that note, Im unclear why median was 
choosen as average over mean. This is not required in your report 😊😊 But I will ask you this. 
P17 FN 1 not needed, as it doesn’t apply; Why do you have 2 rows the same? Where is the BA Major? BA 
with honours? 
P21, this list should be tabled. Also it can be condensed as it takes up too much space. You could use columns 
for example to list occupations. If this program review is for Journalism, why is there info on 
Communications Degree? Omit. Similarly omit discussion on the Communications below this chart. 
P25, I don’t understand this bar chart (though I get the general understanding)… more so, I have questions 
around the mapping. You have much criticism on it, were you told it must be part of this report? Or are you 
voicing concerns for the top down mapping that was put on departments from the Dean’s Office? 
P27 -how does this table differ from the one found on page 15? 
P32, I don’t follow the bar chart. Is this faculty response? What are the % at end? Where is the Not at all 
important? What colour is somewhat important? Your script doesn’t support the data in the table. For 
example, you say on p31 that near unanimous agreement re plos but the table doesn’t illustrate this on p32 
P33/34 the title says that this is student outcomes data, but it is more than just this, it is a percentage cross 
tabulation table (so it shows more than 1 variable)…. And % are reported. It’s a good table!! Percentage 
reporting needs to be reflected in titles as well as the write up. 

 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Journalism Program Review 
Self-Study Report 

 
Report Submission Date:  

 
Primary Author:  

Chad Skelton 
Program Review Team Members: 

Nick Chen 
Aaron Goodman 

Lubna Moosa 
Tracy Sherlock 
Chad Skelton 

Bev Wake 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Version Date: October 3, 2022September 20, 2023 



Journalism Self-Study Report  

Table of Contents 
List of Acronyms .................................................................................................................................. 1 
Memo from Dean/Associate Dean ....................................................................................................... 2 
1. Introduction .................................................................................................................................. 5 

1.1. Overview of the Program(s) ............................................................................................................ 5 
1.2. Program Department .................................................................................................................... 13 
1.3. Program Purpose ........................................................................................................................... 13 
1.4. Issues for Program Review ............................................................................................................ 13 

2. Curriculum Review ....................................................................................................................... 20 
2.1. Pathways for Graduates ................................................................................................................ 20 
2.2. Skill Development .......................................................................................................................... 22 
2.3. Curriculum Assessment ................................................................................................................. 23 

3. Program Relevance and Demand ................................................................................................. 32 
3.1. Relevance ...................................................................................................................................... 32 
3.2. Faculty Qualifications and Currency .............................................................................................. 37 
3.3. Student Demand ............................................................................................................................ 38 

4. Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery ......................................................................................... 45 
4.1. Instructional Design and Delivery of Curriculum ........................................................................... 45 
4.2. Student Success ............................................................................................................................. 47 

5. Resources, Services, and Facilities ................................................................................................ 51 
6. Conclusions and Recommendations ............................................................................................. 53 

6.1. Summary of Program’s strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and challenges ........................... 53 
6.2. Recommendations ......................................................................................................................... 54 

7. Appendices .................................................................................................................................. 57 
 
 
 



Journalism Self-Study Report 1 

List of Acronyms 
 

BCCAT: BC Council on Admissions and Transfer  

BCIT: B.C. Institute of Technology 

BIPOC: Black, Indigenous and other Persons of Colour 

CAMAC: Communication and Media Articulation Committee 

CAPU: Capilano University 

DFW: A letter grade of D, F or a student who withdraws from the course. 

DOUG: Douglas College 

CLO: Course Learning Outcomes 

COMM: Communication Studies course code 

JRNL: Journalism course code 

KPU: Kwantlen Polytechnic University 

LANG: Langara College 

NIC: North Island College 

OC: Okanagan College 

OPA: KPU’s Office of Planning & Accountability 

PAC: Program Advisory Committee 

PLO: Program Learning Outcomes 

PR: Public Relations 

SFU: Simon Fraser University 

TRU: Thompson Rivers University 

TWU: Trinity Western University 

UBCO: University of B.C. Okanagan 

UBCV: University of B.C. Vancouver 

UNBC: University of Northern B.C. 

UVIC: University of Victoria 

  



Journalism Self-Study Report 2 

Memo from Dean/Associate Dean 
 

 
TO: Senate Standing Committee on Program Review  
 
FROM: Shelley Boyd, Dean, Faculty of Arts; Billeh Nickerson, Associate Dean, Faculty of Arts   
   
DATE: 24 August 2023 
 
SUBJECT: Journalism and Communication Studies Self-Study  
   
 
We would like to begin by expressing our gratitude to the Journalism and Communication Studies 
Department for their consideration and care in writing this Self-Study Report, which is a significant 
component of the Program Review of the BA in Journalism, and the BA Minor in Journalism. Thank you 
to program review team members Nick Chen, Aaron Goodman, Lubna Moosa, Tracy Sherlock, Chad 
Skelton, and Bev Wake. We would like to extend a special shout out to the department Chair Chad 
Skelton for his invaluable use of data analytics and for investigating this report as he would a cover story 
or news report.  This Self-Study embodies the spirit and expertise of the Journalism and Communication 
Studies department. 
 
The Self-Study details the many ways in which the department has addressed and is addressing the 
changing landscapes of its discipline. It also details their commitment to increased student progression 
and access. The department is well aware of its student population and their needs, and has been quite 
nimble to make strategic changes in course offerings and curriculum, degree pathways, and opening up 
their classes to students outside their department or Faculty. The department has been proactive in 
creating resources and supports for students, such as the flowchart that explains the pre-requisite 
structure.  These kinds of initiatives demonstrate the faculty members’ student-centered approach.   
 
It is now easier for Major and Minor students to complete their studies at KPU, and to do so with a 
contemporary job-ready preparedness. It is also now easier for students outside of Journalism and 
Communications to enroll in upper-level course offerings, which has only increased the department’s 
already stellar numbers of seats taken in service to the Faculty of Arts and other Faculties at KPU. The 
growth in the Minor is also encouraging and due in large part to the department’s ongoing work in 
supporting student progression. The Self-Study mentions potentially reducing the lower-level discipline-
specific course requirements while still keeping the laddering of courses in place to ensure students are 
meeting the learning outcomes as they advance through the program.  This issue seems an important 
one to reflect carefully upon during this program review by finding ways to balance learning outcomes 
and preparedness with the prevention of any unexpected barriers or potential bottlenecks that may 
inhibit timely student progression through the program.  
 
The program also appears to be reflecting carefully on learning outcomes and the need to strengthen 
coverage of such issues as media ethics and law. Furthermore, finding ways of teaching and familiarizing 
students with peer-editing earlier in the program also seems important so students are developing 
those skills at the various stages of their learning. The program fully engages with the Program Advisory 
Committee, which is excellent to see as PAC input has helped the department to improve its course 

MEMORANDUM 



Journalism Self-Study Report 3 

offerings in ongoing, intentional ways. This is yet another way this department has deepened its 
community and discipline-specific connections. Such external connections are gold in that they further 
the department’s already solid connections to industry, and offer new wise eyes to department 
initiatives. We heartily commend the program for its thoughtful and detailed reflections on the learning 
experiences and needs of their students and their attentiveness to PAC points of view.  
 
Journalism and Communication Studies is not just for students intending to be journalists. The 
department’s understanding of this fact and their strategic pivots have made them stronger and placed 
them in a position for possible further growth in terms of both the number of sections offered and the 
topics covered. It has managed to achieve this without diluting its core offerings. All students have 
access to qualified industry professionals who bring significant discipline-specific experience and 
wisdom. 
 
The Journalism and Communication Studies department has been on the vanguard of Indigenization in 
both their curriculum and degree requirements. Of note, they were one of the first departments to 
require INDG 1100 for their BA Majors.  They also developed, collaboratively, an EDID mission statement 
and have helped other areas in the Faculty of Arts to consider the same. This process involved much 
consultation across the university, not to mention self-reflection.  
 
Another area where the department has been proactive is in completing articulation agreements with 
other institutions, such as Langara College.  The Self-Study notes, “To date, no Langara graduates have 
taken advantage of the agreement.” To raise the profile and attract future transfer students, the 
department may want to consider ways of enhancing its external-facing profile as a strong destination 
for future students who already have an interest in journalism and communications, especially in light of 
other institutions’ growth in this discipline (BCIT). The fact that recent KPU graduates have secured 
employment in the industry immediately is another clear strength that may create opportunities for 
future transfer students and retention.  The Dean’s office would be happy to discuss possibilities and 
opportunities with the department, especially to enhance the profile of this department being the only 
one to offer a four-year Bachelor of Journalism in the region and one that has a clear record of alumni 
success.  The Dean’s office finds the idea of a Certificate in Multimedia Storytelling promising in that it 
may further aid in drawing current and future students to the program. Finding ways of growing 
journalism students’ work-integrated learning through ARTS 4800 or other avenues are also strong 
possibilities. The Dean’s office looks forward to discussing these and other possibilities with the 
department depending on the final recommendations of this program review.  
 
Finally, the faculty in the Journalism and Communication Studies department have provided pivotal 
support for the Faculty of Arts and KPU-wide communities in areas such as academic integrity, 
international student success, and climate change. Their experiences in the field are often invaluable. 
We thank the faculty members who have engaged in the program review process and for being so 
proactive in improving their program and growing their student engagement through steadfast 
commitment. The dean’s office looks forward to continuing to support the department in future 
initiatives. 
 

      



Journalism Self-Study Report 4 

 
Shelley Boyd       Billeh Nickerson 
Dean, Faculty of Arts      Associate Dean, Faculty of Arts 
 

  



Journalism Self-Study Report 5 

1. Introduction 

1.1. Overview of the Program(s) 

Program(s) Under Review 
 

Program Name Bachelor of Journalism 

Program Level Undergraduate 

Credential Baccalaureate Degree 

Credits Required 120 

Discipline and 
specializations if 
applicable 

N/A 

Date established and last 
revision 

Established: Apr. 19, 2001 

Last Revision: Jan. 29, 2018 
 
 

Program Name Minor in Journalism 

Program Level Undergraduate 

Credential Minor 

Credits Required 27 

Discipline and 
specializations if 
applicable 

N/A 

Date established and last 
revision 

Established: Feb. 25, 2015 

Last Revision: Oct. 26, 2020 

The Journalism and Communication Studies department, part of the Faculty of Arts, offers two credentials: 
the Bachelor of Journalism, with an Honours option, and the Minor in Journalism. 

A Note on Terminology: “Communications” 

It is helpful to clarify that the term “Communications” has two distinct meanings that are used in this 
report: 

1. “Communications” may refer to courses in Communication Studies. At KPU, these courses are 
coded as COMM courses. While COMM courses at KPU cover a range of topics, they typically focus 
on the theoretical and academic aspects of communications. This is in contrast to Journalism 
(JRNL) courses, which tend to be more practical, teaching hands-on reporting and writing skills. 



Journalism Self-Study Report 6 

Communication Studies (COMM) courses are also distinct from more practical courses in Applied 
Communications which, at KPU, are coded as CMNS courses and are taught through the Faculty 
of Business. KPU does not have a credential in Communication Studies and so there is no 
“Communications” degree that is being reviewed as part of this Self-Study Report. Nonetheless, 
some Communication Studies (COMM) courses are required as part of the Bachelor of Journalism 
degree requirements, so they are part of this Self-Study Report. COMM courses are also very 
popular among non-journalism students as electives. As a result, roughly half the instructors in 
the Journalism and Communication Studies department primarily teach Communication Studies 
(COMM) courses rather than Journalism (JRNL) courses. 

2. “Communications” is also the umbrella term most commonly used to refer to the field of public 
relations and strategic communications. It can include job titles such as spokesperson, public 
information officer and social media manager. Many graduates of KPU’s Bachelor of Journalism 
program end up working in Communications rather than in Journalism. 

To avoid confusion, this report will refer to “Communication Studies” or “COMM” whenever the academic 
discipline of Communication Studies is being referred to and “Communications/Public Relations” when 
careers in the field are being discussed. 

A Note on Surveys 

KPU’s Journalism program is relatively small, with only about a dozen graduates each year. As a result, 
several of the surveys conducted as part of this Program Review had relatively few respondents, even 
when the response rate of those contacted was relatively high. Specifically: 

• The faculty survey was sent to 14 Journalism faculty members. A total of 8 faculty members 
responded. The response rate was 57%. 

• The discipline/sector survey was sent to 20 Journalism discipline/sector representatives. A total 
of 12 discipline/sector representatives responded. The response rate was 60%. 

• The student survey was sent to 64 Journalism students. A total of 22 students responded. The 
response rate was 34%. 

• The alumni survey was sent to 105 Journalism alumni. A total of 9 alumni responded. The response 
rate was 9%. 

This means some percentages reported in this report are based on relatively few actual respondents. For 
example, a single respondent on the alumni survey makes up 11% of all respondents. Also, due to 
rounding, percentages may not always add up to 100%. 

Brief History of the Program 

The Journalism program has been part of KPU for many decades. It began as a two-year diploma program 
when Kwantlen and Douglas College were one entity. The degree first appeared in the 2002/03 calendar 
as the Bachelor of Applied Journalism, with an Honours option. The degree added two years, advanced 
skills and 60 credits onto the 60-credit diploma program. Students could graduate with the diploma after 
two years or continue for another two years to earn the degree. They also had the option of doing a 
concentration in Public Relations, another diploma program in the Faculty of Design. Students could 



Journalism Self-Study Report 7 

substitute some specific PR courses for some specific upper-level Journalism courses. Similarly, PR 
students could do a concentration in Journalism with the same course substitutions.  

Maintaining the diploma along with the degree was a requirement of the provincial ministry responsible 
for post-secondary education. This model was problematic, as it guaranteed substantial attrition at the 
two-year mark. The cohort of 22 students dropped significantly between second and third year, as many 
students decided they were happy with a diploma and didn’t want to pursue the four-year degree.  

In September 2011, the Journalism program at KPU underwent a significant change. The department 
moved from the Faculty of Design in Richmond to the Faculty of Social Sciences (now Arts) in Surrey. The 
department revised its program entirely, eliminating the diploma and cohort model, and following the 
Bachelor of Arts framework. The instructors’ commitment to provide students with the skills to succeed 
as journalists resulted in a completely revised curriculum that reflected the technological changes in the 
industry and the growth of social media and citizen journalism. In addition, communication-theory 
courses, which had previously been labelled Journalism (JRNL) courses, such as Media and Diversity, were 
given their rightful designation as Communication Studies (COMM) courses. More COMM courses were 
added and the department name was changed to Journalism and Communication Studies.  

It was not possible to retain the PR concentration because, at the time, the PR program operated on a 
cohort model, as the JRNL program used to, so there were no seats available for JRNL students interested 
in PR courses as electives. 

These changes were not prompted by an official program review, but by the department's recognition 
that the structure of the degree needed to change, not only to address the attrition issue, but to update 
the curriculum to reflect the changing reality of the profession of journalism and the importance of media 
literacy to all citizens, not just journalists. 

In 2015, a proposal from the department for a Minor in Journalism was approved by KPU’s Senate. The 
Minor required students take 27 JRNL credits of lower- and upper-level courses. 

In 2016, the Bachelor of Journalism and Minor in Journalism underwent Program Review. As a result of 
that review, several changes were made to the program as part of the Quality Assurance Plan, including: 

• Upper-level requirements for the Bachelor of Journalism were simplified. Whereas before 
students had to select two courses from each of three separate categories of courses, students 
were now required to take any six upper-level JRNL electives and any two upper-level COMM 
electives. 

• Course outlines were revised to facilitate a clearer progression through advancing skills, 
culminating in a capstone course: JRNL 4270 Advanced Storytelling. 

• Course outlines were revised to specifically include content and learning outcomes that prepare 
students to use transferable journalism skills in professions other than journalism, such as media 
relations. 

• Several multimedia courses were revised to reflect changes in the industry, including changing 
the Advanced Photojournalism course to one specifically focused on Video Journalism and adding 
both a second-year and upper-level course in Audio Storytelling, to reflect the growth in 
podcasting. 



Journalism Self-Study Report 8 

These changes were implemented in 2018 and established a clearer progression for Bachelor of 
Journalism students through the program, with courses more clearly building on the one that came 
before. But that clearer progression also resulted in an unintended consequence: course prerequisites 
that were often quite onerous. 

For example, after the 2018 changes were made, JRNL 3370 Advanced Audio Storytelling had three 
prerequisites: JRNL 2230 Multimedia Storytelling, JRNL 2240 Beyond the News and JRNL 2370 Audio 
Storytelling.  But several of those courses had their own prerequisites. Taken together, a student would 
have needed to take six separate prerequisite courses before they could take JRNL 3370 Advanced Audio 
Storytelling. This made it almost impossible for a student not Majoring in Journalism but interested in 
podcasting to take the course as an elective. It also made it more difficult for Journalism students to 
navigate their upper-level degree requirements, as some upper-level courses are only offered every other 
year and students sometimes didn’t have all the necessary prerequisites to take a course when it was 
offered. 

As a result, in Fall 2019, the department revised the outlines of several courses, reducing the prerequisites 
required for many of them. This made it easier for non-Journalism students to take upper-level JRNL 
courses they were interested in. It also provided Journalism students with more flexibility in meeting their 
degree requirements. Several of the course names were also changed to make them clearer and better 
reflect their course content (“Visual Storytelling” became “Photojournalism”; “Advanced Visual 
Storytelling” became “Video Journalism”). 



Journalism Self-Study Report 9 

 

A handout containing the flowchart above is provided to all students who take JRNL courses to help explain to 
them the current prerequisite structure. 

 

At the same time, the prerequisites for JRNL 4270 Advanced Storytelling were also simplified. Advanced 
Storytelling was originally designed as a required “capstone course” that students would take in their final 
year of studies, after they had already taken several other upper-level courses. The problem is that 
Advanced Storytelling only works as a final, capstone course if it is offered every year which, given the 
small size of the Journalism program, poses enrolment challenges. Only 15 students were enrolled in 
Advanced Storytelling in Spring 2017, 16 in Spring 2018 and 11 in Spring 2019. To ensure robust enrolment 
for the course, the prerequisites for JRNL 4270 Advanced Storytelling were changed to make it accessible 
to both third- and fourth-year Journalism students. And, beginning in Spring 2021, JRNL 4270 Advanced 
Storytelling was offered only every other year, like most other upper-level Journalism courses. 



Journalism Self-Study Report 10 

The department also made a small change to the Minor of Journalism in 2020, removing the requirement 
to take JRNL 2230 Multimedia Storytelling and JRNL 2240 Beyond the News and replacing it with a more 
flexible requirement to take any two JRNL courses at the 2000 level. This was done to reflect the fact that 
the changes to the Bachelor of Journalism program made in 2018 had created two new 2000-level courses: 
JRNL 2360 Photojournalism and JRNL 2370 Podcasting and Audio Storytelling. 

Admission Requirements and Laddering 
 
Admission to KPU’s Journalism program is classified as open intake – there is no set limit to the number 
of students admitted. All applicants to undergraduate studies in the Faculty of Arts must satisfy the 
faculty’s undergraduate admission requirement, which consists of KPU’s undergraduate English 
proficiency requirement. KPU Journalism's open-access approach makes the program more accessible 
than many other journalism programs in Canada, which have high admission requirements. This makes it 
easier for students who may have struggled in high school to participate in the program. 

Credential and Curricular Requirements  

Currently, in addition to the Bachelor of Arts general framework criteria, students must meet the 
following requirements to graduate with a Bachelor of Journalism: 
 
All of the following lower-level courses: 

• INDG 1100 Introduction to Indigenous Studies 
• JRNL 1160 Introduction to Journalism 
• JRNL 1220 Citizen Journalism 
• JRNL 2120 Storytelling: Writing for Journalism 
• JRNL 2230 Multimedia Storytelling 
• JRNL 2240 Beyond the News: Feature Writing 
• JRNL 2360 Photojournalism 
• JRNL 2370 Podcasting and Audio Storytelling  

 
Plus 6 credits from courses in Communication (COMM) numbered 1100 through 2999. 
 
All of the following upper-level courses: 

• JRNL 3165 Data Visualization 
• JRNL 4270 Advanced Storytelling 

 
Plus 18 credits from courses in Journalism (JRNL) numbered 3000 through 4999. 
Plus 6 credits from courses in Communications (COMM) numbered 3000 through 4999. 
 
(60 Credits Total) 
 
The requirements for the Minor in Journalism are: 
 

• JRNL 1160 Introduction to Journalism 
• JRNL 1220 Citizen Journalism 
• JRNL 2120 Storytelling: Writing for Journalism 

 



Journalism Self-Study Report 11 

Plus 6 credits from courses in Journalism (JRNL) numbered 2000 through 2999. 
Plus 12 credits from courses in Journalism (JRNL) numbered 3000 through 4999. 
 

Transferability 

KPU is a member of the BC Council on Admissions and Transfer (BCCAT), an organization that oversees 
articulation agreements across institutions in the province. The Journalism and Communication Studies 
department is also a member of the BCCAT’s Communication and Media Articulation Committee 
(CAMAC). Several articulation agreements exist for both JRNL and COMM courses. The frequency of those 
agreements varies, with Simon Fraser University (SFU), University of the Fraser Valley (UFV) and Trinity 
Western (TWU) being the institutions with the most articulation agreements in place to recognize KPU’s 
JRNL and COMM courses. The two charts below show the articulation agreements in place for select 
institutions. Some small institutions with only a single articulation agreement with KPU have been left out 
for clarity. 

 

 

CAPU
 

DO
U

G
 

LAN
G 

N
IC 

O
C 

SFU
 

TRU
 

TW
U

 

U
BCO

 

U
BCV 

U
FV 

U
N

BC 

U
VIC 

TOTAL 4 2 1 1 2 9 6 6 4 3 9 3 2 
COMM 1100 Y Y  Y Y Y Y  Y  Y   
COMM 1110  Y    Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 
COMM 1200   Y  Y      Y   
COMM 2100      Y Y  Y Y Y   
COMM 2210      Y  Y Y Y Y   
COMM 3100      Y     Y   
COMM 3200 Y     Y Y Y   Y   
COMM 3210 Y     Y Y Y   Y Y Y 
COMM 3220      Y Y Y   Y Y  
COMM 3230 Y     Y  Y      

 

 

 

CAPU
 

DO
U

G
 

LAN
G 

O
C 

SFU
 

TW
U

 

U
BCO

 

U
BCV 

U
FV 

U
N

BC 

U
VIC 

VCC 

VIU
 

TOTAL 4 6 5 1 16 10 3 5 13 10 6 2 6 
JRNL 1160 Y  Y Y Y Y Y Y Y    Y 
JRNL 1220 Y Y   Y Y Y Y Y Y Y  Y 
JRNL 2120   Y  Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y Y 



Journalism Self-Study Report 12 

JRNL 2230         Y     
JRNL 2240  Y Y  Y Y    Y Y Y Y 
JRNL 2360  Y Y  Y Y  Y Y  Y  Y 
JRNL 2370  Y Y  Y Y  Y Y Y Y  Y 
JRNL 3165     Y     Y    
JRNL 3170  Y   Y Y   Y  Y   
JRNL 3175 Y     Y   Y     
JRNL 3180 Y    Y Y   Y     
JRNL 3260              
JRNL 3270     Y         
JRNL 3370     Y    Y Y    
JRNL 4141              
JRNL 4180     Y    Y Y    
JRNL 4190              
JRNL 4240     Y     Y    
JRNL 4250  Y   Y Y    Y    
JRNL 4260     Y    Y     
JRNL 4270     Y    Y Y    
JRNL 4290              
JRNL 4295              
JRNL 4900              

In 2020, the Chairs of the KPU and Langara Journalism programs worked together to ensure that sufficient 
articulation agreements existed between the two institutions so that a student graduating from Langara’s 
two-year Journalism diploma program could continue their studies at KPU and, with another two years of 
study, earn a Bachelor of Journalism degree. Once the articulation agreements were in place, an 
information session was held at Langara to let students know about the opportunity to study at KPU. To 
date, no Langara graduates have yet taken advantage of the agreement. 

Partnership with KPU’s Public Relations Department 

Beginning in 2019, the Chairs of KPU’s Journalism and Public Relations programs began discussions around 
how the two programs could work more closely together to offer opportunities to their respective 
students. With the assistance of Arts Degree Advising, it was determined that, given the significant overlap 
in courses between the two programs, students could pursue both a Bachelor of Journalism degree and a 
two-year Public Relations diploma at the same time and receive both credentials with as little as one extra 
semester of study. 

This was good news for Bachelor of Journalism students, many of whom want to pursue a career in Public 
Relations or Communications, and to those in the PR diploma program, who are often looking for ways to 
leverage their two-year diploma into a four-year degree. 

Both programs have been actively promoting this option to students. So far, only one student is pursuing 
the option, but a number of others have expressed interest. 



Journalism Self-Study Report 13 

1.2. Program Department  

The Journalism and Communication Studies department has six regular faculty members. The faculty is a 
mixture of current and former journalists who primarily teach practical Journalism (JRNL) courses and 
academics with doctorates in Communication Studies who primarily teach courses in Communication 
Studies (COMM). The department also has a number of sessional instructors, including those with 
particular areas of expertise (like photojournalism or audio journalism) who teach courses in those areas. 
Many of our instructors, both regular faculty and contract faculty, have won journalism awards at both 
the provincial and national levels. 

Most in-person JRNL and COMM courses are offered on the Surrey campus, however usually one first-
year course a semester is offered at the Langley and/or Richmond campuses. 

 

1.3. Program Purpose  

The original Full Program Proposal for KPU’s Journalism degree, prepared in 2000, reads: 

“The goal of Kwantlen's Bachelor of Applied Journalism degree is to give students the skills and 
knowledge to allow them to work immediately and comfortably in the constantly shifting 
communications industry.” 

Two decades later, that fundamental goal has not changed. However, many of the details of how that goal 
is achieved are different. For example, Journalism students at KPU no longer learn darkroom skills, as they 
did in the early 2000s. Instead, they are taught how to manipulate digital images using Adobe Photoshop. 
Courses in audio journalism are designed not just to prepare students for work in radio, but also for work 
on podcasts. Data analysis and visualization skills — not mentioned at all in the original proposal in 2000 
— are now a key component of the program, with all students required to take a dedicated course in data 
visualization. Social media has also become an integral part of the program, as both a place to connect 
with sources and a way for journalists to quickly share information about developing news stories.  

Another key change over the decades has been an increased focus on multimedia journalism. While the 
original proposal in 2000 refers to “on-line journalism”, the journalism industry at the time was still largely 
siloed into different media formats. A student graduating from KPU’s program in the early 2000s would 
likely find a job as a radio reporter, TV reporter, photojournalist or newspaper reporter, and their work in 
that position would be almost exclusively focused on audio, video, photos or words. The journalists of 
today don’t fit into such clean categories. A TV journalist is often expected to produce a written story for 
the web along with their broadcast report. Newspaper reporters gather video from the scene of news 
events to publish on their publication’s website. And an online news story often has multiple component 
parts: a story, a photo, a video, a data visualization. The way journalism is taught at KPU reflects this, with 
coursework that often requires student to integrate various forms of storytelling. 

1.4. Issues for Program Review 

There are a number of issues currently affecting the Bachelor of Journalism program that the department 
is hoping can be addressed as part of this Program Review. 

Growth in Lower-Level Enrolment 



Journalism Self-Study Report 14 

First-year Journalism (JRNL) and Communication Studies (COMM) courses have seen sharp increases in 
enrolment over the past few years, driven in large part by the increasing numbers of international 
students at KPU. For example, JRNL 1160 Introduction to Journalism has seen its total number of students 
per year almost double since 2017. 

 

Source: Class list data 

While overall enrolment is up, the number of students interested in pursuing a Bachelor of Journalism 
degree has stayed flat, or even declined slightly. The result is that an increasing share of students in lower-
level courses are not planning to Major in Journalism and are instead taking such courses as electives. 



Journalism Self-Study Report 15 

 

Source: Class list data 

 

Where once about one in five students taking JRNL 1160 Introduction to Journalism were planning to 
Major in Journalism, that has since fallen as low as one in 10 or even one in 20. The trend is less dramatic, 
though still noticeable, in some second-year courses like JRNL 2360 Photojournalism. 

 



Journalism Self-Study Report 16 

 

Source: Class list data 

This change has created a challenge for instructors, who must balance preparing Bachelor of Journalism 
students for upper-level JRNL courses while making their course content accessible and useful for students 
with no intention of pursuing a Journalism degree. This challenge has been compounded by the increase 
in international students in such courses, who sometimes struggle with writing in English. 

It would be helpful, as part of this Program Review, to learn if students and instructors believe lower-level 
JRNL courses adequately prepare students for upper-level JRNL courses. 

 

Degree requirements compared to other programs 

All Bachelor of Arts degrees at KPU require students to take 120 credits (40 courses) but programs vary in 
how many specific courses students are required to take within their discipline versus electives students 
can choose on their own. These discipline-specific course requirements can take the form of specific 
courses that are required for a degree or electives that must be chosen from courses within the Major 
discipline. The discipline-specific requirements in the Bachelor of Journalism program are one of the 
highest compared to other Arts degrees. 

 

Program 

1000/2000 
Level 
Discipline-
Specific 
Courses 
Required 

3000/4000 
Level 
Discipline-
Specific 
Courses 
Required TOTAL 

Criminology 14 10 24 



Journalism Self-Study Report 17 

Journalism 10 10 20 
Creative Writing 7 11 18 
Policy Studies 9 8 17 
Applied Geography 8 9 17 
Sociology 8 9 17 
Psychology 7 10 17 
Political Science 6 10 16 
Anthropology 6 10 16 
English 5 10 15 
History 5 10 15 
Philosophy 7 6 13 

    
MEDIAN 7.0 10.0 17.0 

NOTE: The chart above includes both JRNL and COMM courses as Discipline Specific for the Bachelor of Journalism program as 
well as INDG 1100, which is a required course for the Bachelor of Journalism. 

Notably, the Bachelor of Journalism’s upper-level requirement of 10 courses is in line with most other Arts 
programs. Where the Journalism program differs is in its lower-level requirements, which are significantly 
higher than the median of 7 among those Arts programs compared. Having higher discipline-specific 
course requirements is not necessarily a bad thing. The Bachelor of Journalism program is a practical 
program that requires teaching students a solid grounding in various writing, research and multimedia 
skills. At the same time, having too many lower-level requirements may discourage some students from 
pursuing a Bachelor of Journalism or create difficulties in them laddering through all the courses they 
require. As part of this Program Review, we hope to gain some insight into whether there are some 
opportunities to reduce the lower-level discipline-specific course requirements for the degree while still 
ensuring adequate laddering of courses. 

 

Small Cohort 

In KPU Journalism’s last Program Review, the authors noted: 

Our program-specific issue boils down to battling two incorrect but common perceptions: 1) that 
Journalism is not a valid career option, and 2) that Journalism courses are only for journalists. 

Career options for KPU’s Bachelor of Journalism graduates have brightened considerably in recent years, 
as a tight labour market and the growth of online news sites has created several opportunities for new 
graduates. Several recent graduates of our program have secured jobs in journalism immediately upon 
graduation. Job opportunities are also plentiful in the related fields of Communications and Public 
Relations. 

At the time of our last Program Review, there was some concern that interest in journalism education 
would decline significantly or even disappear. That hasn’t happened. At the same time, interest in the 
program hasn’t grown, either, and the program remains quite small. 



Journalism Self-Study Report 18 

According to administrative data (Appendix 1), only about a dozen students graduate with a Bachelor of 
Journalism from KPU each year. Having such a small cohort of journalism students poses challenges for 
the program. For example, the program is only able to offer most upper-level JRNL courses every other 
year, because if such courses were offered every year, they would only be half full or worse. It also means 
students sometimes have less choice of which upper-level courses to take than they otherwise would. 

Exhibit 18: Journalism Program Graduate Headcount1 by Credential and Academic Year  
2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

Total2  19 12 8 14 14 
Bachelor’s Degree 19 12 8 14 14 

The program has tried to address this somewhat by looking for ways to attract non-Journalism students 
to some upper-level courses with wider appeal, and fewer pre-requisites, such as JRNL 3165 Data 
Visualization and JRNL 3260 Future of News. The department has also seen small, but significant, growth 
in interest in its Minor in Journalism, which has helped to fill upper-level courses. The growth in the Minor 
has also provided the program with opportunities to offer a wider range of upper-level JRNL courses, 
including one upper-level JRNL course in the Summer semester for the first time in 2022. 

Exhibit 5: Student Headcount in Journalism Program by Academic Year Compared with Faculty of Arts 
Programs 

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 %Change 
Bachelor of Arts (Honours) in 
Journalism 2 1 1 4 1 -50% 

Bachelor of Arts (Major) in 
Journalism 45 34 48 40 38 -16% 

Bachelor of Arts (Minor) in 
Journalism 5 6 6 8 7 40% 

Intended of Undeclared 63 74 72 59 51 -19% 
Journalism Total Headcount 108 115 119 106 93 -14% 
Faculty of Arts Total Headcount 5,805 5,887 5,755 6,146 6,126 6% 

Through this Program Review, the department would like to examine other opportunities to make upper-
level courses more attractive to non-journalism students so we can offer upper-level courses more often 
and provide our Bachelor of Journalism students with more choices. At the moment, JRNL courses are 
most popular among KPU students Majoring in General Studies, English and Creative Writing. 

 

                                                            
1 Count of unique students who have earned a KPU credential. Breakdown values may not add up to total or 100% because a 
student can earn multiple credentials in different categories within the same academic year. 
2 To avoid double counting students, total graduate headcounts presented in Exhibits 18 and 19 are unique headcounts of 
students for the year, not the sum of the credential counts. 



Journalism Self-Study Report 19 

 

Source: Class list data 

 

Equity, Diversity, Inclusion and Decolonization 

In the Spring of 2021, recognizing the importance of diversity in the journalism industry, the Journalism 
and Communication Studies department began an initiative to adopt a statement on Equity, Diversity, 
Inclusion and Decolonization. A draft statement was prepared which was then shared with various groups 
and experts at KPU, including Asma Sayed and Jennifer Anaquod, the President’s Diversity and Equity 
Committee and the Arts Anti-Racism Committee. The department also surveyed all students taking JRNL 
and COMM courses through an anonymous online survey: 74 students responded. 

In early 2023, the statement was formally adopted by the department and published on our department 
website and social media channels. It is attached as Appendix 2. 

Through this Program Review, the department would like to gather some information on how students 
and alumni think the department is doing on issues of diversity as well as gathering some baseline data 
on the demographic profile of our current students and alumni. 

Social Media 

The Journalism and Communication Studies department at KPU actively maintains social media accounts 
on Facebook, Twitter and Instagram. However, in the past Facebook has been the primary method with 
which the department communicated information about the program and posted links to ads for 
journalism jobs. Through this Program Review, and the survey of students, the department would like to 
learn if Facebook remains the best way for the department to communicate such information or if another 
social media channel is used more often by those we are trying to reach. 

 

https://www.kpu.ca/arts/journalism
https://www.kpu.ca/arts/journalism


Journalism Self-Study Report 20 

2. Curriculum Review 

2.1. Pathways for Graduates 

Pathways to Employment 

While graduates of KPU’s Bachelor of Journalism program work in a wide range of occupations, the degree 
prepares students primarily for careers in one of two fields: Journalism and Communications/Public 
Relations. 

A career in Journalism can involve work in a variety of different positions, including: 

• Multimedia Journalist 

• Data Journalist 

• Sports Journalist 

• Columnist 

• Web editor 

• Copy editor 

• Segment Producer 

• Podcast host 

• Play-by-play sports announcer 

• Videographer 

• Photojournalist 

• Foreign Correspondent 

• Entertainment Journalist 

• Documentary Filmmaker 

• News anchor 

A career in Communications/Public Relations can involve positions such as: 

• Corporate Communications Director 

• Communication Manager 

• Social media specialist 

• Content creator 



Journalism Self-Study Report 21 

• Media relations specialist 

• Spokesperson 

• Community relations directors 

• Event Planner 

• Marketing Manager 

• Digital Marketing Manager 

• Fundraising Manager 

• Government Affairs Manager 

• Public Information Officer 

• Press Secretary 

• Social Media Management 

• Advertising copywriter 

In both fields, there are opportunities to work as an employee for an organization or to be self-employed, 
as a freelance journalist or public-relations consultant. 

KPU’s Bachelor of Journalism program prepares students for jobs in these fields by providing them with a 
strong foundation in the principles of journalistic research and news judgment. That is supplemented by 
specific courses that teach students how to tell stories in different formats, including writing, 
photography, video, audio and data visualization. 

Graduates of KPU’s Bachelor of Journalism program usually begin their careers in entry-level positions, 
often at smaller news outlets. For example, Kyler Emerson, a 2023 KPU Journalism graduate and former 
editor of The Runner student newspaper, was recently hired as a Multimedia Journalist at the Langley 
Advance Times and a 2022 graduate. Sobia Moman (2022) was hired as a Multimedia Journalist at the 
Peace Arch News in White Rock shortly after graduation. Many KPU Journalism grads then work their way 
up to more senior leadership positions over the course of their careers. For example, Hayley Woodin, a 
2014 KPU Journalism graduate and chair of our PAC, began working at Business in Vancouver as a 
Multimedia Journalist in 2016 and is now BIV’s Editor in Chief. Harold Munro, Editor in Chief of The 
Vancouver Sun and The Province, is a 1985 KPU Journalism graduate who began his work at The Sun as a 
reporter. Both Woodin and Munro are featured as graduates on KPU Journalism’s website. 

Pathways to Further Study 

KPU’s Bachelor of Journalism is the only four-year journalism degree program in the Lower Mainland and 
one of only two Bachelor’s degree programs in journalism in the province (the other is at Thompson Rivers 
University in Kamloops). Langara offers a two-year Diploma in Journalism and a one-year Certificate in 
Journalism for those who already have a post-secondary education. BCIT offers a two-year diploma in 
Broadcast and Online Journalism and a part-time 27-credit Journalism Associate Certificate. UBC offers a 
two-year Master of Journalism program for those who already have a Bachelor’s degree. 

https://www.kpu.ca/arts/journalism/testimonials


Journalism Self-Study Report 22 

Given KPU’s unique position as the only institution offering a four-year Bachelor of Journalism in the 
region, students interested in journalism tend to remain at KPU for the duration of their studies rather 
than transferring to another institution partway through. Nonetheless, articulation agreements exist for 
almost all JRNL and COMM courses KPU offers, providing flexibility to students who begin their Journalism 
studies at KPU and then decide to study something else at another institution. 

As a professional program, Journalism at KPU is not explicitly designed to prepare students for graduate-
level studies. That said, as a baccalaureate degree, that path is open to KPU Journalism students and some 
have chosen that route. Recent graduates of KPU’s Bachelor of Journalism have gone on to law school and 
to pursue Masters degrees in fields such as Indigenous Studies and Public Health. For example, Marcus 
Barichello, who graduated from KPU’s Journalism program in 2021, went on to law school at UBC, Amei-
lee Laboucan (2019) has completed her Masters of Indigenous Studies and Jenna Keeble (2023) is pursuing 
a Masters of Public Health. Several KPU Journalism graduates have also gone on to pursue a Master of 
Journalism at UBC. But for most, KPU’s program is the end of their formal journalism education. 

Pathways to an Enriched Civic and Personal Life 

In addition to teaching students practical skills, KPU’s Journalism program also prepares them to be better 
news consumers and citizens. In particular, JRNL 1160 Introduction to Journalism — a required course for 
the program and a very popular elective for non-journalism students — addresses the role of journalism 
in society, including how to know when you can trust a news source. The inclusion of Communication 
Studies (COMM) courses as part of the Bachelor of Journalism requirements also ensures that students 
learn about the role of media in society through courses such as COMM 3100 Media and Diversity and 
COMM 3220 Social Media, New Technology and Society. Through the process of being media creators, 
students also become better media consumers — for example, learning how photos can be manipulated 
to be misleading or how audio can be edited to leave out important context. 

The research skills students learn can also be applied to their personal and civic lives. For example, in JRNL 
1220 Citizen Journalism, students learn how to file a Freedom of Information request, a valuable tool for 
journalists but also a useful way for citizens to learn more about what their government is up to. In JRNL 
4270 Politics and Journalism, students research national and/or provincial political parties and their 
platforms, as well as individual candidates, which will help them be informed and engaged in the electoral 
process. 

Career Pathways Map 

The Career Pathways Map of the program is presented in Appendix 3.  

 

2.2. Skill Development 

KPU has a standard for essential skills that each program is expected to address (KPU Policy AC 9) and the 
Ministry measures 7 skills through graduate assessments. The Journalism program fosters the following 
essential skills in learners: 

Writing Clearly and Concisely 

Clear and concise writing is at the heart of KPU’s Journalism program. In the program’s academic COMM 
courses, students learn how to write academic papers using proper citations. In addition, all Bachelor of 



Journalism Self-Study Report 23 

Journalism and Minor in Journalism students must take courses in news writing that teach them how to 
write short and clear news stories. 

Speaking Effectively 

KPU’s JRNL and COMM courses, like most university-level courses, involve frequent class discussions and 
presentations that teach students how to speak effectively and persuasively. In addition, the program’s 
multimedia journalism courses also teach students how to speak effectively, such as during a standup in 
a video story or narrating a podcast. 

Reading and Comprehending Material 

In their COMM courses and electives in other disciplines, KPU Journalism students learn how to read and 
interpret academic publications. This is supplemented by instruction in practical journalism courses where 
students learn how to read and interpret documents of relevance to journalism such as court decisions, 
budgets and internal government documents obtained through Freedom of Information requests. 
Students also read and analyze works of journalism in several JRNL classes. 

Working Effectively with Others 

Group work is used throughout many of the JRNL and COMM courses at KPU, in particular in multimedia 
courses where students often work in teams to produce a work of journalism, such as one student being 
the camera person while another interviews a subject. Students also engage in peer editing in several 
classes, where they review the work of others and incorporate feedback from classmates. 

Analyzing and Thinking Critically 

Courses in JRNL and COMM encourage students to think critically about the role of media in society and 
its importance to democracy. Students also engage in discussions around media bias and how to assess 
the reliability of an information source. 

Resolving Issues or Other Problems 

Through group work in various classes, students in KPU’s Journalism program learn how to resolve issues 
or problems with their classmates. Students also learn how, as journalists, to negotiate difficult or hostile 
interviews and how to deal with legal threats from those unhappy with a news story. 

Learning on Your Own 

All Journalism and Communication Studies courses foster independent learning through writing and 
research projects completed on one’s own. Self-directed learning is particularly important in the field of 
journalism, as many aspects of reporting are solitary in nature and performed with little to no direct 
supervision.  

2.3. Curriculum Assessment 

The full curriculum map is provided in Appendix 4.  



Journalism Self-Study Report 24 

Program Learning Outcomes 

Prior to this Program Review, the Bachelor of Journalism and Minor in Journalism did not have formal 
Program Learning Outcomes (PLOs). They were developed collaboratively by the department in early 
2023. 

The Program Learning Outcomes for the Bachelor of Journalism state that after successfully completing 
the program, students will be able to: 

1. Create written and multimedia works of journalism using current industry standards and tools. 

2. Edit works of journalism produced by others, providing helpful and constructive feedback, and 
incorporate feedback from others. 

3. Produce works of journalism that incorporate an understanding of the importance of diversity, 
inclusion, reconciliation, empathy, curiosity and persistence. 

4. Practice the principles of sound news judgment in developing story ideas, deciding what stories 
to cover and how to structure information within a story. 

5. Conduct original research and reporting using a variety of different methods and resources and 
assess the reliability of different sources of information. 

6. Cover newsworthy events and produce stories on deadline. 

7. Critique works of journalism, demonstrating media literacy, critical thinking and an awareness of 
newsworthiness and the importance of diversity. 

8. Explain and apply the key concepts of journalism ethics and media law. 

9. Evaluate the role of journalism in a democratic society, including an understanding of the history 
of the industry and its business models. 

10. Evaluate the impact of media and communication technology on society, applying theories of 
mass communication and media studies. 

The Program Learning Outcomes for the Minor in Journalism state that after successfully completing the 
program, students will be able to: 

1. Create written and multimedia works of journalism using current industry standards and tools. 

2. Practice the principles of sound news judgment in developing story ideas, deciding what stories 
to cover and how to structure information within a story. 

3. Conduct original research and reporting using a variety of different methods and resources and 
assess the reliability of different sources of information. 

4. Critique works of journalism, demonstrating media literacy, critical thinking and an awareness of 
newsworthiness and the importance of diversity. 

Results of Curriculum Assessment 
 



Journalism Self-Study Report 25 

The Curriculum Map in Appendix 4 gives a detailed accounting of how the Course Learning Outcomes 
(CLOs) in our courses align with the Program Learning Outcomes (PLOs) for the Bachelor of Journalism 
and the Minor in Journalism. 
 
While a useful tool for identifying gaps in the program’s curriculum, the Curriculum Map also has some 
key limitations: 
 

1. There is a wide gap in the number of CLOs for different courses. For example, JRNL 3165 Data 
Visualization has 17 CLOs listed on its course outline. In contrast, JRNL 3180 Sports Journalism 
has just 6 CLOs. That gap does not reflect anything about the courses in question — JRNL 3165 
does not cover three times as much material as JRNL 3180 — but rather the peculiarities of how 
the course outlines for each course were drafted over time. As a result, any analysis of the 
simple number of alignments in the program is going to weight some courses much more highly 
than others, simply because of their total number of CLOs. 
 

2. Not all CLOs are of equal importance. Some CLOs address core concepts of a course that are 
woven through several weeks of instruction. Other CLOs are narrower in scope, addressing 
specific skills that may be addressed in just a single class. For example, in JRNL 3165 Data 
Visualization, one of its CLOs is, “Read, construct, interpret and evaluate arguments, tables, 
graphs and charts”. That CLO is so broad it arguably describes the entire course. In contrast, 
another CLO in that same course, “Calculate and explain a polling margin of error”, refers to a 
discrete skill that is taught in about a half hour in a single class and then not returned to again. 
 

3. Not all PLOs are of equal importance or can be successfully taught in equal amounts of time. The 
10 PLOs for the Bachelor of Journalism and the 4 PLOs for the Minor in Journalism were drafted 
to cover the key skills that students should have when they graduate from the program. But that 
does not imply that all PLOs are of equal importance. For example, PLO #1, “Create written and 
multimedia works of journalism using current industry standards and tools”, is arguably the core 
purpose of the Journalism program, as we want our students to be able to produce journalism 
and work successfully as journalists after graduation. It is also a PLO that is touched on by 
virtually all JRNL courses as they all, in one way or another, teach students how to produce 
works of journalism. Other PLOs, such as media ethics and law or the role of journalism in a 
democratic society, are important to our program but not quite as central and therefore are not 
likely to be reflected in as many courses or CLOs. 
 

4. The Curriculum Map lists 38 courses for the Bachelor of Journalism and 24 for the Minor in 
Journalism. This is significantly more courses than a typical student in either program is likely to 
take. That is because students have a choice of which courses to take, particularly at the upper 
levels. For example, students pursuing the Bachelor of Journalism are required to take 10 upper-
level JRNL/COMM courses. The Curriculum Map lists 25 upper-level JRNL/COMM courses. Given 
students have more choice at the upper levels than the lower levels, this will weigh the Course 
Alignment Map toward Advanced (A) skills in a way that may be misleading. 
 

5. The Curriculum Map includes a few courses that are no longer offered by the department for 
various reasons, specifically: JRNL 4260 Computer Coding for Journalists, JRNL 4141 Work 
Experience and JRNL 4180 Advanced Sports Journalism. The Curriculum Map also includes 
Honours courses, which only one or two students a year take in pursuit of their Bachelor of 



Journalism Self-Study Report 26 

Journalism (Honours). Honours courses are also listed in the Curriculum Map twice, as there are 
pending changes to the course codes for those courses. 

 
Some of the caveats above reveal a lack of consistency in how CLOs have been drafted in course outlines 
over the years, as well as a shift in best practices at KPU about how CLOs should be worded. The 
department should adopt a more consistent approach to CLOs across all JRNL/COMM courses, both in 
the number of CLOs per course and in how they are worded. As course outlines come up for review and 
revision, this consistent standard should be applied. 
 
The sheer size of the Curriculum Map spreadsheet can make it difficult to detect overall patterns in the 
program’s curriculum. To see some of the big-picture patterns more clearly, we have produced two bar 
charts that count the number of total alignments for both programs. Those bar charts come with the 
same caveats mentioned above about the Curriculum Map as a whole. But they provide a helpful 
overview of how certain skills are being taught across the program. 
 
In the bar charts below, as in the Curriculum Map, Is, Ds and As are used to show the nature of each 
alignment: 
 

Introduced [I]: Course learning outcomes that concentrate on knowledge or skills related to the 
program outcomes at a basic level or skills at an entry-level of complexity.   
     
Developing [D]: Course level outcomes that demonstrate learning at an increasing level of 
proficiency of the program level outcome as well expanding complexity.    
     
Advanced [A]: Course level outcomes that demonstrate learning related to the program level 
outcome with an increasing level of independence, expertise and sophistication or integrate the 
use of content or skills in multiple levels of complexity.   
 

Note that the PLOs in the charts below are truncated because they were too long to display fully. 
         



Journalism Self-Study Report 27 

 
 
This chart suggests that some PLOs in the program are covered in greater depth than others. However, 
this apparent imbalance is consistent with the goals of the program as a whole. Skills such as creating 
works of journalism (PLO #1), conducting original reporting (PLO #5) and practising sound news 
judgment (PLO #4) are core skills that are taught throughout the program at every level. In contrast, 
while journalism law and ethics (PLO #8) and evaluating the role of journalism in a democratic society 
(PLO #9) are both very important, they are topics that are naturally narrower in scope and so are not 
covered by as many courses, or in as much depth. 
 
This chart also shows that most of the PLOs in the Bachelor of Journalism have a good balance between 
the different levels of alignment: first introducing students to a concept, then having them develop it 
and finally having them hone those skills at an advanced level. While not visible in this bar chart, a 
deeper analysis of the Curriculum Map also indicates that the PLOs are generally well scaffolded in the 
program: courses that introduce (I) a concept are generally the prerequisites for those courses that 
develop (D) it, and then those courses in turn are prerequisites for the courses that teach those skills at 
an advanced (A) level. 
 
One notable exception to this is PLO #5 (“Conduct original research and reporting using a variety of 
different methods and resources and assess the reliability of different sources of information.”) Most of 
the introductory alignments for that PLO take place in JRNL 1220 Citizen Journalism, a course heavily 
focused on journalism research skills. Most of the developing (D) alignments for PLO #5 then take place 
in JRNL 2120 Writing for Journalism. However, JRNL 1220 Citizen Journalism is not a prerequisite for 
JRNL 2120 (students require either JRNL 1220 Citizen Journalism or JRNL 1160 Introduction to 



Journalism Self-Study Report 28 

Journalism to take JRNL 2120). To ensure students are better prepared for the research demands of 
JRNL 2120, making JRNL 1220 a prerequisite should be considered. 
 
How adequately lower-level courses scaffold learning to upper-level courses is also something that 
cannot fully be captured by the Curriculum Map. A lower-level course may have CLOs that suggest 
appropriate laddering to an upper-level course, but if the concept is particularly challenging, students 
may not be adequately prepared. For example, department faculty have often discussed that students in 
upper-level writing courses still struggle with basic newswriting skills, such as Canadian Press style, 
despite JRNL 2120 Writing for Journalism being a prerequisite for all upper-level writing courses. This is 
reflected in one of the comments on the Faculty survey (Appendix 5): 
 

I think one of the central challenges of the program currently is that lower-level courses (in 
particular first-year courses) are taken overwhelmingly by non-journalism students as electives, 
and in many cases by international students whose command of English is not very strong. This 
limits the ability to integrate meaningful journalism writing assignments in courses like [Course 
Names Redacted]. This may leave students somewhat unprepared when they start taking more 
advanced journalism courses in the third and fourth year, especially those that involve a lot of 
writing.   

 
This may suggest that the laddering in place is not sufficient, in particular around writing and reporting 
skills. One idea that has been discussed by the department is changing the course learning outcomes for 
JRNL 2240 Beyond the News to make it a “Part 2” reporting and writing course that students would take 
after JRNL 2120 Writing for Journalism. Both courses would then be prerequisites for all upper-level 
JRNL writing courses. The department should undertake a general review of the laddering of courses to 
ensure that the prerequisites in place are sufficient. 
 
As noted above, the Bachelor of Journalism program has more lower-level requirements than many 
other similar programs in the Faculty of Arts.  
 

Program 

1000/2000 
Level 
Discipline-
Specific 
Courses 
Required 

3000/4000 
Level 
Discipline-
Specific 
Courses 
Required TOTAL 

Criminology 14 10 24 
Journalism 10 10 20 
Creative Writing 7 11 18 
Policy Studies 9 8 17 
Applied Geography 8 9 17 
Sociology 8 9 17 
Psychology 7 10 17 
Political Science 6 10 16 
Anthropology 6 10 16 
English 5 10 15 



Journalism Self-Study Report 29 

History 5 10 15 
Philosophy 7 6 13 

    
MEDIAN 7.0 10.0 17.0 

NOTE: The chart above includes both JRNL and COMM courses as Discipline Specific for the Bachelor of Journalism program as 
well as INDG 1100, which is a required course for the Bachelor of Journalism. 
 
The department should review all required first- and second-year courses to determine if they are 
necessary to prepare students for upper-level courses and to achieve the Program Learning Outcomes. 
There may be cases where some would work better as upper-level electives. For example, there have 
been some initial discussions in the department that JRNL 2360 Photojournalism might work better as 
an upper-level course. 
 
Another issue to consider is that while issues of media ethics and law are covered in a variety of courses, 
Bachelor of Journalism students are not required to take a specific course in media law and ethics, even 
though, “Explain and apply the key concepts of journalism ethics and media law” is one of the PLOs of 
the Bachelor of Journalism. The program does have a dedicated course that covers these issues — 
COMM 2100 Media Ethics and Law — but it is not required. Making it a required course for the degree 
should be considered. As noted by one respondent to the Faculty survey: 
 

“Students would benefit from a mandatory ethics course and a deeper understanding of the 
fundamentals of reporting.” 

 
While alignments for the PLOs are generally well balanced, there are three PLOs where the number of 
introductory (I) alignments are notably lower: 

• 2. Edit works of journalism produced by others, providing helpful and constructive feedback, and 
incorporate feedback from others. 

• 4. Practice the principles of sound news judgment in developing story ideas, deciding what stories 
to cover and how to structure information within a story. 

• 6. Cover newsworthy events and produce stories on deadline. 
 
To some extent, this reflects the fact that these PLOs describe intermediate learning outcomes that, 
while they may be introduced in a small way in first-year courses, are not really developed until second 
year and beyond. For example, students typically are not sent out to cover a breaking news event (PLO 
#6) for the first time until JRNL 2120 Writing for Journalism, after they have first learned the basics of 
how to write a news story. Similarly, students tend not to engage in detailed editing of each other’s 
work (PLO #2) until they know enough about how to write a news story for that feedback to be 
effective. 
 
That said, the Curriculum Map does suggest more effort should be made to better introduce concepts 
like editing and news judgment at a basic level in first-year courses, so students are better prepared for 
later courses in the program. In some cases, that is already being done but has not been fully reflected 
in course outlines. For example, most instructors of JRNL 1160 Introduction to Journalism have a series 
of photo assignments and have students critique each other’s work. That peer feedback helps prepare 



Journalism Self-Study Report 30 

students to edit each other’s work and to accept constructive criticism. But, as currently written, the 
course outline for JRNL 1160 Introduction to Journalism has no CLO that reflects that this peer-feedback 
skill is being taught and so the course has no alignment with PLO #2. Similarly, the instructor for JRNL 
2120 Writing for Journalism has incorporated some basic peer editing assignments in that class, 
including teaching best practices for editing, but there is no CLO in the course outline that indicates that. 
Course outlines for all courses, and JRNL 1160 and JRNL 2120 in particular, should be updated to better 
reflect their current content. 
 

 
 
The alignments for the Minor in Journalism are generally more balanced than for the Bachelor of 
Journalism as the Minor does not include many of the PLOs with fewer alignments overall or where the 
Introductory alignments are under-represented. The one exception is PLO #2, where the number of 
Introductory alignments is notably smaller than the rest. 
 
PLO #2 for the Minor is worded identically to PLO #4 for the Bachelor of Journalism. There is also 
significant overlap in required courses for the Minor and Bachelor of Journalism, particularly at the 
lower levels. As a result, the strategies discussed above to improve lower-level representation for this 
PLO for the Bachelor of Journalism will provide greater balance for the Minor as well. 
 
In conclusion, the Bachelor of Journalism and Minor in Journalism courses adequately address the PLOs 
for the programs as a whole and provide good scaffolding progression from one course to another. That 
said, some improvements could be made. 
 
The following recommendations are provided to further strengthen the curriculum and better prepare 
students for the challenges and demands of the journalism field. These recommendations focus on 
enhancing student preparedness, curriculum alignment, course content, and program learning 
outcomes. 
 
Recommendations 
 

1. While the Curriculum Map suggests there is generally good laddering from lower-level to upper-
level courses, the department should discuss any gaps they’ve identified in student 
preparedness and consider what changes to course prerequisites and program structure should 
be made. 
 



Journalism Self-Study Report 31 

2. The department should review all required first- and second-year courses to determine if they 
are necessary to prepare students for upper-level courses and to achieve the Program Learning 
Outcomes. Consideration should be given to whether some second-year courses may work 
better as upper-level electives. This may provide opportunities to reduce the number of 
discipline-specific lower-level courses Bachelor of Journalism students are required to take, 
putting the program’s requirements more in line with others in the Faculty of Arts. 
 

3. The department should consider introducing peer feedback — both giving it and receiving it —in 
first-year courses to better prepare students for peer editing each other’s work in later JRNL 
courses. This will ensure better scaffolding for PLO #2 (“2. Edit works of journalism produced by 
others, providing helpful and constructive feedback, and incorporate feedback from others.”) 
 

4. The department should consider doing more to address the concepts of what makes a story 
newsworthy and how news judgment is applied by news organizations into first-year courses to 
provide better scaffolding for both PLO #4 (“Practice the principles of sound news judgment in 
developing story ideas, deciding what stories to cover and how to structure information within a 
story.”) and PLO #6 (“Cover newsworthy events and produce stories on deadline.”) 
 

5. Course outlines should be updated to ensure they reflect any new material that has been added 
to courses in recent years. In particular, new material involving peer feedback and peer editing 
that has been added to JRNL 1160 Introduction to Journalism and JRNL 2120 Writing for 
Journalism should be reflected in those courses’ updated CLOs. 
 

6. As course outlines come up for review and revision, they should be revised to ensure more 
consistency across courses, both in the number of CLOs per course and in how those CLOs are 
worded. 
 

7. The department should consider making COMM 2100 Media Ethics and Law a required course 
for the Bachelor of Journalism degree. 
 

8. Courses that are no longer offered by the program, such as JRNL 4260 Computer Coding for 
Journalists, should be removed from the course calendar. 
 

 
 



Journalism Self-Study Report 32 

3. Program Relevance and Demand 

3.1. Relevance 

Are the program learning outcomes relevant to the current needs of the discipline/sector?  

As noted earlier, prior to this Program Review, the Bachelor of Journalism and Minor in Journalism did not 
have formal Program Learning Outcomes (PLOs). They were developed collaboratively by the department 
in early 2023. Not surprisingly, then, the Faculty Survey (Appendix 5) found near-unanimous agreement 
that the PLOs were relevant to the current needs of the discipline/sector. For 9 of the 10 PLOs, 100% of 
faculty surveyed agreed that the PLO was “somewhat relevant” or “very relevant”, with the vast majority 
stating the PLOs were “very relevant”. Only one PLO, “Conduct original research and reporting using a 
variety of different methods and resources and assess the reliability of different sources of information”, 
had less than 100% support with one respondent saying it was only “slightly relevant” to the discipline. 

 
2 - Please indicate how relevant each of the following Program Learning 
Outcomes is to the current needs of the discipline/sector. 



Journalism Self-Study Report 33 

 
Note that “not at all” and “slightly relevant” categories are excluded from the chart for quick comparisons between items. Please use the 
frequency table below for the percentages for the “not at all relevant” and “slightly relevant” categories. 

 

Support for some of the PLOs was more lukewarm among those in the discipline/sector who were 
surveyed (Appendix 6).  

Create written and multimedia 
works of journalism using current 

industry standards and tools. 

Edit works of journalism 
produced by others, providing 

helpful and constructive 
feedback, and incorporate 

Produce works of journalism that 
incorporate an understanding of the 

importance of diversity, inclusion, 
reconciliation, empathy, curiosity 

Practice the principles of sound news 
judgment in developing story ideas, 

deciding what stories to cover and how to 
structure information within a story. 

Conduct original research and 
reporting using a variety of different 

methods and resources and assess 
the reliability of different sources of 

 
Cover newsworthy events and 

produce stories on deadline. 

Critique works of journalism, 
demonstrating media literacy, 

critical thinking and an awareness 
of newsworthiness and the 

importance of diversity  

Explain and apply the key 
concepts of journalism ethics and 

media law. 

Evaluate the role of journalism in 
a democratic society, including an 

understanding of the history of 
     

Evaluate the impact of media and 
communication technology on 

society, applying theories of mass 
communication and media 

studies. 



Journalism Self-Study Report 34 

 

As the chart above shows, there were several PLOs that only a minority of those surveyed from the 
discipline/sector believed were “very important” or “essential” for an entry-level employee to have. While 
these survey results could suggest a mismatch between what the program is teaching and what employers 
want from new hires, there are some other possible explanations for these results: 

• The question asks survey respondents if the skills are ones that an “entry-level employee” needs 
to be able to demonstrate. Not surprisingly, then, those PLOs that address broader issues of 
citizenship — such as the role of journalism in a democratic society and the impact of media on 
society — were not given as much weight as those that are more obviously tied to job 



Journalism Self-Study Report 35 

requirements, like creating works of journalism. The department believes that a baccalaureate 
program should do more than simply teach job skills but also give students a sense of the role of 
journalism and journalists in society more broadly. 

• A closer look at the data tables reveals that while there were some PLOs that those surveyed did 
not think were “very important” or “essential”, many still thought the PLOs were “somewhat 
important”. Indeed, fewer than 20% of those surveyed thought any of the PLOs were “not at all 
important” with the exception of “Edit works of journalism produced by others, providing helpful 
and constructive feedback, and incorporate feedback from others”, which 45% felt were not 
important at all and “Evaluate the impact of media and communication technology on society, 
applying theories of mass communication and media studies” which 27% believed were not at all 
important. 

• A third of those surveyed in the discipline/sector specific survey work in Communications/Public 
Relations rather than in the News Media. This may impact their answers to what is required for 
an entry level job, as positions in Communications/Public Relations may demand less research 
skills than those in journalism and have less of a focus on producing stories on deadline. 

• In some cases, respondents may not have fully appreciated how the PLOs, which are written in a 
particular pedagogical style, translate into real-world job skills. For example, nearly half (45%) of 
those surveyed believed that the PLO, “Edit works of journalism produced by others, providing 
helpful and constructive feedback, and incorporate feedback from others” was “not at all 
important” for an entry level position. Yet in the written comments on the survey, several 
respondents stressed the importance of being able to accept feedback (“a willingness to accept 
feedback”, “an openness to feedback and the ability to apply feedback to their work”, “Ability to 
understand constructive feedback with story development”). It’s possible these comments were 
from those respondents who did think the PLO was relevant. But it’s also possible that those 
surveyed reflected on the fact that entry-level journalists are rarely in an editing role and so didn’t 
think of that PLO as essential, while not appreciating that the PLO is also related to being able to 
accept the feedback and editing of others. 

Support for the PLOs’ relevance was quite high among alumni surveyed (Appendix 7). All 10 PLOs were 
deemed “somewhat relevant” or “very relevant” by a majority of those surveyed, with support of 89% or 
higher for 6 of the 10 PLOs. As with the discipline/sector survey, support was lowest for the last two PLOs 
which, again, is not surprising as they are related to citizenship as opposed to employment. 

Another source of information on program relevance is the BC Student Outcome survey data (Appendix 
1). 

Exhibit 1: KPU Journalism Program Student Outcomes Data Compared with Ministry Targets 

Measures 

Student Outcome 
Data for KPU 
Journalism 

Program 
(2020-22) 

Student 
Outcome Data 

for Langara 
Journalism 

Program 
(2020-22) 

Student 
Outcome Data 

for BCIT 
Journalism 

Program 
(2020-22) 

Student 
Outcome Data 

for TRU 
Journalism 

Program 
(2020-22) 

Ministry 
Target 

Respondents 20 29 44 28 - 



Journalism Self-Study Report 36 

Measures 

Student Outcome 
Data for KPU 
Journalism 

Program 
(2020-22) 

Student 
Outcome Data 

for Langara 
Journalism 

Program 
(2020-22) 

Student 
Outcome Data 

for BCIT 
Journalism 

Program 
(2020-22) 

Student 
Outcome Data 

for TRU 
Journalism 

Program 
(2020-22) 

Ministry 
Target 

Satisfaction3 90% 100% 93% 96% ≥ 90% 
 Quality4 90% 100% 98% 93% ≥ 90% 
 Usefulness5 87% 75% 65% 93% ≥ 90% 
 

That data suggests that KPU’s Journalism program is meeting ministry targets in all areas but one, and 
given only 20 people responded to the BC Student Outcomes survey, it is short of that target by just a 
single respondent. Interestingly, the survey data suggests that Journalism students at Langara and BCIT 
report higher levels of satisfaction with their program and rate the quality of instruction slightly higher. 
However, KPU students are more likely to say what they’ve learned is useful to their current occupation. 
TRU scores slightly higher than KPU on all three measures. 

Does the program have the connections to the discipline/sector needed to remain current? 

In 2019, the department created a Program Advisory Committee (PAC), made up of professionals from 
the fields of both Journalism and Communications/Public Relations. As of early 2023, its members are: 

Laura Baziuk, Managing editor digital/radio, Global News 

Chris Bryan, Public Affairs Manager, City of Burnaby 

Johann Chang, Senior Communications Specialist, City of Vancouver 

Darah Hansen, Senior Communications Manager, TELUS 

Katie Hyslop, Education and Youth Issues Reporter, The Tyee 

Ashley Wadhwani, Digital Content Editor for Western Canada, Black Press 

Hayley Woodin, Editor in Chief, Business in Vancouver 

The PAC has provided valuable assistance to the department in alerting us to changes in the fields of both 
Journalism and Communications/Public Relations and identifying areas where our program could 
improve. For example, in one of the PAC’s first meetings, the committee identified that being able to cover 
breaking news under tight deadlines was an essential skill for journalists working in their newsrooms. The 
department identified that its existing suite of upper-level courses focused primarily on feature writing 
and did not emphasize breaking news enough. As a direct result of the PAC’s input, a new course — JRNL 
3175 News Reporting — focused specifically on breaking news coverage was created and offered for the 
first time in Summer 2022. 

In addition to the PAC’s input, several of the department’s instructors — both regular faculty and sessional 
instructors — continue to work in the field of journalism, which helps ensure they are up-to-date on the 
                                                            
3 Respondents who are "very satisfied" or "satisfied" with the education or training they received in their program of study. 
4 Respondents who rate the quality of instruction received from their program of study as "very good", "good" or "adequate". 
5 Respondents who describe their program of study as "very" or "somewhat" useful in their current occupation. 



Journalism Self-Study Report 37 

changes in the field. Some faculty members are also involved in administering or judging national 
journalism competitions, which helps keep them in touch with the best work being created in the field. 

Does the program include appropriate Indigenous content? 

In June 2015, the Truth and Reconciliation Commission’s Calls to Action included a specific call directed at 
journalism schools: 

86. We call upon Canadian journalism programs and media schools to require education for all 
students on the history of Aboriginal peoples, including the history and legacy of residential 
schools, the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, Treaties and 
Aboriginal rights, Indigenous law, and Aboriginal– Crown relations. 

In direct response to that Call to Action, INDG 1100 Introduction to Indigenous Studies was made a 
required course for the Bachelor of Journalism degree starting in September 2016. 

In early 2023, KPU’s Journalism school adopted a statement on Equity, Diversity, Inclusion and 
Decolonization (Appendix 2), which was published on the KPU Journalism homepage.  tThat statement 
includes an acknowledgment of the harms done by journalists to Indigenous communities and committed 
the program to specific goals to improve Indigenous content, including: 
 

• We will integrate readings, assignments and examples in our classroom that encourage students 
to reflect on issues of Equity, Diversity, Inclusion and Decolonization. 
 

• We will encourage students to seek out and include Indigenous voices in their reporting, 
including the wisdom of Elders and other Indigenous ways of knowing. 

Indigenous content has already been added to several courses but more work needs be done. Those 
additions also need to be reflected in the official Course Learning Outcomes for those courses when the 
course outlines are reviewed. The program’s Diversity statement commits the department to coming up 
with an action plan to implement the statement’s goals and to review progress on an annual basis. That 
work is already underway and will continue. 

3.2. Faculty Qualifications and Currency 

What is the collective expertise available to deliver the program? 

As of September 2023, the Journalism and Communication Studies department at KPU has five 100% full-
time regular instructors, one regular 50% instructor and one 100% instructor on a one-year NR2 contract. 
The department also makes use of sessional instructors, both to provide coverage for time releases and 
demand sections, and to teach specialized courses in areas like Photojournalism and Podcasting. 

While there is some overlap, the department essentially has two types of instructors: Those who teach 
primarily practical and hands-on Journalism (JRNL) courses and those who teach primarily theoretical 
Communication Studies (COMM) courses. 

Journalism instructors at KPU all have extensive experience in the field of journalism, with many having 
worked as journalists for decades before teaching. Some still work as freelance journalists. All regular and 
NR2 journalism instructors at KPU have a Master’s degree. 

https://www.kpu.ca/arts/journalism


Journalism Self-Study Report 38 

Communication Studies instructors are typically hired based on their academic credentials in the field. All 
of the department’s regular Communication Studies instructors have a PhD in Communication Studies or 
a related field. 

Profiles of current faculty are available on KPU Journalism’s website. 

Collectively, does the department have the expertise needed to deliver the curriculum? 

The department has the expertise needed to deliver the curriculum, both for JRNL and COMM courses. 

The Qualifications and Currency Profile is presented in Appendix 8. 

3.3. Student Demand 

Who takes the program? 

KPU Journalism students are about 60% female, in line with the share for the Faculty of Arts as a whole. 
This number has been relatively stable over the past five years. The share of KPU Journalism students who 
are 22 years or younger has been steadily dropping, from 73% in 2018/19 to 60% in 2022/23. The reason 
for this is unclear, though a small number of mature students have gone through the program in recent 
years as well as students who come to the Journalism program after pursuing studies in something else 
at another institution. These two factors may account for the small decline in younger students. 

The most notable difference between the Journalism program as a whole and the Faculty of Arts is in the 
share of international students: 12% for Journalism and 30% for the Faculty as a whole. This is likely due 
to the fact that the only Journalism credentials offered are a four-year Bachelor of Journalism degree and 
a Minor in Journalism taken as part of a four-year degree. Many international students only attend KPU 
for two years, meaning a Journalism credential is not an option for them. That said, lower-level JRNL and 
COMM courses are very popular among international students as electives. Based on class-list data for 
2021-2023, 76% of students in first-year JRNL and COMM courses are international students. That figure 
drops to 32% for second-year courses and just 8% for upper-level courses. 

Exhibit 2: Demographic Profile of Journalism Program Students by Academic Year 
 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 
Student Headcount 108 115 119 106 93 
% Women 65% 57% 61% 62% 56% 
% 22 years or younger 73% 76% 64% 65% 60% 
% International 11% 18% 19% 12% 12% 

Exhibit 3: Demographic Profile of Faculty of Arts Students by Academic Year 
 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 
Student Headcount 5,805 5,887 5,755 6,146 6,126 
% Women 62% 62% 63% 62% 61% 
% 22 years or younger 68% 68% 68% 68% 69% 
% International 14% 17% 18% 26% 30% 

According to the Student Survey (Appendix 9), 18% of KPU Journalism students surveyed identify as Black 
or as a Person of Colour, 35% have a disability and 41% identify as 2SLGBTQ+. None of the 22 students 
surveyed identified as Indigenous. However, we know there are some Indigenous students in the program 

https://www.kpu.ca/arts/journalism/faculty


Journalism Self-Study Report 39 

as two current KPU Journalism students — Kayla MacInnis and Magdelaine Folk — have received the 
Indigenous Student Journalism Award from the Jack Webster Foundation in recent years. 

 

According to the 2021 Census, 54.5% of Metro Vancouver residents identify as being a member of a visible 
minority and 2.4% identify as Indigenous6. Statistics Canada data suggests 3.4% of B.C. residents identify 
as lesbian, gay or bisexual7 and 0.4% identify as transgender or non-binary8. Among British Columbians in 
their late teens and early 20s, 6.5% identify as lesbian, gay or bisexual and 0.8% identify as transgender 
or non-binary. These figures suggest that Black, Indigenous and other Persons of Colour (BIPOC) students 
are under-represented in KPU’s Journalism program and 2SLGBTQ+ students are over-represented 
compared to their share of the overall population. The program’s Diversity statement (Appendix 2) 
includes a specific commitment to work on increasing the diversity of the program’s students: 

• We will encourage and support students from under-represented groups to pursue a Bachelor of 
Journalism degree. 

                                                            
6 Statistics Canada. (2023, February 1). Census profile, 2021 census of Population - Vancouver CMA. 
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2021/dp-
pd/prof/details/page.cfm?Lang=E&SearchText=vancouver&DGUIDlist=2021S0503933&GENDERlist=1%2C2%2C3&S
TATISTIClist=1%2C4&HEADERlist=0 
 
7 Statistics Canada. (2021, March 26). Socioeconomic characteristics of the lesbian, gay and bisexual population, 
2015-2018. 
https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/cv!recreate.action?pid=1310081701&selectedNodeIds=1D6%2C5D1%2C
6D1%2C6D4&checkedLevels=1D1%2C2D1%2C3D1%2C3D2&refPeriods=20150101%2C20150101&dimensionLayout
s=layout2%2Clayout3%2Clayout2%2Clayout2%2Clayout3%2Clayout2%2Clayout2&vectorDisplay=false 
 
8 Statistics Canada. (2023, May 31). Canada is the first country to provide census data on transgender and non-
binary people. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/220427/dq220427b-eng.htm 

https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2021/dp-pd/prof/details/page.cfm?Lang=E&SearchText=vancouver&DGUIDlist=2021S0503933&GENDERlist=1%2C2%2C3&STATISTIClist=1%2C4&HEADERlist=0
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2021/dp-pd/prof/details/page.cfm?Lang=E&SearchText=vancouver&DGUIDlist=2021S0503933&GENDERlist=1%2C2%2C3&STATISTIClist=1%2C4&HEADERlist=0
https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2021/dp-pd/prof/details/page.cfm?Lang=E&SearchText=vancouver&DGUIDlist=2021S0503933&GENDERlist=1%2C2%2C3&STATISTIClist=1%2C4&HEADERlist=0
https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/cv!recreate.action?pid=1310081701&selectedNodeIds=1D6%2C5D1%2C6D1%2C6D4&checkedLevels=1D1%2C2D1%2C3D1%2C3D2&refPeriods=20150101%2C20150101&dimensionLayouts=layout2%2Clayout3%2Clayout2%2Clayout2%2Clayout3%2Clayout2%2Clayout2&vectorDisplay=false
https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/cv!recreate.action?pid=1310081701&selectedNodeIds=1D6%2C5D1%2C6D1%2C6D4&checkedLevels=1D1%2C2D1%2C3D1%2C3D2&refPeriods=20150101%2C20150101&dimensionLayouts=layout2%2Clayout3%2Clayout2%2Clayout2%2Clayout3%2Clayout2%2Clayout2&vectorDisplay=false
https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/cv!recreate.action?pid=1310081701&selectedNodeIds=1D6%2C5D1%2C6D1%2C6D4&checkedLevels=1D1%2C2D1%2C3D1%2C3D2&refPeriods=20150101%2C20150101&dimensionLayouts=layout2%2Clayout3%2Clayout2%2Clayout2%2Clayout3%2Clayout2%2Clayout2&vectorDisplay=false
https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/220427/dq220427b-eng.htm


Journalism Self-Study Report 40 

The department’s action plan for its diversity statement, currently under development, will include 
specific plans for how to implement this goal. 

Students of the program were asked if they felt included in the Journalism program on the basis of various 
demographic factors. That studente survey showed students generally felt included, though students 
were least likely to say they felt included based on their cultural/ethnic/racial background (65%) and most 
likely to feel included on the basis of their gender identity or sexual orientation (83% for both). The low 
figure for cultural/ethnic/racial background is concerning, though it is somewhat difficult to interpret. 
Only 6% of those surveyed (one respondent) disagreed that they felt included on that basis with the 
remaining 29% saying they neither agreed or disagreed with the statement. Given the small number of 
respondents, KPU’s Office of Planning & Accountability (OPA) was not able to provide the department 
with answers to this question broken down by students’ cultural background. However, OPA confirmed 
that the 29% of respondents who said they neither agreed or disagreed with the statement were not 
students who identified as Black or a Person of Colour. This suggests those 29% may be white students 
who were unsure how to answer the question, rather than students who did not feel included. 

 
29 - I feel included in the Journalism program on the basis of my: 

 

 

# Question Strongly 
disagree 

Somewhat 
disagree 

Neither agree 
nor disagree 

Somewhat 
agree 

Strongly 
agree Total 

1 Cultural/ethnic/racial 
background 6% 0% 29% 12% 53% 17 

2 Ability (e.g., physical, 
cognitive, sensory, etc.) 0% 6% 24% 6% 65% 17 

3 Gender identity 0% 0% 18% 12% 71% 17 



Journalism Self-Study Report 41 

4 Sexual orientation 0% 6% 12% 18% 65% 17 

 

Students were also asked, more broadly, whether they believe KPU’s Journalism program is making good 
progress addressing issues of equity, diversity, inclusion and decolonization. Of those students surveyed, 
88% were satisfied the program was making good progress on equity, diversity and inclusion and 76% 
were satisfied the program was making good progress on decolonization. 

Is demand for the program sustainable? 

There are two key trends occurring in KPU’s Journalism program at the same time: a dramatic increase in 
demand for first-year JRNL and COMM courses while demand for the Bachelor of Journalism credential 
has been flat or slightly declining. 

Demand for JRNL and COMM courses at KPU has seen a dramatic increase over the past few years, driven 
in large part by international students taking first-year courses like COMM 1100 Foundations of 
Communication Studies and JRNL 1160 Introduction to Journalism. 

Exhibit 4: Student Headcount in Journalism Courses by Academic Year Compared with Faculty of Arts 
Courses 

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 %Change9 
Journalism 706 759 848 985 1,301 84% 
Faculty of Arts 12,122 11,574 11,167 12,306 12,580 4% 

At the same time, the number of students Majoring in Journalism has declined slightly, offset somewhat 
by an increase in the number of students choosing to Minor in Journalism. 

Exhibit 5: Student Headcount in Journalism Program by Academic Year Compared with Faculty of Arts 
Programs 

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 %Change 
Bachelor of Arts (Honours) in 
Journalism 2 1 1 4 1 -50% 

Bachelor of Arts (Major) in 
Journalism 45 34 48 40 38 -16% 

Bachelor of Arts (Minor) in 
Journalism 5 6 6 8 7 40% 

Intended of Undeclared 63 74 72 59 51 -19% 
Journalism Total Headcount 108 115 119 106 93 -14% 
Faculty of Arts Total Headcount 5,805 5,887 5,755 6,146 6,126 6% 

Looking at enrolment in other journalism programs in B.C., most are relatively flat like KPU’s, such as UBC’s 
Master’s Degree program and Langara’s Diploma and Certificate programs. However, TRU’s Bachelor’s 
Degree program has seen modest increases and BCIT’s part-time Journalism Associate Certificate has seen 
more than a doubling of demand in the past few years. 

                                                            
9 % Change refers to change between 2018/19 to 2022/23. 
 



Journalism Self-Study Report 42 

Exhibit 6: Number of Students Enrolled in Journalism Programs at BC Public Post-Secondary 
Institutions (excluding KPU students) 10 

 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Total (excluding KPU)  377 414 463 459 
UBC (V) 70 74 67 70 
    Master’s Degree  70 74 67 70 
TRU 114 125 150 142 
    Bachelor’s Degree 114 125 150 141 
    Post-Degree Diploma - - - 1 
Langara 49 39 42 47 
    Diploma 33 24 30 30 
    Post-Degree Certificate 16 15 12 17 
BCIT 142 173 204 200 
    Diploma 87 79 82 88 
    Certificate 55 95 122 112 
Okanagan 2 3 - - 
Diploma 2 3 - - 

KPU (Bachelor Degree Only) 49 47 36 49 

 

These figures suggest KPU could be doing a better job at attracting students into its Bachelor of Journalism 
program. The program has made some efforts in this regard in recent years, including giving all students 
in first-year JRNL and COMM courses a one-page handout on the advantages of pursuing a Bachelor of 
Journalism degree. The department has also made efforts to build a sense of community among 
Journalism students at KPU, holding pizza parties once or twice a year, purchasing Canadian Press 
Stylebooks for all second-year students and giving all students who Major or Minor in Journalism a KPU 
Journalism T-shirt. 

Does the program have the capacity to meet demand? 

The dramatic demand for first-year JRNL and COMM courses in recent years has led to a sharp increase in 
waitlists, in particular for three courses: JRNL 1160 Introduction to Journalism, COMM 1100 Foundations 
of Communication Studies and COMM 1110 Television and Social Change. 

Exhibit 10: Unmet Demand at the Stable Enrolment Date  
 Unmet Demand Fill Rate 
Spring 2023 222 97% 
Fall 2022 136 93% 
Summer 2022 134 95% 
Spring 2022 62 89% 
Fall 2021 65 88% 

                                                            
10 Data reported in this section was obtained from a dashboard that is under development. Data are coded by Classification of 
Instructional Program (CIP). To identify Journalism programs, CIP codes 9.0400, 9.0401, 9.0402 were used.  



Journalism Self-Study Report 43 

Summer 2021 91 99% 
Spring 2021 21 89% 
Fall 2020 29 99% 

 

 
 Course Unmet Demand 
 

Spring 2023 
COMM 1100 76 
COMM 1110 54 
JRNL 1160 58 

 Course Unmet Demand 
 

Fall 2022 
COMM 1100 52 
COMM 1110 55 
JRNL 1160 25 

 Course Unmet Demand 
 

Summer 2022 
 

COMM 1100 51 
COMM 1110 37 
JRNL 1160 46 

 

To help address this demand, the Dean’s office has given the department has put on several one-time-
only demand sections over the past two years. But, in some cases, the department has been unable to 
find an available instructor to teach those a demand sections offered by the Faculty of Arts. To help 
address this issue, the department has run several searches to help expand the ranks of instructors on its 
Qualified Faculty List. But finding faculty who are both qualified and available has been an ongoing 
challenge. 

To date, the unmet demand in first-year courses has not posed a problem for students’ timely progression 
towards the degree. In short, all Bachelor of Journalism students who need to take JRNL 1160 Introduction 
to Journalism as a prerequisite for other courses have been able to do so. However, it is something the 
department has been monitoring closely and, if it does become a problem, it can set aside some seats in 
JRNL 1160 specifically for Journalism Intended students. 

Does the program have effective outreach to ensure demand? 

Over the years, the department has invested significant time and effort to ensure the KPU Journalism 
website does a good job of showcasing the program. For example, the website features testimonials from 
graduates, a list of scholarships available to Journalism students and a comparison of KPU’s Journalism 
program with other similar programs in the region. 

Promoting the program among high-school students has proven more challenging. In 2022, our 
department spearheaded an effort to hold a special “KPU CREATES” workshop on campus to promote our 
program to local high-school students along with KPU’s Public Relations and Graphic Design programs. 
The event was promoted to high schools across the region. Despite heavy promotion efforts by KPU staff, 
only 5 students attended the event. 

https://www.kpu.ca/arts/journalism/testimonials
https://www.kpu.ca/arts/journalism/awards
https://www.kpu.ca/arts/journalism/what-kpu-offers


Journalism Self-Study Report 44 

The alumni survey, which includes those who graduated from 2016-2022, reveals that only 63% of alumni 
agree that they are provided with opportunities to stay connected to the Journalism program. At present, 
KPU alumni are sometimes invited to classes as guest speakers. But the department should investigate 
ways to keep KPU Journalism alumni better connected with the program and current students. Some 
possibilities might include social events and mentorship programs. 

One other idea that has been discussed by the department is developing a Certificate, perhaps in 
Multimedia Storytelling, that might attract mature learners to take upper-level JRNL courses. As noted 
above, BCIT’s part-time Journalism Associate Certificate program has seen a doubling of demand over the 
past few years. The department could also work with BCIT to set up articulation agreements making it 
easier for graduates of its certificate or diploma programs to continue their studies at KPU, similar to the 
agreements already in place with Langara. 

Recommendation: 

1. As a department, work on additional initiatives to promote the Journalism program, both among 
current KPU students and others. 

2. As a department, discuss initiatives to keep KPU Journalism alumni better connected with the 
program and current students. 

3. Investigate the possibility of offering a Certificate, perhaps in Multimedia Storytelling, which 
might attract mature learners to the program. 

4. Investigate the possibility of setting up articulation agreements with BCIT’s Journalism program 
similar to those that already exist with Langara, so graduates of its certificate and diploma 
programs could continue their studies and receive a Bachelor of Journalism at KPU. 

 



Journalism Self-Study Report 45 

4. Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery 

4.1. Instructional Design and Delivery of Curriculum 

Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the PLOs? 

Both the surveys of current students and alumni suggest that the PLOs of KPU’s Journalism program are 
being well taught. 

For most PLOs, 80%+ of current students agreed that the courses they had taken had helped them develop 
the PLO in question to a moderate or large extent. The lowest score was for the last PLO, “Evaluate the 
impact of media and communication technology on society, applying theories of mass communication 
and media studies”, but even here 71% of students agreed. 

Results were similar on the alumni survey. On most PLOs, 80%+ of alumni agreed the program helped 
them to develop the skill in question and the few PLOs that were lower were still at 75%. 

Among faculty surveyed, for all PLOs, fully 100% agreed KPU’s Journalism program helped students 
develop the learning objectives. 

Are appropriate experiential learning opportunities provided to help students acquire the learning 
outcomes? 

For many years, KPU’s Bachelor of Journalism program had an upper-level elective designed to give 
students real-world newsroom experience: JRNL 4141 Work Experience. Unfortunately, given the small 
number of students in the program, it became difficult to offer that course on a regular basis. Some years, 
the course was cancelled due to low enrolment. To address this gap in experiential learning, in Fall 2020 
the Journalism program joined KPU’s ARTS 4800 Practicum course, a course designed to allow a number 
of small programs at KPU to offer their students on-the-job experiences. Several local news organizations 
have joined the course as host employers, including the Richmond News, Fraser Valley Current and Black 
Press. Students’ participation in the ARTS 4800 course has provided them with valuable real-world 
experience and given them contacts in the industry which, in some cases, have led to career opportunities 
later. For example, in Fall 2021, one a KPU Journalism student, Sobia Moman, was placed with Black Press 
for her their ARTS 4800 practicum. Following her their graduation, she they was were hired as a 
Multimedia Journalist at the Peace Arch News, a Black Press publication. 

In addition to the ARTS 4800 course, the Journalism program also helps to connect graduates and current 
students with job opportunities in the field. On a regular basis, news organizations reach out to the 
program to spread the word about open positions, which are shared on the program’s Facebook page. In 
some cases, the program also helps connect employers with students for part-time job opportunities. For 
example, in 2021, the Delta Optimist was looking for a student to work for them over the summer when 
their regular reporters were on vacation. The program put the publication in touch with one of its 
strongest students, Dani Penaloza, who so impressed the paper that she continued to work for it through 
the Fall and following her graduation. 

On the alumni survey, only 63% of those surveyed agreed that they had sufficient opportunities in the 
program to reinforce their learning through practical application. In contrast, 88% of current students 
agreed they had such opportunities. This may be because the ARTS 4800 Practicum was only offered for 
the first time in 2020, which was after most of the alumni surveyed graduated from the program. The 

https://www.kpu.ca/arts/arts-courses/arts-practicum
https://www.facebook.com/KwantlenJournalism


Journalism Self-Study Report 46 

Journalism program also offered a Special Topics course in Fall 2022 that gave students an opportunity to 
contribute to the Climate Disaster Project, a journalism project involving journalism schools from across 
Canada. The department has discussed looking for other opportunities like this, where a course could 
partner with an outside organization for a semester, giving students an opportunity to have their work 
read by a wider audience. For example, JRNL 4270 Advanced Storytelling, a course where students work 
as a team on several stories about a single theme, could be adapted to produce a package of stories for a 
news organization. 

While current students are generally satisfied with their opportunities for experiential learning, of the 5 
students surveyed who participated in the Practicum, only 3 agreed that the Practicum contributed to 
their learning to a moderate or large extent. Two said it only contributed to their learning to a small extent. 
The program is constantly revising its list of Practicum hosts to ensure students have the best experience 
possible. This work will continue. 

Recommendation: 

• The department should investigate opportunities for more upper-level courses to partner with 
news organizations on reporting projects. 

Are appropriate opportunities provided to help students acquire the essential skills? 

Students and alumni generally agree that KPU’s Journalism program teaches them the seven essential 
skills. For most of the essential skills, 80%+ of both students and alumni agree that the program helped 
them to develop the skills in question and even on essential skills with lower scores, most are still 70%+. 
There is one notable exception however. Only 59% of current students agree that the program teaches 
them how to “Speak effectively”. However, 75% of alumni agreed the program taught them that skill 
sufficiently. It is possible this reflects that skill being taught more in upper-level courses which some of 
the current students surveyed have not taken yet. For example, JRNL 3270 Video Journalism and JRNL 
3370 Audio Documentary both involve developing oral delivery skills in order to narrate the journalistic 
work being produced. 

AllOn all essential skills, 100% of faculty surveyed (100%) agreed KPU’s Journalism program helped 
students develop the seven essential skills.to teach them. 

Does the program design ensure students are prepared for subsequent courses? 

On both the student and alumni surveys, 88% of those surveyed agreed that “the prerequisites offered 
prepare(d) me for more advanced courses”. Similarly, 88% of faculty surveyed agreed that “the 
prerequisites offered prepare students for more advanced courses”. This suggests that there is generally 
good laddering in the KPU Journalism program between lower-level and upper-level courses. 

Does instruction meet the needs of diverse learners? 

Fully 100% of students surveyed agreed that “my instructors accommodate my learning needs”. There 
was also high level of agreement that instructors presented the course materials effectively (94%), were 
up-to-date on current developments in the discipline/sector (88%) and created a learning environment 
that made students feel safe and included (100%). There was 100% agreement among faculty surveyed 
that multiple learning modalities are accommodated, the delivery of the curriculum is effective, course 
materials reflect current developments and instructors create a safe learning environment. 

https://climatedisasterproject.com/


Journalism Self-Study Report 47 

Overall, 83% of current students surveyed and 100% of alumni surveyed were satisfied with the 
instruction they received in KPU’s Journalism program. 

Do the assessment methods allow students to demonstrate to what extent they have achieved the 
learning outcomes? 
 
Among both current students and alumni surveyed, 80%+ agreed that they received clear information 
on how they would be evaluated, that the range of assessments let them demonstrate what they had 
learned and that instructors provided useful feedback. However, only half51% of alumni surveyed 
agreed that the assessment standards were consistent throughout the program. Interestingly, that rises 
to 76% of current students, suggesting that assessment standards in the program may have become 
more consistent over time. 
 
There is 100% agreement among faculty that assessments align with PLOs, let students demonstrate 
what they have learned, that students are provided clear information on how they will be evaluated and 
that assessment standards are consistent throughout the program. 
 

4.2. Student Success  

Are students performing satisfactorily in courses? 

According to administrative data (Appendix 1), 89% of students taking Journalism courses received a C 
and above, compared to 76% for the Faculty of Arts as a whole. Journalism courses have lower repeat 
rates than the Faculty as a whole (2% vs. 7%) and lower DFW rates (9% vs. 21%). These figures could 
suggest that instructors in Journalism are more lenient graders than those in other departments. 
However, it could also indicate that the students taking JRNL and COMM courses are stronger students 
and/or that the department’s instructors are doing a good job of structuring their courses and 
assignments in a way that encourages student success. 

The department has ongoing discussions about grade inflation and individual instructors have often 
adjusted grading rubrics to ensure assessments are fair and consistent. At this time, the department is 
comfortable with its grade distribution, DFW rates and repeat rates and sees no cause for concern. 

Are students making satisfactory progress in the program? 

One consistent concern raised in both the student and alumni surveys is the availability of courses in the 
Journalism program. Only 63% of alumni and 24% of current students agreed that “the range of courses 
offered each term is/was adequate”. As a small program, this is an ongoing challenge for KPU Journalism. 
In order to adequately fill classes, many upper-level JRNL courses can only be offered every other year. 
That said, the growth in the number of students pursuing a Minor in Journalism has helped boost 
enrollment in upper-level JRNL courses in recent years, providing the department with a bit more 
flexibility in scheduling. In direct response to student requests, the department offered an upper-level 
JRNL course in the Summer for the first time in Summer 2022 and again in Summer 2023. 

The department has also had some recent success filling upper-level Journalism courses that have few or 
no prerequisites and which appeal to non-journalism students as electives, specifically JRNL 3165 Data 
Visualization and JRNL 3260 Future of News. Finding more opportunities for such courses would provide 
Bachelor of Journalism students with more flexibility in pursuing their degree. 



Journalism Self-Study Report 48 

One other challenge, which was mentioned earlier in this report, concerns JRNL 4270 Advanced 
Storytelling. JRNL 4270 was originally conceived as a ‘capstone’ course that students would be required 
to take in the final semester of their studies. As such, it had fairly extensive prerequisites to ensure 
students didn’t take it earlier than they should. However, as a small program, the department found it 
was unable to offer the course every year and have it fill. To address this, JRNL 4270 started to be offered 
every other year, like most upper-level JRNL courses. The prerequisites were changed to make it possible 
for both third- and fourth-year students to take the course. But the logic of it being a required capstone 
course may no longer apply. Some students have also neglected to take JRNL 4270 when they should have, 
which has required course substitutions later to allow them to graduate. Only two specific upper-level 
courses are required for the Bachelor of Journalism: JRNL 3165 Data Visualization and JRNL 4270 
Advanced Storytelling. JRNL 3165 Data Visualization, because it is popular with non-journalism students, 
is offered at least once a year and often twice a year, so it is easy for students to take. Given JRNL 4270 
Advanced Storytelling is offered only every other year, and is no longer really a ‘capstone’ course, the 
department should consider removing it as a required course for the Bachelor of Journalism and offering 
it as an upper-level JRNL elective instead. 

Filling upper-level COMM courses is less of a challenge as they tend to have fewer prerequisites and have 
wider appeal among students as electives. That said, one notable gap in the program is the lack of a Special 
Topics course for Communication Studies as there is for Journalism. JRNL 4900 Special Topics has provided 
the department with the ability to experiment with new course subjects and offer students unique 
opportunities, like the Climate Disaster Project in Fall 2022. A Special Topics course for COMM would 
provide similar opportunities to try out ideas for new courses and to provide students with enriching one-
off opportunities. 

Recommendation: 

• Consider opportunities for developing another upper-level JRNL course that would have limited 
prerequisites and appeal to non-journalism students as an elective. 

• Consider removing JRNL 4270 Advanced Storytelling as a required course for the degree and 
making it an upper-level JRNL elective instead. 

• Consider developing a Special Topics course for COMM, as already exists for JRNL. 

Are graduates of the program successful? 

According to Student Outcomes Data, KPU Journalism graduates surveyed have an unemployment rate of 
5.9%, well below the rate for graduates of the Journalism programs at Langara (16%) and BCIT (25%). KPU 
Journalism grads are also much more likely to be in a job related to their studies than graduates of BCIT, 
though KPU’s figures are similar to those for Langara and TRU. KPU graduates are also much more likely 
to have pursued further studies than graduates of other journalism programs in B.C. 



Journalism Self-Study Report 49 

Exhibit 22: KPU Journalism Program Student Outcomes Data Compared with Ministry Targets 

Measures 

Average Student 
Outcome Data for 

KPU Journalism 
Program 
(2020-22) 

Average 
Student 

Outcome Data 
for Langara 
Journalism 

Program 
(2020-22) 

Average 
Student 

Outcome Data 
for BCIT 

Journalism 
Program 
(2020-22) 

Average 
Student 

Outcome Data 
for TRU 

Journalism 
Program 
(2020-22) 

Ministry 
Target 

Respondents 20 29 44 28  
Unemployment 

 
5.9% 16% 25% NA ≤18.9% 

 Currently 
 

84%      75%      71% 100%  
In a Related Job13 73%      76%      53% 79%  
Further Studies14 45%      21%      21% 18%  

The results of the alumni survey echo these findings. All of the alumni surveyed were employed, 86% in a 
full-time regular position and 14% in a contract position. And 88% of surveyed alumni said they were 
currently employed in a field related to what they studied. 

Despite that, only half a bare majority (51%) of alumni surveyed said they agreed the program prepared 
them well for an entry-level job in the industry. Asked to identify the areas they felt were missing from 
the program, some of the responses included: 

“Covering breaking news and learning to go beyond news release handouts and think more 
critically about them.” 

“More work experience opportunities, like practicums, co-ops, internships.” 

“Mostly practical experience to put on a resume, and general networking/contact building skills.” 

“It would be nice to … have students build a road map towards whatever their goal is and outline 
the opportunities they need to pursue to achieve it, like volunteer roles, competitions, 
residencies, conferences, key publications they can submit to etc. in order to tailor their resume 
to be competitive for the job they want.” 

Some of these issues have been addressed in the years since many of the alumni surveyed graduated from 
the program. For example, a new course, JRNL 3175 News Reporting — focused specifically on covering 
breaking news — was offered for the first time in Summer 2022. Also, Journalism students began taking 
part in the ARTS 4800 Practicum course in Fall 2020. 

That said, KPU’s Journalism program should undertake additional efforts to identify the key entry-level 
job skills required for those entering the fields of Journalism and Communications/Public Relations. Once 
those skills are identified, the program curriculum should be reviewed to ensure those skills are being 

                                                            
11 Unemployment rate of KPU's graduates (of those in the labour market). 
12 Respondents who were working at a job or business at the time of the survey, as a percentage of all respondents, regardless 
of whether they were in the labour force (see above). 
13 Respondents who are currently employed in occupations that they describe as "very" or "somewhat" related to their studies, 
as a percentage of all employed respondents. 
14 Respondents who have taken further studies after taking the program, including those currently studying. 



Journalism Self-Study Report 50 

taught. The Program Advisory Committee will be a key resource here. It was through past discussions like 
this with the PAC that the JRNL 3175 News Reporting course was developed. 

Given the small size of the Journalism program, the department could also explore opportunities for more 
one-on-one mentorship to help guide students through the program. 

Recommendations: 

• With the assistance of the Program Advisory Committee, identify the key entry-level job skills 
required for those entering the fields of Journalism and Communications/Public Relations. Ensure 
those skills are being sufficiently taught throughout the program. 

• Consider developing a program where new students in the Journalism program would meet one-
on-one with an instructor to discuss what they want to get out of the program and their long-
term career goals. 

 



Journalism Self-Study Report 51 

5. Resources, Services, and Facilities 

Does the program have the library and learning resources needed to deliver the curriculum? 

Given the practical, hands-on nature of most Journalism courses, the department makes only limited use 
of traditional library resources such as books and journal articles. This is reflected in the faculty and 
student surveys, with a large share of both students and faculty saying they haven’t used many of the 
library’s resources. For those resources students and faculty have used, satisfaction is quite high with only 
a small share of students and no faculty expressing dissatisfaction with library resources. 

Does the program have the specialized technology needed to deliver the curriculum? 

Students and faculty were asked about two types of specialized technology in the program: software (like 
Adobe Photoshop) and digital cameras. As with the library resources, some faculty and students have not 
used either of these technologies and among those who have, satisfaction is quite high. Very few students 
and no faculty were dissatisfied with the quality of either. 

That said, the department only has 8 digital cameras available for students to borrow, not nearly enough 
to make available to all students who take the JRNL 2360 Photojournalism or JRNL 3270 Video Journalism 
courses. As a result, students are expected to purchase their own cameras, which can cost upwards of 
$1,000. It would be worth investigating whether the department could make a capital investment to 
purchase enough cameras (35) and related equipment so that an entire class could use them in a semester 
without needing to purchase their own. 

Recommendation: 

• Investigate the feasibility of purchasing enough digital cameras, lenses, microphones and tripods 
so there would be 35 cameras on hand, enough for an entire Photojournalism or Video Journalism 
class to have one without needing to purchase their own. 

Does the program have the facilities needed to deliver the curriculum? 

Most Journalism courses at KPU are taught in the Cedar 1060 Mac lab, which was updated in 2023 with 
both new computers and office furniture. A total of 65% of students surveyed and 63% of faculty surveyed 
said they were happy with the Mac lab. There were no written comments from either students or faculty 
about the Mac lab so the cause of dissatisfaction here is unclear. 

Recommendation: 

• Discuss the Mac lab at an upcoming department meeting to canvas what, if any, concerns 
instructors have with the lab and how they could be addressed. 

Does the program have the other support services needed to deliver the curriculum? 
 
Many students surveyed have not made use of the support services at KPU such as Advising, Career and 
Accessibility Services. However, of those who have, most are satisfied with only a small number 
expressing dissatisfaction. Results are similar for faculty surveyed, with those who have used the 
services being satisfied with them. 
 



Journalism Self-Study Report 52 

Social media 

KPU’s Journalism program actively maintains social media accounts on Facebook, Twitter and Instagram. 
However, in the past Facebook has been the primary method through which the department 
communicated information about the program and posted links to ads for journalism jobs. Current 
students were surveyed on how often they engaged with the KPU Journalism Facebook page and their 
use of other social media platforms. 

 
33 - When was the last time you read a post on the KPU Journalism Facebook 
page? 

# When was the last time you read a post on the KPU Journalism Facebook page? Percentage 

1 This month 18% 

2 This year 6% 

3 More than a year ago 24% 

4 Never 53% 

 Total number of respondents 17 

34 - Which of the following social media platforms do you use on a regular 
basis? Please select all that apply. 

# Which of the following social media platforms do you use on a regular basis? 
Please select all that apply. - Selected Choice Percentage Count 

1 Facebook 38% 6 

2 Twitter 44% 7 

3 Instagram 69% 11 

4 Snapchat 13% 2 

5 TikTok 25% 4 

6 Other, please specify 25% 4 

  Total number of 
respondents 16 

Note: The last row presents the total number of respondents. The total number of responses for this question is greater than 
the number of respondents. Therefore, the percentage total exceeds 100%. 

The results suggest more than half (53%) of current students never interact with the department’s 
Facebook page and are more likely to use Instagram as their social media tool of choice. This suggests the 
department should perhaps emphasize Instagram more in its outreach efforts, however that poses some 
challenges as it is more difficult to share links on Instagram than on Facebook, making it a less-than-ideal 
platform for sharing job postings. 

Recommendation: 

• The department should discuss its social media strategy at an upcoming department meeting and 
develop a plan for how best to communicate news about the department and job postings to 
students and alumni. 

 

https://www.facebook.com/KwantlenJournalism
https://twitter.com/KPUJournalism
https://www.instagram.com/kpu_journalism/


Journalism Self-Study Report 53 

6. Conclusions and Recommendations 

6.1. Summary of Program’s strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and challenges 

Strengths 

Surveys of both current students and alumni suggest broad satisfaction with KPU’s Journalism program.  
Here is a sample of some of the written comments from both surveys: 

“I think this program has fantastic instructors. There are also lots of cool journalism courses to 
take. Overall I feel very well-rounded in journalism from the classes I’ve taken so far.” 

“The teachers have real world practical experience and are extremely knowledgeable and helpful. 
They are easily the highlight of the program.” 

“Great instructors. Small class sizes. Hands-on learning and tons of access to resources.” 

“Instructors and department staff were very helpful in making sure they were easily accessible for 
help when it came to course material or even career directions.” 

“Very communicative, experienced and supportive instructors, a good variety of relevant topics 
and skills taught, flexible smaller classes, courses change a lot and evolve over time to fit ongoing 
issues and needs in the profession.” 

“The individual professors were very good and cared a lot about what they were doing.” 

While Program Review provides a key opportunity to reflect on the program and how it can be improved, 
one of the key strengths of KPU’s Journalism program is a commitment to ongoing improvement outside 
of the Program Review process. Since the last Program Review in 2016, the department has made a 
number of key improvements to the program including: 

• Simplifying prerequisites to make it easier for non-journalism students to take upper-level courses 
as electives and for Bachelor of Journalism students to take the courses they need when they are 
available. 

• Joining KPU’s ARTS 4800 Practicum course to give journalism students real-world experience in 
newsrooms across the region. 

• Developing a new course, JRNL 3175 News Reporting, as a direct response to advice from the 
Program Advisory Committee. 

• Offering an upper-level JRNL course in Summer for the first time in Summer 2022 and again in 
Summer 2023, satisfying a common request from students. 

• Adopting a statement on Diversity, Equity, Inclusion and Decolonization and beginning work on 
an action plan to help reach that statement’s goals. 

This commitment to ongoing improvement ensures that problems in the program are addressed as quickly 
as possible. This is also reflected in the general satisfaction with the program seen in the surveys 
conducted as part of this Program Review process.  



Journalism Self-Study Report 54 

Weaknesses 

By far the most consistent criticism from students and alumni in the surveys is the range of courses 
available to take, which at times can make it difficult for students to satisfy degree requirements or get 
prerequisites in a timely way. As noted in the comments: 

“I know it's difficult but more class availability, especially at higher levels. Having to wait for a 
specific course to come around is really difficult.” 

“Classes should be offered more often, having to wait another year to take something is really 
hard to finish a degree in just four years.” 

The program has tried to address this through adding upper-level JRNL courses in the Summer and offering 
some upper-level JRNL courses with few prerequisites and wider appeal among non-journalism students 
(such as JRNL 3260 Future of News). But, as a small program, offering a wider range of courses is an 
ongoing challenge. 

Challenges and Opportunities 

The central challenge facing the program is that while demand for lower-level JRNL and COMM courses 
has risen sharply due to the growth in international students, demand for upper-level JRNL and COMM 
courses has stayed relatively flat. This is because the number of students pursuing a Bachelor of 
Journalism is small and flat or declining slightly. The growth in students pursuing a Minor in Journalism 
has offset this somewhat. But the program needs to look for other opportunities to grow its upper-level 
enrolment. 

The program has already set up articulation agreements with Langara so that a student graduating from 
Langara’s two-year Journalism diploma program could continue their studies at KPU and, with another 
two years of study, earn a Bachelor of Journalism degree. While no Langara graduates have yet taken 
advantage of that opportunity, it may still be worth investigating whether a similar agreement could be 
established with BCIT’s two-year Journalism diploma. 

A Certificate program could also help boost enrolment in upper-level JRNL courses while making the 
program’s courses available to a broader range of students.  

 

6.2. Recommendations 

Curriculum Review 
 

1. While the Curriculum Map suggests there is generally good laddering from lower-level to upper-
level courses, the department should discuss any gaps they’ve identified in student 
preparedness and consider what changes to course prerequisites and program structure should 
be made. 
 

2. The department should review all required first- and second-year courses to determine if they 
are necessary to prepare students for upper-level courses and to achieve the Program Learning 
Outcomes. Consideration should be given to whether some second-year courses may work 
better as upper-level electives. This may provide opportunities to reduce the number of 



Journalism Self-Study Report 55 

discipline-specific lower-level courses Bachelor of Journalism students are required to take, 
putting the program’s requirements more in line with others in the Faculty of Arts. 
 

3. The department should consider introducing peer feedback — both giving it and receiving it —in 
first-year courses to better prepare students for peer editing each other’s work in later JRNL 
courses. This will ensure better scaffolding for PLO #2 (“2. Edit works of journalism produced by 
others, providing helpful and constructive feedback, and incorporate feedback from others.”) 
 

4. The department should consider doing more to address the concepts of what makes a story 
newsworthy and how news judgment is applied by news organizations into first-year courses to 
provide better scaffolding for both PLO #4 (“Practice the principles of sound news judgment in 
developing story ideas, deciding what stories to cover and how to structure information within a 
story.”) and PLO #6 (“Cover newsworthy events and produce stories on deadline.”) 
 

5. Course outlines should be updated to ensure they reflect any new material that has been added 
to courses in recent years. In particular, new material involving peer feedback and peer editing 
that has been added to JRNL 1160 Introduction to Journalism and JRNL 2120 Writing for 
Journalism should be reflected in those courses’ updated CLOs. 
 

6. As course outlines come up for review and revision, they should be revised to ensure more 
consistency across courses, both in the number of CLOs per course and in how those CLOs are 
worded. 
 

7. The department should consider making COMM 2100 Media Ethics and Law a required course 
for the Bachelor of Journalism degree. 
 

8. Courses that are no longer offered by the program, such as JRNL 4260 Computer Coding for 
Journalists, should be removed from the course calendar. 
 

Program Relevance and Student Demand 

1. As a department, work on additional initiatives to promote the Journalism program, both among 
current KPU students and others. 

2. As a department, discuss initiatives to keep KPU Journalism alumni better connected with the 
program and current students. 

3. Investigate the possibility of offering a Certificate, perhaps in Multimedia Storytelling, which 
might attract mature learners to the program. 

4. Investigate the possibility of setting up articulation agreements with BCIT’s Journalism program 
similar to those that already exist with Langara, so graduates of its certificate and diploma 
programs could continue their studies and receive a Bachelor of Journalism at KPU. 

Effectiveness of Instructional Delivery 

1. The department should investigate opportunities for more upper-level courses to partner with 
news organizations on reporting projects. 



Journalism Self-Study Report 56 

2. Consider opportunities for developing another upper-level JRNL course that would have limited 
prerequisites and appeal to non-journalism students as an elective. 

3. Consider removing JRNL 4270 Advanced Storytelling as a required course for the degree and 
making it an upper-level JRNL elective instead. 

4. Consider developing a Special Topics course for COMM, as already exists for JRNL. 

5. With the assistance of the Program Advisory Committee, identify the key entry-level job skills 
required for those entering the fields of Journalism and Communications/Public Relations. Ensure 
those skills are being sufficiently taught throughout the program. 

5.6. Consider developing a program where new students in the Journalism program would meet one-
on-one with an instructor to discuss what they want to get out of the program and their long-
term career goals. 

Resources, Services and Facilities 

1. Investigate the feasibility of purchasing enough digital cameras, lenses, microphones and tripods 
so there would be 35 cameras on hand, enough for an entire Photojournalism or Video Journalism 
class to have one without needing to purchase their own. 

2. Discuss the Mac lab at an upcoming department meeting to canvas what, if any, concerns 
instructors have with the lab and how they could be addressed. 

3. The department should discuss its social media strategy at an upcoming department meeting and 
develop a plan for how best to communicate news about the department and job postings to 
students and alumni. 

 



Journalism Self-Study Report 57 

7. Appendices  

Appendices are provided in separate document. 
  

 



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
Agenda Number: 5.5 

Meeting Date: September 27, 2023 
Presenter(s):  Fergal Callaghan, Jeff Dyck, Brett Favaro 

 1 / 1 

 

 

AGENDA TITLE: PHYSICS FOR MODERN TECHNOLOGY QUALITY ASSURANCE 
PLAN 

ACTION REQUESTED:  Motion 

RECOMMENDED RESOLUTION: THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program 
Review accept the Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan as attached.  

 

COMMITTEE REPORT 

For Secretariat Use Only   

 

Attachments 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Submitted by 

Melike Kinik-Dicleli, Manager of Quality Assurance, Office of Planning & Accountability 

Date submitted 

September 6, 2023 



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 1  

 
 

Date submitted to SSCPR: Click here to enter text. 
 
Date Self-Study Report approved by SSCPR: June 22nd, 2022  
 
Date of External Review: November 31st & December 1st, 2022 
 

SUMMARY OF PROGRAM STENGTHS, CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES FOR IMPROVEMENT 
 

The BSc in Physics for Modern Technology (PMT) at Kwantlen Polytechnic University (KPU) is a 4-year program that was launched in 2014/15, with the first students graduating in 2018. 
It is a hands-on, laboratory-focused, applied physics and technology program that is designed to prepare students for careers in the technology sector. The curriculum review, self-
study, and external review that our program has undergone have all been great opportunities for examining the PMT program in-depth. They have revealed areas where the program is 
doing well (for example, instructional delivery and student success), areas that are generally doing well but with identified avenues for positive change (for example, curriculum), and 
areas where improvement is clearly needed (for example, student recruitment and retention). 
 
Strengths 
 
Overall, as the External Review Team (ERT) noted, “the design and delivery of program are meeting students’ needs and meeting the primary objective of training students to work in 
the tech sector.”  
 
Regarding curriculum, the ERT noted that the program contains a good mix of fundamental physics, hands-on technical skills, and specialized applications. In addition, the curriculum 
mapping process showed that our PLOs are appropriate and well covered by the curriculum. Having said that, various aspects of the curriculum have been earmarked for improvement.  
 
The qualifications, expertise, engagement, and currency of program faculty were identified as major strengths, and they ensure we can provide students with a great experience and a 
high-quality education. One of our common modes of instruction, with combined labs and lectures (sometimes referred to as “studio” format), was identified by the ERT as an 
important strength, as it promotes engagement and active learning. 



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 2  

 
Project-based learning and experiential learning are also major program assets. In addition to mini-projects in many of our courses, students do extended third- and fourth-year 
projects, often on real world applications of program content. The ERT commended our ability to work one-on-one with students when supervising projects. They also noted that we 
are well-stocked with laboratory equipment, from standard teaching equipment to specialized research-grade equipment that our students are fortunate to have access to. The 
innovative CloudLab, which allows students (from KPU and other institutions) to perform labs remotely is a great asset to our department. In addition to widening access to physics 
laboratory education, it is an excellent promotional resource. 
 
Another important component of experiential learning in the program is work experience, which helps prepare students for the workforce after they graduate, and in many cases leads 
directly to post-graduation employment in the tech sector. The program review process has shown that there is a high demand for our graduates, as their success in finding 
employment in the tech sector and/or in pursuing graduate studies is very high. Alumni also commented on how well the program has prepared them for their chosen career paths. The 
ERT commended the quality of our connections with the local technology sector, which are an important part of helping students securing work experience opportunities, as well has 
helping to ensure the program remains current and relevant. 
 
Although the above are strengths of the program, opportunities for improvement have been identified in several of those (and other) areas. 
 
 
Challenges and Opportunities for Improvement 
 
Our greatest challenge is recruitment of students. There is a need to boost promotion of the program in order to increase student numbers. We identify various ways that we can tackle 
this, by ourselves and in conjunction with the Dean’s Office, Advisors, FSO, Marketing, and KPU International. With our growing number of successful graduates, examples of alumni and 
student success can be used to help promote the program. 
 
Retention of students is also a challenge, both for our program and the Faculty of Science and Horticulture as a whole. There is great opportunity to increase student numbers in our 
2nd, 3rd, and 4th year courses through retention of more first-year students. 
 
An issue closely related to recruitment and retention is that of space, particularly for student projects (we recently lost access to temporary student project space). As noted in the Self-
Study Report (SSR): “Surveys, which were carried out before the loss of the space, indicate a high level of student satisfaction with lab space, project space, and fabrication/workshop 



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 3  

facilities. In order to maintain student satisfaction with the program’s facilities as well as the high quality of their hands-on education, replacement fabrication and project space will be 
required. This will also be needed to accommodate the planned increased number of students.” Similar sentiments were expressed by the ERT: “Dedicated project space should be found 
for PMT students. The ERT recognizes that such space must be supported by higher enrollments in the Program; however, the program will have challenges growing from its current size 
without this space.” 
 
Improvements to various aspects of the curriculum need to be investigated, including for example: the potential addition of a dedicated computer programming course as well as more 
formal scaffolding of programming throughout the other courses in the program, constraining choices of business courses in the program so that students take courses that are more 
useful and relevant, and the possible widening the work experience component of the program (which could involve expansion to a co-op program). We will also investigate how the 
structure and content of our first-year labs can be improved in order to bring them into line with current research-informed best practices. 
 
Both the SSR and the ERT recommend the enhancement and expansion of our connections with local industry. This will be addressed in a variety of ways, including renewing links and 
increasing engagement with local industry associations, organizing and participating in more events that involve the local tech sector (and developing an annual calendar of such 
events), and identifying and addressing gaps in the membership of the Program Advisory Committee. This will ensure our curriculum remains current and relevant and that our 
graduates will continue to have good career prospects. Since not all students want to enter the workforce directly after graduation, we recognize that we can also provide more advice 
and support for those who wish to pursue graduate school. 
 
We are committed to doing more to educate ourselves on the topic of Indigenization and how it relates our program. We have also identified diversity, particularly in relation to gender 
diversity and international students, as an area in which we can improve. 
 
We have also identified the need to investigate how we and our students can better benefit from KPU services such as the Library, Advising, and support services for international 
students. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 4  

 
 

Note on nomenclature for codes preceding the recommendations: 
ERR stands for External Review Report. Those labelled ERR-C are their Curriculum recommendations, ERR-D are their Program Demand recommendations, ERR-I are their Instructional Delivery 
recommendations, and ERR-FS are their Facilities and Services recommendations. Numbering: ERR-D2 is the ERT’s second Program Demand recommendation, ERR-FS3 is their third Facilities and 
Services recommendation etc. 

SSR stands for Self-Study Report. Numbering: SSR5.3 is the third recommendation from chapter 5 of the SSR etc. (The numbering follows the order in which the recommendations are listed in the 
summary in chapter 6 of the SSR.) 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS THE QUALITY ASSURANCE PLAN DOES NOT ADDRESS 
The Recommendations from the Self-Study Report and External Review Report that this Plan does not address as provided below, with a a brief rationale for why these 
Recommendations cannot be addressed.  

Recommendations Indicate Self-Study Report 
(SSR) or External Review 
Report (ERR) and page 
number 

Rationale for Not Addressing 

SSR2.2 Assess whether or not the biology content of the program needs to be 
changed. Although there have been good reasons for including biology in the 
program (such as ensuring alignment with KPU’s BSc Framework, providing 
breadth of education, and preparing students for potential careers in the 
biotechnology sector), the survey results suggest that the biology requirement 
and its relevance to the program should be reviewed. 
 

SSR page 23 The External Review Team recommended that we keep the biology 
content of the program, as it provides important breadth of education 
and is important for graduates who pursue careers in the biotechnology 
sector. 

SSR2.1 Update the PHYS 2420 and PHYS 4900 course outlines to better align 
them with current practice.  
 

SSR page 21 We don’t plan to pursue revision of PHYS 4900. After reviewing topics that have 
been taught and that could be taught, no change is necessary. Most topics will 
be technical. The communications version of the course was nontypical and 
that’s what made the mapping difficult. 
 



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 5  

 

 
QUALITY ASSURANCE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN 

The Quality Assurance Goals for improving or maintaining program quality over the next five years are:  
 
MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGINS: May 2023 

GOAL 1: Grow enrollment in the PMT program and increase retention. 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Indicate Report & Page Number 
ERR-D1. The ERT encourages KPU to provide the PMT program with dedicated recruiting and outreach support that understands the program, target audience, 
and careers. Existing university resources and connections with prospective student populations can be leveraged to increase program visibility, but these 
resources must be coupled with deep knowledge of the outcomes of the Program and career opportunities for Program graduates. The ERT considers this one of 
the most important recommendations in this Review.  
 

ERR page 7 

ERR-D2 Use KPU resources to create promotional materials for the PMT program. Focus on careers to educate students and parents on the careers that can be 
pursued with an applied physics degree. Students and alumni that the ERT met were enthusiastic and articulate about the PMT program and their careers:  
feature these students and alumni in these materials as inviting case studies.   
 

ERR page 7 

SSR4.2 Incorporate more examples of student success into the promotion of the program.  
 

SSR page 43 

ERR-D3 Many students take introductory Physics courses at KPU intending to, e.g., obtain Engineering certificates and transfer to a different school. The PMT 
program shares many features with Engineering programs but offers significant flexibility on careers and training. Consider ways to attract/retain students 
from these paths.  
 

ERR page 7 

SSR3.12 Develop a coordinated action plan for promoting our program to students in our first-year classes.  SSR page 37 

ERR-I2 We encourage KPU to continue supporting the high visibility CloudLab program with dedicated infrastructure to continue offering it. We also 
recommend a stronger Physics Department branding of the CloudLab infrastructure to leverage it in recruiting efforts. The ERT team recommends that the PMT 
program continue to work with KPU to encourage the dedicated space allotment needed for the program for not only visibility but viability and growth.  
 

ERR page 8 



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 6  

SSR3.3 Develop an annual calendar of events. This would include both internal and external events of the kind described above. It would help to keep us 
accountable and would help ensure that events stay ‘on our radar’ from year to year.  
 

SSR page 26 

SSR3.14 Develop an annual calendar of events (similar to what was recommended above for our interactions with industry).  
 

SSR page 37 

SSR3.13 Engage more with high school students through school visits, involvement in science fairs, and events hosted by us on campus. Seek the support of our 
Dean’s office (e.g. our Faculty’s Communications and Events Specialist) and the Future Students Office in these endeavours.  
 

SSR page 37 

SSR3.15 Expand our presence on social media, particularly with a view to targeting potential students.  
 

SSR page 37 

SSR3.16 Renew promotional activities at local colleges that do not have physics degrees, and whose students may be seeking opportunities in physics beyond 
the first- or second-year level.  
 

SSR page 37 

SSR3.10 To help achieve this goal of reaching the FSH average of 35% international students, we should learn more about how KPU recruits international 
students and find out if it is possible for KPU’s international recruiters and agents to promote our program more abroad.  
 

SSR page 35 

SSR3.11 Since the low retention rate is a Faculty-wide issue, we recommend that Chairs and Faculty Council discuss this and initiate a Faculty-wide response. 
 

SSR page 35 

SSR5.3 Faculty should clarify expectations around advising and communicate with advisors about how the service can better meet the needs of the program. 
 

SSR page 47 

SSR3.9 We recommend that faculty undertake an investigation into the issue of gender diversity in the department as a whole (students, faculty, and staff) to 
try to identify strategies for redressing the imbalance.  

SSR page 35 

 

Actions(s) Required to Achieve this Goal Led  
By 

Start  
on (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

Notes 

     

 Identify specific internal and external promotional events that are important for PMT to be 
represented at, and ensure they are included in the FSH calendar of events. 

Chair September 
2023 

December 
2023 

Ensure regular attendance by PMT 
representatives at these events to 
promote the program. 



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 7  

Propose a two-year physics/engineering credential which will ladder into the PMT program. 
The first step is to develop a proposal. 

Engineering 
program co-
ordinator 

August 
2023 

September 
2024 

This would start with seeking pre-
approval from the Provost’s office, 
followed by writing the program 
proposal. 

Seek approval for the above proposal at the relevant FSH and Senate committees  Engineering 
program co-
ordinator 

June 2024 June 2025 The goal is to start offering the program 
in Fall 2025. 
This diploma would use existing courses 
and is unlikely to require additional 
resources or faculty FTE. 

In conjunction with the Dean’s office, FSO, and Marketing, develop promotional materials for 
the program strongly featuring stories of graduates. These will be used internally and 
externally and will showcase both the diversity of our student body and of the opportunities 
opened by the program. 

Chair  

and L Flinn 

May 2023 October 2023 

 

We have arranged for Marketing to 
come to our labs to take photos and 
record interviews with alumni and 
students. 

We are also working with our Dean’s 
office and Marketing on developing a 
poster and renewing our website.  

We are also arranging for photos of 
current students and alumni in their 
workplace. 

Have a designated faculty member on each campus to visit all our first-year physics classes 
to introduce KPU students to the program. Also invite students to PMT welcome events and 
student project presentations.   

Chair September 
2023 

September 
2024 

Each year, co-ordinated by the chair, 
someone will be designated to perform 
this task. 

Have a repository of demonstrations and activities for outreach. M Coombes, 
L Flinn, D 
Mathewson 

August 
2023 

December 
2023 

Although we already have many 
demonstrations for promotional 
purposes, we want to formalise their 
organisation so that they are easily 
accessed for events. 

Work with Marketing to develop materials to use the CloudLab to promote the program. 
 

T Sato January 
2024 

May 2024 New space for the CloudLab has already 
been approved and budgeted. 



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 8  

Host a summit between key faculty and staff in Physics, as well as representatives from 
Advising, Marketing and FSO to co-develop these materials and a marketing strategy 
Meet annually with FSO, FSH advisors, international advisors, and Marketing to maintain a 
dialogue on how best to promote the program to different groups. Offer tours and produce 
explainers for these groups to ensure they are fully up to speed on the program. 

Chair  

and L Flinn 

August 
2023 

August 2024 First round of meetings in first year, with 
annual repetition. 

Maintain communication with students interested and admitted to the PMT program by 
sending a welcome letter and invitation to welcome events. 

Chair September 
2023 

October 
2024. 

This will require coordination with the 
Dean’s Office for access to student 
contact info. 

We will plan an entertaining welcome 
social event for the first month of the 
Fall semester.  

Establish and renew MOU’s with other post-secondary institutions not offering full Physics 
degree programs to ease transfer of students to PMT at KPU. 

Physics 
articulation 
rep 

September 
2023 

May 2024 Provincial articulation meeting is 
typically held in May of each year. 

Establish internal MOU with KPU Mechatronics program for laddering their students into 
PMT 

Chair May 2023 December 
2024 

A draft proposal has been written. Next 
steps will involve discussion at the level 
of the Deans. 

Work with FSH Dean’s office and other departments on the creation of an FSH recruitment 
and retention committee led by chairs and coordinators. 

M Coombes June 2023 September 
2023 

This has been discussed at Faculty 
Council and at chairs/co-ordinators 
committee, and will be brought up at 
upcoming meetings. 

Work with FSO to develop a recurring outreach event aimed specifically at grade 9-10 
women. 

Chair January 
2024 

December 
2026 

 

 

Resource Requirements (if applicable) 
Resources required to achieve this Goal:   Seek a one-course time release for development of physics/engineering diploma. 

When resources will be required:  Spring 2024 for time release.  



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 9  

Faculty and/or Institutional support required:  As mentioned above, support from Marketing, advisors, and the Dean’s Office will be 
required for many of the action items listed above. 

 

GOAL 2: Enhance and expand connections with organizations external to KPU 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Indicate Report & Page Number 
SSR3.1 Renew links with local professional associations such as the BC Tech Association and the BC section of the ISA. This will allow faculty and students to 
engage in the networking events that are organized by these associations, which will in turn raise the profile of the program and lead to more opportunities 
(for student work experience, for collaborative projects, and for jobs post-graduation). 
 

SSR page 26 

SSR3.2 Organize more events, both on- and off-campus. Including field trips, invited talks, and alumni/student competitions. We also recommend a student-
industry networking evening on campus, which was held once several years ago and which could potentially become an annual event.  
 

SSR page 26 

SSR3.4 Develop a LinkedIn profile for the program to allow us to engage more with industry online.  
 

SSR page 26 

SSR3.9 We recommend that faculty undertake an investigation into the issue of gender diversity in the department as a whole (students, faculty, and staff) to 
try to identify strategies for redressing the imbalance.  
 

SSR page 35 

SSR3.16 Renew promotional activities at local colleges that do not have physics degrees, and whose students may be seeking opportunities in physics beyond 
the first- or second-year level. 

SSR page 37 

ERR-C5 Incorporate technology being developed in the greater Vancouver area into the curriculum via course material, laboratory projects, industrial seminars, 
and tours. The program should continue to leverage and expand the scope of these industry connections to market itself internally and externally.  
 

ERR page 5 

ERR-FS2 Continue to seek industrial partnerships and for KPU to continue to support the acquisition, installation, and operation of high-tech equipment. The 
engagement with the current PAC is well established, but further membership may be a place to explore for options of industry-based projects, support, 
student mentorship for capstone, and sponsorships for awards and competition entries for students and projects.   
 

ERR page 10 



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 10  

ERR-FS4 Work to formalize agreements with institutions in conjunction with KPU leadership and FSH advising services to provide a concrete framework for 
students pursuing graduate studies. Continue to work with advising services and KPU leadership to streamline some of these pathways so that there is more 
support for students and faculty.  
 

ERR page 10 

 

 

Action(s) Required to Achieve this Goal Led  
by 

Start  
on (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

Notes 

Invite the BC Tech Association to come to speak to other FSH departments to encourage 
faculty-wide involvement 

F Callaghan August 
2023 

December 
2023 

This will help strengthen our links with the 
BC Tech Association and ensure our 
Faculty gets maximum benefit from the 
FSH’s membership. 

Set up and maintain LinkedIn profile for PMT K Tahani June 2023 September 
2023 

 

Establish connections with SCWIST (Society for Canadian Women in Science and Technology) 
and CAP’s (Canadian Association of Physicists) Division for Gender Equity in Physics and 
encourage dept members to join these organisations. 

Chair September 
2023 

September 
2023 

This could result in, for example, 
representatives from SCWIST coming to 
KPU for an annual event. 

Initiate a seminar series with guest speakers from industry or applied research labs, with a 
goal of having at one speaker per semester (Fall and Spring) 

F Callaghan January 
2024 

May 2025 These would be open to students, faculty, 
and staff from across KPU. 

Invite representatives of suitable graduate programs to present to our students to increase 
their awareness of their options for further study. 

Chair September 
2023 

May 2024 Although graduate studies is not the 
driving direction of our programming, in 
addition to raising awareness among our 
students, establishing good relations with 
those institutions raises the profile of our 
program overall. 
 



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 11  

Establish a regular industry network event, possibly in conjunction with other departments. F Callaghan January 
2024 

January 
2026 

A successful industry-student event was 
held in 2017. This would translate that 
into a recurring event. 

Commit to filling at least 3 seats on the PAC with women and/or Indigenous representatives 
from relevant industry sectors. 

F Callaghan May 2024 May 2025 This will be done by reaching out to 
specifically to women and indigenous-led 
companies. 

Identify gaps in PAC membership to ensure all relevant industry sectors are represented. F Callaghan May 2024 May 2025 This will be done in discussion with 
existing PAC members. 

Showcase industrial partner contributions to the program and how they have benefited our 
students in order to encourage further support.   

Chair May 2023 May 2025 This will include developing promotional 
materials and acknowledging industry 
support at promotional events and on our 
website. For example, this May we are 
demonstrating the scanning electron 
microscope donated by Ballard Power 
Systems. 

Increase the number of visits / field trips to local companies to give students more exposure 
to the local tech sector, with a goal of having one trip per semester (Fall and Spring) 

D Mathewson September 
2023 

September 
2025 

This activity will continue indefinitely. 

 

Resource Requirements (if applicable) 
Resources required to achieve this Goal:   Request time release for the industry-related action items as they will require a large time 
commitment. 

When resources will be required:  Fall 2024.  

Faculty and/or Institutional support required:  Click here to enter text. 

 

  



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 12  

 

GOAL 3: Enhance student experience 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Indicate Report & Page Number 
SSR2.5 Investigate the suitability of the new topics that were identified by survey respondents for inclusion in the program.  SSR page 23 

SSR3.1 Renew links with local professional associations such as the BC Tech Association and the BC section of the ISA.  

 

SSR page 26 

SSR3.2 Organize more events, both on- and off-campus. Including field trips, invited talks, and alumni/student competitions. We also recommend a student-
industry networking evening on campus, which was held once several years ago and which could potentially become an annual event.  
 

SSR page 26 

SSR3.8 Research is crucial to the success of students in the PMT program. The Physics Department should continue to have representation on Faculty and 
Senate committees considering the future of scholarly activity at KPU.  
 

SSR page 30 

SSR5.4 As part of the effort to increase enrollments, and in anticipation of an associated increase in international enrollments, faculty should familiarize 
ourselves with the services that KPU provides for international students. 
 

SSR page 48 

SSR4.1 Investigate ePortfolios as a program-wide self-assessment and a means for students to reflect on their progress.  
 

SSR page 41 

SSR5.1 Work with and seek the support of the relevant authorities at KPU to ensure the program has sufficient space to maintain quality and accommodate the 
planned increase in student numbers.  
 

SSR page 46 

ERR-D4 Seek opportunities to leverage the experiential learning of the students to participate in high-profile postsecondary student competitions to raise the 
external profile of the Program.  
 

ERR page 7 

ERR-FS1 Dedicated project space should be found for PMT students. The ERT recognizes that such space must be supported by higher enrollments in the 
Program; however, the program will have challenges growing from its current size without this space. The ERT team also recognizes that there are other small 
specialized programs at KPU that have dedicated project space, labs, and equipment. This has given these programs not only visibility, but room for growth 
both in enrollment and the program. The ERT recommends that the PMT look and some of the best practices/strategies that other programs have used.   

ERR page 10 



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 13  

SSR3.5 Discuss and develop a clear understanding of what indigenization means for our program. Seek guidance from KPU’s Indigenous Advisory Committee. SSR page 27 

SSR3.9 We recommend that faculty undertake an investigation into the issue of gender diversity in the department as a whole (students, faculty, and staff) to 
try to identify strategies for redressing the imbalance.  
 

SSR page 35 

 

Action(s) Required to Achieve this Goal Led  
by 

Start  
on (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

Notes 

     

 Maintain physics membership of the FSH Research Committee to ensure we continue to be 
involved in FSH efforts to expand student involvement in research. 

J Hoyland May 2023 May 2023 Membership will be ongoing. 

Widen participation in the annual student research seminar to include presentations by 
students from more of our courses 

J Hoyland September 
2023 

December 
2024 

 

Investigate possibility of expanding the above seminar to an FSH-wide event (and other 
STEM-based programs in other Faculties) and inviting more widely in the University and 
beyond. 

Chair January 
2024 

December 
2025 

Support from Dean’s Office will be 
required for co-ordination of FSH-wide 
involvement and space. 

Strike an ad-hoc committee including a female student representative and an alumna to 
investigate the issue of gender diversity within the department.  

 

J deBenedictis 

September 
2023 

September 
2025 

This committee shall produce a report 
suggesting concrete, ethical, and legal 
ways to create more gender parity both 
within our department and within our 
PMT program student body 

Invite students to regular industry/student network event. F Callaghan January 
2024 

January 
2026 

This is the event that will be established 
as per action item under Goal 2. 

Seek guidance from the Indigenous Advisory Committee and Indigenous Students’ 
Association on how indigenization can be addressed in our program. 

Chair January 
2024 

February 
2024 

Currently we contribute to the annual 
Open Doors Open Minds event.  

Invite someone from the International office to a dept meeting to talk to us about the 
services provided by KPU for international students. 
 

Chair August 
2023 

August 
2023 

 



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 14  

Investigate the use of e-portfolios and present results of investigation to dept. D Mathewson September 
2023 

August 
2024 

e-portfolios may be an effective way of 
assessing the development of student skills as 
they work on a variety of projects throughout 
the program and would build into a body of 
work which would help students sell 
themselves to employers after graduation. 

Investigate possible external student competition opportunities. L Flinn September 
2023 

September 
2024 

 

Develop a proposal for dedicated student research project space in conjunction with other FSH 
departments and bring forward to Faculty Council for support. 

Chair September 
2023 

September 
2025 

 

 

Resource Requirements (if applicable) 
Resources required to achieve this Goal:   Click here to enter text. 

When resources will be required:  January 2024 to December 2025 for initial iteration and ongoing thereafter.   

Faculty and/or Institutional support required:  Dean’s Office support for organization of FSH-wide seminar. 

 

 

 

  



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 15  

 

GOAL 4: Implement curricular changes as described in the External Review Report, to better align the program with the needs of stakeholders 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Indicate Report & Page Number 
ERR-C1 Constrain the choice of Business courses to areas identified by the PAC as being key – give students fluency in Business language and processes, an 
overview of how companies are structured and work, and an understanding of issues involved in making business decisions about the viability of products and 
services, and overall project management skills. Incorporate business skills into Physics project courses through a focus on project management to gain 
experience in planning around design-of-experiment, de-risking, strategic planning, etc. 

 

ERR page 5 

ERR-C2 Investigate if a formal programming course can be added to the curriculum.  

 

ERR page 5 

ERR-C3 Include the use of computing throughout the PMT curriculum and a top-down scaffolded approach to skills, with a focus on modern scientific languages 
such as Python.  
 

ERR page 5 

ERR-C4 Investigate whether additional flexibility in the PMT program to allow multiple work terms, possibly in successive summer terms, or even to include 
longer terms within a year.  
 

ERR page 5 

ERR-C5 Incorporate technology being developed in the greater Vancouver area into the curriculum via course material, laboratory projects, industrial seminars, 
and tours. The program should continue to leverage and expand the scope of these industry connections to market itself internally and externally.  
 

ERR page 5 

ERR-I1 The Physics Department should examine the administrative structure of its introductory courses, particularly the lab courses, and streamline them 
where possible. Consult recent literature on the purpose and use of introductory physics labs when considering their lab courses.  
 

ERR page 8 

ERR-FS3 The program should explore whether additional software resources are required to ensure that PLOs are being met and that software used in teaching 
and projects is relevant within industry.  
 

ERR page 10 

SSR2.1 Update the PHYS 2420 and PHYS 4900 course outlines to better align them with current practice.  
 

SSR page 21 



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 16  

SSR2.3 Investigate ways in which the computing content of the program can be strengthened.  
 

SSR page 23 

SSR2.4 Review the content and structure of the mathematics component of the program.  
 

SSR page 23 

SSR2.5 Investigate the suitability of the new topics that were identified by survey respondents for inclusion in the program.  

 

SSR page 23 

SSR5.2 As a department, we should discuss and identify library resources that we might want to use. This could involve a more detailed survey of faculty to find 
out how library resources are currently used in our 2nd, 3rd, and 4th year courses. This will help us determine if we could be making better use of library 
resources.  

SSR page 44 

 

Action(s) Required to Achieve this Goal Led  
by 

Start  
on (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) Notes 

Re-open discussions with co-op office with regards to support which could be offered to 
expand work experience opportunities for students.  

Chair and F 
Callaghan 

January 
2024 

September 
2024 

 

Update the PHYS 2420 course outline to reflect current practice F Callaghan and 
K Tahani May 2024 June 2024  

Survey faculty to determine how computing and software are currently used, taught, and 
incorporated in the program and assess the results for gaps.  

K Tahani September 
2023 

September 
2024 

 

Use the survey results to develop a framework for including computing throughout the 
program to ensure students gain experience with key programming topics and techniques. 
Update course outlines accordingly. 

K Tahani September 
2024 

September 
2026 

This could include developing a new 
course and/or incorporating elements of 
computing throughout the program. 

Pilot suggested additional topics within our Special Topics course. Chair March 
2024 

March 
2025 

This is something we do every time this 
course is taught. This course will next run 
in Spring 2025. 

 
Survey faculty to find out which journals we would like easy access to, and follow up with 
the library.  

T Sato October 
2023 

January 
2024 

 



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 17  

Formalize the incorporation of literature research skills in the program. Update course 
outlines accordingly. 

F Ruiz Oliveras September 
2023 

September 
2025 

This would include identification of 
reliable sources in the technical, popular 
and academic literature. 

Reassess math topics that are required for the program T Sato September 
2023 April 2024 

Survey PMT faculty to find out which 
math topics students need knowledge of 
to successfully complete our courses 

Consult with math dept on the content of MATH 2721 and 2821 to ensure required topics 
are covered. 

T Sato May 2024 September 
2024 

 

Investigate including more examples of technology developed in the region into the 
curriculum. 

F Callaghan September 
2023 

September 
2026 

This would be bundled with the other 
industry-related action items for which 
time release will be requested. 

Form a committee that includes lab staff to review literature on best practices for first-
year laboratory education. 

J Hoyland September  
2023 

August 
2024 

This could involve liaising with the 
Teaching and Learning Commons. 

Incorporate the findings of the above review into our courses. J Hoyland September 
2024 

September 
2026 

 

Consult with PAC to determine which Business topics to include in the program. Then 
consult School of Business to determine which of their courses would be appropriate. 

Chair September 
2023 

December 
2024 

We will aim to discuss this at the next PAC 
meeting. 

 

Resource Requirements (if applicable) 
Resources required to achieve this Goal:Click here to enter text. 

When resources will be required:  Click here to enter text.  

Faculty and/or Institutional support required:  Assistance from the co-op office, the math department, and the School of Business. 

 

 

 



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 18  

 

 

GOAL 5: Build the resilience of the program to future changes 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Indicate Report & Page Number 
ERR-FS1 Dedicated project space should be found for PMT students. The ERT recognizes that such space must be supported by higher enrollments in the 
Program; however, the program will have challenges growing from its current size without this space. The ERT team also recognizes that there are other small 
specialized programs at KPU that have dedicated project space, labs, and equipment. This has given these programs not only visibility, but room for growth 
both in enrollment and the program. The ERT recommends that the PMT look and some of the best practices/strategies that other programs have used.   
 

ERR page 10 

ERR-I2 Continue supporting the high visibility CloudLab program with dedicated infrastructure to continue offering it. We also recommend a stronger Physics 
Department branding of the CloudLab infrastructure to leverage it in recruiting efforts. The ERT team recommends that the PMT program continue to work 
with KPU to encourage the dedicated space allotment needed for the program for not only visibility but viability and growth.  
 

ERR page 8 

SSR3.6 Prior to a new hire, the department should have a discussion on gaps any retirements will create. In addition, the department should have regular 
discussions with the Program Advisory Committee about topics in physics that are growing in importance to Industry and conversely topics that are declining. 
These discussions should drive hiring criteria. 

SSR page 30 

SSR3.7 Alternate instructors for second-, third-, and fourth-year courses should be designated. Current instructors should be asked to develop a package of 
teaching materials such as a detailed course outline, teaching notes, sample examinations, sample projects, and the like. Course instructors and their 
alternates should meet to discuss the course and the materials. If possible, hiring lists for the courses should be kept for hiring on short notice.  
 

SSR page 30 

SSR5.1 Work with and seek the support of the relevant authorities at KPU to ensure the program has sufficient space to maintain quality and accommodate the 
planned increase in student numbers. 

SSR page 46 

 

Action(s) Required to Achieve this Goal Led  
by 

Start  
on (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) Notes 

Develop a proposal for dedicated student research project space in conjunction with 
other FSH departments and bring forward to Faculty Council for support. 

Chair September 
2023 

September 
2025 

 



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 19  

Work with Facilities to realize the CloudLab’s new permanent home on the Richmond 
campus and continue development work to expand online lab offerings. 

T Sato May 2023 September 
2025 

Development of CloudLab will be an 
ongoing process. 

Develop documentation and standard operating procedures for all laboratory equipment 
(for example CloudLab, scanning electron microscope and other specialized equipment) 
to ensure resilience in case of personnel changes. 

Chair September 
2023 

September 
2026 

 

Maintain a list of who in dept can teach which courses and perform a SWOT (strengths, 
weaknesses, opportunities and threats) analysis to ensure high program quality. 

Chair & Dept 
search committee May 2023 May 2024  

Maintain discussions with PAC to ensure program currency and relevance to industry 
needs. 

F Callaghan January 
2024 

January 
2025 

 

Maintain a repository of teaching materials that instructors can use when teaching a 
course for the first time or when they have to take over at short notice. 

J deBenedictis & M 
Coombes May 2023 

May 2025  

 

Resource Requirements (if applicable) 
Resources required to achieve this Goal:   Time release for development of new CloudLab labs. 

When resources will be required:  2024  

Faculty and/or Institutional support required:  Work with Facilities to develop CloudLab space. 

 

  



Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan Page 20  

PLAN SUPPORTED BY: 

________________________________________        _________________________________________________        _________________________________ 
Provost’s Name Provost’s Signature  Date  

Brett Favaro  Sept 1, 2023 
________________________________________        _________________________________________________         _________________________________ 
Dean’s Name  Dean’s Signature Date  

Diane Purvey Sept 6, 2023



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 

 

1 
 

 
REPORT: Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 
Instructions for Reviewers 
Your assessment should ensure the Quality Assurance Plan does the following: 

o address all the recommendations in the Self-Study and External Review reports (or provide a clear 
rationale when a recommendation is not addressed); 

o provide clear, realistic plan of actions that are within the department’s purview; 
o clearly articulate how the Program will demonstrate Progress on a Goal and/or Action in its Annual Follow-

Up Report. 
 

OVERALL ASSESSMENT:  
Please provide a brief assessment of the Quality Assurance Plan under review and an overall recommendation. 
Reviewer #1; The Physics Department is well run and impressively innovative, and the faculty in it connect 
admirably to the greater University community through their CloudLab and extraordinary service 
commitments. This plan reflects their attention to their program quality well, and I support especially their 
commitment to tackling inequity in their program. I was left with two questions, though. 

1. What, specifically, can be done to foster that equity (to investigate it is a good start, but is there a 
plan to follow up?). 

2. There is a section about promotion and recruitment, and another about curricular change. Are these 
related? Is it the case that we merely need increase resources for promotion and the program will 
grow? This often fails because we haven’t tackled why the existing promotion hasn’t worked. No 
specific action here, but a question worth discussing at committee. 

Reviewer #2:  
The Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan team has provided a thorough breakdown of the 
program's strengths and challenges, including specific and viable remedies on how to address these 
challenges.  
 
The team has diligently extracted and documented recommendations from both the Self-Study and External 
Review reports, to inform and support their five goals. Rational is laid out well. To ensure that the plans are 
successfully implemented in the future, some justifications require additional in-depth expansion. 
 
The Report (select the box that corresponds to your recommendation):  

☒          Reviewer #1: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR as is 
☒          Reviewer #2: Recommend for approval by the SSCPR pending suggested actions (see below) 
☐          Recommend for rejection by the SSCPR 

 
MAJOR ISSUES AND SUGGESTED ACTIONS:  
Complete this section ONLY if you have identified the following major issues with the Plan: 

a) Recommendations made in the Self-Study Report and/or External Review Report are not appropriately 
addressed. 

b) Goals, Actions, and/or Resource Implications are not worded clearly. 
c) It is unclear how the Program will demonstrate Progress on a Goal and/or Actions in its Annual Follow-

Up Report. 
  



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 

 

2 
 

Issue (page #) Suggested Action Program’s Response 
Page 13, Goal 3 
Dedicated project space should be found 
for PMT students. The ERT recognizes that 
such space must be supported by higher 
enrollments in the Program; however, the 
program will have challenges growing 
from its current size without this space. 
The ERT team also recognizes that there 
are other small specialized programs at 
KPU that have dedicated project space, 
labs, and equipment. This has given these 
programs not only visibility, but room for 
growth both in enrollment and the 
program. The ERT recommends that the 
PMT look and some of the best 
practices/strategies that other programs 
have used.  
 

In order to address the 
project space expansion, 
more thorough solutions 
need to be developed. 

Our action item related to this 
recommendation is to “Develop 
a proposal for dedicated student 
research project space in 
conjunction with other FSH 
departments and bring forward 
to Faculty Council for support”. 
Our intention is that thorough 
solutions will be developed as 
part of carrying out the action 
item. In order to make the best 
use of space, we hope to 
develop a solution/proposal for 
a project space that can be used 
by students from other science 
programs too. We have 
previously developed thorough 
plans in collaboration with other 
departments in our Faculty. 
Although they were initially 
received enthusiastically by the 
then-Provost(s), the plans 
unfortunately did not come to 
fruition and we hope for a 
better outcome this time. 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 

 

3 
 

Page 9, Goal 2, Page 15, Goal 4 
ERR-C5 Incorporate technology being 
developed in the greater Vancouver area 
into the curriculum via course material, 
laboratory projects, industrial seminars, 
and tours. The program should continue to 
leverage and expand the scope of these 
industry connections to market itself 
internally and externally.  
 

This challenge is brought up 
in various sections of this 
report; further options are 
required; just doing industrial 
visits is inadequate. More 
technological collaboration is 
called for. 

We have several action items in 
the QA Plan that address this 
recommendation (including 
visits, but also going beyond 
that): 

- “Initiate a seminar 
series with guest 
speakers from industry 
or applied research labs, 
with a goal of having at 
least one speaker per 
semester (Fall and 
Spring) ” 

- “Increase the number of 
visits / field trips to local 
companies to give 
students more exposure 
to the local tech sector, 
with a goal of having 
one trip per semester 
(Fall and Spring” 

- “Pilot suggested 
additional topics within 
our Special Topics 
course.” 

 
For the third action above, we 
envisage that some Special 
Topics would be related to the 
activities of local tech 
companies. 
 
Also, we have had industry 
collaboration on student 
projects and such collaborative 
projects will continue to be 
sought out. 
 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 

 

4 
 

Page 16, Goal 4 
Re-open discussions with co-op office 
with regards to support which could be 
offered to expand work experience 
opportunities for students.  
 

Please provide a list of 
potential employment 
opportunities in British 
Columbia 

In our self-study report, we 
included a list of jobs in the tech 
sector that students have done 
for their work experience (which 
is similar to co-op and is a 
mandatory part of the 
program), as well as a list of jobs 
that our graduates are doing. It 
didn’t occur to us to put the list 
in the QA Plan also, but we can 
do so if that is what is being 
requested. As part of our 
discussions with the co-op 
office, and especially if the 
discussions result in us 
transitioning from our current 
work experience model to a co-
op model, we will make sure to 
develop a thorough list of 
sectors in which our students 
and graduates have worked in 
and could potentially work in.   

Page 19, Goal 5 
Develop documentation and standard 
operating procedures for all laboratory 
equipment (for example CloudLab, 
scanning electron microscope and other 
specialized equipment) to ensure 
resilience in case of personnel changes.  
 

It is recommended that 
various sorts of plans be 
listed. 

We don’t fully understand the 
intent of the reviewer’s 
suggested action. We have a list 
of specialized equipment (see 
Appendix J of Self-Study Report) 
and we will ensure there is clear 
documentation for the benefit 
of faculty and staff who are 
unfamiliar with any of the 
equipment. 

Page 19,  Goal 5 
Maintain a list of who in dept can teach 
which courses and perform a SWOT 
(strengths, weaknesses, opportunities 
and threats) analysis to ensure high 
program quality.  

It seems overly long to do this 
task in one year. This factor 
strongly influences how 
effective a teacher is. It is 
advised to make it a priority. 

Some further background on 
our action item, which we 
should have been clearer about: 
This year (Fall 2023 and Spring 
2024) we are rotating our 
teaching assignments so that 
more faculty have experience 
teaching more courses. At the 
end of the Spring semester, we 
intend to use the rotation to 
update our list of who has 
experience teaching each 
course and also to perform the 
SWOT analysis. Would it help if 
we update the action item to 
reflect this? 

 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewers’ Comments: Quality Assurance Plan 

 

5 
 

MINOR EDITS (Spelling, syntax, word choice and other mechanical issues). 
Please list corresponding page numbers. Minor edits are NOT discussed at the SSCPR meeting. Add or remove 
rows as needed. 

Minor Edits (page #) 
 
 
 

 



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 1  

 
 

Date submitted to SSCPR:  September 22, 2023 
 
Date Self-Study Report approved by SSCPR: June 22nd, 2022  
 
Date of External Review: November 31st & December 1st, 2022 
 

SUMMARY OF PROGRAM STENGTHS, CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES FOR IMPROVEMENT 
 

The BSc in Physics for Modern Technology (PMT) at Kwantlen Polytechnic University (KPU) is a 4-year program that was launched in 2014/15, with the first students graduating in 2018. 
It is a hands-on, laboratory-focused, applied physics and technology program that is designed to prepare students for careers in the technology sector. The curriculum review, self-
study, and external review that our program has undergone have all been great opportunities for examining the PMT program in-depth. They have revealed areas where the program is 
doing well (for example, instructional delivery and student success), areas that are generally doing well but with identified avenues for positive change (for example, curriculum), and 
areas where improvement is clearly needed (for example, student recruitment and retention). 
 
Strengths 
 
Overall, as the External Review Team (ERT) noted, “the design and delivery of program are meeting students’ needs and meeting the primary objective of training students to work in 
the tech sector.”  
 
Regarding curriculum, the ERT noted that the program contains a good mix of fundamental physics, hands-on technical skills, and specialized applications. In addition, the curriculum 
mapping process showed that our PLOs are appropriate and well covered by the curriculum. Having said that, various aspects of the curriculum have been earmarked for improvement.  
 
The qualifications, expertise, engagement, and currency of program faculty were identified as major strengths, and they ensure we can provide students with a great experience and a 
high-quality education. One of our common modes of instruction, with combined labs and lectures (sometimes referred to as “studio” format), was identified by the ERT as an 
important strength, as it promotes engagement and active learning. 



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 2  

 
Project-based learning and experiential learning are also major program assets. In addition to mini-projects in many of our courses, students do extended third- and fourth-year 
projects, often on real world applications of program content. The ERT commended our ability to work one-on-one with students when supervising projects. They also noted that we 
are well-stocked with laboratory equipment, from standard teaching equipment to specialized research-grade equipment that our students are fortunate to have access to. The 
innovative CloudLab, which allows students (from KPU and other institutions) to perform labs remotely is a great asset to our department. In addition to widening access to physics 
laboratory education, it is an excellent promotional resource. 
 
Another important component of experiential learning in the program is work experience, which helps prepare students for the workforce after they graduate, and in many cases leads 
directly to post-graduation employment in the tech sector. The program review process has shown that there is a high demand for our graduates, as their success in finding 
employment in the tech sector and/or in pursuing graduate studies is very high. Alumni also commented on how well the program has prepared them for their chosen career paths. The 
ERT commended the quality of our connections with the local technology sector, which are an important part of helping students securing work experience opportunities, as well has 
helping to ensure the program remains current and relevant. 
 
Although the above are strengths of the program, opportunities for improvement have been identified in several of those (and other) areas. 
 
 
Challenges and Opportunities for Improvement 
 
Our greatest challenge is recruitment of students. There is a need to boost promotion of the program in order to increase student numbers. We identify various ways that we can tackle 
this, by ourselves and in conjunction with the Dean’s Office, Advisors, FSO, Marketing, and KPU International. With our growing number of successful graduates, examples of alumni and 
student success can be used to help promote the program. 
 
Retention of students is also a challenge, both for our program and the Faculty of Science and Horticulture as a whole. There is great opportunity to increase student numbers in our 
2nd, 3rd, and 4th year courses through retention of more first-year students. 
 
An issue closely related to recruitment and retention is that of space, particularly for student projects (we recently lost access to temporary student project space). As noted in the Self-
Study Report (SSR): “Surveys, which were carried out before the loss of the space, indicate a high level of student satisfaction with lab space, project space, and fabrication/workshop 



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 3  

facilities. In order to maintain student satisfaction with the program’s facilities as well as the high quality of their hands-on education, replacement fabrication and project space will be 
required. This will also be needed to accommodate the planned increased number of students.” Similar sentiments were expressed by the ERT: “Dedicated project space should be found 
for PMT students. The ERT recognizes that such space must be supported by higher enrollments in the Program; however, the program will have challenges growing from its current size 
without this space.” 
 
Improvements to various aspects of the curriculum need to be investigated, including for example: the potential addition of a dedicated computer programming course as well as more 
formal scaffolding of programming throughout the other courses in the program, constraining choices of business courses in the program so that students take courses that are more 
useful and relevant, and the possible widening the work experience component of the program (which could involve expansion to a co-op program). We will also investigate how the 
structure and content of our first-year labs can be improved in order to bring them into line with current research-informed best practices. 
 
Both the SSR and the ERT recommend the enhancement and expansion of our connections with local industry. This will be addressed in a variety of ways, including renewing links and 
increasing engagement with local industry associations, organizing and participating in more events that involve the local tech sector (and developing an annual calendar of such 
events), and identifying and addressing gaps in the membership of the Program Advisory Committee. This will ensure our curriculum remains current and relevant and that our 
graduates will continue to have good career prospects. Since not all students want to enter the workforce directly after graduation, we recognize that we can also provide more advice 
and support for those who wish to pursue graduate school. 
 
We are committed to doing more to educate ourselves on the topic of Indigenization and how it relates our program. We have also identified diversity, particularly in relation to gender 
diversity and international students, as an area in which we can improve. 
 
We have also identified the need to investigate how we and our students can better benefit from KPU services such as the Library, Advising, and support services for international 
students. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 4  

 
 

Note on nomenclature for codes preceding the recommendations: 
ERR stands for External Review Report. Those labelled ERR-C are their Curriculum recommendations, ERR-D are their Program Demand recommendations, ERR-I are their Instructional Delivery 
recommendations, and ERR-FS are their Facilities and Services recommendations. Numbering: ERR-D2 is the ERT’s second Program Demand recommendation, ERR-FS3 is their third Facilities and 
Services recommendation etc. 

SSR stands for Self-Study Report. Numbering: SSR5.3 is the third recommendation from chapter 5 of the SSR etc. (The numbering follows the order in which the recommendations are listed in the 
summary in chapter 6 of the SSR.) 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS THE QUALITY ASSURANCE PLAN DOES NOT ADDRESS 
The Recommendations from the Self-Study Report and External Review Report that this Plan does not address as provided below, with a a brief rationale for why these 
Recommendations cannot be addressed.  

Recommendations Indicate Self-Study Report 
(SSR) or External Review 
Report (ERR) and page 
number 

Rationale for Not Addressing 

SSR2.2 Assess whether or not the biology content of the program needs to be 
changed. Although there have been good reasons for including biology in the 
program (such as ensuring alignment with KPU’s BSc Framework, providing 
breadth of education, and preparing students for potential careers in the 
biotechnology sector), the survey results suggest that the biology requirement 
and its relevance to the program should be reviewed. 
 

SSR page 23 The External Review Team recommended that we keep the biology 
content of the program, as it provides important breadth of education 
and is important for graduates who pursue careers in the biotechnology 
sector. 

SSR2.1 Update the PHYS 2420 and PHYS 4900 course outlines to better align 
them with current practice.  
 

SSR page 21 We don’t plan to pursue revision of PHYS 4900. After reviewing topics that have 
been taught and that could be taught, no change is necessary. Most topics will 
be technical. The communications version of the course was nontypical and 
that’s what made the mapping difficult. However we will review and update 
PHYS 2420 – see action item under Goal 4. 



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 5  

 

 

 
QUALITY ASSURANCE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN 

The Quality Assurance Goals for improving or maintaining program quality over the next five years are:  
 
MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGINS: May 2023 

GOAL 1: Grow enrollment in the PMT program and increase retention. 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Indicate Report & Page Number 
ERR-D1. The ERT encourages KPU to provide the PMT program with dedicated recruiting and outreach support that understands the program, target audience, 
and careers. Existing university resources and connections with prospective student populations can be leveraged to increase program visibility, but these 
resources must be coupled with deep knowledge of the outcomes of the Program and career opportunities for Program graduates. The ERT considers this one of 
the most important recommendations in this Review.  
 

ERR page 7 

ERR-D2 Use KPU resources to create promotional materials for the PMT program. Focus on careers to educate students and parents on the careers that can be 
pursued with an applied physics degree. Students and alumni that the ERT met were enthusiastic and articulate about the PMT program and their careers:  
feature these students and alumni in these materials as inviting case studies.   
 

ERR page 7 

SSR4.2 Incorporate more examples of student success into the promotion of the program.  
 

SSR page 43 

ERR-D3 Many students take introductory Physics courses at KPU intending to, e.g., obtain Engineering certificates and transfer to a different school. The PMT 
program shares many features with Engineering programs but offers significant flexibility on careers and training. Consider ways to attract/retain students 
from these paths.  
 

ERR page 7 

SSR3.12 Develop a coordinated action plan for promoting our program to students in our first-year classes.  SSR page 37 

ERR-I2 We encourage KPU to continue supporting the high visibility CloudLab program with dedicated infrastructure to continue offering it. We also 
recommend a stronger Physics Department branding of the CloudLab infrastructure to leverage it in recruiting efforts. The ERT team recommends that the PMT 
program continue to work with KPU to encourage the dedicated space allotment needed for the program for not only visibility but viability and growth.  

ERR page 8 



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 6  

 
SSR3.3 Develop an annual calendar of events. This would include both internal and external events of the kind described above. It would help to keep us 
accountable and would help ensure that events stay ‘on our radar’ from year to year.  
 

SSR page 26 

SSR3.14 Develop an annual calendar of events (similar to what was recommended above for our interactions with industry).  
 

SSR page 37 

SSR3.13 Engage more with high school students through school visits, involvement in science fairs, and events hosted by us on campus. Seek the support of our 
Dean’s office (e.g. our Faculty’s Communications and Events Specialist) and the Future Students Office in these endeavours.  
 

SSR page 37 

SSR3.15 Expand our presence on social media, particularly with a view to targeting potential students.  
 

SSR page 37 

SSR3.16 Renew promotional activities at local colleges that do not have physics degrees, and whose students may be seeking opportunities in physics beyond 
the first- or second-year level.  
 

SSR page 37 

SSR3.10 To help achieve this goal of reaching the FSH average of 35% international students, we should learn more about how KPU recruits international 
students and find out if it is possible for KPU’s international recruiters and agents to promote our program more abroad.  
 

SSR page 35 

SSR3.11 Since the low retention rate is a Faculty-wide issue, we recommend that Chairs and Faculty Council discuss this and initiate a Faculty-wide response. 
 

SSR page 35 

SSR5.3 Faculty should clarify expectations around advising and communicate with advisors about how the service can better meet the needs of the program. 
 

SSR page 47 

SSR3.9 We recommend that faculty undertake an investigation into the issue of gender diversity in the department as a whole (students, faculty, and staff) to 
try to identify strategies for redressing the imbalance.  

SSR page 35 

 

Actions(s) Required to Achieve this Goal Led  
By 

Start  
on (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

Notes 

     

 Identify specific internal and external promotional events that are important for PMT to be 
represented at, and ensure they are included in the FSH calendar of events. 

Chair September 
2023 

December 
2023 

Ensure regular attendance by PMT 
representatives at these events to 
promote the program. 



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 7  

Propose a two-year physics/engineering credential which will ladder into the PMT program. 
The first step is to develop a proposal. 

Engineering 
program co-
ordinator 

August 
2023 

September 
2024 

This would start with seeking pre-
approval from the Provost’s office, 
followed by writing the program 
proposal. 

Seek approval for the above proposal at the relevant FSH and Senate committees  Engineering 
program co-
ordinator 

June 2024 June 2025 The goal is to start offering the program 
in Fall 2025. 
This diploma would use existing courses 
and is unlikely to require additional 
resources or faculty FTE. 

In conjunction with the Dean’s office, FSO, and Marketing, develop promotional materials for 
the program strongly featuring stories of graduates. These will be used internally and 
externally and will showcase both the diversity of our student body and of the opportunities 
opened by the program. 

Chair  

and L Flinn 

May 2023 October 2023 

 

We have arranged for Marketing to 
come to our labs to take photos and 
record interviews with alumni and 
students. 

We are also working with our Dean’s 
office and Marketing on developing a 
poster and renewing our website.  

We are also arranging for photos of 
current students and alumni in their 
workplace. 

Have a designated faculty member on each campus to visit all our first-year physics classes 
to introduce KPU students to the program. Also invite students to PMT welcome events and 
student project presentations.   

Chair September 
2023 

September 
2024 

Each year, co-ordinated by the chair, 
someone will be designated to perform 
this task. 

Have a repository of demonstrations and activities for outreach. M Coombes, 
L Flinn, D 
Mathewson 

August 
2023 

December 
2023 

Although we already have many 
demonstrations for promotional 
purposes, we want to formalise their 
organisation so that they are easily 
accessed for events. 

Work with Marketing to develop materials to use the CloudLab to promote the program. 
 

T Sato January 
2024 

May 2024 New space for the CloudLab has already 
been approved and budgeted. 



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 8  

Host a summit between key faculty and staff in Physics, as well as representatives from 
Advising, Marketing and FSO to co-develop these materials and a marketing strategy 
Meet annually with FSO, FSH advisors, international advisors, and Marketing to maintain a 
dialogue on how best to promote the program to different groups. Offer tours and produce 
explainers for these groups to ensure they are fully up to speed on the program. 

Chair  

and L Flinn 

August 
2023 

August 2024 First round of meetings in first year, with 
annual repetition. 

Maintain communication with students interested and admitted to the PMT program by 
sending a welcome letter and invitation to welcome events. 

Chair September 
2023 

October 
2024. 

This will require coordination with the 
Dean’s Office for access to student 
contact info. 

We will plan an entertaining welcome 
social event for the first month of the 
Fall semester.  

Establish and renew MOU’s with other post-secondary institutions not offering full Physics 
degree programs to ease transfer of students to PMT at KPU. 

Physics 
articulation 
rep 

September 
2023 

May 2024 Provincial articulation meeting is 
typically held in May of each year. 

Establish internal MOU with KPU Mechatronics program for laddering their students into 
PMT 

Chair May 2023 December 
2024 

A draft proposal has been written. Next 
steps will involve discussion at the level 
of the Deans. 

Work with FSH Dean’s office and other departments on the creation of an FSH recruitment 
and retention committee led by chairs and coordinators. 

M Coombes June 2023 September 
2023 

This has been discussed at Faculty 
Council and at chairs/co-ordinators 
committee, and will be brought up at 
upcoming meetings. 

Work with FSO to develop a recurring outreach event aimed specifically at grade 9-10 
women. 

Chair January 
2024 

December 
2026 

 

 

Resource Requirements (if applicable) 
Resources required to achieve this Goal:   Seek a one-course time release for development of physics/engineering diploma. 

When resources will be required:  Spring 2024 for time release.  



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 9  

Faculty and/or Institutional support required:  As mentioned above, support from Marketing, advisors, and the Dean’s Office will be 
required for many of the action items listed above. 

 

GOAL 2: Enhance and expand connections with organizations external to KPU 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Indicate Report & Page Number 
SSR3.1 Renew links with local professional associations such as the BC Tech Association and the BC section of the ISA. This will allow faculty and students to 
engage in the networking events that are organized by these associations, which will in turn raise the profile of the program and lead to more opportunities 
(for student work experience, for collaborative projects, and for jobs post-graduation). 
 

SSR page 26 

SSR3.2 Organize more events, both on- and off-campus. Including field trips, invited talks, and alumni/student competitions. We also recommend a student-
industry networking evening on campus, which was held once several years ago and which could potentially become an annual event.  
 

SSR page 26 

SSR3.4 Develop a LinkedIn profile for the program to allow us to engage more with industry online.  
 

SSR page 26 

SSR3.9 We recommend that faculty undertake an investigation into the issue of gender diversity in the department as a whole (students, faculty, and staff) to 
try to identify strategies for redressing the imbalance.  
 

SSR page 35 

SSR3.16 Renew promotional activities at local colleges that do not have physics degrees, and whose students may be seeking opportunities in physics beyond 
the first- or second-year level. 

SSR page 37 

ERR-C5 Incorporate technology being developed in the greater Vancouver area into the curriculum via course material, laboratory projects, industrial seminars, 
and tours. The program should continue to leverage and expand the scope of these industry connections to market itself internally and externally.  
 

ERR page 5 

ERR-FS2 Continue to seek industrial partnerships and for KPU to continue to support the acquisition, installation, and operation of high-tech equipment. The 
engagement with the current PAC is well established, but further membership may be a place to explore for options of industry-based projects, support, 
student mentorship for capstone, and sponsorships for awards and competition entries for students and projects.   
 

ERR page 10 



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 10  

ERR-FS4 Work to formalize agreements with institutions in conjunction with KPU leadership and FSH advising services to provide a concrete framework for 
students pursuing graduate studies. Continue to work with advising services and KPU leadership to streamline some of these pathways so that there is more 
support for students and faculty.  
 

ERR page 10 

 

 

Action(s) Required to Achieve this Goal Led  
by 

Start  
on (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

Notes 

Invite the BC Tech Association to come to speak to other FSH departments to encourage 
faculty-wide involvement 

F Callaghan August 
2023 

December 
2023 

This will help strengthen our links with the 
BC Tech Association and ensure our 
Faculty gets maximum benefit from the 
FSH’s membership. 

Set up and maintain LinkedIn profile for PMT K Tahani June 2023 September 
2023 

 

Establish connections with SCWIST (Society for Canadian Women in Science and Technology) 
and CAP’s (Canadian Association of Physicists) Division for Gender Equity in Physics and 
encourage dept members to join these organisations. 

Chair September 
2023 

September 
2023 

This could result in, for example, 
representatives from SCWIST coming to 
KPU for an annual event. 

Initiate a seminar series with guest speakers from industry or applied research labs, with a 
goal of having at least one speaker per semester (Fall and Spring) 

F Callaghan January 
2024 

May 2025 These would be open to students, faculty, 
and staff from across KPU. 

Invite representatives of suitable graduate programs to present to our students to increase 
their awareness of their options for further study. 

Chair September 
2023 

May 2024 Although graduate studies is not the 
driving direction of our programming, in 
addition to raising awareness among our 
students, establishing good relations with 
those institutions raises the profile of our 
program overall. 
 



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 11  

Establish a regular industry network event, possibly in conjunction with other departments. F Callaghan January 
2024 

January 
2026 

A successful industry-student event was 
held in 2017. This would translate that 
into a recurring event. 

Commit to filling at least 3 seats on the PAC with women and/or Indigenous representatives 
from relevant industry sectors. 

F Callaghan May 2024 May 2025 This will be done by reaching out to 
specifically to women and indigenous-led 
companies. 

Identify gaps in PAC membership to ensure all relevant industry sectors are represented. F Callaghan May 2024 May 2025 This will be done in discussion with 
existing PAC members. 

Showcase industrial partner contributions to the program and how they have benefited our 
students in order to encourage further support.   

Chair May 2023 May 2025 This will include developing promotional 
materials and acknowledging industry 
support at promotional events and on our 
website. For example, this May we are 
demonstrating the scanning electron 
microscope donated by Ballard Power 
Systems. 

Increase the number of visits / field trips to local companies to give students more exposure 
to the local tech sector, with a goal of having one trip per semester (Fall and Spring) 

D Mathewson September 
2023 

September 
2025 

This activity will continue indefinitely. 

 

Resource Requirements (if applicable) 
Resources required to achieve this Goal:   Request time release for the industry-related action items as they will require a large time 
commitment. 

When resources will be required:  Fall 2024.  

Faculty and/or Institutional support required:  Click here to enter text. 

 

  



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 12  

 

GOAL 3: Enhance student experience 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Indicate Report & Page Number 
SSR2.5 Investigate the suitability of the new topics that were identified by survey respondents for inclusion in the program.  SSR page 23 

SSR3.1 Renew links with local professional associations such as the BC Tech Association and the BC section of the ISA.  

 

SSR page 26 

SSR3.2 Organize more events, both on- and off-campus. Including field trips, invited talks, and alumni/student competitions. We also recommend a student-
industry networking evening on campus, which was held once several years ago and which could potentially become an annual event.  
 

SSR page 26 

SSR3.8 Research is crucial to the success of students in the PMT program. The Physics Department should continue to have representation on Faculty and 
Senate committees considering the future of scholarly activity at KPU.  
 

SSR page 30 

SSR5.4 As part of the effort to increase enrollments, and in anticipation of an associated increase in international enrollments, faculty should familiarize 
ourselves with the services that KPU provides for international students. 
 

SSR page 48 

SSR4.1 Investigate ePortfolios as a program-wide self-assessment and a means for students to reflect on their progress.  
 

SSR page 41 

SSR5.1 Work with and seek the support of the relevant authorities at KPU to ensure the program has sufficient space to maintain quality and accommodate the 
planned increase in student numbers.  
 

SSR page 46 

ERR-D4 Seek opportunities to leverage the experiential learning of the students to participate in high-profile postsecondary student competitions to raise the 
external profile of the Program.  
 

ERR page 7 

ERR-FS1 Dedicated project space should be found for PMT students. The ERT recognizes that such space must be supported by higher enrollments in the 
Program; however, the program will have challenges growing from its current size without this space. The ERT team also recognizes that there are other small 
specialized programs at KPU that have dedicated project space, labs, and equipment. This has given these programs not only visibility, but room for growth 
both in enrollment and the program. The ERT recommends that the PMT look and some of the best practices/strategies that other programs have used.   

ERR page 10 



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 13  

SSR3.5 Discuss and develop a clear understanding of what indigenization means for our program. Seek guidance from KPU’s Indigenous Advisory Committee. SSR page 27 

SSR3.9 We recommend that faculty undertake an investigation into the issue of gender diversity in the department as a whole (students, faculty, and staff) to 
try to identify strategies for redressing the imbalance.  
 

SSR page 35 

 

Action(s) Required to Achieve this Goal Led  
by 

Start  
on (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) 

Notes 

     

 Maintain physics membership of the FSH Research Committee to ensure we continue to be 
involved in FSH efforts to expand student involvement in research. 

J Hoyland May 2023 May 2023 Membership will be ongoing. 

Widen participation in the annual student research seminar to include presentations by 
students from more of our courses 

J Hoyland September 
2023 

December 
2024 

 

Investigate possibility of expanding the above seminar to an FSH-wide event (and other 
STEM-based programs in other Faculties) and inviting more widely in the University and 
beyond. 

Chair January 
2024 

December 
2025 

Support from Dean’s Office will be 
required for co-ordination of FSH-wide 
involvement and space. 

Strike an ad-hoc committee including a female student representative and an alumna to 
investigate the issue of gender diversity within the department.  

 

J deBenedictis 

September 
2023 

September 
2025 

This committee shall produce a report 
suggesting concrete, ethical, and legal 
ways to create more gender parity both 
within our department and within our 
PMT program student body 

Invite students to regular industry/student network event. F Callaghan January 
2024 

January 
2026 

This is the event that will be established 
as per action item under Goal 2. 

Seek guidance from the Indigenous Advisory Committee and Indigenous Students’ 
Association on how indigenization can be addressed in our program. 

Chair January 
2024 

February 
2024 

Currently we contribute to the annual 
Open Doors Open Minds event.  

Invite someone from the International office to a dept meeting to talk to us about the 
services provided by KPU for international students. 
 

Chair August 
2023 

August 
2023 

 



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 14  

Investigate the use of e-portfolios and present results of investigation to dept. D Mathewson September 
2023 

August 
2024 

e-portfolios may be an effective way of 
assessing the development of student skills as 
they work on a variety of projects throughout 
the program and would build into a body of 
work which would help students sell 
themselves to employers after graduation. 

Investigate possible external student competition opportunities. L Flinn September 
2023 

September 
2024 

 

Develop a proposal for dedicated student research project space in conjunction with other FSH 
departments and bring forward to Faculty Council for support. 

Chair September 
2023 

September 
2025 

 

 

Resource Requirements (if applicable) 
Resources required to achieve this Goal:   Click here to enter text. 

When resources will be required:  January 2024 to December 2025 for initial iteration and ongoing thereafter.   

Faculty and/or Institutional support required:  Dean’s Office support for organization of FSH-wide seminar. 

 

 

 

  



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 15  

 

GOAL 4: Implement curricular changes as described in the External Review Report, to better align the program with the needs of stakeholders 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Indicate Report & Page Number 
ERR-C1 Constrain the choice of Business courses to areas identified by the PAC as being key – give students fluency in Business language and processes, an 
overview of how companies are structured and work, and an understanding of issues involved in making business decisions about the viability of products and 
services, and overall project management skills. Incorporate business skills into Physics project courses through a focus on project management to gain 
experience in planning around design-of-experiment, de-risking, strategic planning, etc. 

 

ERR page 5 

ERR-C2 Investigate if a formal programming course can be added to the curriculum.  

 

ERR page 5 

ERR-C3 Include the use of computing throughout the PMT curriculum and a top-down scaffolded approach to skills, with a focus on modern scientific languages 
such as Python.  
 

ERR page 5 

ERR-C4 Investigate whether additional flexibility in the PMT program to allow multiple work terms, possibly in successive summer terms, or even to include 
longer terms within a year.  
 

ERR page 5 

ERR-C5 Incorporate technology being developed in the greater Vancouver area into the curriculum via course material, laboratory projects, industrial seminars, 
and tours. The program should continue to leverage and expand the scope of these industry connections to market itself internally and externally.  
 

ERR page 5 

ERR-I1 The Physics Department should examine the administrative structure of its introductory courses, particularly the lab courses, and streamline them 
where possible. Consult recent literature on the purpose and use of introductory physics labs when considering their lab courses.  
 

ERR page 8 

ERR-FS3 The program should explore whether additional software resources are required to ensure that PLOs are being met and that software used in teaching 
and projects is relevant within industry.  
 

ERR page 10 

SSR2.1 Update the PHYS 2420 and PHYS 4900 course outlines to better align them with current practice.  
 

SSR page 21 



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 16  

SSR2.3 Investigate ways in which the computing content of the program can be strengthened.  
 

SSR page 23 

SSR2.4 Review the content and structure of the mathematics component of the program.  
 

SSR page 23 

SSR2.5 Investigate the suitability of the new topics that were identified by survey respondents for inclusion in the program.  

 

SSR page 23 

SSR5.2 As a department, we should discuss and identify library resources that we might want to use. This could involve a more detailed survey of faculty to find 
out how library resources are currently used in our 2nd, 3rd, and 4th year courses. This will help us determine if we could be making better use of library 
resources.  

SSR page 44 

 

Action(s) Required to Achieve this Goal Led  
by 

Start  
on (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) Notes 

Re-open discussions with co-op office with regards to support which could be offered to 
expand work experience opportunities for students.  

Chair and F 
Callaghan 

January 
2024 

September 
2024 

 

Update the PHYS 2420 course outline to reflect current practice F Callaghan and 
K Tahani May 2024 June 2024 

Note that the recommendation that this 
action arises from (SSR2.1) also mentions 
PHYS 4900, which we have decided not to 
update. See rationale on page 3.  

Survey faculty to determine how computing and software are currently used, taught, and 
incorporated in the program and assess the results for gaps.  

K Tahani September 
2023 

September 
2024 

 

Use the survey results to develop a framework for including computing throughout the 
program to ensure students gain experience with key programming topics and techniques. 
Update course outlines accordingly. 

K Tahani September 
2024 

September 
2026 

This could include developing a new 
course and/or incorporating elements of 
computing throughout the program. 

Pilot suggested additional topics within our Special Topics course. Chair March 
2024 

March 
2025 

This is something we do every time this 
course is taught. This course will next run 
in Spring 2025. 

 
Survey faculty to find out which journals we would like easy access to, and follow up with 
the library.  

T Sato October 
2023 

January 
2024 

 



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 17  

Formalize the incorporation of literature research skills in the program. Update course 
outlines accordingly. 

F Ruiz Oliveras September 
2023 

September 
2025 

This would include identification of 
reliable sources in the technical, popular 
and academic literature. 

Reassess math topics that are required for the program T Sato September 
2023 April 2024 

Survey PMT faculty to find out which 
math topics students need knowledge of 
to successfully complete our courses 

Consult with math dept on the content of MATH 2721 and 2821 to ensure required topics 
are covered. 

T Sato May 2024 September 
2024 

 

Investigate including more examples of technology developed in the region into the 
curriculum. 

F Callaghan September 
2023 

September 
2026 

This would be bundled with the other 
industry-related action items for which 
time release will be requested. 

Form a committee that includes lab staff to review literature on best practices for first-
year laboratory education. 

J Hoyland September  
2023 

August 
2024 

This could involve liaising with the 
Teaching and Learning Commons. 

Incorporate the findings of the above review into our courses. J Hoyland September 
2024 

September 
2026 

 

Consult with PAC to determine which Business topics to include in the program. Then 
consult School of Business to determine which of their courses would be appropriate. 

Chair September 
2023 

December 
2024 

We will aim to discuss this at the next PAC 
meeting. 

 

Resource Requirements (if applicable) 
Resources required to achieve this Goal:Click here to enter text. 

When resources will be required:  Click here to enter text.  

Faculty and/or Institutional support required:  Assistance from the co-op office, the math department, and the School of Business. 

 

 

 



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 18  

 

 

GOAL 5: Build the resilience of the program to future changes 

Recommendation(s) this Goal Addresses Indicate Report & Page Number 
ERR-FS1 Dedicated project space should be found for PMT students. The ERT recognizes that such space must be supported by higher enrollments in the 
Program; however, the program will have challenges growing from its current size without this space. The ERT team also recognizes that there are other small 
specialized programs at KPU that have dedicated project space, labs, and equipment. This has given these programs not only visibility, but room for growth 
both in enrollment and the program. The ERT recommends that the PMT look and some of the best practices/strategies that other programs have used.   
 

ERR page 10 

ERR-I2 Continue supporting the high visibility CloudLab program with dedicated infrastructure to continue offering it. We also recommend a stronger Physics 
Department branding of the CloudLab infrastructure to leverage it in recruiting efforts. The ERT team recommends that the PMT program continue to work 
with KPU to encourage the dedicated space allotment needed for the program for not only visibility but viability and growth.  
 

ERR page 8 

SSR3.6 Prior to a new hire, the department should have a discussion on gaps any retirements will create. In addition, the department should have regular 
discussions with the Program Advisory Committee about topics in physics that are growing in importance to Industry and conversely topics that are declining. 
These discussions should drive hiring criteria. 

SSR page 30 

SSR3.7 Alternate instructors for second-, third-, and fourth-year courses should be designated. Current instructors should be asked to develop a package of 
teaching materials such as a detailed course outline, teaching notes, sample examinations, sample projects, and the like. Course instructors and their 
alternates should meet to discuss the course and the materials. If possible, hiring lists for the courses should be kept for hiring on short notice.  
 

SSR page 30 

SSR5.1 Work with and seek the support of the relevant authorities at KPU to ensure the program has sufficient space to maintain quality and accommodate the 
planned increase in student numbers. 

SSR page 46 

 

Action(s) Required to Achieve this Goal Led  
by 

Start  
on (M/YY) 

Complete  
By (M/YY) Notes 

Develop a proposal for dedicated student research project space in conjunction with 
other FSH departments and bring forward to Faculty Council for support. 

Chair September 
2023 

September 
2025 

 



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 19  

Work with Facilities to realize the CloudLab’s new permanent home on the Richmond 
campus and continue development work to expand online lab offerings. 

T Sato May 2023 September 
2025 

Development of CloudLab will be an 
ongoing process. 

Develop documentation and standard operating procedures for all laboratory equipment 
(for example CloudLab, scanning electron microscope and other specialized equipment) 
to ensure resilience in case of personnel changes. 

Chair September 
2023 

September 
2026 

 

Maintain a list of who in dept can teach which courses and perform a SWOT (strengths, 
weaknesses, opportunities and threats) analysis to ensure high program quality. 

Chair & Dept 
search committee May 2023 May 2024  

Maintain discussions with PAC to ensure program currency and relevance to industry 
needs. 

F Callaghan January 
2024 

January 
2025 

 

Maintain a repository of teaching materials that instructors can use when teaching a 
course for the first time or when they have to take over at short notice. 

J deBenedictis & M 
Coombes May 2023 

May 2025  

 

Resource Requirements (if applicable) 
Resources required to achieve this Goal:   Time release for development of new CloudLab labs. 

When resources will be required:  2024  

Faculty and/or Institutional support required:  Work with Facilities to develop CloudLab space. 

 

  



 
Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan 

 

Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan                            Page 20  

 

  

PLAN SUPPORTED BY:    

 

________________________________________                  _________________________________________________                         _________________________________ 
Provost’s Name      Provost’s Signature        Date  
 
 
 
________________________________________                  _________________________________________________                         _________________________________ 
Dean’s Name       Dean’s Signature        Date  
 
   



SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
Agenda Number: 5.6 

Meeting Date: September 27, 2023 
Presenter(s):  Lorraine Guild, Sonayna Rana, Sarah Beasleigh, Sharmen Lee 

 1 / 1 

 

 

AGENDA TITLE: HEALTH CARE ASSISTANT PROGRAM SECOND ANNUAL 
FOLLOW-UP REPORT 

ACTION REQUESTED:  Motion 

RECOMMENDED RESOLUTION: THAT the Senate Standing Committee on Program 
Review accept the Health Care Assistant Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report as attached.  

 

COMMITTEE REPORT 

For Secretariat Use Only   

 

Attachments 

Health Care Assistant Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report 

 

Submitted by 

Melike Kinik-Dicleli, Manager of Quality Assurance, Office of Planning & Accountability 

Date submitted 

September 6, 2023 



Health Care Assistant Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

Health Care Assistant Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report Page 1 

 

 

 
Date Self-Study Report approved by SSCPR: February 24, 2021  

Date of External Review Site Visit: December 9 & 10, 2020  

Date Quality Assurance Plan approved by SSCPR: June 23, 2021  

Date First Annual Follow-Up Report approved by SSCPR: June 22, 2022 

Date Second Annual Follow-Up Report submitted: August 2, 2023 

 

Second Progress Report 

MONTH/YEAR WHEN THE FIVE-YEAR ACTION PLAN BEGAN: April 2021 
 

STRATEGY 1: Increase admissions and enrollments to the HCAP. 
 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Goal 2 and Goal 4 
 

 
Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led 

by 
Start on 
(M/YY) 

Complete 
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Explore offering some HCAP courses at satellite campus(es) 
for a face-to-face delivery of program. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

HCAP Chair /HCAP 
Faculty and Elena 

Franco 
Divisional Business 
Manager, Faculty of 

Health 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
March 2022 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

May 2023 

March 25, 2022, the faculty in the HCAP passed the following motion: “The 
Health Care Assistant Program (HCAP) faculty to engage with the Facilities 
Department with the support of the FOH Dean’s office to explore 
the move of the HCAP in part, theory classes only, to the Surrey Campus – as 
per MAEST request, for current and future HCAP intakes. This move requires 
dedicated classroom room space and faculty office space. If space not 
available in Surrey Campus, the HCAP faculty would consider space in the 
Cloverdale campus.” 

 
“HCAP faculty, Elena Franco will work with the HCAP Program Chair to 
develop a feasibility assessment that will address the operational 
requirements of this initiative; outlining how the program would be 
delivered; identifying any impacts to other programs/departments; 
accreditation requirements/approval, etc. Elena Franco will provide assistance 
with assessing the operational and capital expenditures/impacts 



Health Care Assistant Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

Health Care Assistant Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report Page 2 

 

 

 
 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led 
by 

Start on 
(M/YY) 

Complete 
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Update 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Update 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

August 2022 
 
 

September 
2022 

 
September 

2022 
 

May 2023 
 

August 2023  

associated with start-up, implementation and, on an ongoing basis, and will be 
the primary liaison with other KPU departments such as Facilities, Finance, etc. 
Once the initial draft is completed, the feasibility assessment will be forwarded 
to the HCAP faculty for consultation/feedback/revision. From there, the 
revised feasibility assessment will be presented to the Dean and the Chairs for 
consultation and feedback; FOH APP/Budget to identifying potential 
implications for the initiative and budgetary decisions, and to provide their 
recommendation(s) to Faculty Council; and to Faculty Council who will review 
the initiative and make recommendation(s) to the Dean. The Dean will bring 
forward recommendations to the Provost, University Space Planning 
Committee, MAEST and other individuals/committees/departments required 
to approve/sign off/etc. etc.” (Dean Sharmen Lee, Email Correspondence April 
8, 2022) 

 
HCAP Chair to circulate email from Elena that outlines a feasibility report to 
transition the theory courses to the Surrey campus. 

 
Review feasibility report (completed by DBM in liaison with University Space) 
with HCAP team and DBM 

 
Approval to be determined by end of Summer 2022 

 
 

If all program, instructor and student needs are met, will transition theory- only 
courses to KPU Surrey 
Completed. January 2023-July 2023 theory courses were offered at Surrey and 
Labs in Langley. It was difficult to determine whether this created an increase 
in admissions as the HCA Program was still receiving applications from Fraser 
Health through the Health Career Access Program. 
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/employment-business/job-seekers-
employees/find-a-job/health-care FH stated it was beneficial to their PSI 
assignments for KPU. 



Health Care Assistant Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

Health Care Assistant Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report Page 3 

 

 

 
Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led 

by 
Start on 
(M/YY) 

Complete 
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

 
Offering HCA Program as online/blended, full-time, or part-
time. 

 
HCAP Faculty 

 
Sep 2020 

 
Apr 2022 

This has been completed. Since September 2020 HCAP faculty have developed 
curriculum, sequencing, and scheduling for online/blended, full- time, and 
part-time studies. 
The HCA Program has been delivered in all formats since September 2020. 
This online blended model has been approved by the BC Care Aide Registry. 

 
 
 
 

Offer Dual Credit Program. 

 
HCAP Chair/HCAP 
Faculty and Elena 

Franco 
Divisional Business 
Manager, Faculty of 

Health 

 
 
 
 

January 
2022 

 
 
 
 

April 2022 

FOH DBM has began looking again at the HCAP dual credit program with the 
school districts. 

 
The HCAP Faculty goal was that this initiative would be completed following the 
commencement of the current government sponsored Pathways Career Access 
Program currently being provided. 

 
April 2022: Update, in discussion with Dean Lee, FOH – HCAP no longer has 
funding for this initiative. The school district has been informed 

Continue with 3 seats reserved in the BSN and BPN program 
for KPU HCAP graduates with the new admission requirements 
in the 
respective programs. 

 
HCAP Chair 

 
Apr 2020 

 
Sep 2021 

 
Completed. Update: 3 BSN seats filled by HCAP graduates in the January 
2022 intake. 

 
Continue teaching strategies that address multiple learning 
styles, contain motivational and inspiring learning activities, 
and have a fair and collaborative evaluation process. 

 
 

HCAP Faculty 

 
 

Sep 2020 

 
 

Sep 2022 

This has been completed with the development of our new blended 
curriculum and Moodle upgrades, learning activities and assessments. This 
occurred with the support of the Teaching and Learning Commons and the 
Level Up Program. HCAP has also worked closely with Accessibility Services 
to ensure a fair and collaborative evaluation process for our students. 



Health Care Assistant Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

Health Care Assistant Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report Page 4 

 

 

 
 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led 
by 

Start on 
(M/YY) 

Complete 
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

 
 

 
Continue offering the acute care clinical practicum and the 
observation experience with people living with Dementia in 
addition to looking at placements at Care Life, Langley 
Memorial and PAH’ Patient Assessment and Transition to 
Home (PATH) Units. 

 
 
 
 
 

HCAP Faculty 

 
 
 
 
 

Jan 2022 

 
 
 
 
 

Jan 2024 

1. The acute care placement is temporarily on hold while we 
complete the HCA Pathways Program. The Pathways students 
have one-year job commitments after completion of the 
program and therefore would not be able to return to this 
placement for immediate employment. We are still participating 
in the HCA Pathways Program for our Sept 2023 Intake so this 
continues to be on hold. 

2. The observational experience in HCAP 1220 for people living with 
dementia will commence again in Spring or Summer 2023. 
Completed Spring 2023 

3. Faculty have begun talks with Care Life Fleetwood and are aiming 
to have a HCAP 1250 Final Practicum placement on the PATH unit 
Spring or Summer 2023.2024  Depending on its success and student 
feedback we will then pursue placements at Langley’s 
PATH Unit. This is still in discussions; completion date has been 
extended by 1 year for #3. 

Provide students more opportunities to develop problem 
solving and critical thinking skills. Through simulation and 
increased critical thinking forums and assignments. 

 
HCAP Faculty 

 
Sep 2020 

 
 
April 2022 

This has been completed with the development of our new blended 
curriculum and Moodle upgrades, learning activities and 
assessments. With Labs being back on campus we are now using 
the High-Fidelity Simulations 

for Lab practice, feedback, and self evaluations. 
 
 
Offer advanced certificates in (Medication Administration & 
Mental Health Certificate). 

 
HCAP Faculty, T&L and 
Professional Studies, 
Deans Office 

 
 
Apr 2022 

 
 
April 2025 

This is ongoing. Dean Lee has sent forward a request to the Provost 
for the development of an assisting with medication certificate 
(Micro credential badge) for HCAP in relation to KPU surplus 
monies being reallocated to 2022/23 fiscal year. As funding was 
not approved, HCAP faculty will look at offering additional 
learning opportunities as indicated by local health 

authorities rather than advanced certificates as stated in the QAP.  
Update April 18, 2023 the SMC Committee voted to recommend 
the HCAP micro-credential proposal to the Provost and then on 
to Senate for final approval. We are awaiting the outcome.  



Health Care Assistant Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

Health Care Assistant Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report Page 5 

 

 

 
 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led 
by 

Start on 
(M/YY) 

Complete 
By (M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

 
Improving and updating lab equipment. 

Dean’s office, HCAP 
Faculty & 

Lab Educators 

 
Apr 2021 

 
Apr 2023 

Students have been provided Lab Kits for semester one and two. These kits 
provide students with lab equipment to practice skills at home and in the 
lab. We have also put in funding requests for a new standing lift, tilt 
commodes, tilt wheelchairs and an enema/suppository simulator. 
Completed April 2023 

o 

 
Online skill video access to Elsevier 

 
 

HCAP Faculty & 
Dean’s office, T&L 

 

 
Mar 2020 

 
 
 

Sept 2023 

Completed. This was offered through our online lab semesters. It was 
optional and at a cost to students. Less than half the students purchased so 
it was not continued. Supplemental creative commons and YouTube videos 
were posted on Moodle. The HCAP team are in the process of exploring ways 
to make new videos that are reflective of the HCAP program pillars and best 
practice methods. 

 
 

Incorporating more simulated learning activities. 

 
HCAP Faculty, 
Lab Educators 

 
 

Sep 2021 

 
 

April 2023 

Completed in HCAP 1130 and HCAP 1230 Lab. CPR scenario and skill 
consolidation scenario added to the High-fidelity SIM Lab and multiple 
simulated critical thinking scenarios added to lower fidelity labs. The HCAP 
Chair is working with SSL to integrate more HCA focused scenarios that are 
catered to our students and the patient population they will likely work with. 

 
 

HCAP to LPN laddering options. 
  
 

Dean’s office, HCAP 
Faculty & Ministry 

of Advanced 
Education, Skills & 

Training 

 
 

Sep 2021 

 

 
Jan 2023 

This was put forward by the Deans Office to MAEST. It was recommended by 
the Ministry of Advanced Education, Skills & Training that an LPN to RN 
bridging program would be more beneficial to KPU and Healthcare at this 
time. June 2023 Update: KPU Faculty of Health and FH are exploring a 
collaborative proposal for an HCA to LPN bridging program. Though no 
laddering for HCAs, seats will remain reserved for our 
students pendingpending, they meet admission criteria as in BSN and BPN. 



Health Care Assistant Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

Health Care Assistant Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report Page 6 

 

 

 
STRATEGY 2: HCAP faculty to develop “specific” Health Authority contacts and supports for faculty and students in clinical practice to support student success and collaborate shared resources. 

 
GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Goal 1 

 
 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led 
by 

Start on 
(M/YY) 

Complete by 
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Increase IPAC memberships to educators, RCC’s, LPN’s, HCA 
mentors and KPU HCAP Alumni & Current students and possibly 
GNABC representation. 

 
HCAP Chair 
and Faculty 

 
 

Sep 2021 

 
 

Sep 2023 

Ongoing. This has been difficult with recent staff turnover at our 
placement’s sites and the complexities of Covid and physical resources in 
health care. HCAP Faculty are regularly having discussions with staff and 
alumni in the clinical areas to recruit. Meeting have changed to online to 
facilitate membership as well. 
Ongoing commitment. 

Develop a stronger connection with Alumni by having a yearly HCAP 
appreciation day celebration with current students and alumni. HCAP Chair, 

Faculty and 
Program Adm. 

 
Oct 2021 

 
Oct 2022 
Oct 2023 

Due to Covid we haven’t had an in-person event since the Fall of 2019. This 
is planned for the Fall of 2022 on HCA Appreciation Day in which Alumni will 
be invited. This will however be dependeant on the current Public Health 
Orders for gathering. 
Date extended to October 2023  
Update July 2023: FOH Dean’s office has confirmed they will cover ticket 
costs for the Hearts and Hand conference (HCA focused) Oct 25th. This will be 
an HCA Field Trip/Conference in Celebration of HCA Appreciation Day where 
we will have the opportunity to collaborate with many of our Alumni.  

Consistently placing instructors on the same units to provide 
stability of the program. 

HCAP Chair & 
Dean’s office Sep 2020  

April 2022 
Completed. 

 
  



Health Care Assistant Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

Health Care Assistant Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report Page 7 

 

 

STRATEGY 3: The HCAP faculty will continue to deliver current and relevant curriculum through regular Appreciative Inquiry to ensure our graduates meet and exceed entry-level competencies for 
health care assistants and have a strong healthcare foundation they can continue to build upon. 

 
GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Goal 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 

 
 

Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led 
by 

Start on 
(M/YY) 

Complete by 
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

End of Semester faculty workdays to discuss program delivery, 
program evaluations, individual course feedback forms completed 
by students, relevance of content and to make changes to 
program/courses if applicable. 

 
HCAP Chair and 

Faculty 

 
Sep 2019 

 
Ongoing 

Completed at the end of each semester. First face to face EOS meeting held 
May 3, 2022 

Introducing new resources by Indigenous authors/voices.  
HCAP Chair 

 
Sep 2021 

 
Sept 2023 

Completed, indigenous content threaded throughout HCAP curriculum.  
This is ongoing as Faculty are continually revising course content to be more 
inclusive. Jennifer Anaquod, Educational Consultant, Indigenization from T&L 
was invited to our January 2022 meeting and provided us with a plethora of 
resources that Faculty would like to review and include into their learning 
activities and language. The Health Care Assistant Program Supplement to the 
Provincial Curriculum Guide - Third Edition November 2021 was also released 
and has included many indigenous resources for Faculty to review 
and implement as well. 



Health Care Assistant Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

Health Care Assistant Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report Page 8 

 

 

STRATEGY 4: New Faculty member hiring, training, mentoring and succession planning. 
 

GOAL(S) FROM THE QA PLAN THIS STRATEGY SUPPORTS: Goal 5 
 

 
Step(s) Required to Achieve this Strategy Led 

by 
Start on 
(M/YY) 

Complete by 
(M/YY) 

 
Progress to Date/Reasons for Lack of Progress 

Review new faculty qualifications to ensure they align with HCAP 
requirements (faculty with gerontology experience). 

HCAP Faculty, 
Dean’s office & 

Search Committee 

 
Apr 2021 

 
Jan 2022 

Completed. HCAPs AC13 Minimum Qualifications Table states: Recent 
related work experience in Gerontology preferred. 
This was passed by FOH Faculty Council Jan 2022 

Develop process for mentoring & succession planning 
(recruitment/retainment plan) HCAP faculty to teach each course 
within the curriculum at least twice to become familiar with 
content. 

 
HCAP Chair, 

HCAP Faculty & 
Program Admin. 

 

 
Apr 2021 

 

 
Sep 2021 

Completed. Through Covid regular faculty have taught all courses across the 
program and contract faculty have been given repeat workloads and NR2’s 
so they teach the same course at least twice for familiarity and excellence. 
Faculty have been mentoring new faculty by adding the new faculty to active 
Moodle courses to allow them to follow along with course content at their 
convenience and ask questions throughout the semester. 

Each semester, ensure Moodle sites are updated in their entirety 
with new additions as necessary & ready for next semester apart 
from date changes. 

HCAP Chair, 
HCAP Faculty & 
Program Admin. 

 
Apr 2021 

 
April 2022 

This has been completed. Semester based folders have been developed in 
SharePoint and each instructor is expected to back up and upload the most 
current Moodle Site at the end of each semester. 

Develop a mentoring schedule for each semester. HCAP Chair, 
HCAP Faculty & 
Program Admin. 

 
Apr 2021 

 
Sept 2025 

Ongoing. We currently have a Faculty Mentor position with our Pathways 
cohort funding. When we return to our traditional cohort, we will re visit 
this 
process. 

Develop HCAP specific orientation checklist with active links for 
new hires. 

HCAP Chair, 
HCAP Faculty, 

HCAP Mentor & 
Program Admin. 

 
Apr 2021 

 
Sep 2021 

Completed. Posted on the HCAP SharePoint site. 

Student experience, including student survey data, be maintained 
at future department meetings. 

 
HCAP Chair, 

HCAP Faculty 

 
 
Sep 2021 

 
 
Sep 2022 

Completed. Stored in SharePoint and reviewed regularly by Chair and at HCAP 
end of semester meetings. Semester based course feedback data is also 
reviewed and analysed at the end of each semester by the HCAP team and 
changes implemented as applicable. This data is also stored n 
SharePoint. 

 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewer’s Comments: Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

1 
 

  
 

PROGRAM UNDER REVIEW:  Health Care Assistant Program (HCAP)  

Instructions for Reviewers 
Your assessment should ensure that progress on the Goals and Planned Actions is clearly articulated. If no progress has 
occurred on a Goal and/or Planned Action, please ensure that a clear rationale has been provided. 
 

OVERALL ASSESSMENT:  
Please provide a brief assessment of the Annual Follow-Up Report under review and an overall 
recommendation. 
 
The Chair discussed this report with assigned reviewers, for the following feedback:  
 
Reviewer #1 – (new to SSCPR & learning the many levels of PR processes & templates) Feedback was positive 
on efforts to promote inclusiveness, Indigenization of curriculum & support for students, e.g., flexibility 
gained by offering theory courses @ Surrey, focus on experiential learning, reserved seats in BSN & BPN for 
career laddering, and attempt to offer dual credits in high schools (dropped).  
 
Reviewer #2 – (deep experience at KPU but new to SSCPR) Concurs with view that this 2nd AFR is largely 
complete and offers no recommendations for revision.  
 
Summary: HCAP put forth an excellent SSR & QAP that focuses on advancement of their curriculum to better 
prepare their graduates for an ever-changing complex health care system. We applaud their efforts to 
enhance experiential learning via labs/simulation in conjunction with strong clinical placements, to promote 
critical thinking skills, to foster clinical laddering and to adapt their program in the best interests of their 
students. Going forward, it is clear that HCAP will continue working towards Indigenization of their curriculum 
and promoting respect for diversity/inclusiveness along with all KPU programs.  
 
The incomplete components of HCAP’s Action Plan reflect the program’s nimble adjustments to current 
realities (such as loss of funding for the Dual Credit initiative, and holding off on securing additional clinical 
sites because the current placements offer employment opportunities). These rationales for changes in 
priorities are logical and defensible; the Action Items are largely completed as planned. Well done HCAP!  
 
 
The Report (click on the box that corresponds to your recommendation):  
 

☒          Recommend for approval by the SSCPR as is 
☐          Recommend for approval by the SSCPR pending suggested actions (see below) 
☐          Recommend for rejection by the SSCPR 

 
 
 



      SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE ON PROGRAM REVIEW 
       Reviewer’s Comments: Annual Follow-Up Report 
 

2 
 

MAJOR ISSUES AND SUGGESTED ACTIONS:  
Complete this section ONLY if you have identified the following major issues with the Annual Follow-Up: 

a) Progress to date is unclear. 
b) No clear rationale has been provided for why no progress has occurred. 

 
Issue (page #) Suggested Action 
N/A   

 
MINOR EDITS (Spelling, syntax, word choice and other mechanical issues). 
Please list corresponding page numbers. Minor edits are NOT discussed at the SSCPR meeting. Add or remove 
rows as needed. 

Minor Edits (page #) 

Please ensure ‘Indigenous’ is always capitalized 

 



SENATE 
Agenda Number: 7.1 

Meeting Date: September 27, 2023 
Presenter(s): Melike Kinik-Dicleli 

 1 / 2 

 

 

AGENDA TITLE: MANAGER’S REPORT ON STATUS OF PROGRAM REVIEWS 

ACTION REQUESTED:  Information 

RECOMMENDED RESOLUTION: N/A 

 

COMMITTEE REPORT 

For Secretariat Use Only   

 

Context and Background  

There are 37 programs (or cluster of related programs) that are at various stages in the program review 
process.  

 
Phases Number of programs  
Self-Study  13 
External Review 1 
Quality Assurance Plan Development 4 
Annual Follow-Up Reporting 19 
Total 37 

 
The following four programs has recently started the review process:  
Global Business Management 
Green Business Management and Sustainability 
Marketing 
Operations and Supply Chain Management 
 
Attachments 

Manager’s Report_Status of Program Reviews_Details for September 2023 SSCPR Meeting
 



 

2 / 2 

Submitted by 

Melike Kinik-Dicleli, Manager of Quality Assurance, Office of Planning & Accountability 

Date submitted  

September 18, 2023 



Planning 
Began

Data Collection Concluded Report 
Approved

Date of Site 
Visit

Report 
Received 

QA Plan 
Approved

1st Report 
Approved

2nd Report 
Approved

ACP English Upgrading Dec-18
re-start: Sep-

21

Admin Data: Feb-19
Admin Data: April-22
Survey Data: Nov-22

Program received the survey reports on November 25, 
2022. The self-study report was due in May 2023. The 
program has until September 26 to submit their report.

Arts Anthropology Sep-18 Admin Data: Feb-19
Survey Data: Feb-19

Apr-21 Oct 18/19, 
2021

Nov-21 Jun-22 Jun-23 Second annual follow-up is due in June 2024. 

Arts Asian Studies Oct-22 Admin Data: April-23
Survey Data: April-23

Self-study Report is in.

Arts Criminology Jan-2019
re-start: 
Oct-22

Admin Data: Feb-19
Revised Admin Data: Feb-20

Survey Data: May-20
Survey&Admin Data: Jun-23

Self-Study Report was due in July 2023. The program has 
until September 26 to submit their report. 

Arts Creative Writing May-21 Admin Data: Nov-21
Survey Data: Nov-21

Sep-22 Jan 18/20, 
2023

Feb-22 Quality Assurance Plan is in. 

Arts Education Assistant Sep-19 Admin Data: Oct-19
Survey Data: June-20

May-21 Nov 25/26, 
2021

Jan-22 Oct-22 First annual follow-up is due in October 2023. 

Arts Minor in Counselling Feb-18 Admin Data: April-18
Survey Data: April-18

Apr-19 31-Oct-21 Jan-20 Oct-20 Oct-21 Nov-22 SSCPR asked program to report on their progress one more 
time in November 2023. 

Arts English May-20 Admin Data: Jan-21
Survey Data: April-21

Nov-21 Feb 10/11, 
2022

Mar-22 Oct-22 First annual follow-up is due in October 2023. 

Arts Fine Arts Dec-23 Survey Data: May-23
Admin Data: May-23

Self-Study Report is due in September 2023. 

Arts History Dec-18 Admin Data: Feb-19
Survey Data: March-20

Feb-21 June 17/18, 
2021

Jul-21 Jan-22 Jan-23 SSCPR asked program to report on their progress one more 
time in January 2024. 

Arst Geography Feb-22 Admin Data: Dec-22
Survey Data: Dec-22

Jun-23 External review site visit is on November 2, 2023.

Arts Journalism Dec-22 Survey Data: May-23
Admin Data: Jun-23

Self-Study Report is in. 

Arts Language & Culture Dec-21 Admin Data: May-22
Survey Data: May-22

Nov-22 Mar 8 & 9, 
2023

Apr-23 Quality Assurance Plan is in. 

Arts NGOs and Nonprofit Studies Jan-23 Survey Data: Jun-23
Admin Data: Sep-23

 Self-Study Report is due in January 2024.  

Arts Philosophy Sep-17 Admin Data: Sep-18
Survey Data: Dec-17 (Discipline 

Survey: Mar-18)

Apr-19 Jul-19 Jul-19 Apr-21 May-22 May-23 Third annual follow-up is due in May 2024. 

Arts Political Science Dec-19 Admin Data: Dec-19
Survey Data: June-20

Apr-22 Nov 7/9, 
2022

Dec-22 Jun-23 First annual follow-up is due in June 2024. 

Business Computer Science and 
Information Technology

Apr-19 Admin Data: May-19
Survey Data: Jan-20

Nov-20 Mar 1/2, 
2021

Mar-21 Oct-21 Mar-23 SSCPR asked program to report on their progress a second 
time in April 2024. 

Business Business Management Sep-15 Admin Data: Jun-18
Survey Data: Mar-18

Jun-18 Jul-18 Jul-18 Mar-20 Oct-21 Nov-23 SSCPR asked program to report on their progress one more 
time in November 2024. 

Business Economics Oct-22 Survey Data: Jun-23
Admin Data: Jun-23

Self-Study Report is due in December 2023.

Business Global Business Management May-23

Business Green Business Management 
and Sustainability

May-23

Business Marketing Sep-23

Progress Update
The table includes only the reviews in progress. 

Faculty Program Self-Study External Review Annual Follow-upQA Plan

Program Reviews in Progress As of: 9/20/2023 Page 1 of 3



Planning 
Began

Data Collection Concluded Report 
Approved

Date of Site 
Visit

Report 
Received 

QA Plan 
Approved

1st Report 
Approved

2nd Report 
Approved

Progress Update
The table includes only the reviews in progress. 

Faculty Program Self-Study External Review Annual Follow-upQA Plan

Business Operations and Supply Chain 
Management

Jun-23

Business Technical Management and 
Services

Sep-22 Admin Data: April-23
Survey Data: April-23

Self-Study Report is due in September 2023.

Design Fashion Design & Technology Sep-20 Admin Data: Feb-21
Survey Data: Mar-21

Jun-21 Sep 28/29, 
2021

Oct-21 May-22 May-23 SSCPR asked program to report on their progress a second 
time in May 2024. 

Design Foundation in Design 
Certificate

Oct-17
re-start: Oct-

19

Admin Data: Aug-17
Survey Data: Nov-17 (Student Data: 

Feb-18)
Revised Admin Data: Oct-19

Survey Data: Aug-20

Apr-21 June 29/30, 
2021

Jul-21 Jan-22 Feb-23 SSCPR asked program to report on their progress a second 
time in February 2024. 

Design Interior Design Sep-18 Admin Data: Nov-18
Admin Data: Sep-19
Survey Data: Nov-18

Jan-20 Jun-20 Aug-20 Feb-21 Mar-22 Mar-23 SSCPR asked program to report on their progress a third 
time in April 2024. 

Design Product Design Feb-19 Admin Data: Feb-19
Survey Data: Oct-19

Jun-20 Feb 24/25, 
2021

Apr-21 Nov-21 Nov-22 SSCPR asked program to report on their progress one more 
time in November 2023. 

Design Technical Apparel Design Jun-18 Admin Data: Dec-18
Admin Data: Oct-19
Survey Data: Dec-18

Jan-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Jan-21 Jan-22 Mar-23 SSCPR asked program to report to report on their progress 
a third time in March 2024. 

Health Bachelor of Psychiatric Nursing Sep-18 Admin Data: Feb-19
Survey Data: Feb-19

Oct-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 Nov-20 Jan-22 Feb-22 SSCPR asked program to report to report on their progress 
a third time in February 2024. 

Health Health Care Assistant 
Certificate

May-19 Admin Data: Jun-19
Survey Data: Sep-19

Jan-20 Dec 9/10, 
2020

Feb-21 Jun-21 Jun-22 Second annual follow-up report is in. 

Health Health Unit Coordinator 
Certificate

Jan-18 Admin Data: Jun-18
Survey Data:

Discipline + Alumni: Mar-18
Student + Faculty: Aug-18

Dec-18 Jun-19 Jul-19 All intakes are suspended. The review is on hold until the 
future of  the program is determined.

Science Biology Oct-19 Admin Data: Nov-19
Revised Admin Data: Mar-21

Survey Data: Mar-21

Oct-21 Feb 24/25, 
2022

Apr-22 Oct-22 First annual follow-up report is due in October 2023. 

Science Brewing and Brewery 
Operations

Nov-21 Admin Data: May-22
Survey Data: May-22

Sep-22 Mar 14 & 16, 
2023

Apr-23 Quality Assurance Plan is due in September 2023. 

Science Bachelor of Horticulture 
Science 

Jan-18 Admin Data: Jun-18
Survey Data: Apr/Jun-18 

Mar-19 Apr-19 May-19 Apr-21 Apr-22 BHS is not required to provide annual updates anymore. 
BHS credentials are part of the Horticulture Technology 
program review. 

Science Horticulture Technology 
Diploma/BHS Plant Health

Nov-21 Survey Data Hort Tech: Mar-23
Survey Data Plant Health: 

Admin Data: Sep-23

This review is expanded to include the BHS Plant Health 
credential. Getting ready to launch surveys for Plant 
Health. 

Science Mathematics May-19 Admin Data: Jul-19
Survey Data: 

Faculty: Jul-19 
Alumni: Sep-19 

Discipline/Sector: Sep-19

Oct-20 Mar 10/11, 
2021

Apr-21 Feb-22 Mar-23 SSCPR asked program to report on their progress a second 
time in March 2024. 

Science Physics for Modern 
Technology

May-21 Admin Data: Nov-21
Survey data: Feb-22

Jun-22 Nov 30/Dec 
1, 22

Jan-23 Quality Assurance Plan is in. 

Program Reviews in Progress As of: 9/20/2023 Page 2 of 3



Planning 
Began

Data Collection Concluded Report 
Approved

Date of Site 
Visit

Report 
Received 

QA Plan 
Approved

1st Report 
Approved

2nd Report 
Approved

Progress Update
The table includes only the reviews in progress. 

Faculty Program Self-Study External Review Annual Follow-upQA Plan

Science Sustainable Agriculture Oct-19 Admin Data: Nov-19
Revised Admin Data: Feb-21

Survey Data: 
Student: Aug-20

Faculty & Alumni: Jan-21
Discipline/sector: Feb-21

Sep-21 Mar 7/9, 
2022

Apr-22 Nov-22 First annual follow-up report is due in November 2023. 

Program Reviews in Progress As of: 9/20/2023 Page 3 of 3


	2 Agenda September 27 2023
	3 2023 06 21 SSCPR Minutes Draft - Reviewed
	4.1.0 SSCPR Cover - Mandate and Membership Review
	4.1.1 SSCPR Mandate and Membership
	5.1.0 SSCPR Cover Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan
	5.1.1 Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan
	5.1.2 SSCPR Reviewers' Comments Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan-Program's Response
	5.1.3 Minor in Language and Culture Quality Assurance Plan-revised
	5.2.0 SSCPR Cover Creative Writing Quality Assurance Plan
	5.2.1 Creative Writing Quality Assurance Plan
	5.2.2 SSCPR Reviewers' Feedback Creative Writing Quality Assurance Plan
	5.3.0 SSCPR Cover Asian Studies Self-Study Report
	5.3.1 Asian Studies Self-Study Report
	5.3.2 Asian Studies Self-Study Report Appendices
	5.3.3 SSCPR Reviewers' Comments Asian Studies Self-Study Report
	5.3.4 Asian Studies Self-Study Report_Revised
	5.4.0 SSCPR Cover Journalism Self-Study Report
	5.4.1 Journalism Self-Study Report
	5.4.2 Journalism Self-Study Report Appendices
	5.4.3 SSCPR Reviewers' Comments Journalism Self-Study Report
	5.4.4 Journalism Self-Study Report_Revised
	5.5.0 SSCPR Cover Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan
	5.5.1 Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan
	5.5.2 SSCPR Reviewers' Comments Physics for ModernTechnology Quality Assurance Plan-program's response
	5.5.3 Physics for Modern Technology Quality Assurance Plan_revised
	5.6.0 SSCPR Cover Health Care Assistant Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report
	5.6.1 Health Care Assistant Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report
	5.6.2 SSCPR Reviewer's Feedback_Health Care Assistant Program Second Annual Follow-Up Report
	7.1.0 SSCPR Cover Manager's Report on Status of Program Reviews (6)
	7.1.1 Manager's Report_Status of Program Reviews_Details for September 2023 SSCPR Meeting

